**Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience** 

# Hassan Marzban Editor

# Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases



## **Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience**

#### **Series Editor**

Mario Manto, Unité d'Etude du Mouvement (UEM), FNRS, Neurologie ULB-Erasme, Bruxelles, Belgium

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/7678

Hassan Marzban Editor

# Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases



*Editor* Hassan Marzban Department of Human Anatomy and Cell Science The Children's Hospital Research Institute of Manitoba (CHRIM) Max Rady College of Medicine, Rady Faculty of Health Science University of Manitoba Winnipeg, MB, Canada

Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience ISBN 978-3-319-59748-5 ISBN 978-3-319-59749-2 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017946076

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017, corrected publication 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

## Preface

For the past centuries, scientists have worked hard to understand the development of the cerebellum and its disorders. Cerebellar neurodevelopmental disorders are impairments of the growth and development of the cerebellum that result in birth defects that may have a severe impact on patients' lives. A narrower use of the term refers to a disorder that unfolds during individual development to affect motor function, emotion, learning ability, self-control, and memory. Knowledge obtained from advanced neuroimaging techniques and from molecular and genetic studies has provided rapidly growing evidence that the cerebellum is a brain region that is highly impacted by developmental defects.

Advanced technologies for research have changed our views of cerebellar development. This has led us to identify many of the biological, genetic, and environmental factors that contribute to the development and progression of cerebellar disorders. We believe that basic knowledge of the cerebellum, one of the most complex structures in the brain, will empower cerebellar researchers, neuroscientists, neurologists, and neurosurgeons every day.

This book covers diverse aspects of cerebellar development from different points of view including the epidemiology of cerebellar genetic disorders, developmental anatomy, cell biology, genetics, epigenetics, infectious diseases, and mechanisms involved in regulation of cell fate, while focusing on information that is relevant to clinicians serving patients with cerebellar disorders. This book consists of chapters written by experts in the field of cerebellar development, and it covers diseases related to the cerebellum, along with their epidemiology, clinical features, assessment, and management. To the extent that the book is a useful reference for neuroscientists and clinicians, we will have succeeded.

Winnipeg, MB, Canada

Hassan Marzban, PhD

# Contents

The Development of the Cerebellum: From the Beginnings	. 1
The Embryology and Anatomy of the Cerebellum Maryam Rahimi Balaei, Niloufar Ashtari, and Hugo Bergen	33
Cellular and Genetic Programs Underlying   Cerebellum Development   Alexandra L. Joyner, Ryan Willett, and Andrew Lawton	45
Early Purkinje Cell Development and the Originsof Cerebellar Patterning.Filippo Casoni, Laura Croci, Ottavio Cremona, Richard Hawkes,and G. Giacomo Consalez	67
Cerebellar Developmental Disorders and Cerebellar Nuclei	87
Motor Circuit Abnormalities During Cerebellar Development Elizabeth P. Lackey and Roy V. Sillitoe	105
Developmental Disorders of the Cerebellum and Neurotrophic Factors Leila Pirmoradi, Ali Akbar Owji, and Shahla Shojaei	129
Apoptosis, Autophagy, and Unfolded Protein Response and Cerebellar Development	153
The Ubiquitin Proteasome System and Cerebellar Developmental Disease Jerry Vriend and Xiaodan Jiao	179

<b>Epigenetics and Cerebellar Neurodevelopmental Disorders</b> Mojgan Rastegar	197
<b>Hormonal Regulation of Cerebellar Development and Its Disorders</b> Noriyuki Koibuchi	219
Infections of the Cerebellum	237
Neuroimmune Mechanisms of Cerebellar Development and Its Developmental Disorders: Bidirectional Link Between the Immune System and Nervous System Nour Eissa, Laëtitia Kermarrec, and Jean-Eric Ghia	255
Teratogenic Influences on Cerebellar Development Albert E. Chudley	275
<b>Primary Pediatric Brain Tumors of the Posterior Fossa: Part I</b> Kathleen Felton, Amanda Hogg, Lisa Liang, Christopher Aiken, Thomas Klonisch, Frank van Landeghem, Tamra E. Werbowetski-Ogilvie, and David D. Eisenstat	301
Primary Pediatric Brain Tumors of the Posterior Fossa Part II: A Comprehensive Overview of Medulloblastoma Lisa Liang, Christopher Aiken, Kathleen Felton, Amanda Hogg, Frank van Landeghem, T. Klonisch, David D. Eisenstat, and Tamra E. Werbowetski-Ogilvie	327
Can Cerebellar Neurodevelopmental Disorders Affect Behavioral Disorders or Vice Versa? Seyed Soheil Saeedi Saravi and Ahmad Reza Dehpour	353
Neurodevelopmental Disorders of the Cerebellum: Autism Spectrum Disorder. Mehnosh Toback, Kambiz Zangeneh, Tabrez J. Siddiqui, and Hassan Marzban	369
Clinical Aspects of the Inherited Cerebellar Malformations Asghar Marzban, Mohammad Vafaee-shahi, and Kamran Azarkhish	389
Clinical Features, Assessment, and Management of Patients with Developmental and Other Cerebellar Disorders Michael S. Salman	407

Contents

<b>Epidemiology of Cerebellar Disorders</b>	423
<b>Cerebellar Transplantation: A Potential Model to Study Repair and Development of Neurons and Circuits in the Cerebellum</b> Constantino Sotelo	465
Correction to: Primary Pediatric Brain Tumors	
of the Posterior Fossa Part II: A Comprehensive	
Overview of Medulloblastoma	<b>C</b> 1
Index	495

## The Development of the Cerebellum: From the Beginnings

#### Jan Voogd

**Abstract** Sotelo stated in his introduction for a consensus paper on cerebellar development (Leto et al., Cerebellum 15:789–828, 2015) that "The work done in the late nineteenth century until the late 1970s provided substantial and significant information; however, it was only descriptive and barely addressed the mechanisms involved." Observations and their description, the nomenclature that evolved from these studies, and the ideas they fostered, indeed, formed the basis for our understanding of the mechanisms that underlie the complex development of the cerebellum, to be reviewed in this volume. This chapter will highlight some of these early contributions to the origin of the cerebellum, its histogenesis, the migration of its neurons, the development of the longitudinal Purkinje cell zones, their target nuclei and their connections, and the folial pattern of the cerebellum.

#### The Origin of the Cerebellum

The study of cerebellar embryology begins with His' [52, 53] description of his Rautenlippe (rhombic lip) in a human embryo. In the fifth week the "dorsal rim (of the rhombencephalic alar plate) curves laterally and forms a fold which surrounds the entire rhombic cavity ..." (Fig. 1). His divided the rhombencephalon and its rhombic lip, into rostral and caudal portions. The rostral (upper) rhombic lip will give rise to the cerebellum, the caudal (lower) rhombic lip to several precerebellar nuclei. The upper rhombic lip develops in two, bilateral swellings connected by a thin midline portion (Fig. 2). At the midline, the cerebellum increases in bulk by the development of the cerebellar commissures and possibly by fusion of the intraventricular bulges. More recently the term "upper rhombic lip" is restricted to the posterior rim or germinal trigone of the cerebellar plate, with its attachment of the epithelial roof of the fourth ventricle, that should be distinguished from the ventricular zone, the neuroepithelium that covers its ventricular surface (Fig. 3).

J. Voogd (🖂)

Department Neuroscience, Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam, The Netherlands e-mail: janvoogd@bart.nl

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_1



**Fig. 1** The rhombic lip of a human embryo at the level of the greatest width of the fourth ventricle (Reproduced from His [52]). *Abbreviations: R.1* rhombic lip, *Ts* solitary tract, *X, XII* vagal and hypoglossal nerves

The general opinion was that the cerebellum originates from the dorsal portion of the first rhombomere [100, 111]. Several papers used the quail-chick marker system to trace the origin of the cerebellum. Substitution of the mesencephalic vesicle in chickens with a quail transplant resulted in the replacement of Purkinje cells and ependyma in the rostral cerebellum by cells with the typical massed quail chromatin in their nucleoli. According to Martinez and Alvarado-Mallart [80], these cells are present in a broad medial stripe, where labeled and non-labeled Purkinje cells occur together. Labeling is also found of the granule cells. According to Hallonet et al. [45], the labeled Purkinje cells are found in a V-shaped, rostral region reaching caudally to lobule VIII (Fig. 4). These authors denied the labeling of granule cells and concluded that these cells originate exclusively from the metencephalon, confirming the general opinion on this matter. Martinez and Alvarado-Mallart suggested that the rostral cerebellum might originate from the isthmic rhombomere, whereas its middle portion is a derivative of the first rhombomere. Its caudal portion, including the auricle and part of the avian lateral cerebellar nucleus, is derived from the second rhombomere [79]. Sgaier et al. [104] and Nieuwenhuys and Puelles [87] pointed out that the cerebellar anlage rotates from an original rostrocaudal, to a medio-lateral position, due to the development of the pontine flexure (Fig. 2). Purkinje cells produced by the ventricular zone maintain their medio-lateral position in the adult cerebellum. Those produced by the most medial (presumably isthmic rhombomere-derived) ventricular zone become located in the future vermis, subsequently more lateral parts of the ventricular zone give rise to Purkinje cells of more lateral parts of the hemisphere [4]. Granule cells produced by the upper rhombic lip do not maintain their original medio-lateral position in the adult, due to their latero-medial tangential migration in the external granular layer (EGL).



**Fig. 2** Cerebellum of a 15-week human embryo (Reproduced from Nieuwenhuys et al. [88]). *Red arrow* indicates position of rostrocaudal axis of the cerebellar anlage after the rotation of the cerebellar anlage due to the pontine flexure





**Fig. 4** Sagittal section through a chicken-chimera cerebellum. In the rostral region of the cerebellum, Purkinje cells (*triangles*) and ependyma (*circles*) are replaced by quail cells derived from the mesencephalon (Modified from Martinez and Alvarado-Mallart [80])

#### Histogenesis

The ventricular zone and the rhombic lip produce different types of neurons in successive waves. According to the autoradiographic studies of Miale and Sidman [81] and Pierce [93] in mice, using the incorporation of radioactive thymidine at their last mitosis, the large (glutamatergic) neurons of the cerebellar nuclei are born early at E10 and E11 in the ventricular zone and medium and small (presumably inhibitory inter- and nucleo-olivary neurons) between E11 and E17. Purkinje cells are born during the same period (E11-E13). Golgi cells in mice are produced by the ventricular zone in the 12- to 15-day embryo. After E15, dividing cells are present in the white matter throughout the cerebellum [81]. These cells give rise to Bergmann glia, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and basket and stellate cells of the molecular layer [126, 127]. In the rat, unipolar brush cells are born in the ventricular zone after the cessation of the production of the Purkinje cells. Lugaro cells develop in the same period as the Golgi cells [103]. Cells of the EGL arise from the caudal border of the cerebellar anlage (the upper rhombic lip) after E13. The EGL produces granule cells till well after birth (for similar data on the rat, see Altman and Bayer [5], for the monkey Gould and Rakic [42], for the chick embryo Kanemitsu and Kobayashi [57]). The more recent conceptual revisions of the origin of the neurons from the ventricular zone and the rhombic lip include the origin of the large glutamatergic neurons of the cerebellar nuclei from the rhombic lip and their inhibitory neurons from the ventricular zone (reviewed by Wingate in Leto et al. [74]) and the observation of Englund et al. [35] that unipolar brush cells are produced by the rhombic lip. Inhibitory neurons of the cerebellum, therefore, are produced by the

Fig. 5 Neuroepithelial cells (Popoff's spongioblasts) in a 1–1/4 cm cat embryo. Golgi method (Reproduced from Popoff [95]). *Abbreviations: e* ventricular zone, *ext* external limiting membrane



ventricular zone, excitatory neurons by the rhombic lip. Glutamatergic nuclear neurons and cells of the EGL are produced sequentially by the rhombic lip.

In their migration to the meningeal surface of the cerebellum Purkinje cells are supposed to use the processes of the neuroepithelial cells whose conical endfeet form the external limiting membrane (Fig. 5). A map of these processes that would predict the paths of migrating Purkinje cells is not available. In mice, migrating Purkinje cells at E15 avoid the cerebellar nuclei; at E17 they pass across them [125]. In the rat, all Purkinje cells migrate through the more superficially located transitory nuclear layer [3]. The clustering of the migrated Purkinje cells that will lead to the development of longitudinal Purkinje cell zones will be considered in another paragraph.

In his Golgi studies, Cajal [22, 23, 25] and his followers [10, 76, 95] distinguished different phases in the development of the Purkinje cells (Fig. 6a–d). In the first phase of the "disoriented dendrites," multiple processes arise from all over the cell body. The axon, first devoid of collaterals, enters the white matter. In the next stage, oriented and regular dendrites arise as a flattened tree from the upper pole of the cell. The axon emits multiple collaterals. Finally the processes of the cell body are resorbed, the dendritic tree acquires its definite shape, and many of the axonal collaterals are resorbed. Differentiation of the Purkinje cells is more advanced in the apices of the lobule. Purkinje cells of the rat mature early in lobules I and II and proximal V and VI and IX and X and late in distal VI, VII, and VIII [2, 41].



Fig. 6 Stages in the development of Purkinje cells (**a**–**d**) and climbing fibers (**e**–**h**) (Reproduced from Athias [10])

The development of the climbing fibers closely follows that of the Purkinje cell [22, 25, 95]. Cajal distinguished an early pericellular nest stage where the climbing fiber forms an infracellular plexus, (Fig. 6e) followed by outgrowth over the emerging dendrites, the place of the supranuclear capuchon, the stage of the young climbing fiber arborization, and finally its adult form (Fig. 6h). The shift of the climbing fiber synaptic connections with the filopodia of the Purkinje cell soma, to their position on stubby spines on the smooth proximal dendrites of the Purkinje cells and their replacement by the inhibitory synapses of the basket cell axons, was documented in the electron microscopic studies of Larramendi [69] and Morara

Fig. 7 Cortex of neonate dog showing the stratum granulosum periphericum. Carmine staining (Reproduced from Hess [50]). Abbreviations: a granule cell with processes directed at the periphery, B stratum granulosum centrale, b granule cell with filiform processes at both ends, C nerve (Purkinje) cells, D stratum moleculare, E stratum granulosum periphericum, F pia mater



et al. [82]. Multiple innervation by climbing fibers of the Purkinje cell was noticed by Cajal and others (Fig. 6e, h). The elimination of redundant climbing fibers was shown much later in physiological studies, reviewed by Hashimoto and Kano [46].

The external granular layer (EGL) of the cerebellar anlage gives rise to the granule cells, although, during its history of more than 150 years, it was supposed to contribute to each cell type of the cerebellum. The first description of the EGL dates from Hess [50], who illustrated it as the stratum granulosum periphericum in the cortex of a neonate dog (Fig. 7). Its cells are provided with radially oriented filiform processes. In due time, the layer disappears, leaving only a few cells near the pia mater. Obersteiner [90] distinguished a superficial, tightly packed, and a deep layer with loosely arranged rounded cells in the EGL (Fig. 8). Like Hess, radial processes in the molecular layer were found to originate from these cells. Later authors often referred to the EGL as "Obersteiner's layer." Schaper [102] in fish and Herrick [49] in mice and guinea pig observed the origin of the EGL from the ventricular matrix next to the caudal attachment of the roof plate of the fourth ventricle and its rostral migration over the cerebellar surface. They observed mitoses in the superficial EGL and identified it as a secondary matrix. Miale and Sidman [81] dated the origin of the EGL in the mouse at E13, when the generation of Purkinje cells has ceased and found that the proliferation in the EGL lasts till the

Fig. 8 Section through the cerebellar cortex of a neonate. Carmine staining *1* upper layer of the EGL (Basalschichte), 2 second granular layer, 3 molecular layer (radiär gestreifte Schichte), 4 Purkinje cell layer (tangentielle Schichte), 5 permanent granular layer (Reproduced from Obersteiner [90])



third postnatal week. Proliferation in the EGL is regulated by sonic hedgehog, secreted by the subjacent Purkinje cells [30].

In his 1890a paper, Cajal described different cell types in the EGL and the molecular layer (Fig. 9). Horizontal, bipolar neurons, with horizontal axonal expansions extending in the length of the cerebellar folia, occur in the deep layer of the EGL. Bipolar neurons with radially oriented processes occur in the molecular layer (Fig. 9). Strange as it may seem to us now, Cajal did not recognize these neurons as stages in the migrating granule cells, at least, with his scientific rigor, he judged that he had too little material to draw this conclusion. Later he identified the origin of the parallel fibers from the horizontal bipolar neurons, the emergence of a third, protoplasmic process, and the translocation of the nucleus in this process through the molecular layer into the internal granular layer (Fig. 10). Here its rounded cell body bears multiple dendrites most of which are resorbed when it settles deep in the granular layer in regions were the mossy fiber rosettes have attained their adult form (Fig. 10) [25]. The parallel fibers are stacked from the bottom of the molecular layer upward. A similar gradient as present for the differentiation of the Purkinje cells in different lobules of the cerebellum was found for the differentiation of the granule cells [3].

Granule cell precursors use Bergmann glial fibers for their migration [97]. These fibers, with their typical lateral processes and their attachment to the meningeal surface



**Fig. 9** Neurons in the developing EGL and the molecular layer (Reproduced and relabeled from Cajal [24]). *Abbreviations: A* cuticula, *a* vertical bipolar cell, *b* ascending process that terminates in c. in a bifurcation, *B* layer of epithelial cells, *C* zone of horizontal bipolar cells, *d* transitional cell that resembles a horizontal bipolar neuron, *D* molecular layer, *E* granule cell layer, *e* horizontal bipolar cells, *g* parallel fiber, *j* granule cell, *m* bifurcation of granule cell axon, *n* descending process of a vertical bipolar cell



**Fig. 10** Stages in the development of the granule cells (Reproduced from Cajal [25]). *Abbreviations: A* external granular layer, matrix, *B* external granular layer, layer of horizontal bipolar cells, *b*, *c*, *d* horizontal bipolar cells, *C* molecular layer, *D* granular layer, *e*, *f* bipolar cells with radial process, *g*, *h* vertical bipolar cells, *j* granule cell with multiple dendrites, *k* adult granule cell, *r* growth cone of parallel fiber

of the cerebellum, were described by Bergmann [13]. Bergmann glia have been described as originating from the Golgi epithelial cells by translocation of their cell bodies to the Purkinje cell layer [125] but have also been traced from cells proliferating in the cerebellar white matter [126]. The orientation of the parallel fibers clearly is established very early as processes of the horizontal bipolar cells in the EGL. Purkinje cell dendritic arbors derive their plane shape and their orientation perpendicular to the parallel fibers from the interaction with these fibers during their development [3, 84]. However, the orientation of the parallel fibers in the long axis of the folia can be uncoupled after perinatal administration of methylazoxymethanol in rats [51].

#### **Development of the Cerebellar Nuclei**

The first study of the development of the cerebellar nuclei in different classes of vertebrates is by Rüdeberg [100]. In the tradition of Bergqvist and Källén [14], he traced the origin of the cerebellum from two, subsequent migration areas, A and B, from the ventricular neuroepithelium of the dorsal column of the first rhombomere. The dorsal part of the first migration area A gives rise to the external granular layer; its middle portion  $A_2$  merges with part of the second migration area B into the cell group A<sub>2</sub>B; its dorsal part, A<sub>1</sub> develops outside the cerebellum, into the isthmic nucleus. The dorsal part of migration B gives rise to the Purkinje cell layer (Fig. 11). In birds cell group,  $A_2B$  develops into the cerebellar nuclei, and in mammals, it gives rise to the lateral (dentate) nucleus. The interposed and fastigial nucleus stem from ventral parts of migration B. The development of the cerebellar nuclei in Cetacea follows the same pattern [63]. According to Korneliusen [62], all nuclei in the rat develop from the deep layer of migration B. The nomenclature used by Feirabend [36] for the early development of the chicken cerebellum is different, but his account of the origin of the cerebellar nuclei from the ventricular zone is very similar to that of Rüdeberg. The two migration layers were also recognized by Altman and Bayer [4-6] in the rat. The first migration layer, with exception of its ventral portion (Rüdeberg's A1), gives rise to all cerebellar nuclei and was indicated as the nuclear transitory zone (NTZ). A second migration layer (Rüdeberg's B) gives rise to the Purkinje cells. As a consequence, the future Purkinje cells migrate through the NTZ to reach their superficial position. The NTZ splits in a dorsomedial group of longitudinally oriented cells and a superficially located lateral group with a transverse orientation (Fig. 12). The latter migrates medially and gives rise to axons that cross in the cerebellar commissure forming the uncinate tract that takes origin from the fastigial nucleus. The superficial location and the origin of the uncinate tract from this nucleus and its migration to a more ventral position were experimentally verified by Bourrat and Sotelo [17] (Fig. 12, inset). The longitudinally oriented neurons will develop into the interposed and lateral (dentate) nuclei. With the demonstration by Machold and Fishell [77] and Wang and Zoghbi [119] that glutamatergic neurons of the nuclei are derived from the upper rhombic lip, Rüdeberg's migration A, or Altman's nuclear transitory zone, became a layer of tangentially migrating neurons destined for the cerebellar nuclei.



**Fig. 11** Transverse section of the cerebellar anlage from a 21 mm human embryo (Reproduced from Rüdeberg [100])

#### **Development of Longitudinal Purkinje Cell Zones**

Longitudinal Purkinje cell zones are among the first features of the cerebellum to develop as discrete multicellular clusters that will extend rostrocaudally as adult, monolayered zones. Purkinje cell zones were first identified by their projections to cerebellar and vestibular target nuclei and their afferent olivocerebellar fibers occupy [113, 114], illustrated in Fig. 13a–c. It should be noticed that the B zone (green) and the C1, C3, and Y zones (red) are restricted to the anterior lobe and the simplex lobule, and to lobule VIII and its hemisphere, the copula. Other zones extend over most of the rostro-caudal length of the cerebellar surface. Their development has been studied in serial, Nissl-stained sections in different species and by using Purkinje cell-specific markers. Their development was first studied by Korneliusen [61] in Cetacea. In *Balaenoptera musculus* (blue whale) and *Balaenoptera physalus* (fin whale) embryos, he distinguished four Purkinje cell clusters in the cortical anlage, each cluster being topographically related to one of the incipient cerebellar nuclei (Fig. 14). Clusters are clearly demarcated and differ



Fig. 12 Transverse section through the cerebellar anlage of a E17 rat embryo, showing the division of the nuclear transitory zone in a group of medially migrating, future fastigial nuclear neurons (*fcf*) that will give rise to the uncinate tract (*hb*), and a group of longitudinally oriented neurons (*fci*), the source of the interposed and lateral nuclei (Reproduced from Altman and Bayer [5]. *Inset*: Injection of horse radish peroxidase (stippled area) labels fibers of uncinate tract in the cerebellar commissure and cells of contralateral fastigial nucleus in a E16 rat embryo [17])

in the degree of differentiation of their cells. Raphe-like, cell-poor differentiations within the medullary substance demarcate the borders between the cluster/nuclear complexes. Clusters extend all over the length of the still smooth cerebellar surface. Three subdivisions are present in the medial cluster overlying similar differentiations within the medial nucleus. A narrow medial intermediate cluster is related to the small anterior interposed nucleus, the wide lateral intermediate cluster to the large posterior interposed nucleus, and the lateral cluster is topographically related to the anlage of the lateral cerebellar nucleus. A very similar clustering in the incipient cortex was found in the rat [62] (Fig. 14). The same relations of the cerebellar nuclei were found as in whale embryos, but the lateral intermediate cluster, like its target nucleus, the posterior interposed, is smaller and of the same size as the medial intermediate zone and the anterior interposed nucleus. In the rat, a small, additional X zone was present between the lateral and lateral intermediate zone, related to the dorsolateral hump of the anterior interposed nucleus. The medial intermediate and the X clusters are partially covered by the adjoining clusters. Four Purkinje cell clusters were identified by Feirabend [36] in chick embryos. In later stages, migrating strands of granule cells ("granule cell raphes," Fig. 15) are located between and within the clusters, subdividing them in smaller units. The existence of such a second generation of clusters has not been confirmed, but the Purkinje cell raphes have also been identified in mammals and have been used to delineate Purkinje cell clusters and zones in histochemical studies [59, 60, 75, 98]. Cerebellar zonation in early postnatal avian stages was documented by Braun et al. [20].



**Fig. 13** (a) Diagram of the Purkinje cell zones in a flattened map of the cortex of the cerebellum of the rat. The cerebellar and vestibular target nuclei of the zones are indicated in (b), the source of their climbing fiber afferents in a flattened map of the inferior olive in (c). A map of the distribution of zebrin-positive (*black*) and zebrin-negative Purkinje cells is illustrated in (d). Zebrin-positive zones are numbers 1–7. Note that the Purkinje cells of the B, C1, C3, and Y zones are zebrin negative

Purkinje cell clusters have been identified during the development of the primate cerebellum. The first illustrations in human fetuses can be found in Langelaan [67] and Hochstetter [54]. They were studied in macaque monkey fetuses by Kappel [58]. She distinguished two sets of clusters. Those destined to develop in the adult A, C2, and D1 and D2 zones reach the still smooth surface of the cerebellum early (Fig. 16). The clusters that will give rise to the future B, C1, and C3 zones reach the surface later. For some time, they are still partially covered by the neighboring clusters, a phenomenon also noticed for the same clusters in Korneliussen's [64] paper on the rat corticogenesis. Korneliusen's medial and lateral intermediate and his X zone clearly correspond to the monkey C1, C2, and C3 zones, respectively. In the



Fig. 14 Transverse section and a diagram of the flattened cerebellar cortex showing Purkinje cell clusters in a 30 mm cr rat embryo and a 17 cm cr *Balaenoptera physalus* embryo (Modified from Korneliusen [61, 62])

monkey fetus, cell strands connect the C1 and C3 clusters with the anterior interposed nucleus (Fig. 17). The same Purkinje cell clusters also can be recognized in human fetuses, where the large size of the lateral D cluster should be noticed (Fig. 18). The differentiation of the human dentate nucleus in a dorsomedial portion with an early differentiating coils, and a late developing ventrocaudal part, was first described by Weidenreich [124]. The general conclusion of these studies is that Purkinje cell clusters transform directly into the adult pattern of Purkinje cell zones.



Fig. 15 Granule cell raphes in a 14-day chick embryo. (a) Loyez stain of anterior lobe, the EGI, and the granule cell raphes are stained. (b) Nissl stain. *EGL* external granular layer, *P* Purkinje cell clusters (Courtesy Dr. Hans Feirabend)

Nothing is known about the development of the detailed (somato) topical patterns [34] in the Purkinje cell zones.

The role of cadherins, adhesion molecules that play an important role in cerebellar development, was reviewed by Redies et al. [99]. Different cadherins are expressed by Purkinje cell clusters early in chick embryos and provide an adhesive code for parasagittal cell domains in avian and mammalian embryos (Fig. 19) and characterize interconnected grisea, such as Purkinje cell clusters and the cerebellar nuclei [8, 86]. In mice, these cadherin domains resemble the Purkinje cell zones as they are known in rats.

Wassef and Sotelo [120] and Wassef et al. [123] traced the development of Purkinje cell clusters in rats, using markers that are expressed by all adult Purkinje cells. Not all Purkinje cell clusters express these markers during development. Different patterns of labeling were observed for different markers. Whether this is caused by a different phenotype of the immature Purkinje cells or by a difference in time scale of the expression of the different markers is not clear. The number of clusters identified was greater than in previous studies, and, therefore, a comparison with them was not attempted.

Another set of Purkinje cell-specific antibodies was developed by Hawkes and Leclerc ([48]: mapQ-113, zebrin I) and Brochu et al. ([21], zebrin II). The epitope of zebrin II was found to be aldolase C [1]. These antibodies stain a subpopulation of Purkinje cells. Multiple longitudinal strips of zebrin-negative Purkinje cells in the anterior lobe and the simplex lobule, in the posterior cerebellum in the pyramis



**Fig. 16** Photographs of the rostral aspect of reconstructions of the Purkinje cell layer of the cerebellum of four fetuses of the rhesus monkey. Clusters are indicated with different shadings. Note the superficial location of Purkinje cells of the early arriving clusters D, C2, and A in the youngest fetus and the gradual emergence at the surface of the later arriving clusters B, C<sub>1</sub>, and C<sub>3</sub>. Compare with sections of 55-, 65-, and 70-day-old fetuses in Fig. 16. *Abbreviations: Fl* flocculus, *prf* primary fissure (Reproduced from Kappel [58])



**Fig. 17** Coronal section through the cerebellum of a 55-day-old rhesus monkey fetus. Note superficial location of the Purkinje cells of the early arriving clusters A, C2, and D, which still partially cover the later arriving deep clusters B,  $C_1$ , and  $C_3$ . *Abbreviations: cr* restiform body, *IntA* anterior interposed nucleus, *v4* fourth ventricle (Reproduced from Kappel [58])



Fig. 18 Purkinje cell clusters A–D in a transverse section of a human 65 mm cr fetus. *EGL* external granular layer





and the adjoining paramedian lobule, separate zebrin-positive strips (Fig. 13d). Expression of the zebrin antigen starts relatively late in P6 rat neonates. At P12, it is present in all Purkinje cells. Subsequently immunoreactivity is selectively suppressed, resulting in the adult-striped pattern [73]. A similar type of development has been found for another late-onset marker for longitudinal zones, heat-shock protein 25 [7]. In studies of the development of the zebrin pattern, bridging the gap

between prenatal clusters and adult zebrin-negative and zebrin-positive strips proved to be difficult [68].

One of the problems is that zebrin-positive and zebrin-negative strips do not map one to one on the Purkinje cell zones defined by their corticonuclear and olivocerebellar identity. The zebrin immunoreactivity of these Purkinje cell zones was established by Voogd et al. [118], Voogd and Ruigrok [117], and Sugihara and Shinoda [107]. Their studies also revealed a number of additional, narrow zebrinpositive strips that were formally discarded as satellite bands. In the rat hemisphere, the B, C1, C3, and Y zones were found to be zebrin negative, the intercalated C2, D1, and D2 zones were zebrin positive (compare Fig. 13a, d). In the vermis, the A zone consists of multiple zebrin-positive and zebrin-negative subzones. Earlier publications on differences in birth date between the Purkinje cells of different clusters [37] were succeeded by the viral labeling studies of Hashimoto and Mikoshiba [47] that showed that Purkinje cells in mice born at E11.5 form clusters that will develop into the zebrin-positive (C2, D1, and D2) zones, whereas Purkinje cells born at E12.5 develop in the zebrin-negative (B, C1, C3, and Y) zones [85] (Fig. 20). Earlier Kappel [58] found these late-born Purkinje cell clusters to arrive later at the cerebellar surface than the early-born clusters. Just as the number of zebrin-positive and zebrin-negative stripes increased in recent studies, the number of Purkinje cell clusters identified in E17.5 mice embryos increased to 54 on each side [39]. These authors traced the development of these clusters into the adult zebrin pattern. More recent developments in this field were reviewed by Arancillo et al. and in Leto et al. [74].

#### **Development of Connections**

The development of the afferent climbing and mossy connections of the cerebellum has received more attention than the output systems of the cerebellar nuclei. A closed chapter in the study of the development of cerebellar connections is the study of their myelinization. Axonal systems acquire their myelin sheaths at different preand postnatal dates. Myelin-stained sections can provide information on their topography. The method was mostly used in human fetuses and neonates. Like modern MRI tractography. It does not provide information on the precise origin and termination of the tracts nor on the direction of impulse propagation. A good example is the dorsal spinocerebellar tract that bore the eponym Flechsig's tract after its discovery in the myelogenetic studies of this author [38]. The localization of this tract in the restiform body was illustrated by Darkschewitsch and (Sigmund) Freud [31]. In a human fetus, it consists of a core of myelinated cuneocerebellar and dorsal spinocerebellar fibers and an unmyelinated periphery of olivocerebellar fibers (Fig. 21). Details on the intracerebellar topography were published by De Sanctis [32]. The state of the art at the end of the nineteenth century was reviewed by von Bechterew [12].



**Fig. 20** Distribution of Purkinje cells born on E10.5 and E12.5 superimposed on a map of the zebrin-positive (*gray*) and zebrin-negative strips of the cerebellum of the mouse. Early-born Purkinje cells constitute zebrin-negative bands; late-born Purkinje cells constitute zebrin-negative bands (Reproduced from Namba et al. [85])

Fig. 21 Diagram of the myelinization of the restiform body in a human fetus. The central, myelinated core consists of cuneocerebellar (1) and dorsal spinocerebellar tract fibers (2). The unmyelinated periphery consists of olivocerebellar fibers (From Darkschewitsch and Freud [31])



Fig. 22 Sagittal section through an 8 mm mouse embryo; Cajal silver staining. Axons of the ascending branch of the vestibular nerve enter the cerebellar anlage (Reproduced from Tello [108]). *Abbreviations: n.trig* trigeminal nerve, *n.vest* vestibular nerve

According to Tello [108], who used the Cajal silver impregnation in mouse embryos, the first system to enter the cerebellum in an 8 mm mouse embryo is the ascending branch of the bifurcating vestibular nerve. These fibers appear to be directed at the caudal pole of the cerebellar anlage, where some will cross the midline (Fig. 22). At a later stage, another afferent system, Tello's faisceau bulbo- or olivo-cérébelleuse, enters the rostral pole of the cerebellum. Its fibers form the cerebellar commissure which, in a 13 mm mouse embryo, extends over the entire rostro-caudal dimension of the cerebellum (Fig. 23). Tello's observations on the early arrival of primary vestibulocerebellar fibers were confirmed by Morris et al. [83], using the parvalbumin immunoreactivity of these fibers in rat embryos. First the fibers are located immediately under the pial surface. Later they are found in medially and caudally directed bundles that will reach the granular layer of the uvulanodulus. These fibers may serve as pathfinding axons for non-immunoreactive



Fig. 23 Sagittal section through a 13 mm mouse embryo; Cajal silver staining, showing the cerebellar commissure (Reproduced from Tello [108]). *Abbreviations: comm* cerebellar commissure, *egl* external granular layer, *mes* mesencephalon, *plex. chor.* choroid plexus, *ventr. matrix* ventricular matrix

fibers, possibly belonging to secondary vestibulocerebellar fibers from the vestibular nuclei. The development of differential projections of cristae and maculae in mice to the uvula-nodulus was studied by Maklad and Fritsch [78].

Of the other mossy fiber afferent systems, the development of the spinocerebellar projection has received most attention. The bilateral, regular collateralization of spinocerebellar fibers that form multiple parasagittally oriented terminal fields in the granular layer was first described in our lab for mammals [114] and birds [112]. Lakke et al. [66] traced spinocerebellar axons with WGA HRP in chicken embryos. They enter the rostral cerebellum in Tello's bulbocerebellar fascicle at the seventh incubation day. They course superficially, to enter the cerebellar commissure 2 days later. The bundle of spinocerebellar axons gives off collaterals which enter the Purkinje cell clusters, from where they extend into the molecular layer (Fig. 24). Spinocerebellar fibers disappear from the molecular layer, and terminal rosettes in the inner granular layer develop late before and after hatching [91]. In mammals, a similar sequence is present in the development of the spinocerebellar pathway. Their early entrance in the rostral cerebellar analge in E13 mouse embryos, their superficial location, and their decussation in the cerebellar commissure are observed at E15. No parasagittal arrangement is visible at E19 [43]. According to Arsénio





Nunes and Sotelo [9], the columnar distribution of spinocerebellar fibers in the rat develops postnatally from a more diffuse stage that was not observed in birds. A distinct topographical relationship of these columns to the zebrin pattern, i.e., to the Purkinje cell zones, was described by Ji and Hawkes [55]. According to these authors, despite the early zonal distribution of the mossy fibers being dependent on Purkinje cell clustering, granule cell-mossy fiber interactions if disturbed by chemical ablation of the EGL result in blurring of this pattern [56].

Little is known about the development of other mossy fiber systems. For the development of the pontocerebellar projection, Bechterew [11] made an interesting observation. He found an early myelinating "spinal system" in the brachium pontis of human neonates that can be traced from the caudal pontine nuclei and the nucleus reticularis tegmenti pontis into the flocculus and the anterior cerebellum. The "cerebral system" of the brachium pontis, which courses from the rostral pontine nuclei to the posterior cerebellum, is still unmyelinated at the time (Fig. 25). This is in accordance with more recent observations that the main projection of the caudal pontine nuclei, which receive their afferents from motor cortical areas, is to the anterior lobe, whereas rostral pontine nuclei that are innervated by cortical association areas mainly project to the caudal cerebellum [115]. Tolbert and Panneton [110] described transient extra-pontine cerebrocerebellar connections from the somatosensory cortex to the cerebellar cortex and nuclei in kittens using axonal transport of tritiated amino acids, horseradish peroxidase, or fluorescent dyes. These projections arise as collaterals from the pyramidal tract, passing through the superior cerebellar peduncle to terminate in the nuclei, and caudal to the pons, bilaterally through the restiform body to be distributed as mossy-like fibers to the granular layer of the anterior lobe, the lobulus simplex and the paramedian lobule. The projections to nuclei and cortex are somatotopically organized [94, 109]. Nuclear projections are present at P6-P8, cortical projections between P8 and P10. After the seventh postnatal week, no cerebrocerebellar projections were present any more. Earlier, a similar transient pathway from the occipital region of the hemisphere to the paraflocculus was observed in neonatal rabbits [33].



**Fig. 25** Transverse myelin-stained section through the brainstem and cerebellum of a human neonate (Reproduced from Bechterew [11]). *Abbreviations: a* central tegmental tract, *b* superior olive, *fc* cerebral system of the brachium pontis, *flo* flocculus, *flp* medial longitudinal fascicle, *fm* spinal system of the brachium pontis

Since the studies of Voogd [114] and Groenewegen and Voogd [44], it is known that the topographical organization of the olivocerebellar projection closely matches the longitudinal zonal organization of the corticonuclear projection and their localization in white matter compartments. Therefore the question is not whether it is likely that Purkinje cell clustering determines this pattern but rather how this is achieved. Olivocerebellar fibers enter the cerebellum early, in E8.5-E9 chick embryos, presumably, in Tello's olivocerebellar bundle; initial target selection occurs at E10. Affinity of Purkinje cell clusters for the olivocerebellar fibers from particular subdivisions of the inferior olive was shown by Chédotal and Sotelo [26], Wassef et al. [121, 122], and Paradies et al. [92] (Fig. 26). The cell adhesion molecule BEN was found to be present in subdivisions of the inferior olive and Purkinje cell clusters. However, non-BEN i.r. clusters also were found to receive BEN-ir olivocerebellar fibers ([28]; Pourquié et al. [96]). Irrespective of reversal of the cerebellar plate, olivocerebellar fibers recognize polarity cues in their target region that organize their antero-posterior topography [27]. Ephrins and their receptors are distributed in parasagittal domains in chicken embryos [60]. These domains were found to correspond to the olivocerebellar mapping domains [89].

Although the development of corticonuclear connections was implicit in some of the cited papers on the development of longitudinal Purkinje cell zones, the subject has received little attention. The uncinate tract, as the main efferent system of the fastigial nucleus, was considered in section "Development of the



**Fig. 26** Location of CGRP immunoreactive olivocerebellar fibers in the cerebellum of an E17 and an E20 rat embryo. CGRP immunoreactive brain stem nuclei and tracts are indicated. Cerebellar nuclei are hatched (Reproduced from Chédotal and Sotelo [26]). *Abbreviations: 4V* fourth ventricle, *7n* facial nucleus, *7t* genu facial nerve, *Aq* aquaduct, *bp* parabrachial nucleus, *cer* cerebellum, *MnR* median raphe, *sp5* spinal tract trigeminal nerve

Cerebellar Nuclei." The development of the brachium conjunctivum was studied in rat fetuses by Cholley et al. [29]. It emerges from the cerebellar nuclei at E15; at E16, it crosses the midline in Wernekinck's decussation [116]. The olivonuclear pathway was found in a more ventral position to decussate rostral to the main portion of the brachium.

#### **Development of the Folial Pattern**

Studies of the development of the folial pattern contributed to our present nomenclature of the cerebellum. Kuithan [65] coined the name sulcus primarius for the first fissure to appear medially in the cerebellum of a 5 cm sheep embryo. Another unnamed, fissure is present at this stage running along the caudal rim of the cerebellar anlage, which we now know as the posterolateral fissure (Fig. 27). Next to appear is the fissure that borders the uvula rostrally (our secondary fissure) followed by the prepyramidal fissure. The name "secondary fissure" was introduced by Smith [105] for "one of the two fundamental clefts which cross the mesial plane (that) have been called the 'fissura prima' and the 'fissura secunda' in reference to their relative importance and precocity." Smith only studied adult specimens and must have derived his ideas about the precocity of these fissures from Kuithan's studies. Kuithan's observations were partially confirmed by Stroud [106] in feline and human embryos. However, before any fissures appeared in the future vermis, Stroud observed a parafloccular sulcus in the hemisphere that separates his "pileum" (our ansiform and paramedian lobulus) from his "paraflocculus." Contrary to his term paraflocculus, Stroud's names for the primary fissure (the furcal sulcus) and the anso-paramedian lobules have not survived.



Fig. 27 Sagittal section of a 5 cm sheep embryo, showing the division of the germinal zone of the early cerebellar plate by the primary fissure and an unnamed fissure along the caudal border of the cerebellum (*arrow*) (Reproduced from Kuithan [65]). *Abbreviations: f* fibrillar layer, g mantel layer, m' external granular layer (embryonale Randschicht), sp. sulcus primarius, tr trochlear nerve



Fig. 28 (a) Diagram of Bolk's [16] Bauplan of the mammalian cerebellum. Folial chains of vermis and hemisphere are aligned in anterior lobe and in the pyramis (C1) and the paramedian lobule and behave like independent growth centers in the ansiform lobule-lobule C2 and the paraflocculusflocculus and lobules A (nodule) and B (uvula) segments (b). Drawings of different stages in the development of the human cerebellum (Relabeled from Bolk [16]). (c) Larsell's [72] transverse subdivision of the mammalian cerebellum. *Abbreviations: A* lobule A (nodulus), *B* lobule B (uvula), *C1* lobule C1 (pyramis), *C2* lobule C2 (folium and tuber vermis), *cop* copula pyramidis, *Crus.circ (PFL)* crus circumcludens (paraflocculus), *Fapm* ansoparamedian fissure, *fI* primary fissure, *Ficrur* intercrural fissure, *fII* fissura secunda, *FLO* flocculus, *fpc* preculminate fissure, *fpf* parafloccular fissure, *fpp*. prepyramidal fissure, *fsp* superior posterior fissure, *L.ans* ansiform lobule, *L.ant* anterior lobe, *L.pm* paramedian lobule, *L.sim* simplex lobule, *PFLD/V* dorsal/ventral paraflocculus, *Spm* paramedian sulcus, *Uncus t. (floc)* uncus terminalis (flocculus)

One of the longstanding controversies in the subdivision of the mammalian cerebellum was whether a subdivision in lobules, separated by transverse fissures, or a sagittal division into vermis and hemispheres was to be preferred. The proponent of the division in vermis and hemispheres was Louis Bolk [16] (Fig. 28a). Bolk's [15, 16] studies of human embryos, which confirmed Bradley's [18, 19] earlier observations, showed that the cerebellum is a compromise between transverse and longitudinal trends in the development of its folial pattern. In the anterior lobe with the simple lobule and in the pyramis with its hemisphere, fissures and lobules of the hemisphere develop as extensions from the vermis. In the ansiform lobule, the paraflocculus and the flocculus fissures develop independently from the vermis (Fig. 28b). The independence of vermis and hemisphere later was emphasized by the local absence of cortex, i.e., of parallel fibers, in these regions [113]. Larsell [70] stated his belief in the prevalence of a transverse lobular subdivision as: "it is clear in the adult and in the fetus that the lateral parts, namely ansiformis, paraflocculus and the lateral continuation of the pyramis are merely lateral extensions of the medial portions." Larsell identified the posterolateral fissure as the first fissure to develop. It separates the primary divisions of the cerebellum, the flocculonodular lobe, and the corpus cerebelli, from each other. Larsell subdivided the avian and mammalian cerebellum in ten homologous lobules, indicated with roman numerals [71, 72] (Fig. 28c). The development of the folial pattern in birds was also studied by Saetersdal [101]. He agreed with Larsell that the posterolateral fissure is the first to appear but found Larsell's preculminate, prepyramidal, and secondary fissures to appear next. Larsell's preculminate fissure, therefore, represents the true primary fissure, and the lobules of the avian cerebellum should be renumbered.

#### References

- 1. Ahn AH, Dziennis S, Hawkes R, Herrup K. The cloning of zebrin II reveals its identity with aldolase C. Development. 1994;120:2081–90.
- 2. Altman J. Postnatal development of the cerebellar cortex in the rat. II. Phases in the maturation of Purkinje cells and of the molecular layer. J Comp Neurol. 1972;145:399–462.
- 3. Altman J. Morphological development of the rat cerebellum and some of its mechanisms. Exp Brain Res Suppl. 1982;6:8–49.
- Altman J, Bayer SA. Embryonic development of the rat cerebellum. III. Regional differences in the time of origin, migration and settling of Purkinje cells. J Comp Neurol. 1985a;231:42–65.
- 5. Altman J, Bayer SA. Embryonic development of the rat crebellum. II. Transformation and regional distribution of the deep neurons. J Comp Neurol. 1985b;231:27–41.
- 6. Altman J, Bayer SA. Embryonic development of the rat cerebellum. I Delineation of the cerebellar primordium and early cell movements. J Comp Neurol. 1985c;231:1–26.
- Armstrong CL, Krueger-Naug AM, Currie RW, Hawkes R. Expression of heat-shock protein Hsp25 in mouse Purkinje cells during development reveals novel features of cerebellar compartmentation. J Comp Neurol. 2001;429:7–21.
- Arndt K, Redies C. Development of cadherin-defined parasagittal subdivisions in the embryonic chicken cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1998;401:367–81.
- 9. Arsénio Nunes ML, Sotelo C. The development of the spinocerebellar system in the postnatal rat. J Comp Neurol. 1985;237:291–306.
- 10. Athias M. L'histogenése de l'écorce du cervelet. J Anat Physiol Norm Pathol. 1897;33:372-404.
- 11. Bechterew WV. Zur Anatomie der Schenkel des Kleinhirns insb. der Brückenarme. Neurol Centralbl. 1885;4:121–5.
- 12. Bechterew WV. Die Leitungsbahnen im Gehirn und Rückenmark. Leipzig: Arthur Georgi; 1899.
- Bergmann KGLC. Motiz über einige Strukturverhältnisse des Cerebellum und Rückenmarks. Z Ration Med. 1857;8:360–3.
- 14. Bergqvist H, Källén B. Studies on the topography of the migration areas in the vertebrate brain. Acata Anat. 1953;17:353–69.
- 15. Bolk L. Over de ontwikkeling van het cerebellum bij den mensch (About the development of the human cerebelklum). Versl Kon Acad Amsterdam. 1905:635–41.
- 16. Bolk L. Das Cerebellum der Säugetiere. Haarlem: Fischer; 1906.
- 17. Bourrat F, Sotelo C. Neuronal migration and dendritic maturation of medial cerebellar nucleus in rat embryos: an HRP in vitro study using cerebellar slabs. Brain Res. 1986;378:69–85.

- 18. Bradley OC. On the development and homology of the mammalian cerebellar fissures. J Anat Physiol. 1903;37:112–30. 221–240
- 19. Bradley OC. The mammalian cerebellum: its lobes and fissures. J Anat Physiol. 1904; 38:448–75.
- Braun K, Schachner M, Schleich H, Heizmann CW. Cellular localization of the Ca2+–binding protein parvalbumin in the developing avian cerebellum. Cell Tissue Res. 1986;243:69–78.
- Brochu G, Maler L, Hawkes R. Zebrin II: a polypeptide antigen expressed selectively by Purkinje cells reveals compartments in rat and fish cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1990; 291:538–52.
- 22. Cajal RY. A propos de certains élements bipolaires du cervelet avec quelques détails nouveaux sur l'évolution ds fibres nerveuses. Int Monatschrifr Anat Physiol. 1890a;7:47–468.
- 23. Cajal RY. Sur les fibres nerveuses de la couche granulaire du cervelet et sur l'évolution des élements cérébelleux. Int Monatschrift Anatomie Physiol. 1890b;7:12–29.
- Cajal SRY. A propos de certains éléments bipolaires du cervelet et quelques détails nouveaux sur l'évolution des fibres cérébelleuses. Int Monatschrift Anatomie Physiol. 1890c;8:447–68.
- 25. Cajal SRY. Histologie du système nerveux de l'homme et des vertebrés. Paris: Maloine; 1909–1911.
- Chédotal A, Sotelo C. Early development of olivocerebellar projections in the fetal rat using CGRP immunohistochemistry. Eur J Neurosci. 1992;4:1159–79.
- 27. Chédotal A, Bloch-Gallego E, Sotelo C. The embryonic cerebellum contains topographic clues that guide developing inferior olivary axons. Development. 1997;124:861–70.
- Chédotal A, Pourquié O, Ezan F, San Clemente H, Sotelo C. BEN as a presumptive target recognition molecule during the development of the olivocerebellar system. J Neurosci. 1996;16:3296–310.
- Cholley B, Wassef M, Arsénio-Nunes L, Sotelo C. Proxinal trajectory of the brachium conjunctivum in rat fetuses and its early association with the parabrachial nucleus. A study combining in vitro HRP anterograde tracing and immunochemistry. Brain Res Dev Brain Res. 1989;45:185–202.
- Corrales JD, Rocco GL, Blaess S, Guo O, Joyner AL. Spatial pattern of sonic hedgehog signaling through the Gli gens during cerebellar development. Development. 2004;131:5581–90.
- Darkschewitsch L, Freud S. Ueber die Beziehung des Strickkörpers zum Hinterstrang und Hinterstrangskern nebst Bemerkungen ueber zwei Felden der Onblongata. Neurol Zentralbl. 1886;5:121–9.
- De Sanctis S. Untersuchungen über den Bau der Markscheidenentwicklung des menschlichen Kleinhirns. Monatsch Psychiatr Neurol. 1898;4:237–46.
- Distel H, Holländer H. Autoradiographic tracing of developing subcortical projections of the occipital region in fetal rabbits. J Comp Neurol. 1980;192:505–18.
- Ekerot C-F. The dorsal spino-olivary system in the cat. II. Somatotopical organization. Exp Brain Res. 1979;36:219–32.
- Englund C, Kowallzyk T, Daza RAM, Dagan A, Lau C, Rose MF, Hetner RF. Unipolar brush cells of the cerebellum are produced in the rhombic lip and migrate through developing white matter. J Neurosci. 2006;26:9184–95.
- 36. Feirabend HKP. Anatomy and development of longitudinal patterns in the architecture of the cerebellum of the white leghorn (Gallus domesticus), Thesis Leiden; 1983.
- 37. Feirabend HKP, van Lusemburg EA, van Denderen-van Dorp H, Voogd J. A 3H thymidine autoradiographic study of the development of the cerebellum of the white leghorn (Gallus domesticus): evidence for longitudinal neuroblast generation patterns. Acta Morph Neerl Scand. 1985;23:115–26.
- Flechsig P. Die Leitungsbahnen im Gehirn und Rückenmark auf Grund Entwicklungsgeschictlicher Untersuchungen dargestellt. Leipzig; 1876.
- Fujita H, Morita N, Furuichi T, Sugihara I. Clustered fine compartmentalization of the mouse cerebellar cortex and its rearrangement into the postnatal striped configuration. J Neurosci. 2012;32:15688–703.
- 40. Goldowitz D, Hamre K. The cells and molecules that make a cerebellum. TINS. 1998;21: 375–82.
- Goodlett CR, Hamre KM, West JR. Regional differences in the timing of dendritic outgrowth of Purkinje cells in the vermal cerebellum demonstrated by MAP2 immunocytochemistry. Dev Brain Res. 1990;53:131–4.
- 42. Gould BB, Rakic P. The total number, time of origin and kinetics of proliferation of neurons comprising the deep cerebellar nuclei in the Rhesus monkey. Exp Brain Res. 1981;44:195–206.
- Grishkat HL, Eisenman LM. Development of the spinocerebellar projection in the prenatal mouse. J Comp Neurol. 1995;363:93–108.
- 44. Groenewegen HJ, Voogd J. The parasagittal zonation of the olivocerebellar projection. I. Climbing fiber distribution in the vermis of cat cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1977;174:417–88.
- 45. Hallonet MR, Teillet M-A, Le Douarin NM. A new approach to the development of the cerebellum provided by the quailchick marker system. Development. 1990;108:19–31.
- 46. Hashimoto K, Kano M. Postnatal development and synapse elimination of climbing fiber to Purkinje cell projection in the cerebellum. Neurosci Res. 2005;53:221–8.
- 47. Hashimoto M, Mikishiba K. Mediolateral compartmentation of the cerebellum is determined on the "birth date" of Purkinje cells. J Neurosci. 2003;23:11342–51.
- Hawkes R, Leclerc N. Antigenic map of the rat cerebellar cortex: the distribution of parasagittal bands as revealed by monoclonal anti-Purkinje cell antibody mapQ113. J Comp Neurol. 1987;256:29–41.
- 49. Herrick CL. Contributions to the comparative morphology of the central nervous system. I. Illustrations of the architectonic of the cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1891;1:2–37.
- 50. Hess N. De cerebelli gyrorum r textura disquisitiones microscopicae Dopat Schünmann. 1858.
- Hillman DE, Chen S, Ackman J. Perinatal methylazoxymethanol acetate uncouples coincidence of orientation of cerebellar folia and parallel fibers. Neuroscience. 1988;24:99–110.
- His W. Zur Geschichte des Gehirns sowie der centralen und peripherischen Nervenbahnen beim menschlichen Embryo. Abhandlungen der mathematisch-physichen Classe der Königl. Sachsichen Ges Wiss. 1888;VII:341–92.
- 53. His W. Die Entwicklug des menschlichen Rautenhirns vom Ende des ersten bis am Beginn des dritten Monats. Abandlungen der mathematischen-physischen Classe der Königl. Sachsichen Ges Wiss. 1891;17:1–74.
- 54. Hochstetter F. Beträg zur entwicklungsgeschichte des menschlichen Gehirns. Wien/Leipzig: Deuticke; 1929.
- 55. Ji Z, Hawkes R. Topography of Purkinje cell compartments and mossy fiber terminal fields in lobules II and III of the rat cerebellar cortex: spinocerebellar and cuneocerebellar projections. Neuroscience. 1994;61:935–54.
- 56. Ji Z, Hawkes R. Partial ablation of the neonatal external granular layer disrupts mossy fiber topography in the adult rat cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1996;371:578–88.
- Kanemitsu A, Kobayashi Y. Time of origin of Purkinje cells and neurons of the deep cerebellar nuclei of the chick embryo examined with 3H-thymidine autoradiography. Anat Anz. 1988;165:67–75.
- Kappel RM. The development of the cerebellum in *Macaca mulatta*. A study of regional differences during corticogenesis. Thesis Leiden; 1981.
- Karam SD, Burrows RC, Logan C, Koblar S, Pasquale EB, Bothwell M. Eph receptors and ephrins in the developing chick cerebellum: relationship to sagittal patterning and granule cell migration. J Neurosci. 2000;20:6488–500.
- 60. Karam SD, Kim YS, Rothwell M. Granule cells migrate within raphes in the developing cerebellum: an evolutionarily conserved event. J Comp Neurol. 2001;440:127–35.
- 61. Korneliusen HK. Cerebellar corticogenesis in cetacea, with special reference to regional variations. J Hirnforsch. 1967;9:151–85.
- Korneliusen HK. On the ontogenetic development of the cerebellum (nuclei, fissures and cortex) of the rat, with special reference to regional variations in corticogenesis. J Hirnforsch. 1968;10:379–412.

- Korneliusen HK, Jansen J. On the early development and homology of the central cerebellar nuclei in cetacea. J Hirnforsch. 1965;8:47–56.
- 64. Korneliussen HK. Comments on the cerebellum and its division. Brain Res. 1968;8:229-36.
- 65. Kuithan W. Die Entwicklung des Kleinhirns bei Säugetieren, Münchener medizinische Abhandlungen. 1895.
- 66. Lakke EA, Guldemond JM, Voogd J. The ontogeny of the spinocerebellar projection in the chicken. A study using WGA HRP as a tracer. Acta Histochem Suppl. 1986;27:47–51.
- 67. Langelaan JW. On the development of the external form of the human cerebellum. Brain. 1919;42:130–70.
- Larouche M, Che PM, Hawkes R. Neurogranin expression identifies a novel array of Purkinje cell parasagittal stripes during mouse cerebellar development. J Comp Neurol. 2006;494:215–27.
- 69. Larramendi LMH. Analysis of synaptogenesis in the cerebellum of the mouse. In: Llinas R, editor. Neurobiology of cerebellar evolution and development. Chicago: AMA; 1969. p. 803–43.
- 70. Larsell O. Cerebellum and corpus pontobulbare of the bat (Myotis). J Comp Neurol. 1936;64:299–345.
- 71. Larsell O. The development and subdivisions of the cerebellum of birds. J Comp Neurol. 1948;98:123–82.
- Larsell O. The morphogenesis and adult pattern of the lobules and tissues of the cerebellum of the white rat. J Comp Neurol. 1952;97:281–356.
- Leclerc N, Gravel C, Hawkes R. Development of parasagittal zonation in the rat cerebellar cortex: MabQ113 antigenic bands are created postnatally by the suppression of antigen expression in a subset of Purkinje cells. J Comp Neurol. 1988;273:399–420.
- 74. Leto E, Arancillo M, Becker EBE, Busso A, Chiang C, Baodin J, Dubyns WB, Dusart I, Haldipur P, Hatten ME, Hoshino M, Joyner AL, Kano M, Kilpatrisck DL, Koibuchi N, Marino S, Martinez S, Muillen KJ, Millnner TO, Miyata T, Parmigiani E, Schilling S, Sekerková G, Sillitoe RV, Sotelo C, Uesaka N, Wefers A, Wingatae RJT, Hawkes R. Consensus paper: cerebellar deveopment. Cerebellum. 2015;15:789–828.
- Lin JC, Cepko CL. Granule cell raphes and parasagittal domains of Purkinje cells: complementary patterns in developing chick cerebellum. J Neurosci. 1998;18:9342–53.
- 76. Lugaro. Ueber die Histogenese der Körner der Kleinhirnrinde. Anat Anz. 1894;10:710-3.
- 77. Machold R, Fishell G. Math 1 is expressed in temporary discrete pools of cerebellar rhombiclip neural progenitors. Neuron. 2005;48:17–24.
- Maklad A, Fritsch B. Partial separation of posterior crista and saccular fibers to the nodulus and uvula of the cerebellum in mice, and its development. Dev Brain Res. 2003;140:223–36.
- 79. Marin F, Puelles L. Morphological fate of rhombomeres in quail/chick chimeras: a segmental analysis of hindbrain nuclei. Eur J Neurosci. 1995;7:1714–38.
- Martinez S, Alvarado-Mallart R-M. Rostral cerebellum originates from the caudal portion of the so-called 'mesencephalic' vesicle: a study using chick/quail chimeras. J Neurosci. 1989;1:549–60.
- Miale IL, Sidman RL. An autoradiographic analysis of histogenesis in the mouse cerebellum. Exp Neurol. 1961;4:77–295.
- Morara S, Van der Want JJL, De Weerd H, Provini L, Rosina A. Ultrastructural analysis of climbing fiber-Purkinje cell synaptogenesis in the rat cerebellum. Neuroscience. 2001;108:655–71.
- Morris RJ, Beech JN, Heizmann CW. Two distinct phases and mechanisms of axonal growth shown in primary vestibular fibers in the brain demonstrated by parvalbumin immunohistochemistry. Neuroscience. 1988;27:571–96.
- 84. Nagata I, Katsuhiko O, Wawana A, Kimura-Kuroda J. Aligned neurite bundles of granule cells regulate orientation of Purkinje cell dentrites by perpendicular contact guidance in two-dimensional and three-dimensional mouse cerebellar cultures. J Comp Neurol. 2006;499:274–89.

- Namba K, Sugihara I, Hashimoto M. Close correlation between the birth date of Purkinje cells and the longitudinal compartmentalization of the mouse adult cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 2011;519:2594–614.
- Neudert F, Nuernberger KK, Redies C. Comparative analysis of cadherin expression and connectivity patterns in the cerebellar system of ferret and mouse. J Comp Neurol. 2008;511:736–52.
- 87. Niewenhuys R, Puelles L. Toward a new neuromorphology. New York: Springer; 2016.
- Nieuwenhuys R, Voogd J, van Huijzen C. The human central nervous system. 4th ed. Heidelberg: Springer; 2008.
- Nishida K, Flanagan JG, Nakamoto M. Domain-specific olivocerebellar projection regulated by the EphA-ephrin-A interaction. Development. 2002;129:5647–58.
- 90. Obersteiner H. Beiträge zur Kenntniss vom feineren Bau der Kleinhirnrinde mit besonderer Berücksichtigung der Entwicklung. Sitzungsberichte der kaiserlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften. Math Naturwisenschaftliche Klasse Abth II. 1869;60:101–14.
- Okado N, Yoshimoto M, Furber SE. Pathway formation and the terminal distribution pattern of the spinocerebellar projection in the chick embryo. Anat Embryol (Berl). 1987;176:165–74.
- 92. Paradies MA, Grishkat HL, Smeyne RJ, Oberdick J, Morgan JI, Eisenman LM. Correspondence between L7-LacZ-expressing Purkinje cells and labeled olivocerebellar fibers during late embryogenesis in the mouse. J Comp Neurol. 1996;374:451–66.
- Pierce ET. Histogenesis of the deep cerebellar nuclei in the mouse: an autoradiographic study. Brain Res. 1975;95:503–18.
- 94. Pitman T, Tolbert DL. Organization of transient projections from the p[rimary] somatosensory cortex to the cerebellar nuclei in kittens. Anat Embryol (Berl). 1988;178:441–7.
- Popoff. Ueber die Histogenese der Kleinhirnrinde. Biol Centralblatt. 1897;17:485–512. 530– 542, 605–620, 640–650, 664–687
- 96. Pourquié O, Hallonet MR, Le Douarin NM. Association of BEN glycoprotein expression with climbing fiber axogenesis in the avian cerebellum. J Neurosci. 1992;12:1548–57.
- 97. Rakic P. Principles of neural cell migration. Experientia. 1990;46:882-91.
- Redies C, Luckner R, Arndt K. Granule cell raphes in the cerebellar cortex of chicken and mouse. Brain Res Bull. 2002;57:341.
- Redies C, Neudert F, Lin JC. Cadherins in cerebellar development: translation of embryonic patterning into mature functional compartmentalization. Cerebellum. 2011;10:393–408.
- 100. Rüdeberg S-I. Morphogenetic studies on the cerebellar nuclei and their homologization in different vertebrates including man. Lund: Hakan Olssons; 1961.
- 101. Saetersdal TAS. On the ontogenesis of the avian cerebellum. Part III. Formation of fissures with a discussion of fissure homologies between the avian and mammalian cerebellum. Universitetet i Bergen Arbok Naturvitenskapelig Rekke. 1959b;3:5–44.
- Schaper A. Die morphologische und histologsche Entwicklung des Kleinhirns der Teleostier. Anat Anz. 1894;9:489–501.
- 103. Sekerková G, Iljic E, Mugnaini E. Time of origin of unipolar brush cells in the rat cerebellum as observed by prenatal bromodeoxyuridine labeling. Neuroscience. 2004;127:845–58.
- 104. Sgaier SK, Millet S, Villanueva MP, Berensteyn F, Song C, Joyner AL. Morphogenetic and cellular movements that shape the mouse cerebellum: insights from genetic fate mapping. Neuron. 2005;45:27–40.
- 105. Smith GE. The primary subdivision of the mammalian cerebellum. J Anat Physiol. 1902;36:381–5.
- 106. Stroud BB. The mammalian cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1895;5:71-118.
- 107. Sugihara I, Shinoda Y. Molecular, topographic, and functional organization of the cerebellar cortex: a study with combined aldolase C and olivocerebellar labeling. J Neurosci. 2004;24:8771–85.
- Tello JF. Histogenése du cervelet et ses voies cehz la souris blanche. Trab Inst Cajal Invest Biol. 1940;32:1–72.
- 109. Tolbert DL. Somatotopically organized transient projections from the primary somatosensory cortex to the cerebellar cortex. Dev Brain Res. 1989;45:113–27.

- 110. Tolbert DL, Panneton WM. Transient cerebrocerebellar projections in kittens: postnatal development and topography. J Comp Neurol. 1983;221:216–28.
- 111. Vaage S. The segmentation of the primitive neural tube in chick embryos (Gallus domesticus). A morphological, histochemical and autoradiographical investigation. Adv Anat Embryol Cell Biol. 1969;41:1–81.
- 112. Vielvoye GJ. Spinocerebellar tracts in the white leghorn (Gallus domesticus), Thesis Leiden; 1977.
- 113. Voogd J. The cerebellum of the cat, thesis Leiden, Assen: van Gorcum; 1964.
- 114. Voogd J. The importance of fiber connections in the comparative anatomy of the mammalian cerebellum. In: Llinas R, editor. Neurobiology of cerebellar evolution and development. Chicago: AMA; 1969. p. 493–514.
- 115. Voogd J. Cerebellum and precerebellar nuclei. In: Paxinos G, Mai JK, editors. The human nervous system. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2004. p. 321–92.
- 116. Voogd J, van Baarsen K. The horseshoe-shaped commissure of Wernekinck or the decusation of the brachium conjunctivum. Methodological changes in the 1840s. Cerebellum. 2014;13:113–20.
- 117. Voogd J, Ruigrok TJ. The organization of the corticonuclear and olivocerebellar climbing fiber projections to the rat cerebellar vermis: the congruence of projection zones and the zebrin pattern. J Neurocytol. 2004;33:5–21.
- 118. Voogd J, Pardoe J, Ruigrok TJ, Apps R. The distribution of climbing and mossy fiber collateral branches from the copula pyramidis and the paramedian lobule: congruence of climbing fiber cortical zones and the pattern of zebrin banding within the rat cerebellum. J Neurosci. 2003;23:4645–56.
- 119. Wang VY, Szoghbi HY. Math 1 expression redefines the rhombic lip derivates and reveals novel lineages within the brainstem and cerebellum. Neuron. 2005;48:31–43.
- 120. Wassef M, Sotelo C. Asynchrony in the expression of guanosine 3':5'-phosphate-dependent protein kinase by clusters of Purkinje cells during the perinatal development of rat cerebellum. Neuroscience. 1984;13:1217–41.
- 121. Wassef M, Chedotal A, Cholley B, Thomasset M, Heizmann CW, Sotelo C. Development of the olivocerebellar projection in the rat: I. Transient biochemical compartmentation of the inferior olive. J Comp Neurol. 1992a;323:519–36.
- 122. Wassef M, Cholley B, Heizmann CW, Sotelo C. Development of the olivocerebellar projection in the rat: II. Matching of the developmental compartments of the cerebellum and inferior olive through the projection map. J Comp Neurol. 1992b;323:537–50.
- 123. Wassef M, Zanetta JP, Breher A, Sotelo C. Transient biochemical compartmentalization of Purkinje cells during early cerebellar development. Dev Biol. 1985;111:129–37.
- 124. Widenreich F. Zur Anatomie dr zentralen Kleinhirnkerne der Sáuger. Z Morphol Antrhropol. 1899;1:259–312.
- 125. Yuasa S, Kawamura K, Ono K, Yamakuni T, Takahashi Y. Development and migration of Purkinje cells in the mouse cerebellar primordium. Anat Embryol. 1991;184:195–212.
- 126. Zhang L, Goldman JE. Developmental fates and migratory pathways of dividing progenitors in the postnatal rat cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1996a;370:536–50.
- 127. Zhang L, Goldman JE. Generation of cerebellar interneurons from dividing progenitors in white matter. Neuron. 1996b;16:47–54.

# The Embryology and Anatomy of the Cerebellum

Maryam Rahimi Balaei, Niloufar Ashtari, and Hugo Bergen

**Abstract** The cerebellum is an important structure in the central nervous system that controls and regulates motor and non-motor functions. It is located beneath the occipital lobe and dorsal to the brainstem. Today, we know much about its complex circuitry and physiology. The cerebellum has a well-defined and highly organized structure. The cortex of the cerebellum contains eight neuronal cell types and receives input from a variety of sites within the CNS and processes the information in a uniform manner. The cerebellum projects to a variety of different sites within the CNS to regulate motor function. Although much has been discovered regarding the complex architecture of the cerebellum, there are significant gaps in our understanding of the broader role of the cerebellum in brain function. In this chapter, we will review briefly the embryological development of the cerebellum and provide an overview of the anatomy of the cerebellum.

Keywords Cerebellum • Embryology • Anatomy • Histology • Function

### Introduction

The cerebellum (latin: 'little brain') is located in the posterior cranial fossa and is involved in the regulation of posture, motor coordination, balance, and motor learning. More recently, it has been proposed that it also plays a role in emotion and cognition. The cerebellum consists of a midline region referred to as the vermis, a narrow paravermal area immediately adjacent to the vermis, and large hemispheres on either side. Well-defined fissures divide the cerebellum in a rostral caudal direction into an anterior lobe, posterior lobe, and flocculonodular lobe. The anterior and posterior lobes are divided further, into lobules and folia (in human), which greatly increases the surface area of the cerebellum. The cerebellum consists of a uniform

M. Rahimi Balaei • N. Ashtari • H. Bergen (🖂)

Department of Human Anatomy and Cell Science, Max Rady College of Medicine, Rady Faculty of Health Science, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB R3E 0J9, Canada e-mail: rahimibm@myumanitoba.ca; ashtarin@myumanitoba.ca; Hugo.Bergen@umanitoba.ca

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_2

layer of cortical grey matter overlying white matter that surrounds four pairs of cerebellar nuclei (CN). The cerebellar cortex consists of three layers: molecular layer, Purkinje cell layer, and granule cell layer. The molecular layer is the outermost layer and is largely a synaptic layer, containing the connections of a number of neurons (e.g., basket and stellate cells) with the dense dendritic arborizations of the Purkinje cells, whose cell bodies are the predominant component of the Purkinje cell layer. The innermost layer of the cortex is the granule cell layer containing Golgi cells, Lugaro cells, unipolar brush cells, and the highly abundant granule cells. Almost all of the neurons of the cerebellar cortex use either the excitatory neurotransmitter glutamate or the inhibitory neurotransmitter gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA). Glutamate is used by the granule cells and unipolar brush cells while the remainder of the cortical neurons use GABA. The CN are primarily composed of large projection neurons that use glutamate as a neurotransmitter and project to nuclei of the thalamus and brainstem. These neurons represent the principal output of the cerebellum. A smaller number of CN neurons are GABA-ergic and project to the inferior olivary nucleus of the medulla. The cerebellum is considered an outstanding model in the research of neurogenesis and circuit assembly because of its well organized structure.

### **Embryology of the Cerebellum**

During prenatal development of the nervous system, the central nervous system originates from the area of the ectoderm known as the neural plate. The neural plate thickens as a result of cell proliferation and then begins to invaginate and thus forms the neural groove. The invagination of the neural groove continues until the lateral edges of the neural groove (neural fold) fuse to form the neural tube through a process referred to as neurulation. As the edges of the neural groove fuse to form the neural tube, which detaches from the ectoderm, a population of the neuroectodermal cells dissociate from the neural fold as the neural crest cells [1]. The rostral extent of the neural tube develops into the prosencephalon, mesencephalon, and rhombencephalon. The prosencephalon undergoes further development to form the telencephalon and diencephalon. The mesencephalon does not undergo further division while the rhombencephalon divides into the metencephalon and myelencephalon. Caudal to the rhombencephalon, the neural tube develops into the spinal cord. The cerebellum develops from the dorsal portions (i.e., the alar plate) of the metencephalon and the neural folds, the latter referred to as the rhombic lips. The alar plate of the rostral metencephalon undergoes bilateral expansion in the dorsolateral region to form the rhombomere 1 (r1). These rostral extensions of alar plate eventually join in the midline to form the vermis of the cerebellum. As the cerebellum begins to form, initially from the dorsal r1, it rotates 90° before fusing at the midline as the vermis [2]. This rotation of dorsal r1 results in the conversion of rostral-caudal axis seen in the early neural tube, into the medial-lateral axis seen in the mature cerebellum (the wing-like bilateral cerebellar primordia) [3]. As the bilateral

cerebellar primordia fuse, the midline vermis is derived from the rostro-medial ends while the cerebellar hemispheres are derived from the more caudo-lateral components of the rhombencephalon [4].

The neurons that reside within the cerebellum are derived from two distinct germinal zones: the ventricular zone and the rhombic lip. The ventricular zone is the neuroepithelium of the alar plate of the rhombencephalon that eventually forms the roof of the fourth ventricle. The neurons derived from the ventricular zone include the Purkinje cells, candelabrum cells, Golgi cells, Lugaro cells, stellate cells, and basket cells. All of these neurons use GABA as a neurotransmitter and reside in the outer two layers of the three layered cortex, except for the Golgi and Lugaro cells of the granular layer [5, 6]. The neurons derived from the rhombic lip use glutamate as a neurotransmitter. This includes the large neurons of the CN (projecting to the diencephalon and brainstem), unipolar brush cells, and granule cells, the most numerous cell in the brain.

### Anatomy and Histology of the Human Cerebellum

### Functional Divisions of the Cerebellum

The cerebellum is a highly organized structure that is attached to all three components of the brainstem (the midbrain, pons, and medulla) [7]. Fissures divide the cerebellum into three lobes in the rostro-caudal plane. The primary fissure, seen on the superior surface of the cerebellum, separates the anterior lobe from the posterior lobe, while the posterolateral fissure, seen on the inferior surface of the cerebellum, separates the large posterior lobe from the narrow and much smaller flocculonodular lobe. The flocculonodular lobe consists of bilateral extensions of cerebellar cortex called flocculi that are connected to the inferior portion of the vermis called the nodulus. During development, once the anterior and posterior lobes form, smaller lobules begin to form. The lobules undergo further infolding which leads to the formation of folia, which are particularly prominent in human cerebellum. The structure of the folia is consistent throughout the cerebellum, with a three-layered cortex overlying the white matter consisting of the axons projecting to and from the cortex (Fig. 1).

The cerebellum is organized into three functional divisions based on their connections to other brain sites and their respective roles in regulating movement and other non-motor functions. The phylogenetically oldest component of the cerebellum is the flocculonodular lobe. The cortex of this lobe receives input from the vestibular apparatus on the ipsilateral side as well as input from the vestibular nuclei of the brainstem. Therefore, the flocculonodular lobe is commonly referred to as the vestibulocerebellum. The connections of the vestibulocerebellar cortex to the vestibular nuclei are reciprocal, and the cortex of the vestibulocerebellum is the only component of the cerebellar cortex that sends projections directly to sites outside the cerebellum (i.e., the vestibular nuclei of the brainstem) [7]. The vestibulocerebellum participates in the control of balance and eye movements.



Fig. 1 (A) Location of the cerebellum in situ. (B) Hemisected view of the cerebellum showing the vermis, the locations of the anterior and posterior lobes, and its anatomical relationship to the brainstem. (C) Schematic representation of the cerebellum showing the mossy fibre and climbing fibre inputs to the cerebellar cortex. The mossy fibres contact the granule cells and send collaterals to the cerebellar nuclei while the climbing fibres make contact with the dendrites of the Purkinje cells and may also send projections to the cerebellar nuclei. The granule cells project to the molecular layer and bifurcate to form the parallel fibres that contact the Purkinje cell dendrites as well as the basket cells and stellate cells. The Golgi cells receive input from mossy fibres and also project into the molecular layer of the cortex

The second functional component of the cerebellum consists of the midline vermis of the anterior lobe and a narrow portion of cortex on either side of the vermis referred to as the paravermal cortex. This component is referred to as the spinocerebellum as the bulk of the input to the spinocerebellum is provided by ascending tracts in the spinal cord. The spinocerebellum receives input from the dorsal spinocerebellar tract that transmits proprioceptive, cutaneous, and pressure information from the lower extremity (on the ipsilateral side) [7]. It also receives input from the cuneocerebellar tract, which carries somatosensory information from the upper extremity.

A third major input into the spinocerebellum is the ventral spinocerebellar tract. It transmits information regarding the activity of circuits within the spinal cord involved in regulating motor activity. Additionally, the spinocerebellum also receives inputs from a number of brainstem nuclei including the reticular formation. The spinocerebellum participates in regulating axial and proximal limb muscle musculature involved in balance, posture, and locomotion.

The third and largest functional component of the cerebellum is the pontocerebellum (also referred to as the cerebrocerebellum). It is also the phylogenetically newest component of the cerebellum. It consists of the large hemispheres immediately lateral to the spinocerebellum and receives input principally from the contralateral cerebrum, via the pons. Descending corticopontine fibres from widespread areas of the cerebral cortex (particularly frontal and parietal lobes) project to pontine nuclei of the basilar pons [7]. The neurons of these nuclei send their projections across the midline to project to the cortex of the pontocerebellum. The pontocerebellum is particularly well developed in higher mammals and participates in regulating the coordination of the distal limb musculature as well as playing a role in motor learning.

### Cerebellar Cortex

The cortex of the cerebellum is remarkable in its uniformity and segregates into three layers: the outer molecular layer, the Purkinje cell layer, and the inner granule cell layer [6]. The molecular layer contains stellate cells and basket cells but is dominated by the dendrites and axons of other neurons. The molecular layer receives input from neurons of the inferior olivary nucleus of the medulla, and these fibres are referred to as climbing fibres. The climbing fibres make abundant excitatory synaptic connections with the proximal dendritic tree of Purkinje cells [8]. The molecular layer also receives abundant excitatory input from the granule cells of the cerebellar cortex. Granule cells send their axonal projections to the molecular layer cortex where the axons bifurcate and form parallel fibres that run parallel to the cortical surface and make synaptic connections with the dendritic tree of numerous Purkinje cells. The stellate cells of the molecular layer are inhibitory interneurons that use GABA as a neurotransmitter, and these cells are located primarily in the outer part of the molecular layer. These cells also receive input from parallel fibres and make synaptic contacts with the dendritic tree of Purkinje cells. Finally, the basket cells of the molecular layer also use GABA as a neurotransmitter and are located in the inner portion of the molecular layer. Basket cells receive excitatory input from the parallel fibres of the granule cells and make abundant inhibitory connections on the cell bodies of Purkinje cells in a basket-like manner.

The Purkinje cell layer consists of the large cell bodies of the Purkinje cells, which send an extensive dendritic tree into the molecular layer, and candelabrum cells. The dendritic tree of a single Purkinje cell receives excitatory inputs from a single climbing fibre of the inferior olivary nucleus and numerous inputs from parallel fibres of the granule cells. The Purkinje cell is of particular importance because it represents the sole output of the cerebellar cortex. It uses GABA as a transmitter and projects almost solely to the CN. The exception to this rule is the Purkinje cells of the vestibulocerebellum that also project to the vestibular nuclei of the brainstem. Interspersed between the Purkinje cells within this layer are candelabrum cells that are also GABA-ergic neurons that send their dendritic projections into the molecular layer. The functional significance of these cells is poorly understood.

The granule cell layer is the innermost layer of the cortex and consists of granule cells, Golgi cells, unipolar brush cells, and Lugaro cells. The granule cells are the most abundant neuron in the human nervous system and are packed tightly within the granule cell layer. They receive excitatory input from mossy fibres, which are the principal input into the cerebellum. Mossy fibres originate from numerous sites within the nervous system, including pontine nuclei, nuclei of the reticular formation, vestibular nuclei, and the fibres of the spinocerebellar tracts of the spinal cord. The granule cells, which use glutamate as a neurotransmitter, extend their axons into the molecular layer where they bifurcate into the aforementioned parallel fibres and connect with the dendritic tree of up to hundreds of Purkinje cells. The activity of the granule cells plays a critical role in determining the activity of the Purkinje cells. Additionally, the parallel fibres of the granule cells also shape the activity of other cell types of the cerebellar cortex, including Golgi, stellate, and basket cells. The Golgi cells are relatively large cells that are more abundant in the superficial portion of the granule cell layer, nearer to the Purkinje cell layer [9]. These are also GABA-ergic neurons and extend their dendrites into the molecular layer where they receive synaptic input from the parallel fibres of the granule cells. The Golgi cells also make synaptic connections to the granule cell dendrites, thereby providing a source of inhibition to the granule cell. Unipolar brush cells are neurons within the superficial part of the granule cell layer and like granule cells use glutamate as a neurotransmitter. These cells are more abundant in the vestibulocerebellum than other parts of the cerebellum and are closely associated with mossy fibres and project to granule cells and other unipolar brush cells. The final cell intrinsic to the cerebellar cortex is the Lugaro cell. These are GABA-ergic neurons found primarily in the superficial portion of the granule cell layer. Their dendrites may extend into the molecular layer, while their axon is restricted to the granule cell layer where they make connections with Golgi cells.

Within the cerebellar cortex, the connections and links between the parallel fibres of granule cells and the dendrites of inhibitory cells such as Purkinje cells and

others, and the connections between the mossy fibres and Purkinje cells (and other neurons), make a unique and uniform microcircuitry observed with great consistency in all parts of the cerebellar cortex.

### Cerebellar Nuclei (CN)

There are four pairs of CN embedded within the white matter of the cerebellum (dentate, emboliform, globose, and fastigial) that receive input from the cerebellar cortex as well as the collaterals of fibres projecting to the cerebellar cortex [10]. The first cerebellar neurons generated are neurons of the CN. These cells originate from the rhombic lip and migrate tangentially to the nuclear transitory zone (NTZ). The CN constitute the sole output of the cerebellum (excepting some of the Purkinje cells of the vestibulocerebellum), and they receive the output of the cerebellar cortex from the inhibitory Purkinje cells. In addition to the inhibitory inputs from the Purkinje cells, the CN receive the collateral excitatory inputs from mossy fibres and climbing fibres projecting to the cortex. The majority of CN neurons are excitatory neurons that project to sites outside the cerebellum, including the thalamus, red nucleus, reticular formation, and vestibular nuclei. However, a small population of CN neurons are GABA-ergic, and these neurons project to the inferior olivary nucleus.

The fastigial nucleus is the smallest and most medial of the CN. The neurons of this nucleus receive input from the Purkinje cells of the vestibulocerebellum (i.e., flocculonodular lobe). In addition, the fastigial nucleus also receives input from Purkinje cells of the vermis that receive input from the vestibular apparatus either directly or indirectly via the vestibular nuclei. The neurons of the fastigial nucleus project to the brainstem vestibular and reticular nuclei. As mentioned previously, some of the Purkinje cells of the flocculonodular lobe also send direct (inhibitory) projections to brainstem vestibular nuclei.

Lateral to the fastigial nuclei are the globose and emboliform nuclei, also referred to collectively as the interposed nuclei. These nuclei receive input from the Purkinje cells of the vermis and paravermal areas of the anterior lobe of the cerebellum, which in turn receives input from the cuneate nucleus (via the cuneocerebellar tract) and the accessory cuneate nucleus and Clarke's nuclei (via the dorsal spinocerebellar tract). The interposed nuclei send projections primarily to the red nucleus of the midbrain and the ventrolateral nucleus of the thalamus. The latter nucleus relays this information to the primary motor, supplementary motor, and pre-motor cortices of the frontal lobe.

The dentate nucleus is the largest and most lateral of the CN. It receives inhibitory input from the Purkinje neurons of the large lateral hemispheres and excitatory input from the collaterals of the climbing fibres and mossy fibres projecting to the lateral hemispheres that have their origin in the inferior olive and basilar pontine nuclei, respectively. The neurons of the dentate nucleus project to the red nucleus and the ventrolateral nucleus of the thalamus, which relays the information to the motor cortices of the frontal lobe.

### **Cerebellar Peduncles**

The cerebellum connects to the midbrain, pons, and medulla via three peduncles: the superior, middle, and inferior peduncles, respectively [7, 11]. The superior cerebellar peduncle consists primarily of efferent fibres from the dentate and interposed nuclei projecting to the contralateral red nucleus and ventral lateral nucleus of the thalamus. The cerebellar efferents of the spinocerebellum that project to nuclei of the reticular formation also pass through this peduncle. The cerebellar afferents contained within this peduncle are primarily the fibres of the ventral spinocerebellar tract that project as mossy fibres to the granular layer of the spinocerebellum and send collateral branches to the interposed nuclei.

The middle cerebellar peduncle is a massive bundle of afferent fibres connecting nuclei in the basilar pons to the contralateral cerebellar cortex. These fibres project as the mossy fibres to the granular layer of the large lateral hemispheres and send collateral branches to the dentate nucleus.

The inferior cerebellar peduncle contains fibres connecting the cerebellum to the medulla and consists of the restiform body and the juxtarestiform body. The juxtarestiform body primarily consists of the reciprocal connections of the cerebellum and the vestibular nuclei. The afferent fibres within the juxtarestiform body form the mossy fibres projecting to the granular layer of the vestibulocerebellum. The efferent fibres of the juxtarestiform body include Purkinje cell axons of the vestibulocerebellum and the projections of the fastigial nucleus to vestibular and reticular nuclei of the brainstem. The restiform body contains fibres projecting from the brainstem and spinal cord to widespread areas of the cerebellum. This includes fibres of the dorsal spinocerebellar tract and cuneocerebellar tract projecting to the spinocerebellar cortex as mossy fibres with collateral projections to the interposed nuclei. In addition, fibres originating in the inferior olivary nucleus projecting to the molecular layer of the cerebellar cortex as climbing fibres (with collateral projections to the dentate nucleus) are also contained within the restiform body. The inferior olivary nucleus receives inputs from spinal, vestibular, cranial, and cortical descending signals. The neurons of the inferior olivary nucleus relay somatosensory and noxious stimuli. A single climbing fibre of the inferior olivary nucleus projects to a few Purkinje cells, while each Purkinje cell makes synaptic connections with only one climbing fibre.

The cerebellar cortex also receives projections from a variety of areas of the brain including the locus coeruleus (noradrenergic fibres), raphe nuclei (serotonergic fibres), mesencephalic tegmentum (dopaminergic fibres), and the hypothalamus (histaminergic fibres) [7, 11]. These inputs to the cerebellum terminate in all three layers of the cerebellar cortex as well as the CN. These projections to the cerebellum are commonly referred to as neuromodulatory cerebellar afferents and are thought to decrease the activity of Purkinje cells. The precise distribution and development of these afferent projections to the cerebellum is not well understood. Further research is required to better understand their role in cerebellar function.

### **Cerebellar Function**

The function of the cerebellum can be broadly divided into three categories as set by the three functional divisions described above.

The vestibulocerebellum consists of the midline nodulus and the bilateral floccule [7, 11]. The mossy fibres projecting to the cortex originate in the vestibular ganglion of the vestibular apparatus and the vestibular nuclei of the brainstem. The Purkinje cells of the cortex send inhibitory projections to the fastigial nucleus as well as the ipsilateral vestibular nuclei. The fastigial nucleus, which serves as the principal cerebellar nucleus of the vestibulocerebellum, sends excitatory bilateral projections to the vestibular nuclei. These connections to the vestibular nuclei pass through the inferior cerebellar peduncle. These projections play an important role coordinating the vestibular ocular reflex via the ascending vestibular nuclei projections contained within the medial longitudinal fasciculus to control eve movement in response to vestibular feedback. The vestibular nuclei also send fibres descending the spinal cord as the vestibulospinal tract. These fibres play a critical role in maintaining balance through activation of the anti-gravity muscles of the lower body. The fastigial nucleus also sends ascending projections via the superior cerebellar peduncle to the ventrolateral nucleus of the contralateral thalamus. This information is subsequently relayed to the corticospinal neurons of the anterior corticospinal tract (medial motor system) involved in maintaining posture and balance through activation of the axial musculature. Lesions of the vestibulocerebellum are often characterized by nystagmus and vertigo, resulting from dysregulation of the connections between vestibular nuclei and brainstem nuclei regulating eye movement. Lesions of the fastigial nucleus are also commonly associated a wide-based gait as a result of instability or ataxia of the axial musculature.

The spinocerebellum consists of the midline vermis and paravermal areas of the cerebellum [8]. The mossy fibres projecting to the cortex are largely the fibres of the spinocerebellar and cuneocerebellar tracts. To a lesser extent, the spinocerebellum also receives input from reticular, vestibular, and pontine nuclei. Although the interposed nuclei receive the bulk of the collateral fibres derived from the ascending inputs into the spinocerebellar cortex, the fastigial nucleus also receives some these collaterals. Similarly, the Purkinje cell axons of the paravermal areas of the spinocerebellar cortex project primarily to the interposed nuclei while the vermal areas project to the fastigial nucleus. The fibres projecting from the interposed nuclei exit the cerebellum via the superior cerebellar peduncle. The majority of these fibres project to the ventral lateral nucleus of the contralateral thalamus, and this information is relayed to supplementary motor, pre-motor, and primary motor cortex involved in regulating the limb musculature. The descending projections of these cortical areas will primarily form the lateral corticospinal tract (i.e., the lateral motor system). The interposed nuclei also send projections to the red nucleus and the reticular nuclei to effect changes in the descending rubrospinal and reticulospinal fibres involved in regulating the activity of the spinal cord motor neurons projecting to the upper and lower limbs. The vermal areas of the spinocerebellum that project to the fastigial nucleus are primarily involved in regulating axial musculature. As described above, the fastigial nucleus projects to the reticular and vestibular nuclei of the brainstem and the ventrolateral nucleus of the thalamus. Lesions of the vermal portion of the spinocerebellum are characterized by axial muscle instability, while lesions of the paravermal portions of the spinocerebellum produce ataxia affecting the upper and lower limbs.

The pontocerebellum consists of the lateral hemispheres of the cerebellum and constitutes the largest of the three functional components of the cerebellum. The mossy fibres projecting to the pontocerebellar cortex are almost entirely crossing pontocerebellar fibres. These fibres originate in the pontine nuclei of the contralateral basilar pons and enter the cerebellum via the middle cerebellar peduncle. These fibres send collaterals exclusively to the dentate nucleus, which also receives input from the Purkinje fibres of the pontocerebellum. The fibres of the dentate nucleus exit the cerebellum through the superior cerebellar peduncle. These fibres cross the midline within the tegmentum of the caudal midbrain and continue rostrally where some fibres enter into the red nucleus. The neurons of the red nucleus project to the inferior olivary nucleus of the medulla, which projects back to the pontocerebellum and dentate nucleus forming a feedback loop to the cerebellum. The majority of the fibres originating from the dentate nucleus continue past the red nucleus to the thalamus. The fibres terminate on neurons in the ventrolateral nucleus and to a lesser extent in the ventroanterior nucleus of the thalamus. The thalamic neurons contacted by the neurons of the dentate nucleus project rostrally to a large portion of the motor cortices, with an emphasis on the primary motor cortex. The descending neurons from the primary motor cortex form a large component of the lateral motor system. These projections play a critical role in coordinating the muscle activation required for performing fine motor skills of the distal extremities, particularly of the upper limb. The cortical areas regulated by the thalamic relays of the dentate nucleus also play an important role in the planning of motor activity. Lesions of the pontocerebellum are characterized by a decreased ability to control the distance, velocity, and power of movement performed by the extremities. Lesions of the pontocerebellum are commonly characterized by intention tremor and difficulty in performing rapid alternating movements of the hand (e.g., pronation and supination). The latter deficit is referred to as dysdiadochokinesia. These deficits underscore the importance of the pontocerebellum in regulating fine motor skills.

### Blood Supply of the Cerebellum

The cerebellum is supplied with arterial blood via three cerebellar arteries: the posterior inferior cerebellar artery (PICA), the anterior inferior cerebellar artery (AICA), and the superior cerebellar artery (SCA) [12]. These arteries are derived from the vertebral-basilar arterial system that supplies the posterior circulation of the brain. The bilateral vertebral arteries pass through the foramen magnum and shortly after entering the cranium, the PICA branches off the vertebral artery. The PICA supplies the cortex of the posterior portion of the inferior cerebellum and the inferior portion of the underlying white matter. It also supplies the fibres of the inferior cerebellar peduncle. The vertebral arteries fuse in the midline, near the junction of the pons, and the medulla, to form the basilar artery, and the AICA branches off the basilar artery immediately anterior to this junction. The AICA supplies the cortex of the anterior portion of the inferior cerebellum and the underlying white matter. Distal branches of the AICA may extend into the lateral portion of the dentate nucleus. The AICA also supplies the posterior part of the middle cerebellar peduncle, while circumferential branches of the basilar artery supply the anterior portion of the middle cerebellar peduncle. The most lateral edge of the inferior surface of the cerebellum is generally the watershed area of the PICA and the AICA.

The SCA attaches to the basilar artery immediately posterior to the bifurcation of the basilar artery into the paired posterior cerebral arteries. The SCA supplies the superior surface of the cerebellum and the bulk of the white matter of the cerebellum. It also supplies the CN except for the lateral portion of the dentate nucleus that may be supplied by the AICA. The SCA also supplies the superior cerebellar peduncle together with branches of the posterior cerebral artery.

### References

- Morriss-Kay GM, Wilkie AO. Growth of the normal skull vault and its alteration in craniosynostosis: insights from human genetics and experimental studies. J Anat. 2005;207:637–53.
- Sgaier SK, Millet S, Villanueva MP, Berenshteyn F, Song C, Joyner AL. Morphogenetic and cellular movements that shape the mouse cerebellum: insights from genetic fate mapping. Neuron. 2005;45:27–40.
- Louvi A, Alexandre P, Métin C, Wurst W, Wassef M. The isthmic neuroepithelium is essential for cerebellar midline fusion. Development. 2003;130:5319–30.
- Fink AJ, Englund C, Daza RA, Pham D, Lau C, Nivison M, et al. Development of the deep cerebellar nuclei: transcription factors and cell migration from the rhombic lip. J Neurosci. 2006;26:3066–76.
- Marzban H, Del Bigio MR, Alizadeh J, Ghavami S, Zachariah RM, Rastegar M. Cellular commitment in the developing cerebellum. Front Cell Neurosci. 2015;8:450.
- 6. Ito M. Cerebellar circuitry as a neuronal machine. Prog Neurobiol. 2006;78:272–303.
- 7. Haines DE, Dietrichs E. The cerebellum structure and connections. Handb Clin Neurol. 2012;103:3–36.
- Apps R, Garwicz M. Anatomical and physiological foundations of cerebellar information processing. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2005;6:297–311.
- 9. Shinoda Y, Sugihara I, Wu HS, Sugiuchi Y. The entire trajectory of single climbing and mossy fibers in the cerebellar nuclei and cortex. Prog Brain Res. 2000;124:173–86.
- Uusisaari M, De Schutter E. The mysterious microcircuitry of the cerebellar nuclei. J Physiol. 2011;589:3441–57.
- 11. Voogd J, Ruigrok TJH. The human nervous system. 3rd ed. San Diego: Elsevier; 2012.
- Tatu L, Moulin T, Bogousslavsky J, Duvernoy H. Arterial territories of human brain: brainstem and cerebellum. Neurology. 1996;47:1125–35.

### **Cellular and Genetic Programs Underlying Cerebellum Development**

Alexandra L. Joyner, Ryan Willett, and Andrew Lawton

**Abstract** The cerebellum is a late developing structure compared to the rest of the central nervous system (CNS) and houses more cells than the entire rest of the brain in a complex set of folds. To accommodate production of the large number of cells, the cerebellum has not only a ventricular progenitor zone that produces all the glia and inhibitory neurons but also a unique progenitor zone, the rhombic lip, dedicated to excitatory neuron production. In this chapter we discuss how the inhibitory Purkinje cells, which integrate the incoming information and moderate the output neurons of the cerebellar nuclei, play a key role during development in ensuring appropriate production of the other neurons/astrocytes of the cerebellar cortex. Key transcription factors that regulate development of the two progenitor populations and the lineage relationships of the neurons and astrocytes produced by each are described, followed by a discussion of cerebellar foliation.

Keywords Ventricular zone • Rhombic lip • Purkinje cells • Granule cells • Interneurons • Bergmann glia • Astrocytes • Cerebellar nuclei • Neural stem cells

Foliation

### Introduction

The cerebellum is the region of the brain that is the latest to complete neurogenesis; in humans cerebellar development continues during the first year of life and in mouse for more than 2 weeks after birth [1–3]. It arises from the dorsal aspect of the most anterior hindbrain called rhombomere1 (Fig. 1a, b). Remarkably, the volume of the human cerebellum increases ~10× between 20 and 40 weeks of gestation, with the surface area increasing much more due to the formation of folia and lobules [6–8]. The mouse cerebellum undergoes maximum growth and foliation after birth (Fig. 1a–d). Given the late development of the CB compared to other brain regions,

A.L. Joyner (🖂) • R. Willett • A. Lawton

Developmental Biology Program, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, and Weill Cornell Graduate Program, New York, NY, USA e-mail: joynera@mskcc.org

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_3



**Fig. 1** The cerebellum forms in the dorsal anterior hindbrain and has its major growth and foliation after birth. (**a**–**c**) microMRI images illustrating mouse postnatal cerebellum development (outlined in *yellow*) (based on [4]), and (**c**) highlighting distinct foliation patterns in the medial vermis and lateral hemispheres [5]. (**d**) Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) midline section (*dotted line* in **c**) of adult cerebellum. 1–10, lobules, *AZ* anterior zone, *CZ* central zone (outlined in *red*), *PZ* posterior zone, *NZ* nodular zone (*green*)

the cerebellum is particularly sensitive to environmental and clinical factors that impact on growth (or cause injury) around birth [9]. A better understanding of the factors that regulate progenitor cell expansion, production of neurons and glia, and their compartmentalization during foliation should pave the way for developing therapeutic approaches to stimulate endogenous progenitors to replenish cells lost due to injury.

The developing cerebellum is unique among the brain regions as it has two zones that house neural stem and progenitor cells (Fig. 2a). Whereas in the rest of the central nervous system the ventricular zone (VZ) gives rise to all the neurons and



**Fig. 2** Two progenitor zones produce all the neurons and the astroglia of the cerebellum at particular time points. (a) Midline eosin stained sagittal section of E16.5 cerebellum with ventricular zone (*turquoise*) and rhombic lip (*pink*) indicated and the cells that arise from the zones color coded as in **c** and **d**. (b) Midline sagittal section of P3 cerebellum showing EGL (*pink*), Purkinje cells (*green*), and Nestin-expressing progenitors. (c) The ventricular zone lineage is shown. (d) The rhombic lip lineage is shown. (e) SHH (*orange*) is expressed by Purkinje cells and signals to all progenitors in the postnatal cerebellum, also indicated in **c** and **d** 

glia, the VZ of the cerebellum is dedicated to making only inhibitory neurons (Purkinje cells and interneurons), as well as astrocyte-like glia (astrocytes and Bergmann glia referred to as astroglia) [10]. Interestingly, most of the interneurons and astroglia are generated from intermediate progenitors that leave the VZ and proliferate after birth in the cerebellar cortex [11–14] (Fig. 2b, c). The second cerebellar progenitor zone is called the rhombic lip and generates the excitatory neurons of the cerebellum, primarily the granule cells, and projection neurons of the cerebellar nuclei [15–17] (Fig. 2a, d). Like the astroglia and interneurons, the granule cells are generated from a secondary progenitor pool made up of granule cell precursors (GCPs) that are housed in the external granule cell layer (EGL) that covers the surface of the cerebellum during development and generates granule cells that migrate



**Fig. 3** Schematic drawing showing granule cell development. (**a**) During development (E15.5-P14), the cerebellum is covered with granule cells organized in a layer called the external granule cell layer (*EGL*) which is divided into an outer layer (*oEGL*) of dividing progenitors (*GCPs*) and inner layer (*iEGL*) of postmitotic granule cells (*GCs*) that extend parallel fibers (axons shown as horizontal *blue lines*). GCs migrate down the fibers (*black lines*) of Bergman glia (*grey* cell body) past the Purkinje cells (PCs, *green*) to form the inner granule cell layer (*IGL*). (**b**) Newly formed parallel fibers stack on top of older ones to form the molecular layer that also has interneurons (not shown), but the cell bodies of GCs randomly mix in the IGL. PCs express SHH, which is required for GCP proliferation

inward to form the internal granule cell layer (IGL) (Figs. 2a, b and 3). In humans, the EGL reaches a maximum volume after birth [2]. It is tempting to speculate that a dedicated transient amplifying progenitor pool evolved for the granule cells, because the granule cells comprise a majority of the neurons in the brain and thus require massive expansion of progenitor numbers during development. Curiously, the source of most oligodendrocytes for the cerebellum appears to be the VZ outside the cerebellum, likely the midbrain and/or ventral rhombomere 1 [18–20].

In this chapter, we use mouse as a model system to describe development and foliation of the cerebellum (Fig. 1) and the generation of the various neurons and astroglia of the cerebellum since precise knowledge of the VZ and RL lineages has been obtained with genetic fate mapping studies. Cumulative fate mapping with a site-specific recombinase such as Cre labels all cells that ever expressed Cre, and if the gene is specific to one progenitor pool, then all the cell types generated from the pool can be determined [21] (Fig. 4). The temporal sequence of cell-type generation is determined by genetic inducible fate mapping (GIFM). This method only labels cells expressing Cre during a particular ~24 h period [22]. Furthermore, using GIFM, the initial marked population can be precisely determined, as well as the descendants of the population at any later developmental stage or in the adult. Using promoters specific to each stem/progenitor population, detailed knowledge of the cerebellar lineages has thus been uncovered.

In this chapter we define the lineage relationships of each stem/progenitor pool, the temporal pattern of cell-type generation, and some of the proteins that regulate progenitor cell number expansion and differentiation. We include a discussion of how the numbers of each neuron/astroglial type in the cortex might be scaled to attain the correct relative proportions of different cell types and the possible contributions of the progenitor pools for replenishment of cells after an injury at



**Fig. 4** Schematic illustrating genetic inducible fate mapping (GIFM). An *Atoh1-CreER* transgene is expressed only in granule cell precursors (*pink*, *GCPs*) in the outer external granule cell layer (*oEGL*). A reporter allele,  $R26^{LSL-G/p}$ , expresses GFP in cells that have active Cre. Tamoxifen is injected into *Atoh1-CreER*,  $R26^{LSL-G/p}$  mice at P1, and it binds CreER and allows it to move from the cytoplasm to the nucleus and induce recombination of loxP sites in the  $R26^{LSL-G/p}$  allele (*LSL* = loxP-stop of transcription sequence-loxP), which allows GFP expression. A small number of GCPs are initially labeled with GFP (*brown*) (**a**) and then expand in number (**b**) and then differentiate (**c**). All cells in a clone differentiate at the same time; a clone is shown in **c**. Colors and labels are as described in Fig. 3

birth. This is especially relevant to premature births, since the cerebellum is particularly vulnerable to clinical and environmental factors around birth because much of its growth occurs in the third trimester and continues after birth. We end with a description of how the complex three-dimensional folded structure of the cerebellum develops in mouse and discuss how particular efferent neural circuits are enriched in specific subsets of lobules and the possible implications of this spatial division of functions for evolution of new cerebellar functions.

## Early Patterning of the Neural Tube and Specification of the Cerebellar Territory

The cerebellar anlage is specified in the dorsal aspect of the anterior hindbrain called rhombomere 1 around embryonic day 9 (E9) in mouse [23–26]. Chick transplantation studies around two decades ago demonstrated that the boundary between the midbrain and hindbrain (referred to as the isthmus) is an organizing center that initiates development of r1 and the midbrain (reviewed in [27–29]). Dorsally an epithelial structure (isthmus) can be seen at E18.5 in mouse that links the cerebellum to the tectum (Fig. 5). The key isthmic organizer gene is Fg/8 (fibroblast growth factor 8), as it is expressed in the isthmus (E8.5–12.5), is required to induce formation of the anlage of the midbrain and r1 [30], is sufficient to induce and pattern the midbrain and rhombomere 1 [31, 32], and is necessary up until E12 for cerebellum development [30, 33]. The secreted factor WNT1 is also expressed near the isthmus and is required for development of the midbrain and cerebellum [34, 35]. The molecular interactions of FGF8 with the transcription factor OTX2, required in the midbrain,



Fig. 5 Stereotypical formation of fissures during mouse cerebellum development. Midsagittal H&E sections of the cerebellum at the indicated stages. The same fissures are indicated by colored *arrowheads*. The lobules are numbers at P21. *Line* indicates 200  $\mu$ m for E18.5-P3 and 500  $\mu$ m for P21

and GBX2, required in the hindbrain, have been reviewed extensively, and we refer you to a detailed recent review by Martinez [28]. The dorsal-ventral axis of r1 and the midbrain is determined primarily by the morphogen sonic hedgehog (SHH), expressed by the ventral midline or floor plate [36–38]. The engrailed homeobox transcription factors (EN1/EN2) are key target patterning genes of both FGF8 and WNT signaling, with *En1* being required for the initial formation (specification) of most of the midbrain and r1 and the two genes then involved in regulating growth and foliation of the cerebellum [39, 40]. Double-mutant experiments, including conditional removal of the genes in particular lineages, have revealed overlapping and unique roles of *En1* and *En2* after the cerebellar territory is established [41–43].

#### Ventricular Zone Lineage

Cumulative genetic fate mapping using a line of mice in which *Cre* was inserted by gene targeting into the *Ptf1a* gene (knockin) (*Ptf1a<sup>Cre</sup>*), demonstrated that only inhibitory neurons are generated from the VZ, as well as astrocytes and Bergmann glia [10] (Fig. 2c). Traditional <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine or BrdU birth dating experiments and GIFM using *Ascl1<sup>CreER</sup>* revealed that Purkinje cells and interneurons of the cerebellar nuclei (CN) are the first neurons to be born during E10–13, with the interneurons being born over a shorter period [1, 12] (Fig. 2d). Interneurons are then born in an

inside (IGL) to outside (outer molecular layer) spatial progression [12, 14]. During the production of Purkinje cells, the GLI3 repressor side of the SHH pathway may play a role in proper production of ventricular zone-derived cells [37, 44]. Astrocytes and oligodendrocytes are primarily born after birth. A chick-quail chimera analysis traced the main source of oligodendrocytes to the VZ of the midbrain [19]. An earlier study in mouse also using transplantation provided evidence that the source for oligodendrocytes in the mouse cerebellum is also outside the structure and showed that oligodendrocyte precursors populate the cerebellum around E15.5 and then expand in number [20]. A recent fate mapping study argues mouse oligodendrocytes are derived from the hindbrain [18]. Curiously, a small population of Bergmann glia is born at around E13.5 [12], but most are born after birth during the major growth phase of the cerebellar cortex [11, 12, 45]. In addition, the interneurons that settle in the IGL and CN are the main interneurons derived directly from the VZ.

Interestingly, Purkinje cells have distinct settling patterns under the surface of the cerebellar cortex, depending on the day they are born, with successive waves of Purkinje cells forming different wide stripes along the anterior-posterior axis [12, 46]. Purkinje cells throughout the cerebellum initially settle into an aggregate of cells called the Purkinje plate at E14.5 before migrating outward to settle into a multilay-ered Purkinje cell layer (PCL) by E18.5 under the cerebellar surface. As expansion of the cerebellum continues through the postnatal growth phase, Purkinje cells resolve into a monolayer by approximately postnatal day 5 (P5) [12, 47]. Purkinje cells in the lobules of the central zone (CZ in Fig. 1d) are the last to form a monolayer, correlating with delayed generation of granule cells in these lobules [48].

The Purkinje cells initially exhibit simple morphology of a leading apical neurite and trailing axon left behind as they migrate to the PCL from the Purkinje plate (fusiform). At around P0 they undergo a sequence of cell shape changes; first their apical neurite collapses and the cells take on a stellate morphology with numerous short perisomatic neurites (~P6), and then they evolve a distinct bipolar morphology with a highly elaborated dendritic configuration that is flattened in an ramified espaliered fashion within the sagittal plane (P8 onward, [49]). The Purkinje cells of the central zone are the last to differentiate.

A medial-lateral corticonuclear topographic projection map of Purkinje cell axons to the cerebellar nuclei can be seen as early as E15.5 in mice [50], and electrophysiological recordings can be made early postnatally. While the vast majority of Purkinje cell axons project into the cerebellar nuclei, Purkinje cells of the flocculus, paraflocculus, and the nodulus of the vermis (lobule 10) instead route into the vestibular nucleus of the hindbrain.

### Postnatal Cerebellar Cortex Progenitor Populations and Lineages

Ventricular zone-derived progenitors are present in the postnatal cerebellar cortex and proliferate and give rise to interneurons in the molecular layer for about a week after birth in mouse (Fig. 2b, c). These progenitors also give rise to astrocytes and additional Bergmann glia for over a week after birth [11-14]. Elegant genetic fate mapping studies combined with marker analysis were used to address the location and lineage relationships of stem/progenitors in the cerebellar cortex [11, 45]. Using several CreER lines (GL11<sup>CreER</sup>, Tnc<sup>CreER</sup>, Ptf1a<sup>CreER</sup> knockin alleles) to mark Nestinexpressing stem/progenitor cells, and proteins that mark interneurons (PAX2) or astrocytes (GFAP), it was found that Tnc- and Cd133-expressing multipotent progenitors give rise to both a unipotent *Ptf1a*-expressing progenitor that expands the interneuron population during the first week after birth and to a Tnc- and Cd15expressing progenitor dedicated to the astroglial lineage that likely gives rise to both astrocytes and Bergmann glia [11]. PAX2<sup>+</sup> immature interneurons are generated in an inside-to-outside manner (basket and then stellate interneurons) in the molecular layer and then mature during the first few weeks after birth. A recent study addressed the location of the multipotent and unipotent progenitors using a *Glast<sup>CreER</sup>* allele [45]. Tamoxifen was administered to the surface of the cerebellum to label only astroglial cells in the Purkinje cell layer that had a radial process extending to the surface. Interestingly, they demonstrated that *Glast*<sup>CreER</sup> cells in the Purkinje cell laver generate new Bergmann glia and astrocytes, whereas progenitors in the white matter generate astrocytes and interneurons based on a clonal analysis. Finally, Nestin-expressing progenitors situated along the inner edge of the EGL have been proposed to produce GCPs [51], but it seems possible they normally give rise to interneurons in the white matter.

In vitro stem cell assays support the in vivo genetic fate mapping demonstration of multipotent stem/progenitor cells in the early postnatal cerebellar cortex. Stem cells isolated from the P3-7 cerebellum by FACS based on expression of CD133+ and the absence of lineage markers (PSA-NCAM, TAPA-1, and O4) or cells with a low level of Tnc<sup>YFP-CreER</sup> that also express Cd133 and Gli1 can form multipotent clonal neurospheres in culture that can differentiate into the expected interneurons and astrocytes, as well as granule cells and oligodendrocytes [11, 52]. Moreover, when transplanted into a P3 cerebellum, the cells form rare Purkinje cells, as well as many interneurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes [52]. Since almost all CD133<sup>+</sup> cells express Tnc<sup>YFP-CreER</sup> (and thus SOX2 and Nestin) [11], these studies indicate that cerebellar stem cells have a greater differentiation capacity (plasticity) in vitro than is seen during normal development. In another study, cells taken from the cerebellum of E14.5, P0, or adult mice and depleted of GCPs (ATOH1<sup>-</sup>) also formed multipotent neurospheres with a similar differentiation capacity to CD133+ stem cells in culture and after transplantation [53]. Thus, rare stem cells remain in the adult cerebellum that can form most neuron types and glia when presented with the appropriate environment. These results raise the possibility that rare quiescent stem cells in the early postnatal or adult could be mobilized to replace neurons or glia after an injury if the necessary inducing factors can be identified.

Purkinje cells play a key role in growth of the cerebellum, as they express the mitogen sonic hedgehog (SHH), [13, 54, 55] which signals to both GCPs and white matter stem/progenitor cells [11] (Fig. 2c–e). SHH signaling in GCPs is required for their proliferation and viability after E16 [54, 56, 57]. Furthermore, deletion of *Shh* in Purkinje cells or ablation of HH signaling in white matter stem cells reduces expansion of the pool of *Tnc<sup>CreER</sup>*-labeled white matter stem/progenitor cells and production of interneurons and astroglia [11]. In addition, application of SHH to cerebellar slice cultures stimulates interneuron production [58]. Purkinje cells can coordinate growth of all cell types produced in the cerebellar cortex except, possibly oligodendrocytes, via SHH secretion (reviewed in [59]). How SHH is delivered from Purkinje cells to the outer EGL and white matter progenitors and whether there are other sources of HH ligands that regulate cerebellar neurogenesis remain open questions.

The bHLH transcription factor PTF1a is key to VZ cells, as in its absence all cerebellar inhibitory neurons are lost and astrocytes are depleted [10, 60, 61]. Interestingly some VZ-derived mutant cells are transformed into rhombic lipderivative neurons and cell types normally generated from the VZ ventral to the cerebellum. Furthermore, PTF1a is sufficient to largely specify a generic inhibitory cell phenotype, as ectopic expression of PTF1a in several excitatory neuron progenitors in the nervous system induces a network of inhibitory neuron gene expression and repression of excitatory neuron genes [10, 62]. The related bHLH protein-encoding gene *Ascl1* plays a more limited role in generation of cerebellar interneurons [12]. Curiously, climbing fiber neurons also require *Ptf1a* for their survival, migration, and differentiation from the more posterior hindbrain, and in the absence of *Ptf1a*, some precursors take on a mossy fiber fate [63]. Genes that regulate Bergmann glia generation and function are absolutely critical for cerebellar growth, foliation, and formation of a normal cortical architecture [64].

### **Rhombic Lip Lineage**

The rhombic lip (RL), formed by E9.5 at the posterior rim of the cerebellar anlage where the pial surface contacts the ventricular zone, is the source of all glutamatergic neural subtypes of the cerebellum (Fig. 2a,c). Cells arising from the RL spread anteriorly across the surface of the cerebellar anlage and sequentially produce two cell populations: postmitotic cerebellar nuclei (CN) and then proliferating granule cell precursors. Lineage tracing and birth dating studies have shown that the earliest population of cells emerging during E9.5–E12.5 migrate to and accumulate into two clusters of cells bilaterally symmetrically displaced from the midline, known as the nuclear transitory zone [16, 17]. Immature CN cells migrating from the rhombic lip to the nuclear transitory zone, the proteins are downregulated and CN progenitors sequentially express TBR2, TBR1, and reelin [65].

Cells leaving the rhombic lip from E13.5 onward become cerebellar granule cell precursors (GCP) [16]. These cells remain at the cerebellar surface for the duration of embryonic development and form a dense proliferative layer called the external granule layer (EGL). As development advances, growth of the cerebellar anlage and concomitant EGL expansion subsume the nuclear transitory zone into an interior position where they are reorganized into two bilateral groups of three distinct nuclei in mouse: (from medial to lateral) the fastigial, interpositus, and dentate nucleus. The

three individual nuclei are clearly distinct by birth in mouse, and TBR1 or BRN2 expression marks the fastigial nuclei or the interpositus and dentate nuclei, respectively [65]. The human CN shows a massive expansion of the dentate nucleus compared to mouse, likely due to the vast expansion of hemisphere lobules. Additionally, two separate nuclei are found in human in the place of the mouse interpositus: the human globose and emboliform nuclei. The Purkinje cell axons converging on the CN become myelinated during postnatal gliogenesis. In the mature cerebellum, the CN reside in the confluence of white matter just dorsal to the cerebellar peduncles.

Initiation of SHH expression in Purkinje cells at E17.5 profoundly enhances GCP proliferation and commences the main period of granule cell neurogenesis that drives the major portion of cerebellar growth (Fig. 1a, b). At this time the EGL takes on a bilayer structure; the outer EGL (oEGL) contains the actively proliferating GCPs, and the inner EGL (iEGL) is populated by postmitotic and differentiating GCPs (Fig. 3). The GCPs of the iEGL migrate medial-laterally for approximately a day before they descend along Bergmann glia fibers to create the inner granule layer (IGL). As they descend, the incipient granule cells (GCs) leave a trailing apical neurite in the molecular layer, which bifurcates into a parallel fiber that extends medial-laterally and synapses onto Purkinje cells.

The bHLH protein ATOH1 is required for generation of GCPs and for most cerebellar nuclei projection neurons [17, 66]. One function of ATOH1 is to induce *Gli2* expression, and thus to enhance SHH signaling in GCPs [67], and likely regulate many other genes required for granule cell proliferation (e.g., *MycN* and cyclin D1) and differentiation [68]. There appears to be an antagonistic relationship between the rhombic lip protein, ATOH1, and the VZ transcription factor PTF1a, as mis-expression of each protein in the complementary progenitor zone leads to inhibition of the other gene [69]. Mossy fiber neurons also require *Atoh1* for their development [17].

### **Granule Cell Precursor Cell Behaviors**

The role of granule cells in cerebellar development and function and the identification of GCPs in the etiology of the tumor medulloblastoma [70] have attracted interest in their proliferative behaviors. Of particular interest is how the expansion of the GCP population drives postnatal cerebellar growth and morphology (foliation). Analysis of GCP clones revealed that granule cell precursors primarily undergo symmetrical divisions to expand the number of the cells in a clone during postnatal development [71–73]. Shortly before the clones differentiate, the GCPs within a clone undergo an added burst of proliferation before they differentiate over a small temporal window. A single GCP at the E17.5 stage produces an average of 250 granule cells, requiring at least eight cell divisions. Despite the degree of synchrony in proliferative behaviors and differentiation timing of these GCP clones, individual cells within the clones over time exhibit poor synchrony of cell cycle phases [72].

Clonal studies have also provided insight into how the complex form of the cerebellum is shaped. During postnatal development, the cerebellum expands to a far greater extent along the anterior-posterior axis than in the medial-lateral axis, due in part to orientation bias of the GCPs to divide in the anterior-posterior axis along with tangential migration within the EGL [72]. Conversely, as GCPs differentiate into nascent GCs and descend into the IGL, they favor a medial-lateral spread within the growing lobule. Lineage birth dating studies capable of labeling these parallel fibers have shown that parallel fibers are laid down in an inside-to-outside fashion with the earliest born granule cells innervating the deep molecular layer and the late born GCs innervating the outmost extent of the molecular layer [48, 73] (Figs. 3 and 4). In contrast to the ordered laminar arrangement of parallel fibers, the cell bodies of new GCs settle at random depths in the underlying IGL. The base of each fissure that separates the cerebellum into lobules acts as a boundary to the movement of GCPs [72]. Thus, after fissure formation GCPs are maintained in the nascent lobule. This intriguing finding suggests that lobules may not simply be anatomical units, but could also have functional uniqueness and act as separate developmental units.

Regional differences appear in the cerebellum with respect to granule cell proliferation and differentiation. Granule cell production in the anterior (lobules 1–5) and posterior (lobules 8–10) cerebellum predominates over the central region (lobules 6/7) in the perinatal period, but this delayed growth in the central zone is compensated for by the perdurance of a thicker EGL in lobules 6/7 around P14, whereas the EGL is exhausted in all other cerebellar regions [48]. Taking these observations together with a delay in onset of SHH expression in lobules 6/7 and that the intercrural and declival fissures are the latest vermis fissures to form, a picture emerges that the central zone encompassing lobules 6/7 has a general developmental delay that continues for days after cessation of development in the rest of the cerebellum. It will be interesting to determine the dynamics of regional growth in the vermis of the human cerebellum, as well as in the hemispheres.

### **Development of Cerebellar Afferents**

Climbing fibers from the inferior olive innervate the cerebellar anlage as a fasciculated axon bundle beginning at E15.5–E16.5 in mice, and by late E16.5 the first synapses with Purkinje cells are observed [74–78]. By birth, these axons defasciculate and innervate the developing Purkinje cell multilayer, with each Purkinje cell receiving multiple climbing fiber inputs [79]. The supernumerary climbing fiber inputs are eliminated in an activity-dependent fashion between the second and third postnatal week so that each adult Purkinje cell is innervated by a single climbing fiber axon [80–82]. Mossy fibers arrive in the cerebellar anlage between E13.5 and E15.5 [83] and form transient contacts with Purkinje cells by birth. Within the first postnatal week, the mossy fibers establish cell-cell contacts with synaptic ultrastructural features, but in the second postnatal week, they withdraw to refine their synaptic connections with their proper GC and Golgi cell targets in the internal granule layer [84].

### Development of Cerebellar Foliation and Relationship to Afferent and Efferent Circuitry

During development the cerebellum increases in size and undergoes a dramatic progressive foliation transforming the smooth outer surface into a highly foliated collection of lobules separated by fissures (Figs. 1 and 5) [85]. In the human cerebellum, there are additional shallower folia along the surface of the lobules, and they form at an early stage of the fetal foliation process. Foliation creates dramatically more surface area in the cerebellum along the anterior-posterior axis, maximizing the number of cells in the layered cortex and thus the quantity of functional circuits that the cerebellum can host in the spatial constraints of the posterior skull. Foliation also correlates with spatial separation of distinct functional regions within the cerebellum. Afferents to the cerebellum from the spinal cord and brain target particular locations within the medial-lateral axis of the cerebellum. Furthermore they project to particular lobules [86]. For example, the spinocerebellar circuit projects only to the anterior and posterior zones of the vermis. Within the lobules, some circuits target regions that correspond to the longitudinal cerebellar zones (stripes) defined by different gene expression [86, 87]. There is also a spatial relationship between Purkinje cells and the cerebellar nuclei they project to, generally medial to lateral, but it seems likely there is also an anterior-posterior code. Thus, efferent functions have spatial domains.

The murine foliation pattern is highly consistent across individuals and has minor strain-specific variation [88]. The pattern of foliation varies depending on the medial-lateral position in the cerebellum (Fig. 1c), and fissures form in a specific sequence (Fig. 5). In mouse, as in all mammals, the medial cerebellum, or vermis, has ten primary lobules [86, 87]. The lateral hemispheres have their own distinct pattern as do the most lateral paraflocculi and flocculi.

Foliation begins during the last embryonic days, around E16 to E17, and the last fissure begins to form by ~P5 (Fig. 5). The first indication of foliation at E16.5–17.5 is a regional inward thickening of the EGL, which will correspond to the base of the newly forming fissure. Following this thickening of the EGL, the outer surface of the cerebellum indents (Figs. 5 and 6). Around this time GCPs within the base of the forming fissure become elongated, and the local Bergmann glia direct their fibers to the center of the indention (Fig. 6b) [89]. The intervening regions between the fissure bases expand outward. By following the foliation process through to completion, it can be seen that the fissure bases hold their relative spatial positions and thus are called anchoring centers, as the lobules expand to their final size [4, 89].

As discussed previously, the proliferation of GCPs in the EGL and the resulting growth of the cerebellum are dependent on SHH supplied by the underlying Purkinje cells [54, 56, 57]. Reducing the level of SHH signaling reduces the overall growth of the cerebellum and concomitantly reduces the degree of foliation. The EGL becomes thinner and the first appearance of anchoring centers is delayed. Additionally, foliation is precociously halted. However, the fissures that do form correspond to the earliest fissures suggesting that while SHH provides the growth that is necessary for foliation to proceed, it does not control the pattern of foliation.



**Fig. 6** Model of cerebellum foliation based on differential expansion of layers. (**a**) As the outer layer, the EGL (*pink*) expands more rapidly than the inner mass of the cortex (*grey*), the EGL buckles creating anchoring centers (\*). White *dotted lines* in top views indicate where sagittal sections are positioned. Fissure placement is proposed to be directed by the differential expansion of the layers and the shape (*ovoid*) of the initial cerebellar anlagen. (**b**) The Bergmann glial fibers (*black*) connect the outer surface (*thick grey line*) to the inner buckling Purkinje cell (*green*) layer that contains the cell bodies of the Bergmann glia (*dark grey*), and a fissure (*F*) forms above each anchoring center as the cerebellum continues to expand. *A-P* anterior-posterior, *M-L* medial-lateral

When the level of SHH is increased beyond wild-type levels, the cerebellum is larger and has an extra fissure [57]. Intriguingly, this extra fissure is placed in a conserved position similar to where the rat has an additional fissure. Consistent with the requirement for HH signaling in GCP proliferation, induction of activating HH signaling mutations specifically in the GCP lineage results in the SHH subgroup of medulloblastoma [70, 90, 91].

The proliferation of GCPs is temporally and spatially regulated within the cerebellum. Maximum proliferation in the lobules of the central zone (6–7) is delayed and maintained longer relative to the other cerebellar zones. This difference is attenuated in the cerebellum of  $En1^{+/-}$ ;  $En2^{-/-}$  mutants that have an abnormal foliation pattern such that proliferation in the anterior, posterior, and nodular zones is more similar to the central zone [48]. Because granule cells do not disperse across fissure boundaries, this creates self-contained lobules; this allows any lobule-specific granule cell behavior to fine-tune the shape of the lobules [72].

Blocking the generation of Bergmann glial cells has revealed that there are at least two separable stages of anchoring center formation: an inward thickening of the EGL and formation of an indentation on the outer cerebellar surface. The cerebellum is covered by the pial surface as well as the end feet of the Bergmann glial processes. In the absence of Bergmann glia, the EGL thickens, but the outer edge of the cerebellum fails to subsequently bend inward. Consequently, fissures fail to appear at the cerebellar surface. Nevertheless, many granule cells are displaced deep into the cerebellum and form a fissure-like mass, possibly at the positions of the initial EGL thickening. As a result, the layers of the cerebellum are not well defined, and the foliation pattern is severely disrupted when Bergmann glial development is disrupted [64, 92, 93].

In addition to acting as a physical bridge between the outer surface of the cerebellum and the Purkinje cell layer, Bergmann glial fibers provide the scaffolding for the radial migration of newly born granule cells from the EGL to the inner granule layer (Fig. 3). Disrupting the development, or orientation, of Bergmann glial fibers thus leads to aberrant GC migration and the ectopic accumulation of GCs in the molecular layer. In some cases this disruption is severe and can distort foliation [94]. Thus, the Bergmann glia play a key role in cerebellar foliation and formation of a normal cytoarchitecture.

Alterations in the timing of anchoring center appearance change the resulting foliation pattern. In *En2* null mutants, the appearance of the anchoring centers for the secondary and prepyramidal fissures surrounding lobule 8 is reversed in developmental time. This results in a lengthening of the prepyramidal fissure and a shortening of the secondary fissure and a corresponding foliation pattern change in the intervening lobule 8 [39, 42]. Interestingly, the initial changes in the EGL and Bergmann glia that signal the formation of an anchoring center appear normally even when the entire anchoring center either forms prematurely or is delayed [89].

Little is known about the tissue-scale mechanical or physical forces that underlie cerebellar foliation. However, the cerebral cortex is also a folded tissue in primates, and many models have been proposed to describe the formation of sulci and gyri during cerebral gyrification. Many of these models are based on a system of differential or constrained growth of a tissue bilayer. Differential growth rates between connected layers can lead to tissue buckling and subsequent surface folding. These models take into consideration that the pattern of foliation can be shaped by adjusting the starting size of the tissue, the difference in the growth rates of the layers, and the mechanical properties of the layers [95–100]. It is interesting to speculate whether similar forces could be responsible for the initial appearance of anchoring centers in the cerebellum (Fig. 6a). Like the cerebral cortex, the cerebellar cortex can be considered as divided into multiple layers. One model of cerebellar folding used a tri-layer model of differential growth [101]. In this model the EGL and the IGL were considered separated by a "soft" Purkinje cell layer. This threelayer system when modeled to have a higher outer growth rate allowed for surface wrinkling even if the outer and inner layers had similar measures of stiffness. These models suggest that the comparative rates of growth of the outer and inner cerebellum are important to foliation, as is the initial shape of the cerebellar anlage.

It is exciting to speculate about the evolution and functionality of the compartmentalized lobule structure and the spatial segregation of afferent project fields to particular lobules and zones. The cerebellum is involved in diverse roles including cognition and social behaviors. The cerebellar hemispheres have undergone tremendous expansion in humans, and they house the majority of long-range circuits that involve the neocortex. It is possible that as the neocortex expanded and became folded into gyri and sulci, there was similar spatial segregation of neuronal circuits into particular neocortex folds. This would be one way for developmental programs to be divided into subunits that could have separate regulatory rules. For example, different numbers of neurons could be generated in each subunit, as well as different types of neurons and different proportions of inhibitory and excitatory neurons and astrocytes. A fold with a particular function in the neocortex could then connect with a specific fold in the cerebellum, completing the interacting circuit. Nevertheless, redundancy and duplication of function have been built into the cerebellum that minimize the consequences of local damage in adults. We propose that developmental regulatory mechanisms are in place to buffer the developmental processes from small injuries that occur. A question for the future is whether stem or progenitor cells in the developing or adult cerebellum can replace damaged neurons long after they are born and the progenitors no longer normally generate the cell type.

Acknowledgments We thank members of the Joyner lab, past and present, for stimulating discussions about cerebellum development. Our cerebellar research is supported by grants to ALJ from the NIH (R37MH085726, R01NS092096, and R01CA192176) and by NIH Kirschstein National Research Service Awards to RW (F32NS080422) and AL (F32NS086163) and a National Cancer Institute Cancer Center Support Grant No 2 (P30 CA008748-48).

### References

- 1. Altman J, Bayer SA. Development of the cerebellar system in relation to its evolution, structure, and functions. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 1997.
- Rakic P, Sidman RL. Histogenesis of cortical layers in human cerebellum, particularly the lamina dissecans. J Comp Neurol. 1970;139(4):473–500. PubMed PMID: 4195699. Epub 1970/08/01. eng.
- Dobbing J, Sands J. Quantitative growth and development of human brain. Arch Dis Child. 1973;48(10):757–67. PubMed PMID: 4796010. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC1648530. Epub 1973/10/01. eng.
- Szulc KU, Lerch JP, Nieman BJ, Bartelle BB, Friedel M, Suero-Abreu GA, et al. 4D MEMRI atlas of neonatal FVB/N mouse brain development. NeuroImage. 2015;118:49–62. PubMed PMID: 26037053. Epub 2015/06/04. Eng.
- Szulc KU, Nieman BJ, Houston EJ, Bartelle BB, Lerch JP, Joyner AL, et al. MRI analysis of cerebellar and vestibular developmental phenotypes in Gbx2 conditional knockout mice. Magn Reson Med: Off J Soc Magn Reson Med/Soc Magn Reson Med. 2013;70(6):1707–17. PubMed PMID: 23400959. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3657598. Epub 2013/02/13. eng.
- Tam EW, Miller SP, Studholme C, Chau V, Glidden D, Poskitt KJ, et al. Differential effects of intraventricular hemorrhage and white matter injury on preterm cerebellar growth. J Pediatr. 2011;158(3):366–71. PubMed PMID: 20961562. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3025266. Epub 2010/10/22. eng.
- Scott JA, Hamzelou KS, Rajagopalan V, Habas PA, Kim K, Barkovich AJ, et al. 3D morphometric analysis of human fetal cerebellar development. Cerebellum. 2012;11(3):761–70. PubMed PMID: 22198870. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3389138. Epub 2011/12/27. eng.

- 8. Tam EW. Potential mechanisms of cerebellar hypoplasia in prematurity. Neuroradiology. 2013;55(Suppl 2):41–6. PubMed PMID: 23842990. Epub 2013/07/12. eng.
- Wang SS, Kloth AD, Badura A. The cerebellum, sensitive periods, and autism. Neuron. 2014;83(3):518–32. PubMed PMID: 25102558. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4135479. Epub 2014/08/08. eng.
- Hoshino M, Nakamura S, Mori K, Kawauchi T, Terao M, Nishimura YV, et al. Ptf1a, a bHLH transcriptional gene, defines GABAergic neuronal fates in cerebellum. Neuron. 2005;47(2):201–13. PubMed PMID: 16039563. Epub 2005/07/26. eng.
- Fleming JT, He W, Hao C, Ketova T, Pan FC, Wright CC, et al. The Purkinje neuron acts as a central regulator of spatially and functionally distinct cerebellar precursors. Dev Cell. 2013;27(3):278–92. PubMed PMID: 24229643. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3860749. Epub 2013/11/16. eng.
- Sudarov A, Turnbull RK, Kim EJ, Lebel-Potter M, Guillemot F, Joyner AL. Ascl1 genetics reveals insights into cerebellum local circuit assembly. J Neurosci. 2011;31(30):11055–69. PubMed PMID: 21795554. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3153985. Epub 2011/07/29. eng.
- Milosevic A, Goldman JE. Potential of progenitors from postnatal cerebellar neuroepithelium and white matter: lineage specified vs. multipotent fate. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2004;26(2):342– 53. PubMed PMID: 15207858. Epub 2004/06/23. eng.
- Leto K, Bartolini A, Yanagawa Y, Obata K, Magrassi L, Schilling K, et al. Laminar fate and phenotype specification of cerebellar GABAergic interneurons. J Neurosci. 2009;29(21):7079–91. PubMed PMID: 19474334. Epub 2009/05/29. eng.
- Wingate RJ, Hatten ME. The role of the rhombic lip in avian cerebellum development. Development. 1999;126(20):4395–404. PubMed PMID: 10498676. Epub 1999/09/28. eng.
- Machold R, Fishell G. Math1 is expressed in temporally discrete pools of cerebellar rhombic-lip neural progenitors. Neuron. 2005;48(1):17–24. PubMed PMID: 16202705. Epub 2005/10/06. eng.
- Wang VY, Rose MF, Zoghbi HY. Math1 expression redefines the rhombic lip derivatives and reveals novel lineages within the brainstem and cerebellum. Neuron. 2005;48(1):31–43. PubMed PMID: 16202707. Epub 2005/10/06. eng.
- Hashimoto R, Hori K, Owa T, Miyashita S, Dewa K, Masuyama N, et al. Origins of oligodendrocytes in the cerebellum, whose development is controlled by the transcription factor, Sox9. Mech Dev. 2016;140:25–40. PubMed PMID: 26940020. Epub 2016/03/05. eng.
- Mecklenburg N, Garcia-Lopez R, Puelles E, Sotelo C, Martinez S. Cerebellar oligodendroglial cells have a mesencephalic origin. Glia. 2011;59(12):1946–57. PubMed PMID: 21901755. Epub 2011/09/09. eng.
- Grimaldi P, Parras C, Guillemot F, Rossi F, Wassef M. Origins and control of the differentiation of inhibitory interneurons and glia in the cerebellum. Dev Biol. 2009;328(2):422–33. PubMed PMID: 19217896. Epub 2009/02/17. eng.
- Legue E, Joyner AL. Genetic fate mapping using site-specific recombinases. Methods Enzymol. 2010;477:153–81. PubMed PMID: 20699142. Epub 2010/08/12. eng.
- Joyner AL, Zervas M. Genetic inducible fate mapping in mouse: establishing genetic lineages and defining genetic neuroanatomy in the nervous system. Dev Dyn. 2006;235(9):2376–85. PubMed PMID: 16871622. Epub 2006/07/28. eng.
- Zervas M, Millet S, Ahn S, Joyner AL. Cell behaviors and genetic lineages of the mesencephalon and rhombomere 1. Neuron. 2004;43(3):345–57. PubMed PMID: 15294143. Epub 2004/08/06. eng.
- Alvarez Otero R, Sotelo C, Alvarado-Mallart RM. Chick/quail chimeras with partial cerebellar grafts: an analysis of the origin and migration of cerebellar cells. J Comp Neurol. 1993;333(4):597–615.
- Millet S, Bloch-Gallego E, Simeone A, Alvarado-Mallart R-M. The caudal limit of Otx2 gene expression as a marker of the midbrain/hindbrain boundary: a study using in situ hybridisation and chick/quail homotopic grafts. Development. 1996;122:3785–97.

- Sgaier SK, Millet S, Villanueva MP, Berenshteyn F, Song C, Joyner AL. Morphogenetic and cellular movements that shape the mouse cerebellum; insights from genetic fate mapping. Neuron. 2005;45(1):27–40. PubMed PMID: 15629700. Pubmed Central PMCID: 15629700. Epub 2005/01/05. eng.
- Zervas M, Blaess S, Joyner AL. Classical embryological studies and modern genetic analysis of midbrain and cerebellum development. Curr Top Dev Biol. 2005;69:101–38. PubMed PMID: 16243598. Epub 2005/10/26. eng.
- Martinez S, Andreu A, Mecklenburg N, Echevarria D. Cellular and molecular basis of cerebellar development. Front Neuroanat. 2013;7:18. PubMed PMID: 23805080. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3693072. Epub 2013/06/28. eng.
- Wurst W, Bally-Cuif L. Neural plate patterning: upstream and downstream of the isthmic organizer. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2001;2(2):99–108. PubMed PMID: 11253000. Epub 2001/03/17. eng.
- Chi CL, Martinez S, Wurst W, Martin GR. The isthmic organizer signal FGF8 is required for cell survival in the prospective midbrain and cerebellum. Development. 2003;130(12):2633– 44. PubMed PMID: 12736208.
- Crossley P, Martinez S, Martin G. Midbrain development induced by FGF8 in the chick embryo. Nature. 1996;380:66–8.
- Martinez S, Crossley PH, Cobos I, Rubenstein JL, Martin GR. FGF8 induces formation of an ectopic isthmic organizer and isthmocerebellar development via a repressive effect on Otx2 expression. Development. 1999;126(6):1189–200.
- Sato T, Joyner AL. The duration of Fgf8 isthmic organizer expression is key to patterning different tectal-isthmo-cerebellum structures. Development. 2009;136(21):3617–26. PubMed PMID: 19793884. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2761110. Epub 2009/10/02. eng.
- Matsunaga E, Katahira T, Nakamura H. Role of Lmx1b and Wnt1 in mesencephalon and metencephalon development. Development. 2002;129(22):5269–77. PubMed PMID: 12399317.
- 35. Danielian PS, McMahon AP, et al. Nature. 1996;383(9/26/96):332-4.
- Blaess S, Corrales JD, Joyner AL. Sonic hedgehog regulates Gli activator and repressor functions with spatial and temporal precision in the mid/hindbrain region. Development. 2006;133:1799–809. PubMed PMID: 16571630.
- 37. Blaess S, Stephen D, Joyner AL. Gli3 coordinates three-dimensional patterning and growth of the tectum and cerebellum by integrating Shh and Fgf8 signaling. Development. 2008;135(12):2093–103. PubMed PMID: 18480159. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2673693. Epub 2008/05/16. eng.
- Agarwala S, Sanders TA, Ragsdale CW. Sonic hedgehog control of size and shape in midbrain pattern formation. Science. 2001;291(5511):2147–50.
- Millen KJ, Wurst W, Herrup K, Joyner AL. Abnormal embryonic cerebellar development and patterning of postnatal foliation in two mouse Engrailed-2 mutants. Development. 1994;120(3):695–706. PubMed PMID: 7909289. Epub 1994/03/01. eng.
- Wurst W, Auerbach AB, Joyner AL. Multiple developmental defects in Engrailed-1 mutant mice: an early mid-hindbrain deletion and patterning defects in forelimbs and sternum. Development. 1994;120(7):2065–75. PubMed PMID: 7925010. Epub 1994/07/01. eng.
- 41. Cheng Y, Sudarov A, Szulc KU, Sgaier SK, Stephen D, Turnbull DH, et al. The Engrailed homeobox genes determine the different foliation patterns in the vermis and hemispheres of the mammalian cerebellum. Development. 2010;137(3):519–29. PubMed PMID: 20081196. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2858911. Epub 2010/01/19. eng.
- 42. Orvis GD, Hartzell AL, Smith JB, Barraza LH, Wilson SL, Szulc KU, et al. The engrailed homeobox genes are required in multiple cell lineages to coordinate sequential formation of fissures and growth of the cerebellum. Dev Biol. 2012;367(1):25–39. PubMed PMID: 22564796. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4038292. Epub 2012/05/09. eng.
- 43. Sgaier SK, Lao Z, Villanueva MP, Berenshteyn F, Stephen D, Turnbull RK, et al. Genetic subdivision of the tectum and cerebellum into functionally related regions based on differen-

tial sensitivity to engrailed proteins. Development. 2007;134(12):2325–35. PubMed PMID: 17537797. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2840613. Epub 2007/06/01. eng.

- 44. Huang X, Liu J, Ketova T, Fleming JT, Grover VK, Cooper MK, et al. Transventricular delivery of Sonic hedgehog is essential to cerebellar ventricular zone development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(18):8422–7. PubMed PMID: 20400693. Epub 2010/04/20. eng.
- 45. Parmigiani E, Leto K, Rolando C, Figueres-Onate M, Lopez-Mascaraque L, Buffo A, et al. Heterogeneity and bipotency of astroglial-like cerebellar progenitors along the interneuron and glial lineages. J Neurosci. 2015;35(19):7388–402. PubMed PMID: 25972168. Epub 2015/05/15. eng.
- 46. Hashimoto M, Mikoshiba K. Mediolateral compartmentalization of the cerebellum is determined on the "birth date" of Purkinje cells. J Neurosci. 2003;23(36):11342–51. PubMed PMID: 14672998. Epub 2003/12/16. eng.
- 47. Miyata T, Ono Y, Okamoto M, Masaoka M, Sakakibara A, Kawaguchi A, et al. Migration, early axonogenesis, and Reelin-dependent layer-forming behavior of early/posterior-born Purkinje cells in the developing mouse lateral cerebellum. Neural Dev. 2010;5:23. PubMed Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC2942860. Epub 2010/09/03. Eng.
- Legue E, Gottshall JL, Jaumouille E, Rosello-Diez A, Shi W, Barraza LH, et al. Differential timing of granule cell production during cerebellum development underlies generation of the foliation pattern. Neural Dev. 2016;11(1):17. PubMed PMID: 27609139. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC5017010. Epub 2016/09/10. eng.
- 49. Sotelo C, Rossi F. Purkinje cell migration and differentiation. In: Manto M, Gruol DL, Schmahmann JD, Koibuchi N, Rossi F, editors. Handbook of the cerebellum and cerebellar disorders. New York: Springer Science+Business Media; 2013. p. 147–78.
- Sillitoe RV, Gopal N, Joyner AL. Embryonic origins of ZebrinII parasagittal stripes and establishment of topographic Purkinje cell projections. Neuroscience. 2009;162(3):574–88. PubMed PMID: 19150487. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2716412. Epub 2009/01/20. eng.
- 51. Li P, Du F, Yuelling LW, Lin T, Muradimova RE, Tricarico R, et al. A population of Nestinexpressing progenitors in the cerebellum exhibits increased tumorigenicity. Nat Neurosci. 2013;16(12):1737–44. PubMed PMID: 24141309. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3845444. Epub 2013/10/22. eng.
- Lee A, Kessler JD, Read TA, Kaiser C, Corbeil D, Huttner WB, et al. Isolation of neural stem cells from the postnatal cerebellum. Nat Neurosci. 2005;8(6):723–9. PubMed PMID: 15908947. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC2377345. Epub 2005/05/24. eng.
- Klein C, Butt SJ, Machold RP, Johnson JE, Fishell G. Cerebellum- and forebrain-derived stem cells possess intrinsic regional character. Development. 2005;132(20):4497–508. PubMed PMID: 16162650. Epub 2005/09/16. eng.
- Corrales JD, Rocco GL, Blaess S, Guo Q, Joyner AL. Spatial pattern of sonic hedgehog signaling through Gli genes during cerebellum development. Development. 2004;131(22):5581– 90. PubMed PMID: 15496441. Epub 2004/10/22. eng.
- Dahmane N, Ruiz i Altaba A. Sonic hedgehog regulates the growth and patterning of the cerebellum. Development. 1999;126(14):3089–100. PubMed PMID: 10375501. Epub 1999/06/22. eng.
- Lewis PM, Gritli-Linde A, Smeyne R, Kottmann A, McMahon AP. Sonic hedgehog signaling is required for expansion of granule neuron precursors and patterning of the mouse cerebellum. Dev Biol. 2004;270(2):393–410. PubMed PMID: 15183722. Epub 2004/06/09. eng.
- Corrales JD, Blaess S, Mahoney EM, Joyner AL. The level of sonic hedgehog signaling regulates the complexity of cerebellar foliation. Development. 2006;133(9):1811–21. PubMed PMID: 16571625. Epub 2006/03/31. eng.
- De Luca A, Parmigiani E, Tosatto G, Martire S, Hoshino M, Buffo A, et al. Exogenous Sonic hedgehog modulates the pool of GABAergic interneurons during cerebellar development. Cerebellum. 2015;14(2):72–85. PubMed PMID: 25245619. Epub 2014/09/24. eng.
- Fleming J, Chiang C. The Purkinje neuron: a central orchestrator of cerebellar neurogenesis. Neurogenesis (Austin). 2015;2(1):e1025940. PubMed PMID: 27604220. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4973588. Epub 2015/01/01. eng.

- Millen KJ, Steshina EY, Iskusnykh IY, Chizhikov VV. Transformation of the cerebellum into more ventral brainstem fates causes cerebellar agenesis in the absence of Ptf1a function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111(17):E1777–86. PubMed PMID: 24733890. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4035921. Epub 2014/04/16. eng.
- 61. Pascual M, Abasolo I, Mingorance-Le Meur A, Martinez A, Del Rio JA, Wright CV, et al. Cerebellar GABAergic progenitors adopt an external granule cell-like phenotype in the absence of Ptf1a transcription factor expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(12):5193–8. PubMed PMID: 17360405. Pubmed Central PMCID: 1829285. Epub 2007/03/16. eng.
- 62. Russ JB, Borromeo MD, Kollipara RK, Bommareddy PK, Johnson JE, Kaltschmidt JA. Misexpression of ptf1a in cortical pyramidal cells in vivo promotes an inhibitory peptidergic identity. J Neurosci. 2015;35(15):6028–37. PubMed PMID: 25878276. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4397601. Epub 2015/04/17. eng.
- 63. Yamada M, Terao M, Terashima T, Fujiyama T, Kawaguchi Y, Nabeshima Y, et al. Origin of climbing fiber neurons and their developmental dependence on Ptf1a. J Neurosci. 2007;27(41):10924–34. PubMed PMID: 17928434. Epub 2007/10/12. eng.
- 64. Li K, Leung AW, Guo Q, Yang W, Li JY. Shp2-dependent ERK signaling is essential for induction of Bergmann glia and foliation of the cerebellum. J Neurosci. 2014;34(3):922–31. PubMed PMID: 24431450. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3891967. Epub 2014/01/17. Eng.
- 65. Fink AJ, Englund C, Daza RA, Pham D, Lau C, Nivison M, et al. Development of the deep cerebellar nuclei: transcription factors and cell migration from the rhombic lip. J Neurosci. 2006;26(11):3066–76. PubMed PMID: 16540585. Epub 2006/03/17. eng.
- 66. Ben-Arie N, Bellen HJ, Armstrong DL, McCall AE, Gordadze PR, Guo Q, et al. Math1 is essential for genesis of cerebellar granule neurons. Nature. 1997;390(6656):169–72. PubMed PMID: 9367153. Epub 1997/11/21. eng.
- Flora A, Klisch TJ, Schuster G, Zoghbi HY. Deletion of Atoh1 disrupts Sonic Hedgehog signaling in the developing cerebellum and prevents medulloblastoma. Science. 2009;326(5958):1424–7. PubMed PMID: 19965762. Epub 2009/12/08. eng.
- Klisch TJ, Xi Y, Flora A, Wang L, Li W, Zoghbi HY. In vivo Atoh1 targetome reveals how a proneural transcription factor regulates cerebellar development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(8):3288–93. PubMed PMID: 21300888. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3044384. Epub 2011/02/09. eng.
- 69. Yamada M, Seto Y, Taya S, Owa T, Inoue YU, Inoue T, et al. Specification of spatial identities of cerebellar neuron progenitors by ptf1a and atoh1 for proper production of GABAergic and glutamatergic neurons. J Neurosci. 2014;34(14):4786–800. PubMed PMID: 24695699. Epub 2014/04/04. eng.
- Hatten ME, Roussel MF. Development and cancer of the cerebellum. Trends Neurosci. 2011;34(3):134–42. PubMed PMID: 21315459. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3051031. Epub 2011/02/15. eng.
- Espinosa JS, Luo L. Timing neurogenesis and differentiation: insights from quantitative clonal analyses of cerebellar granule cells. J Neurosci. 2008;28(10):2301–12. PubMed PMID: 18322077. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2586640. Epub 2008/03/07. eng.
- Legue E, Riedel E, Joyner AL. Clonal analysis reveals granule cell behaviors and compartmentalization that determine the folded morphology of the cerebellum. Development. 2015;142(9):1661–71. PubMed PMID: 25834018. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4419279. Epub 2015/04/03. eng.
- Zong H, Espinosa JS, Su HH, Muzumdar MD, Luo L. Mosaic analysis with double markers in mice. Cell. 2005;121(3):479–92. PubMed PMID: 15882628.
- 74. Chedotal A, Sotelo C. Early development of olivocerebellar projections in the fetal rat using CGRP immunocytochemistry. Eur J Neurosci. 1992;4(11):1159–79. PubMed PMID: 12106421. Epub 1992/10/01. Eng.
- Paradies MA, Eisenman LM. Evidence of early topographic organization in the embryonic olivocerebellar projection: a model system for the study of pattern formation processes in the central nervous system. Dev Dyn. 1993;197:125–45.

- Mason CA, Christakos S, Catalano SM. Early climbing fiber interactions with Purkinje cells in the postnatal mouse cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1990;297(1):77–90. PubMed PMID: 1695909. Epub 1990/07/01. Eng.
- Morara S, van der Want JJ, de Weerd H, Provini L, Rosina A. Ultrastructural analysis of climbing fiber-Purkinje cell synaptogenesis in the rat cerebellum. Neuroscience. 2001;108(4):655– 71. PubMed PMID: 11738501. Epub 2001/12/12. Eng.
- Kita Y, Tanaka K, Murakami F. Specific labeling of climbing fibers shows early synaptic interactions with immature Purkinje cells in the prenatal cerebellum. Dev Neurobiol. 2015;75(9):927–34. PubMed PMID: 25529108. Epub 2014/12/23. Eng.
- 79. Schild RF. On the inferior olive of the albino rat. J Comp Neurol. 1970;140(3):255–60. PubMed PMID: 5476885. Epub 1970/11/01. Eng.
- Crepel F, Mariani J, Delhaye-Bouchaud N. Evidence for a multiple innervation of Purkinje cells by climbing fibers in the immature rat cerebellum. J Neurobiol. 1976;7(6):567–78. PubMed PMID: 1003202. Epub 1976/11/01. Eng.
- Mariani J, Changeux JP. Ontogenesis of olivocerebellar relationships. I. Studies by intracellular recordings of the multiple innervation of Purkinje cells by climbing fibers in the developing rat cerebellum. J Neurosci. 1981;1(7):696–702. PubMed PMID: 7346578. Epub 1981/07/01. Eng.
- Mariani J, Changeux JP. Ontogenesis of olivocerebellar relationships. II. Spontaneous activity of inferior olivary neurons and climbing fibermediated activity of cerebellar Purkinje cells in developing rats. J Neurosci. 1981;1(7):703–9. PubMed PMID: 7346579. Epub 1981/07/01. Eng.
- Ashwell KW, Zhang LL. Ontogeny of afferents to the fetal rat cerebellum. Acta Anat (Basel). 1992;145(1):17–23. PubMed PMID: 1414208. Epub 1992/01/01. Eng.
- 84. Kalinovsky A, Boukhtouche F, Blazeski R, Bornmann C, Suzuki N, Mason CA, et al. Development of axon-target specificity of ponto-cerebellar afferents. PLoS Biol. 2011;9(2):e1001013. PubMed PMID: 21346800. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3035609. Epub 2011/02/25. eng.
- Leto K, Arancillo M, Becker EB, Buffo A, Chiang C, Ding B, et al. Consensus paper: cerebellar development. Cerebellum. 2015. PubMed PMID: 26439486. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4846577. Epub 2015/10/07. Eng.
- Sillitoe RV, Joyner AL. Morphology, molecular codes, and circuitry produce the threedimensional complexity of the cerebellum. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2007;23:549–77. PubMed PMID: 17506688. Epub 2007/05/18. eng.
- Ozol K, Hayden JM, Oberdick J, Hawkes R. Transverse zones in the vermis of the mouse cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1999;412(1):95–111. PubMed PMID: 10440712. Epub 1999/08/10. eng.
- Inouye M, Oda SI. Strain-specific variations in the folial pattern of the mouse cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1980;190(357):357–62.
- Sudarov A, Joyner AL. Cerebellum morphogenesis: the foliation pattern is orchestrated by multi-cellular anchoring centers. Neural Dev. 2007;2:26. PubMed PMID: 18053187. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2246128. Epub 2007/12/07. eng.
- Yang ZJ, Ellis T, Markant SL, Read TA, Kessler JD, Bourboulas M, et al. Medulloblastoma can be initiated by deletion of patched in lineage-restricted progenitors or stem cells. Cancer Cell. 2008;14(2):135–45. PubMed PMID: 18691548. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC2538687. Epub 2008/08/12. eng.
- Schuller U, Heine VM, Mao J, Kho AT, Dillon AK, Han YG, et al. Acquisition of granule neuron precursor identity is a critical determinant of progenitor cell competence to form Shh-induced medulloblastoma. Cancer Cell. 2008;14(2):123–34. PubMed PMID: 18691547. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC2597270. Epub 2008/08/12. eng.
- Meier F, Giesert F, Delic S, Faus-Kessler T, Matheus F, Simeone A, et al. FGF/FGFR2 signaling regulates the generation and correct positioning of Bergmann glia cells in the developing mouse cerebellum. PLoS One. 2014;9(7):e101124. PubMed PMID: 24983448. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4077754. Epub 2014/07/02. Eng.

- Haldipur P, Gillies GS, Janson OK, Chizhikov VV, Mithal DS, Miller RJ, et al. Foxc1 dependent mesenchymal signalling drives embryonic cerebellar growth. elife. 2014;16:3. PubMed PMID: 25513817. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4281880. Epub 2014/12/17. Eng.
- 94. Mulherkar S, Uddin MD, Couvillon AD, Sillitoe RV, Tolias KF. The small GTPases RhoA and Rac1 regulate cerebellar development by controlling cell morphogenesis, migration and foliation. Dev Biol. 2014;394(1):39–53. PubMed PMID: 25128586. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4163514. Epub 2014/08/17. Eng.
- Bayly PV, Taber LA, Kroenke CD. Mechanical forces in cerebral cortical folding: a review of measurements and models. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2014;29:568–81. PubMed PMID: 23566768. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3842388. Epub 2013/04/10. Eng.
- Ronan L, Voets N, Rua C, Alexander-Bloch A, Hough M, Mackay C, et al. Differential tangential expansion as a mechanism for cortical gyrification. Cereb Cortex. 2014;24(8):2219–28. PubMed PMID: 23542881. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4089386. Epub 2013/04/02. Eng.
- 97. Bayly PV, Okamoto RJ, Xu G, Shi Y, Taber LA. A cortical folding model incorporating stress-dependent growth explains gyral wavelengths and stress patterns in the developing brain. Phys Biol. 2013;10(1):016005. PubMed PMID: 23357794. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3616769. Epub 2013/01/30. Eng.
- Tallinen T, Chung JY, Biggins JS, Mahadevan L. Gyrification from constrained cortical expansion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111(35):12667–72. PubMed PMID: 25136099. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4156754. Epub 2014/08/20. Eng.
- 99. Tallinen T, Chung JY, Rousseau F, Girard N, Lefèvre J, Mahadevan L. On the growth and form of cortical convolutions. Nat Phys. 2016;12:588–93.
- 100. Mota B, Herculano-Houzel S. BRAIN STRUCTURE. Cortical folding scales universally with surface area and thickness, not number of neurons. Science. 2015;349(6243):74–7. PubMed PMID: 26138976. Epub 2015/07/04. Eng.
- 101. Lejeune E, Javili A, Weickenmeier J, Kuhl E, Linder C. Tri-layer wrinkling as a mechanism for anchoring center initiation in the developing cerebellum. Soft Matter. 2016;12(25):5613– 20. PubMed PMID: 27252048. Epub 2016/06/03. Eng.
# Early Purkinje Cell Development and the Origins of Cerebellar Patterning

Filippo Casoni, Laura Croci, Ottavio Cremona, Richard Hawkes, and G. Giacomo Consalez

**Abstract** This chapter explores the mechanisms that regulate Purkinje cell neurogenesis, revealing the finely timed contribution of many regulatory genes in the control of PC progenitor specification, proliferation, subtype differentiation, migration, and survival from the cerebellar primordium to the end of prenatal embryogenesis, discussing some of the key molecules involved and the ways they combine to generate the complex adult cerebellar architecture.

Keywords Zebrin • Transverse zone • Stripe • Ventricular zone • Ebf2 • Reelin

# PCs as Project Managers of Cerebellar Cytoarchitecture and Connectivity

The cerebellum contains a limited number of cellular phenotypes, arranged in a highly conserved circuitry and identified by their morphological features, their reciprocal relationships, and the expression of distinctive neurochemical markers. The mouse is the main model system in which cerebellar ontogenesis has been studied extensively. Although the mammalian cerebellum is superficially homogeneous, it actually consists of several hundred distinct compartments, which form a complex, reproducible array of transverse zones and parasagittal stripes. Cerebellar architecture is built around multiple Purkinje cell subtypes [1-6] – most notably zebrin II/

F. Casoni • O. Cremona • G.G. Consalez (🖂)

Università Vita-Salute San Raffaele, Via Olgettina 58, 20132 Milan, Italy

L. Croci Division of Neuroscience, San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Milan, Italy

R. Hawkes (⊠)

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Division of Neuroscience, San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Milan, Italy e-mail: g.consalez@hsr.it

Department of Cell Biology and Anatomy, and Hotchkiss Brain Institute, Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, Alberta T2N 4N1, Canada e-mail: rhawkes@ucalgary.ca

H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_4

aldolase C [7, 8] – which form the transverse zone-and-parasagittal stripe scaffold upon which the adult cerebellum is built. For example, zone-and-stripe boundaries restrict the terminal fields of many cerebellar afferent projections (reviewed in [9]), interneuron neurites [10] and somata (reviewed in [11]), and glial gene expression profiles (e.g., 5'-nucleotidase [12]).

In the mouse, the general timeline of events that leads to cerebellar maturation from its embryonic *anlage* has been fully clarified [13–18]. Here we discuss some of the major features of cerebellar development, focusing on the ontogenesis of Purkinje cells (PCs), the sole projection neurons of the cerebellar cortex.

PC development is only partially characterized, despite the remarkable progress made in recent years (reviewed in [19]). Achieving a better understanding of PC cell fate specification and ontogenesis in general is important for a number of reasons. First, PCs orchestrate the early stages of cerebellar development, namely those that precede the massive proliferation of granule cell precursors in the external granular layer. Only later in embryogenesis, and especially after birth, do granule cells take control of cerebellar histogenesis and foliation, as they outnumber all other cerebellar cell types by several orders of magnitude.

Secondly, PCs actually control granule cell clonal expansion by releasing the extracellular morphogen/mitogen sonic hedgehog [20–23], with the result that the overall PC number heavily influences the final dimensions and organization of the cerebellum – and ultimately its function. The corollary is that defective PC genesis or migration impairs granule cell clonal expansion, and cerebellar foliation/PC migration failures result in a lissiform adult cerebellar cortex: e.g., the naturally occurring mouse mutant *reeler* (ReInrI: reviewed in [24]).

Thirdly, PCs guide the wiring of the cerebellum. Most afferent fiber systems invade the cerebellum at around embryonic day 13/14 (E13/14) in the mouse [25, 26] and terminate with a spatial organization that parallels the pattern of PC stripes [27]. PCs instruct afferent fibers, including olivocerebellar axons, which eventually establish a one-to-one contact with their target, as well as mossy fibers, which connect transiently with PCs and use PC-produced guidance cues prior to retracting and shaping their definitive synapses on granule cell dendrites (reviewed in [16, 28]). PC subtype organization is thought to play a key role in instructing circuit wiring into topographic maps: zone-and-stripe boundaries typically restrict the terminal fields of both cerebellar mossy fiber and climbing fiber afferent projections (reviewed in [9]), and interneuron neurites ([10], reviewed in [11]) and spontaneous and engineered mouse mutants with disrupted PC stripes have complementary alterations in the spatial arrangement of afferent terminals [29–31].

#### **Cerebellar Anlagen and Germinal Zones**

The cerebellum arises from a specialized region at the midbrain/hindbrain boundary [32-34]. In the mouse, at E8.5, the antagonistic interaction that takes place between homeobox genes *Otx2* and *Gbx2* defines the isthmic organizer region [35, 36], which controls the development of cerebellar structures via the secreted

morphogens FGF8 and WNT1 [16, 37, 38]. At this stage, the cerebellar primordium consists of two distinct and symmetric bulges thought to grow and fuse on the midline, eventually giving rise to the vermis, flanked by the two hemispheres [15]. Importantly, however, homotopic and isochronic quail-chick grafting experiments have clearly shown that the caudal part of the early midbrain vesicle generates the rostral and medial part of the prospective cerebellum [32, 39–42]. Thus, the anterior part of the prospective cerebellar vermis, instead of resulting from fusion of lateral cerebellar plates (His, 1889), likely originates from the caudal and alar portion of the mesencephalic vesicle [39].

Once a low-resolution map has been drawn, cerebellar histogenesis begins, starting at E9. Around E9.5, two germinal neuroepithelia emerge in the cerebellar primordium, abutting the opening of the fourth ventricle: (1) the rhombic lip (RL), located at the outer aspect of the cerebellar plate, adjacent to the roof plate (RP, dorsal), and (2) the ventricular zone (VZ), lining the lumen of the fourth ventricle (ventral). These stem cell/progenitor compartments may be identified by the regionspecific expression of two genes encoding basic helix-loop-helix transcription factors: pancreas transcription factor 1a (*Ptf1a*) in the VZ [43], and atonal homolog 1 (Atoh1) in the RL [44]. Cerebellar radial glial progenitors [45] expressing Ptf1a are fated to generate all GABAergic neurons of the cerebellum, including PCs and all inhibitory interneurons – cerebellar nuclear interneurons plus basket, stellate, Golgi, and Lugaro cells in the cerebellar cortex [43, 46, 47]. Homozygous mutations of PTF1A are associated with cerebellar agenesis in humans [48]. Conversely, all glutamatergic lineages – the large projection neurons of the cerebellar nuclei, unipolar brush cells, and granule cells – derive from Atoh1+ progenitors [49–54]: their development is exhaustively reviewed elsewhere [19].

Important genetic networks involved in the maintenance of the stem cell/progenitor pool and in cell fate specification are active in the VZ and/or RL between E10 and E13. The stem cell marker SOX2 is expressed in both neurogenic territories (VZ and RL) and in the RP [55]. Its homolog SOX9 is largely co-expressed with SOX2 and may mediate termination of neurogenesis, thereby regulating a neurogenic-to-gliogenic fate switch in the mouse cerebellar primordium [55]. The target of Notch signaling, *Hes5*, is expressed in the VZ and RL, with a very sharp boundary and no expression in the RP. However, *Hes1* expression levels are low to absent in the VZ and RL but present in the RP [56, 57]. Notch1 in the cerebellar primordium interferes with BMP2/BMP4 signal transduction causing downregulation of the BMP target *Msx2*.

As shown by birthdating studies, cerebellar projection neurons, (PCs in the cerebellar cortex and glutamatergic neurons in the cerebellar nuclei), are born first, at the outset of cerebellar neurogenesis, while both inhibitory and excitatory interneurons are generated perinatally [15, 58, 59]. Dividing VZ precursors delaminate into the cerebellar presumptive white matter, while those of the RL migrate below the pial surface where they form the rhombic lip migratory stream, initially containing nucleofugal neuron progenitors and, later, the granule cell precursors of the external granular layer. Postnatal neurogenesis continues in both regions through the third postnatal week, giving rise to GABAergic and glutamatergic interneurons, respectively [15, 17].

# Establishment of Neurogenic Microdomains for GABAergic Progenitors

A schematic representation of microdomains present in the cerebellar VZ is provided in Fig. 1. All cerebellar GABAergic neurons originate in the VZ from  $Ptfla^+$  [43] and  $Ascll^+$  [60] progenitors according to a two-step sequence [17, 19]. First, projection neurons (nucleo-olivary neurons and PCs) are generated from stem cells that give rise to fate-committed precursor populations. The nucleo-olivary neurons are generated between E10.5 and E12.5 in the mouse. Next, starting around E11 and through E13.5, mitotic PC progenitors exit the cell cycle and layer on top of the VZ



Fig. 1 A simplified representation of gene expression and cellular domains present in the E12.5 murine cerebellar primordium and giving rise to the mature cerebellar cortex. No reference is made here to cerebellar nuclei and their precurosrs. The drawing represents a sagittal section of the cerebellar anlage. The cerebellar primordium is bordered by the isthmic organizer (IO) rostrally and by the roof plate (RP) caudally. The choroid plexus (ChP), a roof plate derivative, is also shown. RP and ChP are non-neurogenic territories. The ventricular zone (VZ) is a mitotic cellular domain abutting the lumen of the fourth ventricle and giving rise to all GABAergic neurons of the cerebellar cortex. PTF1A is expressed by all GABAergic progenitors of the VZ, including PCs and interneurons. The PTF1A domain contains GSX1<sup>+</sup> cells (mitotic interneuron progenitors) and OLIG2<sup>+</sup> cells (mitotic PC progenitors). Both populations delaminate from the VZ (see text) giving rise to subventricular domains. The cortical transitory zone (CTZ) contains CORL2+ potmitotic PC precursors that subsequently migrate into the Purkinje cell plate (PCP), underneath the external granular layer (EGL). GSX1+ interneuron progenitors delaminate and give rise to PAX2+ interneuron precursors fated to populate the prospective white matter (not shown) before homing into the cortex. Both PAX2<sup>+</sup> and CORL2<sup>+</sup> domains are also positive for LHX1 and LHX5. Finally, all glutamatergic neurons of the cerebellum originate from the rhombic lip (RL, positive for the proneural gene Atoh1). Among them, granule cell precursors migrate tangentially beneath the pia mater and populate the prospective EGL

to populate the nascent PC plate. The GABAergic interneurons are first born around E11 and sequentially generate all inhibitory local circuit neurons of the mature cerebellum.

The VZ is subdivided into mitotic progenitor domains abutting the ventricular lumen and corresponding postmitotic domains in the cerebellar primordium (an additional microdomain defines the rhombic lip) [61]. A microdomain positive for PTF1A contains two genetically defined progenitor cell types: OLIG2<sup>+</sup> PC progenitors occupy a more caudal position and undergo their terminal mitosis between E11 and E13; GSX1<sup>+</sup> progenitors are located more rostrally and medially. At E12.5, corresponding to the peak of PC neurogenesis, the c2 territory can be subdivided into a more caudal microdomain positive for CORL2, a selective marker of postmitotic PC precursors, and into a rostral/medial microdomain containing PAX2+ interneuron precursors. PC precursors, after leaving the cell cycle, start migrating and populate different regions of the cerebellar cortex according to their birthdate [15, 52]. Instead, actively proliferating interneuron progenitors (IPs), positive for GSX1, begin to delaminate from the VZ giving rise to PAX2+ interneuron progenitors and then migrate in successive waves to the nascent cerebellar nuclei or, with an insideout progression, to the granular and molecular layers of the cerebellar cortex, where they acquire their definitive identities under the influence of instructive environmental cues ([62], reviewed in [63]).

# The Regulation of PC Progenitor Specification and Commitment

At early stages (E11-12.5), a small number of GSX1<sup>+</sup> interneuron precursors are found in the most rostral region of the VZ, while the majority of PC progenitors occupy more caudal regions of the VZ. Ablation of Olig2 has only a small effect [64] or no effect on PC number. However, a null mutation of both Olig2 and Olig1 produces a reduction of committed PC precursors [46]. As development proceeds, PC progenitors progressively become interneuron precursors, which spread from rostral (close to the isthmic organizer) to caudal, at the boundary between RL and RP. This temporal identity transition of cerebellar GABAergic neuron progenitors from PC progenitors to interneuron precursors is negatively regulated by OLIG2 and positively by GSX1 [46]. However, this view is challenged by the results of short- and long-term lineage tracing studies performed by other authors [64], suggesting that  $Olig2^+$  progenitors may not contribute importantly to the interneuron precursor lineage. Further analyses will be required to resolve this discrepancy: one possible scenario is that Gsxl<sup>+</sup> progenitors affect the number of PC-committed Olig2<sup>+</sup> precursors (or the maintenance of the PC-committed stem cell pool) through a paracrine, non-cell-autonomous mechanism.

The VZ subregion containing PC progenitors is also characterized by the strong expression of E-cadherin (encoded by Cdh1) and of the cell surface marker NEPH3, which is a direct downstream target gene of PTF1a [65]. When OLIG2<sup>+</sup> PC progenitors

exit the cell cycle, they activate the expression of *Corl2* [66], which encodes a transcriptional repressor [67], and that of *Lhx1* and *Lhx5* [68], encoding LIM homeobox domain proteins. However, unlike CORL2, LHX1 and LHX5 label delaminating interneuron precursors as well as postmitotic PC precursors [46, 66]. Cells co-expressing LHX1/LHX5 [68] and CORL2 [66] are *bona fide* differentiating VZ-born precursors committed to a PC fate.

Other PTF1A targets are expressed in the VZ in addition to those described above [69]. The *Drosophila atonal* homologs *neurogenin 1* and *neurogenin 2* are proneural genes encoding basic helix-loop-helix transcription factors. *Neurog1*<sup>+</sup> progenitors give rise to inhibitory cortical interneurons and some PCs [70, 71], while *Neurog2* is expressed mainly in the PC- and presumptive nucleo-olivary neuron lineages. NEUROG2 controls progenitor cell cycle progression, promotes cell cycle exit and differentiation, and spurs the cell-autonomous phase of PC precursor dendritogenesis. Nullisomy for *Neurog2* causes a reduction in the overall PC number [72]. However, NEUROG1 and NEUROG2 are not required for the adoption of a PC fate (R. Hawkes, unpublished observation, and [72]). Interestingly, cell cycle analysis conducted by cumulative S-phase labeling on *Neurog2*<sup>CreERT2</sup> knockin mice has revealed for the first time that at the peak of PC neurogenesis (E12.5), dividing VZ progenitors cycle in ~14 h, and their basal-to-apical oscillating motion is compatible with interkinetic nuclear migration, similar to what has been shown in other territories of the neural tube, but never before in the cerebellar primordium [72].

# Ebf2 and PC Subtype Specification

Thus far we have treated PC development as though all PCs are the same. This is far from the case – indeed in the adult mouse cerebellum, multiple PC subtypes have been identified (e.g., zebrin II/aldolase C [7]; PLCβ3/4 [73]; HSP25 [74]: reviewed in [6]). The embryological origins of PC heterogeneity and pattern formation are only slowly coming into focus. PC subtype phenotype is cerebellum intrinsic and independent of neural activity (e.g., [75]) or afferent innervation [76, 77]. Cerebellar compartmentation appears to start at ~E10 in the VZ of the fourth ventricle but likely not sooner (e.g., [78–81]). The first stage likely occurs when PCs undergo terminal mitosis between E10 and E13 [58] in the Ptfla-expressing progenitor domain of the VZ [43, 69]. Birthdating studies have identified two distinct PC populations: an early-born cohort (E10-E11.5) fated to become zebrin II+ and a late-born cohort (E11.5-E13) fated to become zebrin II<sup>-</sup> [82, 83]. However, individual PC stripes do not have a clonal origin [80]. There is also a direct correlation between PC birthdates and their adult stripe location, suggesting that both subtype specification and positional information (i.e., which zone or stripe the PC will occupy) may be acquired at this time (e.g., [82, 84-86]).

Several regulatory genes are implicated in PC progenitor development. Among them, *Early B-cell factor 2 (Ebf2)* [87] belongs to a family of atypical basic helix-loop-helix transcription factors that do not possess a basic domain and instead

feature a unique DNA-binding domain. This family includes three transcriptional activators (EBF1–3) and one repressor (EBF4) (reviewed in [88, 89]). *Ebf2* is expressed in a subset of late-born PC progenitors fated to populate zebrin II<sup>-</sup> parasagittal stripes, and in *Ebf2* null mutants the cerebellum features a selective loss of zebrin II<sup>-</sup> PCs.

Upon cell cycle exit, late-born PC progenitors start expressing *Ebf2* and migrate toward the PC plate. Posterior-born PCs migrate tangentially at first and then follow radial glial fibers, projecting their axons ventrally into the prospective white matter [90]. Conversely, anteriorly born PCs migrate radially into the PC plate, also following radial glial fibers, to populate anterior regions of the cerebellar cortex. Migration of this latter population is reelin (RELN) dependent and selectively delayed in *Ebf*<sup>2</sup> null PCs, which accumulate before birth as an ectopic layer just above the VZ in the anterior third of the cerebellar anlage. A significant fraction of these PCs, many of which express neurogranin [91], dies by apoptosis [92, 93]. *Ebf2* is required to support survival of late-born PCs at birth and accomplishes this by transactivating the insulin-like growth factor (Igf1) gene. In postnatal Ebf2 null cerebella, Igf1 expression is downregulated, with a resulting impairment of IGF-1 signal transduction [93]. Finally, some of the *Ebf2* null PCs that survive lose their PC subtype specification features and trans-differentiate into zebrin II<sup>+</sup> PCs - the only genetic manipulation thus far shown to subvert PC subtype specification [92]. In fact, *Ebf2* acts to repress the zebrin II<sup>+</sup> phenotype in late-born PCs [85]. Further studies, employing conditional mutants, are required to determine at which stage of postmitotic PC precursor development EBF2 acts to specify PC subtype. The results of genetic fate mapping experiments (GGC et al.: unpublished data) suggest that *Ebf2* is expressed transiently in all PC progenitors, only to be restricted to late-born ones by the end of embryogenesis. The pathways that lead to further subtype specification (e.g., the HSP25<sup>+/-</sup> distinction within the zebrin II<sup>+</sup> family: [74]) have not vet been explored.

### **Embryonic PC Cluster Formation**

Newborn PCs migrate dorsally into the cerebellar anlage where they aggregate by ~E17 into a reproducible array of clusters that already contains multiple distinct molecular PC phenotypes ([6], reviewed in [83], e.g., Fig. 2 [94–97]). These clusters are the targets by which cerebellar afferents and many interneurons become topographically ordered (reviewed in [5, 28]).

The mechanism that converts the PC plate into the elaborate array of embryonic PC clusters ->50 are recorded [97, 98] – is not well understood. As PCs migrate toward the cerebellar surface, the early-born (E10–E11.5: *Ebf2*<sup>-</sup>; future zebrin II<sup>+</sup>) PC lamina interdigitates with the more superficial late-born (E11.5–E13; *Ebf2*<sup>+</sup>; future zebrin II<sup>-</sup>) layer with the result that the stereotyped array of clusters emerges. Whether this migration is the mechanism that specifies cluster architecture or whether the clusters are already specified in the cerebellar plate (or are even preformed in the



**Fig. 2** From clusters to stripes. Embryonic clusters condense by migration from the cerebellar plate between E14 and E18 (mouse). At this stage numerous expression markers reveal that the PC population is already heterogeneous (exactly how many distinct phenotypes are present is not known, in part because of the paucity of double-labeling studies). The embryonic PC clusters also serve as a staging area to amass, organize, and restrict cerebellar afferents and interneurons. Starting perinatally signals via the RELN-Dab1 pathway trigger cluster dispersal into the adult cluster array by about P20. As for the embryonic clusters, the exact number of stripe phenotypes is not certain – at least ten may be identified based on expression data and mutant phenotypes. References to the lists of embryonic and adult cerebellar compartment markers may be found in [6]

VZ, i.e., some version of the protomap model proposed by Rakic for the neocortex: reviewed in [99]) is not known. The cellular processes that guide cluster formation are not understood, but grafts of dissociated PCs also organize into discrete, ectopic zebrin II<sup>+</sup>/zebrin II<sup>-</sup> aggregates [100], pointing to cell-cell adhesion molecules as possible organizers: cadherins (reviewed in [101]) and integrins (e.g., [102]) are

possible candidates. Also during this same period, the cerebellar anlage undergoes a 90° rotation, which converts the embryonic rostrocaudal axis into the mediolateral axis of the cerebellar primordium [81], so perhaps the adult stripe array ultimately derives from the anteroposterior patterning of dorsal rhombomere 1.

#### From Clusters to Zones and Stripes

Boundaries running from medial to lateral divide the cerebellar cortex into transverse zones. By combining different sources of evidence – molecular, genetic, and hodological – four highly conserved transverse boundaries, and hence five transverse zones, have been delineated in the adult mouse vermis (e.g., [103–105]): the anterior zone (AZ: ~ lobules I–V: reviewed in [104]), central zone anterior (CZa: ~lobule VI) and posterior (CZp), the posterior zone (PZ: ~lobules VIII to dorsal IX: reviewed in [105]), and the nodular zone (NZ). Each transverse zone is then further subdivided into a reproducible array of parasagittal stripes (e.g., revealed by using zebrin II/aldolase C [7, 8]: for zebrin II<sup>+/-</sup> stripes, these are labeled P<sup>+</sup> and P<sup>-</sup>, e.g., zebrin II [106], phospholipase (PL) Cß3/Cß4 [73]), the small heat shock protein HSP25 [74], or *L7/pcp2-lacZ* transgene expression (reviewed in [6, 103]).

PC stripes are discontinuous across transverse boundaries so it seems plausible that the zones precede stripes in development, but whether transverse zones form prior to the PC clusters or at the same time is speculative. Transverse boundaries are certainly present in the embryonic cerebellum. The AZ/CZa boundary between lobules V and VI can be identified both in neonates and adults by the expression domains of numerous molecules (e.g., calbindin [103], reviewed in [107]) and is a developmental phenotype restriction boundary for several cerebellar mutations. (In some cases, the mutant phenotype is associated with defects in the AZ (e.g., [108]), lurcher Grid2Lc-J: [109], and cerebellar-deficient folia (Ctnna2cdf: [110]); in others - for example, the BETA2/NeuroD1 null [111] - it is the posterior cerebellar zones that are the most affected.) Finally, a granular layer lineage restriction boundary also lies in the anterior face of lobule VI, indicating that granule cells either side of the boundary derive from different lineages [112]. The CZa/CZp boundary [113] is a perinatal restriction boundary for FoxP2 [107], Gli [95], and HNK-1 expression [114]. The CZp/PZ boundary that separates lobule VII from lobule VIII is revealed in the perinatal cerebellum by FoxP2 [98, 107], PLCB4 [115] and HSP25 [116] expression which is associated with a phenotypic abnormality in the lurcher (Grid<sup>Lc</sup>) mouse [109]. Finally, the most caudal transverse boundary in the adult mouse (PZ/ NZ) lies near the base of the posterolateral fissure between lobules IX and X. A transverse boundary has also been located in the same area during development as a restriction boundary for the expression of En2 [95] and FoxP2 [96]. A granular layer transverse boundary in embryonic stem cell chimeras is also located at around the PZ/NZ boundary [112].

Starting at around E18, the embryonic clusters transform into adult stripes triggered by RELN signaling (reviewed in [117, 118]). Because PC dispersal and the associated development of cerebellar foliation occur almost entirely along the rostrocaudal axis, each cluster becomes stretched out into a long, narrow stripe.

RELN is secreted by both the external granular layer and glutamatergic projection neurons of the cerebellar nuclei [117] and binds to two PC receptors – the apolipoprotein E receptor 2 (Apoer2) and the very low-density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR: [119, 120]). Both receptors are required for normal stripe formation, and if RELN is absent (e.g., the *reeler* mouse (*Reln<sup>rl</sup>*)), PC cluster dispersal is blocked, and the adult mouse retains the embryonic cluster morphology and is ataxic (reviewed in [24]). RELN binding induces Apoer2/Vldlr receptor clustering [121], which triggers a protein kinase cascade and tyrosine phosphorylation of the docking protein Disabled1 (DAB: [122–126]) by Fyn and Src [127, 128], leading eventually to a drop in mutual PC-PC adhesion, possibly via integrins. In parallel, DAB1 phosphorylation also activates Rac and Rho GTPases, which control actin filament assembly [129]. Together cytoskeletal and cell adhesion changes are thought to permit the embryonic PC clusters to disperse into stripes. That being said, it is not clear whether cluster dispersal requires the active migration of PCs or is the passive consequence of lobule formation.

However, the RELN pathway is not that straightforward. First, while expression mapping suggests that all PCs express both Apoer2 and Vldlr RELN receptors, mutations in individual receptors (*Apoer2<sup>-/-</sup>* and *Vldlr<sup>-/-</sup>* nulls; *Apoer2<sup>+/-</sup>*:Vldlr<sup>+/-</sup> double heterozygotes) result in specific partial *reeler* phenotypes with some clusters dispersing normally, while others remain ectopic ([130]; divergent roles are also seen in the developing cerebral cortex [131]). Similar behavior is seen in several naturally occurring mutants. For example, *meander tail* (mea2J [132]), *rostral cerebellar malformation* (Unc5crcm [108]), 1998), and *cerebellar-deficient folia* (Ctnna2cdf [110]) all display selective PC ectopias that are restricted to the zebrin II<sup>-</sup> phenotype (and because zebrin II<sup>-</sup> PCs are preferentially located in the AZ, it is the anterior vermis that is most severely affected). In a more complex model – the *weaver* (*Kcnj6*<sup>wv</sup>) mouse – PC cluster dispersal failure is restricted to zebrin II<sup>+</sup>/HSP25<sup>+</sup> stripes in the CZa/CZp [133]. The GIRK2 protein mutated in *weaver* [134] is expressed by all PCs so the molecular basis of the selective PC ectopias is unknown.

The relationship between the embryonic cluster topography and the zone and stripe pattern of the adult is not fully mapped. Because a few markers are expressed consistently in both clusters and stripes (FOXP2: [98], several are, for example, PLC64 [115], an IP3R1 promoter-nls-lacZ transgene [135]), but others are only expressed in stripes at one stage or show very different expression patterns perinatally versus the adult, e.g., HSP25 (e.g., HSP25 [116], lysosomal acid phosphatase 2 [136]), there is limited evidence of the continuity of the cerebellar topographic map from perinate to adult. In theory, three relationships might occur: one embryonic cluster might form a single adult stripe; one cluster might split to yield more than one stripe; or several clusters might combine into a single stripe (Fig. 3). In fact, all three possibilities have been described. In several cases, the one cluster = one stripe model seems very likely (e.g., [83, 98, 135]). However, other examples are more complex. For example, the so-called P1<sup>-</sup> stripe in the AZ vermis clearly derives from three distinct embryonic clusters, which abut (as revealed by using



Fig. 3 Three models for the transformation of embryonic PC clusters into adult stripes: one embryonic cluster forms one adult stripe; one cluster splits to yield several stripes; or several clusters combine into a single stripe. All three models are found

PLC<sup>B4</sup> expression [115]). An alternative – and perhaps better – description is that the apparently homogeneous P1<sup>-</sup> stripe in the adult (all zebrin II<sup>-</sup>/PLC<sup>B4+</sup>) actually comprises three distinct sub-stripes. The triplet structure is also seen in the afferent mossy fiber projections (where cuneocerebellar and spinocerebellar pathways terminate in different sub-stripes: [137, 138]) and in the expression of an *L7/pcp2-lacZ* transgene [103]. A similar covert heterogeneity is seen in ostensibly homogeneous zebrin II<sup>+</sup> stripes when co-labeled for HSP25 [74]. Last, single clusters may give rise to multiple stripes. For example, inducible fate mapping with a *Pcp2-CreER-IRES-hAP* transgene showed three cluster pairs contribute to nine adult stripes [28].

Finally, a striking feature of adult cerebellar topography is the high reproducibility between individuals and the concomitant low error rate (e.g., zebrin II<sup>+</sup> PCs are very rarely seen in zebrin II<sup>-</sup> stripes). If stripes derive from clusters, and stripes have no errors, then either clusters have no errors (and migration from the VZ to the clusters is perfect) or errors that occur during cluster formation and dispersal are selectively eliminated. In this context it is interesting that many PCs – perhaps as many as a third – undergo cell death by apoptosis during the perinatal period [139]. This suggests the hypothesis that perinatal apoptosis eliminates those PCs that wind up in the wrong embryonic cluster. PC ectopia is not lethal per se: for example, PCs located ectopically may survive indefinitely. Rather, the hypothesis evokes a community effect, such that being in the wrong cluster leads to apoptosis. In support of the idea that apoptosis

refines topography, studies of naturally occurring cell death in the cerebellum identified hot spots of PC apoptosis that correlate with stripe boundaries in the adult [140]. However, preliminary experiments do not support the hypothesis. Deleting the Bcl-2-/ BH3-associated apoptotic protein BAX inhibits perinatal PC death (BAX is expressed in PCs perinatally [141] and *Bax*-/- mice have a 30% excess of PCs over controls (e.g., [142]). Nevertheless, the frequency of targeting errors was unaffected (RH and Y. Wang: unpublished data). Therefore, the remarkable reproducibility of the cerebellar map does not seem to result from perinatal error correction.

# Conclusions

Early stages of PC development affect both susceptibility and outcome of several motor and cognitive disorders. Cerebellar development is protracted (from E7 to P30) and complex (at least two germinal zones, multiple migration pathways, etc.) so it is unsurprising that it represents a large target for developmental disruption. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 1 provides an example of this: transgenic mice in which expression of the expanded ATXN1 transgene is delayed until after the cerebellum has matured display a reduced disease phenotype, suggesting that mutant ATXN1 interacts with a pathway involved in PC development, likely by affecting RORa expression. Thus, compromising PC development appears to contribute to the severity of neurodegeneration [143]. Equally striking, recent evidence has linked PC development to the pathogenesis of autistic spectrum disorders (reviewed in [144]). In particular, selective deletion of the *Tsc1* gene in the PC lineage from conditional knockout mice has been found to cause a decrease in PC number, increased spine density, and autistic-like alterations of social behavior [145]. One of many insults thought to trigger autism is maternal fever [146]. Possibly related to the putative role of the cerebellum in autism, we recently found that immune activation and fever in pregnant mice between E13 and E15 resulted in adult progeny with significantly wider zebrin II<sup>+/-</sup> stripes, greater numbers of PCs, poorer motor performance, and impaired social interactions in adolescence [147].

Finally, what are the prospects that early intervention might afford therapeutic advantages? While fast progress has been made in recent years, plenty remains to be learned in regard to the signals that instruct VZ progenitors to adopt PC versus GABAergic interneuron fate. To our knowledge, protocols aimed at producing PCs from ES/iPS cells in vitro are based on selection of early PC progenitors that express lineage-specific surface markers [148]. The identification of additional factors cooperating with PTF1a and OLIG2 in specifying the earliest PC progenitors should improve the efficiency of those protocols and make it possible to generate autologous PCs from iPS cells or via direct reprogramming. These short-range projection neurons produced in vitro may eventually constitute a source of cell replacement in patients affected by certain types of degenerative ataxias.

**Acknowledgments** The authors' research is funded through grants provided by the Italian Telethon Foundation (to GGC) and by the Italian Ministry of Health (to OC).

# References

- 1. Hawkes R, Gravel C. The modular cerebellum. Prog Neurobiol. 1991;36(4):309–27. PubMed PMID: 1871318.
- 2. Hawkes R. An anatomical model of cerebellar modules. Prog Brain Res. 1997;114:39–52. PubMed PMID: 9193137.
- Eisenman LM. Antero-posterior boundaries and compartments in the cerebellum: evidence from selected neurological mutants. Prog Brain Res. 2000;124:23–30. PubMed PMID: 10943114.
- Sillitoe R, Joyner A. Morphology, molecular codes, and circuitry produce the threedimensional complexity of the cerebellum. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2007;23:549–77. Epub ahead of print.
- Apps R, Hawkes R. Cerebellar cortical organization: a one-map hypothesis. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2009;10(9):670–81. PubMed PMID: 19693030. Epub 2009/08/21. eng.
- 6. Armstrong CL, Hawkes R. Pattern formation in the cerebellum. San Rafael: Morgan and Claypool; 2013.
- Brochu G, Maler L, Hawkes R. Zebrin II: a polypeptide antigen expressed selectively by Purkinje cells reveals compartments in rat and fish cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1990;291(4):538–52. PubMed PMID: 2329190.
- 8. Ahn AH, Dziennis S, Hawkes R, Herrup K. The cloning of zebrin II reveals its identity with aldolase C. Development. 1994;120(8):2081–90. PubMed PMID: 7925012.
- 9. Voogd J, Ruigrok TJ. The organization of the corticonuclear and olivocerebellar climbing fiber projections to the rat cerebellar vermis: the congruence of projection zones and the zebrin pattern. J Neurocytol. 2004;33(1):5–21. PubMed PMID: 15173629.
- Sillitoe RV, Chung SH, Fritschy JM, Hoy M, Hawkes R. Golgi cell dendrites are restricted by Purkinje cell stripe boundaries in the adult mouse cerebellar cortex. J Neurosci. 2008;28(11):2820–6. PubMed PMID: 18337412.
- Consalez GG, Hawkes R. The compartmental restriction of cerebellar interneurons. Front Neural Circ. 2012;6:123. PubMed PMID: 23346049. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3551280. Epub 2013/01/25.
- 12. Scott TG. A unique pattern of localization within the cerebellum. Nature. 1963;200:793. PubMed PMID: 14087025.
- 13. Ramó y Cajal S. Histologie du Système Nerveux de l'Homme et des Vertébrés. 1911.
- Hatten ME, Heintz N. Mechanisms of neural patterning and specification in the developing cerebellum. Ann Rev Neurosci. 1995;18:385–408.
- Altman J, Bayer SA. Development of the cerebellar system in relation to its evolution, structure, and functions. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 1997.
- Sotelo C. Cellular and genetic regulation of the development of the cerebellar system. Prog Neurobiol. 2004;72(5):295–339. PubMed PMID: 15157725.
- Carletti B, Rossi F. Neurogenesis in the cerebellum. Neuroscientist. 2008;14(1):91–100. PubMed PMID: 17911211. Epub 2007/10/04. eng.
- Hoshino M. Neuronal subtype specification in the cerebellum and dorsal hindbrain. Develop Growth Differ. 2012;54(3):317–26. PubMed PMID: 22404503.
- Leto K, Arancillo M, Becker EB, Buffo A, Chiang C, Ding B, et al. Consensus paper: cerebellar develpoment. Cerebellum. 2015;15:789–828. PubMed PMID: 26439486. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4846577.

- Smeyne RJ, Chu T, Lewin A, Bian F, Sanlioglu SC, Kunsch C, et al. Local control of granule cell generation by cerebellar Purkinje cells. Mol Cell Neurosci. 1995;6(3):230–51.
- Wechsler-Reya RJ, Scott MP. Control of neuronal precursor proliferation in the cerebellum by Sonic Hedgehog. Neuron. 1999;22(1):103–14. PubMed PMID: 10027293.
- Dahmane N, Ruiz-i-Altaba A. Sonic hedgehog regulates the growth and patterning of the cerebellum. Development. 1999;126(14):3089–100.
- 23. Wallace VA. Purkinje-cell-derived Sonic hedgehog regulates granule neuron precursor cell proliferation in the developing mouse cerebellum. Curr Biol. 1999;9:445–8.
- 24. Goffinet AM. The embryonic development of the cerebellum in normal and reeler mutant mice. Anat Embryol (Berl). 1983;168(1):73–86. PubMed PMID: 6650858.
- Paradies MA, Eisenman LM. Evidence of early topographic organization in the embryonic olivocerebellar projection: a model system for the study of pattern formation processes in the central nervous system. Dev Dyn. 1993;197(2):125–45. PubMed PMID: 8219355.
- Grishkat HL, Eisenman LM. Development of the spinocerebellar projection in the prenatal mouse. J Comp Neurol. 1995;363(1):93–108. PubMed PMID: 8682940.
- White JJ, Sillitoe RV. Postnatal development of cerebellar zones revealed by neurofilament heavy chain protein expression. Front Neuroanat. 2013;7:9. PubMed PMID: 23675325. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3648691.
- Sillitoe RV, Gopal N, Joyner AL. Embryonic origins of ZebrinII parasagittal stripes and establishment of topographic Purkinje cell projections. Neuroscience. 2009;162(3):574–88. PubMed PMID: 19150487. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2716412. Epub 2009/01/20. eng.
- Blatt GJ, Eisenman LM. Topographic and zonal organization of the olivocerebellar projection in the reeler mutant mouse. J Comp Neurol. 1988;267(4):603–15. PubMed PMID: 2831252.
- Reeber SL, Loeschel CA, Franklin A, Sillitoe RV. Establishment of topographic circuit zones in the cerebellum of scrambler mutant mice. Front Neural Circ. 2013;7:122. PubMed PMID: 23885237. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3717479.
- Sillitoe RV, Vogel MW, Joyner AL. Engrailed homeobox genes regulate establishment of the cerebellar afferent circuit map. J Neurosci. 2010;30(30):10015–24. PubMed PMID: 20668186. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC2921890.
- 32. Hallonet ME, Teillet MA, Le Douarin NM. A new approach to the development of the cerebellum provided by the quail-chick marker system. Development. 1990;108(1):19–31. PubMed PMID: 2351063. Epub 1990/01/01. eng.
- Hallonet ME, Le Douarin NM. Tracing neuroepithelial cells of the mesencephalic and metencephalic alar plates during cerebellar ontogeny in quail-chick chimaeras. Eur J Neurosci. 1993;5(9):1145–55.
- Hallonet M, Alvarado-Mallart RM. The chick/quail chimeric system: a model for early cerebellar development. Perspect Dev Neurobiol. 1997;5(1):17–31. PubMed PMID: 9509515.
- Broccoli V, Boncinelli E, Wurst W. The caudal limit of Otx2 expression positions the isthmic organizer. Nature. 1999;9(401(6749)):164–8.
- 36. Li JY, Lao Z, Joyner AL. New regulatory interactions and cellular responses in the isthmic organizer region revealed by altering Gbx2 expression. Development. 2005;132(8):1971–81. PubMed PMID: 15790971.
- Martinez S, Wassef M, Alvarado-Mallart RM. Induction of a mesencephalic phenotype in the 2-day-old chick prosencephalon is preceded by the early expression of the homeobox gene en. Neuron. 1991;6(6):971–81. PubMed PMID: 1675863.
- Martinez S, Crossley PH, Cobos I, Rubenstein JL, Martin GR. FGF8 induces formation of an ectopic isthmic organizer and isthmocerebellar development via a repressive effect on Otx2 expression. Development. 1999;126(6):1189–200. PubMed PMID: 10021338.
- Martinez S, Alvarado-Mallart RM. Rostral cerebellum originates from the caudal portion of the so-called 'Mesencephalic' vesicle: a study using chick/quail chimeras. Eur J Neurosci. 1989;1(6):549–60. PubMed PMID: 12106114. Epub 1989/01/01. Eng.
- Alvarez Otero R, Sotelo C, Alvarado-Mallart RM. Chick/quail chimeras with partial cerebellar grafts: an analysis of the origin and migration of cerebellar cells. J Comp Neurol. 1993;333(4):597–615. PubMed PMID: 7690372. Epub 1993/07/22. eng.

- 41. Marin F, Puelles L. Patterning of the embryonic avian midbrain after experimental inversions: a polarizing activity from the isthmus. Dev Biol. 1994;163:19–37.
- Hidalgo-Sanchez M, Millet S, Bloch-Gallego E, Alvarado-Mallart RM. Specification of the meso-isthmo-cerebellar region: the Otx2/Gbx2 boundary. Brain Res Brain Res Rev. 2005;49(2):134–49. PubMed PMID: 16111544.
- 43. Hoshino M, Nakamura S, Mori K, Kawauchi T, Terao M, Nishimura YV, et al. Ptf1a, a bHLH transcriptional gene, defines GABAergic neuronal fates in cerebellum. Neuron. 2005;47(2):201–13. PubMed PMID: 16039563.
- 44. Akazawa C, Ishibashi M, Shimizu C, Nakanishi S, Kageyama R. A mammalian helix-loophelix factor structurally related to the product of Drosophila proneural gene atonal is a positive transcriptional regulator expressed in the developing nervous system. J Biol Chem. 1995;270(15):8730–8.
- 45. Anthony TE, Klein C, Fishell G, Heintz N. Radial glia serve as neuronal progenitors in all regions of the central nervous system. Neuron. 2004;41(6):881–90. PubMed PMID: 15046721.
- 46. Seto Y, Nakatani T, Masuyama N, Taya S, Kumai M, Minaki Y, et al. Temporal identity transition from Purkinje cell progenitors to GABAergic interneuron progenitors in the cerebellum. Nat Commun. 2014;5:3337. PubMed PMID: 24535035.
- 47. Yamada M, Seto Y, Taya S, Owa T, Inoue YU, Inoue T, et al. Specification of spatial identities of cerebellar neuron progenitors by ptf1a and atoh1 for proper production of GABAergic and glutamatergic neurons. J Neurosci. 2014;34(14):4786–800. PubMed PMID: 24695699.
- Sellick GS, Barker KT, Stolte-Dijkstra I, Fleischmann C, Coleman RJ, Garrett C, et al. Mutations in PTF1A cause pancreatic and cerebellar agenesis. Nat Genet. 2004;36(12):1301– 5. PubMed PMID: 15543146.
- Alder J, Cho NK, Hatten ME. Embryonic precursor cells from the rhombic lip are specified to a cerebellar granule neuron identity. Neuron. 1996;17(3):389–99. PubMed PMID: 8816703.
- 50. Wingate RJ. The rhombic lip and early cerebellar development. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2001;11(1):82–8. PubMed PMID: 11179876. Epub 2001/02/17. eng.
- Machold R, Fishell G. Math1 is expressed in temporally discrete pools of cerebellar rhombiclip neural progenitors. Neuron. 2005;48(1):17–24. PubMed PMID: 16202705.
- Wang VY, Rose MF, Zoghbi HY. Math1 expression redefines the rhombic lip derivatives and reveals novel lineages within the brainstem and cerebellum. Neuron. 2005;48(1):31–43. PubMed PMID: 16202707.
- 53. Fink AJ, Englund C, Daza RA, Pham D, Lau C, Nivison M, et al. Development of the deep cerebellar nuclei: transcription factors and cell migration from the rhombic lip. J Neurosci. 2006;26(11):3066–76. PubMed PMID: 16540585.
- Englund C, Kowalczyk T, Daza RA, Dagan A, Lau C, Rose MF, et al. Unipolar brush cells of the cerebellum are produced in the rhombic lip and migrate through developing white matter. J Neurosci. 2006;26(36):9184–95. PubMed PMID: 16957075
- Vong KI, Leung CK, Behringer RR, Kwan KM. Sox9 is critical for suppression of neurogenesis but not initiation of gliogenesis in the cerebellum. Mol Brain. 2015;8:25. PubMed PMID: 25888505. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4406026.
- 56. Machold RP, Kittell DJ, Fishell GJ. Antagonism between Notch and bone morphogenetic protein receptor signaling regulates neurogenesis in the cerebellar rhombic lip. Neural Develop. 2007;2:5. PubMed PMID: 17319963.
- Masserdotti G, Badaloni A, Green YS, Croci L, Barili V, Bergamini G, et al. ZFP423 coordinates Notch and bone morphogenetic protein signaling, selectively up-regulating Hes5 gene expression. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(40):30814–24. PubMed PMID: 20547764. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2945575.
- Miale IL, Sidman RL. An autoradiographic analysis of histogenesis in the mouse cerebellum. Exp Neurol. 1961;4:277–96. PubMed PMID: 14473282.
- Sekerkova G, Ilijic E, Mugnaini E. Time of origin of unipolar brush cells in the rat cerebellum as observed by prenatal bromodeoxyuridine labeling. Neuroscience. 2004;127(4):845–58. PubMed PMID: 15312897.

- Kim EJ, Battiste J, Nakagawa Y, Johnson JE. Ascl1 (Mash1) lineage cells contribute to discrete cell populations in CNS architecture. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2008;38(4):595–606. PubMed PMID: 18585058. Epub 2008/07/01. eng.
- Chizhikov VV, Lindgren AG, Currle DS, Rose MF, Monuki ES, Millen KJ. The roof plate regulates cerebellar cell-type specification and proliferation. Development. 2006;133(15):2793– 804. PubMed PMID: 16790481.
- Leto K, Carletti B, Williams IM, Magrassi L, Rossi F. Different types of cerebellar GABAergic interneurons originate from a common pool of multipotent progenitor cells. J Neurosci: Off J Soc Neurosci. 2006;26(45):11682–94. PubMed PMID: 17093090. Epub 2006/11/10. eng.
- Leto K, Rossi F. Specification and differentiation of cerebellar GABAergic neurons. Cerebellum. 2012;11(2):434–5. PubMed PMID: 22090364.
- 64. Ju J, Liu Q, Zhang Y, Liu Y, Jiang M, Zhang L, et al. Olig2 regulates Purkinje cell generation in the early developing mouse cerebellum. Sci Rep. 2016;6:30711. PubMed PMID: 27469598. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4965836.
- 65. Mizuhara E, Minaki Y, Nakatani T, Kumai M, Inoue T, Muguruma K, et al. Purkinje cells originate from cerebellar ventricular zone progenitors positive for Neph3 and E-cadherin. Dev Biol. 2009. PubMed PMID: 20004188. Epub 2009/12/17. Eng.
- 66. Minaki Y, Nakatani T, Mizuhara E, Inoue T, Ono Y. Identification of a novel transcriptional corepressor, Corl2, as a cerebellar Purkinje cell-selective marker. Gene Expr Patterns. 2008;8(6):418–23. PubMed PMID: 18522874. Epub 2008/06/05. eng.
- Mizuhara E, Nakatani T, Minaki Y, Sakamoto Y, Ono Y. Corl1, a novel neuronal lineagespecific transcriptional corepressor for the homeodomain transcription factor Lbx1. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(5):3645–55. PubMed PMID: 15528197.
- Morales D, Hatten ME. Molecular markers of neuronal progenitors in the embryonic cerebellar anlage. J Neurosci. 2006;26:12226–36.
- 69. Zordan P, Croci L, Hawkes R, Consalez GG. Comparative analysis of proneural gene expression in the embryonic cerebellum. Dev Dyn. 2008;237(6):1726–35. PubMed PMID: 18498101. Epub 2008/05/24. eng.
- Kim EJ, Hori K, Wyckoff A, Dickel LK, Koundakjian EJ, Goodrich LV, et al. Spatiotemporal fate map of neurogenin1 (Neurog1) lineages in the mouse central nervous system. J Comp Neurol. 2011;519(7):1355–70. PubMed PMID: 21452201. Epub 2011/04/01. eng.
- Lundell TG, Zhou Q, Doughty ML. Neurogenin1 expression in cell lineages of the cerebellar cortex in embryonic and postnatal mice. Dev Dyn. 2009;238(12):3310–25. PubMed PMID: 19924827. Epub 2009/11/20. eng.
- Florio M, Leto K, Muzio L, Tinterri A, Badaloni A, Croci L, et al. Neurogenin 2 regulates progenitor cell-cycle progression and Purkinje cell dendritogenesis in cerebellar development. Development. 2012;139(13):2308–20. PubMed PMID: 22669821. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3367442. Epub 2012/06/07. eng.
- 73. Sarna JR, Marzban H, Watanabe M, Hawkes R. Complementary stripes of phospholipase Cbeta3 and Cbeta4 expression by Purkinje cell subsets in the mouse cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 2006;496(3):303–13. PubMed PMID: 16566000.
- Armstrong CL, Krueger-Naug AM, Currie RW, Hawkes R. Constitutive expression of the 25-kDa heat shock protein Hsp25 reveals novel parasagittal bands of Purkinje cells in the adult mouse cerebellar cortex. J Comp Neurol. 2000;416(3):383–97. PubMed PMID: 10602096.
- Seil FJ, Johnson ML, Hawkes R. Molecular compartmentation expressed in cerebellar cultures in the absence of neuronal activity and neuron-glia interactions. J Comp Neurol. 1995;356(3):398–407. PubMed PMID: 7642801.
- 76. Leclerc N, Gravel C, Hawkes R. Development of parasagittal zonation in the rat cerebellar cortex: MabQ113 antigenic bands are created postnatally by the suppression of antigen expression in a subset of Purkinje cells. J Comp Neurol. 1988;273(3):399–420. PubMed PMID: 2463281.
- Wassef M, Sotelo C, Thomasset M, Granholm AC, Leclerc N, Rafrafi J, et al. Expression of compartmentation antigen zebrin I in cerebellar transplants. J Comp Neurol. 1990;294(2):223– 34. PubMed PMID: 2332530.

- Baader SL, Vogel MW, Sanlioglu S, Zhang X, Oberdick J. Selective disruption of "late onset" sagittal banding patterns by ectopic expression of engrailed-2 in cerebellar Purkinje cells. J Neurosci. 1999;19(13):5370–9. PubMed PMID: 10377347.
- Mathis L, Bonnerot C, Puelles L, Nicolas JF. Retrospective clonal analysis of the cerebellum using genetic laacZ/lacZ mouse mosaics. Development. 1997;124(20):4089–104. PubMed PMID: 9374405. Epub 1997/11/28. eng.
- Hawkes R, Faulkner-Jones B, Tam P, Tan SS. Pattern formation in the cerebellum of murine embryonic stem cell chimeras. Eur J Neurosci. 1998;10(2):790–3. PubMed PMID: 9749745.
- Sgaier SK, Millet S, Villanueva MP, Berenshteyn F, Song C, Joyner AL. Morphogenetic and cellular movements that shape the mouse cerebellum; insights from genetic fate mapping. Neuron. 2005;45(1):27–40. PubMed PMID: 15629700.
- Hashimoto M, Mikoshiba K. Mediolateral compartmentalization of the cerebellum is determined on the "birth date" of Purkinje cells. J Neurosci. 2003;23(36):11342–51. PubMed PMID: 14672998.
- Larouche M, Hawkes R. From clusters to stripes: the developmental origins of adult cerebellar compartmentation. Cerebellum. 2006;5(2):77–88. PubMed PMID: 16818382.
- 84. Karam SD, Burrows RC, Logan C, Koblar S, Pasquale EB, Bothwell M. Eph receptors and ephrins in the developing chick cerebellum: relationship to sagittal patterning and granule cell migration. J Neurosci. 2000;20(17):6488–500. PubMed PMID: 10964955.
- Chung S-H, Marzban H, Croci L, Consalez G, Hawkes R. Purkinje cell subtype specification in the cerebellar cortex: Ebf2 acts to repress the Zebrin II-positive Purkinje cell phenotype. Neuroscience. 2008;153:721–32.
- Namba K, Sugihara I, Hashimoto M. Close correlation between the birth date of Purkinje cells and the longitudinal compartmentalization of the mouse adult cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 2011;519(13):2594–614. PubMed PMID: 21456012.
- Malgaretti N, Pozzoli O, Bosetti A, Corradi A, Ciarmatori S, Panigada M, et al. Mmot1, a new helix-loop-helix transcription factor gene displaying a sharp expression boundary in the embryonic mouse brain. J Biol Chem. 1997;272(28):17632–9. PubMed PMID: 9211912. Epub 1997/07/11. eng
- Dubois L, Vincent A. The COE Collier/Olf1/EBF transcription factors: structural conservation and diversity of developmental functions. Mech Dev. 2001;108(1–2):3–12.
- Liberg D, Sigvardsson M, Akerblad P. The EBF/Olf/Collier family of transcription factors: regulators of differentiation in cells originating from all three embryonal germ layers. Mol Cell Biol. 2002;22(24):8389–97. PubMed PMID: 12446759. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC139877.
- 90. Miyata T, Ono Y, Okamoto M, Masaoka M, Sakakibara A, Kawaguchi A, et al. Migration, early axonogenesis, and Reelin-dependent layer-forming behavior of early/posterior-born Purkinje cells in the developing mouse lateral cerebellum. Neural Dev. 2010;5:23. PubMed PMID: 20809939. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2942860. Epub 2010/09/03. eng.
- Larouche M, Che P, Hawkes R. Neurogranin expression identifies a novel array of Purkinje cell parasagittal stripes during mouse cerebellar development. J Comp Neurol. 2006;494(2):215–27.
- Croci L, Chung SH, Masserdotti G, Gianola S, Bizzoca A, Gennarini G, et al. A key role for the HLH transcription factor EBF2COE2,O/E-3 in Purkinje neuron migration and cerebellar cortical topography. Development. 2006;133(14):2719–29. PubMed PMID: 16774995.
- Croci L, Barili V, Chia D, Massimino L, van Vugt R, Masserdotti G, et al. Local insulin-like growth factor I expression is essential for Purkinje neuron survival at birth. Cell Death Differ. 2011;18(1):48–59. PubMed PMID: 20596079. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3131878.
- Wassef M, Zanetta JP, Brehier A, Sotelo C. Transient biochemical compartmentalization of Purkinje cells during early cerebellar development. Dev Biol. 1985;111(1):129–37. PubMed PMID: 2993082.
- Millen KJ, Hui CC, Joyner AL. A role for En-2 and other murine homologues of Drosophila segment polarity genes in regulating positional information in the developing cerebellum. Development. 1995;121(12):3935–45. PubMed PMID: 8575294.

- Dastjerdi FV, Consalez GG, Hawkes R. Pattern formation during development of the embryonic cerebellum. Front Neuroanat. 2012;6:10. PubMed PMID: 22493569. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3318227. Epub 2012/04/12. eng.
- 97. Sugihara I, Fujita H. Peri- and postnatal development of cerebellar compartments in the mouse. Cerebellum. 2013;12(3):325–7. PubMed PMID: 23335119.
- Fujita H, Sugihara I. FoxP2 expression in the cerebellum and inferior olive: development of the transverse stripe-shaped expression pattern in the mouse cerebellar cortex. J Comp Neurol. 2012;520(3):656–77. PubMed PMID: 21935935
- Dehay C, Kennedy H. Cell-cycle control and cortical development. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2007;8(6):438–50. PubMed PMID: 17514197.
- Rouse RV, Sotelo C. Grafts of dissociated cerebellar cells containing Purkinje cell precursors organize into zebrin I defined compartments. Exp Brain Res. 1990;82(2):401–7. PubMed PMID: 1704849.
- 101. Redies C, Neudert F, Lin J. Cadherins in cerebellar development: translation of embryonic patterning into mature functional compartmentalization. Cerebellum. 2011;10(3):393–408. PubMed PMID: 20820976.
- 102. Graus-Porta D, Blaess S, Senften M, Littlewood-Evans A, Damsky C, Huang Z, et al. Betalclass integrins regulate the development of laminae and folia in the cerebral and cerebellar cortex. Neuron. 2001;31(3):367–79. PubMed PMID: 11516395.
- 103. Ozol K, Hayden JM, Oberdick J, Hawkes R. Transverse zones in the vermis of the mouse cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1999;412(1):95–111. PubMed PMID: 10440712.
- 104. Sillitoe RV, Marzban H, Larouche M, Zahedi S, Affanni J, Hawkes R. Conservation of the architecture of the anterior lobe vermis of the cerebellum across mammalian species. Prog Brain Res. 2005;148:283–97. PubMed PMID: 15661197.
- 105. Marzban H, Hawkes R. On the architecture of the posterior zone of the cerebellum. Cerebellum. 2011;10(3):422–34. PubMed PMID: 20838950.
- 106. Sillitoe RV, Hawkes R. Whole-mount immunohistochemistry: a high-throughput screen for patterning defects in the mouse cerebellum. J Histochem Cytochem. 2002;50(2):235–44. PubMed PMID: 11799142.
- 107. Dastjerdi FV. Transverse boundaries in the embryonic cerebellar cortex of the mouse. Alberta: University of Calgary; 2012.
- Eisenman LM, Brothers R. Rostral cerebellar malformation (rcm/rcm): a murine mutant to study regionalization of the cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1998;394(1):106–17. PubMed PMID: 9550145.
- 109. Tano D, Napieralski JA, Eisenman LM, Messer A, Plummer J, Hawkes R. Novel developmental boundary in the cerebellum revealed by zebrin expression in the lurcher (Lc/+) mutant mouse. J Comp Neurol. 1992;323(1):128–36. PubMed PMID: 1430312.
- 110. Beierbach E, Park C, Ackerman SL, Goldowitz D, Hawkes R. Abnormal dispersion of a Purkinje cell subset in the mouse mutant cerebellar deficient folia (cdf). J Comp Neurol. 2001;436(1):42–51. PubMed PMID: 11413545.
- 111. Cho JH, Tsai MJ. Preferential posterior cerebellum defect in BETA2/NeuroD1 knockout mice is the result of differential expression of BETA2/NeuroD1 along anterior-posterior axis. Dev Biol. 2006;290(1):125–38. PubMed PMID: 16368089.
- 112. Hawkes R, Beierbach E, Tan SS. Granule cell dispersion is restricted across transverse boundaries in mouse chimeras. Eur J Neurosci. 1999;11(11):3800–8. PubMed PMID: 10583469.
- 113. Marzban H, Kim CT, Doorn D, Chung SH, Hawkes R. A novel transverse expression domain in the mouse cerebellum revealed by a neurofilament-associated antigen. Neuroscience. 2008;153:721–32.
- 114. Marzban H, Sillitoe RV, Hoy M, Chung SH, Rafuse VF, Hawkes R. Abnormal HNK-1 expression in the cerebellum of an N-CAM null mouse. J Neurocytol. 2004;33(1):117–30. PubMed PMID: 15173636.
- 115. Marzban H, Chung S, Watanabe M, Hawkes R. Phospholipase Cbeta4 expression reveals the continuity of cerebellar topography through development. J Comp Neurol. 2007;502(5):857– 71. PubMed PMID: 17436294.

- 116. Armstrong CL, Krueger-Naug AM, Currie RW, Hawkes R. Constitutive expression of heat shock protein HSP25 in the central nervous system of the developing and adult mouse. J Comp Neurol. 2001;434(3):262–74. PubMed PMID: 11331528.
- 117. D'Arcangelo G. Reelin in the years: controlling neuronal migration and maturation in the mammalian brain. Adv Neurosci. 2014;2014:4–19.
- 118. Bock HH, May P. Canonical and non-canonical Reelin signaling. Front Cell Neurosci. 2016;10:166. PubMed PMID: 27445693. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC4928174.
- 119. Trommsdorff M, Gotthardt M, Hiesberger T, Shelton J, Stockinger W, Nimpf J, et al. Reeler/ disabled-like disruption of neuronal migration in knockout mice lacking the VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2. Cell. 1999;97(6):689–701. PubMed PMID: 10380922.
- 120. Hiesberger T, Trommsdorff M, Howell BW, Goffinet A, Mumby MC, Cooper JA, et al. Direct binding of Reelin to VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2 induces tyrosine phosphorylation of disabled-1 and modulates tau phosphorylation. Neuron. 1999;24(2):481–9. PubMed PMID: 10571241.
- 121. Strasser V, Fasching D, Hauser C, Mayer H, Bock HH, Hiesberger T, et al. Receptor clustering is involved in Reelin signaling. Mol Cell Biol. 2004;24(3):1378–86. PubMed PMID: 14729980. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC321426.
- 122. Goldowitz D, Cushing RC, Laywell E, D'Arcangelo G, Sheldon M, Sweet HO, et al. Cerebellar disorganization characteristic of reeler in scrambler mutant mice despite presence of reelin. J Neurosci: Off J Soc Neurosci. 1997;17(22):8767–77. PubMed PMID: 9348346. Epub 1997/11/14. eng.
- 123. Howell BW, Hawkes R, Soriano P, Cooper JA. Neuronal position in the developing brain is regulated by mouse disabled-1. Nature. 1997;389(6652):733–7. PubMed PMID: 9338785.
- 124. Sheldon M, Rice DS, D'Arcangelo G, Yoneshima H, Nakajima K, Mikoshiba K, et al. Scrambler and yotari disrupt the disabled gene and produce a reeler-like phenotype in mice. Nature. 1997;389(6652):730–3. PubMed PMID: 9338784.
- 125. Gallagher E, Howell BW, Soriano P, Cooper JA, Hawkes R. Cerebellar abnormalities in the disabled (mdab1-1) mouse. J Comp Neurol. 1998;402(2):238–51. PubMed PMID: 9845246.
- 126. Rice DS, Sheldon M, D'Arcangelo G, Nakajima K, Goldowitz D, Curran T. Disabled-1 acts downstream of Reelin in a signaling pathway that controls laminar organization in the mammalian brain. Development. 1998;125(18):3719–29. PubMed PMID: 9716537.
- 127. Howell BW, Gertler FB, Cooper JA. Mouse disabled (mDab1): a Src binding protein implicated in neuronal development. EMBO J. 1997;16(1):121–32. PubMed PMID: 9009273. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC1169619.
- 128. Bock HH, Herz J. Reelin activates SRC family tyrosine kinases in neurons. Curr Biol. 2003;13(1):18–26. PubMed PMID: 12526740.
- 129. Chung CY, Funamoto S, Firtel RA. Signaling pathways controlling cell polarity and chemotaxis. Trends Biochem Sci. 2001;26(9):557–66. PubMed PMID: 11551793.
- 130. Larouche M, Beffert U, Herz J, Hawkes R. The Reelin receptors Apoer2 and Vldlr coordinate the patterning of Purkinje cell topography in the developing mouse cerebellum. PLoS One. 2008;3(2):e1653. PubMed PMID: 18301736. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2242849. Epub 2008/02/28. eng.
- 131. Hack I, Hellwig S, Junghans D, Brunne B, Bock HH, Zhao S, et al. Divergent roles of ApoER2 and Vldlr in the migration of cortical neurons. Development. 2007;134(21):3883– 91. PubMed PMID: 17913789.
- 132. Ross ME, Fletcher C, Mason CA, Hatten ME, Heintz N. Meander tail reveals a discrete developmental unit in the mouse cerebellum. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1990;87(11):4189– 92. PubMed PMID: 2349228. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC54073.
- Armstrong C, Hawkes R. Selective Purkinje cell ectopia in the cerebellum of the weaver mouse. J Comp Neurol. 2001;439(2):151–61. PubMed PMID: 11596045.
- 134. Slesinger PA, Patil N, Liao YJ, Jan YN, Jan LY, Cox DR. Functional effects of the mouse weaver mutation on G protein-gated inwardly rectifying K+ channels. Neuron. 1996;16(2):321–31. PubMed PMID: 8789947.

- 135. Furutama D, Morita N, Takano R, Sekine Y, Sadakata T, Shinoda Y, et al. Expression of the IP3R1 promoter-driven nls-lacZ transgene in Purkinje cell parasagittal arrays of developing mouse cerebellum. J Neurosci Res. 2010;88(13):2810–25. PubMed PMID: 20632399.
- 136. Bailey K, Rahimi Balaei M, Mehdizadeh M, Marzban H. Spatial and temporal expression of lysosomal acid phosphatase 2 (ACP2) reveals dynamic patterning of the mouse cerebellar cortex. Cerebellum. 2013;12(6):870–81. PubMed PMID: 23780826.
- 137. Akintunde A, Eisenman LM. External cuneocerebellar projection and Purkinje cell zebrin II bands: a direct comparison of parasagittal banding in the mouse cerebellum. J Chem Neuroanat. 1994;7(1–2):75–86. PubMed PMID: 7802972.
- 138. Ji Z, Hawkes R. Topography of Purkinje cell compartments and mossy fiber terminal fields in lobules II and III of the rat cerebellar cortex: spinocerebellar and cuneocerebellar projections. Neuroscience. 1994;61(4):935–54. PubMed PMID: 7530818.
- Dusart I, Guenet JL, Sotelo C. Purkinje cell death: differences between developmental cell death and neurodegenerative death in mutant mice. Cerebellum. 2006;5(2):163–73. PubMed PMID: 16818391. Epub 2006/07/05. eng.
- 140. Jankowski J, Miething A, Schilling K, Baader SL. Physiological Purkinje cell death is spatiotemporally organized in the developing mouse cerebellum. Cerebellum. 2009;8(3):277–90. PubMed PMID: 19238501.
- 141. Gillardon F, Baurle J, Wickert H, Grusser-Cornehls U, Zimmermann M. Differential regulation of bcl-2, bax, c-fos, junB, and krox-24 expression in the cerebellum of Purkinje cell degeneration mutant mice. J Neurosci Res. 1995;41(5):708–15. PubMed PMID: 7563251.
- 142. Vogel MW. Cell death, Bcl-2, Bax, and the cerebellum. Cerebellum. 2002;1(4):277–87. PubMed PMID: 12879966
- 143. Serra HG, Duvick L, Zu T, Carlson K, Stevens S, Jorgensen N, et al. RORalpha-mediated Purkinje cell development determines disease severity in adult SCA1 mice. Cell. 2006;127(4):697–708. PubMed PMID: 17110330.
- 144. Basson MA, Wingate RJ. Congenital hypoplasia of the cerebellum: developmental causes and behavioral consequences. Front Neuroanat. 2013;7:29. PubMed PMID: 24027500. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3759752.
- 145. Tsai PT, Hull C, Chu Y, Greene-Colozzi E, Sadowski AR, Leech JM, et al. Autisticlike behaviour and cerebellar dysfunction in Purkinje cell Tsc1 mutant mice. Nature. 2012;488(7413):647–51. PubMed PMID: 22763451. Epub 2012/07/06. eng.
- 146. Zerbo O, Iosif AM, Walker C, Ozonoff S, Hansen RL, Hertz-Picciotto I. Is maternal influenza or fever during pregnancy associated with autism or developmental delays? Results from the CHARGE (CHildhood Autism Risks from Genetics and Environment) study. J Autism Dev Disord. 2013;43(1):25–33. PubMed PMID: 22562209. Pubmed Central PMCID: PMC3484245.
- 147. Aavani T, Rana SA, Hawkes R, Pittman QJ. Maternal immune activation produces cerebellar hyperplasia and alterations in motor and social behaviors in male and female mice. Cerebellum. 2015;14(5):491–505. PubMed PMID: 25863812.
- 148. Muguruma K, Nishiyama A, Ono Y, Miyawaki H, Mizuhara E, Hori S, et al. Ontogenyrecapitulating generation and tissue integration of ES cell-derived Purkinje cells. Nat Neurosci. 2010;13(10):1171–80. PubMed PMID: 20835252. Epub 2010/09/14. eng.

# **Cerebellar Developmental Disorders and Cerebellar Nuclei**

Hong-Ting Prekop, Alessio Delogu, and Richard J.T. Wingate

**Abstract** While significant progress has been made in the last 10 years in understanding the development of cerebellar nuclei, they remain a relatively less wellstudied cell group in the brain. In this chapter, we review the anatomical organisation of the cerebellar nuclei and their connections to highlight outstanding developmental questions. We then describe recent progress in dissecting the lineages of cerebellar neurons that may point to new understanding of their involvement in congenital clinical disorders.

**Keywords** Dentate nucleus • Interposed nucleus • Fastigial nucleus • Inferior olive • Purkinje cell • Rhombic lip • Ventricular zone • Ptf1a • Atoh1 • Pax2 • Nuclear transitory zone

# What Are Cerebellar Nuclei?

The cerebellar nuclei (CN) are the final output units for cerebellar processing. For the most part, the CN output is a high-frequency tonic excitation, which is directed towards the midbrain and thalamus. However, a distinct, long-range inhibitory axon tract allows the CN to influence the activity of the inferior olive (IO), which in turn drives Purkinje cell (PC) activity via climbing fibres. CN output is modulated by the patterned firing of inhibitory PCs. They thus form the final common pathway for the integrated activity of a series of nested re-entrant loops via the inferior olive but also via the thalamus, cortex and pons (Fig. 1).

Despite the central position of CN within these major long-range networks, relatively little is known about their component cell types, the synaptic arrangement of their component interneurons or their processing role. Their development has only

H.-T. Prekop • R.J.T. Wingate (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Medical Research Council Centre for Neurodevelopmental Disorders, King's College London, London, UK e-mail: RICHARD.WINGATE@KCL.AC.UK

A. Delogu Wohl Institute, King's College London, London, UK

H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_5



**Fig. 1** The cerebellar nuclei are central to cerebellar circuitry. They lie at the centre of two cerebellar loops: the cerebello-thalamo-cerebro-cortical circuit (*blue*) which link the cerebellum back to the cerebral cortex and the olivo-cortico-nucleo-olivary loop (*red*)

recently been described, and, even then, the picture is partial. Major questions remain as to how nuclei achieve their spatial arrangement, integrate cell types of different origins and make connections. For a population of such significance for a wide variety of brain functions, this is a major omission. Similarly, while some nuclear disorders in humans have been described, the lack of anatomical and molecular description has hampered a systematic analysis of clinical disorders.

### Cellular Anatomy and Diversity

The earliest descriptions of CN neurons distinguished cells with long axons from those with short axons [1] and identified large and small soma size [2]. The most detailed morphological studies of the rat and primate dentate (lateral) cerebellar nucleus were carried out by Victoria Chan-Palay in the 1970s. Using Golgi, Nissl and Weigert preparations combined with electron microscopy, she mapped out the complex, non-uniform cellular organisation of the nucleus [3–5] and demonstrated the presence of two types of projection neurons with at least three different types of cells with short axons and small soma. These latter neurons were designated as local interneurons on the basis of dendrite and axon morphology and could be distinguished by their multipolarity or bipolarity and fusiform soma.

Immunohistological and molecular techniques have subsequently shown large projection neurons to be glutamatergic (projecting to the red nucleus, thalamus or brainstem), while projection neurons with very small soma that project to the inferior olive are GABAergic [6–8] (Fig. 2). In addition to these latter nucleo-olivary inhibitory projections, glycinergic neurons can project to both the brainstem [9] or to the granule cell layer of the cerebellar cortex [3, 10–12]. Unlike the other CN cell types, these latter nucleo-cortical neurons are not spontaneously active but instead are mostly silent. They most likely target Golgi interneurons, which express glycine receptors, unlike most cells of the granule cell layer [13].



Fig. 2 The cellular composition of the cerebellar nuclei. Nuclei receive inputs from the Purkinje cells in the cerebellar cortex (*green*), as well as collaterals from the mossy fibres (*light blue*) and climbing fibres (*pink*) as they travel to the cortex. Within the nuclei, there are two types of projection neuron: large glutamatergic cells (*blue*), which are efferent cells in the cerebello-thalamocerebro-cortical circuits, and the nucleo-olivary neurons (*red*), which project to the inferior olive, forming the olivo-cerebellar loop. Interneurons (*orange*) participate in as yet uncharacterised local circuits

Other larger glycinergic projection neurons are found in the medial nuclei [14] and project ipsilaterally to the vestibular nuclei, the ventral brainstem and the ipsilateral ventromedial medullary reticular formation. These are hence the ipsilaterally projecting counterparts to the large glutamatergic neurons of the same region, which project contralaterally to the same regions. This has raised suggestions that posture and balance rely on a system of cross-midline control, similar system to that of the vestibular control of horizontal eye movements [15].

Relatively little is known about the local interneurons. Chan-Palay [4] noted small GABAergic neurons with fusiform or multipolar somas, limited dendritic trees and short axons, but it is possible that some of the cells observed could be the small nucleo-olivary neurons. A population of glycinergic neurons with small somata have also been found in the interposed and lateral nuclei. Because glycinergic terminals are found mainly on adjacent, presumptive glutamatergic projection neurons, it has been suggested that these are interneurons [14, 15], which colocalise with GABA [16]. GABAergic terminals that did not derive from PCs are also indicative of GABAergic interneurons or possibly local collaterals from the nucleo-olivary neurons. Though it is not possible to differentiate nucleo-olivary neurons from other GABAergic cell types in the CN based on size, there are some electro-physiological differences that aid identification [9].

Despite the fact that cells differ along both rostral-caudal and lateral-medial axes in terms of prevalence and dendritic/axonal trees, models of cerebellar function assume a homogeneous spread of each CN cell type, paralleling the long-assumed homogenous and stereotyped circuitry of the cerebellar cortex, which itself is undergoing re-examination [17]. For example, there is a higher density of nucleo-olivary neurons in the ventral lateral and interposed CN [18]. Accordingly, the PC axon terminals spread in a different manner in these parts when compared to more dorsal and medial regions of the CN [19]. On the whole, the diversity, connectivity and processing function of local interneurons have remained elusive and thus disregarded in circuitry models.

The origins of CN, how their distribution is specified and how local circuits are set up and refined are all important questions that remain to be addressed. PCs can inhibit GABAergic CN neurons, so disinhibiting glutamatergic projection neurons through local networks.

# Outputs of the Cerebellar Nuclei

The CN translate cerebellar output to the cerebral cortex via the thalamus, brainstem and spinal cord through two main long-range projection systems: glutamatergic projection neurons send signals to the red nucleus, thalamus, or brainstem, while the GABAergic nucleo-olivary neurons connect the cerebellum to the inferior olive [7]. Meanwhile, other forms of efferent connections have also been found linking the CN to the vestibular nuclei and the cerebellar cortex [10, 15]. Glutamatergic projection neurons form a vital link in the assorted cerebellothalamo-cerebro-cortical circuits which link the cerebellum back to different parts of the cerebral cortex [20]. The nucleo-olivary neuronal projections are thought to form the olivo-cortico-nucleo-olivary (OCNO) loop, a closed feedback loop between the inferior olive, cerebellar cortex and CN, made up at a fine scale of individual closed loops, or cerebellar modules, of local connections via the CN [21]. While this closed loop model is challenged by the existence of bilaterally extending nucleo-olivary neurons [22, 23], it remains a compelling architecture to describe the functional properties of the cerebellar circuit.

The origins of the diversity and the mechanisms underlying the targeting of their axons are largely unexplored. Each of these characteristics is core to an understanding of how the cerebellum influences other parts of the brain.

#### Inputs to Cerebellar Nuclei

The inputs to the CN comprise a complex matrix that modulates cerebellar output by influencing the spontaneous baseline firing rate of CN neurons [24, 25]. The most significant of these inputs are PCs from cortical layers directly above the corresponding part of the CN: the medial receiving input from the vermis, interposed from paravermis and the lateral receiving the bulk of its input the hemispheric PCs [26]. Sugihara et al. mapped PC projections to the various CN and found correspondence between aldolase C expression in subsets of PCs and the terminations in specific sub-divisions of CN, demonstrating some conservation of topographic organisation [27].

While both PCs and CN neurons are spontaneously active [28, 29], evidence of synaptic plasticity at the CN neurons shows that the CN are involved in modulating cerebellar cortical output and not merely relaying information from the PC population [30–32]. When PC and CN neurons are monitored simultaneously, they do not give the expected reciprocal firing rates that would result from PC inhibition [33–36]. Instead CN neurons are extremely sensitive to the synchronous activity of PC inputs [37] suggesting that the development of a mapping of PC populations into the CN is a critical factor in cerebellum function.

In addition to afferents from the PCs, the CN also receive collaterals from mossy fibres (MFs) and climbing fibres (CFs). These send signals directly to the CN, bypassing cerebellar cortical processing [26]. In the overlying cerebellar cortex, MFs and CFs are topographically mapped onto GCs and PCs, and their collateral projections to CN follow approximately the same topography. MFs from the pontine nuclei, nucleus reticularis tegmenti pontis and lateral reticular nucleus send their cortical terminations such that they divide the cerebellar cortex into zones to process information from particular parts of the body or sensory modes [23, 38, 39]. In contrast, the MF collaterals to the CN are bilateral and show a looser zonal organisation [26, 40]. Likewise, anterograde tracing from the inferior olive has revealed a strict topographic alignment of CFs to the zebrin II-positive PC parasagittal zones in the contralateral cerebellar cortex [19]. The collaterals of these same CFs target the contralateral CN and terminate in specific areas of the CN [27, 41, 42].

Relatively little is known of how inputs to the CN are organised at a cellular level and the intrinsic networks that are built up by interneurons and local collaterals. A natural entry point to these questions is trying to understand the degree of convergence of a relatively orderly PC layer on to the three-dimensional assembly of CN neurons. In terms of numbers, there are around 20 PC to every CN neuron [43, 44] with inputs targeting both glutamatergic [45, 46] and GABAergic projection neurons [8]. However, since the PC axonal target field is wide and conical [47], it is estimated that each PC can encompass tens of CN neurons complicating a simple explanation of convergence. Similarly the proximity of axon terminations to the soma of CN neurons is likely to be of considerable significance in determining synaptic strength [14]. Chan-Palay noted that around 14% of larger neurons in the lateral CN were not innervated directly on their somata by PCs, setting apart a subset of projections neurons [48], which may comprise the glycinergic, nucleo-cortical neurons [11].

How the PC axon numbers are developmentally matched to CN targets and the mechanisms that regulate mapping are unknown. Similarly, how the topography of collateral projections from different afferent populations is coordinated within the nucleus is an important question that remains to be addressed. For example, it has been suggested that collaterals of inputs to the cerebellar cortex form a template for topographic refinement of outputs of Purkinje cells to the CN.

#### **Development of Cerebellar Nuclei**

The origins of the cerebellum, which sits at the boundary of the midbrain and hindbrain, were an intensely investigated problem at the end of the last century. The advent of molecular techniques revised the concept that the cerebellum received contributions from both the midbrain and hindbrain and identified the cerebellar anlage within the dorsal part of rhombomere (r)1 of the hindbrain [49–51]. Within the anlage, two distinct progenitor zones, which are defined by the mutually exclusive expression of basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factors Ptf1a and Atoh1, produce all the cell types of the cerebellum [52]. Ptf1a is expressed in the dorsal ventricular zone of r1 and characterises progenitors of GABAergic cells [53]. The boundary between the ventricular zone and the dorsal roof plate is known as the rhombic lip [54] and expresses Atoh1 [55]. This highly proliferative zone of Atoh1 induction gives rise to glutamatergic cerebellar neurons [56, 57].

Birthdating has shown that some neurons within the CN are among the first-born cell types of the cerebellum [58]. Experiments using either BrdU or a replication-defective adenovirus [59] have shown that PCs are born around the same time as the CN. The time window for the production of glutamatergic and the GABAergic projection neurons in mice lies between E10.75 and E12.5 [60] and appears to be regulated by a common temporal signal [61]. However, the allocation of GABAergic versus glutamatergic fate is strictly a property of progenitor position within either a Ptf1a- or Atoh1-positive pool [53, 56, 57, 61, 62].



Fig. 3 The developmental timeline of the cerebellum, depicted in sagittal view. GABAergic neurons are derived from the ventricular zone (VZ), while glutamatergic neurons arise at the rhombic lip (RL). The cerebellar nucleus projection neurons are the first born from both progenitor zones, preceding first Purkinje cells (VZ-derived) and then granule cells (RL-derived). Cerebellar nucleus interneurons are believed to be born alongside other cerebellar cortical interneurons, which are generated from E13 from the VZ and later a stem cell population within the future white matter

### Origin of Glutamatergic Neurons

One key motif of CN development is the assembly of neurons within an embryonic nuclear transitory zone (NTZ), which appears as almost a "staging post" in the formation of distinct CN (Fig. 3). The derivation of glutamatergic CN neurons initially appeared to be via a radial migration from the ventricular zone [63]. A detailed analysis of postmitotic precursors of CN neurons identified the expression of the transcription factors Lhx2/Lhx9, Meis 1, Meis 2 and Irx3, as well as genes that are not frequently used as markers in development: Gja9, Mbd2, Htr3a and Girk4 [64]. Subsequent analysis showed that Meis 2 co-expresses with Lhx2/Lhx9 in glutamatergic projection neurons of the lateral CN derived from the rhombic lip [57], while Irx3 may instead represent a separate population of neurons, likely the GABAergic nucleo-olivary neurons [65].

Glutamatergic projection neurons represent the first cohort in a sequence of neurogenesis from the rhombic lip that ends with the generation of granule cells [49, 56, 57]. A separate domain of Atoh1 expression at the midbrain-hindbrain boundary gives rise to earlier-born extracerebellar neurons [66]. At the rhombic lip, lateral and then medial CN are produced in discrete temporal waves [67, 68]. CN neurons actively migrate from the rhombic lip in a subpial layer guided by diffusible netrin and slit proteins [69, 70] and sequentially express Pax6, Tbr2, Tbr1 and Lmx1a [65, 71]. As the postmitotic neurons enter the NTZ, Tbr1 and Tbr2 are upregulated and Pax6 is downregulated [71]. In the absence of Pax6, rhombic lip-derived CN neurons are absent from the cerebellum [65]. The differential retention of transcription factors defines different CN populations in mouse. Tbr1 expression is retained until E14.5 for lateral and interposed CN projection neurons express Brn2 at early postnatal stages.

# **Origin of GABAergic Projection Neurons**

The developmental origins of the GABAergic nucleo-olivary neurons are enigmatic. It is assumed that they are born from the ventricular zone like the other GABAergic cell types of the cerebellum, although direct evidence for this is lacking. Like the glutamatergic populations of the CN, GABAergic neurons are likely to arise as part of a discrete temporal window of cell production. It is thought that the GABAergic projection nucleo-olivary neurons are first in a ventricular zone temporal lineage (Kim et al. 2011) that subsequently gives rise to PCs (e10.5–e12.5 in mouse) followed by other GABAergic interneurons [72]. In contrast to these later-born cell types, both PCs and GABAergic CN neurons express Neurog2 [73]. Postmitotic cells expressing Neurog1 appear to be candidate CN nucleo-olivary projection neurons [74]. Irx3 immunopositive cells are evident in the VZ from E10.25 to E12.5, the NTZ at E13.5 and by E15.5 the cells have migrated into an intermediate zone outside the NTZ [64, 65]. Irx3 expression persists in the sey/sey ("small eye" pax6 null) cerebellum confirming that the specification of GABAergic and glutamatergic neurons is independent of each other.

#### **Other GABAergic Neurons**

VZ progenitors require the expression of Ptf1a for GABAergic specification [53, 62]. Within the Ptf1a ventricular zone, combinatorial gene expression demarcates discrete germ zones that are thought to give rise to the different types of interneurons [64, 72, 74–79]. Thus, for example, Neurog1 and Neurog2 expression defines subsets of the Ptf1a+ VZ population.

However, this topographic explanation of diversity is complicated by evidence that proliferation continues within a single population of Pax2+ precursors from the VZ [80] that persists in the prospective white matter well into postnatal development in mouse. Heterotopic and heterochronic grafting experiments have found that Pax2 progenitors generate all the remaining inhibitory interneurons [80, 81], including Neurog1 (Ngn1)-positive interneurons of the CN, which are born at E17.5 in mouse [82]. Mutation of PC progenitor transcription factors Olig2 and Gsx1 disrupts the production of Pax2 lineages suggesting that the latter is derived from the former in development [83]. The origin and development of the various types of glycinergic neurons in the CN have yet to be characterised.

# Nucleogenesis and Cell Migration

The different developmental origins of different types of CN neurons require that cells recognise each other and assemble nuclei distant to their origins. How nucleogenesis – the migration, organisation and synaptogenesis of CN neurons – is organised is

unknown. Clearly, either intrinsic programming or cues in the surrounding environment or a combination of both will be key factors in this developmental process.

For rhombic lip derivatives, unipolar neuroblasts move within a subpial stream towards the NTZ guided by both diffusible netrin and slit [69, 70] (NTZ); however the cues that determine the position of the NTZ itself are unclear. One possible determinant is the underlying axon scaffold of the fasciculus uncinatus, to which first-born CN cells then contribute [67, 69]. Changing the fate of CN neuroblasts blurs the boundaries between distinct populations in the NTZ but does not compress or expand the map of presumptive CN. Thus when either Lhx9 (lateral CN in mouse) is overexpressed in chick [67] or Tbr1 knocked down in mouse [71], CN neuron number remains similar but boundaries are less discrete. From the NTZ, cells are then incorporated into the white matter through what might constitute an active radial migration or a passive translocation as a consequence of the overall pattern of cerebellar morphogenesis [60, 63].

Evidence in favour of radial migration being a component of nucleogenesis comes from the analysis of the reeler mouse. Pax6/reelin-positive neuroblasts migrate from the rhombic lip, and at least some go on to become Tbr2-positive CN neurons. The reeler mouse has disrupted CN architecture; however, the initial tangential migration of rhombic lip derivatives to the NTZ is normal [71].

# Evolution and the Diversification of Cerebellar Nuclei

While some aspects of the cerebellar circuit are among the most evolutionarily conserved across vertebrates, cerebellar nuclei are relatively variable in composition [84]. There is some debate over whether an organism is considered to have cerebelloid structures if they lack CN, since it is these cells that form the dominant output [85]. For example, teleost fish have no white matter or CN. Instead, their PCs project to eurydendroid cells, which then project to other parts of the brain. However, eurydendroid cells also receive inputs from granule cells via parallel fibres and are found within the granule cell layer and so are not homologous to CN projection neurons in terms of inputs [86, 87].

The replacement of CN by eurydendroid cells appears to be a ray-finned fish adaptation as there is evidence for a single cerebellar nucleus in the shark [88]. CN are absent in lampreys, where the cerebellum is reduced or absent. Across fish species the medial and dorsal octavolateral nuclei receive inputs from lateral line systems and are involved in spatial calculations that are analogous to those carried out in the cerebellum. It seems conceivable, though yet to be proved, that these may be considered as ontological homologues of CN [89].

Like sharks, amphibians have a single CN; however the number and diversity of CN increases in amniotes. There are two CN in birds [90] and three sets of CN in rodents: the medial, interpositus and lateral [91, 92]. In cats, rabbits and primates, there are four major CN: the medial, or fastigial, nucleus; the anterior and posterior interposed and the lateral, or dentate, nucleus. Each of these nuclei can be functionally

further subdivided such that complexity of CN organisation is a marked feature of mammalian brains [14]. This systematic variation in organisation suggests that comparative studies may offer an important insight into the significant genetic factors in the development of CN diversity.

#### **Cerebellar Nuclei and Disease**

The relatively recent discoveries of the developmental lineages of CN neurons highlight previously unexplored relationships in cerebellar disorders and disease. Glutamatergic projection neurons are formed from Atoh1 progenitors that not only generate granule cells but also neurons in the pons, vestibular and auditory systems of the hindbrain [57, 93]. GABAergic neurons share a progenitor transcriptional profile with auditory nuclei and, perhaps most prominently, the inferior olive [53].

This is particularly significant in that developmental disorders where cerebellar nucleus exclusively malformed have not been reported. Congenital dysplasia of the dentate and olivary nuclei (DOD), though rarely recorded [94], can sometimes be detected as a minor pathology of more extensive developmental defects (Table 1). Though pathogenesis may differ across different forms of DOD, it is interesting to note that many of the below conditions have pathologies of the inferior olive too. While the correlation in pathologies could be linked by lineage, the possibility of retrograde degeneration of the cerebellar nucleus as a result of inferior olive dysplasia cannot be discounted. Similarly, the possibility that the modularity of the cerebellar-inferior olive closed loop extends to a single cell level [95] means that heavily interconnected microzones might suffer a conductive degeneration when any element of the system is disrupted.

While DOD might represent a failure of Ptf1a lineage development, pontocerebellar dysplasia might conversely reflect a dysgenesis of Atoh1 lineage neurons, affecting both precerebellar and granule cell populations in addition to portions of the dentate CN. In both cases, the spectrum of associated phenotypes raises the possibility of a developmental origin within the specification or maturation of specific populations of derivatives.

### **Future Perspectives on Cerebellar Nucleus Development**

In recent years, significant progress has been made with regard to understanding the development of the glutamatergic CN neurons, while physiologically, models of cerebellar function increasingly recognise how plasticity and modulation within the CN by mossy fibre and climbing fibre collaterals place these cells at the heart of cerebellar networks [43, 115]. However, less is known of other, equally significant, CN neuronal types and key questions about their specification and lineage remain

Actiongy   rationaly   current reatures   Accoundation     0 syndrome   Autosmal recessive disease caused by   Dysplasia of the denate and laurations in PEX genes. Migration   Developmental delay, seizures   Morecenters     0 syndrome   failure from 14 weeks of gestation in nutations in PEX genes. Migration   as cerebellar hypoplasia and weel as generalised hypotonia, migrational defects of PCs   calcifications   PS-981     arry dysplasia   Unknown, though suggested to be autosomal recessively inherited   DOD – The dentate nuclei are bypoplasia   Hypotonia, well as generalised hypotonia, relations with requent   PS-981     able seizures   autosomal recessively inherited   seen as a solid ovoid or serval servate by serval   calcifications with seizures from birth and gross   PS-981     able seizures   autosomal recessively inherited   seen as a solid ovoid or serval serval   Survival is no longer than   PS-981     drome   Autosomal recessive disease   Fragmentation of the dentate   Congenital ataxia, hypotonia, developmental delays.   PS-981     drome   Autosomal recessive disease   Fragmentation of the dentate   Survival is no longer than   PS-981     drome   Autosomal recessive disease   Fragmentation of the dentate   Congenital ataxia,	Cerebellar disorder	s exhibiting nuclear pathology	Dott-1		
Autosomal recessive disease caused by invarious in PEX genes. Migration Dysplasia of the dentate and infailue from 14 weeks of gestation in failure from 14 weeks of gestation in migrational defects of PCs Developmental delay, seizures and EG abnormalities, ans well as generalised hypotonia, migrational defects of PCs Developmental delay, seizures and EG abnormalities, ans well as generalised hypotonia, migrational defects of PCs Developmental delay, seizures and EG abnormalities, ans well as generalised hypotonia, migrational defects of PCs Developmental delays, and by seizures and developmental delays. Developmental delays.   Informed Nutwom, though suggested to be autosomal recessive disease DOD – The dentate mulci are been as as olid ovoid or tear-shaped structure rather than the characteristic thin, survival is no longer than D9, 1001   Irome Autosomal recessive disease Fragmentation of the dentate convoluted band Survival is no longer than D9, 1001   Irome Autosomal recessive disease Fragmentation of the dentate convoluted band Survival is no longer than D9, 1001   Irome Autosomal recessive disease Fragmentation of the dentate convoluted band Survival is not development D0, 101-1031   Irome Autosomal recessive disease Fragmentation of the dentate convoluted band Survival is not development D0, 101-1031   Irome Autosomal recessive disease Fragmentation of the dentate development <		Aetiology	Pathology	Clinical teatures	Keterence
ary dysplasiaUnknown, though suggested to be antosomal recessively inheritedDOD - The dentate nuclei are tear-shaped structure rather than the characteristic thin, ser as a solid ovoid or tear-shaped structure rather than the characteristic thin, 3 yearsHypotonia with frequent seizures from birth and gross tear-shaped structure rather than the characteristic thin, 3 yearsPOD - The dentate ser as a solid ovoid or ser as a solid ovoid or ser as a solid ovoid or tear-shaped structure rather than the characteristic thin, 3 yearsPOD - The dentate serval is no longer than 3 yearsPOD - The dentate serval is no longer than dysregulation and mental dysregulation and mental tratradationPOD - The dentate serval and non- tratradationPOD - TOD - The dentate serval and non- tratradationPOD - TOD - TO	l) syndrome	Autosomal recessive disease caused by mutations in PEX genes. Migration failure from 14 weeks of gestation in humans	Dysplasia of the dentate and olivary nuclei (DOD), as well as cerebellar hypoplasia and migrational defects of PCs	Developmental delay, seizures and EEG abnormalities, as well as generalised hypotonia, renal cysts and joint calcifications	[86-96]
IromeAutosomal recessive diseaseFragmentation of the dentateCongenital ataxia, hypotonia, episodic breathing dysregulation and mental pisodic breathing dysregulation and mental[101-103]approximately 50% of cases are approximately 50% of cases are genetically linked to mutations in genes that encode parts of the primary cilia. These may be important in progenitor cells for sensing morphogens like Wnt and Shh during developmentFragmentation of the dentate dysplasia of the pisodic breathing dysplasia of the retardationCongenital ataxia, hypotonia, dyspcalai[101-103]phalosynapsisDefective dorsal patterning and proliferation in the rhombic lips during early foetal developmentAbsence or severe dysgenesis hypotonia, nystagmus, ataxia and mild to severe mental and morphologically, three semis only to be one dentate medule[60, 104-106]intersoAbsence or severe dysgenesis proliferation in the rhombic lips during erarly foetal developmentAbsence or severe dysgenesis hypotonia, nystagmus, ataxia and mild to severe mental and morphologically, three semis only to be one denta medule[60, 104-106]intersoAbsence or severe dysgenesis the transpheres, morphologically, three semis only to be one denta medule[60, 104-106]intersoAbsence or severe dysgenesis 	/ary dysplasia able seizures	Unknown, though suggested to be autosomal recessively inherited	DOD – The dentate nuclei are seen as a solid ovoid or tear-shaped structure rather than the characteristic thin, convoluted band	Hypotonia with frequent seizures from birth and gross developmental delays. Survival is no longer than 3 years	[99, 100]
phalosynapsisDefective dorsal patterning and proliferation in the rhombic lips during early foetal developmentAbsence or severe dysgenesis of the cerebellar vermis. This leads to fusing of the two and mild to severe mental and cerebellar hemispheres, motor developmental delays[60, 104–106]for in the rhombic lips during early foetal developmentAbsence or severe dysgenesis and mild to severe mental and cerebellar hemispheres, motor developmental delays[60, 104–106]for in the rhombic lips during early foetal developmentIn the contant of the two and mild to severe mental and motor developmental delays[60, 104–106]for in the rhombic lips during early foetal developmentIn the contant of the two and mild to severe mental and motor developmental delays[60, 104–106]for in the rhombic lips during early foetal developmentIn the contant of the two motor developmental delays[60, 104–106]for in the rhombic lips during morphologically, there seems only to be one dentate nucleusIn the contant of the white matter[60, 104–106]	Irome	Autosomal recessive disease approximately 50% of cases are genetically linked to mutations in genes that encode parts of the primary cilia. These may be important in progenitor cells for sensing morphogens like Wnt and Shh during development	Fragmentation of the dentate CN as one of many hindbrain symptoms, along with hypoplasia of vermis (molar tooth sign), dysplasia of the inferior olive and non- decussation of the SCP	Congenital ataxia, hypotonia, episodic breathing dysregulation and mental retardation	[101–103]
	phalosynapsis	Defective dorsal patterning and proliferation in the rhombic lips during early foetal development	Absence or severe dysgenesis of the cerebellar vermis. This leads to fusing of the two cerebellar hemispheres, peduncles and in the CN so that morphologically, there seems only to be one dentate nucleus that spans the breadth of the white matter	Cerebellar dysfunction, hypotonia, nystagmus, ataxia and mild to severe mental and motor developmental delays	[60, 104–106]

Table 1   (continued)				
Disorder	Aetiology	Pathology	Clinical features	Reference
Thanatophoric dysplasia	Due to gain of function mutations of FGF receptor 3 (FGFR3), which is involved in various parts of brain development, so pathological features are widespread across many brain regions as well as bones	Primarily a skeletal dysplasia with macrocephaly. Within the cerebellum, there are abnormalities of the cerebellar cortex, and CN are enlarged and hyperconvoluted and dysplastic. There is also dysplasia of the inferior olive	Generally is a lethal condition where foetuses are usually stillborn or die as neonates due to respiratory failure. For the very few survivors, clinical symptoms include seizures, dependence on ventilator and mental and motor impairments	[107–109]
Pontocerebellar hypoplasias	A group of neurodegenerative autosomal recessive disorders. Some variants are caused by tRNA splicing endonuclease mutations	Common feature is cerebellar hypoplasia and cerebellar and pons atrophy. In the cerebellum, there is scattered loss of PCs and segmental loss of dentate CN neurons, while specific regions of CN are preserved	Severe mental and motor impairments as well as swallowing problems and seizures	[110, 111]
Autism spectrum disorder	Heterogeneous: it may be caused by genetic, epigenetic or environmental factors during neurodevelopment. There is some consensus in that brain connectivity is affected. In the cerebellum, lower levels of GABA synthesis have been found in CN and PCs	Cerebellar vermal hypoplasia, reduction of superior cerebellar peduncle, decreased connectivity between the DN and cerebral regions (dentatorubrothalamic tract)	Heterogeneous spectrum or clinical features affecting social interaction, communication and behaviour	[112–114]

98

unanswered. A defining feature of development is that cells transit through the NTZ, yet nothing is known of the factors that regulate nucleogenesis.

Similarly, there are relatively few reports that highlight differences in cell types across the different CN. For example, Bagnall et al. [15] identified projections that are restricted to the fastigial CN, while molecular and cellular analyses point to underlying temporal cues that may explain how different nuclei are formed [67, 71]. Given that different densities of CN cell types are found across the already diversely shaped CN, and that the various CN have been found to be involved with wide ranges of motor control, from eye blinks to posture, it may be that connectivity and plasticity differ across similar cells to bring about an assortment of functions.

Finally, the diversity of different CN cells types, their origins and how they develop a network of intranuclear connectivity are key developmental questions whose answers will be of huge significance for functional models of the cerebellar network. The answer to these questions may also point towards new landmarks for the identification of disease processes in the cerebellum. This somewhat neglected population of brain cells is poised at a threshold of new understanding that offers the promise of new perspectives on the both how the cerebellum works and its clinical vulnerabilities.

#### References

- 1. Saccozzi A. Sul nucleo dentato del cervelletto. Riv Sper Fren Med Legale. 1887;13:93-9.
- 2. Lugaro E. Sulla struttura del nucleo dentato del cervelletto nell'uomo. Monit Zool Ital. 1895;6:5–12.
- Chan-Palay V. Cerebellar dentate nucleus: organization, cytology and transmitters. Berlin: Springer; 1977. 548 p.
- Chan-Palay V. A light microscope study of the cytology and organization of neurons in the simple mammalian nucleus lateralis: columns and swirls. Z Anat Entwicklungsgeschichte. 1973;141(2):125–50. PubMed PMID: 4769549.
- Chan-Palay V. Cytology and organization in the nucleus lateralis of the cerebellum: the projections of neurons and their processes into afferent axon bundles. Z Anat Entwicklungsgeschichte. 1973;141(2):151–9. PubMed PMID: 4769550.
- De Zeeuw C, Van Alphen A, Hawkins R, Ruigrok T. Climbing fibre collaterals contact neurons in the cerebellar nuclei that provide a GABAergic feedback to the inferior olive. Neuroscience. 1997;80(4):981–6.
- 7. Fredette BJ, Mugnaini E. The GABAergic cerebello-olivary projection in the rat. Anat Embryol. 1991;184(3):225–43.
- Teune TM, van der Burg J, de Zeeuw CI, Voogd J, Ruigrok TJH. Single Purkinje cell can innervate multiple classes of projection neurons in the cerebellar nuclei of the rat: a light microscopic and ultrastructural triple-tracer study in the rat. J Comp Neurol. 1998;392(2):164–78.
- 9. Uusisaari MY, Knöpfel T. Diversity of neuronal elements and circuitry in the cerebellar nuclei. Cerebellum. 2012;11(2):420–1.
- Houck BD, Person AL. Cerebellar loops: a review of the nucleocortical pathway. Cerebellum. 2014;13(3):378–85.
- Uusisaari M, Knöpfel T. GlyT2 neurons in the lateral cerebellar nucleus. Cerebellum. 2010;9(1):42–55.

- 12. Uusisaari M, Obata K, Knöpfel T. Morphological and electrophysiological properties of GABAergic and non-GABAergic cells in the deep cerebellar nuclei. J Neurophysiol. 2007;97(1):901–11.
- Uusisaari M, Knöpfel T. Functional classification of neurons in the mouse lateral cerebellar nuclei. Cerebellum. 2011;10(4):637–46.
- 14. De Zeeuw CI, Berrebi AS. Postsynaptic targets of Purkinje cell terminals in the cerebellar and vestibular nuclei of the rat. Eur J Neurosci. 1995;7(11):2322–33.
- Bagnall MW, Zingg B, Sakatos A, Moghadam SH, Zeilhofer HU, du Lac S. Glycinergic projection neurons of the cerebellum. J Neurosci. 2009;29(32):10104–10.
- Chen S, Hillman DE. Colocalization of neurotransmitters in the deep cerebellar nuclei. J Neurocytol. 1993;22(2):81–91.
- 17. Cerminara NL, Lang EJ, Sillitoe RV, Apps R. Redefining the cerebellar cortex as an assembly of non-uniform Purkinje cell microcircuits. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2015;16(2):79–93.
- Giaquinta G, Casabona A, Smecca G, Bosco G, Perciavalle V. Cortical control of cerebellar dentato-rubral and dentato-olivary neurons. Neuroreport. 1999;10(14):3009–13.
- Sugihara I, Fujita H, Na J, Quy PN, Li BY, Ikeda D. Projection of reconstructed single Purkinje cell axons in relation to the cortical and nuclear aldolase C compartments of the rat cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 2009;512(2):282–304.
- 20. D'Angelo E, Casali S. Seeking a unified framework for cerebellar function and dysfunction: from circuit operations to cognition. Front Neural Circ. 2013;6:116.
- 21. Ruigrok TJH. Ins and outs of cerebellar modules. Cerebellum. 2011;10(3):464-74.
- 22. Teune TM, van der Burg J, van der Moer J, Voogd J, Ruigrok TJ. Topography of cerebellar nuclear projections to the brain stem in the rat. Prog Brain Res. 2000;124:141–72.
- Uusisaari M, De Schutter E. The mysterious microcircuitry of the cerebellar nuclei. J Physiol. 2011;589(Pt 14):3441–57.
- Person AL, Raman IM. Purkinje neuron synchrony elicits time-locked spiking in the cerebellar nuclei. Nature. 2011;481(7382):502–5. PubMed PMID: 22198670. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3268051.
- Heck DH, De Zeeuw CI, Jaeger D, Khodakhah K, Person AL. The neuronal code(s) of the cerebellum. J Neurosci: Off J Soc Neurosci. 2013;33(45):17603–9. PubMed PMID: 24198351. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3818542.
- 26. Voogd J, Glickstein M. The anatomy of the cerebellum. Trends Cogn Sci. 1998;2(9):307–13.
- Sugihara I, Shinoda Y. Molecular, topographic, and functional organization of the cerebellar nuclei: analysis by three-dimensional mapping of the olivonuclear projection and aldolase C labeling. J Neurosci: Off J Soc Neurosci. 2007;27(36):9696–710.
- Raman IM, Gustafson AE, Padgett D. Ionic currents and spontaneous firing in neurons isolated from the cerebellar nuclei. J Neurosci. 2000;20(24):9004–16.
- Thach W. Discharge of Purkinje and cerebellar nuclear neurons during rapidly alternating arm movements in the monkey. J Neurophysiol. 1968;31(5):785–97.
- Morishita W, Sastry BR. Postsynaptic mechanisms underlying long-term depression of GABAergic transmission in neurons of the deep cerebellar nuclei. J Neurophysiol. 1996;76(1):59–68.
- Ohyama T, Nores WL, Medina JF, Riusech FA, Mauk MD. Learning-induced plasticity in deep cerebellar nucleus. J Neurosci. 2006;26(49):12656–63.
- 32. Zheng N, Raman IM. Synaptic inhibition, excitation, and plasticity in neurons of the cerebellar nuclei. Cerebellum. 2010;9(1):56–66.
- Armstrong D, Edgley S. Discharges of nucleus interpositus neurones during locomotion in the cat. J Physiol. 1984;351:411.
- 34. Armstrong D, Edgley S. Discharges of Purkinje cells in the paravermal part of the cerebellar anterior lobe during locomotion in the cat. J Physiol. 1984;352:403.
- McDevitt CJ, Ebner TJ, Bloedel JR. Changes in the responses of cerebellar nuclear neurons associated with the climbing fiber response of Purkinje cells. Brain Res. 1987;425(1):14–24.
- McDevitt CJ, Ebner TJ, Bloedel JR. Relationships between simultaneously recorded Purkinje cells and nuclear neurons. Brain Res. 1987;425(1):1–13.

- Person AL, Raman IM. Purkinje neuron synchrony elicits time-locked spiking in the cerebellar nuclei. Nature. 2012;481(7382):502–5.
- Apps R, Hawkes R. Cerebellar cortical organization: a one-map hypothesis. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2009;10(9):670–81.
- 39. Shinoda Y, Sugihara I, Wu H, Sugiuchi Y. The entire trajectory of single climbing and mossy fibers in the cerebellar nuclei and cortex. Prog Brain Res. 1999;124:173–86.
- 40. Wu H, Sugihara I, Shinoda Y. Projection patterns of single mossy fibers originating from the lateral reticular nucleus in the rat cerebellar cortex and nuclei. J Comp Neurol. 1999;411(1):97–118.
- Blenkinsop TA, Lang EJ. Synaptic action of the olivocerebellar system on cerebellar nuclear spike activity. J Neurosci. 2011;31(41):14708–20.
- 42. Sugihara I, Wu H, Shinoda Y. Morphology of single olivocerebellar axons labeled with biotinylated dextran amine in the rat. J Comp Neurol. 1999;414(2):131–48.
- 43. Person AL, Raman IM. Synchrony and neural coding in cerebellar circuits. Front Neural Circ. 2012;6:97.
- 44. Sultan F, König T, Möck M, Thier P. Quantitative organization of neurotransmitters in the deep cerebellar nuclei of the Lurcher mutant. J Comp Neurol. 2002;452(4):311–23.
- Aizenman CD, Huang EJ, Linden DJ. Morphological correlates of intrinsic electrical excitability in neurons of the deep cerebellar nuclei. J Neurophysiol. 2003;89(4):1738–47.
- 46. Matsuno H, Kudoh M, Watakabe A, Yamamori T, Shigemoto R, Nagao S. Distribution and structure of synapses on medial vestibular nuclear neurons targeted by cerebellar Flocculus Purkinje cells and vestibular nerve in mice: light and electron microscopy studies. PLoS One. 2016;11(10):e0164037.
- Chan-Palay V. Afferent axons and their relations with neurons in the nucleus lateralis of the cerebellum: a light microscopic study. Z Anat Entwicklungsgeschichte. 1973;142(1):1–21. PubMed.
- Chan-Palay V. On the identification of the afferent axon terminals in the nucleus lateralis of the cerebellum. An electron microscope study. Z Anat Entwicklungsgeschichte. 1973;142(2):149–86. PubMed.
- 49. Wingate RJ, Hatten ME. The role of the rhombic lip in avian cerebellum development. Development. 1999;126(20):4395–404. PubMed PMID: 10498676. Epub 1999/09/28. eng.
- 50. Millet S, Bloch-Gallego E, Simeone A, Alvarado-Mallart RM. The caudal limit of Otx2 gene expression as a marker of the midbrain/hindbrain boundary: a study using in situ hybridisation and chick/quail homotopic grafts. Development. 1996;122(12):3785–97.
- Zervas M, Millet S, Ahn S, Joyner AL. Cell behaviors and genetic lineages of the mesencephalon and rhombomere 1. Neuron. 2004;43(3):345–57. PubMed.
- 52. Wingate R. Math-Map(ic)s. Neuron. 2005;48(1):1–4. PubMed.
- 53. Hoshino M, Nakamura S, Mori K, Kawauchi T, Terao M, Nishimura YV, et al. Ptf1a, a bHLH transcriptional gene, defines GABAergic neuronal fates in cerebellum. Neuron. 2005;47(2):201–13. PubMed.
- 54. His W. Die entwickelung des menschlichen rautenhirns vom ende des ersten bis zum beginn des dritten monats. I. Verlängertes Mark. Abh Kön Sächs Ges d Wiss Mat Phys Kl. 1890;29:1–74.
- 55. Ben-Arie N, Bellen HJ, Armstrong DL, McCall AE, Gordadze PR, Guo Q, et al. Math1 is essential for genesis of cerebellar granule neurons. Nature. 1997;390(6656):169–72.
- Machold R, Fishell G. Math1 is expressed in temporally discrete pools of cerebellar rhombiclip neural progenitors. Neuron. 2005;48(1):17–24. PubMed.
- 57. Wang VY, Rose MF, Zoghbi HY. Math1 expression redefines the rhombic lip derivatives and reveals novel lineages within the brainstem and cerebellum. Neuron. 2005;48(1):31–43. PubMed.
- 58. Altman J, Bayer SA. Prenatal development of the cerebellar system in the rat. I. Cytogenesis and histogenesis of the deep nuclei and the cortex of the cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1978;179(1):23–48.

- Hashimoto M, Mikoshiba K. Mediolateral compartmentalization of the cerebellum is determined on the "birth date" of Purkinje cells. J Neurosci. 2003;23(36):11342–51.
- Elsen G, Juric-Sekhar G, Daza R, Hevner RF. Development of cerebellar nuclei. In: Manto M, Gruol D, Schmahmann J, Koibuchi N, Rossi F, editors. Handbook of cerebellum and cerebellum disorders. Heidelberg: Springer; 2013. p. 179–205.
- 61. Yamada M, Seto Y, Taya S, Owa T, Inoue YU, Inoue T, et al. Specification of spatial identities of cerebellar neuron progenitors by ptf1a and atoh1 for proper production of GABAergic and glutamatergic neurons. J Neurosci: Off J Soc Neurosci. 2014;34(14):4786–800. PubMed.
- 62. Pascual M, Abasolo I, Mingorance-Le Meur A, Martinez A, Del Rio JA, Wright CV, et al. Cerebellar GABAergic progenitors adopt an external granule cell-like phenotype in the absence of Ptf1a transcription factor expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(12):5193–8. PubMed Pubmed Central PMCID: 1829285. Epub 2007/03/16. eng.
- Altman J, Bayer SA. Embryonic development of the rat cerebellum. II. Translocation and regional distribution of the deep neurons. J Comp Neurol. 1985;231(1):27–41. PubMed PMID: 3968227. Epub 1985/01/01. eng.
- Morales D, Hatten ME. Molecular markers of neuronal progenitors in the embryonic cerebellar anlage. J Neurosci: Off J Soc Neurosci. 2006;26(47):12226–36. PubMed PMID: 17122047.
- Yeung J, Ha TJ, Swanson DJ, Goldowitz D. A novel and multivalent role of Pax6 in cerebellar development. J Neurosci: Off J Soc Neurosci. 2016;36(35):9057–69. PubMed PMID: 27581449. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5005719.
- 66. Green MJ, Myat AM, Emmenegger BA, Wechsler-Reya RJ, Wilson LJ, Wingate RJ. Independently specified Atoh1 domains define novel developmental compartments in rhombomere 1. Development. 2014;141(2):389–98. PubMed PMID: 24381197. Epub 2014/01/02. eng.
- 67. Green MJ, Wingate RJ. Developmental origins of diversity in cerebellar output nuclei. Neural Dev. 2014;9(1):1. PubMed PMID: 24405572. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3929244.
- Wilson LJ, Wingate RJ. Temporal identity transition in the avian cerebellar rhombic lip. Dev Biol. 2006;297(2):508–21. PubMed PMID: 16806151. Epub 2006/06/30. eng.
- Gilthorpe JD, Papantoniou EK, Chedotal A, Lumsden A, Wingate RJ. The migration of cerebellar rhombic lip derivatives. Development. 2002;129(20):4719–28. PubMed PMID: 12361964. Epub 2002/10/04. eng.
- Alcantara S, Ruiz M, De Castro F, Soriano E, Sotelo C. Netrin 1 acts as an attractive or as a repulsive cue for distinct migrating neurons during the development of the cerebellar system. Development. 2000;127(7):1359–72. PubMed PMID: 10704383. Epub 2000/03/08. eng.
- Fink AJ, Englund C, Daza RA, Pham D, Lau C, Nivison M, et al. Development of the deep cerebellar nuclei: transcription factors and cell migration from the rhombic lip. J Neurosci: Off J Soc Neurosci. 2006;26(11):3066–76. PubMed PMID: 16540585. Epub 2006/03/17. eng.
- Sudarov A, Turnbull RK, Kim EJ, Lebel-Potter M, Guillemot F, Joyner AL. Ascl1 genetics reveals insights into cerebellum local circuit assembly. J Neurosci: Off J Soc Neurosci. 2011;31(30):11055–69.
- Florio M, Leto K, Muzio L, Tinterri A, Badaloni A, Croci L, et al. Neurogenin 2 regulates progenitor cell-cycle progression and Purkinje cell dendritogenesis in cerebellar development. Development. 2012;139(13):2308–20.
- Zordan P, Croci L, Hawkes R, Consalez GG. Comparative analysis of proneural gene expression in the embryonic cerebellum. Dev Dyn. 2008;237(6):1726–35.
- 75. Chizhikov VV, Lindgren AG, Currle DS, Rose MF, Monuki ES, Millen KJ. The roof plate regulates cerebellar cell-type specification and proliferation. Development. 2006;133(15):2793–804.
- Mizuhara E, Minaki Y, Nakatani T, Kumai M, Inoue T, Muguruma K, et al. Purkinje cells originate from cerebellar ventricular zone progenitors positive for Neph3 and E-cadherin. Dev Biol. 2010;338(2):202–14. PubMed PMID: 20004188. Epub 2009/12/17. eng.
- Leto K, Rolando C, Rossi F. The genesis of cerebellar GABAergic neurons: fate potential and specification mechanisms. Front Neuroanat. 2012;6:6.
- Lundell T, Zhou Q, Doughty M. Neurogenin1 expression in cell lineages of the cerebellar cortex in embryonic and postnatal mice. Dev Dyn. 2009;238(12):3310–25.
- Sillitoe RV, Joyner AL. Morphology, molecular codes, and circuitry produce the threedimensional complexity of the cerebellum. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2007;23:549–77.
- 80. Maricich SM, Herrup K. Pax-2 expression defines a subset of GABAergic interneurons and their precursors in the developing murine cerebellum. J Neurobiol. 1999;41(2):281–94.
- Leto K, Carletti B, Williams IM, Magrassi L, Rossi F. Different types of cerebellar GABAergic interneurons originate from a common pool of multipotent progenitor cells. J Neurosci: Off J Soc Neurosci. 2006;26(45):11682–94.
- Obana EA, Lundell TG, Kevin JY, Radomski KL, Zhou Q, Doughty ML. Neurog1 genetic inducible fate mapping (GIFM) reveals the existence of complex spatiotemporal cytoarchitectures in the developing cerebellum. Cerebellum. 2015;14(3):247–63.
- Seto Y, Nakatani T, Masuyama N, Taya S, Kumai M, Minaki Y, et al. Temporal identity transition from Purkinje cell progenitors to GABAergic interneuron progenitors in the cerebellum. Nat Commun. 2014;5:3337. PubMed PMID: 24535035.
- Butts T, Chaplin N, Wingate RJ. Can clues from evolution unlock the molecular development of the cerebellum? Mol Neurobiol. 2011;43(1):67–76. PubMed PMID: 21174175. Epub 2010/12/22. eng.
- Marzban H, Del Bigio MR, Alizadeh J, Ghavami S, Zachariah RM, Rastegar M. Cellular commitment in the developing cerebellum. Front Cell Neurosci. 2015;8:450.
- Hashimoto M, Hibi M. Development and evolution of cerebellar neural circuits. Develop Growth Differ. 2012;54(3):373–89. PubMed PMID: 22524607. Epub 2012/04/25. eng.
- Murakami T, Morita Y. Morphology and distribution of the projection neurons in the cerebellum in a teleost, *Sebastiscus marmoratus*. J Comp Neurol. 1987;256(4):607–23.
- Ebbesson SO, Campbell CB. On the organization of cerebellar efferent pathways in the nurse shark (*Ginglymostoma cirratum*). J Comp Neurol. 1973;152(3):233–54. PubMed PMID: 4130103.
- Butler A, Hodos W. Comparative vertebrate neuroanatomy: evolution and adaptation. New York: Wiley-Liss; 1996. 514 p.
- Arends JJ, Zeigler HP. Organization of the cerebellum in the pigeon (*Columba livia*): II. Projections of the cerebellar nuclei. J Comp Neurol. 1991;306(2):245–72. PubMed PMID: 1711054. Epub 1991/04/08. eng.
- Goodman DC, Hallett RE, Welch RB. Patterns of localization in the cerebellar corticonuclear projections of albino rat. J Comp Neurol. 1963;121:51–67. PubMed PMID: 14051845.
- 92. Korneliussen HK. On the morphology and subdivision of the cerebellar nuclei of the rat. J Hirnforsch. 1968;10(2):109–22. PubMed PMID: 4181301.
- 93. Wingate RJT. The rhombic lip and early cerebellar development. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2001;11(1):82–8.
- Golden J, Harding B. Pathology and genetics. Developmental neuropathology. Basel: ISN Neuropath Press; 2004.
- Lu H, Yang B, Jaeger D. Cerebellar nuclei neurons show only small excitatory responses to optogenetic olivary stimulation in transgenic mice: in vivo and in vitro studies. Front Neural Circ. 2016;10:21.
- 96. Müller CC, Nguyen TH, Ahlemeyer B, Meshram M, Santrampurwala N, Cao S, et al. PEX13 deficiency in mouse brain as a model of Zellweger syndrome: abnormal cerebellum formation, reactive gliosis and oxidative stress. Dis Model Mech. 2011;4(1):104–19.
- Powers JM, Moser HW, Moser AB, Upshur JK, Bradford BF, Pai SG, et al. Fetal cerebrohepatorenal (Zellweger) syndrome: dysmorphic, radiologic, biochemical, and pathologic findings in four affected fetuses. Hum Pathol. 1985;16(6):610–20.
- Volpe JJ, Adams RD. Cerebro-hepato-renal syndrome of Zellweger: an inherited disorder of neuronal migration. Acta Neuropathol. 1972;20(3):175–98.

- Harding B, Boyd S. Intractable seizures from infancy can be associated with dentato-olivary dysplasia. J Neurol Sci. 1991;104(2):157–65.
- Martland T, Harding BN, Morton RE, Young I. Dentato-olivary dysplasia in sibs: an autosomal recessive disorder? J Med Genet. 1997;34(12):1021–3.
- 101. Joubert M, Eisenring J-J, Robb JP, Andermann F. Familial agenesis of the cerebellar vermis: a syndrome of episodic hyperpnea, abnormal eye movements, ataxia and retardation. American Academy of Neurology meeting, 1968, Chicago, US; Read in part at the aforementioned conference; 1968 1999: BC Decker.
- 102. Millen KJ, Gleeson JG. Cerebellar development and disease. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2008;18(1):12–9. PubMed PMID: 18513948. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2474776. Epub 2008/06/03. eng.
- 103. Yachnis AT, Rorke LB. Cerebellar and brainstem development: an overview in relation to Joubert syndrome. J Child Neurol. 1999;14(9):570–3. PubMed PMID: 10488901. Epub 1999/09/17. eng.
- Pasquier L, Marcorelles P, Loget P, Pelluard F, Carles D, Perez M-J, et al. Rhombencephalosynapsis and related anomalies: a neuropathological study of 40 fetal cases. Acta Neuropathol. 2009;117(2):185–200.
- Utsunomiya H, Takano K, Ogasawara T, Hashimoto T, Fukushima T, Okazaki M. Rhombenc ephalosynapsis: cerebellar embryogenesis. Am J Neuroradiol. 1998;19(3):547–9.
- Yachnis AT. Rhombencephalosynapsis with massive hydrocephalus: case report and pathogenetic considerations. Acta Neuropathol. 2002;103(3):301–4.
- 107. Coulter CL, Leech RW, Brumback RA, Schaefer GB. Cerebral abnormalities in thanatophoric dysplasia. Childs Nerv Syst. 1991;7(1):21–6.
- 108. Hevner RF. The cerebral cortex malformation in thanatophoric dysplasia: neuropathology and pathogenesis. Acta Neuropathol. 2005;110(3):208–21.
- Miller E, Blaser S, Shannon P, Widjaja E. Brain and bone abnormalities of thanatophoric dwarfism. Am J Roentgenol. 2009;192(1):48–51.
- Namavar Y, Barth PG, Baas F. Classification, diagnosis and potential mechanisms in pontocerebellar hypoplasia. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2011;6(1):1.
- 111. Rudnik-Schöneborn S, Barth PG, Zerres K. Pontocerebellar hypoplasia. Am J Med Genet C: Semin Med Genet. Wiley Online Library; 2014.
- 112. Jeong J-W, Chugani DC, Behen ME, Tiwari VN, Chugani HT. Altered white matter structure of the dentatorubrothalamic pathway in children with autistic spectrum disorders. Cerebellum. 2012;11(4):957–71.
- 113. Olivito G, Clausi S, Laghi F, Tedesco AM, Baiocco R, Mastropasqua C, et al. Resting-state functional connectivity changes between dentate nucleus and cortical social brain regions in autism spectrum disorders. Cerebellum. 2017;16:283.
- 114. Yip J, Soghomonian JJ, Blatt GJ. Decreased GAD65 mRNA levels in select subpopulations of neurons in the cerebellar dentate nuclei in autism: an in situ hybridization study. Autism Res. 2009;2(1):50–9.
- 115. Pugh JR, Raman IM. Mechanisms of potentiation of mossy fiber EPSCs in the cerebellar nuclei by coincident synaptic excitation and inhibition. J Neurosci. 2008;28(42):10549–60.

# Motor Circuit Abnormalities During Cerebellar Development

Elizabeth P. Lackey and Roy V. Sillitoe

**Abstract** The cerebellum controls ongoing motor function and motor learning. Therefore, damage to its circuits causes a number of movement disorders such as ataxia, dystonia, and tremor. Cerebellar connectivity in both normal and abnormal states has been intensely studied. As a result, its anatomy, circuitry, and neuronal firing properties are among the best understood in the brain. This knowledge has directly facilitated efforts to uncover the mechanisms that cause motor dysfunction. Here, we discuss several mouse models of cerebellar disease. We focus on how cerebellar development depends on genes and neural activity to assemble circuits for behavior.

**Keywords** Cerebellum • Circuitry • Ataxia • Purkinje cell • Cerebellar nuclei • Inferior olive

# Introduction

The cerebellum is best known for its crucial role in controlling smooth, purposeful movements. Cerebellar circuits receive motor planning information from the cerebral cortex about the goals and commands of movement in addition to feedback

E.P. Lackey

R.V. Sillitoe (⊠) Department of Pathology & Immunology, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, USA

Department of Neuroscience, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, USA

Program in Developmental Biology, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, USA

The Jan and Dan Duncan Neurological Research Institute at Texas Children's Hospital, 1250 Moursund Street, Suite 1325, Houston, TX 77030, USA e-mail: sillitoe@bcm.edu

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017 H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_6

Department of Pathology & Immunology, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, USA

Department of Neuroscience, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, USA

The Jan and Dan Duncan Neurological Research Institute at Texas Children's Hospital, 1250 Moursund Street, Suite 1325, Houston, TX 77030, USA

information from the brain stem and spinal cord about the sensory consequences of movement execution. This activity within the cerebellum can be modified through multiple cellular and molecular mechanisms of synaptic plasticity. The resultant output of cerebellar activity influences connected motor systems in the cerebral cortex, brain stem, and spinal cord to allow for calibration of motor programs that can be initiated and executed without immediate sensory feedback. There are currently two general models for how the cerebellum controls motor behavior during both ongoing movement (motor coordination) and repetitions of the same movement (motor learning). One model is that cerebellar computations evaluate the accuracy of actions by comparing predicted outcomes of intended movements to the outcomes of actual movements and then reduce error by providing signals for adaptive corrections [1]. The other model is that the cerebellum participates in the timing of movement rather than error correction [2]. It is also possible that the cerebellum performs both functions. In either case, it is not surprising that physical, pharmacological, and genetic insults to the cerebellar circuit result in movement disorders, and descriptions of motor symptoms after cerebellar damage date back to Flourens [3], Babinski [4–6], Holmes [7], and other pioneers in the field [8]. Cerebellar insults typically disrupt the coordination and accuracy of movement, conditions cumulatively referred to as "ataxia" (Greek, loss of order). Numerous distinct motor symptoms can arise from cerebellar damage, including the inability to judge distance or scale during target-oriented movements ("dysmetria," Greek, abnormal measure), oscillatory shaking of muscles during movement (tremor), diminished reflexive resistance to passive limb displacements ("hypotonia," Greek, low tone), and impaired production of speech ("dysarthria," Greek, abnormal articulation). Symptoms arise from the loss or disruption of normal cerebellar functions, and the ultimate motor behavioral consequences may also be due to movement control in a pathological state. Here, we discuss the mechanisms for different manifestations of cerebellar disease from the perspective of insights gained from mouse models, as they are currently one of the most common tools used in the study of cerebellar disorders. In order to understand the behavioral consequences of the diseased cerebellar circuit, we will consider cerebellar structure and development in the context of the functional motor system in vivo.

#### Structure of the Cerebellum

The cerebellum is interconnected with the rest of the brain by three pairs of large fiber tracts on its ventral surface, the cerebellar peduncles, and located dorsal to the pons and medulla (see chapter "The Embryology and Anatomy of the Cerebellum"). Though it is a predominantly continuous structure, there are three gross anatomical divisions of the cerebellum: a "wormlike" region along the midline called the vermis (Latin, worm), lateral regions that are relatively enlarged in humans called the hemispheres, and an intermediate region called the paravermis. The cerebellum comprises a three-layered cortex surrounding an inner core of white matter and



**Fig. 1** Architecture of the cerebellar circuit. (a) Mouse brain shown from a lateral view with the cerebellum highlighted in color. (b) The basic cerebellar circuit comprises Purkinje cells, granule cells, stellate and basket cell interneurons, and the cerebellar nuclei. Afferent information is delivered to the cerebellum as climbing fibers or mossy fibers. Note that the Purkinje cell is the sole output of cerebellar cortex and the cerebellar nuclei deliver efferent information of the circuit. The + and – signs indicate whether each synapse is excitatory or inhibitory, respectively. For simplicity we have not shown Golgi cells, unipolar brush cells, Lugaro cells, or candelabrum cells. The different types of glia were also omitted. (Modified with permission from Reeber et al. [13])

three pairs of cerebellar nuclei. The sheet of cortex folds as cells proliferate during cerebellar development into folia and fissures along the anteroposterior axis, which form a series of lobules that are evolutionarily conserved and reproducible in mammals and birds [9]. Based on the work of Olof Larsell, Roman numerals are used to identify lobules in the vermis (I - X), whereas the hemispheres comprise CrusI, CrusII, lobulus simplex (LS), paramedian lobules (Pml), copula pyramids (Cop), the flocculus (Fl), and the paraflocculus (Pfl). Though lobule form is distinct across the anatomical divisions of the cerebellum, they contain the same repeated circuit and all the major cerebellar cell types [10-12] (Fig. 1), with the Purkinje cell at the center of each circuit. Purkinje cell somata form a monolayer, the Purkinje cell layer, across the cerebellar cortex and extend elaborate dendritic arbors into the outermost of the three layers, the molecular layer. Climbing fibers, one of the two major afferent pathways to the cerebellum, originate in the inferior olivary nucleus of the medulla and form excitatory synapses on the smooth shafts of Purkinje cell dendrites in the molecular layer. Mossy fibers, the second major afferent pathway to the cerebellum, terminate on granule cells within the third and innermost layer of cerebellar cortex, the granule cell layer, and originate from over two-dozen brainstem and spinal cord nuclei [14]. These nuclei include the basilar pontine nuclei relaying input from the cerebral cortex, dorsal nucleus of Clarke, vestibular nuclei, cuneate nuclei, and lateral reticular nuclei. Mossy fibers communicate with Purkinje cells indirectly through granule cell axons, known as parallel fibers, which ascend



**Fig. 2** ZebrinII zones in the mouse cerebellum. (**a**, **b**) Wholemount immunohistochemical staining of the mouse cerebellum with zebrinII reveals the intricate patterning of the cerebellar cortex into parasagittal zones. Roman numerals identify the lobules of the vermis. *Pfl* paraflocculus, *Fl* flocculus, *LS* lobulus simplex, *Pml* paramedian lobule, *Cop* copula pyramidis. Scale bar = 2 mm. (Modified with permission from Reeber et al. [13])

the granule cell and Purkinje cell layers and bifurcate to form excitatory synapses on the spines of Purkinje cell dendrites in the molecular layer. Numerous interneurons are present that influence the activity of local circuits, such as stellate and basket cells in the molecular layer and Golgi and unipolar brush cells in the granule cell layer. Neuromodulatory afferents also terminate in all three layers of the cerebellar cortex and within the cerebellar nuclei to influence local activity [15, 16]. Purkinje cell axons are the sole output of the cerebellar cortex and integrate all cerebellar inputs before projecting to the core of the cerebellum to form inhibitory synapses on their target cerebellar nuclei neurons. The cerebellar nuclei are the final efferent pathway to the rest of the brain and spinal cord; however, a small minority of Purkinje cells project directly to vestibular nuclei [17]. Despite this relatively simple and repeated cytoarchitecture (Fig. 1), a more complex circuit map is revealed by molecular, anatomical, and physiological approaches and by symptoms of disease. Subsets of Purkinje cells are divided into a series of reproducible parasagittal stripes, "zones," (Fig. 2) that run along the anteroposterior axis and are defined by gene expression patterns [12]. The classical and most thoroughly studied molecular marker of zones is known as zebrinII, which is an antigen on the metabolic enzyme aldolase C [18]. The topographical map of zebrinII expression in mice has been detailed extensively [19–21]. However, zebrinII is conserved, and its general pattern of expression is identical across different taxa [22-28]. ZebrinIIexpressing Purkinje cells alternate with zones that do not express the antigen. Together, the two subsets form a striking array of zebrinII-positive and zebrinIInegative stripes that are symmetrically distributed across the midline. More than 40 molecular markers of zones have been identified [29] including excitatory amino acid transporter 4 (EAAT4), phospholipase C beta 3 (PLCβ3), and gammaaminobutyric acid type B receptor subunit 2 (GABAβR2), which are expressed in zebrinII-positive zones, and phospholipase C beta 4 (PLCβ4), metabotropic glutamate receptor 1 splice variant 1b (mGlurR1b), and neuroplastin, which are expressed in the complementary zebrinII-negative zones. Bands of zones do not run

uninterrupted from anterior lobules to posterior lobules, and a unique pattern of zones is observed in four domains of the vermis: anterior = lobules I - V, central = lobules VI – VII, posterior = lobules VIII and dorsal IX, and nodular = lobules ventral IX and X [30] (Fig. 2). These domains are also innervated by functionally distinct mossy fiber afferents; for example, the spinocerebellar tract projects to the anterior and posterior domains, the pontocerebellar tract projects to the central and posterior domains, and the vestibulocerebellar tract projects to the nodular domain [12, 31]. These domains are not equivalent to the traditional functional compartments known as the spinocerebellum (regulation of muscles, tendons, and joints), cerebrocerebellum (planning and initiation of movement), and vestibulocerebellum (body equilibrium and oculomotor function). However, there is clearly some overlap in the functional attributes of each. These divisions are also reflected by the phenotypes of cerebellar disease in naturally occurring mutant mice, which often display differential structural defects along the anteroposterior axis [30]. Furthermore, the axon termination patterns of mossy and climbing fiber afferents within each of these domains exhibit parasagittal zones that have a reproducible anatomical relationship with the zones of their target Purkinje cells [32, 33] or the narrower functional microzones [34]. Climbing fibers originating from a specific subnucleus of the inferior olive typically terminate in one or two of these longitudinal zones [35, 36], and mossy fibers from specific sources branch to terminate in multiple longitudinal zones [37–40]. Zones are also distinct in their topographically defined Purkinje cell output to specific subnuclei of their three target cerebellar nuclei, fastigial (medial), interposed (middle; = globose and emboliform in primates), and dentate (lateral), each of which, too, has a unique efferent pathway to the rest of the brain and spinal cord [31, 41, 42], including projections back to the inferior olive to form a patterned cortico-nucleo-olivary tripartite loop [43, 44]. Together, units of topographically organized cerebellar afferents, their target Purkinje cell zones, and Purkinje cell efferent projections to the cerebellar nuclei compose cerebellar "modules," the basic functional circuit of the cerebellum [45]. Retrograde transsynaptic tracing shows that individual muscle groups are linked to specific Purkinje cell zones [46]. Functional mapping of the cerebellar circuit using imaging and electrophysiology also exhibits topography consistent with the zonal plan [47–50]. Within each zone, receptive fields mapped by recording responses to tactile stimuli reveal a "fractured somatotopy" of spinocerebellar mossy fibers with multiple sensory representations of body parts in mosaic patches [47, 51, 52]. Due to the relatively uniform cytoarchitecture of the cerebellum, it has been thought that these topographical differences in function are caused by differences in afferent and efferent connectivity; however, recent evidence suggests that this is also due to other regional variations such as Purkinje cell morphology, Purkinje cell packing density, granule cell packing density, neuronal soma size, the position of mossy fiber and climbing fiber synapses within their target layers, distribution of interneurons, intrinsic Purkinje cell firing properties, and synaptic plasticity [53]. Distinct computational processes within and between zones can potentially arise from variations in the cytoarchitecture and physiology of local circuits in these functional compartments. This exquisite organization of connections and the precise circuitry they form require carefully executed developmental programs for proper function and behavior [54]. During this complex coordination, there are many opportunities for insults to cause disorders with devastating consequences for motor and perhaps even non-motor behavior.

# **Development of the Cerebellar Circuit**

Due to the cerebellum's well-understood circuitry and roles in developmental and adult-onset diseases, it is an important model for understanding normal and abnormal brain circuit map formation [54]. Positional cues must be present to set up the patterns of specific lobules on the anteroposterior axis and zones on the mediolateral axis. Studies resolving how genes establish the coordinates of this functional framework have increased our understanding of the impact of complex neurological diseases [12]. The embryonic cerebellum is initially smooth without external morphological landmarks, but fissures that distinguish five cardinal lobes in the vermis begin to form by late embryonic development, embryonic day 17 (E17) in mice. Purkinje cells are derived from the ventricular zone of dorsal rhombomere 1 from E10 to E13 and migrate along radial glia into symmetrical clusters by ~E14. The granule cells are derived between ~E12 and E17 from a germinal zone called the rhombic lip, which produces a specialized transient progenitor layer on the surface of the cerebellum called the external granule cell layer by E16.5 [54]. Cerebellar granule cells are the most numerous cell type in the adult brain. They undergo extensive proliferation and are the main driving force for cerebellar growth and lobule patterning. During postnatal development, the five cardinal lobes expand and fold as they subdivide into the conserved stereotyped lobules, and this process (foliation) is complete by postnatal day 14 (P14) in mice. Genetic cues allowing for the precision and reproducibility of foliation between animals are not fully understood but may involve the "anchoring" of Purkinje cells to the future base of lobules by their projections to the cerebellar nuclei and the proliferation of granule cell precursors mechanically forcing lobule outgrowth [55] under the control of Purkinje cellderived sonic hedgehog (Shh) signals [56, 57] and the function of Engrailed homeobox genes (En1/2) [58, 59]. The molecular heterogeneity of Purkinje cells may provide a scaffold that guides the patterns of neural circuit formation in the developing cerebellum, which is consistent with evidence that Purkinje cell subsets differentially express intrinsic molecular markers as early as E14 [60-62], including cell adhesion and guidance molecules [63, 64]. Purkinje cells are critical not only for shaping morphogenesis but also for guiding topographical map formation. Purkinje cells of similar birthdates may determine the adult patterns of Purkinje cell gene expression and restrict the boundaries of zones as the map forms. This is accomplished during embryogenesis when Purkinje cell subsets migrate and cluster into similar coordinate positions [65]. Afferents arrive in the cerebellum spanning mid-embryonic and postnatal development [66] in positions that later correspond to specific lobules, and Purkinje cell cues are thought to provide the scaffold that

guides afferents into longitudinal zones following the initial patterning of Purkinje cell clusters [54]. Retrograde tracing in fixed embryonic rat tissue shows that mossy fibers from the vestibular ganglion arrive in the cerebellum by E13, and those from the vestibular nuclei and spinal cord arrive at E15 [66]. Climbing fibers arrive at ~E17, followed by mossy fibers from the lateral reticular nucleus and pontine nuclei at P0 [66]. In mice, spinocerebellar and vestibular mossy fibers arrive at E13/14 [67], climbing fibers arrive at E14/15 [68], and the remaining mossy fibers arrive during late embryonic and postnatal development [54]. Climbing fiber afferents exhibit rudimentary parasagittal stripes by E15/16 in mice [68], soon after Purkinje cell clusters initially express transient parasagittal molecular markers such as En1/2 [61]. Climbing fiber termination patterns and Purkinje cell zones correspond topographically by E17 [69]. Though mossy fibers synapse on granule cells in the adult cerebellum, they form transient contacts with Purkinje cells during embryonic development that may be critical for the segregation of spinocerebellar afferents into parasagittal zones [32, 70-73]. Unlike climbing fibers, mossy fibers do not exhibit clear-cut zones until after birth [74]. Purkinje cells are innervated by five to six climbing fibers by P3, and during early postnatal development one of these connections is selectively strengthened while the other synapses are eliminated; by P17 each Purkinje cell is innervated by a single climbing fiber, and each climbing fiber may contact up to ten Purkinje cells [75]. Cerebellar postnatal development also involves changes in the firing properties of both Purkinje cell simple spikes, which are intrinsically generated and modulated by mossy fiber to granule cell inputs via granule cell parallel fiber projections, and Purkinje cell complex spikes, which are generated by climbing fiber afferents [76] (Fig. 3). Both frequency and regularity of Purkinje cell spikes are dynamic as climbing and parallel fiber synapses mature and intrinsic Purkinje cell gene expression changes during development [76]. Neural activity, mediated by spontaneous activity and sensory experience, likely intersects with genetic programs to properly assemble the cerebellum and its circuits [77]. Genetic mouse models demonstrate that if genes regulating organization of the circuit are disrupted, there are severe impacts on map formation and motor function although external morphological defects typically associated with cerebellar disease may be subtle. For example, En1/2 genes are critical for establishing the organization of the cerebellar circuit, and En1/2 mutants exhibit altered formation of lobules and parasagittal Purkinje cell gene expression [59, 78-81]. Furthermore, adult patterns of mossy fiber afferents in distinct lobules and parasagittal zones are sensitive to En1/2 deletions [72]. Spontaneous mutant mouse models of ataxia identified by their motor phenotypes also demonstrate an active role for Purkinje cells in setting up the topography of cerebellar afferents and the importance of the cerebellar circuit map for motor control. Mossy fiber termination patterns are altered in the staggerer mutant mouse with intrinsically affected Purkinje cells [70]. The dreher mutation causes cell fate changes of cerebellar progenitors, and anteroposterior and parasagittal patterns are distorted but present despite external morphological phenotypes [82]. The cerebellar deficient folia (cdf) mutation causes a selective failure of a zebrinII-positive Purkinje cell cluster to disperse, and adult mutants have abnormal parasagittal zone widths in the anterior vermis [83]. Scrambler mutant mice are



**Fig. 3** Purkinje cells fire simple spikes and complex spikes. (**a**) Purkinje cell labeled using the classical Golgi-Cox staining method, demonstrating the elaborate morphology and dendritic branching of the Purkinje cell. (**b**) Extracellular single-unit recording from a Purkinje cell of an adult mouse in vivo. Purkinje cells fire two types of action potentials: high-frequency simple spikes that are driven by intrinsic activity and modulated by mossy fiber-granule cell inputs and low-frequency complex spikes that are triggered by climbing fiber input (*astericks*). (**c**) Higher power image of the Purkinje cell recording shown in panel (**b**) with individual spike waveforms visible. (Modified with permission from Reeber et al. [13])

able to maintain Purkinje cell zones and topographical circuits despite the abnormal placement of 95 % of Purkinje cells due to severe ectopia [84]. The *reeler* mutation causes the cerebellum to contain a "single lobule" composed of hypogranular cortex and a central mass of Purkinje cell clusters mixed with cerebellar nuclei, but the spinocerebellar and vestibulocerebellar afferents of *reeler* mice are able to maintain

targeting to specific regions despite the lack of external morphological landmarks [85, 86]. These mouse models of motor dysfunction, which have cerebellar abnormalities due to structural and circuit defects, have been invaluable for furthering our understanding of how circuit maps are generated. Moreover, the use of spontaneous and engineered (knockout and conditional) mice has helped shed light on the mechanisms of complex cerebellar diseases.

# The Role of Cerebellar Development in Ataxia, a Classical Cerebellar Movement Disorder

As the genes and specific mutations causing human disorders continue to be identified, genetic mouse models of individual diseases have shed light on how the cerebellum is affected at the levels of pathology, physiology, and circuit patterning to cause symptoms with which patients present in the clinic. Ataxia is the most common symptom of cerebellar disease and a common phenotype of the aforementioned mutant mice. Upon neurological examination, patients with ataxia usually exhibit uncoordinated limbs, impaired balance, gait disturbance, and diminished fine motor control [87]. Cerebellar ataxia is the most common form of ataxia, and there currently are over 60 identified forms of inherited cerebellar ataxia [13, 88]. Although ataxia and other cerebellar motor deficits are typically discussed in relation to specific genetic mutations, defects in cerebellar circuitry can also be sporadic or acquired as a result of stroke, tumors, multiple sclerosis, alcoholism, peripheral neuropathy, metabolic disorders, and vitamin deficiencies [89]. The following genetic cerebellar manipulations demonstrate the diversity of paths that can lead to ataxia and related motor deficits. We focus on Purkinje cells due to their crucial role during cerebellar development and their central function in the adult circuit.

## SCA1 (Spinocerebellar Ataxia Type 1)

Spinocerebellar ataxia type 1 (SCA1) is a dominantly inherited form of ataxia. SCA1 causes progressive loss of motor coordination, impaired balance, and gait disturbance. Other symptoms typically include dysarthria, dysmetria, difficulty swallowing, muscle atrophy, kyphosis, nystagmus, spasticity, and cognitive impairments [90]. SCA1 belongs to a family of neurodegenerative conditions that are caused by abnormal CAG repeat expansions that encode polyglutamine tracts. The mutated gene responsible for SCA1 was cloned and identified as the transcriptional regulator *ATAXIN-1* [91]. The polyglutamine ataxin-1 protein product is widely expressed in the brain but in SCA1 becomes toxic primarily to Purkinje cells of the cerebellum [92]. Polyglutamine ataxin-1 remains uniquely soluble in Purkinje cells, allowing it to enter the nucleus and disrupt the function of multiple protein complexes [93]. In humans, the onset of motor deficits most often occurs in the third or

fourth decade of life followed by death 10-15 years later; however, the age of onset and survival time depend on the number of repeats in the expanded polyglutamine sequence and can occur as late as the sixth decade of life or as early as the first decade [94]. Neuroimaging of late-stage SCA1 patients reveals gross atrophy of the cerebellum primarily due to the degeneration of Purkinje cells [90, 92, 95]. SCA1 patients also typically exhibit atrophy of the dentate cerebellar nuclei, pons, inferior olive, and other brain stem nuclei as the disease progresses [92]. Thus, degeneration eventually impacts both the cerebellar afferent and the efferent pathways. Postmortem examination of cerebellar tissue from SCA1 patients shows morphological abnormalities of remaining Purkinje cells in addition to Purkinje cell loss [95, 96]. The generation of mutant SCA1 transgenic mice has been critical in furthering our understanding of SCA1 progression [97–99]. First, electrophysiological properties of Purkinje cells such as intrinsic firing and the strength of glutamatergic synapses are abnormal preceding both onset of ataxia and Purkinje cell structural alterations in SCA1 mutant mice [100, 101]. Furthermore, specific genes involved in glutamate and calcium signaling are downregulated in Purkinje cells of SCA1 mutants before the morphological changes or behavioral deficits are obvious [102, 103]. Impaired performance on motor tasks in SCA1 mutant mice appears subsequently but before Purkinje cell morphological changes [100], suggesting changes in gene expression and altered circuit activity initiate SCA1 symptoms rather than the degeneration of Purkinje cells. Motor performance continues to decline as the dendritic morphology of Purkinje cells begins to deteriorate, dendritic arborization is reduced, the number of dendritic spines decreases, and the molecular layer shrinks as cells regress [97, 100]. Structural abnormalities become more evident as the proximal Purkinje cell dendrites atrophy and when the Purkinje cell somata begin to exhibit heterotopic positioning in the molecular layer [97, 99, 100]. It is not until the later stages of disease progression that Purkinje cell loss is detected [97, 99, 100]. The ages at which these events occur in SCA1 mutant mice differ between models containing shorter or longer knocked-in CAG repeats, consistent with what is observed in human patients [94]. The longer repeats cause an earlier onset of the disease and more severe symptoms. Despite the earlier onset, analysis of disease progression in juvenile and young adult mutant mice reveals that abnormalities in circuit activity and motor performance precede Purkinje cell degeneration. Progressive impairment of motor function in SCA1 thus reflects not only the degeneration of cells in the cerebellum and associated brain stem nuclei but also the earlier and sustained dysfunction of key neuronal populations that are integrated within the circuit.

# SCA6 (Spinocerebellar Ataxia Type 6)

Spinocerebellar ataxia type 6 (SCA6), like SCA1, is a dominantly inherited form of ataxia and a triplet repeat disease. In SCA6, a CAG repeat expansion occurs within the gene *CACNA1A*, which encodes the pore-forming subunit of voltage-dependent

P/O-type calcium channels [104, 105]. The mutated polyglutamine P/O-type calcium channels are widely expressed in the brain but become toxic primarily to Purkinje cells [106], where they are highly expressed in the plasma membrane [107]. Age of onset and survival time depend on the number of repeats in the expanded polyglutamine sequence, but SCA6 onset most commonly occurs in the fifth or sixth decade of life followed by death 20–30 years later [94]. SCA6 patients experience slowly progressive ataxia of the limbs and gait in addition to dysarthria and nystagmus [104, 108], and neuroimaging reveals cerebellar atrophy [108]. Neurodegeneration in SCA6 occurs mostly in Purkinje cells, but death of neurons in the dentate cerebellar nuclei and inferior olive is also observed [105, 109, 110]. Postmortem examination of cerebellar tissue from SCA6 patients shows morphological abnormalities of remaining Purkinje cells in addition to the loss of Purkinje cells [106]. In transgenic mouse models of SCA6, the onset of ataxia occurs before morphological changes or loss of Purkinje cells [111]. Electrophysiological examination reveals that Purkinje cells exhibit reduced firing rates and rhythmicity at ages coinciding with the onset of ataxia [112] and at later disease stages [113]. Though the polyglutamine mutation occurs in an ion channel that regulates the firing patterns of Purkinje cells in adult mice [114], SCA6 symptoms do not result from changes in channel current but rather age-dependent gain-of-function effects of aggregated mutant protein on cellular function [113, 115, 116]. Although SCA6 symptoms manifest in midlife, P/Q channels are expressed soon after birth [117] and are involved in synapse elimination of climbing fiber innervation onto Purkinje cells during development [75, 118, 119]. Interestingly, Purkinje cells of SCA6 mutant mice exhibit transiently increased firing rates and rhythmicity as well as abnormal climbing fiber innervation during early postnatal development without causing behavioral abnormalities [120]. These alterations disappear once the mice reach weanling age when the circuit has largely developed [54], and cellular and synaptic function of Purkinje cells return to normal [120]. These transient electrophysiological phenotypes during development are different from those observed in adult SCA6 mice, and they do not appear to impact motor coordination nor represent a mild initial stage of the ultimate phenotype that would progressively worsen. However, compensatory adaptations prior to disease onset have been observed in the Purkinje cells of SCA1 mutant mice [101], and such homeostatic alterations to the cerebellar circuit in response to transient electrophysiological dysfunction have not yet been detected in developing SCA6 mice but may not become pathological until later in life, if they are present [120]. In addition to SCA1 and SCA6, a prolonged period of Purkinje cell dysfunction prior to neuronal loss has emerged as a common feature in other polyglutamine disorders including spinocerebellar ataxia type 3 (SCA3); Purkinje cells in a genetic mouse model of SCA3 exhibit abnormal intrinsic activity and motor symptoms prior to neurodegeneration [121]. These early manifestations of hereditary ataxias could be effective targets for therapy as the circuits could be rescued before the cells die [100, 112, 121].

# Car8<sup>wdl</sup> (The waddles Spontaneous Mutant Mouse)

The carbonic anhydrase 8 gene (Car8) is abundantly expressed in Purkinje cells [122, 123]. Lower levels of expression can also be seen in the cerebellar nuclei and brainstem due to the termination of Purkinje cell axons in these regions. The CAR8 protein is involved in calcium modulation pathways [124] and is expressed beginning during embryonic development and continuing into adulthood [125, 126]. A spontaneous mutant mouse, waddles (Car8<sup>wdl</sup>), contains a deletion within the Car8 gene and exhibits progressive ataxia that is evident by 2 weeks of age in addition to appendicular dystonia and tremor [122]. In humans, mutations in the homologous gene (CA8) also cause ataxia [127]. Unlike in the SCAs, Purkinje cells do not degenerate, and the cerebellum does not show gross anatomical defects [122, 123]. However, adult Car8<sup>wdl</sup> mice have microcircuit abnormalities including denser climbing fiber innervation that extends to distal Purkinje cell dendrites and reduced parallel fiber synapse formation on Purkinje cell dendritic spines [128]. The mutation also impairs the topography of cerebellar circuits during development; the segregation of Purkinje cell subsets into distinct parasagittal zones is developmentally delayed in Car8<sup>wdl</sup> mice, and the topography of spinocerebellar afferents is abnormal in early postnatal and adult mice [123] (Fig. 4). Furthermore, electrophysiological examination of mutant mice reveals that the developing Purkinje cells exhibit abnormal firing frequency and patterns [123, 128], but Purkinje cells do not degenerate even as ataxia worsens [123]. The ataxia observed in  $Car8^{wdl}$  mice thus may result from both miswiring of the cerebellum's functional map and aberrant electrophysiological output of adult Purkinje cells. The CAR8 protein is a binding partner for inositol triphosphate receptor type 1 (IP3R1) [122, 124], an intracellular calcium release channel that is mutated in SCA15. Interestingly, IP3R1 is one of the genes downregulated in SCA1 mice preceding the onset of ataxia or morphological changes [102, 103]. Impaired calcium homeostasis in Purkinje cells appears to mediate a central mechanism of pathogenesis common to many types of ataxia that manifest with or without neurodegeneration. However, CAR8 likely has calciumindependent functions as well.

# L7<sup>Cre</sup>; Vgat<sup>flox/flox</sup> (Conditional Genetic Silencing of Purkinje Cell Neurotransmission)

Effective cerebellar control of motor behavior depends on the ability of Purkinje cells to integrate incoming sensorimotor inputs and communicate appropriately with their target neurons in the cerebellar nuclei. In the  $L7^{Cre}$ ;  $Vgat^{flox/flox}$  mouse, inhibitory synaptic transmission of Purkinje cells is constitutively blocked using conditional genetics [129]. Under control of the cell type-specific promoter L7, Cre recombinase excises the *floxed* vesicular GABA transporter gene (*Vgat*) that encodes the transporter for loading neurotransmitter into synaptic vesicles [129]. This eliminates the ability of Purkinje cells, the sole output of the cerebellar cortex,





to communicate with the cerebellar nuclei, the final output of the cerebellum and its link to the rest of the motor system. Purkinje cell output to the vestibular nuclei is also silenced by this approach.  $L7^{Cre}$ ;  $Vgat^{flox/flox}$  mice exhibit motor coordination defects, gait disturbance, and impaired balance. Though the absence of Purkinje cell output does not affect the gross morphology of the cerebellum, segregation of Purkinje cells into zones is disrupted, and the zonal topography of spinocerebellar afferents develops abnormally [129]. Although the basic circuit map is intact, the normally sharp boundaries of zones are compromised [129]. Purkinje cells of  $L7^{Cre}$ ;  $Vgat^{flox/flox}$  mice exhibit abnormal electrophysiological activity, but their output is not signaled downstream in this model [129]. However, loss of Purkinje cell signaling causes the cerebellar nuclei to fire abnormally, impacting the ultimate output of the cerebellum. Taken together with other models of cerebellar dysfunction, it is clear that ataxia and other motor deficits can arise due to insults in wiring, firing, or survival of Purkinje cells in a wide range of diseases with diverse causes.

# **Cerebellar Development and Non-motor Disorders**

Over the past 30 years, evidence from functional neuroimaging studies has mounted indicating that the cerebellum is active during non-motor behaviors such as perception, cognition, and emotion [130-132]. This idea is supported by evidence of extensive afferents and efferents interconnecting the cerebellum with prefrontal and parietal cortex [41, 133, 134]. Lesioning studies also suggest that cerebellar damage can lead to a variety of non-motor behavioral deficits [132, 135, 136]. However, the extent of the cerebellum's role in cognitive function remains unclear and is a topic of lively debate [137–140]. The adult cerebellum appears to be particularly relevant to those non-motor tasks requiring complex spatial and temporal judgments, such as prediction and perceptual sensory discrimination, or in which skilled mental responses are developed using an internal model [134, 141, 162]. It could be that the computational capacities of the cerebellum to discriminate patterns and use these patterns to learn to make context-dependent predictions with respect to motor behavior would be also useful to non-motor areas of the brain [142]. Signals from cerebellar cortex to both motor and non-motor areas of the cerebral cortex synapse in the interposed and dentate cerebellar nuclei and are then relayed through the thalamus [54]. In return, mossy fibers originating in the basal pontine nuclei relay information from cerebral cortex to the cerebellar cortex, with non-motor information likely going to the hemispheres [54]. Together, these cerebro-cerebellar connections form closed loops in which regions of the cerebellar cortex projecting to a given area of the cerebral cortex in turn receive input originating in those same areas of the cerebral cortex [41]. Each of these regions is involved in specific functions, forming a topographical map across the cerebellar cortex, cerebellar nuclei, thalamus, pons, and cerebral cortex [31, 41, 42]. Functional neuroimaging links different cognitive and motor behaviors to activity in specific cerebro-cerebellar closed loops [143], and focal cerebellar damage can cause different motor or non-motor deficits in a location-dependent manner [132, 136]. This anatomical and functional segregation of cerebro-cerebellar connections might respect the modular architecture of the cerebellum [45]. Anatomical and functional abnormalities in the cerebellar circuit have been implicated in several non-motor neurodevelopmental disorders [144] and may play a particularly important role during sensitive periods of development [145]. Clinical studies have also noted increased cognitive deficits in children who suffer cerebellar damage during posterior fossa tumor resection [146]. How the cerebellum interacts with the cerebral cortex during development remains poorly understood. Some non-motor diseases linked to cerebellar development include autism spectrum disorder [145, 147, 148] and dyslexia [149, 150]. The cerebellum could also be involved in schizophrenia [151, 152]. The study of cerebellar nonmotor diseases has required both human patients and genetic mouse models. For example, the most consistently affected structure in postmortem examination of tissue from autistic individuals is the cerebellum, including hypoplasia and reduced numbers of Purkinje cells without signs of neurodegeneration [147, 153, 154]. The En2 gene is necessary for establishing the structure and circuit organization of the cerebellum during mouse development [54], and EN2 mutations are linked to autism susceptibility in humans [155–157]. Loss-of-function mutations and transgenic misexpression of *En2* in mice cause autism-like behaviors [158, 159]. These mice show some morphological abnormalities in the cerebellum that are broadly similar to those reported in humans with autism as well as abnormal foliation and afferent topography [59, 79-81]. In addition to cerebellar defects being implicated in nonmotor diseases, cerebellar "motor" diseases can also feature non-motor symptoms. For example, human and mouse studies show that SCA1 [99, 160] and human CA8 mutations [127] cause cognitive deficits in addition to ataxia. It could be that the Purkinje cell and its associated microcircuits underlie both motor [129] and nonmotor problems [162]. This would suggest that the basic operational properties of a Purkinje cell could be tuned to different behaviors. Future experimental work will reveal whether this is the case.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by funds from Baylor College of Medicine (BCM) and Texas Children's Hospital. R.V.S. received support from the National Institutes of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS) R01NS089664. The BCM IDDRC Neuropathology Sub-Core performed the tissue staining (the BCM IDDRC Neurovisualization Core is supported by U54HD083092). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health (NIH). We thank Amanda M. Brown for suggestions and comments on an earlier version of the manuscript.

## References

- 1. Gilbert PFC, Thach WT. Purkinje cell activity during motor learning. Brain Res. 1977;128(2):309–28.
- Llinás RR. The olivo-cerebellar system: a key to understanding the functional significance of intrinsic oscillatory brain properties. Front Neural Circuits. 2013;7:96.

- Flourens M. Recherches expérimentales sur les propriétés et les fonctions du système nerveux dans les animaux vertébrés. Paris: Crevot; 1824.
- 4. Babinski J. De l'asynergie cérébelleuse. Rev Neurol. 1899;6:806-16.
- 5. Babinski J. Sur le rôle du cervelet dans les actes volitionnels nécessitant une succession rapide de mouvements (diadococinésie). Rev Neurol. 1902;10:1013–5.
- 6. Babinski J. Asynergie et inertie cérébelleuse. Rev Neurol. 1906;14:685-6.
- 7. Holmes G. The cerebellum of man. Brain. 1939;62:2-30.
- Manto M. The cerebellum, cerebellar disorders, and cerebellar research two centuries of discoveries. Cerebellum. 2008;7(4):505–16.
- Larsell O. In: Jansen J, editor. The comparative anatomy and histology of the cerebellum from monotremes through apes. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press; 1970. p. 31–58.
- Cajal S. Histologie du Systeme Nerveux de l'Homme et des Vertebres, vol. 2. Madrid: Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas; 1911.
- 11. Altman J, Bayer S. Development of the cerebellar system: in relation to its evolution, structure, and functions. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 1997.
- 12. Sillitoe RV, Joyner AL. Morphology, molecular codes, and circuitry produce the threedimensional complexity of the cerebellum. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2007;23:549–77.
- 13. Reeber SL, Otis TS, Sillitoe RV. New roles for the cerebellum in health and disease. Front Syst Neurosci. 2013;7:83.
- 14. Fu Y, Tvrdik P, Makki N, Paxinos G, Watson C. Precerebellar cell groups in the hindbrain of the mouse defined by retrograde tracing and correlated with cumulative Wnt1-cre genetic labeling. Cerebellum. 2011;10(3):570–84.
- Schweighofer N, Doya K, Kuroda S. Cerebellar aminergic neuromodulation: towards a functional understanding. Brain Res Rev. 2004;44(2–3):103–16.
- Reeber SL, Sillitoe RV. Patterned expression of a cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript peptide reveals complex circuit topography in the rodent cerebellar cortex. J Comp Neurol. 2011;519(9):1781–96.
- Barmack NH, Yakhnitsa V. Cerebellar climbing fibers modulate simple spikes in Purkinje cells. J Neurosci. 2003;23(21):7904–16.
- Brochu G, Maler L, Hawkes R. Zebrin II: a polypeptide antigen expressed selectively by Purkinje cells reveals compartments in rat and fish cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1990;291(4):538–52.
- Eisenman LM, Hawkes R. Antigenic compartmentation in the mouse cerebellar cortex: zebrin and HNK-1 reveal a complex, overlapping molecular topography. J Comp Neurol. 1993;335(4):586–605.
- Armstrong C, Hawkes R. Pattern formation in the cerebellar cortex. Biochem Cell Biol. 2000;78(5):551–62.
- Sillitoe RV, Hawkes R, Sillitoe RV, Hawkes R. Screen for patterning defects in the mouse cerebellum. J Histochem Cytochem. 2002;50(2):235–44.
- Sillitoe RV, Marzban H, Larouche M, Zahedi S, Affanni J, Hawkes R. Conservation of the architecture of the anterior lobe vermis of the cerebellum across mammalian species. Prog Brain Res. 2005;148:283–97.
- Pakan J, Iwaniuk A, Wylie D, Hawkes R, Marzban H. Purkinje cell compartmentation as revealed by zebrin II expression in the cerebellar cortex of pigeons (*Columba livia*). J Comp Neurol. 2007;501(4):619–30.
- Marzban H, Chung SH, Pezhouh MK, Feirabend H, Watanabe M, Voogd J, et al. Antigenic compartmentation of the cerebellar cortex in the chicken (*Gallus domesticus*). J Comp Neurol. 2010;518(12):2221–39.
- Marzban H, Hawkes R. On the architecture of the posterior zone of the cerebellum. Cerebellum. 2011;10(3):422–34.
- Marzban H, Hoy N, Marotte L, Hawkes R. Antigenic compartmentation of the cerebellar cortex in an Australian marsupial, the tammar wallaby *Macropus eugenii*. Brain Behav Evol. 2012;80(3):196–209.

- Marzban H, Hoy N, Buchok M, Catania KC, Hawkes R. Compartmentation of the cerebellar cortex: adaptation to lifestyle in the star-nosed mole *Condylura cristata*. Cerebellum. 2015;14(2):106–18.
- Wylie D, Hoops D, Aspden J, Iwaniuk A. Zebrin II is expressed in sagittal stripes in the cerebellum of dragon lizards (*Ctenophorus* sp.). Brain Behav Evol. 2017;88(3-4):177–86.
- Hawkes R. Purkinje cell stripes and long-term depression at the parallel fiber-Purkinje cell synapse. Front Syst Neurosci. 2014;8:41.
- Ozol K, Hayden JM, Oberdick J, Hawkes R. Transverse zones in the vermis of the mouse cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1999;412(1):95–111.
- Apps R, Hawkes R. Cerebellar cortical organization: a one-map hypothesis. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2009;10(9):670–81.
- 32. Ji Z, Hawkes R. Developing mossy fiber terminal fields in the rat cerebellar cortex may segregate because of Purkinje cell compartmentation and not competition. J Comp Neurol. 1995;359(2):197–212.
- 33. Voogd J, Pardoe J, Ruigrok TJH, Apps R. The distribution of climbing and mossy fiber collateral branches from the copula pyramidis and the paramedian lobule: congruence of climbing fiber cortical zones and the pattern of zebrin banding within the rat cerebellum. J Neurosci. 2003;23(11):4645–56.
- 34. Hesslow G. Correspondence between climbing fibre input and motor output in eyeblink-related areas in cat cerebellar cortex. J Physiol. 1994;476(2):229–44.
- 35. Ekerot CF, Larson B. Branching of olivary axons to innervate pairs of sagittal zones in the cerebellar anterior lobe of the cat. Exp Brain Res. 1982;48(2):185–98.
- 36. Apps R, Trott JR, Dietrichs E. A study of branching in the projection from the inferior olive to the x and lateral c1 zones of the cat cerebellum using a combined electrophysiological and retrograde fluorescent double-labelling technique. Exp Brain Res. 1991;87(1):141–52.
- 37. Ji Z. Topography of Purkinje cell compartments and mossy fiber terminal fields in lobules II and III of the rat cerebellar cortex: spinocerebellar and cuneocerebellar projections. Neuroscience. 1994;61(4):935–54.
- Serapide MF, Pantó MR, Parenti R, Zappalá A, Cicirata F. Multiple zonal projections of the basilar pontine nuclei to the cerebellar cortex of the rat. J Comp Neurol. 2001;430(4):471–84.
- Gerrits NM, Voogd J, Nas WSC. Cerebellar and olivary projections of the external and rostral internal cuneate nuclei in the cat. Exp Brain Res. 1985;57(2):239–55.
- 40. Wu HS, Sugihara I, Shinoda Y. Projection patterns of single mossy fibers originating from the lateral reticular nucleus in the rat cerebellar cortex and nuclei. J Comp Neurol. 1999;411(1):97–118.
- 41. Kelly RM, Strick PL. Cerebellar loops with motor cortex and prefrontal cortex of a nonhuman primate. J Neurosci. 2003;23(23):8432–44.
- 42. Dum RP, Strick PL. An unfolded map of the cerebellar dentate nucleus and its projections to the cerebral cortex. J Neurophysiol. 2003;89(1):634–9.
- 43. Voogd J, Ruigrok TJH. The organization of the corticonuclear and olivocerebellar climbing fiber projections to the rat cerebellar vermis: the congruence of projection zones and the zebrin pattern. J Neurocytol. 2004;33:5–21.
- Pijpers A, Voogd J, Ruigrok TJH. Topography of olivo-cortico-nuclear modules in the intermediate cerebellum of the rat. J Comp Neurol. 2005;492(2):193–213.
- 45. Ruigrok TJH. Ins and outs of cerebellar modules. Cerebellum. 2011;10(3):464–74.
- 46. Ruigrok TJH, Pijpers A, Goedknegt-Sabel E, Coulon P. Multiple cerebellar zones are involved in the control of individual muscles: a retrograde transneuronal tracing study with rabies virus in the rat. Eur J Neurosci. 2008;28(1):181–200.
- 47. Chockkan V, Hawkes R. Functional and antigenic maps in the rat cerebellum: zebrin compartmentation and vibrissal receptive fields in lobule IXa. J Comp Neurol. 1994;345(1):33–45.
- Ebner TJ, Chen G, Gao W, Reinert K. Optical imaging of cerebellar functional architectures: parallel fiber beams, parasagittal bands and spreading acidification. Prog Brain Res. 2004;148:125–38.

- Wadiche JI, Jahr CE. Patterned expression of Purkinje cell glutamate transporters controls synaptic plasticity. Nat Neurosci. 2005;8(10):1329–34.
- Schonewille M, Luo C, Ruigrok TJ, Voogd J, Schmolesky M, Rutteman M, Freek HE, de Jeu MTG, de Zeeuw CI. Zonal organization of the mouse flocculus: physiology, input, and output. J Comp Neurol. 2006;487:670–82.
- Shambes G, Gibson J, Welker W. Fractured somatotopy in granule cell tactile areas of rat cerebellar hemispheres revealed by micromapping. Brain Behav Evol. 1978;15(2):94–140.
- 52. Hallem JS, Thompson JH, Gundappa-Sulur G, Hawkes R, Bjaalie JG, Bower JM. Spatial correspondence between tactile projection patterns and the distribution of the antigenic Purkinje cell markers anti-zebrin I and anti-zebrin II in the cerebellar folium crus IIa of the rat. Neuroscience. 1999;93(3):1083–94.
- Cerminara NL, Lang EJ, Sillitoe RV, Apps R. Redefining the cerebellar cortex as an assembly of non-uniform Purkinje cell microcircuits. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2015;16(2):79–93.
- White JJ, Sillitoe RV. Development of the cerebellum: from gene expression patterns to circuit maps. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol. 2013;2(1):149–64.
- Sudarov A, Joyner AL. Cerebellum morphogenesis: the foliation pattern is orchestrated by multi-cellular anchoring centers. Neural Dev. 2007;2:26.
- Lewis PM, Gritli-Linde A, Smeyne R, Kottmann A, McMahon AP. Sonic hedgehog signaling is required for expansion of granule neuron precursors and patterning of the mouse cerebellum. Dev Biol. 2004;270(2):393–410.
- 57. Corrales JD, Blaess S, Mahoney EM, Joyner AL. The level of sonic hedgehog signaling regulates the complexity of cerebellar foliation. Development. 2006;133(9):1811–21.
- Joyner AL, Herrup K, Auerbach BA, Davis CA, Rossant J. Subtle cerebellar phenotype in mice homozygous for a targeted deletion of the En-2 homeobox. Science. 1991;251(4998):1239–43.
- Kuemerle B, Zanjani H, Joyner A, Herrup K. Pattern deformities and cell loss in Engrailed-2 mutant mice suggest two separate patterning events during cerebellar development. J Neurosci. 1997;17(20):7881–9.
- Oberdick J, Schilling K, Smeyne R, Corbin J, Bocchiaro C, Morgan J. Control of segmentlike patterns of gene expression in the mouse cerebellum. Neuron. 1993;10(6):1007–18.
- Millen KJ, Hui CC, Joyner AL. A role for En-2 and other murine homologues of Drosophila segment polarity genes in regulating positional information in the developing cerebellum. Development. 1995;121(12):3935–45.
- Larouche M, Hawkes R. From clusters to stripes: the developmental origins of adult cerebellar compartmentation. Cerebellum. 2006;5(2):77–88.
- Arndt K, Nakagawa S, Takeichi M, Redies C. Cadherin-defined segments and parasagittal cell ribbons in the developing chicken cerebellum. Mol Cell Neurosci. 1998;10(5–6):211–28.
- 64. Luo J, Treubert-Zimmermann U, Redies C. Cadherins guide migrating Purkinje cells to specific parasagittal domains during cerebellar development. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2004;25(1):138–52.
- Hashimoto M, Mikoshiba K. Mediolateral compartmentalization of the cerebellum is determined on the "birth date" of Purkinje cells. J Neurosci. 2003;23(36):11342–51.
- 66. Ashwell K, Zhang L. Ontogeny of afferents to the fetal rat cerebellum. Acta Anat. 1992;145(1):17–23.
- 67. Grishkat H, LM E. Development of the spinocerebellar projection in the prenatal mouse. J Comp Neurol. 1995;363(1):93–108.
- Paradies MA, Eisenman LM. Evidence of early topographic organization in the embryonic olivocerebellar projection: a model system for the study of pattern formation processes in the central nervous system. Dev Dyn. 1993;197(2):125–45.
- 69. Paradies MA, Grishkat H, Smeyne RJ, Oberdick J, Morgan JI, Eisenman LM. Correspondence between L7-lacZ-expressing Purkinje cells and labeled olivocerebellar fibers during late embryogenesis in the mouse. J Comp Neurol. 1996;374(3):451–66.
- Arsénio Nunes M, Sotelo C, Wehrlé R. Organization of spinocerebellar projection map in three types of agranular cerebellum: Purkinje cells vs. granule cells as organizer element. J Comp Neurol. 1988;273(1):120–36.

- Sotelo C, Wassef M. Cerebellar development: afferent organization and Purkinje cell heterogeneity. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci. 1991;331:307–13.
- 72. Sillitoe RV, Vogel MW, Joyner AL. Engrailed homeobox genes regulate establishment of the cerebellar afferent circuit map. J Neurosci. 2010;30(30):10015–24.
- Sillitoe RV. Mossy fibers terminate directly within Purkinje cell zones during mouse development. Cerebellum. 2016;15(1):14–7.
- Arsénio NM, Sotelo C. Development of the spinocerebellar system in the postnatal rat. J Comp Neurol. 1985;237(3):291–306.
- Watanabe M, Kano M. Climbing fiber synapse elimination in cerebellar Purkinje cells. Eur J Neurosci. 2011;34(10):1697–710.
- Arancillo M, White JJ, Lin T, Stay TL, Sillitoe RV. In vivo analysis of Purkinje cell firing properties during postnatal mouse development. J Neurophysiol. 2015;113(2):578–91.
- 77. Leto K, Arancillo M, Becker EBE, Buffo A, Chiang C, Ding B, Dobyns WB, Dusart I, Haldipur P, Hatten ME, Hoshino M, Joyner AL, Kano M, Kilpatrick DL, Koibuchi N, Marino S, Martinez S, Millen KJ, Millner TO, Miyata T, Parmigiani E, Schilling K, Sekerkova G, Sillitoe RV, Sotelo C, Uesaka N, Wefers A, Wingate RJT, Hawkes R. Consensus paper: cerebellar development. Cerebellum. 2016;15:789–828.
- Sgaier SK, Lao Z, Villanueva MP, Berenshteyn F, Stephen D, Turnbull RK, Joyner AL. Genetic subdivision of the tectum and cerebellum into functionally related regions based on differential sensitivity to engrailed proteins. Development. 2007;134(12):2325–35.
- Sillitoe RV, Stephen D, Lao Z, Joyner AL. Engrailed homeobox genes determine the organization of Purkinje cell sagittal stripe gene expression in the adult cerebellum. J Neurosci. 2008;28(47):12150–62.
- Cheng Y, Sudarov A, Szulc KU, Sgaier SK, Stephen D, Turnbull DH, Joyner AL. The Engrailed homeobox genes determine the different foliation patterns in the vermis and hemispheres of the mammalian cerebellum. Development. 2010;137(3):519–29.
- Millen KJ, Wurst W, Herrup K, Joyner AL. Abnormal embryonic cerebellar development and patterning of postnatal foliation in two mouse Engrailed-2 mutants. Development. 1994;120(3):695–706.
- Sillitoe RV, George-Jones NA, Millen KJ, Hawkes R. Purkinje cell compartmentalization in the cerebellum of the spontaneous mutant mouse *dreher*. Brain Struct Funct. 2014;219(1):35–47.
- Beierbach E, Park C, Ackerman S, Goldowitz D, Hawkes R. Abnormal dispersion of a purkinje cell subset in the mouse mutant cerebellar deficient folia (*cdf*). J Comp Neurol. 2001;436(1):42–51.
- 84. Reeber SL, Loeschel CA, Franklin A, Sillitoe RV. Establishment of topographic circuit zones in the cerebellum of *scrambler mutant* mice. Front Neural Circ. 2013;7:122.
- Vig J, Goldowitz D, Steindler DA, Eisenman LM. Compartmentation of the *reeler* cerebellum: segregation and overlap of spinocerebellar and secondary vestibulocerebellar fibers and their target cells. Neuroscience. 2005;130(3):735–44.
- Goffinet AM, So KF, Yamamoto M, Edwards M, Caviness VS. Architectonic and hodological organization of the cerebellum in *reeler* mutant mice. Dev Brain Res. 1984;16(2):263–76.
- Bodranghien F, Bastian A, Casali C, Hallett M, Louis ED, Manto M, Marien P, Nowak DA, Schmahmann JD, Serrao M, Steiner KM, Strupp M, Tilikete C, Timmann D, van Dun K, Consensus paper: revisiting the symptoms and signs of cerebellar syndrome. Cerebellum. 2016;15(3):369–91.
- Durr A. Autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxias: polyglutamine expansions and beyond. Lancet Neurol. 2010;9(9):885–94.
- 89. Klockgether T. Sporadic ataxia with adult onset: classification and diagnostic criteria. Lancet Neurol. 2010;9(1):94–104.
- 90. Zoghbi HY, Orr HT. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 1. Semin Cell Biol. 1995;6(1):29-35.
- Orr H, Chung M, Banfi S, Kwiatkowski TJ, Servadio A, Beaudet A, McCall AE, Duvick LA, Ranum LPW, Zoghbi HY. Expansion of an unstable trinucleotide CAG repeat in spinocerebellar ataxia type 1. Nat Genet. 1993;4(3):221–6.

- 92. Gilman S, Sima A, Junck L, Kluin K, Koeppe R, Lohman M, Little R. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 1 with multiple system degeneration and glial cytoplasmic inclusions. Ann Neurol. 1996;39(2):241–55.
- Lim J, Crespo-barreto J, Jafar-nejad P, Bowman AB, Richman R, Hill DE, Orr HT, Zoghbi HY. Opposing effects of polyglutamine expansion on native protein complexes contribute to SCA1. Nature. 2008;452(7188):713–8.
- 94. Zoghbi HY, Orr HT. Glutamine repeats and neurodegeneration. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2000;23:217-47.
- Koeppen A. The Purkinje cell and its afferents in human hereditary ataxia. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1991;50(4):505–14.
- Ferrer I, Genís D, Dávalos A, Bernadó L, Sant F, Serrano T. The Purkinje cell in olivopontocerebellar atrophy. A Golgi and immunocytochemical study. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 1994;20(1):38–46.
- 97. Clark H, Burright E, Yunis W, Larson S, Wilcox C, Hartman B, Matilla A, Zoghbi HY, Orr HT. Purkinje cell expression of a mutant allele of SCA1 in transgenic mice leads to disparate effects on motor behaviors, followed by a progressive cerebellar dysfunction and histological alterations. J Neurosci. 1997;17(19):7385–95.
- Burright EN, Brent Clark H, Servadio A, Matilla T, Feddersen RM, Yunis WS, Duvick LA, Zoghbi HY, Orr HT. SCA1 transgenic mice: a model for neurodegeneration caused by an expanded CAG trinucleotide repeat. Cell. 1995;82(6):937–48.
- 99. Watase K, Weeber EJ, Xu B, Antalffy B, Yuva-Paylor L, Hashimoto K, Kano M, Atkinson R, Sun Y, Armstrong DL, Sweatt JD, Orr HT, Paylor R, Zoghbi HY. A long CAG repeat in the mouse Scal locus replicates SCA1 features and reveals the impact of protein solubility on selective neurodegeneration. Neuron. 2002;34(6):905–19.
- 100. Hourez R, Servais L, Orduz D, Gall D, Millard I, de Kerchove d'Exaerde A, Cheron G, Orr HT, Pandolfo M, Schiffmann SN. Aminopyridines correct early dysfunction and delay neurodegeneration in a mouse model of spinocerebellar ataxia type 1. J Neurosci. 2011;31(33):11795–807.
- 101. Dell'Orco JM, Wasserman AH, Chopra R, Ingram MAC, Hu Y-S, Singh V, Wulff H, Opal P, Shakkottai VG. Neuronal atrophy early in degenerative ataxia is a compensatory mechanism to regulate membrane excitability. J Neurosci. 2015;35(32):11292–307.
- 102. Serra HG, Byam CE, Lande JD, Tousey SK, Zoghbi HY, Orr HT. Gene profiling links SCA1 pathophysiology to glutamate signaling in Purkinje cells of transgenic mice. Hum Mol Genet. 2004;13(20):2535–43.
- Lin X, Antalffy B, Kang D, Orr HT, Zoghbi HY. Polyglutamine expansion down-regulates specific neuronal genes before pathologic changes in SCA1. Nat Neurosci. 2000;3(2):157–63.
- 104. Zhuchenko O, Bailey J, Bonnen P, Ashizawa T, Stockton DW, Amos C, Dobyns WB, Subramony SH, Zoghbi HY, Lee CC. Autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia (SCA6) associated with small polyglutamine expansion in the α1A-voltage-dependent calcium channel. Nat Genet. 1997;15:62–9.
- 105. Ishikawa K, Watanabe M, Shoji S, Tsuji S. Japanese families with autosomal dominant pure cerebellar ataxia map to chromosome 19p13.1-p13.2 and are strongly associated with mild CAG expansions in the spinocerebellar ataxia type 6 gene in chromosome 19p13.1. Am Soc Hum Genet. 1997:336–46.
- 106. Yang Q, Hashizume Y, Yoshida M, Wang Y, Goto Y, Mitsuma N, Ishikawa K, Mizusawa H. Morphological Purkinje cell changes in spinocerebellar ataxia type 6. Acta Neuropathol. 2000;100(4):371–6.
- 107. Westenbroek RE, Sakurai T, Elliott EM, Hell JW, Starr TV, Snutch TP, Catterall WA. Immunochemical identification and subcellular distribution of the alpha 1A subunits of brain calcium channels. J Neurosci. 1995;15(10):6403–18.
- Schols L, Kruger R, Amoiridis G, Przuntek H, Epplen JT, Riess O. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 6: genotype and phenotype in German kindreds. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1998;64(1):67–73.

- 109. Tsuchiya K, Oda T, Yoshida M, Sasaki H, Haga C, Okino H, Tominaga I, Matsui K, Akiyama H, Hashizume Y. Degeneration of the inferior olive in spinocerebellar ataxia 6 may depend on disease duration: report of two autopsy cases and statistical analysis of autopsy cases reported to date. Neuropathology. 2005;25(2):125–35.
- 110. Stefanescu MR, Dohnalek M, Maderwald S, Thürling M, Minnerop M, Beck A, Schlamann M, Diedrichsen J, Ladd ME, Timmann D. Structural and functional MRI abnormalities of cerebellar cortex and nuclei in SCA3, SCA6 and Friedreich's ataxia. Brain. 2015;138(Pt 5):1182–97.
- 111. Jayabal S, Ljungberg L, Erwes T, Cormier A, Quilez S, El Jaouhari S, Watt AJ. Rapid onset of motor deficits in a mouse model of spinocerebellar ataxia type 6 precedes late cerebellar degeneration. eNeuro. 2015;2(6):ENEURO. 0094–15.2015.
- 112. Jayabal S, Chang HHV, Cullen KE, Watt AJ. 4-Aminopyridine reverses ataxia and cerebellar firing deficiency in a mouse model of spinocerebellar ataxia type 6. Sci Rep. 2016;6:29489.
- 113. Mark MD, Krause M, Boele HJ, Kruse W, Pollok S, Kuner T, Dalkara D, Koekkoek S, De Zeeuw CI, Herlitze S. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 6 protein aggregates cause deficits in motor learning and cerebellar plasticity. J Neurosci. 2015;35(23):8882–95.
- 114. Womack MD, Chevez C, Khodakhah K. Calcium-activated potassium channels are selectively coupled to P/Q-type calcium channels in cerebellar Purkinje neurons. J Neurosci. 2004;24(40):8818–22.
- 115. Watase K, Barrett CF, Miyazaki T, Ishiguro T, Ishikawa K, Hu Y, Unno T, Sun Y, Kasai S, Watanabe M, Gomez CM, Mizusawa H, Tsien RW, Zoghbi HY. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 6 knockin mice develop a progressive neuronal dysfunction with age-dependent accumulation of mutant CaV2.1 channels. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(33):11987–92.
- 116. Saegusa H, Wakamori M, Matsuda Y, Wang J, Mori Y, Zong S, Tanabe T. Properties of human Cav2.1 channel with a spinocerebellar ataxia type 6 mutation expressed in Purkinje cells. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2007;34(2):261–70.
- 117. Indriati DW, Kamasawa N, Matsui K, Meredith AL, Watanabe M, Shigemoto R. Quantitative localization of Cav2.1 (P/Q-type) voltage-dependent calcium channels in Purkinje cells: somatodendritic gradient and distinct somatic coclustering with calcium-activated potassium channels. J Neurosci. 2013;33(8):3668–78.
- Miyazaki T. P/Q-type Ca2+ channel 1A regulates synaptic competition on developing cerebellar Purkinje cells. J Neurosci. 2004;24(7):1734–43.
- 119. Hashimoto K, Tsujita M, Miyazaki T, Kitamura K, Yamazaki M, Shin H-S, Watanabe M, Sakimura K, Kano M. Postsynaptic P/Q-type Ca2+ channel in Purkinje cell mediates synaptic competition and elimination in developing cerebellum. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(24):9987–92.
- 120. Jayabal S, Ljungberg L, Watt AJ. Transient cerebellar alterations during development prior to obvious motor phenotype in a mouse model of spinocerebellar ataxia type 6. J Physiol. 2016;0:1–18.
- 121. Shakkottai VG, do Carmo Costa M, Dell'Orco JM, Sankaranarayanan A, Wulff H, Paulson HL. Early changes in cerebellar physiology accompany motor dysfunction in the Polyglutamine disease spinocerebellar ataxia type 3. J Neurosci. 2011;31(36):13002–14.
- 122. Jiao Y, Yan J, Zhao Y, Donahue LR, Beamer WG, Li X, Roe BA, LeDoux MS, Gu W. Carbonic anhydrase-related protein VIII deficiency is associated with a distinctive lifelong gait disorder in waddles mice. Genetics. 2005;171(3):1239–46.
- 123. White JJ, Arancillo M, King A, Lin T, Miterko LN, Gebre SA, Sillitoe RV. Pathogenesis of severe ataxia and tremor without the typical signs of neurodegeneration. Neurobiol Dis. 2016;86:86–98.
- 124. Hirota J, Ando H, Hamada K, Mikoshiba K. Carbonic anhydrase-related protein is a novel binding protein for inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor type 1. Biochem J. 2003;372:435–41.
- 125. Taniuchi K, Nishimori I, Takeuchi T, Ohtsuki Y, Onishi S. cDNA cloning and developmental expression of murine carbonic anhydrase-related proteins VIII, X, and XI. Mol Brain Res. 2002;109(1–2):207–15.

- 126. Kato K. Sequence of a novel carbonic anhydrase-related polypeptide and its exclusive presence in Purkinje cells. FEBS Lett. 1990;271(1–2):137–40.
- 127. Türkmen S, Guo G, Garshasbi M, Hoffmann K, Alshalah AJ, Mischung C, Kuss A, Humphrey N, Mundlos S, Robinson PN. CA8 mutations cause a novel syndrome characterized by ataxia and mild mental retardation with predisposition to quadrupedal gait. PLoS Genet. 2009;5(5):1–8.
- 128. Hirasawa M, Xu X, Trask RB, Maddatu TP, Johnson BA, Naggert JK, Nishina PM, Ikeda A. Carbonic anhydrase related protein 8 mutation results in aberrant synaptic morphology and excitatory synaptic function in the cerebellum. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2007;35(1):161–70.
- White JJ, Arancillo M, Stay TL, George-Jones NA, Levy SL, Heck DH, Sillitoe RV. Cerebellar zonal patterning relies on Purkinje cell neurotransmission. J Neurosci. 2014;34(24):8231–45.
- Cabeza R, Nyberg L. Imaging cognition II: an empirical review of 275 PET and fMRI studies. J Cogn Neurosci. 2000;12(1):1–47.
- 131. Schmahmann JD. The role of the cerebellum in cognition and emotion: personal reflections since 1982 on the dysmetria of thought hypothesis, and its historical evolution from theory to therapy. Neuropsychol Rev. 2010;20(3):236–60.
- 132. Timmann D, Daum I. Cerebellar contributions to cognitive functions: a progress report after two decades of research. Cerebellum. 2007;6:159–62.
- 133. Baumann O, Borra RJ, Bower JM, Cullen KE, Habas C, Ivry RB, Leggio M, Mattingley JB, Molinari M, Moulton EA, Paulin MG, Pavlova MA, Schmahmann JD, Sokolov AA. Consensus paper: The Role of the Cerebellum in Perceptual Processes. Cerebellum. 2014:197–220.
- 134. Strick PL, Dum RP, Fiez JA. Cerebellum and nonmotor function. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2009;32:413–34.
- 135. Tavano A, Borgatti R. Evidence for a link among cognition, language and emotion in cerebellar malformations. Cortex. 2010;46(7):907–18.
- 136. Schmahmann J, Sherman J. The cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome. Brain. 1998;121(4):561–79.
- 137. Glickstein M. What does the cerebellum really do? Curr Biol. 2007;17(19):824-7.
- 138. Lemon R, Edgley S. Life without a cerebellum. Brain. 2010;133(3):652-4.
- 139. Galliano E, Potters J-W, Elgersma Y, Wisden W, Kushner SA, De Zeeuw CI, Hoebeek FE. Synaptic transmission and plasticity at inputs to murine cerebellar Purkinje cells are largely dispensable for standard nonmotor tasks. J Neurosci. 2013;33(31):12599–618.
- Leiner H, Leiner A, Dow R. Does the cerebellum contribute to mental skills? Behav Neurosci. 1986;100(4):443–54.
- 141. Bastian AJ. Moving, sensing and learning with cerebellar damage. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2011;21(4):596–601.
- 142. D'Angelo E, Casali S. Seeking a unified framework for cerebellar function and dysfunction: from circuit operations to cognition. Front Neural Circuits. 2012;6:116.
- 143. Salmi J, Pallesen KJ, Neuvonen T, Brattico E, Korvenoja A, Salonen O, Carlson S. Cognitive and motor loops of the human Cerebrocerebellar system. J Cogn Neurosci. 2010;22(11):2663–76.
- 144. Stoodley CJ. The cerebellum and neurodevelopmental disorders. Cerebellum. 2016;15(1):34–7.
- 145. Wang SSH, Kloth AD, Badura A. The cerebellum, sensitive periods, and autism. Neuron. 2014;83(3):518–32.
- 146. Cantelmi D, Schweizer TA, Cusimano MD. Role of the cerebellum in the neurocognitive sequelae of treatment of tumours of the posterior fossa: an update. Lancet Oncol. 2008;9(6):569–76.
- 147. Fatemi SH, Aldinger KA, Ashwood P, Bauman ML, Blaha CD, Blatt GJ, Chauhan A, Chauhan V, Dager SR, Dickson PE, Estes AM, Goldowitz D, Heck DH, Kemper TL, King BH, Martin LA, Millen KJ, Mittleman G, Mosconi MW, Persico AM, Sweeney JA, Webb SJ, Welsh JP. Consensus paper: Pathological Role of the Cerebellum in Autism. Cerebellum. 2012;11(3):777–807.

- 148. Becker EBE, Stoodley CJ. Autism spectrum disorder and the cerebellum. 1st, vol. 113. Int Rev Neurobiol. Elsevier Inc.; 2013. 1–34 p.
- Stoodley CJ, Stein JF. Cerebellar function in developmental dyslexia. Cerebellum. 2013;12(2):267–76.
- 150. Nicolson R, Fawcett A, Dean P. Developmental dyslexia: the cerebellar deficit hypothesis. Trends Neurosci. 2001;24(9):508–11.
- 151. Andreasen NC, Pierson R. The role of the cerebellum in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry. 2008;64(2):81–8.
- 152. Mothersill O, Knee-Zaska C, Donohoe G. Emotion and theory of mind in schizophrenia investigating the role of the cerebellum. Cerebellum. 2016;15(3):357–68.
- 153. Bauman M, Kemper T. Histoanatomic observations of the brain in early infantile autism. Neurology. 1985;35(6):866–74.
- 154. Kemper T, Bauman M. The contribution of neuropathologic studies to the understanding of autism. Neurol Clin. 1993;11(1):175–87.
- 155. Gharani N, Benayed R, Mancuso V, Brzustowicz LM, Millonig JH. Association of the homeobox transcription factor, ENGRAILED 2, 3, with autism spectrum disorder. Assoc homeobox Transcr factor, ENGRAILED 2, 3, with autism Spectr Disord. Mol Psychiatry. 2004;9(5):474–84.
- 156. Wang L, Jia M, Yue W, Tang F, Qu M, Ruan Y, Lu T, Zhang H, Yan H, Liu J, Guo Y, Zhang J, Yang X, Zhang D. Association of the ENGRAILED 2 (EN2) gene with autism in Chinese Han population. Am J Med Genet Part B Neuropsychiatr Genet. 2008;147(4):434–8.
- 157. Sen B, Surindro Singh A, Sinha S, Chatterjee A, Ahmed S, Ghosh S, Usha R. Family-based studies indicate association of Engrailed 2 gene with autism in an Indian population. Genes Brain Behav. 2010;9(2):248–55.
- 158. Cheh MA, Millonig JH, Roselli LM, Ming X, Jacobsen E, Kamdar S, Wagner GC. En2 knockout mice display neurobehavioral and neurochemical alterations relevant to autism spectrum disorder. Brain Res. 2006;1116(1):166–176.
- 159. Brielmaier J, Matteson PG, Silverman JL, Senerth JM, Kelly S, Genestine M, Millonig JH, DiCicco-Bloom E, Crawley JN. Autism-relevant social abnormalities and cognitive deficits in engrailed-2 knockout mice. PLoS One. 2012;7(7):40–2.
- 160. Bürk K, Bösch S, Globas C, Zühlke C, Daum I, Klockgether T, Dichgans J. Executive dysfunction in spinocerebellar ataxia type 1. Eur Neurol. 2001;46(1):43–8.
- 161. Tsai PT, Hull C, Chu YX, Greene-Colozzi E, Sadowski AR, Leech JM, Steinberg J, Crawley JN, Regehr WG, Sahin M. Autistic-like behaviour and cerebellar dysfunction in Purkinje cell Tsc1 mutant mice. Nature. 2012;488(7413):647-651.
- 162. Ito M. Control of mental activities by internal models in the cerebellum. Nature Reviews Neuroscience. 2008;9(4):304–13.

# **Developmental Disorders of the Cerebellum and Neurotrophic Factors**

Leila Pirmoradi, Ali Akbar Owji, and Shahla Shojaei

**Abstract** The cerebellum plays a main role in motor control and also in cognition features such as attention. Thus, a disturbance in cerebellar development results in neurological disorders such as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), congenital ataxia, and autism. Because neurotrophic factors have established effects on the growth, proliferation, differentiation, and arborization of neurons, their role in the neurodevelopmental disorders has been investigated for decades. Results of numerous studies have shown changes in serum or tissue neurotrophic factor levels, as well as alterations in their receptors and components of their signaling pathways in these types of the neurodevelopmental diseases. In this chapter, we provide a brief overview of neurotrophic factors and their role in cerebellar development and then focus on the roles of the neurotrophin system in developmental disorders and diseases of the cerebellum.

**Keywords** Cerebellar disorders • Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder • Congenital ataxia • Nerve growth factor • Neurotrophins • Transforming growth factor beta • p75 neurotrophin receptor

L. Pirmoradi

A.A. Owji Research Center for Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

S. Shojaei (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017 H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_7

Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, Sanandaj, Iran

Department of Human Anatomy and Cell Sciences, Faculty of Health Science, College of Medicine, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Canada

Department of Biochemistry, School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran e-mail: Shahla.Shojaei@umanitoba.ca

# Introduction

The cerebellum coordinates motor function and preserves equilibrium [1, 2], and it is also an important region of the brain for behavior and cognition in all aspects including language, memory, sleep, attention, and spatial and social emotional processing [2–4]. Early damage to the cerebellum results in more drastic and longlasting effects on movement and cognition [5]. Early abnormalities in cerebellar function and regulation result in developmental disorders such as autism, ADHD, developmental dyslexia, and Joubert syndrome [5–7]. Many studies have investigated the molecular mechanism of cerebellar development, and the role of neurotrophic factors is well known [8, 9]. In the cerebellum, neurotrophic factors have a crucial effect on the generation, differentiation, and proliferation of different types of neuronal cells such as granule cells, Purkinje cells, and glia [8, 9], and dysregulation of their pathways was associated with developmental disorders in the cerebellum [10–12].

#### **Neurotrophic Factors**

Neurons and glial cells are dependent on growth factors for their normal function, differentiation, and survival [13]. The neurotrophin family of peptides was the first discovered family of growth factors that affect the central nervous system [14]. Neurotrophic factors modulate formation of the central nervous system by affecting the development and differentiation of neuronal cells in utero [14]. These proteins are also expressed throughout life and have central roles in the regulation of action and survival of neurons and glial cells [15, 16]. Receptors for these factors have also been discovered in many tissues where they mediate a wide range of actions including the morphogenesis of kidney and differentiation of vessels and immune cells [17–19]. Neurotrophic factors are classified into three groups: neurotrophins (NTs), the transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) superfamily, and neurotrophic cytokines (Fig. 1) [20].

#### Neurotrophins

Neurotrophins (NTs) are the best-studied neurotrophic factors, and their concentration changes play a main and pivotal physiological role in neuron removal during nervous system development. In the adult, NTs protect specific populations of neurons in the CNS. They play a critical role in learning and memory and regeneration processes by facilitating synaptic transmission and plasticity. The NT family was first introduced by discovery of nerve growth factor (NGF). Brain-derived



**Fig. 1** Neurotrophic factors are classified into three main groups: (1) neurotrophins, (2) transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) superfamily, and (3) neurotrophic cytokines. Each of these groups is divided to their subgroup. *NGF* nerve growth factor, *BDNF* brain-derived neurotrophic factor, *NT-3* neurotrophin-3 and *NT-4/5* neurotrophin 4/5, *GDNF* glial-derived neurotrophic factor, *BMP* bone morphogenetic proteins, *CNTF* ciliary neurotrophic factor

neurotrophic factor (BDNF), neurotrophin-3 (NT-3), and neurotrophin 4/5 (NT-4/5), also called neurotrophin-4 (NT-4) or neurotrophin-5 (NT-5), are other members of this group in mammals (Fig. 1) [20]. All NTs are synthesized in the form of precursor proteins and activated upon cleavage by metalloproteinases. They have two types of receptors: tropomyosin receptor kinase (Trk) from the tyrosine kinase family, which binds with high affinity, and p75 neurotrophin receptors (p75NTR) from the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor superfamily, which has a low affinity for NTs. Each NT preferentially binds to its respective Trk receptor, resulting in Trk dimerization and subsequent tyrosine autophosphorylation, which in turn activates intracellular signaling pathways. NGF binds to TrkA, while BDNF and NT4 bind to TrkB, and NT3 binds to TrkC. Although pro-NTs cannot activate Trk receptors, they activate p75NTR to promote cell apoptosis via Rac1/c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) pathways (Figs. 2 and 3) [20, 21]. Additionally, p75NTR can form a heterodimer with Trk receptors and lowering their affinity and promote survival through the nuclear factor kappa light-chain enhancer of activated B-cell (NF- $\kappa$ B) pathway. Disruption of the p75NTR signaling pathway has been observed in several autoimmune diseases [20].

Neurotrophins could exert a diverse effect following interaction with their cognate Trk receptors. They can increase neurotransmitter release through activation of the phospholipase C $\gamma$  (PLC $\gamma$ ) pathway, enhance synaptic delivery by activation of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-/calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CaMKII) and protein kinase C (PKC). BDNF stimulates dendritic growth and spine maturation via interaction with TrkB. The actin cytoskeleton that has an important role in CNS function can be modulated by Trk signaling through activation of small Rho GTPases. Trk signaling also improves mRNA translation globally by induction of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)–AKT pathway and transcription of activity-regulated genes such as FOS and ARC [21].



Fig. 2 Pro-neurotrophins (pro-NTs) activate p75NTR to promote cell apoptosis via Rac1/c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK) pathways. Upon processing to their cognate mature NTs, they interact to their specific Trks. NGF binds to TrkA, BDNF and NT4 bind to TrkB, and NT3 binds to TrkC. NTs can also interact with p75NTR with lower affinity and promote survival through nuclear factor kappa light-chain enhancer of activated B-cell (NF- $\kappa$ B) pathway. TRK signaling exerts diverse effect on the nervous system



Correlation of neurotrophin level with psychiatric disorders

Fig. 3 Level of neurotrophins in the blood and/or neural tissues has been proposed as a determinant of vulnerability to psychiatric disorders

## **Transforming Growth Factor-Beta Superfamily**

The TGF- $\beta$  superfamily is a growing group with ubiquitous expression throughout the body and numerous roles in the growth and development of many organs. Members of this superfamily play a variety of roles such as control of the cell cycle, effects on differentiation, regulation of early development, formation of the extracellular matrix, modulation of hematogenesis, and immune reactions. The TGF-β superfamily comprises approximately 30 proteins in mammals that are divided into three families: TGF-ß family, glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) family, and bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) family that each is subdivided to their individual members (Fig. 1) [20, 22]. TGF- $\beta$  has three isoforms (1, 2, and 3) that have both protective and damaging effects on neurons based on the context of growth factors, cell type, and the developmental period [23-25]. GDNF was the first protein isolated in the GDNF family, and it has the most impact on the cerebellar neurons. GDNF protects dopaminergic, noradrenergic, and motor neurons in the midbrain and spinal cord, and it affects peripheral neuron morphogenesis [26]. In the cerebellum, GDNF assists with Purkinje cell function and survival [27, 28]. On the cerebellar granule neurons, GDNF has a protective effect against TGF- $\beta$  cytotoxicity [24].

#### **Neurotrophic Cytokines**

Neurotrophic cytokines are a group of neurotrophic factors that are divided into two groups: the ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) family and others (Fig. 1). CNTF was the initial protein discovered in this family, and it is a pluripotent neurotrophic factor. In the nervous system, CNTF affects survival and differentiation of sensory, sympathetic, and motor neurons and thereby influences development and maintenance of the nervous system [29].

# **Neurotrophic Factors and Cerebellar Development**

NTs are present in the human cerebellum from perinatal age to adulthood, and their role in cerebellar connectivity has been confirmed [30]. BDNF and NGF are highly expressed in the cerebellum and cerebrum, and they have trophic effects in these areas. During development and in adulthood, growth factors including BDNF and NGF help neuronal plasticity in an activity-dependent manner and improve learning and memory [31]. NGF receptor expression in Purkinje cells shows the importance of NGF in the cerebellar development [32, 33]. Increased granule cell precursor proliferation and migration are characteristic features of postnatal cerebellar cortex development [34]. Purkinje cells are the target of other NTs like NT-3, but Tojo et al. showed that the deletion of this NT had no significant effect on the histological

characteristics of these cells [35]. Other studies discussed the survival effect of NT-3, in addition to NT-4 and BDNF [9]. Cerebellar Purkinje cells deprived of NTs die via a different form of apoptotic death, which occurs in adjacent granule cells, and this occurs because of excessive autophagy that is normally inhibited by NTs. P75NTR is necessary for Purkinje cell survival in the presence of trophic factors. P75NTR in the absence of neurotrophins induces Purkinje cell autophagy, and it is likely a mechanism that is involved in neurodegenerative diseases [36]. CNTF has a similar effect on Purkinje cell survival [9]. There was some controversy about the survival effect of BDNF in these cells and more specifically on the effect of this factor on their dendritic development discussed by Kapfhammer et al. [9]. They showed no significant effect of BDNF in the survival and dendritic development of Purkinje cells in the cerebellum. Neural proliferation during the developmental period and neural plasticity after brain injury both change the levels of the NFG in the cerebellum.

Studies on the role of NTs in neuronal survival and phenotypic differentiation at embryonic day 16 (E16) of the rat cerebellum showed that NGF failed to increase the number of Purkinje cells and GABAergic interneurons in cultures [37]. Instead, Kapfhammer et al. showed the survival-promoting effect of BDNF in these types of cerebellar cells [9]. Environmental enrichment (EE) partially affects on the cerebellum via upregulation of neurotrophins NGF and BDNF. Angelucci et al. showed that rats exposed to EE from weaning to 5 months of age showed a remarkable increase of both BDNF and NGF concentrations in the cerebellum compared with rats nurtured under standard conditions. This result shows the influence of EE on the cerebellum via NTs [38]. EE improves motor function after cerebellar damage in rats, which is attributed to regeneration processes caused by NTs [39]. The assessment of rats exposed to a microgravity environment in space for 3 months revealed no alteration in NGF expression in the cerebellum, while NGF expression in the hippocampus and cortex in the experimental group was less than rats in the ground control group [40]. Conversely, in neonatal rats exposed to hypergravity, there was a significant decrease of NGF expression in the cerebellum of neonates during birth on the postnatal day. However, the basic mechanisms by which NT acts in this condition are not yet known [41].

Biochemical pathways such as Notch, Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin, TGF- $\beta$ /BMP, Shh/Patched, and Hippo have critical roles in embryonic development. Among them, the TGF- $\beta$ /BMP pathway has been shown to be most important in cerebellar development. Mutation and dysregulation of this pathway accompanied medulloblastoma, a type of CNS tumor originating from the cerebellum [42, 43].

# **Cerebellum and Neurodevelopmental Disorders**

The role of the cerebellum is more than just motor activity. Because of the widespread connections between the cerebellum and other brain areas, the cerebellum has been considered to be a part of the brain that has a main role in emotion, cognition, behavior, and social interactions [3]. Thus, any damage to the cerebellum early in development could have a deep impact on movement, cognition, and learning. Autism, ADHD, and developmental dyslexia are well-known developmental disorders of the cerebellum [5].

# **Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder**

Dysfunction of the cerebellum is a characteristic of some developmental disorders such as ADHD [5]. Studies implicate frontostriatal and frontocerebellar catecholaminergic circuit disorders in ADH pathophysiology [44]. Because antidepressants and psychostimulants used to treat patients with ADHD increase BDNF levels, it proposed that this neurotrophic factor plays an important role in the pathogenesis of ADHD [45]. Many studies on the pathogenesis of ADHD have focused on and confirmed the genetic association of the BDNF gene [46] or its polymorphisms [47–50] with ADHD. A recent large-scale DNA sequencing study supported this association [51]. The BDNF Val66Met polymorphism has been studied the most, but its association with ADHD is questionable. Park et al. showed a significant interaction between the neurotic symptoms of ADHA and the BDNF met allele in a Korean population [52]. However, a meta-analysis conducted on four European populations refuted the involvement of BDNF Val66Met polymorphism with pathogenesis of ADHD [53]. Recently, another study was performed to address this controversy [54].

Other investigators focused on the levels of neurotrophic factors in the blood, especially BDNF and its role in the pathogenesis of ADHD. The plasma level of BDNF in 41 drug-naive child ADHD patients was higher than that in 107 healthy controls [55]. A later study by the same group confirmed these findings [56], while Scassellati et al. showed no difference in the serum BDNF level between healthy and affected groups using the same samples [57]. A study enrolling Caucasian adult ADHD patients showed that these patients had decreased serum NT levels compared with the control group [58].

The role of NGF and its receptor (NGFR) has been shown in ADHD [44]. NGF exerts a trophic and functional role in the basal forebrain cholinergic neurons, which are involved in attention [59, 60]. Serum NGF levels were higher in drug-naive ADHD patients at childhood [61]. Bilgic et al. showed that serum NGF and BDNF levels in Turkish children were not significantly associated with ADHD, while serum GDNF and NT3 were higher in the patient group; however, they suggested that the NT serum level was not associated with severity of ADHD [26].

#### **Autism Spectrum Disorders**

Autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) are neurodevelopmental disorders that impairs communication and social ability. Both genetic [62, 63] and environmental [64] factors are involved in etiology of ASD, and cerebellar involvement in ASD has

been recognized [65, 66] (see chapter "Neurodevelopmental Disorders of the Cerebellum: Autism Spectrum Disorder").

In some animal models of ASD including Borna disease virus infection and rats treated with valproic acid, a gradual loss of Purkinje cells diminishes cerebellum size and induces other aspects of cognitive deficits [67]. Measurement of neuro-trophin mRNA levels such as NGF, BDNF, and NT-3 and their respective TRK receptors in newborn rats infected with Borna disease virus showed that there were no alterations in the cerebellum. However, there were an increased number of apoptotic cells in the cerebellar granular layer and loss of cerebellar Purkinje cells [68]. A study on blood spot from newborns who were later diagnosed with ASD showed decreased NT-3 and NT4/5 levels compared with healthy subjects [69]. Similarly, in a postmortem study, the cerebellar NT-3 level was higher in ASD patient than in normal controls [10]. Another neurodevelopmental rodent model that mimics prenatal immune activation as an environmental risk factors for ASD and schizophrenia is the maternal lipopolysaccharide (LPS) exposure rat model [70]. LPS-treated pups on P21 show increased levels of cerebellar NT-3 [67].

Levels of neurotrophins are increased in the blood of children with ASD [69, 71]. The elevated levels of the serum NGF and other neurotrophins can be associated with the development of ASD and mental retardation later in childhood [72]. A variant type of BDNF has been found in autistic families in addition to increased blood levels of this neurotrophin in ASD children. Therefore, BDNF has been proposed as a critical factor that is involved in ASD and is a therapeutic targeted that is being studied [Reviewed in [73]]. Conversely, another review proposed a decreased blood level of BDNF as a marker for ASD prediction and prognosis [Reviewed in [74]]. Sadakata et al. reported that transgenic knockout mice that are missing Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent activator protein for secretion 2 (CAPS2), a protein that is involved in NT release, were susceptible to autistic features [12, 75]. Nickl-Jockschat et al. discussed that altered neurotrophin levels are a pathological mechanism. As mentioned earlier, there is more affinity of pro-NT to activate p75NTR and subsequently more apoptotic cell death, and therefore the changes in the ratio of pro-NT to NT can result in some pathological aspects [76].

Neurotrophins such as NGF and BDNF play a role in dendritic morphology [77]. Dendritic shape abnormalities and a larger amount of dendritic spines have been detected in ASD patients. The cerebellum and inferior olive size variations have been reported in postmortem examinations of brains from ASD patients. These anomalies in dendritic branching happened in other neurodevelopmental disorders linked to ASD, such as Fragile X and Rett syndrome (RTT) [78]. RTT is a genetic disorder that is considered to be an ASD [79] (see chapter "Epigenetics and Cerebellar Neurodevelopmental Disorders"). However, for years there was a debate on the classification of RTT as an autistic developmental disorder, and in 2013, the American Society of Psychiatry changed the classification of RTT and removed it from the ASDs because of its unique molecular basis [80].

RTT affects girls, and mutations in the X-linked gene encoding methyl–CpGbinding protein 2 (MeCP2) are responsible for over 80% of affected girls [81, 82]. MeCP2 alters the expression of many genes in the cerebellum [83]. While serum BDNF levels in RTT girls and in a normal group are similar, BDNF protein levels are reduced in RTT brains [79]. Reduced or unaltered NGF in the cerebellum and other brain regions has been reported [31]. Calamandri et al. showed that serum NGF levels decreased with age [84].

# Ataxia

Cerebellar ataxias are neurological disorders that can affect vermis, paravermis, and hemisphere of the cerebellum during development [85] (see chapter "Motor Circuit Abnormalities During Cerebellar Development"). Machado–Joseph disease (MJD) or spinocerebellar ataxia type 3 (SCA3) is a hereditary ataxia that is caused by repeated CAG in the ATXN3 gene [86]. Neuronal loss in the cerebellar nuclei and Purkinje cell layer has been reported in MJD [86]. Since p75NTR has an important role in the induction of neuronal apoptosis, these findings encouraged researchers to investigate the role of p75NTR in the naked-ataxia mutant mouse, but p75NTR expression showed a normal pattern in this type of ataxia [87]. Because NGF and its receptor TkrA exist in human cerebellar neurons and are involved in cerebellar development and stability of the cerebellar connections, NGF therapy may improve symptoms in patients with SCA3 [88]. Jones et al. showed that mesenchymal stem cells improve survival of Purkinje cells by expression of BDNF, NT-3, or GDNF [89]. Detection of neurotrophin mRNA expression in the ataxic stargazer (stg) mutant mouse showed that NT-3 or NGF mRNA expression in the cerebellum was normal while BDNF mRNA in the cerebellar granule cell layer was reduced [90]. In the SCA6, decreased BDNF mRNA expression and altered BDNF protein levels in Purkinje cell dendrites have been shown [91].

#### Ethanol Neurotoxicity

Ethanol exposure is a condition in which cerebellar cells are vulnerable to ethanol's neurotoxic effects during development (see chapter "Teratogenic Influences on Cerebellar Development"). In addition to damage to different parts of the brain including ventricular enlargement, cortical white matter shrinkage, and hippocampal abnormalities, the brains of alcoholics have shown a significant cell loss [92, 93] and white matter degeneration in the cerebellum [92]. Duc et al. reported that prenatal granular neurons exposed to ethanol in vitro are more sensitive to hypoxic/ hypoglycemic condition. These results show the vulnerability of the cerebellum to ethanol, especially in the developmental period [94]. Studies have shown that ethanol inhibits cell survival mediated by neurotrophic factors, which affects granule cell migration and alters Purkinje cell function [Reviewed in [95, 100].

BDNF, NT-4, and TrkB are highly expressed in the cerebellum. There is evidence that developmental outcomes of ethanol exposure are mediated by alteration of neurotrophins [96] in an area- and time-specific manner [Reviewed in [97]]. Allelic variation of BDNF might play a role in greater total and gray matter volume of the cerebellum in alcohol-dependent families [98]. Prenatal ethanol exposure caused a decrease in BDNF expression in the embryonic rat brain [99]. Ethanol reduces BDNF and NT-3 secretion in the neonatal rat granule cells. Reduced neuro-trophin levels increase after treatment by vitamin E [100]. Ethanol influences neurotrophin receptor expression, including TrkA, TrkB, TrkC, and p75NTR. After ethanol treatment in the early postnatal rat cerebellum, reduction of these receptors was reported [101].

Ethanol prevents BDNF activity in the cerebellum, and this leads to damage to cerebellar Purkinje cells, which may occur via impairment in regulation of BDNF, TrkB receptor, or related signaling pathways [102]. BDNF is also necessary in the development and migration of cerebellar granule cells in the postmitotic period [103]. In vitro experiments on granule cells showed that ethanol inhibits the BDNF-stimulated phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase (pERK) activation in neurons [104]. BDNF stimulates AP-1 in cerebellar granule neuron culture, and PI3K/Akt and JNK pathways interfere with this effect. Ethanol suppresses the PI3K/Akt and JNK pathways and also AP-1 activity linked to BDNF [105]. This change in BDNF signal transduction reflects developmental abnormalities that result from ethanol consumption [104]. Reduction in BDNF is associated with sensitivity to neural cell degeneration [106]. It has been shown that the levels of BDNF, TrkB receptor mRNA expression [107], TrkC receptor [108], and NGF in the cerebellum decrease on postnatal day 4 or 5 [109].

Similar to other neurotrophic factors, NGF plays a critical role in the development of different parts of the brain such as the cerebellum. Studies have shown that ethanol exposure in neonatal rats reduces existing NGF receptor levels in Purkinje cells [110]. Purkinje cells showed the most deleterious effects of ethanol during early neonatal development of the cerebellum [108]. This effect influences neurotrophin signaling [109] and upregulates proapoptotic molecules [96, 111], which cause Purkinje cell loss via apoptosis [112]. Cerebellar granule cell development is impaired after prenatal ethanol exposure. Src family kinases (SFKs) are signaling molecules that trigger axon growth. Ethanol inhibits SFK and disrupts granule neuron outgrowth. However, the effect of ethanol on BDNF-dependent axon growth and the ERK1/2 pathway in granule cells is controversial [113]. Studies in mice with fetal alcohol syndrome suggested that mice that overexpress NGF have less Purkinje cell degeneration. The anterior lobe vermis is widely affected, and lobules IX and X are also affected by ethanol in both human and rodent fetal alcohol syndrome. Higher levels of TrkA receptors and p75NTR deliver more stability against degeneration in the posterior part of the cerebellum [114]. Long-term but transient exposure to ethanol (6 and 9 months) is accompanied by different NGF levels in the brain. No change in NGF levels of the cerebellum was reported in this survey [115]. Induced damage by ethanol toxicity in the developing cerebellum was attenuated by estradiol. It has been shown that estradiol protects Purkinje cells exposed to ethanol and increases BDNF mRNA after ethanol exposure [116].

Another affected neurotrophic factor in developmental ethanol neurotoxicity is GDNF. An explant culture model of this neurotoxicity in the rat cerebellum showed that ethanol exposure caused decreased GDNF release but did not change its mRNA expression [117]. These researchers also observed a preventive effect of exogenous GDNF against apoptotic cell death signaling that was caused by ethanol treatment in a cellular model [118]. Chen et al. then showed that GDNF along with netrin-1 and L1, an adhesion molecule in neural cells, has converging effects on activation of the SFK-cas-ERK1/2 pathway to promote axonal outgrowth. Ethanol disrupts this pathway and inhibits axonal arborization in cerebellar granule cells [113].

#### Medulloblastoma

Medulloblastoma is the most common pediatric brain tumor in the cerebellum of infants and children [43, 119] (see chapters "Primary Pediatric Brain Tumors of the Posterior Fossa and Primary Pediatric Brain Tumors of the Posterior Fossa"). Marchetti et al. suggested a critical role for NTs and their receptors in the invasive feature of human medulloblastoma [120]. Although as previously mentioned, Trks are important factors for neuronal survival, but NGF/TrkA signal transduction is accompanied by suppression of medulloblastoma cell proliferation [121] and induction of cell death [122–124]. Interaction of the cytoplasmic adaptor protein CCM2 with the TrkA receptor is necessary in this pathway. The mediator of TrkA-CCM2 death signaling in medulloblastoma cells is STK25, which is a germinal center kinase class III (GCKIII) kinase (STK24, STK25). Reduction of STK25 prevents medulloblastoma cell death induced by NGF-TrkA [125]. Another study involving a cellular model of medulloblastoma reported induction of cell death after activation of TrkA by NGF through macropinocytosis [126]. Valderrama et al.'s findings confirmed that induction of TrkA expression resulted in either medulloblastoma cell differentiation or apoptosis [127]. Whole genome microarray analysis revealed that TGF $\beta$  is a potent factor that influences progression and metastasis of tumor cells in [42]. Gate et al. showed that obstruction of TGFβ signaling almost completely eliminates T regulatory cells and improves CD8(+)/killer cell function to eradicate tumor cells [128].

# Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia, which is classified as a late-onset neurodevelopmental disorder [78], is a hereditary (80%) chronic mental disease [129] with cognitive abnormalities [130]. Involvement of cortico-cerebellar connections in cognition has been suggested by brain imaging studies [131]. Researchers have suggested that schizophrenia may be related to cerebellar anomalies [132] including a size and density decrease
of Purkinje cells and remodeling of synaptic protein expression in the cerebellum [133]. There is growing evidence of a role for neurotrophin in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia [134, 135]. Some studies showed the difference in plasma BDNF and NGF levels between schizophrenic patients and normal people. The levels of NGF in schizophrenia have been reported to be lower than in normal people [136– 138], while there were no differences in BDNF or NGF levels in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) in patients and controls in the Martinez study [139]. However, Paz et al. reported increased BDNF levels in the cerebellar cortex of schizophernic patients [140]. In newly diagnosed psychosis patients, serum NGF levels decrease, and this may be a good biomarker in the diagnosis or screening for patients with schizophrenia [141-144]. A synaptic plasticity defect observed in schizophrenia may be associated with NGF and its receptor (NGFR). A positive association between schizophrenia and both the NGF rs6330 and the NGFR rs11466155 and rs2072446 SNPs was reported [144]. Alterations of neurotrophins in an animal model of schizophrenia have been confirmed. In animals injected subchronically with ketamine (Ket), which is a good model to study schizophrenia, Becker et al. reported that NGF, NT-3, and BDNF mRNA levels and their tyrosine kinase receptors changed in several brain regions and in the cerebellum [145]. A decrease in NGF levels in drug abusers was also reported. The role of neurotrophin in schizophrenia suggests that reduced levels of neurotrophins may increase the risk of psychosis in drug users [146].

### Williams Syndrome

Williams syndrome (WS) is a rare neurodevelopmental disorder that affects 2–5/100,000 people [147], and it is caused by a 1.6 Mb deletion on chromosome 7 (7q11.23) [72]. This syndrome is characterized by an enlarged cerebellum and mild-to-moderate mental retardation with a deficit in visuospatial processing and an oversensitivity to sound [72]. NGF levels in the serum of WS patients are higher than in normal people, and they remain continuously higher during childhood. This is on contrast to normal people, who have a higher serum NGF only in early childhood [148].

# **Other Cerebellar Neurodevelopmental Disorders**

There are some other disorders of the cerebellum such as Joubert syndrome [6], Dandy–Walker malformation [149], pontocerebellar hypoplasia [149], cerebellar vermis hypoplasia [149], and developmental dyslexia [5, 150], that occur during development, but to our knowledge, there is no data available about any association of neurotrophic factors with these conditions, which suggests new areas of research.

The role of neurotrophic factors on the cerebellar neurodevelopmental disorders is summarized in Table 1.

CND	Study model	NF/R	Effect	Reference
ADHD	Human case control	BDNF	Plasma protein level increased in child patients	[55, 56]
		BDNF	Serum protein level unchanged in child patients	[57]
		BDNF	Serum protein decreased in adult Caucasians	[58]
		NGF, BDNF	No significant changes in Turkish population	[26]
		GDNF, NT-3	Serum protein level was higher in Turkish population	
		NGF	Serum protein level increased in child patients	[61]
ASDs	Rat infected Borna disease virus	NGF, BDNF, and NT-3 and their respective Trk receptors	Unchanged in the cerebellum	[68]
	Human case control	NT-3, NT4/5	Decreased in the spot-blood of newborns	[69]
	Postmortem human case control	NT-3	Increased in cerebellar samples	[10]
	Mouse model of Rett syndrome	NGF	Decreased or unchanged on the cerebellum	[31]
	Human case-control Rett syndrome	NGF	Decreased with age	[84]
Congenital ataxia	Mouse model	BDNF	Decreased mRNA level in granule cell layer	[90]
		NGF	Unchanged	
Ethanol neurotoxicity	Rat cerebellar vermis	TrkA, TrkB, TrkC	Decreased	[111]
	Neonatal rat cerebellar granule cells	BDNF, NT-3	Decreased secretion	[100]
	Neonatal rat cerebellum	BDNF, NGF, TrkA, TrkB, TrkC, and p75NTR	Decreased expression	[101, 107–110]

 Table 1
 The role of neurotrophic factors on the cerebellar neurodevelopmental disorders

(continued)

CND	Study model	NF/R	Effect	Reference
	Granule cells	BDNF	Inhibit its activation effect on ERK pathway	[104]
	Cerebellum of Short-term ethanol exposed mouse	NGF, TrkA	Increased mRNA and protein level	[151]
		BDNF		
		TrkB, p75NTR	Unchanged	
	Explant culture of rat cerebellum	GDNF	Decreased release despite unchanged mRNA expression	[117]
	Cerebellar granule cells	GDNF	Ethanol inhibited its activation effect on SFK-Cas-ERK1/2 pathway to promote axonal outgrowth	[113]
Medulloblastoma	MB cells	NGF, TrkA	Suppressed their proliferation	[121]
		NGF, TrkA	Induced apoptosis	[124, 126]
	MB patients	TrkA		[123]
	Whole genome microarray on MB tumors	TGF-ß	Influence progression and metastases	[42]
	MB transgenic mouse	TGF-ß	Obstruction of TGF-ß leads to restriction of MB	[128]
Schizophrenia	Human case control	NGF	Plasma protein level decreased	[138, 143]
		NGF, BDNF, TrkA,	Unchanged in PBMCs	[139]
		TrkB	Differential expression of its different isoforms in PBMCs	[139]
		BDNF	Unchanged in the cerebellar cortex	[140]

Table 1 (continued)

ADHD attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, ASDs autism spectrum disorders, BDNF brainderived neurotrophic factor, Cas Crk-associated substrate, CND cerebellar neurodevelopmental disorder, ERK extracellular receptor kinases, GDNF glial-derived neurotrophic factor, MB medulloblastoma, NGF nerve growth factor, NT-3 neurotrophin 3, NT-4/5 neurotrophin 4/5, NF/R neurotrophic factor/receptor, PBMCs peripheral blood mononuclear cells, p75NTR P75 neurotrophin receptor, SFK Src family kinases, TGF- $\beta$  tumor growth factor- $\beta$ , Trk tropomyosin receptor kinase Acknowledgement Dr. Shala Shojaei Salary was supported by "Health Sciences Centre Foundation General Operating Grant" and MITACS Accelerate award.

# References

- 1. Glickstein M, Strata P, Voogd J. Cerebellum: history. Neuroscience. 2009;162(3):549-59.
- Schmahmann JD, Caplan D. Cognition, emotion and the cerebellum. Brain J Neurol. 2006;129(Pt 2):290–2.
- Edgin JO, Clark CAC, Massand E, Karmiloff-Smith A. Building an adaptive brain across development: targets for neurorehabilitation must begin in infancy. Front Behav Neurosci. 2015;9(1662–5153 (Electronic)).
- 4. Rahimi-Balaei M, Afsharinezhad P, Bailey K, Buchok M, Yeganeh B, Marzban H. Embryonic stages in cerebellar afferent development. Cerebellum Ataxias. 2015;2(2053– 8871 (Electronic)):7.
- 5. Stoodley CJ. The cerebellum and neurodevelopmental disorders. Cerebellum. 2016;15(1):34–7.
- Louie CM, Gleeson JG. Genetic basis of Joubert syndrome and related disorders of cerebellar development. Hum Mol Genet. 2005;14(2):R235–42.
- 7. Ivry RB. Cerebellar involvement in clumsiness and other developmental disorders. Neural Plast. 2003;10(1–2):141–53.
- 8. Xifro X, Rodriguez-Alvarez J. Delineating the factors and cellular mechanisms involved in the survival of cerebellar granule neurons. Cerebellum. 2015;14(3):354–9.
- Kapfhammer JP. Cellular and molecular control of dendritic growth and development of cerebellar Purkinje cells. Prog Histochem Cytochem. 2004;39(3):131–82.
- Sajdel-Sulkowska EM, Xu M, Koibuchi N. Increase in cerebellar neurotrophin-3 and oxidative stress markers in autism. Cerebellum. 2009;8(3):366–72.
- Damarjian TG, Craner MJ, Black JA, Waxman SG. Upregulation and colocalization of p75 and Nav1.8 in Purkinje neurons in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Neurosci Lett. 2004;369(3):186–90.
- 12. Sadakata T, Furuichi T. Developmentally regulated Ca2+–dependent activator protein for secretion 2 (CAPS2) is involved in BDNF secretion and is associated with autism susceptibility. Cerebellum. 2009;8(3):312–22.
- 13. Ebendal T. Function and evolution in the NGF family and its receptors. J Neurosci Res. 1992;32(4):461–70.
- Lindsay RM, Alderson RF, Friedman B, Hyman C, Ip NY, Furth ME, et al. The neurotrophin family of NGF-related neurotrophic factors. Restor Neurol Neurosci. 1991;2(4):211–20.
- 15. Lewin GR, Barde YA. Physiology of the neurotrophins. Annu Rev Neurosci. 1996;19:289–317.
- Lewin GR. Neurotrophins and the specification of neuronal phenotype. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci. 1996;351(1338):405–11.
- 17. Sariola H. The neurotrophic factors in non-neuronal tissues. Cell Mol Life Sci: CMLS. 2001;58(8):1061–6.
- Schuhmann B, Dietrich A, Sel S, Hahn C, Klingenspor M, Lommatzsch M, et al. A role for brain-derived neurotrophic factor in B cell development. J Neuroimmunol. 2005;163(1–2):15–23.
- Fauchais AL, Lalloue F, Lise MC, Boumediene A, Preud'homme JL, Vidal E, et al. Role of endogenous brain-derived neurotrophic factor and sortilin in B cell survival. J Immunol. 2008;181(5):3027–38.
- Kalinowska-Lyszczarz A, Losy J. The role of neurotrophins in multiple sclerosis-pathological and clinical implications. Int J Mol Sci. 2012;13(10):13713–25.

- Park H, Poo MM. Neurotrophin regulation of neural circuit development and function. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2013;14(1):7–23.
- Gomes FC, Sousa Vde O, Romao L. Emerging roles for TGF-beta1 in nervous system development. Int J Dev Neurosci: Off J Int Soc Dev Neurosci. 2005;23(5):413–24.
- Roussa E, von Bohlen und Halbach O, Krieglstein K. TGF-beta in dopamine neuron development, maintenance and neuroprotection. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2009;651:81–90.
- 24. Subramaniam S, Strelau J, Unsicker K. GDNF prevents TGF-beta-induced damage of the plasma membrane in cerebellar granule neurons by suppressing activation of p38-MAPK via the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway. Cell Tissue Res. 2008;331(2):373–83.
- 25. Unsicker K, Krieglstein K. TGF-betas and their roles in the regulation of neuron survival. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2002;513:353–74.
- 26. Bilgic A, Toker A, Isik U, Kilinc I. Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor, glial-derived neurotrophic factor, nerve growth factor, and neurotrophin-3 levels in children with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2016;55:S215.
- Tolbert DL, Bradley MW, Tolod EG, Torres-Aleman I, Clark BR. Chronic intraventricular infusion of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) rescues some cerebellar Purkinje cells from heredodegeneration. Exp Neurol. 2001;170(2):375–9.
- Bickford PC, Bowenkamp K, Taglialatela G, Hoertig G, Granholm AC. GDNF improves cerebellar Purkinje neuron function in aged F344 rats. Microsc Res Tech. 2001;54(5):309–16.
- 29. Pasquin S, Sharma M, Gauchat JF. Ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF): new facets of an old molecule for treating neurodegenerative and metabolic syndrome pathologies. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2015;26(5):507–15.
- Quartu M, Serra MP, Manca A, Follesa P, Lai ML, Del Fiacco M. Neurotrophin-like immunoreactivity in the human pre-term newborn, infant, and adult cerebellum. Int J Dev Neurosci: Off J Int Soc Dev Neurosci. 2003;21(1):23–33.
- Schaevitz LR, Moriuchi JM, Nag N, Mellot TJ, Berger-Sweeney J. Cognitive and social functions and growth factors in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. Physiol Behav. 2010;100(3):255–63.
- 32. Cohen-Cory S, Dreyfus CF, Black IB. Expression of high- and low-affinity nerve growth factor receptors by Purkinje cells in the developing rat cerebellum. Exp Neurol. 1989;105(1):104–9.
- Koh S, Oyler GA, Higgins GA. Localization of nerve growth factor receptor messenger RNA and protein in the adult rat brain. Exp Neurol. 1989;106(3):209–21.
- 34. Kalus I, Rohn S, Puvirajesinghe TM, Guimond SE, Eyckerman-Kolln PJ, Ten Dam G, et al. Sulf1 and Sulf2 differentially modulate heparan sulfate proteoglycan sulfation during postnatal cerebellum development: evidence for neuroprotective and neurite outgrowth promoting functions. PLoS One. 2015;10(10):e0139853.
- 35. Tojo H, Takami K, Kaisho Y, Nakata M, Abe T, Shiho O, et al. Neurotrophin-3 is expressed in the posterior lobe of mouse cerebellum, but does not affect the cerebellar development. Neurosci Lett. 1995;192(3):169–72.
- Florez-McClure ML, Linseman DA, Chu CT, Barker PA, Bouchard RJ, Le SS, et al. The p75 neurotrophin receptor can induce autophagy and death of cerebellar Purkinje neurons. J Neurosci. 2004;24(19):4498–509.
- Larkfors L, Lindsay RM, Alderson RF. Characterization of the responses of Purkinje cells to neurotrophin treatment. J Neurochem. 1996;66(4):1362–73.
- Angelucci F, De Bartolo P, Gelfo F, Foti F, Cutuli D, Bossu P, et al. Increased concentrations of nerve growth factor and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the rat cerebellum after exposure to environmental enrichment. Cerebellum. 2009;8(4):499–506.
- Gelfo F, Cutuli D, Foti F, Laricchiuta D, De Bartolo P, Caltagirone C, et al. Enriched environment improves motor function and increases neurotrophins in hemicerebellar lesioned rats. Neurorehabil Neural Repair. 2011;25(3):243–52.

- 40. Santucci D, Kawano F, Ohira T, Terada M, Nakai N, Francia N, et al. Evaluation of gene, protein and neurotrophin expression in the brain of mice exposed to space environment for 91 days. PLoS One. 2012;7(7):e40112.
- Sajdel-Sulkowska EM, Xu M, Koibuchi N. Cerebellar brain-derived neurotrophic factor, nerve growth factor, and neurotrophin-3 expression in male and female rats is differentially affected by hypergravity exposure during discrete developmental periods. Cerebellum. 2009;8(4):454–62.
- 42. Aref D, Moffatt CJ, Agnihotri S, Ramaswamy V, Dubuc AM, Northcott PA, et al. Canonical TGF-beta pathway activity is a predictor of SHH-driven medulloblastoma survival and delineates putative precursors in cerebellar development. Brain Pathol (Zurich, Switzerland). 2013;23(2):178–91.
- Roussel MF, Hatten ME. Cerebellum development and medulloblastoma. Curr Top Dev Biol. 2011;94:235–82.
- 44. Banaschewski T, Becker K, Scherag S, Franke B, Coghill D. Molecular genetics of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: an overview. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2010;19(3):237–57.
- 45. Tsai SJ. Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and brain-derived neurotrophic factor: a speculative hypothesis. Med Hypotheses. 2003;60(6):849–51.
- 46. Lanktree M, Squassina A, Krinsky M, Strauss J, Jain U, Macciardi F, et al. Association study of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and LIN-7 homolog (LIN-7) genes with adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet: Off Publ Int SocPsychiatr Genet. 2008;147b(6):945–51.
- 47. Cho SC, Kim HW, Kim BN, Kim JW, Shin MS, Chung S, et al. Gender-specific association of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Psychiatry Inv. 2010;7(4):285–90.
- 48. Bergman O, Westberg L, Lichtenstein P, Eriksson E, Larsson H. Study on the possible association of brain-derived neurotrophic factor polymorphism with the developmental course of symptoms of attention deficit and hyperactivity. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol/Off Sci J Coll Int Neuropsychopharmacologicum (CINP). 2011;14(10):1367–76.
- 49. Aureli A, Del Beato T, Sebastiani P, Marimpietri A, Melillo CV, Sechi E, et al. Attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder and intellectual disability: a study of association with brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene polymorphisms. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol. 2010;23(3):873–80.
- 50. Kwon HJ, Ha M, Jin HJ, Hyun JK, Shim SH, Paik KC, et al. Association between BDNF gene polymorphisms and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in Korean children. Genet Test Mol Biomarkers. 2015;19(7):366–71.
- 51. Hawi Z, Cummins TD, Tong J, Arcos-Burgos M, Zhao Q, Matthews N, et al. Rare DNA variants in the brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene increase risk for attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder: a next-generation sequencing study. Mol Psychiatry. 2017;22(4):580–4.
- 52. Park S, Kim BN, Kim JW, Jung YK, Lee J, Shin MS, et al. The role of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor genotype and parenting in early life in predicting externalizing and internalizing symptoms in children with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Behav Brain Funct: BBF. 2014;10:43.
- 53. Sanchez-Mora C, Ribases M, Ramos-Quiroga JA, Casas M, Bosch R, Boreatti-Hummer A, et al. Meta-analysis of brain-derived neurotrophic factor p.Val66Met in adult ADHD in four European populations. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet: Off Publ Int Soc Psychiatr Genet. 2010;153B(2):512–23.
- 54. Zeni CP, Tramontina S, Aguiar BW, Salatino-Oliveira A, Pheula GF, Sharma A, et al. BDNF Val66Met polymorphism and peripheral protein levels in pediatric bipolar disorder and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2016;134(3):268–74.

- 55. Shim SH, Hwangbo Y, Kwon YJ, Jeong HY, Lee BH, Lee HJ, et al. Increased levels of plasma brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in children with attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2008;32(8):1824–8.
- Shim SH, Hwangbo Y, Yoon HJ, Kwon YJ, Lee HY, Hwang JA, et al. Increased levels of plasma glial-derived neurotrophic factor in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Nord J Psychiatry. 2015;69(7):546–51.
- Scassellati C, Zanardini R, Tiberti A, Pezzani M, Valenti V, Effedri P, et al. Serum brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) levels in attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2014;23(3):173–7.
- 58. Corominas-Roso M, Ramos-Quiroga JA, Ribases M, Sanchez-Mora C, Palomar G, Valero S, et al. Decreased serum levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in adults with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol/Off Sci J Coll Int Neuropsychopharmacologicum (CINP). 2013;16(6):1267–75.
- 59. Syed Z, Dudbridge F, Kent L. An investigation of the neurotrophic factor genes GDNF, NGF, and NT3 in susceptibility to ADHD. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet: Off Publ Int Soc Psychiatr Genet. 2007;144B(3):375–8.
- 60. Sarter M, Gehring WJ, Kozak R. More attention must be paid: the neurobiology of attentional effort. Brain Res Rev. 2006;51(2):145–60.
- Guney E, Ceylan MF, Kara M, Tekin N, Goker Z, Senses Dinc G, et al. Serum nerve growth factor (NGF) levels in children with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Neurosci Lett. 2014;560(1872–7972 (Electronic)):107–11.
- 62. Sullivan PF, Daly MJ, O'Donovan M. Genetic architectures of psychiatric disorders: the emerging picture and its implications. Nat Rev Genet. 2012;13(8):537–51.
- 63. Dolen G, Sahin M. Editorial: essential pathways and circuits of autism pathogenesis. Front Neurosci. 2016;10(1662–4548 (Print)):182.
- Chaste P, Leboyer M. Autism risk factors: genes, environment, and gene-environment interactions. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2012;14(3):281–92.
- Hampson DR, Blatt GJ. Autism spectrum disorders and neuropathology of the cerebellum. Front Neurosci. 2015;9(1662–4548 (Print)):420.
- 66. Tsai PT. Autism and cerebellar dysfunction: evidence from animal models. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2016;21(5):349–55.
- Shevelkin AV, Ihenatu C, Pletnikov MV. Pre-clinical models of neurodevelopmental disorders: focus on the cerebellum. Rev Neurosci. 2014;25(2):177–94.
- Zocher M, Czub S, Schulte-Monting J, de La Torre JC, Sauder C. Alterations in neurotrophin and neurotrophin receptor gene expression patterns in the rat central nervous system following perinatal Borna disease virus infection. J Neurovirol. 2000;6(6):462–77.
- 69. Nelson PG, Kuddo T, Song EY, Dambrosia JM, Kohler S, Satyanarayana G, et al. Selected neurotrophins, neuropeptides, and cytokines: developmental trajectory and concentrations in neonatal blood of children with autism or Down syndrome. Int J Dev Neurosci: Off J Int Dev Neurosci. 2006;24(1):73–80.
- Xu M, Sajdel-Sulkowska EM, Iwasaki T, Koibuchi N. Aberrant cerebellar neurotrophin-3 expression induced by lipopolysaccharide exposure during brain development. Cerebellum. 2013;12(3):316–8.
- 71. Gepner B, Feron F. Autism: a world changing too fast for a mis-wired brain? Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2009;33(8):1227–42.
- 72. Battaglia A. Sensory impairment in mental retardation: a potential role for NGF. Arch Ital Biol. 2011;149(2):193–203.
- Halepoto DM, Bashir S, ALA L. Possible role of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in autism spectrum disorder: current status. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak: JCPSP. 2014;24(4):274–8.
- 74. Das UN. Autism as a disorder of deficiency of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and altered metabolism of polyunsaturated fatty acids. Nutrition (Burbank, Los Angeles County, Calif). 2013;29(10):1175–85.

- 75. Sadakata T, Kakegawa W, Mizoguchi A, Washida M, Katoh-Semba R, Shutoh F, et al. Impaired cerebellar development and function in mice lacking CAPS2, a protein involved in neurotrophin release. J Neurosci. 2007;27(10):2472–82.
- Nickl-Jockschat T, Michel TM. The role of neurotrophic factors in autism. Mol Psychiatry. 2011;16(5):478–90.
- Ghiretti AE, Paradis S. Molecular mechanisms of activity-dependent changes in dendritic morphology: role of RGK proteins. Trends Neurosci. 2014;37(7):399–407.
- Copf T. Impairments in dendrite morphogenesis as etiology for neurodevelopmental disorders and implications for therapeutic treatments. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2016;68:946–78.
- 79. Berger-Sweeney J. Cognitive deficits in Rett syndrome: what we know and what we need to know to treat them. Neurobiol Learn Mem. 2011;96(4):637–46.
- Abbeduto L, Ozonoff S, Thurman AJ, McDuffie A, Hales R, Schweitzer J, Yudofsky S, et al. Neurodevelopmental disorders. Psychiatry. 6th ed. Arlington: The American Psychiatric Publishing Textbook of Psychiatry; 2015.
- Chahrour M, Jung SY, Shaw C, Zhou X, Wong ST, Qin J, et al. MeCP2, a key contributor to neurological disease, activates and represses transcription. Science. 2008;320(5880):1224–9.
- 82. Peddada S, Yasui DH, LaSalle JM. Inhibitors of differentiation (ID1, ID2, ID3 and ID4) genes are neuronal targets of MeCP2 that are elevated in Rett syndrome. Hum Mol Genet. 2006;15(12):2003–14.
- Ben-Shachar S, Chahrour M, Thaller C, Shaw CA, Zoghbi HY. Mouse models of MeCP2 disorders share gene expression changes in the cerebellum and hypothalamus. Hum Mol Genet. 2009;18(13):2431–42.
- 84. Calamandrei G, Aloe L, Hajek J, Zappella M. Developmental profile of serum nerve growth factor levels in Rett complex. Annali dell'Istituto superiore di sanita. 2001;37(4):601–5.
- Marmolino D, Manto M. Past, present and future therapeutics for cerebellar ataxias. Curr Neuropharmacol. 2010;8(1):41–61.
- Laco MN, Oliveira CR, Paulson HL, Rego AC. Compromised mitochondrial complex II in models of Machado-Joseph disease. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012;1822(2):139–49.
- Rahimi Balaei M, Jiao X, Ashtari N, Afsharinezhad P, Ghavami S, Marzban H. Cerebellar expression of the neurotrophin receptor p75 in naked-ataxia mutant mouse. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(1):115.
- 88. Tan S, Wang RH, Niu HX, Shi CH, Mao CY, Zhang R, et al. Nerve growth factor for the treatment of spinocerebellar ataxia type 3: an open-label study. Chin Med J. 2015;128(3):291–4.
- Jones J, Jaramillo-Merchan J, Bueno C, Pastor D, Viso-Leon M, Martinez S. Mesenchymal stem cells rescue Purkinje cells and improve motor functions in a mouse model of cerebellar ataxia. Neurobiol Dis. 2010;40(2):415–23.
- Qiao X, Hefti F, Knusel B, Noebels JL. Selective failure of brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA expression in the cerebellum of stargazer, a mutant mouse with ataxia. J Neurosci. 1996;16(2):640–8.
- 91. Takahashi M, Ishikawa K, Sato N, Obayashi M, Niimi Y, Ishiguro T, et al. Reduced brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) mRNA expression and presence of BDNF-immunoreactive granules in the spinocerebellar ataxia type 6 (SCA6) cerebellum. Neuropathol: Off J Jpn Soc Neuropathol. 2012;32(6):595–603.
- 92. Vetreno RP, Hall JM, Savage LM. Alcohol-related amnesia and dementia: animal models have revealed the contributions of different etiological factors on neuropathology, neurochemical dysfunction and cognitive impairment. Neurobiol Learn Mem. 2011;96(4):596–608.
- 93. Harper C. The neuropathology of alcohol-specific brain damage, or does alcohol damage the brain? J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1998;57(2):101–10.

- 94. Le Duc D, Spataru A, Ceanga M, Zagrean L, Schoneberg T, Toescu EC, et al. Developmental exposure to ethanol increases the neuronal vulnerability to oxygen-glucose deprivation in cerebellar granule cell cultures. Brain Res. 1614;2015:1–13.
- 95. Gonzalez-Burgos I, Alejandre-Gomez M. Cerebellar granule cell and Bergmann glial cell maturation in the rat is disrupted by pre- and post-natal exposure to moderate levels of ethanol. Int J Dev Neurosci: Off J Int Soc Dev Neurosci. 2005;23(4):383–8.
- 96. Heaton MB, Moore DB, Paiva M, Madorsky I, Mayer J, Shaw G. The role of neurotrophic factors, apoptosis-related proteins, and endogenous antioxidants in the differential temporal vulnerability of neonatal cerebellum to ethanol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2003;27(4):657–69.
- Davis MI. Ethanol-BDNF interactions: still more questions than answers. Pharmacol Ther. 2008;118(1):36–57.
- Hill SY, Wang S, Carter H, Tessner K, Holmes B, McDermott M, et al. Cerebellum volume in high-risk offspring from multiplex alcohol dependence families: association with allelic variation in GABRA2 and BDNF. Psychiatry Res. 2011;194(3):304–13.
- 99. Shojaei S, Ghavami S, Panjehshahin MR, Owji AA. Effects of ethanol on the expression level of various BDNF mRNA isoforms and their encoded protein in the hippocampus of adult and embryonic rats. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16(12):30422–37.
- Heaton MB, Madorsky I, Paiva M, Siler-Marsiglio KI. Ethanol-induced reduction of neurotrophin secretion in neonatal rat cerebellar granule cells is mitigated by vitamin E. Neurosci Lett. 2004;370(1):51–4.
- Moore DB, Madorsky I, Paiva M, Barrow HM. Ethanol exposure alters neurotrophin receptor expression in the rat central nervous system: effects of neonatal exposure. J Neurobiol. 2004;60(1):114–26.
- 102. Ge Y, Belcher SM, Light KE. Alterations of cerebellar mRNA specific for BDNF, p75NTR, and TrkB receptor isoforms occur within hours of ethanol administration to 4-day-old rat pups. Brain Res Dev Brain Res. 2004;151(1–2):99–109.
- 103. Borghesani PR, Peyrin JM, Klein R, Rubin J, Carter AR, Schwartz PM, et al. BDNF stimulates migration of cerebellar granule cells. Development. 2002;129(6):1435–42.
- 104. Ohrtman JD, Stancik EK, Lovinger DM, Davis MI. Ethanol inhibits brain-derived neurotrophic factor stimulation of extracellular signal-regulated/mitogen-activated protein kinase in cerebellar granule cells. Alcohol (Fayetteville, NY). 2006;39(1):29–37.
- 105. Li Z, Ding M, Thiele CJ, Luo J. Ethanol inhibits brain-derived neurotrophic factor-mediated intracellular signaling and activator protein-1 activation in cerebellar granule neurons. Neuroscience. 2004;126(1):149–62.
- 106. Crews FT, Nixon K. Mechanisms of neurodegeneration and regeneration in alcoholism. Alcohol Alcohol. 2009;44(2):115–27.
- 107. Light KE, Ge Y, Belcher SM. Early postnatal ethanol exposure selectively decreases BDNF and truncated TrkB-T2 receptor mRNA expression in the rat cerebellum. Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 2001;93(1):46–55.
- Light KE, Brown DP, Newton BW, Belcher SM, Kane CJ. Ethanol-induced alterations of neurotrophin receptor expression on Purkinje cells in the neonatal rat cerebellum. Brain Res. 2002;924(1):71–81.
- Heaton MB, Mitchell JJ, Paiva M. Ethanol-induced alterations in neurotrophin expression in developing cerebellum: relationship to periods of temporal susceptibility. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1999;23(10):1637–42.
- 110. Dohrman DP, West JR, Pantazis NJ. Ethanol reduces expression of the nerve growth factor receptor, but not nerve growth factor protein levels in the neonatal rat cerebellum. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1997;21(5):882–93.
- 111. Moore DB, Walker DW, Heaton MB. Neonatal ethanol exposure alters bcl-2 family mRNA levels in the rat cerebellar vermis. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1999;23(7):1251–61.
- 112. Light KE, Belcher SM, Pierce DR. Time course and manner of Purkinje neuron death following a single ethanol exposure on postnatal day 4 in the developing rat. Neuroscience. 2002;114(2):327–37.

- 113. Chen S, Charness ME. Ethanol disrupts axon outgrowth stimulated by netrin-1, GDNF, and L1 by blocking their convergent activation of Src family kinase signaling. J Neurochem. 2012;123(4):602–12.
- 114. Sarna JR, Hawkes R. Patterned Purkinje cell death in the cerebellum. Prog Neurobiol. 2003;70(6):473–507.
- 115. Gericke CA, Schulte-Herbruggen O, Arendt T, Hellweg R. Chronic alcohol intoxication in rats leads to a strong but transient increase in NGF levels in distinct brain regions. J Neural Transm (Vienna). 2006;113(7):813–20.
- 116. Firozan B, Goudarzi I, Elahdadi Salmani M, Lashkarbolouki T, Rezaei A, Abrari K. Estradiol increases expression of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor after acute administration of ethanol in the neonatal rat cerebellum. Eur J Pharmacol. 2014;732:1–11.
- 117. McAlhany RE Jr, Miranda RC, Finnell RH, West JR. Ethanol decreases Glial-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (GDNF) protein release but not mRNA expression and increases GDNF-stimulated Shc phosphorylation in the developing cerebellum. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1999;23(10):1691–7.
- 118. McAlhany RE Jr, West JR, Miranda RC. Glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) prevents ethanol-induced apoptosis and JUN kinase phosphorylation. Brain Res Dev Brain Res. 2000;119(2):209–16.
- 119. Wang J, Wechsler-Reya RJ. The role of stem cells and progenitors in the genesis of medulloblastoma. Exp Neurol. 2014;260(1090–2430 (Electronic)):69–73.
- Marchetti D, Mrak RE, Paulsen DD, Sinnappah-Kang ND. Neurotrophin receptors and heparanase: a functional axis in human medulloblastoma invasion. J Exp Clin Cancer Res: CR. 2007;26(1):5–23.
- 121. Antonelli A, Lenzi L, Nakagawara A, Osaki T, Chiaretti A, Aloe L. Tumor suppressor proteins are differentially affected in human ependymoblastoma and medulloblastoma cells exposed to nerve growth factor. Cancer Investig. 2007;25(2):94–101.
- 122. Fumagalli F, Moro F, Caffino L, Orru A, Cassina C, Giannotti G, et al. Region-specific effects on BDNF expression after contingent or non-contingent cocaine i.v. self-administration in rats. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol/Off Sci J Coll Int Neuropsychopharmacologicum (CINP). 2013;16(4):913–8.
- 123. Ohta T, Watanabe T, Katayama Y, Kurihara J, Yoshino A, Nishimoto H, et al. TrkA expression is associated with an elevated level of apoptosis in classic medulloblastomas. Neuropathol: Off J Jpn Soc Neuropathol. 2006;26(3):170–7.
- 124. Chou TT, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM. A novel apoptotic pathway induced by nerve growth factor-mediated TrkA activation in medulloblastoma. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(1):565–70.
- 125. Costa B, Kean MJ, Ast V, Knight JD, Mett A, Levy Z, et al. STK25 protein mediates TrkA and CCM2 protein-dependent death in pediatric tumor cells of neural origin. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(35):29285–9.
- 126. Li C, Macdonald JI, Hryciw T, Meakin SO. Nerve growth factor activation of the TrkA receptor induces cell death, by macropinocytosis, in medulloblastoma Daoy cells. J Neurochem. 2010;112(4):882–99.
- 127. Valderrama X, Rapin N, Verge VM, Misra V. Zhangfei induces the expression of the nerve growth factor receptor, trkA, in medulloblastoma cells and causes their differentiation or apoptosis. J Neuro-Oncol. 2009;91(1):7–17.
- 128. Gate D, Danielpour M, Rodriguez J Jr, Kim GB, Levy R, Bannykh S, et al. T-cell TGFbeta signaling abrogation restricts medulloblastoma progression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111(33):E3458–66.
- 129. Jockers-Scherubl MC, Rentzsch J, Danker-Hopfe H, Radzei N, Schurer F, Bahri S, et al. Adequate antipsychotic treatment normalizes serum nerve growth factor concentrations in schizophrenia with and without cannabis or additional substance abuse. Neurosci Lett. 2006;400(3):262–6.
- 130. Niitsu T, Iyo M, Hashimoto K. Sigma-1 receptor agonists as therapeutic drugs for cognitive impairment in Neuropsychiatric diseases. Curr Pharm Design. 2012;18(7):875–83.

- Desmond JE, Fiez JA. Neuroimaging studies of the cerebellum: language, learning and memory. Trends Cogn Sci. 1998;2(9):355–62.
- 132. Fatemi SH, Folsom TD, Rooney RJ, Thuras PD. Expression of GABAA alpha2-, beta1- and epsilon-receptors are altered significantly in the lateral cerebellum of subjects with schizo-phrenia, major depression and bipolar disorder. Transl Psychiatry. 2013;3:e303.
- 133. Picard H, Amado I, Mouchet-Mages S, Olie JP, Krebs MO. The role of the cerebellum in schizophrenia: an update of clinical, cognitive, and functional evidences. Schizophr Bull. 2008;34(1):155–72.
- 134. Shoval G, Weizman A. The possible role of neurotrophins in the pathogenesis and therapy of schizophrenia. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol: J Eur Coll Neuropsychopharmacol. 2005;15(3):319–29.
- 135. Aloe L, Iannitelli A, Angelucci F, Bersani G, Fiore M. Studies in animal models and humans suggesting a role of nerve growth factor in schizophrenia-like disorders. Behav Pharmacol. 2000;11(3–4):235–42.
- 136. Xiong P, Zeng Y, Wu Q, Han Huang DX, Zainal H, Xu X, et al. Combining serum protein concentrations to diagnose schizophrenia: a preliminary exploration. J Clin Psychiatry. 2014;75(8):e794–801.
- 137. Martinotti G, Di Iorio G, Marini S, Ricci V, De Berardis D, Di Giannantonio M. Nerve growth factor and brain-derived neurotrophic factor concentrations in schizophrenia: a review. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents. 2012;26(3):347–56.
- 138. Lee BH, Kim YK. Increased plasma brain-derived neurotropic factor, not nerve growth factor-Beta, in schizophrenia patients with better response to risperidone treatment. Neuropsychobiology. 2009;59(1):51–8.
- 139. Martinez-Cengotitabengoa M, MacDowell KS, Alberich S, Diaz FJ, Garcia-Bueno B, Rodriguez-Jimenez R, et al. BDNF and NGF signalling in early phases of psychosis: relationship with inflammation and response to antipsychotics after 1 year. Schizophr Bull. 2016;42(1):142–51.
- 140. Paz RD, Andreasen NC, Daoud SZ, Conley R, Roberts R, Bustillo J, et al. Increased expression of activity-dependent genes in cerebellar glutamatergic neurons of patients with schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry. 2006;163(10):1829–31.
- 141. Parikh V, Evans DR, Khan MM, Mahadik SP. Nerve growth factor in never-medicated firstepisode psychotic and medicated chronic schizophrenic patients: possible implications for treatment outcome. Schizophr Res. 2003;60(2–3):117–23.
- 142. Xiong P, Zeng Y, Zhu Z, Tan D, Xu F, Lu J, et al. Reduced NGF serum levels and abnormal P300 event-related potential in first episode schizophrenia. Schizophr Res. 2010;119(1–3):34–9.
- 143. Xiong P, Zeng Y, Wan J, Xiaohan DH, Tan D, Lu J, et al. The role of NGF and IL-2 serum level in assisting the diagnosis in first episode schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res. 2011;189(1):72–6.
- 144. Zakharyan R, Atshemyan S, Gevorgyan A, Boyajyan A. Nerve growth factor and its receptor in schizophrenia. BBA Clin. 2014;1(2214–6474 (Electronic)):24–9.
- 145. Becker A, Grecksch G, Schwegler H, Roskoden T. Expression of mRNA of neurotrophic factors and their receptors are significantly altered after subchronic ketamine treatment. Med Chem. 2008;4(3):256–63.
- 146. Angelucci F, Ricci V, Pomponi M, Conte G, Mathe AA, Tonali PA, et al. Chronic heroin and cocaine abuse is associated with decreased serum concentrations of the nerve growth factor and brain-derived neurotrophic factor. J Psychopharmacol. 2007;21(8):820–5.
- 147. Alleva E, Cirulli F, Calamandrei G, Rondinini C, Capirci O, Aloe L, et al. Williams syndrome. Ann Ist Super Sanita. 1999;35(2):211–9.
- 148. Calamandrei G, Alleva E, Cirulli F, Queyras A, Volterra V, Capirci O, Vicari S, et al. Serum NGF levels in children and adolescents with either Williams syndrome or Down syndrome. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2000;42(11):746–50. (0012–1622 (Print)).

- 149. Millen KJ, Gleeson JG. Cerebellar development and disease. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2008;18(1):12–9.
- 150. Stoodley CJ, Stein JF. Cerebellar function in developmental dyslexia. Cerebellum. 2013;12(2):267-76.
- 151. Wang ZY, Miki T, Lee KY, Yokoyama T, Kusaka T, Sumitani K, et al. Short-term exposure to ethanol causes a differential response between nerve growth factor and brainderived neurotrophic factor ligand/receptor systems in the mouse cerebellum. Neuroscience. 2010;165(2):485–91.

# Apoptosis, Autophagy, and Unfolded Protein Response and Cerebellar Development

Mohammad Amin Moosavi, Marveh Rahmati, Niloufar Ashtari, Javad Alizadeh, Mohammad Hashemi, Seyedeh Zahra Bathaei, and Saeid Ghavami

**Abstract** Development is an evolutionary process that is tightly regulated in mammalian species. Several different cascades are involved in different stages of development. Among these mechanisms, apoptosis, autophagy, and unfolded protein response play critical roles in regulation of development by affecting the cell fate. All of these pathways are involved in regulation of cell number via determining the life and death cycles of the cells. In this chapter, we first explain the brief mechanisms that are involved in regulation of apoptosis, autophagy, and unfolded protein response, and later, we briefly describe how these mechanisms play roles in general development. We then discuss the importance of these pathways in regulation of cerebellar development.

M.A. Moosavi Department of Molecular Medicine, Institute of Medical Biotechnology, National Institute for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology, Tehran, Iran

- M. Rahmati
- Cancer Biology Research Center, Cancer Institute of Iran, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

N. Ashtari • J. Alizadeh

Department of Human Anatomy and Cell Science, Rady College of Medicine, Max Rady College of Medicine, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Canada

M. Hashemi Department of Clinical Biochemistry, School of Medicine, Zahedan University of Medical Sciences, Zahedan, Iran

S. Ghavami, BSc, MSc, PhD (⊠) Department of Human Anatomy and Cell Science, Rady College of Medicine, Max Rady College of Medicine, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Canada

Health Policy Research Centre, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran e-mail: saeid.ghavami@umanitoba.ca

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017 H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_8

Mohammad Amin Moosavi and Marveh Rahmati contributed equally to this work.

S.Z. Bathaei Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Faculty of Medical Sciences, Tarbiat Modares University, Tehran, Iran

**Keywords** Apoptosis • Autophagy • Endoplasmic reticulum stress • Unfolded protein response

# Abbreviations

AD	Alzheimer's disease
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
Apaf-1	Apoptotic protease activating factor 1
ATF4	Activating transcription factor 4
ATF6	Activating transcription factor 6
ATGs	Autophagy-related proteins
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma protein 2
BiP	Immunoglobulin heavy chain binding protein
bZIP	Basic leucine zipper protein
CAD	Caspase-activated DNase
CARD	Caspase recruitment domains
Caspases	Cysteinyl aspartate proteases
CERKL	Ceramide kinase-like
CGS	Cerebellar granule cells
CHOP	C/EBP homologous protein
CMA	Chaperone-mediated autophagy
Cyt c	Cytochrome c
DED	Death effector domain
DIABLO	Direct IAP binding protein with low pI
DISC	Death-inducing signaling complex
DTT	Dithiothreitol
EGL	External granule layer
eif2α	Eukaryotic initiation factor 2 alpha
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERAD	ER-associated protein degradation
ERSE	ER stress response element
FADD	Fas-associated death domain
GCPs	Granule cell precursors
GL	Granule layer
GNPs	Granule neuron precursors
GRPs	Glucose-regulated proteins
HA	Hemagglutinin
HD	Huntington's disease
HSPs	Heat shock proteins
HSR	Heat shock response
HtrA2	High temperature requirement protein A
IGL	Internal granule layer

IRE1	Inositol-requiring transmembrane kinase/endoribonuclease 1
LC3	Microtubule-associated protein light chain 3
MPT	Mitochondrial permeability transition
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
NOND	Naturally occurring neuronal death
pcd	Purkinje cell degeneration
PCD	Programmed cell death
PD	Parkinson's disease
PDI	Protein disulfide isomerase
PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
PERK	Double-stranded RNA (PKR)-activated protein kinase-like eukaryotic
	initiation factor $2\alpha$ kinase
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PMDs	Protein misfolding disorders
PMT	Permeability membrane transition
PrDs	Prion-related diseases
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
Smac	Second mitochondria-derived activator of caspase
TGF	Transforming growth factors
TRADD	TNF receptor-associated death domain
ULK	Unc-51-like kinase
VZ	Ventricular zone
XBP1	X-box binding protein-1
XBP1s	Spliced XBP1
XBP1U	Unspliced XBP1

# Introduction

One of the most important issues in the developmental process during the early mammalian embryonic period is understanding how the undistinguishable cells in the early embryo later develop to different fates and how different mechanisms that are involved in cell fate regulate this process. Besides existing models, many recently revealed molecular, cellular, and developmental factors have significant functions in determining cell position, cell polarity, and transcriptional networks in cell fate parameters throughout preimplantation. It is well known that the structuring process known as compaction provides the initiating signal for cells to start differentiation and arranges the initiation of developmental cascade. Here, we provide an overview of the three mechanisms that are involved in determining cell fate including apoptosis, autophagy, and unfolded protein response (UPR), and later we explain how these mechanisms are involved in regulation of cerebellar development. These mechanisms are the major determining steps that are involved in proper

cell fate specification in the early mammalian embryo, and they play essential roles in development.

# Introduction to Programmed Cell Death (I) (Apoptosis)

The term apoptosis was first introduced by Kerr, Wylie, and Currie in 1972 to define a distinct mode of cell death under physiological conditions in hepatocytes [57, 76]. During the early process of this type of cell suicide, cellular content is condensed and cell shrinkage is observed. Apoptosis is a genetically conserved pathway in all metazoans such as in nematodes, insects, and mammals [25, 51, 96]. Typical morphological features of apoptosis include chromatin condensation (pyknosis), internucleosomal DNA fragmentation, membrane blebbing and budding, and finally formation of small membrane-bound vesicles, called apoptotic bodies [28, 76] (Fig. 1). In contrast to necrotic death, membrane integrity is retained during apoptosis, and phosphatidylserine, a plasma membrane phospholipid, localizes from the inner side to the outer layer, acting as an "eat me" signal; the cell is then rapidly detected and engulfed by macrophages [25, 28, 51] (Fig. 1).



**Fig. 1** Cellular morphology changes during apoptosis. Apoptosis is an ATP-dependent mechanism which includes chromatin condensation (pyknosis), inter-nucleosomal DNA fragmentation, membrane blebbing and budding, and finally formation of small membrane-bound vesicles, called apoptotic bodies

# Caspases Are Central Initiators and Executioners of Apoptosis

Our understanding of the molecular components of apoptosis emanated from genetic studies of programmed cell death (PCD) in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Two genes, ced-3 and ced-4 (cell death abnormal), are essential to determine which cells undergo PCD during C. elegans development. The protein encoded by the C. elegans ced-3 gene is similar to the amino acid sequence of mammalian interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ )-converting enzyme (ICE), a member of the family of *cyste*invlaspartate proteases (caspases) [24]. In the living cells, caspases exist as inactive zymogenes (procaspases) that contain the N-terminal pro-domain followed by a large and a small subunit. Upon activation of procaspases, the pro-domain is frequently removed, and proteolytic processing occurs between the other domains so that the small and two large subunits are associated in a heterodimer (Fig. 2) [34, 98]. To date, 14 different caspases have been identified in mammals, and their nomenclature is based on the order of their publication. For example, ICE is the first mammalian caspase and is named caspase-1. Pro-apoptotic caspases are divided into the initiator procaspase group (i.e., procaspase-2, procaspase-8, procaspase-9, and procaspase-10) and into the effector (executive) procaspase group (i.e., procaspase-3, procaspase-6, and procaspase-7) [34, 98]. Following activation, the executive caspases degrade most vital proteins in the cells, leading to disruption of the cytoskeleton, intracellular transport, and nuclear envelope and signal transduction that ultimately cause the morphological and biochemical changes of apoptosis. For example, the nuclear scaffold proteins (lamins), the cytoskeleton protein (alphafodrin), the plasma membrane blebbing mediator (gelsolin, act as a nucleus for



**Fig. 2** Structure and activation of caspases. Inactive form of caspases (procaspases) includes three subunits. Mechanism of caspase activation is initiated by autoproteolysis of Asp residues into large subunits followed by assembly of active heterotetramers. Following proteolysis cleavage, procaspase can be in close proximity to each other and therefore is assumed to activate each other

actin-depolymerizing enzyme), and poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) are targeted proteins that are cleaved during apoptosis [17]. In addition, caspase-activated DNase (CAD) that mediates DNA ladder hallmarks of apoptosis is activated by caspase-3 and caspase-7 cleaving the CAD inhibitor. Whereas activation of initiator caspases is mediated through binding of their pro-domains to adaptor molecules via death effector domains (DED) or caspase recruitment domains (CARD), activation of executive caspases occurs through proteolysis at internal Asp residues into large subunit followed by assembly of active heterotetramers [25, 98] (Fig. 2).

# Molecular Pathways of Apoptosis

The apoptosis cascade is initiated by three major signaling pathways, including the cell death receptor pathway, mitochondrial pathway, and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress-induced pathway. In all pathways, caspase-3 is the main executive caspase that is activated by any of the initiator caspases (caspase-8, caspase-9, or caspase-10) [25, 28, 34, 51, 76, 98].

#### **Cell Death Receptor Pathway**

The extrinsic pathway is mediated by activation of death receptors, which are transmembrane receptors that transmit apoptotic signals from the cell surface to the intracellular signaling pathways via receptor-ligands interactions [71, 98]. Death receptors involve Fas (CD95) and TNF receptor (TNFR1) as well as TRAIL receptors DR4 and DR5 (TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand receptor 1 and 2, TRAIL-R1 and TRAIL-R2). Their corresponding ligands are called TNF, Fas ligand (FasL), and Apo2L (TRAIL), respectively. The sequences of events that define the death receptor pathway of apoptosis are best characterized using the FasL/FasR and TNF/TNFR models [17, 25, 51] (Fig. 3). In this scenario, the first step is trimerization and clustering of receptors by related ligand. Upon ligand binding, cytoplasmic adapter proteins are recruited via intracellular receptor death (DD) domain, such as Fas-associated death domain (FADD) and TNF receptor-associated death domain (TRADD). At this point, FADD or TRADD is associated with procaspase-8 via dimerization of the death effector (DED) domain, thereby forming the deathinducing signaling complex (DISC) [25, 28, 51, 98]. The increase in the local concentration of procaspase-8 at the DISC resulted in their autocatalytic activation (Fig. 3). Activated caspase-8 finally cleaves and actives the effector caspase-3 that leads to initiating the execution phase of apoptosis (Fig. 3).

The cells that need DISC-mediated signals to complete the cascade are classified as type I cells, while the cells that require the contribution of a mitochondrial pathway to complete the apoptotic process are classified as type II cells [100]. In type II cells, the receptor-mediated signaling is not strong enough to activate caspase for execution of apoptosis so that the signal needs to be amplified via mitochondria-dependent apoptotic pathways [25, 34, 51, 98, 116]. The link between cell death receptor path-



**Fig. 3** Intrinsic and extrinsic apoptosis pathway. Extrinsic pathway (1) is commenced via death receptors which later activates initiator caspases (like caspase-8) with subsequent Bid protein truncation (link to mitochondria) or directly activates caspase-3 and caspase-7 (executor caspases) and induces nuclear fragmentation. Intrinsic pathway is initiated via mitochondria following activation of caspase-9 and caspase-3/caspase-7 activation

way and the mitochondria is provided by the Bcl-2 family member Bid. Bid is cleaved by caspase-8 and in its truncated form (tBID) translocates to the mitochondria where it acts together with the pro-apoptotic B-cell lymphoma protein 2 (Bcl-2) family members Bax and Bak to induce the release of cytochrome c (cyt c) and finally turn on the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway [25, 51, 76, 98].

#### **Mitochondrial Pathway**

The mitochondrial pathway, also called the intrinsic pathway, is initiated from inside the cell. Various stimuli such as growth factor withdrawal, DNA damage, hypoxia, and oxidative stress can induce apoptosis through this cascade [28, 34, 98, 116]. Cellular stresses cause an increase of permeability in the outer mitochondrial membrane and opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT) pore, which is controlled by members of the Bcl-2 family proteins [25, 51, 98]. Bcl-2 family proteins are defined by the presence of conserved Bcl-2 homology domains (BH1 to BH4). Up to 30 Bcl-2 family genes have been identified in mammals, which have either pro-apoptotic or anti-apoptotic functions. Some of the antiapoptotic members including Bcl-2, Bcl-XL, Bcl-w, BAG, and Mcl-1 possess all domains, from BH1 to BH4 [72, 81]. The pro-apoptotic family proteins can be divided into two subgroups: the group that includes proteins with BH1 to BH3 domains (e.g., Bak, Bax, and Bok) and the group that involves proteins with BH3 domain (e.g., Bad, Bid, Bik, BNIP3, Bim, Bmf, Blk, Hrk, Noxa, Puma, and Spike) [95, 116]. BH3-only proteins are thought to interfere with the fine-tuned balance of homo- or hetero-oligomerization between pro-apoptotic multi-domains (e.g., Bax/Bak) and anti-apoptotic members (e.g., Bcl-2/Bcl-XL) [72, 81] (Fig. 3). In general, oligomers of Bak, Bax, and Bok can form channels by themselves to induce permeability membrane transition (PMT) [4]. Bad can also heterodimerize with some members of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins and thereby neutralize their inhibitory effects on mitochondrial pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 members [4, 72]. Puma and Noxa are also involved in p53-mediated apoptosis [18, 98]. Bcl-2 family proteins control the release of the mitochondrial proteins cytochrome c (cyt c), second mitochondriaderived activator of caspase (Smac)/direct IAP binding protein with low pI (DIABLO), and Omi/high temperature requirement protein A (HtrA2) into the cytoplasm [4, 6, 98]. Cytoplasmic cyt c binds to monomeric apoptotic protease activating factor 1 (Apaf-1), which then, in the presence of dATP, initiates oligomerization to form a complex wheel-like structure with sevenfold symmetry called an apoptosome [2, 6, 25, 98] (Fig. 3). This type of procaspase-9 clustering leads to caspase-9 activation, which subsequently actives downstream executive caspases such as caspase-3, caspase-7, and caspase-6 and ultimately leads to apoptosis. Smac/DIABLO and the serine protease HtrA2/Omi promote apoptosis by inhibiting inhibitors of apoptosis protein (IAP) activity [6, 77]. This family of anti-apoptotic proteins includes NAIP, c-IAP1, c-IAP2, XIAP, and survivin, the prototype of which was originally described in baculovirus. They can bind directly to caspases and inhibit their activity and are negatively regulated by proteins from the mitochondrial intermembrane [25, 51, 98, 107] (Fig. 3). Almost all of the morphological and biochemical features of apoptosis are mediated through the activity of caspases [17].

# Apoptosis in Development

Apoptosis literally means "falling off" (as leaves drop from trees) in Greek, and this analogy suggests that the cell death is necessary for the life cycle of organisms [30, 37, 58, 76]. An example of the impact of PCD on development is seen in lymphocytes. Most lymphocytes die via apoptosis as a result of negative selection or genetic rearrangement, thereby verifying the constant cellular pool of functional immune cells and lymphocyte numbers [97]. Moreover, apoptosis is critical for development of reproductive organs [85]. Apoptotic processes are widely involved in regulation of proliferation, differentiation, development, and tissue homeostasis [26].

#### Autophagy and Its Role During Development

# Autophagy

Autophagy is a tightly regulated catabolic process used by eukaryotes for recycling and degrading of organelles, proteins, and other cytoplasmic components, in a lysosomal-dependent manner [52]. Autophagy occurs in three typical forms

including microautophagy, macroautophagy, and chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA) [13, 60, 83]. Microautophagy and CMA are directly mediated by the lysosome to immediately degrade small cytosolic portions or chaperone-associated molecules, respectively. Macroautophagy (hereafter called autophagy) is responsible for the turnover of long-lived macromolecules and damaged organelles that are sequestered into the autophagosome, a double-membrane-bound vesicle originating from a precursor structure called the phagophore [33, 60, 74, 87] (Fig. 4). Autophagosomes are then fused with lysosomes and this forms the autophagolysosome (Fig. 4). In the final stage, the cargo is degraded by hydrolases in the autolysosome, and the products are transported back to the cytosol by lysosomal permeases [121].

The molecular components of this pathway were first discovered in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and include autophagy-related proteins (ATGs) [91]. Most autophagy stimuli converge at the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)–Akt– mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway that is the best characterized modulator of autophagy in most cells [11, 60] (Fig. 5). This signaling pathway is known to play a vital role in multiple cellular functions such as proliferation, adhesion, migration, survival, and invasion [56, 117]. The PI3K–Akt–mTOR pathway integrates signals from growth factors, energy, and nutrients to adjust proliferation and cell growth through various cellular mechanisms [75, 117]. The serine–threonine protein kinase Akt, also called protein kinase B, is upstream of mTOR and the downstream effector of PI3K. Inactivation of mTOR complex1 by starvation



**Fig. 4** Schematic representation of autophagy pathway. Autophagy is a process for the degradation and recycling of cellular compartments in lysosomes which includes phagophore, autophagosome, autophagosome, and autolysosome



**Fig. 5** Schematic representation of ER stress and unfolded protein response. ER stress activates UPR proteins (e.g., PERK, ATF6, and IRE1) in the endoplasmic reticulum. Briefly activated PERK promotes ATF4 activation via phosphorylation of eif2 $\alpha$ . Activation of IRE1 arm of UPR induces XBP mRNA splicing in the cytoplasm, subsequently leading to activation of UPR target genes. ATF6 arm is initiated via cleavage of ATF6 in the Golgi which is later targeted to the nucleus and induces expression of UPR-responsive genes

conditions activates Unc-51-like kinase (ULK), which initiates the autophagy process; however, under normal nutrient conditions, mTOR complex1 phosphorylates ULK1/ULK2 and Atg13 to inhibit initiation of the autophagy pathway [99, 117]. Therefore, core machinery for the initiation stage during autophagy induction is the ULK1/ULK2 complex, which consists of ULK, Atg13, and FIP200. Upon initiation of autophagy, a complex nucleation arises when the PI3K complex binds to its core units, such as Beclin-1 (the human orthologue of murine Atg6) [73, 74]. This complex resides on the isolated membrane and facilitates recruitment of other ATGs to the unit (Fig. 5). During autophagosome elongation and maturation, two ubiquitinlike conjugation systems are involved: the microtubule-associated protein light chain 3 (LC3) system and the Atg12 system. LC3 is first cleaved by ATG4 to form LC31. Phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) is then conjugated to LC3I by Atg7 and Atg3, and it creates LC3-II that can stably insert into the autophagosomal membrane [33, 35, 63, 87].

### Role of Autophagy in Development

There is emerging evidence that autophagy plays critical roles in differentiation and development [1]. The autophagy pathway can induce rapid cellular changes (e.g., protein and organelle turnover) that are necessary for proper differentiation and/or development. Most autophagy-defective organisms show severe problems in differentiation [12]. Additionally, autophagy is important for survival during neonatal starvation and cell differentiation during lymphopoiesis, erythropoiesis, osteogenesis, and adipogenesis [1, 12, 86]. The Atg7-deficient mice showed severe anemia because there is a lack of sufficient erythropoiesis. It has been suggested that erythroid differentiation depends on autophagy for mitochondria removal [89]. Adipocytes mainly harbor lipid droplets that have been identified as a substrate for autophagy [23]. In addition to the differentiating functions, autophagy is also crucial for survival and viability of terminally differentiated cells such as neurons. Autophagy knockout mice showed uneven numbers of neural stem/progenitor cells which resulted in a delay in development. The phenotype of Ambra1 and ULK1 mutant mice confirmed the importance of autophagy and plausible mechanisms during development of the nervous system [27]. Ambra1 is a vertebrate-specific protein that is highly expressed in the nervous system and positively regulates autophagy by promoting Beclin-1 binding to Vps34 [27]. ULK1 is an ATG protein involved in the initiation of autophagy, and its deficiency leads to defects in terminal neuronal differentiation and causes abnormal axonal formation in the cerebellar granule neuron [109]. Moreover, autophagy is crucial for vertebrate development at some time points during embryogenesis. In the embryonic period, the placenta provides energy for the mammalian embryo but after birth, transplacental nutrient supply is disconnected and embryos face starvation until the supply can be restored through milk nutrients. In this condition, autophagy is induced approximately 3 days  $\pm$  12 h after birth [65]. Confirming these reports, Atg5 null mice are normal at birth, but die within 1 day after birth, highlighting the importance of autophagy for embryo development [65].

# Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Unfolded Protein Response

The presence of two glucose-regulated proteins (GRPs), GRP78 and GRP94, with molecular weights of 78 and 94 kDa, respectively, were discovered in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) of mammalian cells in 1987. They can form stable associations with a variety of proteins retained in the ER because of underglycosylation or other conformational changes [67]. These proteins are induced by some stress conditions including glucose starvation, treatment with cellular glycosylation inhibitors, calcium ionophores, or amino acid analogues [67]. The major difference between these

proteins and heat shock proteins (HSPs) is that GRPs are not induced by increasing temperature [67]. GRP78 was shown to have some activity like immunoglobulin heavy chain binding protein (BiP) [90]. It can also permanently bind to a variety of malfolded/misfolded proteins that accumulate within the ER and/or transiently in nascent, wild-type secretory and transmembrane proteins. For the first time in 1988 while studying simian cells, it was reported that only malfolded proteins (e.g., influenza virus hemagglutinin (HA)) had their transport from the ER blocked, which can induce GRPs 78 and 94 synthesis regardless of their abnormal glycosylation state [64]. It has also been shown that the highly conserved *GRP* element, which is important for the basal level and induced *GRP78* expression, is a 10-bp region that contains a CCAAT motif in DNA. However, this element alone is not sufficient for promoter activity, but a 40-bp region (-129 to -90) that contains this motif is essential for mediating basal levels and stress inducibility of the *GRP78* promoter. It has also shown that the transcription factor CTF/NF-I is able to transactivate the *GRP78* promoter through interaction with this CCAAT motif [120].

Less than 25 years ago, an FK506/rapamycin-binding protein was found to be encoded by a mammalian *FKBP-13* gene, which localizes in the ER lumen. A homologue of mammalian *FKBP-13* in the ER lumen, the FKB2 gene, is encoded by *S. cerevisiae*. FKB2 mRNA levels increase in response to the accumulation of unfolded proteins in the ER, which can be caused by blocking the N-glycosylation and/or treating the cells with tunicamycin. However, blocking other steps in secretion has no effect on FKB2 mRNA levels. It was then shown that a 21-bp UPR element located in the 5'-noncoding region of *FKB2* is responsible for this increase in the *FKB2* mRNA level. The similarities in the regulation of *FKB2* and other ER chaperone genes (yeast *KAR2*, mammalian *GRP78* or BiP, and *GRP94*) suggest that FKBP-13 may play a role in protein trafficking in the ER [93]. In addition to tunicamycin, other inducers of GRPs include dithiothreitol (DTT) as a sulfhydryl reducing agent, amino acid analogues, severe glucose depletion, and oxygen, which increase the protein flux, decrease Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels, and disrupt lipid homeostasis to induce the UPR in the cells [68, 112, 114].

Thus, UPR is a regulatory mechanism by which cells control levels of misfolded proteins in the ER. The UPR is currently characterized in all cell types, including normal neurons, with an emphasis on its importance in neurodegenerative diseases. It has been shown that UPR signaling modulates neurodegeneration depending on the disease context [43].

In metazoans, UPR consists of three parallel arms, which are characterized by their stress sensor proteins: (1) inositol-requiring transmembrane kinase/endoribonuclease 1 (IRE1), (2) activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6), and (3) doublestranded RNA (PKR)-activated protein kinase-like eukaryotic initiation factor  $2\alpha$ kinase (PERK). Each of these UPR sensors binds to the BiP as the ER luminal chaperone (Fig. 5) [104, 112].

The IRE1 pathway is considered to function as a major and the most conserved arm of the UPR from yeast to humans [104, 112]. IRE1 $\alpha$  and IRE1 $\beta$  have been known as two homologues of mammalian IRE1. While IRE1 $\alpha$  is expressed in all cells and tissues, and is a main mediator of UPR signaling, IRE1 $\beta$  is expressed only

in the intestinal epithelium [112]. Activated IRE1α, which shows the endoribonuclease activity, cleaves a 26-base fragment from the mRNA encoding the X-box binding protein-1 (XBP1) [70, 127]. The *Xbp1* mRNA before and after splicing is translated into unspliced XBP1 (XBP1U) and spliced XBP1 (XBP1S), respectively. XBP1s as a potent transcription factor targets a wide variety of genes encoding proteins involved in ER membrane biogenesis, ER protein folding, ER-associated protein degradation (ERAD), and protein secretion [127]. Unspliced XBP1 mRNA is constitutively translated into XBP1U [88].

The role of ATF6, as a basic leucine zipper (bZIP) protein that belongs to the type 2 transmembrane glycoprotein family, has been introduced as another arm of the mammalian UPR. It has an important role as a putative ER stress response element (ERSE)-binding protein, which was introduced in 1998 by Yoshida et al. [126]. They showed that ATF6 was constitutively expressed in HeLa cells as a 90-kDa protein, but it was phosphorylated (p90ATF6) and converted to a 50-kDa protein (p50ATF6) by posttranslational mechanism is response to stress [126]. ATF6 is regulated by intramembrane proteolysis; ER stress induces the proteolysis of membrane-bound p90ATF6 and releases the soluble part, p50ATF6, allowing it to enter the nucleus. In the nucleus, p50ATF6 contains a bZIP domain and activates transcription of ER chaperone genes such as *GRP78* through ERSE in collaboration with a general transcription factor [41, 125]. It has been demonstrated that the XBP1, as a target of ATF6, is a mammalian substrate of such an unconventional mRNA splicing system and showed that only the spliced form of XBP1 (XBP1s) can effectively activate the UPR [127].

ATF6 $\alpha$  and ATF6 $\beta$  are two distant homologues of ATF6 but both are ubiquitously expressed in all tissues [108]. They are cleaved during the ER stress response (ERSR); the resulting N-terminal fragments (N-ATF6 $\alpha$  and N-ATF6 $\beta$ ) enter the nucleus and bind to specific regulatory elements of the DNA, which results in the activation of transcription of ERSR genes related to ATF6, such as GRP78 [108]. It has been suggested that the relative levels of ATF6 $\alpha$  and ATF6 $\beta$  may contribute to regulating the strength and duration of ATF6-dependent ERSR gene induction and cell viability. In addition, ATF6 $\alpha$  is strong, but labile transcription factor, while ATF6 $\beta$  is a weak and stable transcription factor. A gel shift assay showed that they are competing with each other in binding to the GRP78 ERSE [108].

Harding et al. first introduced PERK in the mouse ER in 1999 [39]. PERK belongs to a family of protein kinases that in response to different cellular stresses regulates translation by phosphorylation of the  $\alpha$  subunit of eukaryotic initiation factor-2 (eif-2 $\alpha$ ). Sood et al. then separated the rat homologue of PERK, which is pancreatic eif-2 $\alpha$  kinase (PEK), from rat pancreas [105]. Protein synthesis and folding of the newly synthesized proteins into the correct three-dimensional structure are coupled in cellular compartments of the exocytosis pathway by a process that modulates the response to a stress signal from the ER [39]. The phosphorylation of eif-2 $\alpha$  on serine residue 51 by PERK leads to the activation of the process to reduce rates of protein translation initiation during ER stress.

In some stress conditions such as amino acid starvation, protein synthesis is negatively regulated because of  $eif2\alpha$  phosphorylation and its activation. In this signaling pathway, the mammalian eif2 kinases PERK and GCN2 repress translation of most mRNAs but selectively increase translation of activating transcription factor 4 (ATF4), resulting in the induction of the downstream gene C/EBP homologous protein (CHOP) [38, 40, 79]. ATF4 is also activated by ER stress and other stimuli such as viral infection. However, there is no interaction between XBP1U and ATF4, which allows the cell to avoid undesired ATF4 degradation that is induced by XBP1U in response to non-ER stress [88]. Activation of ATF4 and CHOP negatively regulates mTOR via Redd1 expression in response to oxidative and ER stress [54].

#### **UPR and General Development**

Eukaryotic protein homeostasis, which is called proteostasis, refers to controlling all aspects of cells including health, organismal development and aging, as well as their protection against diseases, which is often influences protein synthesis (transcription/ translation), degradation, conformation (folding/misfolding), protein interactions (quaternary structure, aggregation/disaggregation, and other protein–protein interactions), and trafficking (location of individual proteins). Thus, proteostasis affects specific cellular functions and enables differentiated cells to change their physiology in a surrounding media. Deficiency in the proteostasis results in some diseases like neurodegenerative, metabolic, and cardiovascular disorders and cancer. Some of these disorders are already developed at birth, but most occur upon aging [9].

As mentioned above, both development and aging are influenced by proteostasis. All protein processes such as protein folding, aggregation, degradation, and modification are the processes that affect protein function. Quality control systems in the cell control the balance between the abovementioned processes to achieve a highquality protein suitable for growth and survival of the cell [7, 49, 101]. In addition to the metabolic enzymes, molecular chaperones, chemical chaperones, and some other small molecules affect the proteostasis. Several important processes including heat shock response (HSR) [44, 55, 113, 115] and UPR [9, 49] also regulate and control the proteostasis. For example, it has been shown that in cerebral pathological events such as ischemia, epilepsy, and trauma, some specific genes and proteins are activated, while some others may be inhibited in neuronal cells. Synthesis of a set of proteins, termed stress or HSPs, increases during ischemia as well as with heat shock treatment (hyperthermia), while the synthesis of most other proteins decreases [44]. Based on the time and region, there is also a significant difference between the kinetics of various HSPs [44, 45]. Northern blot analysis has indicated that there is differential induction of various classes of HSP mRNAs by ischemia. Within 4 h after ischemia, the HSP70 family mRNAs were induced and then rapidly decreased, while HSP27 and HSP47 mRNAs were maximally increased up to 24 and 48 h after ischemia, respectively. In addition, in situ hybridization showed that mRNAs of inducible HSP70s were localized in the core region of the infarct 2 h after ischemia, and at a relatively late period (4-8 h), they move to the penumbra region [45]. Because cerebral blood flow has been severely decreased in the ischemic center and the collateral circulation continuously provides some blood flow,

ischemic cell damage may progress from the ischemic center to the peripheral regions [44].

A growing body of evidence indicated the key role of UPR in normal neuronal function, and its distortion leads to neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease (PD), Huntington's disease (HD), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), and prion-related diseases (PrDs) [43]. Although clinical manifestations of these diseases are different, all involve the accumulation of misfolded proteins and are now classified as protein misfolding disorders (PMDs) [43, 106].

In addition to the ischemia and nervous system [36, 43, 46, 111], the role of UPR and proteostasis in general development [111] and the development of B- and T-cells [10, 32] and lens proteins [29, 123] have also been demonstrated.

The role of UPR activation during normal lens development and differentiation in the mouse has been studied. The lens of the eve, which is composed of epithelial and fiber cells, is a transparent structure that is responsible for focusing light onto the retina. Epithelial cells are found on the anterior surface, and after differentiation, fiber cells are formed at the lens equator. It has been shown that the expression of BiP and protein disulfide isomerase (PDI) was greatly increased in the newly forming fiber cells from embryonic lenses. These fiber cells also expressed the UPRassociated molecules XBP1, ATF6, p-PERK, and ATF4 during embryogenesis. In addition, XBP1s, cleaved ATF6, and p-eif2a have been detected in embryonic mouse lenses, suggesting that UPR pathways are active in this tissue [29]. In the lens epithelium of patients with cataract (high myopia-related or age-related cataract), the mRNA and soluble protein expression in both  $\alpha$ A- and  $\alpha$ B-crystallin were decreased. In addition, the protein levels of ATF6, p-eif2 $\alpha$ , and p-IRE1 $\alpha$  and the gene expression levels of spliced XBP1, GRP78, ATF6, and ATF4 were greatly increased relative to the normal control. These results suggest the significant loss of soluble  $\alpha$ -crystallin and the activation of the UPR in the lens epithelium of patients with high myopia-related cataract, which may be associated with this type of cataractogenesis [123]. In the developing eyes, expression of ceramide kinase-like (CERKL) at both mRNA and protein levels was minimal, but it reached a peak at retinal maturity at 2 months of age in the mouse. The retina showed the highest level of CERKL expression, which reached its maximum in the adult retina [80].

#### **Apoptosis and Cerebellum Development**

In the cerebellum, the ventricular zone (VZ) and rhombic lip (RL) are the source of all cerebellar cell types. The VZ and the external granule layer (EGL) are able to proliferate, while the internal granule layer (IGL) and sub-ventricular zone are specified for migration. Purkinje cells and granule cells migrate from the VZ and EGL, respectively. Adult neurons are assumed to escape from apoptosis during proliferation or during early pre-mitotic migration. Thus, analysis of apoptosis in all parts of the cerebellum may help to identify different cell functions in development [3, 15].

# Apoptosis of Stellate and Basket Cells

Progenitor cells such as stellate and basket cells are produced from the ventricular zone (VZ) postnatally. They reside in white matter in the first postnatal week, and in the days immediately following the first postnatal week, they proliferate more and migrate to the molecular layer. Their movement is completed in the third postnatal week. Apoptosis occurs during progenitor cell proliferation/migration as shown in the GAD67/GFP mice [78].

# Apoptosis of Purkinje Cells

Purkinje cells migrate from the VZ and are placed between the EGL and IGL cells. They form a single-cellular layer [15] and are key cells in the cerebellum that are targeted in many neurological mutations in mouse models to study Purkinje cell death. Two periods of apoptosis occur in these cells: the first is the embryonic period and the second is the postnatal term. Regulation of Purkinje cell apoptosis occurs through the connection to climbing fibers. First, one climbing fiber interacts with several Purkinje cells during the first postnatal week in rats. Then, the climbing fibers fix their final connection. The Purkinje cells, which cannot react to climbing fiber, undergo apoptosis and are deleted. However, the apoptotic Purkinje cells can interact with climbing fibers and this causes them to retract. Thus, the connection between Purkinje cells and climbing fibers occurs on a one-to-one basis [15]. There are also many genes that interfere with regulation of Purkinje cell death. Two mouse models, Toppler and Woozy, are mutants in which PCD is observed in Purkinje cells by apoptotic pathways and sometimes with activation of autophagic mechanisms. This cell death may be different from formal PCD. Many of Purkinje cells will die during normal aging, using mechanisms similar to apoptosis [78].

# Apoptosis of Granule Cells

Granule cells migrate from the EGL to the IGL part of the cerebellum. The apoptotic cells in IGL have been verified, and it was shown that they are postmitotic neuron cells that could not produce a right synaptic connection with Purkinje cells in the molecular layer [15]. During the first week of postnatal life, there is an established cell loss within the granule cell layer. A high number of granule neurons in both the mitotic and postmitotic regions of the EGL undergo DNA fragmentation [118]. The granule cell precursors (GCPs) are generated from the rhombic lip which is the source of external germinal zone (EGZ or EGL). GCPs, giving rise to GCs, first extensively proliferate and some of them start differentiating into mature GCs [20]. The first in vitro apoptosis model for the central nervous system was recently

identified, and it was shown that cerebellar granule cells undergo apoptosis when they are deprived of depolarizing levels of extracellular potassium [19]. Additionally, the in vivo correlation between apoptosis in cerebellar granule cells has been recently reported by Wood et al. [118], which shows DNA fragmentation in the granular layer of the cerebellum of the newborn rat. Cerebellar granule neurons are a perfect model system to study neuronal apoptosis because these neurons live and survive for weeks when they are maintained in depolarizing concentrations of potassium. However, they undergo apoptosis when cultured in low physiological potassium conditions. It has also been demonstrated that apoptosis of differentiated cerebellar granule neurons induced by potassium deprivation might be a neuronal death model after differentiation. They showed that during cerebellar development, target-related cell death in granule cells occurs [31, 102]. To comply with the existing hypothesis that during development transforming growth factors (TGF- $\beta$ ) might play a role in regulation of apoptosis in cerebellar neurons, these cytokines must be produced in a time- and location-dependent manner. It has been reported that TGFβ1, TGF-β2, and TGF-β3 accelerate neuronal apoptosis when maintained in a low

physiological potassium medium, as assessed using quantitative DNA fragmentation, viability, and nuclear morphology. These data demonstrate that TGF- $\beta$  might limit the expansion of neuronal precursor populations through boosting their apoptosis [20].

Additionally, there is evidence of a p53-independent apoptotic pathway for loss of cerebellar granule cells during development. This was demonstrated by the fact that neuronal precursors of apoptosis in the cerebellum of transgenic mice that lack functional p53 are similar to that in wild-type mice [119]. It has been previously suggested that elimination of postmigratory granule neurons during cerebellar development could be prevented by blocking their programmed death, further confirming the remarkable role of apoptosis in cerebellar development [122].

Apoptotic cells are identified as immature GCs and/or their GCPs. Analysis of apoptotic pathways has indicated that caspase-3 and caspase-9 are expressed in cerebellar germinal zones, and activation of caspase-3 is important for progenitor cell death, which is inhibited by a pan-caspase inhibitor. Thus, neural progenitors can activate a caspase-dependent apoptotic pathway. However, another experiment showed that caspase inhibitors could not prevent GCs from death. The experiments showed that caspase-3 is not activated during apoptosis of GCPs/pre-migratory GCs. Therefore, early neuronal death of GCPs/pre-migratory GCs may be caspase-3-independent. The naturally occurring neuronal death (NOND) of GCPs/premigratory GCs is possibly related to establishment of the correct ratio between GCs and Purkinje cells. The vast cell death in EGL neurons is related to folia formation during fissuration of the cerebellar cortex. The process of apoptosis does not occur synchronously in the cerebellum, and thus the number of apoptotic cells in the lobes is different. The second wave of apoptosis in GCs occurs in postmitotic neurons. The evidence has shown the specific cleavage of several caspases and PARP-1, the most biologically relevant substrate of caspase-3, occurs. The caspase/PARP-1 cleavage selectively occurs within the internal granule layer (IGL). Therefore, this PCD is different from early NOND and is caspase-dependent [78].

# Apoptosis of Cerebellar Nuclei Neurons

After treating neonatal rats with ethanol, cerebellar nuclei neurons undergo apoptosis. Three hours after the lesion forms, the axotomy is initiated in cerebellar nuclei and neurodegeneration begins within 48 h. Apoptotic cell morphology has been observed, but during normal development of cerebellar nuclear neurons, apoptosis does not occur [78].

# Autophagy and Cerebellum Development

As discussed above, autophagy is a self-degradation lysosomal system that was initially described in single-cell organisms as an adaptation mechanism to nutrient supply fluctuations and to recycle various cellular organelles [83, 124].

The nervous system complex ontogenesis is especially sensitive to dysregulation of autophagy. This is shown by the axonal growth, neural tube defects, and impairment of migration following either inactivation or downregulation of autophagic genes [1, 8, 73]. Autophagy plays essential roles in the late stages of embryonic and postnatal development [21]. Defects in autophagy lead to impairment in the number of neural progenitors and lead to incorrect differentiation and development [1]. For example, an autophagy malfunction causes inappropriate neurotransmitter processing and secretion [1]. There are many neurodegenerative disorders that are caused by defective autophagy mechanisms such as Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease (PD), Huntington's disease (HD), and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) [61, 62]. The other consequences of defects in autophagy genes such as Atg5 and Atg7 mutant mice include perinatal lethality in suckling kids and neurodegeneration symptoms [61, 62]. In addition, ablation of Atg7 causes dystrophy of Purkinje cell axon terminals in the cerebellar nuclei [21, 82].

Another study on the *ULK1* gene in mammals, which is an orthologue of the yeast *Atg1*, showed its important role in autophagy machinery. ULK1 is a protein kinase that plays a significant role in the early autophagosome formation. When autophagy is induced, ULK1 kinase separates the Ambra1/Beclin-1 complex from the dynein complex, to initiate the autophagy process. During embryogenesis, Ambra1 is expressed in the CNS, specifically in the neural plate. In mice with the *Ambra1* mutant, in which the autophagy machinery is deficient, apoptosis was observed. This result showed the relationship between autophagy, apoptosis, and cell proliferation. Therefore, Ambra1 is an essential protein for the control of cell proliferation during development of the CNS [21]. These data indicate that in the cerebellum, autophagy is involved as a part of PCD in parallel with apoptosis. The autophagic cell death act is an alternative PCD when apoptosis is inhibited in the rat cerebellar granule cell [84]. Both reactive oxygen species (ROS) and autophagy also promote apoptosis in this model [84]. Degeneration of Purkinje cells is a common feature of inherited ataxias in humans and mice. Association of the autophagy

pathway with mitochondria, which is also known as "mitophagy," is reported in Purkinje cell degeneration (*pcd*) mouse. This highlights a link between mitochondrial dysfunction, autophagy, and Purkinje cell degeneration in the cerebellum [14]. In conclusion, autophagy is an important process for survival and development of cerebellar cells [82].

# **Involvement of UPR in Cerebellum Development**

As discussed above, ER stress and UPR participate in many physiological processes such as differentiation and development in different organs and are also involved in pathogenesis of various neurological diseases [42, 94]. The developing brain is highly sensitive to different kinds of environmental stresses (e.g., infectious pathogens, pollutants, alcohol, drugs, and malnutrition), which often cause ER stress [94]. One of the earliest pieces of evidence on the involvement of UPR pathways in brain cells showed that inhibition of global protein synthesis occurs during brain neuron ischemia [48]. In this condition, the UPR can degrade misfolded/unfolded proteins through activation of the ER-associated degradation to ensure a balance of protein-folding capacity that is crucial for cerebellar Purkinje cell survival [47, 69, 128]. Additionally, recent reports suggest that, compared with immature brain neurons, mature neurons are more susceptible to the ER stress and apoptosis induced by tunicamycin. This suggests that the UPR is developmentally involved during neurogenesis [110]. The UPR is generally responsible for the hierarchy and lineage relationships developed in the CNS cells in various animal models [36, 66]. ER stress induction by tunicamycin and thapsigargin induces neuronal differentiation, while the glial differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells is inhibited via PERK and IRE-1 branches of the UPR [16]. Laguesse and coworkers proposed a model suggesting that dynamic regulation of the UPR pathways is critical to switch from direct to indirect neurogenesis [66]. During cerebral cortex development, the UPR promotes neurogenesis. In the rat cerebellum, development of white matter tracts is dependent on a dramatic increase in membrane protein and lipid production in oligodendrocytes to facilitate myelin production [92]. A substantial peak in ER stress signaling IRE1 and ATF6, but not PERK, as well as the UPR mediators GRP78, GRP94, calreticulin, CHOP, and PDI, has been observed in the developing rat cerebellum [92]. In addition, BiP/GRP78 has a critical function in the development of the cerebellum as well as other neuronal functions. GRP78 knock-in mice show defective layer formation in their cerebral cortex and cerebellum [50]. A few specific ER chaperones can also play a direct role during proliferation and early development of the cerebellum to ensure homeostasis for increased activity of protein secretion [22]. For example, the ER-resident protein ORP150/HSP12A is involved in cerebellum development. Transgenic expression of this protein in neurons reduces Purkinje cells apoptotic cell death and their vulnerability to hypoxic and excitotoxic stress, which subsequently leads to maintaining survival of these cells during

cerebellar development [59]. Defects in BAP (SIL1), another regulator of UPR, can also cause damage in cerebellar Purkinje cells [128, 129] and cerebral ataxia disease [5, 103]. The Marinesco–Sjögren syndrome characterized by cerebellar ataxia is associated with mutation in SIL1 gene [5, 103]. These reports suggest that dynamic regulation of the UPR is needed for balance between proliferation and differentiation in the cerebellum and other tissues [66].

CLCC1, a transmembrane protein in ER, was shown to play an important role in maintenance of ER homeostasis in the young cerebellum. Mutation in this gene results into few pyknotic granule cells in the 3-month-old cerebellum; BIP upregulation and ubiquitin-positive inclusions were observed in these neurons [53].

# Conclusion

The role of apoptosis has been investigated in different aspects of development including cerebellar development. Many important roles of apoptosis have been identified in regulation of cerebellar development. Recently, autophagy and the UPR, which are major cellular responses to intra- and extracellular stress, have been shown to also play essential roles in regulation of cerebellar development. All of the mechanisms described in this chapter are tightly interconnected and affect each other. Therefore, future research should consider the regulation of different organ development, including cerebellar development, focusing the regulatory effects of apoptosis, autophagy, and UPR on this process based on their interconnected points. Because apoptosis, autophagy, and the UPR are regulated based on mitochondria, lysosomes, and ER functions, respectively, the future of cerebellar development research will probably change to organelle-based investigations and their role in development. Therefore, developing models that aim to use mis-functional organelles including mitochondria, lysosomes, and the ER will be an asset to significantly increase knowledge in the field of neurodevelopment.

**Acknowledgment** JA was supported by Research Manitoba studentship. NA was supported by NSERC held by Dr. Hassan Marzban. SG was supported by Health Science Centre Foundation General Operating Grant.

# References

- Aburto MR, Hurlé JM, Varela-Nieto I, Magariños M. Autophagy during vertebrate development. Cell. 2012;1:428–48.
- Acehan D, Jiang X, Morgan DG, Heuser JE, Wang X, Akey CW. Three-dimensional structure of the apoptosome: implications for assembly, procaspase-9 binding, and activation. Mol Cell. 2002;9:423–32.
- 3. Altman J. Postnatal development of the cerebellar cortex in the rat. III. Maturation of the components of the granular layer. J Comp Neurol. 1972;145:465–513.

- Antonsson B, Montessuit S, Lauper S, Eskes R, Martinou JC. Bax oligomerization is required for channel-forming activity in liposomes and to trigger cytochrome c release from mitochondria. Biochem J. 2000;345:271–8.
- Anttonen AK, Mahjneh I, Hamalainen RH, Lagier-Tourenne C, Kopra O, Waris L, Anttonen M, Joensuu T, Kalimo H, Paetau A, Tranebjaerg L, Chaigne D, Koenig M, Eeg-Olofsson O, Udd B, Somer M, Somer H, Lehesjoki AE. The gene disrupted in Marinesco-Sjogren syndrome encodes SIL1, an HSPA5 cochaperone. Nat Genet. 2005;37:1309–11.
- Arnoult D, Parone P, Martinou J-C, Antonsson B, Estaquier J, Ameisen JC. Mitochondrial release of apoptosis-inducing factor occurs downstream of cytochrome c release in response to several proapoptotic stimuli. J Cell Biol. 2002;159:923–9.
- 7. Austin RC. The unfolded protein response in health and disease. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2009;11:2279–87.
- Baehrecke E. Autophagic programmed cell death in Drosophila. Cell Death Differ. 2003;10:940–5.
- Balch WE, Morimoto RI, Dillin A, Kelly JW. Adapting proteostasis for disease intervention. Science. 2008;319:916–9.
- Brunsing R, Omori SA, Weber F, Bicknell A, Friend L, Rickert R, Niwa M. B- and T-cell development both involve activity of the unfolded protein response pathway. J Biol Chem. 2008;283:17954–61.
- Carneiro BA, Kaplan JB, Altman JK, Giles FJ, Platanias LC. Targeting mTOR signaling pathways and related negative feedback loops for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer Biol Ther. 2015;16:648–56.
- 12. Cecconi F, Levine B. The role of autophagy in mammalian development: cell makeover rather than cell death. Dev Cell. 2008;15:344–57.
- Chaabane W, User SD, El-Gazzah M, Jaksik R, Sajjadi E, Rzeszowska-Wolny J, Łos MJ. Autophagy, apoptosis, mitoptosis and necrosis: interdependence between those pathways and effects on cancer. Arch Immunol Ther Exp. 2013;61:43–58.
- Chakrabarti L, Eng J, Ivanov N, Garden GA, La Spada AR. Autophagy activation and enhanced mitophagy characterize the Purkinje cells of pcd mice prior to neuronal death. Mol Brain. 2009;2:24.
- 15. Cheng XS, Li MS, Du J, Jiang QY, Wang L, Yan SY, Yu DM, Deng JB. Neuronal apoptosis in the developing cerebellum. Anat Histol Embryol. 2011;40:21–7.
- Cho YM, Jang Y-S, Jang Y-M, Chung S-M, Kim H-S, Lee J-H, Jeong S-W, Kim I-K, Kim JJ, Kim K-S. Induction of unfolded protein response during neuronal induction of rat bone marrow stromal cells and mouse embryonic stem cells. Exp Mol Med. 2009;41:440–52.
- Coleman ML, Sahai EA, Yeo M, Bosch M, Dewar A, Olson MF. Membrane blebbing during apoptosis results from caspase-mediated activation of ROCK I. Nat Cell Biol. 2001;3:339–45.
- Cory S, Adams JM. The Bcl2 family: regulators of the cellular life-or-death switch. Nat Rev Cancer. 2002;2:647–56.
- D'Mello SR, Galli C, Ciotti T, Calissano P. Induction of apoptosis in cerebellar granule neurons by low potassium: inhibition of death by insulin-like growth factor I and cAMP. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1993;90:10989–93.
- 20. De Luca A, Weller M, Fontana A. TGF-beta-induced apoptosis of cerebellar granule neurons is prevented by depolarization. J Neurosci. 1996;16:4174–85.
- Di Bartolomeo S, Nazio F, Cecconi F. The role of autophagy during development in higher eukaryotes. Traffic. 2010;11:1280–9.
- Ding W-X, Ni H-M, Gao W, Hou Y-F, Melan MA, Chen X, Stolz DB, Shao Z-M, Yin X-M. Differential effects of endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced autophagy on cell survival. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:4702–10.
- 23. Dong H, Czaja MJ. Regulation of lipid droplets by autophagy. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2011;22:234–40.
- 24. Ellis HM, Horvitz HR. Genetic control of programmed cell death in the nematode *C. elegans*. Cell. 1986;44:817–29.

- 25. Elmore S. Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. Toxicol Pathol. 2007;35:495-516.
- 26. Fadeel B, Orrenius S, Zhivotovsky B. Apoptosis in human disease: a new skin for the old ceremony? Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;266:699–717.
- Fimia GM, Stoykova A, Romagnoli A, Giunta L, Di Bartolomeo S, Nardacci R, Corazzari M, Fuoco C, Ucar A, Schwartz P. Ambra1 regulates autophagy and development of the nervous system. Nature. 2007;447:1121–5.
- Fink SL, Cookson BT. Apoptosis, pyroptosis, and necrosis: mechanistic description of dead and dying eukaryotic cells. Infect Immun. 2005;73:1907–16.
- Firtina Z, Duncan MK. Unfolded Protein Response (UPR) is activated during normal lens development. Gene Expr Patterns. 2011;11:135–43.
- 30. Fuchs Y, Steller H. Programmed cell death in animal development and disease. Cell. 2011;147:742–58.
- Galli C, Meucci O, Scorziello A, Werge TM, Calissano P, Schettini G. Apoptosis in cerebellar granule cells is blocked by high KCl, forskolin, and IGF-1 through distinct mechanisms of action: the involvement of intracellular calcium and RNA synthesis. J Neurosci. 1995;15:1172–9.
- Gass JN, Jiang HY, Wek RC, Brewer JW. The unfolded protein response of B-lymphocytes: PERK-independent development of antibody-secreting cells. Mol Immunol. 2008;45:1035–43.
- Ghavami S, Gupta S, Ambrose E, Hnatowich M, Freed D, Dixon I. Autophagy and heart disease: implications for cardiac ischemia-reperfusion damage. Curr Mol Med. 2014;14:616–29.
- 34. Ghavami S, Hashemi M, Ande SR, Yeganeh B, Xiao W, Eshraghi M, Bus CJ, Kadkhoda K, Wiechec E, Halayko AJ. Apoptosis and cancer: mutations within caspase genes. J Med Genet. 2009;46:497–510.
- Ghavami S, Shojaei S, Yeganeh B, Ande SR, Jangamreddy JR, Mehrpour M, Christoffersson J, Chaabane W, Moghadam AR, Kashani HH. Autophagy and apoptosis dysfunction in neurodegenerative disorders. Prog Neurobiol. 2014;112:24–49.
- 36. Godin JD, Creppe C, Laguesse S, Nguyen L. Emerging roles for the unfolded protein response in the developing nervous system. Trends Neurosci. 2016;39:394–404.
- Haanen C, Vermes I. Apoptosis: programmed cell death in fetal development. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1996;64:129–33.
- Harding HP, Novoa I, Zhang Y, Zeng H, Wek R, Schapira M, Ron D. Regulated translation initiation controls stress-induced gene expression in mammalian cells. Mol Cell. 2000;6:1099–108.
- Harding HP, Zhang Y, Ron D. Protein translation and folding are coupled by an endoplasmicreticulum-resident kinase. Nature. 1999;397:271–4.
- 40. Harding HP, Zhang Y, Zeng H, Novoa I, Lu PD, Calfon M, Sadri N, Yun C, Popko B, Paules R, Stojdl DF, Bell JC, Hettmann T, Leiden JM, Ron D. An integrated stress response regulates amino acid metabolism and resistance to oxidative stress. Mol Cell. 2003;11:619–33.
- Haze K, Yoshida H, Yanagi H, Yura T, Mori K. Mammalian transcription factor ATF6 is synthesized as a transmembrane protein and activated by proteolysis in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress. Mol Biol Cell. 1999;10:3787–99.
- Hetz C, Chevet E, Harding HP. Targeting the unfolded protein response in disease. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2013;12:703–19.
- Hetz C, Mollereau B. Disturbance of endoplasmic reticulum proteostasis in neurodegenerative diseases. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2014;15:233–49.
- 44. Higashi T, Nishi S, Nakai A, Nagata K. Regulatory mechanism of stress response in mammalian nervous system during cerebral ischaemia or after heat shock. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 1995;21:480–3.
- 45. Higashi T, Takechi H, Uemura Y, Kikuchi H, Nagata K. Differential induction of mRNA species encoding several classes of stress proteins following focal cerebral ischemia in rats. Brain Res. 1994;650:239–48.
- 46. Hoozemans JJ, Stieler J, Van Haastert ES, Veerhuis R, Rozemuller AJ, Baas F, Eikelenboom P, Arendt T, Scheper W. The unfolded protein response affects neuronal cell cycle protein expression: implications for Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis. Exp Gerontol. 2006;41:380–6.

- 47. Hosokawa N, Hara Y, Mizushima N. Generation of cell lines with tetracycline-regulated autophagy and a role for autophagy in controlling cell size. FEBS Lett. 2006;580:2623–9.
- Hossmann K-A. Disturbances of cerebral protein synthesis and ischemic cell death. Prog Brain Res. 1993;96:161–77.
- Imaizumi K, Miyoshi K, Katayama T, Yoneda T, Taniguchi M, Kudo T, Tohyama M. The unfolded protein response and Alzheimer's disease. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2001;1536:85–96.
- Impagnatiello F, Guidotti AR, Pesold C, Dwivedi Y, Caruncho H, Pisu MG, Uzunov DP, Smalheiser NR, Davis JM, Pandey GN. A decrease of reelin expression as a putative vulnerability factor in schizophrenia. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1998;95:15718–23.
- 51. Jayakiran M. Apoptosis-biochemistry: a mini review. J Clin Exp Pathol. 2015;5:1-4.
- Jeffrey M, Scott J, Williams A, Fraser H. Ultrastructural features of spongiform encephalopathy transmitted to mice from three species of bovidae. Acta Neuropathol. 1992;84:559–69.
- Jia Y, Jucius TJ, Cook SA, Ackerman SL. Loss of Clcc1 results in ER stress, misfolded protein accumulation, and neurodegeneration. J Neurosci. 2015;35:3001–9.
- 54. Jin HO, Seo SK, Woo SH, Kim ES, Lee HC, Yoo DH, An S, Choe TB, Lee SJ, Hong SI, Rhee CH, Kim JI, Park IC. Activating transcription factor 4 and CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteinbeta negatively regulate the mammalian target of rapamycin via Redd1 expression in response to oxidative and endoplasmic reticulum stress. Free Radic Biol Med. 2009;46:1158–67.
- 55. Jovaisaite V, Mouchiroud L, Auwerx J. The mitochondrial unfolded protein response, a conserved stress response pathway with implications in health and disease. J Exp Biol. 2014;217:137–43.
- 56. Karar J, Maity A. PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway in angiogenesis. Front Mol Neurosci. 2011;4:51.
- 57. Kerr J. A histochemical study of hypertrophy and ischaemic injury of rat liver with special reference to changes in lysosomes. J Pathol Bacteriol. 1965;90:419–35.
- Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR. Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer. 1972;26:239.
- Kitao Y, Hashimoto K, Matsuyama T, Iso H, Tamatani T, Hori O, Stern DM, Kano M, Ozawa K, Ogawa S. ORP150/HSP12A regulates Purkinje cell survival: a role for endoplasmic reticulum stress in cerebellar development. J Neurosci. 2004;24:1486–96.
- 60. Klionsky DJ. The molecular machinery of autophagy: unanswered questions. J Cell Sci. 2005;118:7–18.
- Komatsu M, Waguri S, Koike M, Sou Y-S, Ueno T, Hara T, Mizushima N, Iwata J-I, Ezaki J, Murata S. Homeostatic levels of p62 control cytoplasmic inclusion body formation in autophagy-deficient mice. Cell. 2007;131:1149–63.
- 62. Komatsu M, Wang QJ, Holstein GR, Friedrich VL, Iwata J-I, Kominami E, Chait BT, Tanaka K, Yue Z. Essential role for autophagy protein Atg7 in the maintenance of axonal homeostasis and the prevention of axonal degeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2007;104:14489–94.
- 63. Kouroku Y, Fujita E, Tanida I, Ueno T, Isoai A, Kumagai H, Ogawa S, Kaufman R, Kominami E, Momoi T. ER stress (PERK/eIF2α phosphorylation) mediates the polyglutamine-induced LC3 conversion, an essential step for autophagy formation. Cell Death Differ. 2007;14:230–9.
- 64. Kozutsumi Y, Segal M, Normington K, Gething MJ, Sambrook J. The presence of malfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum signals the induction of glucose-regulated proteins. Nature. 1988;332:462–4.
- 65. Kuma A, Hatano M, Matsui M, Yamamoto A, Nakaya H, Yoshimori T, Ohsumi Y, Tokuhisa T, Mizushima N. The role of autophagy during the early neonatal starvation period. Nature. 2004;432:1032–6.
- 66. Laguesse S, Creppe C, Nedialkova DD, Prévot P-P, Borgs L, Huysseune S, Franco B, Duysens G, Krusy N, Lee G. A dynamic unfolded protein response contributes to the control of cortical neurogenesis. Dev Cell. 2015;35:553–67.
- 67. Lee AS. Coordinated regulation of a set of genes by glucose and calcium ionophores in mammalian cells. Trends Biochem Sci (TIBS). 1987;12:20–3.
- Lee AS. Mammalian stress response: induction of the glucose-regulated protein family. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 1992;4:267–73.

- Lee JW, Beebe K, Nangle LA, Jang J, Longo-Guess CM, Cook SA, Davisson MT, Sundberg JP, Schimmel P, Ackerman SL. Editing-defective tRNA synthetase causes protein misfolding and neurodegeneration. Nature. 2006;443:50–5.
- Lee K, Tirasophon W, Shen X, Michalak M, Prywes R, Okada T, Yoshida H, Mori K, Kaufman RJ. IRE1-mediated unconventional mRNA splicing and S2P-mediated ATF6 cleavage merge to regulate XBP1 in signaling the unfolded protein response. Genes Dev. 2002;16:452–66.
- Leist M, Jäättelä M. Four deaths and a funeral: from caspases to alternative mechanisms. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2001;2:589–98.
- Letai A, Bassik MC, Walensky LD, Sorcinelli MD, Weiler S, Korsmeyer SJ. Distinct BH3 domains either sensitize or activate mitochondrial apoptosis, serving as prototype cancer therapeutics. Cancer Cell. 2002;2:183–92.
- Levine B, Klionsky DJ. Development by self-digestion: molecular mechanisms and biological functions of autophagy. Dev Cell. 2004;6:463–77.
- 74. Levine B, Kroemer G. Autophagy in the pathogenesis of disease. Cell. 2008;132:27-42.
- 75. Liu P, Cheng H, Roberts TM, Zhao JJ. Targeting the phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway in cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2009;8:627–44.
- Lockshin RA, Zakeri Z. Programmed cell death and apoptosis: origins of the theory. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2001;2:545–50.
- Loeffler M, Kroemer G. The mitochondrion in cell death control: certainties and incognita. Exp Cell Res. 2000;256:19–26.
- Lossi L, Gambino G. Apoptosis of the cerebellar neurons. Histol Histopathol. 2008; 23(3):367–80.
- Ma Y, Brewer JW, Diehl JA, Hendershot LM. Two distinct stress signaling pathways converge upon the CHOP promoter during the mammalian unfolded protein response. J Mol Biol. 2002;318:1351–65.
- Mandal NA, Tran JT, Saadi A, Rahman AK, Huynh TP, Klein WH, Cho JH. Expression and localization of CERKL in the mammalian retina, its response to light-stress, and relationship with NeuroD1 gene. Exp Eye Res. 2013;106:24–33.
- Marsden VS, O'Connor L, O'Reilly LA, Silke J, Metcalf D, Ekert PG, Huang DC, Cecconi F, Kuida K, Tomaselli KJ. Apoptosis initiated by Bcl-2-regulated caspase activation independently of the cytochrome c/Apaf-1/caspase-9 apoptosome. Nature. 2002;419:634–7.
- Marzban H, Del Bigio MR, Alizadeh J, Ghavami S, Zachariah RM, Rastegar M. Cellular commitment in the developing cerebellum. Front Cell Neurosci. 2015;8:450.
- Massey AC, Zhang C, Cuervo AM. Chaperone-mediated autophagy in aging and disease. Curr Top Dev Biol. 2006;73:205–35.
- Maycotte P, Guemez-Gamboa A, Moran J. Apoptosis and autophagy in rat cerebellar granule neuron death: role of reactive oxygen species. J Neurosci Res. 2010;88:73–85.
- 85. Meier P, Finch A, Evan G. Apoptosis in development. Nature. 2000;407:796-801.
- Mizushima N, Levine B. Autophagy in mammalian development and differentiation. Nat Cell Biol. 2010;12:823–30.
- Mizushima N, Noda T, Yoshimori T, Tanaka Y, Ishii T, George MD, Klionsky DJ, Ohsumi M, Ohsumi Y. A protein conjugation system essential for autophagy. Nature. 1998;395:395–8.
- Mori K. Signalling pathways in the unfolded protein response: development from yeast to mammals. J Biochem. 2009;146:743–50.
- Mortensen M, Simon AK. Nonredundant role of Atg7 in mitochondrial clearance during erythroid development. Autophagy. 2010;6:423–5.
- Munro S, Pelham HR. An Hsp70-like protein in the ER: identity with the 78 kd glucoseregulated protein and immunoglobulin heavy chain binding protein. Cell. 1986;46:291–300.
- Nakatogawa H, Suzuki K, Kamada Y, Ohsumi Y. Dynamics and diversity in autophagy mechanisms: lessons from yeast. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2009;10:458–67.
- 92. Naughton MC, Mcmahon JM, Fitzgerald U. Differential activation of ER stress pathways in myelinating cerebellar tracts. Int J Dev Neurosci. 2015;47:347–60.
- Partaledis JA, Berlin V. The FKB2 gene of Saccharomyces cerevisiae, encoding the immunosuppressant-binding protein FKBP-13, is regulated in response to accumulation of unfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;90:5450–4.
- Pavlovsky AA, Boehning D, Li D, Zhang Y, Fan X, Green TA. Psychological stress, cocaine and natural reward each induce endoplasmic reticulum stress genes in rat brain. Neuroscience. 2013;246:160–9.
- Puthalakath H, Strasser A. Keeping killers on a tight leash: transcriptional and posttranslational control of the pro-apoptotic activity of BH3-only proteins. Cell Death Differ. 2002;9:505–12.
- Raff MC, Barres BA, Burne JF, Coles HS, Ishizaki Y, Jacobson MD. Programmed cell death and the control of cell survival: lessons from the nervous system. Science. 1993;262:695–700.
- Rathmell JC, Thompson CB. Pathways of apoptosis in lymphocyte development, homeostasis, and disease. Cell. 2002;109:S97–S107.
- Samali A, Zhivotovsky B, Jones D, Nagata S, Orrenius S. Apoptosis: cell death defined by caspase activation. Cell Death Differ. 1999;6:495.
- Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, Sabatini DM. Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/ PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. Science. 2005;307:1098–101.
- 100. Scaffidi C, Fulda S, Srinivasan A, Friesen C, Li F, Tomaselli KJ, Debatin KM, Krammer PH, Peter ME. Two CD95 (APO-1/Fas) signaling pathways. EMBO J. 1998;17:1675–87.
- 101. Scheper W, Nijholt DA, Hoozemans JJ. The unfolded protein response and proteostasis in Alzheimer disease: preferential activation of autophagy by endoplasmic reticulum stress. Autophagy. 2011;7:910–1.
- 102. Schulz JB, Weller M, Klockgether T. Potassium deprivation-induced apoptosis of cerebellar granule neurons: a sequential requirement for new mRNA and protein synthesis, ICE-like protease activity, and reactive oxygen species. J Neurosci. 1996;16:4696–706.
- 103. Senderek J, Krieger M, Stendel C, Bergmann C, Moser M, Breitbach-Faller N, Rudnik-Schoneborn S, Blaschek A, Wolf NI, Harting I, North K, Smith J, Muntoni F, Brockington M, Quijano-Roy S, Renault F, Herrmann R, Hendershot LM, Schroder JM, Lochmuller H, Topaloglu H, Voit T, Weis J, Ebinger F, Zerres K. Mutations in SIL1 cause Marinesco-Sjogren syndrome, a cerebellar ataxia with cataract and myopathy. Nat Genet. 2005;37:1312–4.
- 104. Sone M, Zeng X, Larese J, Ryoo HD. A modified UPR stress sensing system reveals a novel tissue distribution of IRE1/XBP1 activity during normal Drosophila development. Cell Stress Chaperones. 2013;18:307–19.
- 105. Sood R, Porter AC, Ma K, Quilliam LA, Wek RC. Pancreatic eukaryotic initiation factor-2alpha kinase (PEK) homologues in humans, *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Caenorhabditis elegans* that mediate translational control in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress. Biochem J. 2000;346(Pt 2):281–93.
- Soto C. Unfolding the role of protein misfolding in neurodegenerative diseases. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2003;4:49–60.
- 107. Takahashi R, Deveraux Q, Tamm I, Welsh K, Assa-Munt N, Salvesen GS, Reed JC. A single BIR domain of XIAP sufficient for inhibiting caspases. J Biol Chem. 1998;273:7787–90.
- 108. Thuerauf DJ, Marcinko M, Belmont PJ, Glembotski CC. Effects of the isoform-specific characteristics of ATF6 alpha and ATF6 beta on endoplasmic reticulum stress response gene expression and cell viability. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:22865–78.
- 109. Tomoda T, Bhatt RS, Kuroyanagi H, Shirasawa T, Hatten ME. A mouse serine/threonine kinase homologous to *C. elegans* UNC51 functions in parallel fiber formation of cerebellar granule neurons. Neuron. 1999;24:833–46.
- 110. Wang H, Wang X, Ke Z-J, Comer AL, Xu M, Frank JA, Zhang Z, Shi X, Luo J. Tunicamycininduced unfolded protein response in the developing mouse brain. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2015;283:157–67.
- 111. Wang M, Wey S, Zhang Y, Ye R, Lee AS. Role of the unfolded protein response regulator GRP78/BiP in development, cancer, and neurological disorders. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2009;11:2307–16.

- 112. Wang S, Kaufman RJ. The impact of the unfolded protein response on human disease. J Cell Biol. 2012;197:857–67.
- 113. Welch WJ. The mammalian heat shock (or stress) response: a cellular defense mechanism. Adv Exp Med Biol. 1987;225:287–304.
- 114. Welch WJ. Mammalian stress response: cell physiology, structure/function of stress proteins, and implications for medicine and disease. Physiol Rev. 1992;72:1063–81.
- Welch WJ, Kang HS, Beckmann RP, Mizzen LA. Response of mammalian cells to metabolic stress; changes in cell physiology and structure/function of stress proteins. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 1991;167:31–55.
- 116. White E. Death-defying acts: a meeting review on apoptosis. Genes Dev. 1993;7:2277-84.
- 117. White EJ, Martin V, Liu J-L, Klein SR, Piya S, Gomez-Manzano C, Fueyo J, Jiang H. Autophagy regulation in cancer development and therapy. Am J Cancer Res. 2011;1:362.
- 118. Wood KA, Dipasquale B, Youle RJ. In situ labeling of granule cells for apoptosis-associated DNA fragmentation reveals different mechanisms of cell loss in developing cerebellum. Neuron. 1993;11:621–32.
- Wood KA, Youle RJ. The role of free radicals and p53 in neuron apoptosis in vivo. J Neurosci. 1995;15:5851–7.
- 120. Wooden SK, Li LJ, Navarro D, Qadri I, Pereira L, Lee AS. Transactivation of the grp78 promoter by malfolded proteins, glycosylation block, and calcium ionophore is mediated through a proximal region containing a CCAAT motif which interacts with CTF/NF-I. Mol Cell Biol. 1991;11:5612–23.
- 121. Xie Z, Klionsky DJ. Autophagosome formation: core machinery and adaptations. Nat Cell Biol. 2007;9:1102–9.
- 122. Yan G-M, Ni B, Weller M, Wood KA, Paul SM. Depolarization or glutamate receptor activation blocks apoptotic cell death of cultured cerebellar granule neurons. Brain Res. 1994;656:43–51.
- 123. Yang J, Zhou S, Gu J, Guo M, Xia H, Liu Y. UPR activation and the down-regulation of alpha-crystallin in human high myopia-related cataract lens epithelium. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0137582.
- 124. Yang Z, Klionsky DJ. Eaten alive: a history of macroautophagy. Nat Cell Biol. 2010;12:814-22.
- 125. Ye J, Rawson RB, Komuro R, Chen X, Dave UP, Prywes R, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. ER stress induces cleavage of membrane-bound ATF6 by the same proteases that process SREBPs. Mol Cell. 2000;6:1355–64.
- 126. Yoshida H, Haze K, Yanagi H, Yura T, Mori K. Identification of the cis-acting endoplasmic reticulum stress response element responsible for transcriptional induction of mammalian glucose-regulated proteins. Involvement of basic leucine zipper transcription factors. J Biol Chem. 1998;273:33741–9.
- 127. Yoshida H, Matsui T, Yamamoto A, Okada T, Mori K. XBP1 mRNA is induced by ATF6 and spliced by IRE1 in response to ER stress to produce a highly active transcription factor. Cell. 2001;107:881–91.
- Zhao L, Longo-Guess C, Harris BS, Lee J-W, Ackerman SL. Protein accumulation and neurodegeneration in the woozy mutant mouse is caused by disruption of SIL1, a cochaperone of BiP. Nat Genet. 2005;37:974–9.
- 129. Zhao L, Rosales C, Seburn K, Ron D, Ackerman SL. Alteration of the unfolded protein response modifies neurodegeneration in a mouse model of Marinesco–Sjögren syndrome. Hum Mol Genet. 2010;19:25–35.

# The Ubiquitin Proteasome System and Cerebellar Developmental Disease

### Jerry Vriend and Xiaodan Jiao

**Abstract** A variety of developmental diseases of the cerebellum are associated with dysregulation of proteins regulated by the ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS). Dysfunction of the UPS is observed in several types of spinocerebellar ataxias associated with polyglutamine accumulation. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 3 is caused by a genetic defect ion the Atxn3 gene, which codes for a deubiquitinase enzyme. Defects in expression of a variety of ubiquitin ligases are associated with Friedreich's ataxia, ataxia-telangiectasia, and cerebellar hemangioblastoma. Mutations in a number of genes for ubiquitin ligases are risk factors for autism. Subtypes of medulloblastoma are associated with specific defects in proteasome subunits and with deficiencies in components of the APC/C ubiquitin ligase complex regulating the cell cycle. Targeting various components of the UPS system may contribute to a future therapeutic approach which restores protein homeostasis in various cerebellar diseases.

# Abbreviations

AIP	Atrophin-interacting protein
A1UP	Ataxin-1 ubiquitin-like interacting protein
APC/C	Anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome
ASD	Autism spectrum disorder
AT	Ataxia-telangiectasia
ATM	Ataxia-telangiectasia mutated
ATXN1	Ataxin 1
ATXN3	Ataxin 3
CAG	Cytosine-adenine-guanine repeat
CHFR	Checkpoint with forkhead and ring finger domains
DRPLA	Dentatorubropallidoluysian atrophy

J. Vriend (🖂) • X. Jiao

Department of Human Anatomy and Cell Science, Max Rady College of Medicine, Rady Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada e-mail: jerry.vriend@umanitoba.ca

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_9

DUB	Deubiquitinase
E2	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme
E3	Ubiquitin ligase
E1	Ubiquitin-activating enzyme
FRDA	Friedreich's ataxia
FXN	Frataxin
HIF-1	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1
ITPR	Inositol triphosphate receptor isoform
MB	Medulloblastoma
MJD	Machado-Joseph disease
RNF	Ring finger protein
SCA	Spinocerebellar ataxia
UBR	Ubiquitin protein ligase E3 component N-recognin 4
UPS	Ubiquitin proteasome system
USP	Ubiquitin-specific protease
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VHL	von Hippel-Lindau protein

# Introduction

In this chapter, we will discuss cerebellar diseases from the perspective of the ubiquitin proteasome system. In some of these diseases, the ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS) plays a key role in the disease, while in others, the role of the ubiquitin proteasome system, if any, is not clear. In at least three types of spinocerebellar ataxias, the protein product of the gene associated with the disease is an E3 ubiquitin ligase. We also discuss the role of the ubiquitin proteasome system in cerebellar hemangioblastoma, in autism, and in medulloblastomas in terms of deficiencies of the ubiquitin proteasome system.

# The Ubiquitin Proteasome System

The stability of most cellular proteins is controlled by the rate of their degradation through the proteasome, a catalytic chamber. Prior to degradation, the proteins are tagged with the ubiquitin molecule via a series of enzymes, a ubiquitin-activating enzyme (E1), a ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (E2), and a ubiquitin ligase (E3) [1]. An additional enzyme, a deubiquitinase (Dub), functions to remove ubiquitin [2–4]. This provides a way of recycling ubiquitin. Deubiquitinases can also, together with specific ubiquitin ligases, serve as on/off switch mechanism for rapidly controlling proteins that are required for a short, or defined, period of time. The subunits and assembly of the proteasome has recently been described in detail [5]. Herein, we discuss the role of the ubiquitin proteasome system in various developmental diseases of the cerebellum.

### Ataxia and Spinocerebellar Ataxia

Ataxia is a neurological condition in which lack of coordination of muscle groups leads to abnormal gait. Such neurological conditions are often associated with degeneration of parts of the cerebellum and degeneration of neuronal pathways between the cerebellum and spinal cord; hence, they are called spinocerebellar ataxias (SCAs). As genes for various SCAs were identified, they were sequentially numbered. Currently there are over 40 subtypes of SCAs identified. SCA type 41, for example, is associated with a mutation in the TRPC3 gene [6]. A mouse model for this disease, the moonwalker mouse, has a mutation of this gene [7]. A number of SCAs are associated with defects in the ubiquitin proteasome system. Tarlac and Storey [8] have noted that proteasome components and ubiquitin are often found co-localized with abnormal aggregates of proteins in neurons of SCA patients, particularly those with polyglutamine diseases.

### Spinocerebellar Ataxia Type 1 (SCA1)

SCA1 is a polyglutamine disease [9]. It is associated with a CAG (cytosine-adenineguanine) repeat in the ataxin 1 gene (*ATXN1*) [10]. Loss of ATXN1 function is reported to contribute to the pathogenesis of SCA1 [11]. One protein to which the ataxin 1 protein binds is ubiquilin 4 (aka ataxin-1 ubiquitin-like interacting protein, A1UP) [12]. This protein also interacts with subunits of the proteasome, contributing to the mechanism by which misfolded proteins are degraded in this structure [13]. The E3 ubiquitin ligase CHIP can ubiquitinate wild-type ataxin 1, as well as its expanded polyQ form, and can protect against the toxicity of the expanded ataxin-1 protein [14]. Enhancing CHIP activity has been proposed as therapy for polyQ diseases [15].

In a mouse model of SCA1 gene expression in the cerebellum of the ATXN1, polyQ mice were compared to that of wild type and to that of ATXN1 knockout mice [11]. These investigators analyzed the genes altered in the strains of mice by Kegg analysis. Two sets of genes were expressed in opposite directions in ATXN1 knockout and ATN1 knockin mice, genes that could provide information concerning the mechanism of SCA1 pathogenesis. The two sets of genes, according to the Kegg analysis, were a group including three genes of the TCA cycle and a second group of five genes associated with the ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis (see their supplemental Table 2). The five ubiquitin ligase genes in this table were ANAPC2, UBE2O, UBE3B, WWP2, and MID1 (aka Trim18). It should be noted that WWP2 is also known as atrophin-interacting protein 2 (AIP2), (see below). Mutation of TRIM18 may result in a variety of genetic defects, including the Dandy-Walker malformation [16] and, in some patients, agenesis of the cerebellar vermis [17].

# Spinocerebellar Ataxia Type 2 (SCA2)

SCA2 is another polyglutamine disease. It is caused by a mutation in the ATXN2 gene [18, 19]. Mutation of this gene can also result in a Parkinson-like syndrome, as well as in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis [20]. Although the ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like conjugation database (UUCO) classifies the ATXN2 protein as an E3 ligase of the ring family, most publications on SCA2 have not noted this.

# Spinocerebellar Ataxia Type 3 (SCA3)/Machado-Joseph Disease and Ataxin 3

Machado-Joseph disease (MJD), although rare, is one of the most common of the spinocerebellar diseases. It was named after two individuals in which it was first described [21]. MJD is also referred to as spinocerebellar ataxia type 3 (SCA3); however, early investigators distinguished the two [22]. It is a progressive neurode-generative disease leading to paralysis and death [23]. In addition to ataxia, the symptoms of this disease included memory deficits, dysarthria, alterations in sac-cadic eye movements, and dysphagia [24]. There is no current cure for this disease. SCA3/MJD, an autosomal dominant disease, is associated with a genetic abnormality (CAG trinucleotide repeats) of the *ATXN3* (ataxin 3) gene [25–28], a gene located on chromosome 14 (at 14q32.12). The *Atxn3* gene codes for the protein ataxin 3. In SCA3/MJD, ataxin 3 accumulates in neurons as the disease progresses [29]. SCA3/MJD is one of a number of polyglutamine (polyQ, caused by expanded cytosine-adenine-guanine (CAG) repeats) neurodegenerative diseases associated with protein aggregates in neurons [30, 31]. The components of the ataxin-3 protein, including the polyQ region have been described and illustrated by Matos et al. [28].

Ataxin 3 has been identified as a deubiquitinase enzyme [28]. It has several ubiquitin interacting regions which account for its binding to polyubiquitinated protein chains [28]. Riess et al. [27] have illustrated a model of the normal function of ataxin 3. In this model, ataxin 3 facilitates the transport of ubiquitinated proteins to the proteasome for degradation. In SCA3/MJD, ubiquitinated proteins accumulate and proteasome activity is inhibited [32]. There is some data suggesting that in endstage SCA3/MJD, there is a defect preventing assembly of the two major components of the proteasome, the proteolytic component and the regulatory component [33]. The presence of ubiquitin in neuronal inclusions in polyQ diseases has been taken as evidence for a role of the ubiquitin proteasome system in the pathogenesis of these disorders [32].

Ataxin 3 functions as a polyubiquitin-editing enzyme rather than simply as an enzyme which completely deubiquitinates its substrate [28, 34, 35]. According to Windborn et al., it binds to both Lys [36] and Lys [37] ubiquitin linkages but preferentially cleaves Lys [37] linkages [35].

In SCA3/MJD, the soluble polyglutamine proteins are toxic [28] and probably interfere with the normal function of ataxin 3 as a deubiquitinase. Ataxin 3 has been

shown to interact with several ubiquitin ligases including CHIP and Parkin [28, 38]. It regulates the activity of these ligases by removing ubiquitin from them. It has been suggested that the activity of Ataxin 3 is itself enhanced by ubiquitination [39, 40]. Its cellular role has been related to protein quality control [40]. Chai et al. [41] showed that the proteasome suppresses polyglutamine aggregation in neurons of SCA3/MJD patients and suggested that the ubiquitin proteasome pathway has a key role in polyglutamine diseases including SCA3/MJD. However, data on the precise role of the proteasome, or its subunits, in SCA3/MJD is lacking. Rat and mouse models of SCA3/MJD have been developed [42, 43]. These models will contribute to determining the role of ataxin 3 and its polyglutamine form in development and treatment of SCA3/MJD.

### Spinocerebellar Ataxia 5 (SCA5)

Mutations in the *SPTBN2* gene reportedly cause SCA5 [44]. This gene codes for one of the spectrin proteins, B-III-spectrin. Spectrin is an F-actin crosslinking protein composed of two chains, alpha and beta, making up a helix. It has a mechanical role in maintaining the shape of the cell but is also involved in cell signaling [45]. The alpha chain is reported to have E2 ubiquitin conjugase activity as well as E3 ubiquitin ligase activity [46–48]. The role of the alpha chain E2/E3 activity in the development of SCA5 has not been studied.

### Spinocerebellar Ataxia 6 (SCA6)

SCA6 is a rare cerebellar ataxia with additional oculomotor symptoms. Both SCA6, which is progressive, and an episodic non-progressive ataxia, subtype 2 (see below), are associated with a mutation in the calcium channel subunit gene, *CACNA1A*. SCA6 is another polyglutamine disease caused by CAG repeats in the gene [49]. CACNA1A, also known as SCA6, is associated with the E3 ubiquitin ligase BCL6 [36]. This association is not well characterized.

# Spinocerebellar Ataxia 7 (SCA7)

SCA7 is another disease caused by CAG nucleotide repeats. It is caused by a mutation in a gene on Chromosome 3, *Atxn7*. It is a progressive disease that results in ataxia and blindness. The ataxin-7 protein is part of a protein complex, the SAGA complex that acts as a DUB which regulates transcription of a number of genes [50, 51]. The DUB protein which contributes to this complex is USP22 [52]. The polyglutamine expansion of the ataxin-7 protein apparently interferes with the function of the USP22 as a gene silencer [52, 53].

## Spinocerebellar Ataxia 8 (SCA8)

SCA8 is associated with a trinucleotide repeat expansion in the two overlapping genes, *ATXN8* and *ATXN8OS* [54]. The latter codes for an antisense RNA for the ubiquitin ligase KLHL1 [55]. Both genes are highly expressed in the cerebellum and other brain tissues.

### Spinocerebellar Ataxia 15 (SCA15)

SCA15 is a cerebellar ataxia in which atrophy of parts of the vermis is reported [56]. Mutations of the IPTR1 gene are associated with this disorder. Mutations of this gene are associated with abnormal regulation of calcium release by calmodulin and UBR4 (aka p600), a ubiquitin E3 ligase [57]. Mutations of UBR4 are associated with at least one subtype of episodic ataxias (see below).

# Spinocerebellar Ataxia 17 (SCA17)

Sca17 is caused by a mutation in the gene (*TBP*) for the Tata-box-binding protein. In a model of Sermwittayawong and Tan [58], the SAGA complex interacts with TBP to regulate transcription. These investigators, however, did not discuss the deubiquitinase activity of the SAGA complex in their model. If deubiquitinase activity is generally associated with the SAGA complex, as suggested by others [59, 60], it may also be important in regulating TBP in the cerebellum.

# Spinocerebellar Ataxia Type 19 (SCA19) and Type 22 (SCA22)

SCA19 and SCA22 have been associated with mutations in gene for a potassium channel component, KCND3 [61]. This protein has been classified as an E3 ubiquitin ligase of the BTB family in a supplemental table of a recent publication [62].

# **CHIP and Gordon Holmes Syndrome**

It has been shown that mutations in the *Stub1* gene, which codes for the ubiquitin ligase CHIP, are associated with a number of autosomal recessive cerebellar ataxias [37, 63]. In Gordon Holmes Syndrome (ataxia associated with hypogonadism), mutation in the *Stub1* gene and loss of CHIP has been identified as the probable

cause of this disorder [64]. Ronnebaum et al. [65] concluded that CHIP is required for maintenance of normal cerebellar function.

# Dentatorubropallidoluysian Atrophy

Dentatorubropallidoluysian atrophy (DRPLA) is another autosomal dominant neurodegenerative disease associated with cerebellar ataxia [66, 67]. It is also referred to Naito-Oyanagi disease [68]. Like SCA3/MJD, it is a genetic abnormality with trinucleotide repeats and polyglutamine proteins [69–71]. In DRPLA, there is an abnormality of the atrophin-1 gene (Atn1), expansion of a CAG repeat [72]. The abnormal form of the atrophin-1 protein accumulates in the brains of DRPLA patients [72].

Several atrophin-interacting proteins including AIP1, AIP2, AIP3, AIP4, and AIP5 have been identified [73]. Three of them are E3 ubiquitin ligases. AIP2 is also known as WWP2 (WW domain containing protein ligase 2). AIP4 has been identified as a ubiquitin ligase homologous to the mouse E3 ligase Itch [74]. Among the substrates of this E3 ligase are the proteins Notch [75] and JunB [76]. AIP5 is also known as WWP1 (WW domain containing protein ligase 1). AIP1 and AIP3 have not been described as E3 ligases. They are membrane-bound proteins with guanylate kinase-like regions [73].

### Friedreich's Ataxia and Ubiquitin-Competing Molecules

Friedreich's ataxia (FRDA) is a hereditary protein disease. It is inherited as an autosomal recessive disease that initially presents itself in symptoms of gait disturbance and lack of coordination. FRDA is a disease that progressively impairs the muscular system. Other systems involved may include vision, hearing, speech, carbohydrate metabolism, and cardiac disorders. The pathology of FRDA has been reviewed by Koeppen AH 2011 [77]. FRDA results from failed transcription of the frataxin (*FXN*) gene [78, 79]. Gene silencing may contribute to this failure in transcription [77]. A deficiency in the FXN protein leads to the degenerative conditions characteristic of FRDA [80]. FXN has been located to the mitochondrial matrix. It is thought to play a significant role in maintaining adequate levels of iron in mitochondria [81].

Currently, there is no effective treatment for FRDA. However the FRDA phenotype, in an in vitro mouse model, was partially reversed, using viral vectors encoding for the *FXN* gene [82]. This model provided an incentive to use this approach in humans. In humans, efforts have been made to reactivate the *FXN* gene using nicotinamide [83]. Underlying this research effort is the view that epigenetic regulation of the *FXN* gene is possible. Another approach to increasing FXN is to manipulate its degradation. FXN is a protein that is degraded by the ubiquitin proteasome system [84]. Theoretically, proteasome inhibitors could be used to increase tissue concentrations of FXN. However this approach is limited to those inhibitors that cross the blood brain barrier. Another limitation is that proteasome inhibitors are not specific enough. Rufini and colleagues have identified and tested a series of lead compounds capable of interfering with FXN ubiquitination and degradation [84]. Recently, they found that small molecules which bind to FXN compete with ubiquitin for binding to FXN (at a specific site on the molecule, lysine 147) and lead to accumulation of FXN [85]. They named these molecules ubiquitin-competing molecules. Their results provided a rationale for a therapeutic use of ubiquitin-competing molecules in FRDA disease.

### **Episodic Ataxia and Ubiquitin Ligases**

There are currently eight separate clinically recognized episodic ataxias (EA) [86]. In one form of EA, subtype 8, the UBR4 (ubiquitin protein ligase E3 component N-recognin 4) gene on chromosome 1 was reported as the likely source of genetic variations causing this ataxia [57]. UBR4 (aka p600) is a ubiquitin E3 ligase [87, 88] that interacts with calmodulin, a calcium-binding protein. UBR4 also binds to ITPR1 (inositol trisphosphate receptor isoform 1), which regulates calcium release from the endoplasmic reticulum [57]. Conroy et al. [57] suggested the hypothesis that interference with normal binding of calmodulin and/or ITPR1 to UBR4 resulted in a dysfunctional calcium-sensing system leading to ataxia.

One of the most common types of EA (subtype 1) is reportedly caused by variations in a gene *KCNA1*, which codes for a potassium channel protein [89]. KCNA1 has been recently identified as having E3 ubiquitin ligase activity [62] (see supplemental Table 4 in this reference). As noted above, EA subtype 2 is caused by mutation in the calcium channel subunit gene, *CACNA1A*.

### Ataxia Telangiectasia (AT) and the ATM Protein

Ataxia telangiectasia (AT), also known as Louis-Bar's syndrome [90] is an autosomal recessive disorder that results in various clinical symptoms including progressive ataxia. AT patients have a defect in a gene associated with the repair response to double-strand DNA breaks resulting from oxidative stress [91]. The ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated) protein, a serine-threonine protein kinase, phosphorylates several enzymes necessary for activation of the DNA damage checkpoint and repair response after double-strand DNA breaks [92].

Other proteins involved in ATM activation include the ubiquitin ligases RNF8 (ring finger 8) and CHFR (checkpoint with forkhead and ring finger domains) [93]. Via phosphorylation, ATM can activate or inactivate many different proteins. Its effect on the ubiquitin proteasome system during activation of the response to double-strand DNA breaks has been described by Shiloh and Ziv [93] as having several phases: (1) recruitment of ATM to the site of double-strand breaks (partially mediated by the E3 ubiquitin ligase SKP2), (2) a kinase cascade stimulating the phosphorylation of many proteins including other kinases, (3) recruitment of proteasomes to the site of DNA damage [94], (4) modulation of ubiquitin ligases and DUBs (deubiquitinases) by phosphorylation, and (5) phosphorylation of substrates of E3 ligases preparing them for ubiquitination. Thus E3 ligases control the stability of proteins such as p53 and NFkB. Among the E3 ligases listed by Shiloh and Ziv as influenced by ATM include Cop1 (aka RFWD2), MDM2, MDMX, and SIAH1. The deubiquitinase USP10 is also phosphorylated by ATM. Thus it can be safely concluded that the ubiquitin proteasome system plays an important role in the ATM response. Eventually this information may be used to design therapeutic molecules that can be used in the management of AT.

# Cerebellar Hemangioblastoma and the von Hippel-Lindau Protein

Hemangioblastomas of the cerebellum are frequently associated with von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) disease [95, 96]. In this disease, there is a deficiency in the gene for the VHL tumor suppressor protein and overexpression of VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor) [96]. Hemangioblastomas probably originate from hemangioblast progenitor cells [97].

The molecular mechanisms by which loss of the VHL gene or VHL protein leads to susceptibility to hemangioblastoma has been described [98]. The VHL protein has been shown to be a ubiquitin ligase [99]. One of its substrates is the transcription factor HIF-1 $\alpha$  [100], a transcription factor for a number of proteins including VEGF [101]. Under normal conditions (normoxia), HIF-1 $\alpha$  is ubiquitinated by VHL and degraded by the proteasome [102].

### **Autism-Associated Genes**

The development of the cerebellum has been shown to differ in autistic patients compared to controls [103]. MRI studies showed hypoplasia of the cerebellum in autistic patients [104]. Postmortem studies showed significantly decreased numbers of Purkinje neurons in the cerebellum of patients with autism spectrum disorders (ASD) [103]. Among the genes associated with ASD is the gene for the ubiquitin

ligase UBE3A [105]. It was reported as upregulated in cells from individuals with autism [106]. The *UBE3A* gene is better known as the gene which when deficient causes Angelman syndrome [107]. It is a maternally expressed gene. The protein encoded by this gene is the E6-AP protein [108]. It is named for its association with the papillomavirus protein E6.

Recently Louros and Osterweil [105] have noted that mutations in a number of genes of the ubiquitin proteasome system have been identified as risk factors for ASD. In addition to *UBE3A*, ten other ubiquitin ligases were documented as risk factors for ASD (UBE3B, UBE3C, PARK2, FBXO40, RFWD2, Cullin 3, Cullin 7, HECW2, HERC2, and HUWE) in this review. The genes coding three deubiquitinases (USP9Y, USP45, and USP7) and the gene for the proteasome subunit PSMD10 were also listed as risk factors. The authors point out that these data provide strong evidence for dysregulation of protein degradation in ASD. The number of ubiquitin proteasome proteins listed as risk factors may reflect the heterogeneity of the ASD diseases.

# Medulloblastoma and Ubiquitin Proteasome Components

Medulloblastoma, described as a malignancy of the cerebellum, actually describes a group of heterogeneous tumors, differing in histology, genetic expression, clinical outcome, and response to treatment. A consensus classification, however, was reported in 2012 [109]. In this classification, four major subtypes of medulloblastoma were recognized, the WNT group, the SHH group, and two additional groups simply referred to as groups 3 and 4. In 2015, we suggested the possibility of classification of MBs according to their expression of ubiquitin ligases [110]. In support of this view are supplemental data of Thompson et al. [111] showing differential expression of at least 50 ubiquitin ligases among the various subtypes of MB. Since the Thompson data were reported before 2012, these investigators recognized five subgroups of MB rather than the four subgroups of the consensus classification. In a recent review [112], we identified these E3 ligases and indicate whether they were significantly upregulated or downregulated in the various subgroups of the Thompson supplementary dataset. We also noted differential expression of 12 deubiquitinases among the various subtypes of MB in the Thompson dataset. Since the publication of our review, we noted that expression of the gene UBE3A, also an E3 ligase, was also differentially expressed among some of the Thompson MB subgroups. We have noted above that the UBE3A gene is associated with Angelman syndrome and autism as well. Thus, in addition, this ubiquitin E3 ligase could be useful as a marker gene for a subtype of MB, the Thompson Group E MB (equivalent to MB consensus subtype 3). We noted above that the UBE3A gene codes for a protein, E6-AP. On further examination of the Thompson dataset, we note that several ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes are differently expressed among the various

Gene	Location	Group A	Group B	Group C	Group D	Group E
UBE2B	5q31.1			Up	Down	Down
UBE2C	20q13.12			Down	Up	
UBE2D2	5q31.2			Down		Up
UBE2E1	3p24.2					Down
UBE2N	12q22	Up			Down	
UBE2V1	20q13.3		Down	Down	Up	Up
UBE3A	15q11.2	Up				Down
UBE2K	4p14			Up		Down

 Table 1 Ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes in MD groups of Thompson et al.

MB subtypes. In Table 1 below, we list the ubiquitin conjugases that were significantly upregulated or downregulated in the Thompson dataset compared to the other MB groups. Thus E2 conjugases and E3 ligases and deubiquitinases could all be useful as marker genes for the various subtypes of MB.

Another remarkable feature of the Thompson dataset [111] is that it shows differential expression of genes for proteasome subunits among the different subtypes of MB. The Wnt subgroup showed significant depression of expression of the *PSMB1 gene*; the SHH subgroup of MBs showed significant depression of expression of seven separate genes for proteasome subunits; the Thompson dataset also showed that their Group A MBs had significantly increased expression of genes for 13 separate proteasome subunits, including the genes for two catalytic subunits. The genes for eight subunits of the proteasome, including two catalytic subunits, were significantly decreased in their group C tumors. The final group of Thompson MBs, group E, also showed significant variations in several proteasome subunits. This was illustrated in the review of Vriend and Marzban [112] and reproduced as Fig. 1 (by permission). These results showed that genes for proteasome subunits are "signature" genes for subtypes of MBs and raise the possibility of targeting proteasome subunits therapeutically.

One ubiquitin ligase complex suggested in a therapeutic context for MB is casein kinase 1 delta, a substrate of the APC/C (anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome) complex [113]. The APC/C ubiquitin ligase is an important regulator of mitosis. Among the factors that regulate its activity is the human cytomegalovirus [114]. Many medulloblastomas are reportedly infected with this virus [115, 116]. Although a causative relationship between cytomegalovirus and MBs has not been definitively established, Baryawno et al. [116] have suggested an important role for this virus in the development of MB. This virus may be more significant in subgroups of MBs in which the activity of the APC/C ubiquitin ligase complex is impaired than in MBs in which this complex is fully functional. Further investigation on the interaction of viruses and ubiquitin ligases may provide information leading to new therapeutic approaches for several cerebellar diseases.





### **Prospective Expectations**

Various developmental diseases of the cerebellum are associated with abnormal protein regulation [8]. It is becoming clear that a dysfunctional UPS has a key role in many of these disorders. As subsequent research identifies the specific components of the UPS that are dysfunctional, the opportunities arise to target these constituents therapeutically. Inhibitors of ubiquitin ligases and ubiquitin conjugases, as well as inhibitors of deubiquitinases, may all be therapeutically significant in the treatment of some of these diseases. In cases in which disease is associated with proteasome dysfunction, proteasome inhibitors or proteasome stimulating proteins may be clinically practical.

# References

- Hershko A, Ciechanover A. The ubiquitin pathway for the degradation of intracellular proteins. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol. 1986;33:19–56. 301
- Reyes-Turcu FE, Ventii KH, Wilkinson KD. Regulation and cellular roles of ubiquitinspecific deubiquitinating enzymes. Annu Rev Biochem. 2009;78:363–97.
- 3. Amerik AY, Hochstrasser M. Mechanism and function of deubiquitinating enzymes. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2004;1695(1–3):189–207.
- Komander D, Clague MJ, Urbe S. Breaking the chains: structure and function of the deubiquitinases. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2009;10(8):550–63.
- Livneh I, Cohen-Kaplan V, Cohen-Rosenzweig C, Avni N, Ciechanover A. The life cycle of the 26S proteasome: from birth, through regulation and function, and onto its death. Cell Res. 2016;26(8):869–85.
- 6. Fogel BL, Hanson SM, Becker EB. Do mutations in the murine ataxia gene TRPC3 cause cerebellar ataxia in humans? Mov Disord. 2015;30(2):284–6.
- Becker EB. The moonwalker mouse: new insights into TRPC3 function, cerebellar development, and ataxia. Cerebellum. 2014;13(5):628–36.
- Tarlac V, Storey E. Role of proteolysis in polyglutamine disorders. J Neurosci Res. 2003;74(3):406–16.
- Orr HT, Chung MY, Banfi S, Kwiatkowski TJ Jr, Servadio A, Beaudet AL, et al. Expansion of an unstable trinucleotide CAG repeat in spinocerebellar ataxia type 1. Nat Genet. 1993;4(3):221–6.
- Sanchez I, Balague E, Matilla-Duenas A. Ataxin-1 regulates the cerebellar bioenergetics proteome through the GSK3beta-mTOR pathway which is altered in Spinocerebellar ataxia type 1 (SCA1). Hum Mol Genet. 2016;25(18):4021–40.
- Crespo-Barreto J, Fryer JD, Shaw CA, Orr HT, Zoghbi HY. Partial loss of ataxin-1 function contributes to transcriptional dysregulation in spinocerebellar ataxia type 1 pathogenesis. PLoS Genet. 2010;6(7):e1001021.
- 12. Riley BE, Xu Y, Zoghbi HY, Orr HT. The effects of the polyglutamine repeat protein ataxin-1 on the UbL-UBA protein A1Up. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(40):42290–301.
- Su V, Lau AF. Ubiquitin-like and ubiquitin-associated domain proteins: significance in proteasomal degradation. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2009;66(17):2819–33.
- Al-Ramahi I, Lam YC, Chen HK, de Gouyon B, Zhang M, Perez AM, et al. CHIP protects from the neurotoxicity of expanded and wild-type ataxin-1 and promotes their ubiquitination and degradation. J Biol Chem. 2006;281(36):26714–24.

- Williams AJ, Knutson TM, Colomer Gould VF, Paulson HL. In vivo suppression of polyglutamine neurotoxicity by C-terminus of Hsp70-interacting protein (CHIP) supports an aggregation model of pathogenesis. Neurobiol Dis. 2009;33(3):342–53.
- Preiksaitiene E, Krasovskaja N, Utkus A, Kasnauskiene J, Meskiene R, Paulauskiene I, et al. R368X mutation in MID1 among recurrent mutations in patients with X-linked Opitz G/BBB syndrome. Clin Dysmorphol. 2015;24(1):7–12.
- De Falco F, Cainarca S, Andolfi G, Ferrentino R, Berti C, Rodriguez Criado G, et al. X-linked Opitz syndrome: novel mutations in the MID1 gene and redefinition of the clinical spectrum. Am J Med Genet A. 2003;120A(2):222–8.
- 18. Lastres-Becker I, Rub U, Auburger G. Spinocerebellar ataxia 2 (SCA2). Cerebellum. 2008;7(2):115–24.
- Li PP, Sun X, Xia G, Arbez N, Paul S, Zhu S, et al. ATXN2-AS, a gene antisense to ATXN2, is associated with spinocerebellar ataxia type 2 and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2016;80(4):600–15.
- Pulst SM. Degenerative ataxias, from genes to therapies: the 2015 Cotzias lecture. Neurology. 2016;86(24):2284–90.
- Nakano KK, Dawson DM, Spence A. Machado disease. A hereditary ataxia in Portuguese emigrants to Massachusetts. Neurology. 1972;22(1):49–55.
- Matilla T, McCall A, Subramony SH, Zoghbi HY. Molecular and clinical correlations in spinocerebellar ataxia type 3 and Machado-Joseph disease. Ann Neurol. 1995;38(1):68–72.
- Bettencourt C, Lima M. Machado-Joseph disease: from first descriptions to new perspectives. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2011;6:35.
- 24. Seidel K, Siswanto S, Fredrich M, Bouzrou M, Brunt ER, van Leeuwen FW, et al. Polyglutamine aggregation in Huntington's disease and spinocerebellar ataxia type 3: similar mechanisms in aggregate formation. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2016;42(2):153–66.
- Kawaguchi Y, Okamoto T, Taniwaki M, Aizawa M, Inoue M, Katayama S, et al. CAG expansions in a novel gene for Machado-Joseph disease at chromosome 14q32.1. Nat Genet. 1994;8(3):221–8.
- 26. Limprasert P, Nouri N, Heyman RA, Nopparatana C, Kamonsilp M, Deininger PL, et al. Analysis of CAG repeat of the Machado-Joseph gene in human, chimpanzee and monkey populations: a variant nucleotide is associated with the number of CAG repeats. Hum Mol Genet. 1996;5(2):207–13.
- Riess O, Rub U, Pastore A, Bauer P, Schols L. SCA3: neurological features, pathogenesis and animal models. Cerebellum. 2008;7(2):125–37.
- Matos CA, de Macedo-Ribeiro S, Carvalho AL. Polyglutamine diseases: the special case of ataxin-3 and Machado-Joseph disease. Prog Neurobiol. 2011;95(1):26–48.
- Koch P, Breuer P, Peitz M, Jungverdorben J, Kesavan J, Poppe D, et al. Excitation-induced ataxin-3 aggregation in neurons from patients with Machado-Joseph disease. Nature. 2011;480(7378):543–6.
- 30. Zoghbi HY, Orr HT. Glutamine repeats and neurodegeneration. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2000;23:217–47.
- Schols L, Reimold M, Seidel K, Globas C, Brockmann K, Hauser TK, et al. No parkinsonism in SCA2 and SCA3 despite severe neurodegeneration of the dopaminergic substantia nigra. Brain. 2015;138(Pt 11):3316–26.
- 32. Jana NR, Nukina N. Recent advances in understanding the pathogenesis of polyglutamine diseases: involvement of molecular chaperones and ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. J Chem Neuroanat. 2003;26(2):95–101.
- 33. Schmidt T, Lindenberg KS, Krebs A, Schols L, Laccone F, Herms J, et al. Protein surveillance machinery in brains with spinocerebellar ataxia type 3: redistribution and differential recruitment of 26S proteasome subunits and chaperones to neuronal intranuclear inclusions. Ann Neurol. 2002;51(3):302–10.
- 34. Burnett B, Li F, Pittman RN. The polyglutamine neurodegenerative protein ataxin-3 binds polyubiquitylated proteins and has ubiquitin protease activity. Hum Mol Genet. 2003;12(23):3195–205.

- 35. Winborn BJ, Travis SM, Todi SV, Scaglione KM, Xu P, Williams AJ, et al. The deubiquitinating enzyme ataxin-3, a polyglutamine disease protein, edits Lys63 linkages in mixed linkage ubiquitin chains. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(39):26436–43.
- Miles RR, Crockett DK, Lim MS, Elenitoba-Johnson KS. Analysis of BCL6-interacting proteins by tandem mass spectrometry. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2005;4(12):1898–909.
- Depondt C, Donatello S, Simonis N, Rai M, van Heurck R, Abramowicz M, et al. Autosomal recessive cerebellar ataxia of adult onset due to STUB1 mutations. Neurology. 2014;82(19):1749–50.
- Durcan TM, Fon EA. Ataxin-3 and its e3 partners: implications for machado-joseph disease. Front Neurol. 2013;4:46.
- 39. Todi SV, Winborn BJ, Scaglione KM, Blount JR, Travis SM, Paulson HL. Ubiquitination directly enhances activity of the deubiquitinating enzyme ataxin-3. EMBO J. 2009;28(4):372–82.
- 40. Todi SV, Scaglione KM, Blount JR, Basrur V, Conlon KP, Pastore A, et al. Activity and cellular functions of the deubiquitinating enzyme and polyglutamine disease protein ataxin-3 are regulated by ubiquitination at lysine 117. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(50):39303–13.
- 41. Chai Y, Koppenhafer SL, Shoesmith SJ, Perez MK, Paulson HL. Evidence for proteasome involvement in polyglutamine disease: localization to nuclear inclusions in SCA3/MJD and suppression of polyglutamine aggregation in vitro. Hum Mol Genet. 1999;8(4):673–82.
- 42. Cemal CK, Carroll CJ, Lawrence L, Lowrie MB, Ruddle P, Al-Mahdawi S, et al. YAC transgenic mice carrying pathological alleles of the MJD1 locus exhibit a mild and slowly progressive cerebellar deficit. Hum Mol Genet. 2002;11(9):1075–94.
- 43. Alves S, Nascimento-Ferreira I, Dufour N, Hassig R, Auregan G, Nobrega C, et al. Silencing ataxin-3 mitigates degeneration in a rat model of Machado-Joseph disease: no role for wildtype ataxin-3? Hum Mol Genet. 2010;19(12):2380–94.
- Dick KA, Ikeda Y, Day JW, Ranum LP. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 5. Handb Clin Neurol. 2012;103:451–9.
- 45. Machnicka B, Grochowalska R, Boguslawska DM, Sikorski AF, Lecomte MC. Spectrinbased skeleton as an actor in cell signaling. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2012;69(2):191–201.
- 46. Chang TL, Cubillos FF, Kakhniashvili DG, Goodman SR. Ankyrin is a target of spectrin's E2/E3 ubiquitin-conjugating/ligating activity. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-Grand). 2004;50(1):59–66.
- Hsu YJ, Goodman SR. Spectrin and ubiquitination: a review. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand). 2005;Suppl 51:OL801–7.
- Goodman SR, Petrofes Chapa R, Zimmer WE. Spectrin's chimeric E2/E3 enzymatic activity. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2015;240(8):1039–49.
- 49. Zhuchenko O, Bailey J, Bonnen P, Ashizawa T, Stockton DW, Amos C, et al. Autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia (SCA6) associated with small polyglutamine expansions in the alpha 1A-voltage-dependent calcium channel. Nat Genet. 1997;15(1):62–9.
- Mohan RD, Abmayr SM, Workman JL. Pulling complexes out of complex diseases: spinocerebellar ataxia 7. Rare Dis. 2014;2:e28859.
- Morgan MT, Haj-Yahya M, Ringel AE, Bandi P, Brik A, Wolberger C. Structural basis for histone H2B deubiquitination by the SAGA DUB module. Science. 2016;351(6274):725–8.
- 52. Yang H, Liu S, He WT, Zhao J, Jiang LL, Hu HY. Aggregation of Polyglutamine-expanded Ataxin 7 protein specifically sequesters ubiquitin-specific protease 22 and deteriorates its deubiquitinating function in the Spt-Ada-Gcn5-Acetyltransferase (SAGA) complex. J Biol Chem. 2015;290(36):21996–2004.
- 53. Li ZH, Yu Y, Du C, Fu H, Wang J, Tian Y. RNA interference-mediated USP22 gene silencing promotes human brain glioma apoptosis and induces cell cycle arrest. Oncol Lett. 2013;5(4):1290–4.
- 54. Moseley ML, Zu T, Ikeda Y, Gao W, Mosemiller AK, Daughters RS, et al. Bidirectional expression of CUG and CAG expansion transcripts and intranuclear polyglutamine inclusions in spinocerebellar ataxia type 8. Nat Genet. 2006;38(7):758–69.
- 55. Nemes JP, Benzow KA, Moseley ML, Ranum LP, Koob MD. The SCA8 transcript is an antisense RNA to a brain-specific transcript encoding a novel actin-binding protein (KLHL1). Hum Mol Genet. 2000;9(10):1543–51.

- Storey E. In: Pagon RA, Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Wallace SE, Amemiya A, Bean LJH, et al., editors. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 15. Seattle: GeneReviews(R); 1993.
- 57. Conroy J, McGettigan P, Murphy R, Webb D, Murphy SM, McCoy B, et al. A novel locus for episodic ataxia:UBR4 the likely candidate. Eur J Hum Genet. 2014;22(4):505–10.
- Sermwittayawong D, Tan S. SAGA binds TBP via its Spt8 subunit in competition with DNA: implications for TBP recruitment. EMBO J. 2006;25(16):3791–800.
- 59. Wang L, Dent SY. Functions of SAGA in development and disease. Epigenomics. 2014;6(3):329–39.
- Weake VM, Workman JL. SAGA function in tissue-specific gene expression. Trends Cell Biol. 2012;22(4):177–84.
- 61. Lee YC, Durr A, Majczenko K, Huang YH, Liu YC, Lien CC, et al. Mutations in KCND3 cause spinocerebellar ataxia type 22. Ann Neurol. 2012;72(6):859–69.
- Lehmann G, Udasin RG, Ciechanover A. On the linkage between the ubiquitin-proteasome system and the mitochondria. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2016;473(1):80–6.
- 63. Shi Y, Wang J, Li JD, Ren H, Guan W, He M, et al. Identification of CHIP as a novel causative gene for autosomal recessive cerebellar ataxia. PLoS One. 2013;8(12):e81884.
- 64. Shi CH, Schisler JC, Rubel CE, Tan S, Song B, McDonough H, et al. Ataxia and hypogonadism caused by the loss of ubiquitin ligase activity of the U box protein CHIP. Hum Mol Genet. 2014;23(4):1013–24.
- 65. Ronnebaum SM, Patterson C, Schisler JC. Emerging evidence of coding mutations in the ubiquitin-proteasome system associated with cerebellar ataxias. Hum Genome Var. 2014;1:14018.
- Yuasa T. Hereditary dentatorubro-pallidoluysian atrophy (DRPLA): clinical studies on 45 cases. Nihon Rinsho Jpn J Clin Med. 1993;51(11):3016–23.
- Matilla-Duenas A. Machado-Joseph disease and other rare spinocerebellar ataxias. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2012;724:172–88.
- Kanazawa I. Dentatorubral-pallidoluysian atrophy or Naito-Oyanagi disease. Neurogenetics. 1998;2(1):1–17.
- 69. Yamada M, Shimohata M, Sato T, Tsuji S, Takahashi H. Polyglutamine disease: recent advances in the neuropathology of dentatorubral-pallidoluysian atrophy. Neuropathology. 2006;26(4):346–51.
- 70. Tsuji S. Dentatorubral-pallidoluysian atrophy. Handb Clin Neurol. 2012;103:587-94.
- 71. Fan HC, Ho LI, Chi CS, Chen SJ, Peng GS, Chan TM, et al. Polyglutamine (PolyQ) diseases: genetics to treatments. Cell Transplant. 2014;23(4–5):441–58.
- Suzuki Y, Yazawa I. Pathological accumulation of atrophin-1 in dentatorubralpallidoluysian atrophy. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2011;4(4):378–84.
- Wood JD, Yuan J, Margolis RL, Colomer V, Duan K, Kushi J, et al. Atrophin-1, the DRPLA gene product, interacts with two families of WW domain-containing proteins. Mol Cell Neurosci. 1998;11(3):149–60.
- 74. Feng L, Guedes S, Wang T. Atrophin-1-interacting protein 4/human Itch is a ubiquitin E3 ligase for human enhancer of filamentation 1 in transforming growth factor-beta signaling pathways. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(28):29681–90.
- 75. Qiu L, Joazeiro C, Fang N, Wang HY, Elly C, Altman Y, et al. Recognition and ubiquitination of notch by Itch, a hect-type E3 ubiquitin ligase. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(46):35734–7.
- Fang D, Elly C, Gao B, Fang N, Altman Y, Joazeiro C, et al. Dysregulation of T lymphocyte function in itchy mice: a role for Itch in TH2 differentiation. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(3):281–7.
- Koeppen AH. Friedreich's ataxia: pathology, pathogenesis, and molecular genetics. J Neurol Sci. 2011;303(1–2):1–12.
- Chamberlain S, Shaw J, Rowland A, Wallis J, South S, Nakamura Y, et al. Mapping of mutation causing Friedreich's ataxia to human chromosome 9. Nature. 1988;334(6179):248–50.
- Campuzano V, Montermini L, Molto MD, Pianese L, Cossee M, Cavalcanti F, et al. Friedreich's ataxia: autosomal recessive disease caused by an intronic GAA triplet repeat expansion. Science. 1996;271(5254):1423–7.

- 80. Busi MV, Gomez-Casati DF. Exploring frataxin function. IUBMB Life. 2012;64(1):56-63.
- Patel PI, Isaya G. Friedreich ataxia: from GAA triplet-repeat expansion to frataxin deficiency. Am J Hum Genet. 2001;69(1):15–24.
- Fleming J, Spinoulas A, Zheng M, Cunningham SC, Ginn SL, McQuilty RC, et al. Partial correction of sensitivity to oxidant stress in Friedreich ataxia patient fibroblasts by frataxinencoding adeno-associated virus and lentivirus vectors. Hum Gene Ther. 2005;16(8):947–56.
- 83. Libri V, Yandim C, Athanasopoulos S, Loyse N, Natisvili T, Law PP, et al. Epigenetic and neurological effects and safety of high-dose nicotinamide in patients with Friedreich's ataxia: an exploratory, open-label, dose-escalation study. Lancet. 2014;384(9942):504–13.
- 84. Rufini A, Fortuni S, Arcuri G, Condo I, Serio D, Incani O, et al. Preventing the ubiquitinproteasome-dependent degradation of frataxin, the protein defective in Friedreich's ataxia. Hum Mol Genet. 2011;20(7):1253–61.
- 85. Rufini A, Cavallo F, Condo I, Fortuni S, De Martino G, Incani O, et al. Highly specific ubiquitin-competing molecules effectively promote frataxin accumulation and partially rescue the aconitase defect in Friedreich ataxia cells. Neurobiol Dis. 2015;75:91–9.
- Choi KD, Choi JH. Episodic ataxias: clinical and genetic features. J Mov Disord. 2016;9(3):129–35.
- Tasaki T, Mulder LC, Iwamatsu A, Lee MJ, Davydov IV, Varshavsky A, et al. A family of mammalian E3 ubiquitin ligases that contain the UBR box motif and recognize N-degrons. Mol Cell Biol. 2005;25(16):7120–36.
- Parsons K, Nakatani Y, Nguyen MD. p600/UBR4 in the central nervous system. Cell Mol Life Sci: CMLS. 2015;72(6):1149–60.
- Brandt T, Strupp M. Episodic ataxia type 1 and 2 (familial periodic ataxia/vertigo). Audiol Neurootol. 1997;2(6):373–83.
- 90. Pelc S, Vis H. Familia ataxia with ocular telangiectasis (D. Louis-bar syndrome). Acta Neurol Belg. 1960;60:905–22.
- Subba RK. Mechanisms of disease: DNA repair defects and neurological disease. Nat Clin Pract Neurol. 2007;3(3):162–72.
- Lee JH, Paull TT. Activation and regulation of ATM kinase activity in response to DNA double-strand breaks. Oncogene. 2007;26(56):7741–8.
- Shiloh Y, Ziv Y. The ATM protein kinase: regulating the cellular response to genotoxic stress, and more. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2013;14(4):197–210.
- Levy-Barda A, Lerenthal Y, Davis AJ, Chung YM, Essers J, Shao Z, et al. Involvement of the nuclear proteasome activator PA28gamma in the cellular response to DNA double-strand breaks. Cell Cycle. 2011;10(24):4300–10.
- 95. Slater A, Moore NR, Huson SM. The natural history of cerebellar hemangioblastomas in von Hippel-Lindau disease. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2003;24(8):1570–4.
- Richard S, Campello C, Taillandier L, Parker F, Resche F. Haemangioblastoma of the central nervous system in von Hippel-Lindau disease. French VHL study group. J Intern Med. 1998;243(6):547–53.
- Glasker S, Li J, Xia JB, Okamoto H, Zeng W, Lonser RR, et al. Hemangioblastomas share protein expression with embryonal hemangioblast progenitor cell. Cancer Res. 2006;66(8):4167–72.
- Maher ER, Neumann HP, Richard S. Von Hippel-Lindau disease: a clinical and scientific review. Eur J Hum Genet. 2011;19(6):617–23.
- 99. Iwai K, Yamanaka K, Kamura T, Minato N, Conaway RC, Conaway JW, et al. Identification of the von Hippel-lindau tumor-suppressor protein as part of an active E3 ubiquitin ligase complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(22):12436–41.
- 100. Semenza GL. HIF-1 and mechanisms of hypoxia sensing. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2001;13(2):167-71.
- Shih SC, Claffey KP. Hypoxia-mediated regulation of gene expression in mammalian cells. Int J Exp Pathol. 1998;79(6):347–57.
- 102. Min JH, Yang H, Ivan M, Gertler F, Kaelin WG Jr, Pavletich NP. Structure of an HIF-1alpha -pVHL complex: hydroxyproline recognition in signaling. Science. 2002;296(5574):1886–9.

- 103. Donovan AP, Basson MA. The neuroanatomy of autism a developmental perspective. J Anat. 2017;230(1):4–15.
- 104. Hashimoto T, Tayama M, Murakawa K, Yoshimoto T, Miyazaki M, Harada M, et al. Development of the brainstem and cerebellum in autistic patients. J Autism Dev Disord. 1995;25(1):1–18.
- Louros SR, Osterweil EK. Perturbed proteostasis in autism spectrum disorders. J Neurochem. 2016;139(6):1081–92.
- 106. Baron CA, Tepper CG, Liu SY, Davis RR, Wang NJ, Schanen NC, et al. Genomic and functional profiling of duplicated chromosome 15 cell lines reveal regulatory alterations in UBE3A-associated ubiquitin-proteasome pathway processes. Hum Mol Genet. 2006;15(6):853–69.
- Buiting K, Williams C, Horsthemke B. Angelman syndrome insights into a rare neurogenetic disorder. Nat Rev Neurol. 2016;12(10):584–93.
- Kishino T, Wagstaff J. Genomic organization of the UBE3A/E6-AP gene and related pseudogenes. Genomics. 1998;47(1):101–7.
- Taylor MD, Northcott PA, Korshunov A, Remke M, Cho YJ, Clifford SC, et al. Molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma: the current consensus. Acta Neuropathol. 2012;123(4):465–72.
- 110. Vriend J, Ghavami S, Marzban H. The role of the ubiquitin proteasome system in cerebellar development and medulloblastoma. Mol Brain. 2015;8(1):64.
- 111. Thompson MC, Fuller C, Hogg TL, Dalton J, Finkelstein D, Lau CC, et al. Genomics identifies medulloblastoma subgroups that are enriched for specific genetic alterations. J Clin Oncol: Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2006;24(12):1924–31.
- 112. Vriend J, Marzban H. The ubiquitin-proteasome system and chromosome 17 in cerebellar granule cells and medulloblastoma subgroups. Cellular Mol Life Sci: CMLS 2017;74(3): 449–67.
- 113. Penas C, Govek EE, Fang Y, Ramachandran V, Daniel M, Wang W, et al. Casein kinase 1delta is an APC/C(Cdh1) substrate that regulates cerebellar granule cell neurogenesis. Cell Rep. 2015;11(2):249–60.
- 114. Wiebusch L, Bach M, Uecker R, Hagemeier C. Human cytomegalovirus inactivates the G0/ G1-APC/C ubiquitin ligase by Cdh1 dissociation. Cell Cycle. 2005;4(10):1435–9.
- Hawkins C, Croul S. Viruses and human brain tumors: cytomegalovirus enters the fray. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(10):3831–3.
- 116. Baryawno N, Rahbar A, Wolmer-Solberg N, Taher C, Odeberg J, Darabi A, et al. Detection of human cytomegalovirus in medulloblastomas reveals a potential therapeutic target. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(10):4043–55.

# **Epigenetics and Cerebellar Neurodevelopmental Disorders**

### **Mojgan Rastegar**

**Abstract** Epigenetic mechanisms regulate cellular identity and organ morphology *via* controlling the gene expression program of specific cell types. Such mechanisms are not directly controlled by genomic DNA sequences and can be largely influenced by environmental factors. Epigenetic mechanisms include modification of DNA and DNA-bound proteins (histones), action of large and short regulatory RNA molecules, cross talk between DNA and histone marks, nucleosome positioning, chromatin removdeling, enhancer-promoter interactions, as well as threedimensional chromatin structure that is in part controlled by global regulators and insulator proteins. Research on epigenetic mechanisms is an emerging hot topic today that may very well be due to the potential reversibility of epigenetic marks. Such characteristics of epigenetic modifications have brought them into the front row of research for cutting-edge therapeutic strategies. The challenge would be of course the very large number of genes that will be targeted by most epigenetic drugs that are capable of global modulation of epigenetic marks and a purposeful management of selectively targeting disease-associated genes in balance with global effects of these drugs.

Like all parts of our body, development of the central nervous system and the brain is regulated through epigenetic mechanisms. It is not of surprise that deregulation of epigenetic modifications may lead to human disease and neurodevelopmental disorders. In this book chapter, I will focus on main epigenetic mechanisms that control the brain and cerebellum development. I will then discuss some of the common neurodevelopmental disorders that have proven epigenetic components that provide important insight toward the future research on epigenetics and cerebellar neurodevelopmental disorders.

M. Rastegar, PhD (🖂)

Regenerative Medicine Program, and Department of Biochemistry & Medical Genetics, Max Rady College of Medicine, Rady Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Manitoba, 745 Bannatyne Avenue, BMSB 627, Winnipeg, MB R3E 0J9, Canada e-mail: mojgan.rastegar@umanitoba.ca

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_10

# Introduction

Genetic material of eukaryotic cells exists as double-stranded DNA molecules packed around an octamer group of DNA-bound proteins (histones), making up the core structure of "nucleosomes" known as the fundamental units of the "chromatin" structure. The term chromatin was first described by Flemming and Zelltheilung in 1882, as they referred chromatin to the "densely stained nuclear DNA" [1]. At the time, the basic structural organization of DNA molecules was unknown, and it was not until seven decades later and in 1953, when Watson and Crick discovered the double helix DNA structure [2]. "Epigenetics" is yet another term that was described by Conrad Waddington in 1942, also prior to the discovery of DNA structure. Waddington referred to "epigenetics" as the "casual interactions between genes and their products which bring the phenotype into being" [3]. Since then, our knowledge on epigenetic regulatory mechanisms and the associated epigenetic molecular modifications has grown substantially with an impressive >52,000 research and review articles in this area of research thus far.

In this book chapter, I will describe three major epigenetic mechanisms that include DNA methylation, histone post-translational (PTM) modifications, and regulatory RNA molecules. I will discuss the main epigenetic players in establishing the "epigenetic code" that include "writers," "readers," and "eraser" of DNA methylation and histone post-translational modifications, with limited discussion of the cross talk between these two types of epigenetic modifications. I will briefly overview other types of epigenetic mechanisms such as unidirectional chromatin remodeling and bivalent marks at the developmentally important *Hox* genes. Lastly, I will discuss some examples of neurological brain disorders with an epigenetic or epigenetic basis that will provide some thoughts on the future direction of this line of research.

# **Epigenetics**

In 1942, Conrad Waddington used the word "epigenetics" in an attempt to explain how during development the "genotype" of an organism directs its individual cell morphology throughout life and dictates its "phenotype" [3]. The term "epigenetics" is primarily rooted from the Greek word of "epi," meaning "above" or "on" the "genetics." In general, epigenetic control begins as early as the life begins, instructing the cellular fate commitment from the very first cellular cleavage, and continues through embryonic development, and after birth during infancy, childhood, adulthood, and throughout life [4]. By regulating the gene expression program of individual cells, epigenetic information determine and dictate the readout of the genetic material, so that despite sharing the same genomic DNA in all somatic cells, distinct morphologies, identities, and functions of different cell types of our body are established [5]. It is of significant importance that such mechanisms are greatly impacted by environmental factors, one example being the negative influence of maternal in utero exposure to alcohol during embryonic development that causes neurological disorders, and mal-nutrition or stress after birth with negative impact in the body and the brain. Accordingly, the environmental factors are capable of manipulating and re-organizing the composition of epigenetic marks on DNA molecules leading to a different outcome in cellular gene expression program exhibiting neurological consequences, i.e., fetal alcohol spectrum disorders (FASD) in the case of maternal alcohol exposure. While we cannot deny a possible contribution of genetic susceptibility for FASD, without maternal exposure of a developing embryo to alcohol, there will not be any FASD development in a child. Collectively, this will highlight the involvement of environmental factors in human disease and neurological disorders.

### **DNA** Methylation

Perhaps the very the first evidence of epigenetic modifications goes back to 1963, when DNA and RNA methylation was primarily noticed [6]. However, the discovery of eukaryotic DNA methylation happened 14 years later and through the research of Razin and Cedar in 1977 [7]. Today, there are over 57,000 published original research and review articles on DNA methylation, capturing the impact of these discoveries over the last four to five decades. As research progresses, new technologies are developed for genome-wide DNA methylation studies, and new terms are introduced in this field that refer to different types of global studies. These terms include "methylome" that captures all different types of genomic DNA modifications, "methylomics" that refers to studies aiming to characterize the cross talk of "histone code" and DNA methylation, and lastly "gethylome/gethylomics" that connects "methylome/methylomics" to "genome/genomics" [8-10]. Research by independent groups has highlighted the biological importance of DNA methylation during embryonic development, X-chromosome inactivation, genomic imprinting, regulation of gene expression, alternative splicing, and stem cell differentiation, among other regulatory mechanisms [11]. As expected, deregulation of these epigenetic mechanisms and/or mutation in the components of epigenetic machinery may lead to human disease, cancer, and neurological disorders.

Chemically, DNA methylation is characterized by the covalent binding of a methyl group (CH3) to the fifth carbon of a cytosine nucleotide that is usually in the order of "CpG" dinucleotides and is called 5-methylcytosine (5-mC) (Fig. 1). The 5-mC modification is known as the fifth base of genomic DNA and is commonly associated with gene inactivation. Recent studies have further discovered the importance of yet a new form of "non-CpG" methylation in the context of "CpH" methylation, where H can be either A, C, or T [8, 13]. The CpH methylation is relatively abundant in the brain and in neurons, but still much below the rate that CpG methylation occurs, such as in adult mice brain neurons, the ratio of CpG methylation is about ~75%, while CpH methylation is ~25% [14].

In 2009, independent research groups reported a new type of DNA methylation known as 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5-hmC) [15, 16], which is now referred to as



**Fig. 1** The basic structure of a nucleosome, different types of DNA methylation, and diverse forms of histone post-translational modifications (*PTM*) are shown. The histone octamer of 2× H2A-H2B, two molecules of histone H3, and two molecules of histone H4 are shown with the double-stranded DNA molecules and histone H1 that connects the adjacent nucleosomes. Different types of histone PTM are shown, along with the DNA methylation at the CpG dinucleotides. At the top, the formation of different types of DNA methylation through the action of DNMT and TET proteins is also shown (Figure is adapted, updated, and modified from Rastegar and Barber 2010 [12])

the sixth base of the genome [17, 18]. The newly identified 5-hmC is highly enriched in embryonic stem cells and Purkinje cells of the cerebellum [15, 16]. Unlike 5-mC, this new form of DNA methylation (5-hmC) is considered to be a hallmark of active genes due to its association with active promoters and presence at the enhancers and genomic sequences of actively transcribed genes downstream of the transcription initiation site(s) [19]. Continued research in this field has led to the discovery of yet other new forms of DNA methylation produced by further oxidization of 5-hmC to 5-formylcytosine (5fC) and 5-carboxylcytosine (5caC) (Fig. 1), but our current knowledge about their functional role is limited [20].

### **DNA Methyl Writers**

Members of DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) family are responsible for the deposition of methyl CH3 modification on cytosine nucleotides to establish the formation of 5-mC DNA methylation mark. In mammals, maintenance of 5-mC DNA methylation during replication is the result of DNMT1 enzymatic activity, while DNMT3A and DNMT3B carry out de novo DNA methylation [21]. DNMT3A and DNMT3B establish the primary framework of CpG DNA methylation [22, 23], without favoring the hemimethylated versus unmethylated DNA. The third member of this group is called DNMT3-like protein (DNMT3L) and is considered to be an enzymatically inactive member [23]. In mice, transgenic Dnmt1 deficiency causes widespread genomic DNA demethylation that leads to embryonic lethality rapidly after gastrulation and during early embryonic development [24]. Similar to DNMT1, both DNMT3A and DNMT3B are essential for proper embryonic development and survival beyond birth. Accordingly, Dnmt3Bdeficiency in mice leads to embryonic lethality, while Dnmt3A knockout mice complete the embryonic development program. However, Dnmt3A-deficient mice die shortly after birth, further highlighting the biological importance of DNA methylation [25]. In contrast to these two members of DNMT3 group, mice with Dnmt3L-deficiency survive till adulthood, despite the fact that male knockout mice are infertile as their sperms do not mature [26].

In humans, *DNMT1* mutation is associated with neurodegenerative disorders that are autosomal dominant, namely, the "hereditary sensory and autonomic neuropathy with dementia and hearing loss type 1E (HSN1E)" and "autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia with deafness and narcolepsy (ADCA-DN)" [27, 28]. *DNMT3A* mutation is associated with overgrowth disorders [29], and *DNMT3B* mutations are connected to ICF (Immunodeficiency, Centromere instability, Facial abnormalities) Syndrome that is a rare autosomal disease [30].

### **DNA Methyl Readers and MeCP2**

Once 5-mC DNA methylation is established, this epigenetic modification is recognized, being bound to, and interpreted by the family members of the methyl-binding proteins (MBP). MBP family members consist of MBP1, MBP2, MBP3, MBP4, methyl CpG-binding protein 2 (MeCP2), and Kaiso family proteins. Perhaps the most-studied MBP member is MeCP2, which is also the prototype member of this group discovered by Adrian Bird and his team in 1992 [31].

By binding to 5-mC, MeCP2 represses its downstream target genes *via* multiple mechanisms [32]. The 5-mC commonly marks inactive genes, critically important for transcriptional silencing, imprinting, X-chromosome inactivation, genomic stability, embryonic development, and proper function of the brain [5, 33]. In vivo studies in mouse brain show that MeCP2 specifically binds to 5-mC at the genes that

carry DNA methylation [34]. In vitro DNA-protein binding assays show that MeCP2 preferentially binds to methylated DNA and has low affinity for unmodified DNA. The high-affinity binding of MeCP2 to 5-mC requires MeCP2 N-terminus regions and its methyl-binding domain (MBD) [35]. MeCP2 DNA-binding activities are essential for the proper chromatin structure formation in neurons, where the protein is exceptionally abundant [32]. It is suggested that in neurons, MeCP2 may act more as a global governor of chromatin architecture rather than being a site-specific gene regulator [34]. However, in the absence of MeCP2, a few critical target genes (such as *Bdnf*) are always and specifically altered in a cell-type and brain region-specific manner [36–38], highlighting the role of MeCP2 also as a target-specific transcriptional regulator.

Adding a new layer of complexity to MeCP2 function is the discovery of MeCP2 being capable of binding to 5-hmC in the brain. As stated earlier, the 5-hmC is an abundant DNA modification in the brain and is suggested to mark active genes [39]. This is in direct contrast to 5-mC that usually marks repressed and inactive genes [5]. MeCP2 binding to both 5-mC and 5-hmC is important for its proper function and is mainly mediated through its MBD. Within the MBD mutations, MeCP2 R133C mutation only loses the binding to 5-hmC and not 5-mC; however MeCP2 D121G mutation only inhibits its 5-mC-binding without affecting MeCP2 binding to 5-hmC [39]. In addition to be a transcriptional repressor, MeCP2 is also reported to act as an activator of transcription [40]. Accordingly, it is suggested that MeCP2 acts as a repressor when bound to 5-mC and as an activator when bound to 5-hmC [39].

MeCP2 DNA-binding activities might be more complex than originally thought, due to the presence of two MeCP2 variants (isoforms) that may not be fully redundant in their DNA-binding activities and functional properties. In both mice and humans, Mecp2/MECP2 gene creates two protein isoforms, MeCP2E1 (also named MeCP2B or MeCP2 $\alpha$ ) and MeCP2E2 (also named MeCP2A or MeCP2 $\beta$ ) with unique N-terminal sequences. These isoforms are produced through alternative splicing of the second exon [41]. In the brain, distinct transcript expression patterns are detected for individual isoforms [42], with MECP2E1 displaying 10× higher expression. The difference at the N-terminal sequences of MeCP2 isoforms is rather short, with 21 amino acids exclusive to MeCP2E1 encoded by exon 1, and nine amino acids only present in MeCP2E2 encoded by exon 2. The regulation and functional properties of the two MeCP2 isoforms have been the subject of my research over the last decade. By generating isoform-specific antibodies, my lab reported that MeCP2E1 is the major protein isoform in the brain with significantly higher expression in neurons compared to astrocytes [43]. While we reported that MeCP2E1 is highly expressed in seven different brain regions that we studied, MeCP2E2 showed a brain region-specific expression pattern with the highest levels of expression in the cerebellum, highlighting the functional importance of MeCP2 isoforms in the cerebellum [44]. We reported that during differentiation of embryonic brain-derived neural stem cells, Mecp2/MeCP2 expression is controlled by DNA methylation, with a reciprocal expression pattern for the two isoforms [45, 46]. Importantly, significant correlations exist between the transcript and protein expression of the

two MeCP2 isoforms with that of DNA methylation at its regulatory DNA sequences (regions 1-6) in adult murine brain [44]. I will further discuss the importance of MeCP2 and its two isoforms in human disease and neurodevelopmental brain disorders in the last section of this book chapter.

#### **DNA Methyl Erasers**

For a long time, DNA methylation was considered to be a stable and repressive DNA modification. However, it is now clear that through the action of ten-eleven translocation (TET) proteins (TET1, TET2, and TET3), active DNA demethylation occurs. During this process, TET family members oxidize the methyl group of the 5-mC modification by an oxygen substrate, and this reaction leads to the generation of 5-hmC DNA modification. Such modification (5-hmC) is highly abundant in the brain, in neurons, and in pluripotent embryonic stem cells. Interestingly, the same TET proteins are capable of further oxidizing the 5-hmC mark into 5caC and 5fC (Fig. 1), but currently not much is known about the functional role of these two modifications. Mice deficient for either of *Tet* genes (*Tet1<sup>-/-</sup>*, *Tet2<sup>-/-</sup>*, *Tet3<sup>-/-</sup>*) have normal preimplantation development. While *Tet3*-deficiency leads to neonatal lethality after birth [47], *Tet2*-deficient mice develop spontaneous myeloid leukemia [48, 49], with *Tet1*-deficinet mice only showing a small body size. However, despite being a mild phenotype, this small body size of *Tet1*-deficient mice is noticeable from the post-implantation stage and during embryonic development [50].

Regarding the role of 5-hmC, current research studies suggest that it promotes transcriptional activation due to its high abundance in the intragenic regions of enhancers and transcriptionally active genes in embryonic stem cells [19, 51]. During early development, passive DNA demethylation occurs that is through consequent cellular divisions in the absence of DNA methyl transferases (Fig. 2). During development, there is a global DNA demethylation of 5-mC at the paternal genes, right after fertilization and during the early preimplantation of embryos due to active and passive 5-mC DNA demethylation. The passive 5-mC demethylation coincides with the physical absence of DNMT1 transcription and expression, as well as dilution of DNMT1, originating from the oocyte DNMT1 (the protein levels are diluted and reduced while the cells divide). The passive DNA demethylation is due to the DNMT1 absence, and despite the fact that its protein partner, UHRF1 (ubiquitin-like containing PHD and RING finger domains 1), is still available. UHRF1 is the protein partner of DNMT1 that binds to specific DNA sequences, actively recruiting DNMT1 for subsequent enzymatic activity of DNAM1. On the other hand and in parallel, there is an active 5-mC DNA demethylation at the paternal genes that is due to the activity of TET proteins in oxidizing 5-mC to 5-hmC, 5fC, and 5caC. The TET activities during this embryonic time of developmental are mainly the result of TET3 activity, as TET1 and TET2 are not expressed until a later developmental time-point and at the morula stage. After the formation of 5fC and 5caC, a destabilization of the N-glycosidic bond may happen that promotes thymine DNA glycosylase (TDG)



**Fig. 2** Global change in different types of DNA methylation in the paternal and maternal genes during the pre-implantation period of development in mouse embryos. The global change in the levels of different types of DNA methylation (5-mC, 5-hmC, 5fC, and 5caC) is shown. The relevant expression patterns of the DNA methyl transferases (DNMT) 3A, DNMT3B, DNMT1, DNMT1- (oocyte-driven DNMT1), UHRF1 (DNMT1 recruiting partner), TET1/2/3, and TDG are shown. Right after the implantation stage, DNA methylation levels are elevated at the inner cell mass (*ICM*) and trophectoderm (*TE*) (Figure is modified and adapted from Wu and Zhang 2014 [52])

activity *via* specific chain of events that lead to base-excision repair (BER) and removal of the modified nucleotide, but such cascade of molecular events is not active after fertilization and until implantation stage due to the TDG absence in the developing embryos. The maternal genes also undergo DNA demethylation with following the paternal 5-mC demethylation, and except for the imprinted genes that maintain their DNA methylation patterns, the rest of the genome within the developing embryonic cells lack DNA methylation till implantation. At this stage of development, 5-mC DNA methylation is restored globally at the inner cell mass (ICM) and trophectoderm (the outer embryonic layer at the blastocyst stage). This is in parallel increase at the levels of 5-hmC, 5fC, and 5caC due to the activity of TET proteins in the embryonic cells and tissues (Fig. 2). For further review of the molecular mechanisms of DNA demethylation during embryonic development, please refer to the following reviews and the references in there [5, 52].

### **Histone Modifications**

Perhaps the most diverse form of epigenetic regulation is being orchestrated through histone post-translational modifications. Histones are highly alkaline DNA-bound proteins that make up the coatomer core of the nucleosomes (two dimers of [H2A-H2B] + 2 molecules of H3 + 2 molecules of H4) enwrapped by two rounds of double-stranded DNA and an additional linker histone H1 that all together constitute the basic structure of the chromatin (Fig. 1). The naked DNA without the basic histone molecules is about 1.8 m in a human somatic cell with 46 chromosomes, but addition of histone molecules would bring it to about 90 µm in the form of chromatin structure within the cellular nuclei [53]. The very first histone PTM that were reported in 1964 consisted of the acetylation and methylation of histone molecules [54]. Today, we know of many other forms of histone PTM beyond the histone acetylation and histone methylation that include histone phosphorylation, isomerization, ubiquitination, ADP-ribosylation, and histone sumoylation (Fig. 1). Such histone modifications are usually at the terminal domain of histone molecules, with an exception of few histone PTM that may also occur within the core part of the histone molecules (i.e., phosphorylation of histone H3 tyrosine 41). Considering the large number of amino acids within each of the core histone tails and the existence of different forms of histone modifications, one can appreciate the complexity and versatility of the information that can be transferred *via* this type of epigenetic marks. To add another layer of complexity, one should also note the existance of mono-, di-, or tri-histone modifications, which may not necessarily mark the same chromatin compartments, and within the di-modifications, there are also potentially symmetric or asymmetric histone PTM that once again may be a signature of different chromatin compartments. Together, with the cross talk of histone PTM and DNA modifications (different forms of 5-mC, 5-hmC, 5fC, 5caC, and CpH methylation), as well as the potential physical masking of one histone PTM by another PTM, and the regulatory role of three-dimensional chromatin structure, chromatin remodeling, and nucleosome positioning, among others, the magnitude and complexity of proper establishment of such orchestrated molecular mechanism in every single cell of the body can be appreciated.

Similar to what was discussed for DNA methylation in the previous sections, there are also "writers," "readers," and "erasers" of histone PTM. Depending on the type of histone PTM, the proteins that are within each group of the "writers," "readers," and "erasers" are different. For example, histone acetylation of lysine amino acids is catalyzed though the activity of K-acetyltransferases (KATs) as "writers." The KAT writers use the cofactor "acetyl-CoA" to transfer the "acetyl" group to the lysine amino acids, thereby catalyzing the formation of histone acetylation. The "reader" molecules such as PCAF and P300 would then bind and interpret this histone PTM, which may subsequently recruit other transcription factors or regulatory molecules to communicate the intended epigenetic signal in transcriptional activation. The histone acetyl "eraser" molecules are grouped as members of histone deacetylase (HDAC) family that belong to HDAC classes I to IV. For a detailed

review about the members of this family of erasers, refer to Liyanage et al. 2015 and the references in there [8]. HDAC inhibitors such as Trichostatin A are commonly used in the treatment of human cancer, by globally inducing histone hyperacetylation. Similar to what I discussed for histone acetylation, there are all three types of epigenetic molecules (writers, readers, and erasers) for other types of histone PTM that are discussed in detail elsewhere [8, 21].

# Other Epigenetic Regulatory Mechanisms

Besides DNA methylation, histone modifications, and their cross talk, there are other modes of epigenetic control in place to ensure the proper gene expression program during embryonic development, after birth, and in adult organisms. These include the action of small noncoding RNAs (microRNAs and Piwi-interacting RNAs) in transcriptional silencing and translational regulation, long-noncoding RNAs in transcriptional control, as well as methylation of RNA molecules, nucleosome density at specific genomic loci (promoter regions, transcription start sites, and/or exon-intron boundaries), long-range enhancer-promoter interactions, the functional role of insulators [i.e., CCCTC-binding factor (CTCF) activity], and chromatin remodeling, among others. Such epigenetic mechanisms may have profound and critically important key roles during development. Mis-regulation of these molecular events may lead to impaired cellular function, cancer, and human disease. Perhaps the best-studied example of developmentally important genes that are controlled by such orchestrated cascade of epigenetic mechanisms are the Hox gene clusters. The highly conserved Hox/HOX gene clusters encode for HOX transcription factors that determine the anterior-posterior and dorsal-ventral patterning of the developing embryos (Fig. 3a). Transcriptional expression of the Hox/HOX genes is controlled by combination of DNA methylation marks, histone posttranslational modifications, a suggested unidirectional chromatin remodeling (shown experimentally for the Hoxd4) [55] (Fig. 3b), enhancer-promoter integrations, nucleosome positioning, and the activity of regulatory RNA molecules. For a detailed review of Hox/HOX gene control by epigenetic mechanisms, refer to Barber and Rastegar 2010 and the references in there [12].

**Fig. 3** (continued) groups shown below the fly images. Members of each paralogue groups (i.e., *Dfd*, *HOXA4*, *HOXB4*, *HOXC4*, and *HOXD4*) are more similar to each other in comparison of the members from the same HOX cluster (i.e., *HOXA1* to *HOXA13*). Underneath the fetus, a proposed unidirectional chromatin opening at the 3'-5' unidirectional *HOX* gene activation (colinearity is a specificity of *HOX* genes) is shown. (**B**) A cascade of epigenetic events at the *Hoxd4* locus, *via* sequential histone modifications at the 3' *Hoxd4* enhancer that reaches to the *Hoxd4* promoter located more 5' to its enhancer, is shown. Note that the recruitment of CBP (histone acetyl transferase), the transcription factor PAX6, and the initiation of H3K9ac, H3K4me, are followed by H4K4K11K15ac histoneH4 modification from the 3' end of the gene (enhancer) to the promoter. This is then followed by the recruitment of the transcriptional machinery (RNA polymerase II) through the transcription factors YY1-Mel18 and recruitment of PBX1-HOXD4 to the *Hoxd4 cis*-regulatory elements at the promoter [55–57]. (**A**, **B**) are modified and updated from Barber and Rastegar 2010 [12]



**Fig. 3** Schematic illustration of the *Hox/HOX* clusters and unidirectional chromatin remodeling at the *Hoxd4* gene locus. (**A**) The larvae and adult *Drosophila Melanogaster* are shown on the top. The color-coded fly is in harmony with the *Hox/HOX* gene members of the 13 paralogue

### **Epigenetics in Development and Bivalent Marks**

Epigenetics play a profound regulatory role during embryonic development with global changes in DNA methylation, histone modifications, and chromatin structure (discussed already in detail and summarized in Fig. 1). Intense effort from independent research groups has been devoted to understand the biology of global DNA demethylation at both the maternal and paternal genes, which happens as a result of both active and inactive modes of DNA demethylation. As discussed in a previous section on DNA methylation, shortly after zygote formation by fertilization of an egg and sperm (during embryonic preimplantation), paternal genes undergo global DNA demethylation (reduced 5-mC). Such global effect is via passive DNA demethylation through cellular division associated with the absence of DNMT1 expression and dilution of oocyte DNMT1 (DNMT1<sub>0</sub>) that keeps being less and less during each mitosis. Due to the absence of DNMT1 and reduction of DNMT1. during each cell cycle, DNA methylation maintenance is globally reduced. Maternal genes will also undergo similar DNA demethylation (reduced 5-mC), with a short delay following paternal genes. Active DNA demethylation accompanies this process through the catalytic role of TET1/2/3 proteins, leading to an induction of other forms of DNA methylation (5hmC/5fC/5caC) only in the paternal genes. However, maternal genes do not undergo the global active DNA demethylation by TET proteins. Right around implantation, the global DNA methylation will be established through the activity of DNMT proteins in both the inner cell mass (cellular mass in the primordial embryo that will give rise to the embryonic body of the fetus) and trophectoderm (cells of the outer layer of the blastocyst that will generate the extraembryonic tissues) (Fig. 2). There are global histone modification changes that in collaboration with DNA methylation types and other epigenetic mechanisms tightly control the proper process of embryonic development. Deregulation of these mechanisms caused by genetic mutations or influenced by environmental factors may lead to mild-to-severe consequences in the developing embryo.

To understand early developmental mechanisms that are orchestrated by genetics and epigenetics, researchers have intensely used self-renewing and differentiating pluripotent embryonic stem cells. Through genome-wide chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) studies, scientists have shown that depending on low CpG or high CpG contents of the promoter regions, developmentally important genes (such as *Hox/HOX* genes), pluripotency genes, and housekeeping genes are differentially marked by histone PTM (Fig. 4). It is now over a decade that we know *Hox* genes and some other developmentally important genes are at a poised state of transcription carrying "bivalent marks", within the "bivalent domains" of the genome. In 2006 Bernstein et al. first introduced the concept of bivalent domains and bivalent chromatin structure, referring to chromatin regions that carry histone H3 (lysine) K4 methylation and histone H3 (lysine) K27 methylation, simultaneously [58]. The "bivalent marks" are accordingly referred to the existence of these active (H3K4 methylation) and inactive/repressive (H3K27 methylation) at the N-terminal region of same histone H3 molecule at the regulatory regions of developmentally important



**Fig. 4** Presence of bivalent marks in the embryonic stem cells and their resolvation in differentiated cells. Bivalent marks (active:H3K4me3; and inactive: H3K27me3) exist on the N-terminal tail of the same molecule of histone H3 in the pluripotent embryonic stem cells at the high CpG content promoters of the developmentally important genes (e.g. *Hox* genes) and early differentiation genes. The thickness of the black line for NANOG and OCT4 corresponds to the enrichment of these transcription factors/pluripotency factors at the regulatory/promoter gene regions. During embryonic stem cell differentiation, genes that carry bivalent marks either lose the active H3K4me3, keeping the H3K27me3, and may gain DNA methylation marks and become inactive/ silenced. On the other hand, genes that should be turned on would become active by losing H3K27me3 histone PTM but would keep H3K4m3 and become active. Note that the overall level of DNA methylation is lower in embryonic stem cells as well as in differentiated cells (Figure is modified and updated from Rastegar et al. 2011 [21])

genes [12]. As stated earlier, HOX proteins and their cofactors control the proper patterning of the embryonic central nervous system along the anterior-posterior embryonic axes with key roles in stem cell differentiation [4, 12, 55–57, 59, 60]. As development/embryonic stem cell differentiation proceeds, the bivalent marks at the poised genes are resolved to further gain DNA methylation in combination with keeping the H3 K27 methylation and become silenced, or lose the inactive histone mark, keeping histone H3K4 methylation and relaxed chromatin structure for genes that would become transcriptionally active. In pluripotent embryonic stem cells, the active or silenced state of gene transcription is further regulated by the pluripotency transcription factors; OCT4, NANOG, and members of Polycomb (PcG) transcriptional pluripotency transcription (PcG) transcriptic (PcG) transcription (PcG) transcriptic (PcG) transcr



**Fig. 5** Bivalent marks at the *Hox* clusters during development of the brain cells. In pluripotent embryonic stem cells, bivalent marks exist at all paralogue members of the *Hox* genes along all four clusters, except for the *Hoxd8*. Later during the differentiation of the brain cells in neural progenitor cells that are generated from the multipotent neural stem cells, most Hox genes lose their bivalent marks, being either active or inactive. In the adult brain, none of the Hox genes carry bivalent marks, except for the *Hoxal* gene. Stars indicate bivalent marks (the gene locus carries both H3K4me3 and H3K27me3); *red circles* indicate inactive genes (carrying H3K27me3); and *green circles* show active genes (carrying H3K4me3). Figure is modified and updated from Barber and Rastegar 2010 [12]

tional silencing proteins. The pluripotency genes are further controlling their own expression through a regulatory feedback loop during embryonic stem cell self-renewal. For a detailed review on the bivalent marks please refer to the following reviews/book chapters and the references in there [5, 21]. Depending on the process of differentiation towards different cell fate commitments, the epigenetic marks and transcription factor binding at the *cis*-regulatory elements would change in order to ensure proper gene expression program of the individual cells. Once the central nervous system and the brain development process is completed, the bivalent marks barely exist at the *Hox/HOX* genes, such as the only remaining *Hox* gene with a bivalent modification is *Hoxa1* (Fig. 5).

### **Epigenetics and Cerebellum**

Epigenetic mechanisms control the proper development of all brain regions including the cerebellum. The word "cerebellum" is rooted from a Latin word that means "little brain." In general, the mammalian cerebellum is a distinct structure that is situated underneath of the brain in the posterior cranial fossa (see chapter "The Embryology and Anatomy of the Cerebellum"). Anatomically the cerebellum has a distinguishable structure of neurons within its granular layer, the molecular layer, and a layer of the Purkinje cells. The proper function of cerebellum is critical and essential for motor coordination of the body. Cerebellum also plays important roles in cognitive function including attention and language while controlling emotional responses such as reaction to pleasure and fear. The process of murine and human cerebellum development is controlled by a combination of epigenetic mechanisms and particular gene regulatory networks [61]. Among different modes of epigenetic mechanisms, DNA methylation has attracted much attention in cerebellum development and function. Within the different cell types of the cerebellum, 5-hmC is markedly enriched at the euchromatic genomic regions, and 5-mC is found at the heterochromatin compartments with MeCP2 being the main reader of both 5-hmC and 5-mC in the brain [39]. In the adult mouse brain, reports from my own lab indicate that both MeCP2E1 and MeCP2E2 isoforms are expressed in neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes. However, expression of the minor MeCP2 isoform (MeCP2E2) reaches to its highest level in the cerebellum with almost comparable levels to the major MeCP2E1 isoform [44].

### **Epigenetics and Neurodevelopmental Cerebellar Disorders**

Deregulation of epigenetic mechanisms in the brain and cerebellum is associated with neurodevelopmental and cerebellar disorders. Research by independent groups has established the involvement of epigenetic mechanisms in fetal alcohol spectrum disorders (FASD) (see chapter "Teratogenic Influences on Cerebellar Development"), autism spectrum disorders (ASD) (see chapter "Neurodevelopmental Disorders of the Cerebellum: Autism Spectrum Disorder"), fragile X syndrome, and Rett syndrome (RTT). Of different types of epigenetic mechanisms that I have discussed here, altered DNA methylation and more specifically cerebellar change in 5-hmC levels are linked to Fragile X Syndrome. Both ASD and FASD as cerebellar neurological disorders are discussed in detail in other chapters of this book.

In general, cerebral dysfunction is an established trademark of FASD and it appears that the second and third trimester-equivalent ethanol exposure in mice highly influence Purkinje cells of the developing cerebellar vermis relative to interneurons. Besides the reduced number of GABAergic/glycinergic neurons due to ethanol exposure, decreased lobule volumes in cerebellar vermis of the developing mice is also evident subsequent to in utero ethanol exposure in the developing mouse embryos. The reduced volume of most cerebral lobules is also found as an outcome of significant decrease in the number of cells, dendritic arborizations, and/ or axonal projections [62]. DNA methylation is reported to play a profound role in FASD pathobiology, detected in FASD patients, and during stem cell modeling of this disease by others and us [45, 63–65]. The associated genetics and epigenetics of FASD are discussed in detail elsewhere [66], and impaired cerebral function in FASD is also covered in detail in another chapter of this book.

Studies in human post-mortem brain indicate that increased MeCP2 recruitment at the glutamic acid decarboxylase 67 (*GAD1*) and Reelin (*RELN*) gene promoters happens *via* enrichment of 5-hmC DNA methylation and a mirror decrease of 5-mC in the cerebellum of ASD patients [67]. Such epigenetic change and altered MeCP2 binding was not detected at the *GAD1* and *RELN* gene bodies of ASD patients in the same examined cerebellum samples. While the protein product of *GAD1* gene is involved in gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) synthesis, REELIN is dominantly expressed in GABAergic neurons. In post-mortem brain tissues of ASD patients, GABA neurotransmitters are reduced levels in the cerebellum [68, 69]. Research by independent groups has suggested the role of DNA methylation in autism spectrum disorders and potential application of DNA methyl inhibitors for ASD [46, 70, 71].

In a recent study in human cases of suicides compared to control individuals, reduced connexins (CX); CX30 and CX43 levels were found to be associated with increased histone H3K9 methylation in the prefrontal cortex, but such observation was not consistent and were not detected in the cerebellum. The authors concluded that extensive cerebral astrocyte dysfunction is associated with major depressive disorders [72]. Recent studies further introduce DNA methylation as an emerging marker for cerebellar epigenetic age [73]. Such research highlights the importance of DNA methyl-related proteins, which once again brings MeCP2 to the forefront of research in this field and further link MeCP2 as the major DNA methyl-binding protein in the brain to age-related cerebellar disorders. Ataxia-telangiectasia is a genetically inherited neurodegenerative disorder that is caused by ATM loss-offunction mutations. This gene encodes for a protein kinase that has key roles in DNA damage response for DNA double-strand breaks. One of our today's challenges in understanding Ataxia-telangiectasia is based on our limited knowledge on the functional roles of Purkinje cells in this regard, and specifically on their vulnerability to ATM-deficiency. However, recent studies have shown significantly reduced levels of 5-hmC in the cerebellar Purkinje cells of  $Atm^{-/-}$  mouse cerebellum and human Ataxia-telangiectasia cerebellum tissues directly related to compromised TET1 enzymatic activity. It is further suggested that loss of 5-hmC is critically important in mediating the susceptibility of Purkinje cells to ATM-deficiency [74].

Within the neurodevelopmental and cerebral disorders with an epigenetic link, perhaps one of the most-studied diseases would be Rett Syndrome (RTT). RTT is a severe neurological disorder that in more than 95% of cases is caused by de novo mutations in the X-linked *MECP2* gene [75]. In addition to RTT, *MECP2* mutations are also associated with a broad spectrum of neurological disorders, including X-linked mental retardation, Angelman's Syndrome, severe neonatal encephalopathy, and autism [76–79]. Aberrant MeCP2 expression in the brain also leads to compromised brain function and autism [80]. Currently, Rett Syndrome has no effective treatment; but reactivation of the *Mecp2* gene after the onset of the phenotypes in RTT mouse models partially rescues physiological and anatomical abnormalities [81, 82]. MeCP2 function is dose-dependent, and its loss-of-function or gain-of-function mutations cause overlapping neurological phenotypes and autistic features. In transgenic mice, deficiency in the major MeCP2 isoform (E1-deficiency) is sufficient to mimic RTT-associated phenotypes [83]. To date, there have been many
attempts in finding therapeutic strategies for Rett Syndrome by independent research groups. Perhaps one of the first reports in this regard was the development and validation of regulated gene therapy vectors for both *MECP2E1* and *MECP2E2*. These gene therapy vectors were tested for proper gene delivery into primary neurons, as well as self-renewing adult and embryonic neural stem cells, their differentiated progenies into neurons and astrocytes, and ex vivo delivery into the brain microenvironment of a RTT mouse model [84]. These studies have established that despite MeCP2 functional role in epigenetic silencing of gene therapy vectors in stem cells [85], an efficient and long-term delivery of MeCP2 by this approach is possible in brain-derived neural stem cells and their differentiated progenies into neurons and astrocytes [84]. This was perhaps the first study to support the rescue role of MeCP2E1 in correcting the impaired morphology of *Mecp2*-deficint neurons [84]. Subsequent studies from independent groups indicated that both MeCP2E1 and MeCP2E2 are capable of rescuing the RTT-associated phenotypes in mice but with different efficiencies [86]. While MeCP2 is the main DNA-binding protein in the brain, studies by my team have also shown that its own expression in the developing and adult murine brain is greatly influenced by DNA methylation, involving both 5-mC and 5-hmC [44–46]. Currently, intense research from us and other scientists is focused on the regulation of MeCP2 isoforms and the redundant and nonredundant functional role of the two isoforms in RTT and other neurodevelopmental cerebral disorders.

# Conclusions

Epigenetics control and dictate the identity of individual cells during each cellular division. During development, the cellular programing of the developing fetus is orchestrated through epigenetic modifications that are mainly embedded within the chromatin structure and are vulnerable to environmental factors, such as in utero alcohol exposure. Most epigenetic mechanisms are reversible and can be targeted by chemical compounds and drugs, which are attractable routes for therapy strategies. The brain is a very complex organ of the body with billions of functional nerve cells as well as other supportive cell types. The process of cerebellum development is tightly controlled during development, and deregulation of the involved regulatory mechanisms causes human disease. In this regard, the involvement of epigenetic mechanisms and mainly DNA methylation is becoming the center of focus in today's research.

Acknowledgment I would like to acknowledge many other excellent research publications that are not discussed in this book chapter due to the space limitation. I would like to thank Jeff Dixon for the artwork in all figures of this book chapter. This work is supported by funding from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) Discovery Grant (2016-06035) and the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) Team Grant (TEC-128094). The research in my lab is supported by NSERC DG-2016-06035, CIHR-TEC-128094, International Rett Syndrome Foundation (IRSF) Basic Research Grant Award #3212, Ontario Rett Syndrome

Association (ORSA), and the Children's Research Institute of Manitoba (CHRIM). The CIHR Catalyst Grant CEN-132383 supported part of the highlighted published research from my lab on sections about *Mecp2*/MeCP2 regulation.

# References

- 1. Flemming WZ. Kern und Zelltheilung. Leipzig: Verlag Vogel; 1882.
- 2. Watson JD, Crick FH. The structure of DNA. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 1953;18:123-31.
- 3. CD W. Characterization of development and the inheritance of acquired characters. Nature. 1942;3811:563–4.
- Olynik BM, Rastegar M. The genetic and epigenetic journey of embryonic stem cells into mature neural cells. Front Genet. 2012;3:81.
- 5. Delcuve GP, Rastegar M, Davie JR. Epigenetic control. J Cell Physiol. 2009;219:243-50.
- 6. Gold M, Hurwitz J, Anders M. The enzymatic methylation of RNA and DNA. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1963;11:107–14.
- 7. Razin A, Cedar H. Distribution of 5-methylcytosine in chromatin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1977;74:2725–8.
- Liyanage VRB, Zachariah RM, Delcuve GP, Davie JR, Rastegar M. Chromatin structure and epigenetics. In: Urbano KV, editor. Advances in genetics research. New York: Nova Science Publishers; 2015. p. 57–88.
- 9. Beck S, Rakyan VK. The methylome: approaches for global DNA methylation profiling. Trends Genet TIG. 2008;24:231–7.
- Ibrahim MA. An insight into the use of genome, Methylome and Gethylome in synthetic biology. Asian J Appl Sci. 2012;5:67–73.
- Liyanage VR, Jarmasz JS, Murugeshan N, Del Bigio MR, Rastegar M, Davie JR. DNA modifications: function and applications in normal and disease states. Biology. 2014;3:670–723.
- Barber BA, Rastegar M. Epigenetic control of Hox genes during neurogenesis, development, and disease. Ann Anat Anz Off Organ Anat Ges. 2010;192:261–74.
- Liyanage VRB, Zachariah RM, Delcuve GP, Davie JR, Rastegar M. New developments in chromatin research: an epigenetic perspective. In: Simpson NM, Stewart VJ, editors. New developments in chromatin research. New York: Nova Science Publishers; 2012. p. 29–58.
- 14. Guo JU, Su Y, Shin JH, Shin J, Li H, Xie B, Zhong C, Hu S, Le T, Fan G, Zhu H, Chang Q, Gao Y, Ming GL, Song H. Distribution, recognition and regulation of non-CpG methylation in the adult mammalian brain. Nat Neurosci. 2014;17:215–22.
- 15. Kriaucionis S, Heintz N. The nuclear DNA base 5-hydroxymethylcytosine is present in Purkinje neurons and the brain. Science. 2009;324:929–30.
- Tahiliani M, Koh KP, Shen Y, Pastor WA, Bandukwala H, Brudno Y, Agarwal S, Iyer LM, Liu DR, Aravind L, Rao A. Conversion of 5-methylcytosine to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in mammalian DNA by MLL partner TET1. Science. 2009;324:930–5.
- 17. Munzel M, Globisch D, Carell T. 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine, the sixth base of the genome. Angew Chem. 2011;50:6460–8.
- Munzel M, Globisch D, Bruckl T, Wagner M, Welzmiller V, Michalakis S, Muller M, Biel M, Carell T. Quantification of the sixth DNA base hydroxymethylcytosine in the brain. Angew Chem. 2010;49:5375–7.
- Wu H, D'Alessio AC, Ito S, Wang Z, Cui K, Zhao K, Sun YE, Zhang Y. Genome-wide analysis of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine distribution reveals its dual function in transcriptional regulation in mouse embryonic stem cells. Genes Dev. 2011;25:679–84.
- Ito S, Shen L, Dai Q, Wu SC, Collins LB, Swenberg JA, He C, Zhang Y. Tet proteins can convert 5-methylcytosine to 5-formylcytosine and 5-carboxylcytosine. Science. 2011;333:1300–3.

- Delcuve GP, Rastegar M, Davie JR. Epigenetic analysis of pluripotent cells. In: Stein GS, Borowski M, Luong MX, Shi M-J, Smith KP, Vazquez P, editors. In human stem cell technology and biology: a research guide and laboratory manual. Perspectives in human stem cell technologies. 1st ed. New Jersey: Wiley-Blackwell; 2011. p. 273–88.
- 22. Chen T, Li E. Establishment and maintenance of DNA methylation patterns in mammals. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2006;301:179–201.
- Jurkowska RZ, Jurkowski TP, Jeltsch A. Structure and function of mammalian DNA methyltransferases. Chembiochem: A Eur J Chem Biol. 2011;12:206–22.
- Li E, Bestor TH, Jaenisch R. Targeted mutation of the DNA methyltransferase gene results in embryonic lethality. Cell. 1992;69:915–26.
- 25. Okano M, Bell DW, Haber DA, Li E. DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. Cell. 1999;99:247–57.
- Hata K, Okano M, Lei H, Li E. Dnmt3L cooperates with the Dnmt3 family of de novo DNA methyltransferases to establish maternal imprints in mice. Development. 2002;129:1983–93.
- 27. Klein CJ, Botuyan MV, Wu Y, Ward CJ, Nicholson GA, Hammans S, Hojo K, Yamanishi H, Karpf AR, Wallace DC, Simon M, Lander C, Boardman LA, Cunningham JM, Smith GE, Litchy WJ, Boes B, Atkinson EJ, Middha S, B Dyck PJ, Parisi JE, Mer G, Smith DI, Dyck PJ. Mutations in DNMT1 cause hereditary sensory neuropathy with dementia and hearing loss. Nat Genet. 2011;43:595–600.
- Winkelmann J, Lin L, Schormair B, Kornum BR, Faraco J, Plazzi G, Melberg A, Cornelio F, Urban AE, Pizza F, Poli F, Grubert F, Wieland T, Graf E, Hallmayer J, Strom TM, Mignot E. Mutations in DNMT1 cause autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia, deafness and narco-lepsy. Hum Mol Genet. 2012;21:2205–10.
- 29. Tatton-Brown K, Seal S, Ruark E, Harmer J, Ramsay E, Del Vecchio Duarte S, Zachariou A, Hanks S, O'Brien E, Aksglaede L, Baralle D, Dabir T, Gener B, Goudie D, Homfray T, Kumar A, Pilz DT, Selicorni A, Temple IK, Van Maldergem L, Yachelevich N, Childhood Overgrowth C, van Montfort R, Rahman N. Mutations in the DNA methyltransferase gene DNMT3A cause an overgrowth syndrome with intellectual disability. Nat Genet. 2014;46:385–8.
- 30. Weemaes CM, van Tol MJ, Wang J, van Ostaijen-ten Dam MM, van Eggermond MC, Thijssen PE, Aytekin C, Brunetti-Pierri N, van der Burg M, Graham Davies E, Ferster A, Furthner D, Gimelli G, Gennery A, Kloeckener-Gruissem B, Meyn S, Powell C, Reisli I, Schuetz C, Schulz A, Shugar A, van den Elsen PJ, van der Maarel SM. Heterogeneous clinical presentation in ICF syndrome: correlation with underlying gene defects. Eur J Hum Gen EJHG. 2013;21:1219–25.
- Meehan RR, Lewis JD, Bird AP. Characterization of MeCP2, a vertebrate DNA binding protein with affinity for methylated DNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 1992;20:5085–92.
- 32. Zachariah RM, Rastegar M. Linking epigenetics to human disease and Rett syndrome: the emerging novel and challenging concepts in MeCP2 research. Neural Plast. 2012;2012:10.
- Li E. Chromatin modification and epigenetic reprogramming in mammalian development. Nat Rev Genet. 2002;3:662–73.
- 34. Skene PJ, Illingworth RS, Webb S, Kerr AR, James KD, Turner DJ, Andrews R, Bird AP. Neuronal MeCP2 is expressed at near histone-octamer levels and globally alters the chromatin state. Mol Cell. 2010;37:457–68.
- Ghosh RP, Horowitz-Scherer RA, Nikitina T, Shlyakhtenko LS, Woodcock CL. MeCP2 binds cooperatively to its substrate and competes with histone H1 for chromatin binding sites. Mol Cell Biol. 2010;30:4656–70.
- 36. Cohen S, Zhou Z, Greenberg ME. Medicine activating a repressor. Science. 2008;320:1172–3.
- 37. Sun YE, Wu H. The ups and downs of BDNF in Rett syndrome. Neuron. 2006;49:321-3.
- Larimore JL, Chapleau CA, Kudo S, Theibert A, Percy AK, Pozzo-Miller L. Bdnf overexpression in hippocampal neurons prevents dendritic atrophy caused by Rett-associated MECP2 mutations. Neurobiol Dis. 2009;34:199–211.
- 39. Mellen M, Ayata P, Dewell S, Kriaucionis S, Heintz N. MeCP2 binds to 5hmC enriched within active genes and accessible chromatin in the nervous system. Cell. 2012;151:1417–30.
- Chahrour M, Jung SY, Shaw C, Zhou X, Wong ST, Qin J, Zoghbi HY. MeCP2, a key contributor to neurological disease, activates and represses transcription. Science. 2008;320:1224–9.

- 41. Mnatzakanian GN, Lohi H, Munteanu I, Alfred SE, Yamada T, MacLeod PJ, Jones JR, Scherer SW, Schanen NC, Friez MJ, Vincent JB, Minassian BA. A previously unidentified MECP2 open reading frame defines a new protein isoform relevant to Rett syndrome. Nat Genet. 2004;36:339–41.
- 42. Dragich JM, Kim YH, Arnold AP, Schanen NC. Differential distribution of the MeCP2 splice variants in the postnatal mouse brain. J Comp Neurol. 2007;501:526–42.
- Zachariah RM, Olson CO, Ezeonwuka C, Rastegar M. Novel MeCP2 isoform-specific antibody reveals the endogenous MeCP2E1 expression in murine brain, primary neurons and astrocytes. PLoS One. 2012;7:e49763.
- 44. Olson CO, Zachariah RM, Ezeonwuka CD, Liyanage VR, Rastegar M. Brain region-specific expression of MeCP2 isoforms correlates with DNA methylation within Mecp2 regulatory elements. PLoS One. 2014;9:e90645.
- 45. Liyanage VR, Zachariah RM, Davie JR, Rastegar M. Ethanol deregulates Mecp2/ MeCP2 in differentiating neural stem cells via interplay between 5-methylcytosine and 5-hydroxymethylcytosine at the Mecp2 regulatory elements. Exp Neurol. 2015;265C:102–17.
- 46. Liyanage VR, Zachariah RM, Rastegar M. Decitabine alters the expression of Mecp2 isoforms via dynamic DNA methylation at the Mecp2 regulatory elements in neural stem cells. Mol Autism. 2013;4:46.
- 47. Gu TP, Guo F, Yang H, Wu HP, Xu GF, Liu W, Xie ZG, Shi L, He X, Jin SG, Iqbal K, Shi YG, Deng Z, Szabo PE, Pfeifer GP, Li J, Xu GL. The role of Tet3 DNA dioxygenase in epigenetic reprogramming by oocytes. Nature. 2011;477:606–10.
- 48. Ko M, Bandukwala HS, An J, Lamperti ED, Thompson EC, Hastie R, Tsangaratou A, Rajewsky K, Koralov SB, Rao A. Ten-Eleven-Translocation 2 (TET2) negatively regulates homeostasis and differentiation of hematopoietic stem cells in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:14566–71.
- 49. Li Z, Cai X, Cai CL, Wang J, Zhang W, Petersen BE, Yang FC, Xu M. Deletion of Tet2 in mice leads to dysregulated hematopoietic stem cells and subsequent development of myeloid malignancies. Blood. 2011;118:4509–18.
- 50. Dawlaty MM, Ganz K, Powell BE, Hu YC, Markoulaki S, Cheng AW, Gao Q, Kim J, Choi SW, Page DC, Jaenisch R. Tet1 is dispensable for maintaining pluripotency and its loss is compatible with embryonic and postnatal development. Cell Stem Cell. 2011;9:166–75.
- 51. Stroud H, Feng S, Morey Kinney S, Pradhan S, Jacobsen SE. 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine is associated with enhancers and gene bodies in human embryonic stem cells. Genome Biol. 2011;12:R54.
- Wu H, Zhang Y. Reversing DNA methylation: mechanisms, genomics, and biological functions. Cell. 2014;156:45–68.
- Redon C, Pilch D, Rogakou E, Sedelnikova O, Newrock K, Bonner W. Histone H2A variants H2AX and H2AZ. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2002;12:162–9.
- 54. Allfrey VG, Faulkner R, Mirsky AE. Acetylation and methylation of histones and their possible role in the regulation of Rna synthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1964;51:786–94.
- Rastegar M, Kobrossy L, Kovacs EN, Rambaldi I, Featherstone M. Sequential histone modifications at Hoxd4 regulatory regions distinguish anterior from posterior embryonic compartments. Mol Cell Biol. 2004;24:8090–103.
- Kobrossy L, Rastegar M, Featherstone M. Interplay between chromatin and trans-acting factors regulating the Hoxd4 promoter during neural differentiation. J Biol Chem. 2006;281:25926–39.
- 57. Nolte C, Rastegar M, Amores A, Bouchard M, Grote D, Maas R, Kovacs EN, Postlethwait J, Rambaldi I, Rowan S, Yan YL, Zhang F, Featherstone M. Stereospecificity and PAX6 function direct Hoxd4 neural enhancer activity along the antero-posterior axis. Dev Biol. 2006;299:582–93.
- Bernstein BE, Mikkelsen TS, Xie X, Kamal M, Huebert DJ, Cuff J, Fry B, Meissner A, Wernig M, Plath K, Jaenisch R, Wagschal A, Feil R, Schreiber SL, Lander ES. A bivalent chromatin structure marks key developmental genes in embryonic stem cells. Cell. 2006;125:315–26.

- 59. Barber BA, Liyanage VR, Zachariah RM, Olson CO, Bailey MA, Rastegar M. Dynamic expression of MEIS1 homeoprotein in E14.5 forebrain and differentiated forebrain-derived neural stem cells. Ann Anat Anat Anz Off Organ Anat Ges. 2013;195:431–40.
- Huang H, Rastegar M, Bodner C, Goh SL, Rambaldi I, Featherstone M. MEIS C termini harbor transcriptional activation domains that respond to cell signaling. J Biol Chem. 2005;280:10119–27.
- Marzban H, Del Bigio MR, Alizadeh J, Ghavami S, Zachariah RM, Rastegar M. Cellular commitment in the developing cerebellum. Front Cell Neurosci. 2015. 2015;8:1–26.
- 62. Nirgudkar P, Taylor DH, Yanagawa Y, Valenzuela CF. Ethanol exposure during development reduces GABAergic/glycinergic neuron numbers and lobule volumes in the mouse cerebellar vermis. Neurosci Lett. 2016;632:86–91.
- 63. Hoang M, Kim JJ, Kim Y, Tong E, Trammell B, Liu Y, Shi S, Lee CR, Hong C, Wang CY, Kim Y. Alcohol-induced suppression of KDM6B dysregulates the mineralization potential in dental pulp stem cells. Stem Cell Res. 2016;17:111–21.
- 64. Portales-Casamar E, Lussier AA, Jones MJ, MacIsaac JL, Edgar RD, Mah SM, Barhdadi A, Provost S, Lemieux-Perreault LP, Cynader MS, Chudley AE, Dube MP, Reynolds JN, Pavlidis P, Kobor MS. DNA methylation signature of human fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Epigenetics Chromatin. 2016;9:25.
- 65. Khalid O, Kim JJ, Kim HS, Hoang M, Tu TG, Elie O, Lee C, Vu C, Horvath S, Spigelman I, Kim Y. Gene expression signatures affected by alcohol-induced DNA methylomic deregulation in human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cell Res. 2014;12:791–806.
- 66. Liyanage VR, Curtis K, Zachariah RM, Chudley AE, Rastegar M. Overview of the genetic basis and epigenetic mechanisms that contribute to FASD pathobiology. Curr Top Med Chem. 2017;17:808–28.
- 67. Zhubi A, Chen Y, Dong E, Cook EH, Guidotti A, Grayson DR. Increased binding of MeCP2 to the GAD1 and RELN promoters may be mediated by an enrichment of 5-hmC in autism spectrum disorder (ASD) cerebellum. Transl Psychiatry. 2014;4:e349.
- Blatt GJ, Fatemi SH. Alterations in GABAergic biomarkers in the autism brain: research findings and clinical implications. Anat Rec. 2011;294:1646–52.
- 69. Pesold C, Impagnatiello F, Pisu MG, Uzunov DP, Costa E, Guidotti A, Caruncho HJ. Reelin is preferentially expressed in neurons synthesizing gamma-aminobutyric acid in cortex and hippocampus of adult rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:3221–6.
- 70. Ciernia AV, LaSalle J. The landscape of DNA methylation amid a perfect storm of autism aetiologies. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2016;17:411–23.
- Schroeder DI, Schmidt RJ, Crary-Dooley FK, Walker CK, Ozonoff S, Tancredi DJ, Hertz-Picciotto I, LaSalle JM. Placental methylome analysis from a prospective autism study. Mol Autism. 2016;7:51.
- Nagy C., Torres-Platas SG., Mechawar N., Turecki G. Repression of astrocytic connexins in cortical and subcortical brain regions and prefrontal enrichment of H3K9me3 in depression and suicide. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2017;20(1):50–57.
- Lu AT, Hannon E, Levine ME, Hao K, Crimmins EM, Lunnon K, Kozlenkov A, Mill J, Dracheva S, Horvath S. Genetic variants near MLST8 and DHX57 affect the epigenetic age of the cerebellum. Nat Commun. 2016;7:10561.
- 74. Jiang D, Zhang Y, Hart RP, Chen J, Herrup K, Li J. Alteration in 5-hydroxymethylcytosinemediated epigenetic regulation leads to Purkinje cell vulnerability in ATM deficiency. Brain J Neurol. 2015;138:3520–36.
- 75. Nagarajan RP, Hogart AR, Gwye Y, Martin MR, LaSalle JM. Reduced MeCP2 expression is frequent in autism frontal cortex and correlates with aberrant MECP2 promoter methylation. Epigenetics. 2006;1:e1–11.
- 76. Kankirawatana P, Leonard H, Ellaway C, Scurlock J, Mansour A, Makris CM, Dure LSt, Friez M, Lane J, Kiraly-Borri C, Fabian V, Davis M, Jackson J, Christodoulou J, Kaufmann WE, Ravine D, Percy AK. Early progressive encephalopathy in boys and MECP2 mutations. Neurology. 2006;67:164–6.

- Percy AK, Lane JB. Rett syndrome: model of neurodevelopmental disorders. J Child Neurol. 2005;20:718–21.
- Amir RE, Sutton VR, Van den Veyver IB. Newborn screening and prenatal diagnosis for Rett syndrome: implications for therapy. J Child Neurol. 2005;20:779–83.
- Gonzales ML, LaSalle JM. The role of MeCP2 in brain development and neurodevelopmental disorders. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 12:127–34.
- Nagarajan RP, Patzel KA, Martin M, Yasui DH, Swanberg SE, Hertz-Picciotto I, Hansen RL, Van de Water J, Pessah IN, Jiang R, Robinson WP, LaSalle JM. MECP2 promoter methylation and X chromosome inactivation in autism. Autism Res. 2008;1:169–78.
- Giacometti E, Luikenhuis S, Beard C, Jaenisch R. Partial rescue of MeCP2 deficiency by postnatal activation of MeCP2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104:1931–6.
- Guy J, Gan J, Selfridge J, Cobb S, Bird A. Reversal of neurological defects in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. Science. 2007;315:1143–7.
- Yasui DH, Gonzales ML, Aflatooni JO, Crary FK, Hu DJ, Gavino BJ, Golub MS, Vincent JB, Carolyn Schanen N, Olson CO, Rastegar M, Lasalle JM. Mice with an isoform-ablating Mecp2 exon 1 mutation recapitulate the neurologic deficits of Rett syndrome. Hum Mol Genet. 2014;23:2447–58.
- 84. Rastegar M, Hotta A, Pasceri P, Makarem M, Cheung AY, Elliott S, Park KJ, Adachi M, Jones FS, Clarke ID, Dirks P, Ellis J. MECP2 isoform-specific vectors with regulated expression for Rett syndrome gene therapy. PLoS One. 2009;4:e6810.
- 85. Ellis J, Hotta A, Rastegar M. Retrovirus silencing by an epigenetic TRIM. Cell. 2007;131:13-4.
- Kerr B, Soto CJ, Saez M, Abrams A, Walz K, Young JI. Transgenic complementation of MeCP2 deficiency: phenotypic rescue of Mecp2-null mice by isoform-specific transgenes. Eur J Hum Genet EJHG. 2012;20:69–76.

# Hormonal Regulation of Cerebellar Development and Its Disorders

# Noriyuki Koibuchi

**Abstract** Cerebellar development and plasticity involves in various epigenetic processes that activate specific genes at different time points. Such epigenetic influences include hormonal signals from endocrine cells. Various hormone receptors are expressed in the cerebellum, and cerebellar function is greatly influenced by hormonal status. The aim of this chapter is to introduce several key features of hormones and their receptors involved in the regulation of cerebellar development and plasticity. Furthermore, cerebellar developmental disorders caused by aberrant hormonal status are also discussed. This chapter also covers the effect of endocrinedisrupting chemicals that may alter hormone functions in the cerebellum.

**Keywords** Steroid hormone • Thyroid hormone • Nuclear receptor • Critical period • Endocrine-disrupting chemicals

# Hormone and Cerebellar Development: A General Overview

To understand the functional organization of the central nervous system (CNS), including the cerebellum, it is important to consider the process by which neurons differentiate to establish their role and interact with specific target cells to form functional pathways. The development of the brain involves epigenetic processes that activate specific genes during different time frames. As shown in Fig. 1, epigenetic influences that regulate brain development may originate from the neuronal cell itself or from outside of the CNS. The former includes spatial and temporal pattern of intrinsic gene expression tightly regulated by their molecular programs. The latter includes sensory inputs, mediated by the peripheral nervous system and hormonal influence from endocrine cells. These are also crucial stimuli for brain development. Environmental influences, such as stressors, endocrine-disrupting chemicals (EDCs), and undernutrition may affect such processes.

N. Koibuchi (🖂)

Department of Integrative Physiology, Gunma University Graduate School of Medicine, 3-39-22 Showa-machi, Maebashi, Gunma 371-8511, Japan e-mail: nkoibuch@med.gunma-u.ac.jp

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_11



Fig. 1 Schematic diagram showing genetic and epigenetic influences and its modulation by environmental factors involved in cerebellar development and plasticity

The cerebellar cortex forms well-organized structures involving a highly specific and uniform arrangement of cells and microcircuitry [1]. The cerebellum is one of the few sites in the CNS where the pattern of intrinsic connections is known in considerable detail. These features make the cerebellum an ideal system to study the mechanisms of neural development and plasticity. Based on such advantages, many excellent works have been done at various levels ranging from basic science to clinical disorders. In contrast, although a number of hormone receptors are expressed in the cerebellum, and cerebellar function is greatly influenced by hormonal status, a relatively smaller number of studies have evaluated the role of hormonal signaling on development and plasticity of the cerebellum.

Among circulating hormones, a group of small lipophilic hormones such as steroids (corticosteroids, progesterone, androgens, and estrogens) and thyroid hormone (TH) may particularly play an important role in mediating environmental influences. Because of their chemical nature, these are able to cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB) more easily than peptide hormones, although the existence of specific transporters has been proposed [2]. Receptors for such lipophilic hormones are mainly located in the cell nucleus (nuclear receptor, NR) and represent the largest family of ligand-regulated transcription factors [3]. As shown in Fig. 2, the molecular structure of the NR superfamily is homologous. It consists of a highly variable N-terminal domain, which contains a transactivation domain (activation function-1, AF-1), DNA-binding domain (DBD), and ligand-binding domain (LBD). The DBD is the most homologous among these domains. The LBD, which also shares certain homology among NRs, is also responsible for dimerization of NRs and ligand-dependent transactivation (activation function-2, AF-2). To activate or repress the



Fig. 2 Protein sequence homology among representative nuclear hormone receptors.  $ER\alpha$  estrogen receptor alpha,  $GR\alpha$  glucocorticoid receptor alpha, *RAR* retinoic acid receptor, *TR* $\alpha$  thyroid hormone receptor alpha. Numbers indicate amino acid number



Fig. 3 Interactions of nuclear receptor (NR), transcriptional coregulators, and basal transcriptional machinery such as basal transcription factors (TFs). NRs bind to hormone response element (HRE) located in the promoter region of target genes

transcription of target gene, NRs bind to a specific nucleotide sequence called the hormone response element (HRE) located in the promoter region of target genes (Fig.3). Then NRs recruit a variety of coregulators in a ligand-dependent manner, such as coactivator and corepressor complexes, which then modulate chromatin

structures [4]. With a specific pattern of expression, the NRs are widely distributed in the CNS, as well as in other organs [5]. In the cerebellum, NRs are expressed in a specific temporal and spatial pattern [6]. However, the role of these NRs on cerebellar development and function is not fully understood.

Among the lipophilic hormones, involvement of TH (triiodothyronine  $[T_3]$  and thyroxine  $[T_4]$ ) on cerebellar development has been well studied. Deficiency of TH during the postnatal development results in abnormal cerebellar morphogenesis in rodents [7-9] and humans [10]. Conversely, although the importance of gonadal steroids such as estrogen, progesterone, and testosterone on the development and functional maintenance of the CNS has been well documented, the cerebellum is considered to be relatively insensitive to gonadal steroids. However, recent studies have clarified that gonadal steroids play an important role in cerebellar development and may be involved in various health and disease states [11]. In addition to the supply from circulation, these gonadal steroids are produced locally within the Purkinje cells [12]. Corticosteroids, particularly glucocorticoid, are crucial for the maturation of various organ systems, including the brain [13]. Furthermore, since recent studies have shown the critical role of the cerebellum on social, cognitive, and emotional behaviors [14]; other studies on the role of glucocorticoids on cerebellar development are currently underway. Additionally, it should be noted that these thyroid/steroid hormone-mediated pathways can be disrupted by prescription drugs and environmental chemicals [15].

This chapter will provide useful information regarding the hormonal regulation of cerebellar development and plasticity. Furthermore, cerebellar developmental disorders caused by aberrant hormonal status are also discussed.

## **Cerebellar Disorders Induced by Aberrant TH Systems**

The importance of  $T_3$  and  $T_4$  in brain development has been well documented [7–9]. Deficiency of THs during fetal and early postnatal period results in severe mental retardation. In humans, this is known as cretinism [10]. In the 1980s when newborn screening was introduced in many countries, the initial prevalence of cretinism was 1/3,000–1/4,000 births worldwide; however, recent studies have shown that the prevalence has increased to 1/1,400–1/2,800. This increase may be attributed to the change in diagnostic strategy from serum  $T_4$  measurement to thyrotropin (TSH) measurement, allowing the identification of milder cases. If the diagnosis of cretinism is delayed, the risk of mental retardation and neurologic sequelae, such as poor motor coordination, ataxia, spastic diplegia, muscular hypotonia, strabismus, learning disability, and diminished attention span, is likely to increase.

 $T_4$  enters the brain through the BBB more easily than  $T_3$ , an active form of TH [16]. After crossing the BBB,  $T_4$  is taken up by astrocytes and deiodinated to produce  $T_3$  by type 2 iodothyronine deiodinase [17].  $T_3$  is then transferred to neurons or oligodendrocytes, possibly via monocarboxylate transporter 8 (MCT8) [18]. The effects of THs are mainly exerted through the nuclear TH receptor (TR). At least three TR isoforms are expressed in the CNS (TR $\alpha$ 1, TR $\beta$ 1, and TR $\beta$ 2) [19].



**Fig. 4** Effect of congenital hypothyroidism in rat model. Rdw congenital hypothyroid rat, which harbors mutated thyroglobulin gene, shows delayed cerebellar development  $(\mathbf{b}, \mathbf{d}, \mathbf{f})$  compared to control animal  $(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{c}, \mathbf{e})$ . Note the decrease in dendrite arborization of Purkinje cell (**d**) and delayed disappearance of the external granule cell layer (EGL) (**f**)

Perinatal hypothyroidism dramatically affects cerebellar morphogenesis and function. In an animal model of perinatal hypothyroidism, the growth, dendritic arborization, and dendritic spines of Purkinje cells are all markedly decreased. Synaptogenesis between Purkinje cells and parallel fibers is dramatically repressed. The disappearance of the external granule cell layer is postponed as a result of the delayed proliferation and migration of the granule cells into the internal granule cell layer (Fig. 4) [7–9]. TRs are expressed in most subsets of cells in the developing cerebellum in both rodents and humans [20, 21]. TR $\alpha$ 1 is abundant in granule cells, whereas TR $\beta$ 1 is mainly expressed in Purkinje cells. In perinatal hypothyroidism,

the expression of many cerebellar genes is altered [8]. Representative TH-responsive genes in the cerebellum include neurotrophins such as nerve growth factor, BDNF, NT3, and NT4/5, and receptors such as the inositol triphosphate 3 receptors, and retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptor  $\alpha$ , hairless, and myelin basic protein genes. The THs regulate the expression of many of these genes only during a limited period of development. Various animal models harboring TR mutation have been used to study the role of TR in cerebellar development [22]. Interestingly, TR $\alpha$ knockout mice, TR $\beta$  knockout mice, and TR $\alpha$ /TR $\beta$  double knockout mice do not display obvious cerebellar defects, suggesting that most of the consequences of congenital hypothyroidism in the brain are caused by the detrimental activity of unliganded TR. In fact, in animal models expressing dominant-negative TR, which cannot bind to TH, cerebellar phenotypes, such as disrupted motor coordination, are evident [23–26], suggesting that unliganded TR may cause aberrant phenotypes. In human cases of resistance to TH (RTH) caused by mutation of TR genes, the clinical phenotype is highly variable [27, 28]. This probably depends on the severity of the mutation. However, abnormal motor coordination, which is always evident in animal models, is not common in human cases. Their representative neurological symptoms are emotional disturbances and hyperkinetic behavior [27]. Although the involvement of the cerebellum on such behavioral alterations is also known as cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome [29], further study is required to clarify such phenotypic differences among species.

In addition to cretinism and RTH, recent studies have shown another congenital disease induced by aberrant TH system. Another human disorder related to the TH system is Allan-Herndon-Dudley syndrome, which is an X chromosome-linked disease. The symptoms are hypotonia, dysarthria, athetoid, or other distal limb movements, muscle hypoplasia, and severe mental retardation [30]. Linkage studies have identified the gene locus in Xq 13.2. This region encodes for MCT8 that transports  $T_3$  into the neurons [31]. Animal studies have shown the disruption of cerebellar development by knocking down MCT8 in the Purkinje cells [32]. Although MCT8 is responsible for the TH transport into neurons, the phenotype of Allan-Herndon-Dudley syndrome is much more severe than that in a patient with cretinism or RTH. Thus, further study is necessary to clarify whether this syndrome is induced only by disrupted TH transport or by other additional factors.

#### **Cerebellar Disorders and Gonadal Steroids**

Although the importance of gonadal steroids, such as estrogen, progesterone, and testosterone in the development and functional maintenance of the brain, has been well documented, the cerebellum has been previously considered relatively insensitive to gonadal steroids. However, recent studies have clarified that gonadal steroids play an important role in cerebellar development and may be involved in various health and disease states [11]. Aside from the supply from circulation, these gonadal steroids are also produced locally within the Purkinje cells [12].

Testosterone and estradiol (E2) are the two major gonadal steroids synthesized in the testes and the ovaries, respectively. During brain development, gonadal steroids regulate the formation of structures of many brain regions. In late embryonic period, the testes in males start producing testosterone. Because of their lipophilic nature, steroids can pass across the BBB by simple diffusion [33]. Testosterone is then converted to E2 by an aromatase. In contrast, ovaries in females differentiate much later during development and do not secrete E2 during this period. Thus, during the perinatal critical period, there are significantly higher levels of E2 in males compared to females. These are thought to act on male brain development [34]. E2 regulates apoptosis to produce sexually dimorphic cell numbers, dendritic spine formation, neuronal migration, and synaptic organization in the hypothalamic regions, most of which are key regions for regulating male- and female-sexual functions in the adult brain. Because of the lack of estrogen exposure during the perinatal period, the female brain is thought to develop without involvement of E2. However, studies of aromatase gene using knockout mice have suggested that E2 produced by the ovaries during a prepubertal period plays a role in the differentiation of the female-typical brain [35].

In addition to estrogen, androgens, particularly testosterone, directly acting on the androgen receptor (AR), are also thought to play a role in brain masculinization. This is based on studies of human patients with complete androgen insensitivity syndrome and on patients with mutations in the aromatase gene, as well as on studies of rodents with the testicular feminization mutation, which produces a nonfunctional AR [36].

Gonadal steroids also play an important role in the development of the cerebellum. Two nuclear estrogen receptors (ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ ) were detected in an immature cerebellar granule cell line derived from late embryonic mouse cerebellum [37]. Quantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) studies have shown that both receptors are expressed in the cerebellum from birth to adulthood but levels of ER $\beta$  mRNA are significantly higher than those of ER $\alpha$  in neonatal rats [38]. Nevertheless, ER $\alpha$  levels are higher than those in adults during the neonatal period [38]. ER $\alpha$  is predominantly expressed in the Purkinje cells [39]. In contrast, the level of ER<sup>β</sup> protein decreased transiently at P5 and P7 in rodents and then increased dramatically at P10 followed by a subsequent decrease to adult levels [40]. ERβ immunoreactivity was detected in various neurons, including Golgi, Purkinje, and basket cells, and the expression in each cell type occurs on different postnatal days. Additionally, differentiating external granular layer cells and glial cells also show ERß immunoreactivity. Differential expression profiles of ERa and ERβ suggest that E2 exerts its actions in a cell type-specific manner via binding to the two ERs, which play distinctive roles in cerebellar development. Additionally, there may be a possibility that estrogen acts rapidly through a membrane-associated receptor in the developing cerebellum [41].

As discussed above, during the late embryonic period, E2 converted from testosterone may be major gonadal steroid that may have some effect in the developing cerebellum. Previous studies showing the expression of aromatase in mid gestation in monkey [42] and early postnatal age in rat [43] support this hypothesis. Then at



Fig. 5 Possible differential roles in gonadal steroids and neurosteroids during cerebellar development

the later stage, the estrogen level in the cerebellum increases relative to that in the plasma [44] with the expression of enzymes responsible for estrogen [43] and progesterone [45] synthesis, indicating that gonadal steroids are locally produced as "neurosteroids." The most evident action of gonadal steroid is that estrogen and progesterone promote dendritogenesis and increases dendritic spine density [44, 46]. Taken together, gonadal steroids produced in the testes or ovaries may play an important role during the early cerebellar development. Then, de novo synthesized neurosteroids may play a major role at a later stage of development. Additionally, possible sex chromosome effects have been proposed [47]. The diagram showing the influence of gonadal steroids on cerebellar development is shown in Fig. 5.

Whether there are any sex differences in cerebellar architecture remains controversial. Some magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies have reported that the cerebellar size in men, both adults [48] and children [49], is larger than that in women, and other MRI studies failed to detect such differences [50]. Biochemically, the levels of aromatase and several enzymes related to estrogen synthesis are higher in postnatal male rats than in females [43], whereas calbindin levels are higher in female mice [47]. While these are only few examples related to sexual differences in the cerebellum, sexual dimorphism is not evident in gene expression patterns in the cerebellum.

In spite of the fact that no clear sex differences in cerebellar morphology and gene expression were observed, there is a clear sex difference in cerebellar pathology in several developmental diseases in humans and related animal models. For example, the prevalence of autism is four times higher in men [51], and autistic patients commonly show increased cerebellar volumes during childhood and hypoplasia in adult [52, 53]. In postmortem tissue in autistic patients, Purkinje and granule cells were reported to be lower in number [54, 55]. Another clinical example is attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), which affects two to four times more males than females [56]. Untreated children show the decreased volume of the posterior inferior vermis [57]. In our animal model, when polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), an environmental chemical pollutant and developmental neurotoxicant, is administered postnatally to dams, pups present ADHD phenotype [58]. Hyperactivity was more evident in males. Additionally, motor coordination was more severely disturbed in male rats (Fig. 6) [58]. More recently, the change in the volume of several cerebellar regions in transgender individuals has been reported, although the mechanisms underlying such cerebellar structural difference are unknown [59, 60]. To clarify the molecular mechanisms of sexual differences in cerebellar pathology, further study is necessary.



**Fig. 6** Sexual difference in the effect of perinatal exposure to hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyl (OH-PCB106). PCB was orally administered to the dam every other day from postpartum day 3-13 [58]. (**a**, **b**) Effects of PCB on locomotor activity in the open field in male (**a**) and female (**b**) rat. (**c**,**d**) Effect of PCB on motor coordination on rotarod in male (**c**) and female (**d**) rat. Note that behavioral alteration was more evident in male. *P* < 0.05 vs control (no PCB)

# **Cerebellar Disorders Induced by Corticosteroids**

Glucocorticoids and mineralocorticoids are major adrenal steroid hormones (corticosteroids) synthesized in the adrenal cortex. Mineralocorticoids regulate sodium and potassium levels, whereas glucocorticoids are involved in the stress response and carbohydrate metabolism. Glucocorticoid levels are controlled through the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, whereas mineralocorticoid levels are regulated by the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system. The effect of corticosteroids in the brain is mainly exerted through binding to intracellular receptors, the glucocorticoid receptor (GR), and mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) [61]. Although GR binds preferentially to glucocorticoids, MR can bind to both glucocorticoids and mineralocorticoids with similar affinity. The specificity of MR is determined by the colocalized expression of 11  $\beta$ -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 2 (11 $\beta$ -HSD2), which inactivates cortisol [61]. Additionally, rapid effects that respond within minutes are regulated by non-genomic action [62].

In most mammalian species, the glucocorticoid concentration increases dramatically during the perinatal period, and such increases are associated with the maturation of several organs including the lungs and brain [63]. In the developing CNS, corticosteroids regulate neurogenesis, neuronal morphology, and function in response to chronic stress. During fetal rat brain development, GRs are expressed widely, including cerebellum, with high levels of 11B-HSD2 and much lesser levels of MR [64], indicating that the developing cerebellum is protected from excess glucocorticoids. In the early postnatal rat cerebellum, however, the MR expression in Purkinje cell become evident, followed by the GR expression within this cell type and MR expression in migrating granule cells, the internal granule layer, and the deep cerebellar nuclei [65]. Conversely, 11β-HSD was specifically expressed in the external granule cell layer [66], indicating that MR as well as GR may mediate postnatal glucocorticoid action in the cerebellum. Prenatal glucocorticoids influence the development of Purkinje neurons [67]. Furthermore, the glucocorticoid-binding capacity of the neonatal rat cerebellum (P8-P15) is highest among brain regions, such as the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, and olfactory bulb [68]. These results indicate that glucocorticoids play an important role in the developing cerebellum to induce multiple changes in response to various environmental stimulations.

As discussed above, studies of rodents have shown that the cerebellum has higher glucocorticoid binding capacity on P8-P15 [68], which is equivalent to the human perinatal period. Such a high sensitivity to glucocorticoid stimulation may make the cerebellum susceptible to development alterations if glucocorticoid homeostasis is disrupted by perinatal stress or glucocorticoid administration. In rats, cortisone treatment during the prenatal [69] and postnatal [70] development resulted in a decreased number of cerebellar granule cells. Such a decrease may be caused by an increased sensitivity to oxidative stress by perinatal glucocorticoid treatment, inducing cell death [71]. In humans, premature newborns suffering from respiratory distress caused by lung immaturity or mothers at a risk of premature delivery before 34 weeks of gestation are sometimes administered glucocorticoid therapy. Newborns who received such treatment sometimes show neuromotor/cognitive disorders [72], including abnormal cerebellar development [73]. Thus, careful use of glucocorticoid therapy (i.e., dose and timing) is required for fetuses and newborns.

Stressful experiences in the prenatal or early postnatal period may increase the risk of neurological and psychiatric disorders, such as ADHD, autism, schizophrenia, and depression [74]. The cerebellum is one of the major brain regions to be directly affected by stressful experience, and the involvement of glucocorticoid system has been proposed as the culprit for such abnormalities [75]. Maternal deprivation (MD) during the early postnatal period in rats causes retardation in the development of cerebellar-dependent motor coordination and behavioral abnormalities similar to those in schizophrenia [76]. In MD rat, a transient increase has been reported in several neurotrophic factors, such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor, TrkB, and oligodendrocyte-myelin glycoprotein [77]. These results support the possibility that abnormally increased levels of glucocorticoids caused by neonatal stress during to psychosomatic abnormalities in adulthood. However, in spite of high glucocorti-

coid binding capacity in the developing cerebellum, the role of glucocorticoid during cerebellar development has not yet been fully clarified. Further investigations, including studies with human subjects, are necessary.

# **Environmental Chemicals That May Disrupt Cerebellar Development Through Disruption of Hormone Actions**

As discussed above, various hormones are involved in cerebellar development and disruption of such hormonal environment may affect such development. A large number of synthetic or natural chemicals may disrupt hormonal environment. These are referred to as EDCs. The exact definition of an EDC by the World Health Organization (WHO) is as follows: "An endocrine disrupting chemical is an exogenous substance or mixture that alters function(s) of the endocrine system and consequently causes adverse health effects in an intact organism, or its progeny or (sub) populations" [78]. As many hormones have distinct effects, specifically in critical periods during development, fetal or early neonatal exposure to such chemicals may induce adverse effect in various organs, including the CNS [79]. Recent advances in EDC research have provided many important data regarding the neurotoxicity of such EDCs [80]. Table 1 shows representative EDCs that are categorized as pharmaceuticals, herbicides, fungicides, insecticides, industrial chemicals and byproducts, and organic and inorganic metals [79, 80]. Importantly, although there are approximately 1,000 EDCs, more than 100,000 chemicals exist in the environment. The

Classification	Chemicals
Pharmaceuticals	Hormones or antihormones, amiodarone, DES, fenamate, phenobarbital, phenytoin
Herbicides	2,4,-D, 2,4,5,-T, alachlor, amitrole, atrazine, linuron, metribuzin, nitrofen, trifluralin
Fungicides	Benomyl, ethylene thiourea, fenarimol, hexachlorobenzene, mancozeb, maneb, metiram – complex, tri-butyl-tin, vinclozolin, zineb
Insecticides	Aldicarb, beta-HCH, carbaryl, chlordane, chlordecone, DBCP, DDT, dicofol, dieldrin, DDT and metabolites, endosulfan, heptachlor/H-epoxide, lindane (gamma-HCH), malathion, methomyl, methoxychlor, oxychlordane, parathion, synthetic pyrethroids, transnonachlor, toxaphene
Industrial chemicals and by-products	Bisphenol – A, polycarbonates, butylhydroxyanisole (BHA), chloro- and bromo-diphenyl, dioxins, furans, nonylphenol, octylphenol, PBDEs, PCBs, pentachlorophenol, penta- to nonylphenols, perchlorate, PFOA, PFOS, p-tert-pentylphenol, phthalates, styrene
Metals	Cadmium, gadolinium, lead, manganese, methyl-mercury, organic- tins (e.g., TBT)

Table 1 Environmental chemicals showing hormonal or antihormonal activities



**Fig. 7** Representative effect of EDCs (PBDE) on TH-mediated transcription and cerebellar development. (a) Chemical structure of BDE209. (b) BDE209 suppressed TR $\beta$ -mediated transcription, studied by reporter gene assay. \*, p > 0.05 vs BDE (–) group. (c). Effect PBDE (BDE209) on TH-induced Purkinje cell development in primary culture [82]

main reason why such chemicals are not currently defined as EDCs may be that research on EDCs cannot keep up with the increase in newly generated chemicals. Further studies are indeed necessary to identify EDC activity that may cause adverse effect and for the creation of new EDC screening method.

It should be noted that, because concentrations in hormones in plasma are low  $(nM\sim pM \text{ level})$ , exposure to EDCs, even at low doses, may disrupt hormone action. Furthermore, we do not have the systems to effectively catalyze and excrete most EDCs, because humans are being exposed to EDCs quite recently during the evolutionary process. Thus, EDCs may concentrate in our food chain and accumulate in our body.

So far, 12 chemicals have been identified as being developmental neurotoxic to humans [81]. These are metals and inorganic compounds (arsenic, arsenic compounds, lead, methylmercury, fluoride, and manganese), organic solvents (toluene, tetrachloroethylene), pesticides (chlorpyrifos and DDT/DDE), and industrial chemicals (PCBs and brominated diphenyl ethers [PBDEs]). In cellular or animal study levels, more chemicals may have potential neurotoxic effects [81]. Such chemicals may, at least in part, mediate their action though the endocrine system. In fact, in our previous studies, we have shown that PCBs and PBDEs may disrupt cerebellar development through TH system alterations [15, 82]. Both PCBs and PBDEs inhibit TR-mediated transcription and disrupt TH-induced Purkinje cell development (Fig. 7). Our current study has shown the possibility that several EDCs may affect cerebellar development [15]. Thus, continuous attention should be paid to detect the effect of EDC on cerebellar development. These agents may disrupt cerebellar development even at a low-dose exposure.

# Conclusion

Although many hormone receptors are expressed in developing cerebellum, only a limited amount of data is available in this regard. This may a result of the challenges related to research of hormone actions that are mainly mediated by nuclear receptors. Unlike membrane-associated receptors, these act as transcriptional factors to activate or repress the transcription of target genes. Thus, the response is rather slow and various signal transduction cascade may be involved to express their action as a specific phenotype. However, hormonal signaling plays an important role to mediate environmental influences on the developing brain. Thus, hormonal disruptions may cause cerebellar disorders leading to various psychosomatic diseases. It is my hope that this chapter will help increase the understanding of the role of hormones in the developing cerebellum.

# References

- Leto K, Arancillo M, Becker EB, Buffo A, Chiang C, Ding B, Dobyns WB, Dusart I, Haldipur P, Hatten ME, Hoshino M, Joyner AL, Kano M, Kilpatrick DL, Koibuchi N, Marino S, Martinez S, Millen KJ, Millner TO, Miyata T, Parmigiani E, Schilling K, Sekerková G, Sillitoe RV, Sotelo C, Uesaka N, Wefers A, Wingate RJ, Hawkes R. Consensus paper: cerebellar development. Cerebellum. 2016;15:789–828.
- 2. Suzuki T, Abe T. Thyroid hormone transporters in the brain. Cerebellum. 2008;7:75-83.
- Mangelsdorf DJ, Thummel C, Beato M, Herrlich P, Schutz G, Umesono K, Blumberg B, Kastner P, Mark M, Chambon P, Evans RM. The nuclear receptor superfamily: the second decade. Cell. 1995;83:835–9.
- Tetel MJ, Auger AP, Charlier TD. Who's in charge? Nuclear receptor coactivator and corepressor function in brain and behavior. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2009;30:328–42.
- Bookout AL, Jeong Y, Downes M, Yu RT, Evans RM, Mangelsdorf DJ. Anatomical profiling of nuclear receptor expression reveals a hierarchical transcriptional network. Cell. 2006;126:789–99.
- Qin J, Suh JM, Kim BJ, Yu CT, Tanaka T, Kodama T, Tsai MJ, Tsai SY. The expression pattern of nuclear receptors during cerebellar development. Dev Dyn. 2007;236:810–20.
- Koibuchi N, Chin WW. Thyroid hormone action and brain development. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2000;11:123–8.
- Koibuchi N, Jingu H, Iwasaki T, Chin WW. Current perspectives on the role of thyroid hormone in growth and development of cerebellum. Cerebellum. 2003;2:279–89.
- 9. Koibuchi N. The role of thyroid hormone on functional organization in the cerebellum. Cerebellum. 2013;12:304–6.
- Wassner AJ, Brown RS. Hypothyroidism in the newborn pariod. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diates Obes. 2013;20:449–54.
- 11. Hedges VL, Ebner TJ, Meisel RL, Mermelstein PG. The cerebellum as a target for estrogen action. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2012;33:403–11.
- Tsutsui K. Neurosteroid biosynthesis and action during cerebellar development. Cerebellum. 2012;11:414–5.
- Constantinof A, Moisiadis VG, Matthews SG. Programming of stress pathways: a transgenerational perspective. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2016;160:175–80.
- 14. Schutter DJLG. The cerebello-hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis dysregulation hypothesis in depressive disorder. Med Hypotheses. 2012;79:779–83.
- Ibhazehiebo K, Koibuchi N. Impact of endocrine disrupting chemicals on thyroid function and brain development. Expert Rev Endocr Metab. 2014;9:579–91.
- Calvo R, Obregon MJ, de Ruiz OC, del Escobar RF, de Morreale Escobar G. Congenital hypothyroidism, as studied in rats. J Clin Invest. 1990;86:889–99.
- Guadano-Ferraz A, Obregon MJ, St Germain DL, Bernal J. The type 2 iodothyronine deiodinase is expressed primarily in glial cells in the neonatal rat brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94:10391–6.
- Heuer H, Maier MK, Iden S, Mittag J, Friesema ECH, Visser TJ, et al. The monocarboxylate transporter8 linked to human psychomotor retardation is highly expressed in thyroid hormonesensitive neuron populations. Endocrinology. 2005;146:1701–6.
- 19. Lazar MA. Thyroid hormone receptors: multiple forms, multiple possibilities. Endocr Rev. 1993;14:184–93.
- Bradley DJ, Towle HC, Young WS III. Spatial and temporal expression of alpha- and betathyroid hormone receptor mRNAs, including the beta 2-subtype, in the developing mammalian nervous system. J Neurosci. 1992;12:2288–302.
- Kilby MD, Gittoes N, McCabe C, Verhaeg J, Franklyn JA. Expression of thyroid receptor isoforms in the human fetal central nervous system and the effects of intrauterine growth restriction. Clin Endocrinol. 2000;53:469–77.

- 22. Koibuchi N. Animal models to study thyroid hormone action in cerebellum. 2009;8:89–97.
- Portella AC, Carvalho F, Faustino L, Wondisford FE, OrtigaCarvalho TM, Gomes FC. Thyroid hormone receptor β mutation causes severe impairment of cerebellar development. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2010;44:68–77.
- 24. Venero C, Guadaño-Ferraz A, Herrero AI, Nordström K, Manzano J, de Escobar GM, Bernal J, Vennström B. Anxiety, memory impairment, and locomotor dysfunction caused by a mutant thyroid hormone receptor α1 can be ameliorated by T3 treatment. Genes Dev. 2005;19:2152–63.
- 25. Fauquier T, Chatonnet F, Picou F, Richard S, Fossat N, Aguilera N, Lamonerie T, Flamant F. Purkinje cells and Bergmann glia are primary targets of the TRα1 thyroid hormone receptor during mouse cerebellum postnatal development. Development. 2014;141:166–75.
- 26. Yu L, Iwasaki T, Xu M, Lesmana R, Xiong Y, Shimokawa N, Chin WW, Koibuchi N. Aberrant cerebellar development of transgenic mice expressing dominant-negative thyroid hormone receptor in cerebellar Purkinje cells. Endocrinology. 2015;156:1565–76.
- Beck-Peccoz P, Chatterjee VKK. The variable clinica phenotype in thyroid hormone resistance syndrome. Thyroid. 1994;4:225–32.
- Ortiga-Carvalho TM, Sidhaye AR, Wondisford FE. Thyroid hormone receptors and resistance to thyroid hormone disorders. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2014;10:582–91.
- Schmahmann JD. The role of the cerebellum in cognition and emotion: personal reflections since 1982 on the Dysmetria of thought hypothesis, and its historical evolution from theory to therapy. Neuropsychol Rev. 2010;20:236–60.
- 30. Schwartz CE, May MM, Carpenter NJ, Rogers RC, Martin J, Bialer MG, Ward J, Sanabria J, Marsa S, Lewis JA, Echeverri R, Lubs HA, Voeller K, Simensen RJ, Stevenson RE. Allan-Herndon-Dudley syndrome and the monocarboxylate transporter 8 (MCT8) gene. Am J Hum Genet. 2005;77:41–53.
- Wirth EK, Schweizer U, Köhrle J. Transport of thyroid hormone in brain. Front Endocrinol. 2014;5:98.
- 32. Delbaere J, Vancamp P, Van Herck SL, Bourgeois NM, Green MJ, Wingate RJ, Darras VM. MCT8 deficiency in Purkinje cells disrupts embryonic chicken cerebellar development. J Endocrinol. 2017;232:259–72.
- Hampl R, Bičíková M, Sosvorová L. Hormones and the blood-brain barrier. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig. 2015;21:159–64.
- Wright CL, Schwarz JS, Dean SL, McCarthy MM. Cellular mechanisms of estradiol-mediated sexual differentiation of the brain. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2010;21:553–61.
- 35. Bakker J, Brock O. Early oestrogens in shaping reproductive networks: evidence for a potential organisational role of oestradiol in female brain development. J Neuroendocrinol. 2010;22:728–35.
- 36. Zuloaga DG, Puts DA, Jordan CL, Breedlove SM. The role of androgen receptors in the masculinization of brain and behavior: what we've learned from the testicular feminization mutation. Horm Behav. 2008;53:613–26.
- Gottfried-Blackmore A, Croft G, McEwen BS, Bulloch K. Transcriptional activity of estrogen receptors ERα and ERβ in the EtC.1 cerebellar granule cell line. Brain Res. 2007;1186:41–7.
- Ikeda Y, Nagai A. Differential expression of the estrogen receptors alpha and beta during postnatal development of the rat cerebellum. Brain Res. 2006;1083:39–49.
- 39. Pérez SE, Chen EY, Mufson EJ. Distribution of estrogen receptor alpha and beta immunoreactive profiles in the postnatal rat brain. Brain Res Dev Brain Res. 2003;145:117–39.
- 40. Jakab RL, Wong JK, Belcher SM. Estrogen receptor-β immunoreactivity in differentiating cells of the developing rat cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 2001;430:396–409.
- 41. Belcher SM. Rapid signaling mechanisms of estrogens in the developing cerebellum. Brain Res Rev. 2008;57:481–92.
- 42. Sholl SA, Kim KL. Aromatase, 5-alpha-reductase, and androgen receptor levels in the fetal monkey brain during early development. Neuroendocrinology. 1990;52:94–8.

- 43. Lavaque E, Mayen A, Azoitia I, Tene-Sempere M, Garcia-Segura LM. Sex differences, developmental changes, response to injury and cAMP regulation of the mRNA levels of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein, chtochrome p450scc, and aromatase in the olivocerebellar system. J Neurobiol. 2006;66:308–18.
- 44. Sakamoto H, Mezaki Y, Shikimi H, Ukena K, Tsutusi K. Dendritic growth and spine formation in response to estrogen in the developing Purkinje cell. Endocrinology. 2003;144:4466–77.
- Ukena K, Kohchi C, Tsutsui K. Expression and activity of 3beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/delta5-delta4-isomerase in the rat Pukinje neuron during neonatal life. Endocrinology. 1999;140:805–13.
- 46. Sakamoto H, Ukena K, Tsutsui K. Effects of progesterone synthesized de novo in the developing Purkinje cell on its dendritic growth and synaptogenesis. J Neurosci. 2001;21:6221–32.
- Abel JM, Witt DM, Rissman EF. Sex differences in the cerebellum and frontal cortex: roles of estrogen receptor alpha and sex chromosome genes. Neuroendocrinology. 2011;93:230–40.
- Raz N, Gunning-Dixon F, Head D, Williamson A, Acker JD. Age and sex difference in the cerebellum and the ventral pons: a prospective MR study of healthy adults. Am J Neuroradiol. 2001;22:1161–7.
- 49. Giedd JN, Snell JW, Lange N, Rajapakse JC, Casey BJ, Kozuch PL, Vaituzis AC, Vauss YC, Hamburger SD, Kaysen D, Rapoport JL. Quantitative magnetic resonance imaging of human brain development: ages 4–18. Cereb Cortex. 1996;6:551–60.
- Nopoulos P, Flaum M, O'Leary D, Andreason NC. Sexual dimorphism in the human brain: evaluation of tissue volume, tissue composition and surface anatomy using magnetic resonance imaging. Psychiatry Res. 2000;98:1–13.
- 51. Werling DM. The role of sex-differential biology in risk for autism spectrum disorder. Biol Sex Differ. 2016;7:58.
- 52. Sparks BF, Friedman SD, Shaw DW, Aylward EH, Echelard D, Artru AA, Maravilla KR, Giedd JN, Munson J, Dawson G, Dager SR. Brain structural abnormalities in young children with autism spectrum disorder. Neurology. 2002;59:184–92.
- 53. Murakami JW, Courchesne E, Press GA, Yeung-Courchesne R, Hesselink JR. Reduced cerebellar hemisphere size and its relationship to vermal hypoplasia in autism. Arch Neurol. 1989;46:689–94.
- 54. Courchesne E. Neuroanatomic imaging in autism. Pediatrics. 1991;87:781-90.
- 55. Heh CW, Smith R, Wu J, Hazlett E, Russell A, Asarnow R, Tanguay P, Buchsbaum MS. Positron emission tomography of the cerebellum in autism. Am J Psychiatry. 1989;146:242–5.
- Davies W. Sex differences in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: candidate genetic and endocrine mechanisms. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2014;35:331–46.
- Bledsoe J, Semrud-Clikeman M, Pliszka SR. A magnetic resonance imaging study of the cerebellar vermis in chronically treated and treatmentnaive children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder combined type. Biol Psychiatry. 2009;65:620–4.
- 58. Lesmana R, Shimokawa N, Takatsuru Y, Iwasaki T, Koibuchi N. Lactational exposure to hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls (OH-PCB 106) causes hyperactivity in male rat pups by aberrant increase in dopamine and its receptor. Environ Toxicol. 2014;29:876–83.
- Mueller SC, Wierckx K, Jackson K, T'Sjoen G. Circulating androgens correlate with restingstate MRI in transgender men. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2016;73:91–8.
- Simon L, Kozák LR, Simon V, Czobor P, Unoka Z, Szabó Á, Csukly G. Regional grey matter structure differences between transsexuals and healthy controls – a voxel based morphometry study. PLoS One. 2013;8:e83947.
- 61. Rashid S, Lewis GF. The mechanisms of differential glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid action in the brain and peripheral tissues. Clin Biochem. 2005;38:401–9.
- 62. Evanson NK, Herman JP, Sakai RR, Krause EG. Nongenomic actions of adrenal steroids in the central nervous system. J Neuroendocrinol. 2010;22:846–61.
- 63. Fowden AL, Li J, Forhead AJ. Glucocorticoids and the preparation for life after birth: are there long-term consequences of the life insurance? Proc Nutr Soc. 1998;57:113–22.

- 64. Diaz R, Brown RW, Seckl JR. Distinct ontogeny of glucocorticoid and mineralcoticoid receptor and 11b-hdroxysteriod dehydrogenase types I and II mRNAs in the fetal rat brain suggests acomplex control of glucocorticoid actions. J Neurosci. 1998;18:2570–80.
- Lawson A, Ahima RS, Krozowski Z, Harlan RE. Postnatal development of corticosteroid receptor immunoreactivity in the rat cerebellum and brain stem. Neuroendocrinology. 1992;55:695–707.
- 66. Robson AC, Leckie CM, Seckl JR, Holms MC. 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 in the postnatal and adult rat brain. Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 1998;61:1–10.
- Rugerio-Vargas C, Ramírez-Escoto M, DelaRosa-Rugerio C, Rivas-Manzano P. Prenatal corticosterone influences the trajectory of neuronal development, delaying or accelerating aspects of the Purkinje cell differentiation. Histol Histopathol. 2007;22:963–9.
- 68. Pavlik A, Buresova M. The neonatal cerebellum: the highest level of glucocorticoid receptors in the brain. Brain Res. 1984;314:13–21.
- Velazquez PN, Romano MC. Corticosterone therapy during gestation: effects on the development of rat cerebellum. Int J Dev Neurosci. 1987;5:189–94.
- Bohn MC, Lauder JM. Cerebellar granule cell genesis in the hydrocortisone-treated rats. Dev Neurosci. 1980;3:81–9.
- Ahlbom E, Gogvadze V, Chen M, Celsi G, Ceccatelli S. Prenatal exposure to high levels of glucocorticoids increases the susceptibility of cerebellar granule cells to oxidative stressinduced cell death. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97:14726–30.
- Carson R, Mnaghan-Nichols AP, DeFranco DB, Rudine AC. Effects of antenatal glucocorticoids on the developing brain. Steroids. 2016;114:25–32.
- 73. Noguchi KK. Gucocorticoid induced cerebellar toxicity in the developing neonate: implication for glucocorticoid therapy during bronchopulmonary dyspasia. Cell. 2014;3:36–52.
- Babenko O, Kovalchuk I, Metz GA. Stress-induced perinatal and transgenerational epgenetic programming of brain development and mental health. Neurosci Biobehav Res. 2015;48:70–91.
- 75. Shutter DLJG. The cerebello-hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis dysregulation hypothesis in depressive disorder. Med Hypotheses. 2012;79:779–83.
- Llorente R, Gallardo ML, Berzal AL, Prada C, Garcia-Segura LM, Viveros MP. Early maternal deprivation in rats induces gender-dependent effects on developing hippocampal and cerebellar cells. Int J Dev Neurosci. 2009;27:233–2341.
- 77. Miki T, Yokoyama T, Kusaka T, Suzuki S, Ohta K, Warita K, Wang ZY, Ueki M, Sumitani K, Bellinger FP, Tamai M, Liu JQ, Yakura T, Takeuchi Y. Early postnatal repeated maternal deprivation causes a transient increase in OMpg and BDNF in rat cerebellum suggesting precocious myelination. J Neurol Sci. 2014;336:62–7.
- IPCS. Global assessment of the sate-of-the-science of endocrine disruptors. http://www.who. int/ipcs/publicatios/new\_issues/endocrine\_disruptors/en/.
- Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Bourguignon JP, Giudice LC, Hauser R, Prins GS, Soto AM, Zoeller RT, Gore AC. Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: an Endocrine Society scientific statement. Endocr Rev. 2009;30:293–342.
- Gore AC, Chappell VA, Fenton SE, Flaws JA, Nadal A, Prins GS, Toppari J, Zoeller RT. EDC-2: the Endocrine Society's second scientific statement on endocrine-disrupting chemicals. Endocr Rev. 2015;36:E1–E150.
- Grandjean P, Landrigan PJ. Neurobehavioural effects of developmental toxicity. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13:330–8.
- Ibhazehiebo K, Iwasaki T, Kimura-Kuroda J, Miyazaki W, Shimokawa N, Koibuchi N. Disruption of thyroid hormone receptor-mediated transcription and thyroid hormoneinduced Purkinje cell dendrite arborization by polybrominated diphenyl ethers. Env Health Perspect. 2011;119:168–75.

# Infections of the Cerebellum

# Kevin M. Coombs

**Abstract** Infectious diseases still account for a significant amount of morbidity and mortality, particularly in developing countries. Although the Lancet's latest *Global Burden of Disease* report indicates life expectancy has increased dramatically during the past decade, partly because of similar dramatic declines in infectious disease-related deaths, estimates are that nearly ten million people die yearly from communicable diseases or from complications arising from prior infection (e.g., liver cirrhosis or liver cancer after hepatitis B and hepatitis C virus infection). Infectious agents include organisms from multiple taxonomic groups and are categorized as bacteria, fungi, viruses, and others. Bacteria and fungi belong to separate taxonomic kingdoms. Viruses are unique and are generally considered to fall outside normal life taxonomy; however, they are, as a group, responsible for more suffering than any other group of infectious agents. Infectious diseases affect every organ system in the body. This chapter will focus on those agents that affect the human central nervous system, with more focus on the cerebellum.

Keywords Virus • Replication • Cerebellar ataxia

# **General Virology**

# General Nature of Viruses

Viruses are among the smallest of currently known living organisms. Indeed, there is debate as to whether they should be thought of as alive. Although the idea of a "virus" (Latin for poison to reflect that most can pass through filters known to block bacteria) is only about 100 years old, diseases such as poliomyelitis and rabies

K.M. Coombs (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Department of Medical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, R3E 0J6

Manitoba Centre for Proteomics and Systems Biology, 799 John Buhler Research Centre, 715 McDermot Avenue, Winnipeg, MB R3E 3P4, Canada e-mail: kevin.coombs@umanitoba.ca

H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_12

(discussed more fully below) have been known for millennia. Although we have been aware of viral agents for a relatively short period of time, viruses are probably as old as life itself and appear to have coevolved with most other life forms.

## Virus Morphology

Most viruses are very simple in structure. Most consist of both protein and nucleic acid. Some exceptions are viroids, plant pathogens that consist solely of RNA, and prions, agents that may consist only of a misfolded host protein. Some viruses also contain lipid envelopes derived from the host cell in which the virus grew. Viruses exist in two general forms. The form inside an infected cell that is actively replicating may be considered "alive." The mature form of the virus that is passed from one susceptible host to another and that is usually referred to as "virus" is known as the *virion*, which is analogous to a seed or spore. The virion, like a seed, is a stable structure whose primary function is to protect the viral genetic material until it reaches the interior of a suitable host. All viruses are obligate intracellular parasites because they are incapable of growing by themselves.

There is enormous variability in virion size and structure. For example, the smallest currently known animal viruses are the *Parvoviridae* (e.g., human parvovirus B19 which is <20 nm in size) and the largest currently known animal viruses are the *Poxviridae* (e.g., vaccinia virus and the smallpox agent *Variola major* which are approximately 200 × 300 nm in size). Ebolaviruses, members of the *Filoviridae* family, are filamentous with lengths up to 14,000 nm and diameters of only 80 nm [29]. Several viruses, colloquially known as "giant viruses" (e.g., *Mimiviruses* and *Pandoraviruses*) can reach up to 1.5 µm in size [51].

There also is considerable variability in virion complexity. Viruses such as *Parvoviridae* consist of a small nucleic acid surrounded by 60 copies of a single protein. Other viruses, such as the *Papillomaviridae* and the *Adenoviridae*, may be more complex and larger, consisting of a larger piece of nucleic acid and more than 60 copies of multiple proteins. Other viruses, including the *Togaviridae*, *Rhabdoviridae*, *Paramyxoviridae*, *Herpesviridae*, and the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), which belongs to the family *Retroviridae*, contain a single genome segment and different numbers of various proteins encased in a lipid membrane. A few viruses, such as the *Reoviridae* and the influenza viruses, members of the *Orthomyxoviridae* family, contain different amounts of various proteins and multiple segments of nucleic acid. Finally, some viruses, such as those in the *Nanoviridae* family, have segmented genomes encased in individual capsids. In order for these viruses to successfully replicate, a cell must be infected with multiple particles that collectively provide all the genome segments [77].

With the possible exception of prions, the agents responsible for spongiform encephalopathies, all currently known viruses, contain as their genetic material either DNA or RNA. Most viruses use this genetic information for both *replication* 



**Fig. 1** Diagrammatic representations of selected virions. Viruses are divided according to whether their genomic material is DNA (*top*) or RNA (*bottom*) and whether the capsid is surrounded by an envelope (*left*) or nonenveloped (*right*). Where applicable, each group is further subdivided depending upon whether the nucleic acid is single stranded (*ss*) or double stranded (*ds*). All viruses are shown at approximately the same scale to indicate relative sizes; *bar* at *bottom* represents 100 nm (= 0.1 µm). Virus family names (ending in the suffix viridae and italicized) are indicated, with those known to be involved in cerebellar infection bolded and in larger font

and for transcription. Replication is the process by which the genetic material is copied into full-length exact genomic replicas that will be packaged into progeny virions (discussed more fully in sections "Herpesviruses" and "Myxoviruses"). Transcription is the generation of messenger RNA (mRNA), whether from DNA or RNA, for production of viral proteins. Thus, a convenient way to classify viruses that directly impacts how (and where) the virus replicates and how it causes pathology is by genomic nucleic acid type (Fig. 1). For example, most DNA viruses will replicate in the host cell's nucleus because this is where enzymes needed for DNA replication and synthesis are located. The *Poxviridae* are exceptions because they encode all their own necessary DNA enzymes. By contrast, most RNA viruses do not require DNA enzymes, so they usually replicate in the cell's cytoplasm. The *Retroviridae* are exceptions because they must replicate through a DNA intermediate so their replication involves the host cell's nucleus. In addition, some other RNA viruses, such as the influenza viruses (Orthomyxoviridae), perform some of their replication steps in the cell nucleus because they need to "steal" nascent cellular messenger RNA (mRNA) caps to prime their own transcription.

The viral nucleic acid may also be either double stranded (ds), like cellular DNA genomes, or may be single stranded (ss). If single stranded, the genome also may be of either positive (+) polarity or of negative (-) polarity. By convention, mRNA is considered to be (+) polarity. Therefore, the template DNA or RNA strand that is transcribed to produce mRNA is usually (-) polarity. The important implications of these differences and how they impact taxonomic classification and replication are described more fully below in sections "Virus Classification" and "Virus Replication."

The viral genome may also range in size. The term *genome* refers to all the nucleic acid of a virus, and the term *gene* usually refers to that part that encodes a specific protein. The smallest viruses (e.g., *Parvoviridae*) have genomes of about 5,000 nucleotides (= 5 kilobases or 5 kb) and contain two genes. The largest human viruses (e.g., *Poxviridae* and *Herpesviridae*) can have genomes of 200 kbp or larger and can encode more than 200 proteins. Most viruses have genomes with sizes that are intermediate. For most viruses, all genes are found on a contiguous single linear strand of nucleic acid. Some viruses have circular genomes rather than linear genomes, and a few viruses (e.g., *Reoviridae* and the influenza viruses) have segmented genomes.

Viruses encode proteins that are considered either *structural* or nonstructural. Structural proteins are those found within a virion particle and are usually identified in highly purified viral preparations. There are usually a characteristic, fixed number of structural proteins within any given virion. For example, poliovirus contains a single copy of a VPg protein and 60 copies each of four other proteins named VP1, VP2, VP3, and VP4. However, nonstructural proteins are encoded by the virus and present in infected cells but are not incorporated into the virion.

Some viruses, such as *Human immunodeficiency virus*-1 (HIV-1) (e.g., [37, 70]), herpesviruses [52], filoviruses [78], and influenza viruses [74], also incorporate functional host-derived proteins into the virion. These host proteins may play important roles in the virus life cycle [3, 25, 81].

Collectively, the viral protein and nucleic acid constitute a complex known as the viral *capsid*. Viral capsids are usually of one of two forms. In one form, the viral capsid protein is wrapped along the nucleic acid to create a helical arrangement, the length of which is usually determined by the length of nucleic acid. Examples of this type include tobacco mosaic virus (Fig. 1) and most currently known (–) sense animal RNA viruses, such as the *Orthomyxoviridae*, *Paramyxoviridae*, and *Rhabdoviridae*. Many (–) ssRNA virions have their helical capsids wrapped within a lipid envelope, resulting in an overall spherical virion shape. The second method to surround the nucleic acid with a protein coat is to build a three-dimensional cage, which usually takes the shape of an icosahedron, a 20-sided semispherical structure. There are rigid "rules" for building an icosahedron, and examples of this arrangement include poliovirus and JC virus (Fig. 1). Some viruses (e.g., *Retroviridae*, which have conical capsids and *Poxviridae*, which have ovoid capsids) are exceptions (Fig. 1).

As indicated earlier, some viral capsids are surrounded by a host-derived lipid membrane (envelope). Therefore, the presence or absence of such an envelope is another way to classify viruses (Fig. 1). When an envelope is present, the inner

nucleoprotein structure is called a nucleocapsid. Some viruses, such as the *Orthomyxoviridae* (e.g., influenza virus), the *Paramyxoviridae* (e.g., measles virus), and the *Rhabdoviridae* (e.g., rabies virus), contain nucleocapsids that are helical and that are surrounded by a membrane. Icosahedral nucleocapsids also may be surrounded by an envelope, as in *Flaviviridae* (e.g., *Dengue virus*), *Togaviridae* (e.g., *Chikungunya virus*), and *Herpesviridae* (e.g., herpes simplex viruses). For most enveloped viruses, the lipid membranes are acquired as the nucleocapsid buds through a cellular membrane. Many such viruses pick up this envelope as they pass through the cell's plasma membrane, whereas others pick up their membranes while passing through other internal cellular membranes.

# Virus Classification

There are currently >3,500 known virus species organized into >50 families [46]. This list will increase as new viruses are discovered. Several classification strategies have been developed to organize viruses. In addition to organizing viruses according to their overall structure (helical vs icosahedral or otherwise), genetic material (DNA vs RNA, single stranded vs double stranded) and presence or absence of an envelope, another key distinguishing feature is how the genetic material is converted into mRNA. This classification scheme was proposed by Dr. David Baltimore [6] and is therefore known as the "Baltimore scheme" (Fig. 2). Class I viruses contain a dsDNA genome and mRNA is transcribed from the (-) sense DNA strand. Examples of such viruses are the Herpesviridae and Polyomaviridae. Class II viruses have ssDNA genomes, which are usually (-) sense so their genomes can be transcribed directly into mRNA. Class III viruses (e.g., Reoviridae) have dsRNA genomes; mRNA is transcribed from the (-) sense strand. Class IV viruses have (+)ssRNA (e.g., equine encephalitis viruses in the Alphatogaviridae family and Zika *virus* in the Flaviviridae family). The viral genome serves directly as mRNA. Class IV viruses (e.g., Rhabdoviridae and Paramyxoviridae) possess (-) ssRNA that is transcribed into mRNA by a viral-encoded RNA-dependent RNA polymerase that must come into the cell as part of the infecting virus. Class VI viruses (e.g., the retrovirus HIV) contain (+) ssRNA genomes that initially needs to be converted into dsDNA by a viral-encoded reverse transcriptase. Class VII viruses (e.g., Hepadnaviridae) have a partial dsDNA genome that is replicated through an RNA intermediate by a viral-encoded reverse transcriptase.

The type of viral nucleic acid, as distinguished by Baltimore classification, also has implications for how the viral genomes are replicated. Class I viruses use their dsDNA genomes as a template to synthesize more dsDNA during genome replication. The Class VII *Hepadnaviridae* are an exception because replication involves a reverse transcriptase-generated RNA intermediate that is longer than the DNA genome. Class II viruses use dsDNA replicative intermediates to copy their genomes. For Class III viruses, the mRNA that was used for protein synthesis is then copied by viral enzymes into a (–) sense RNA that remains associated with the mRNA



Fig. 2 The Baltimore transcription scheme organizes viruses according to their genomic nucleic acid content and the strategies they use to produce mRNA. By definition, mRNA is (+) sense. Note that Class IV viruses have (+)RNA that serves directly as mRNA. Class VI retroviruses undergo reverse-transcription to convert RNA into DNA, which is then used to transcribe mRNA

template to regenerate progeny dsRNA. Class IV viruses with (+) ssRNA genomes produce a full-length (-) ssRNA intermediate that is used as template for more genomic (+) ssRNA. Class V viruses use the same strategy for genomic replication as class IV viruses, except they start with a (-) ssRNA genome and use a (+) ssRNA strand as an intermediate. For the class VI *Retroviridae*, (+) ssRNA genomes are copied by a unique mechanism. The (+) ssRNA is copied into (-) ssDNA, which then serves as a template to copy a (+)ssDNA strand. This dsDNA molecule is transcribed into mRNA, one of which (a non-spliced form) serves as progeny genome.

#### Virus Replication

The ways in which a virus can enter a cell and subvert the cell to create progeny virus copies is a complex process that is investigated using numerous approaches including traditional virology and system biology. Advances in gene sequencing and bioinformatics, combined with such approaches as mass spectrometry-based proteomics, RNA micro-arrays, and next-generation sequencing, have led to a better understanding of virus-host interactions during the process of virus replication.



**Fig. 3** Overview of a typical enveloped RNA virus replication cycle. Steps are (1) attachment and entry; (2) uncoating and release of genomic material; (3) transcription of genes (not shown in this figure because Class IV RNA virus genomes serve directly as mRNA – see Fig. 2); (4) translation of mRNA and production of viral proteins; (5) first replication step, in which (+) sense incoming genomic material is converted to (–) sense template; (6) second replication step in which (–) sense template is recopied into many (+) sense progeny genomes; (7) aggregation of progeny capsid proteins with progeny genomes; (8) transport of viral envelope proteins through Golgi apparatus to cellular membranes; (9) association of progeny nucleocapsids with envelope proteins; and (10) exit from cell by budding. Wavy lines represent viral nucleic acid, small filled ovals and triangles represent viral structural proteins that assemble into complexes, and small open squares represent nonstructural proteins that are present within the cell and assist in viral replication and assembly but are not found within mature virions

Virus replication can occur only in a live cell because, as indicated earlier, viruses are obligate intracellular parasites. Despite some differences in some details of virus replication, as suggested by the diversity within the Baltimore scheme (see above), most viruses share several common features. There is a general flow of events that occur during viral replication for most viruses (Fig. 3). (1) To start an infection, the virus must attach to and enter a host cell. This interaction is specific and involves both viral proteins and a host cell surface component. The virus' host range (described below) determines in large part whether a virus can attach to any given host cell. Some viruses, such as HIV and hepatitis B virus, interact with highly specific host cell components, whether carbohydrates, proteins, or glycolipids, whereas others, such as mosquito-vectored arboviruses like *Yellow Fever virus* and *Zika virus*, both

members of the *Flaviviridae*, can interact with more ubiquitous components found on both vertebrate and invertebrate cells. (2) Once a virus has entered the cell, it must fall apart (uncoat) to allow the incoming viral genetic information to be acted upon by host enzymes. Uncoating may occur at the plasma membrane during entry (e.g., paramyxoviruses), inside the endosome (e.g., adenoviruses and orthomyxoviruses), in the cytoplasm, or at the nuclear membrane (e.g., herpesviruses). For many viruses, the genome is completely uncoated to allow unrestricted access to the nucleic acid (e.g., picornaviruses). For many others (e.g., (–) ssRNA viruses like the *Paramyxoviridae* measles virus) and the dsRNA *Reoviridae*, the viral genome is only partially uncoated, with remaining viral proteins serving enzymatic functions.

The greatest variability in viral life cycles occurs during intermediate replication stages. Events that take place during this time are (3) transcription (the process whereby the nucleic acid, whether RNA or DNA, is copied to produce complementary positive sense mRNA) (for viruses in Class IV (e.g., Alphatogaviridae [depicted in Fig. 3], Flaviviridae and Picornaviridae), the genome itself serves as mRNA, so this initial transcription is not necessary), (4) translation ("reading" of the mRNA nucleotide sequence by cellular ribosomes to produce viral proteins), and (5) replication (the copying of parental genomic material that serves as the template to produce an identical copy). For many viruses, this involves a few steps. As depicted in Fig. 3, the incoming genome is first copied into (-) sense template, which is then used (6) to make multiple (+) sense genomes. The progeny genomes aggregate with newly made viral capsid proteins (Step 7), whereas viral envelope proteins (if the virus is enveloped) are shuttled through the cellular endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus (Step 8) on their way to the plasma membrane. (9) After progeny nucleocapsids are produced, they migrate to the plasma membrane where they bind to the envelope proteins and (10) bud out of the cell. Budding may or may not damage the cell, and in some cases, the cell will recover from the viral infection. Budding may occur at either the apical (top) surface (e.g., orthomyxoviruses and paramyxoviruses) or at the basal (bottom) surface (e.g., rhabdoviruses and some retroviruses) or may not be restricted to a specific cell surface.

# Cell Tropism

Viruses parasitize every type of living organism, from bacteria to plants and animals and, in some cases, even other viruses [49]. A small number of viruses can infect organisms in multiple different Kingdoms. For example, members of the *Rhabdoviridae* family are capable of infecting plants and animals, although any given virus usually is limited to one kingdom or the other. Most currently known viruses infect a small range of host types. This is known as *cell tropism*. For example, a virus that infects a particular bacterial species usually cannot infect all bacteria and normally also cannot infect any animals or plants. Similarly a typical plant virus can infect some, but not all, plant species but cannot infect animals or bacteria. Likewise, most animal viruses are limited to infecting only certain animal species.

There also is considerable variability in cell tropism within the above kingdoms. Some viruses (e.g., HIV) are very limited in their cell tropism, capable of infecting only a limited type of human-derived cell (e.g., CD4+ cells). However, a few viruses (e.g., arthropod-borne *Flaviviridae*) can infect vertebrate animals of diverse orders (horses and humans), of different classes (birds and humans), and of different Phyla (animals and the insects that vector the virus from one animal host to another).

The basis for cell tropism depends upon whether a particular virus can enter and replicate in a cell. In many cases, this is determined by whether the virus can recognize and enter the host cell (see above). Thus, viruses like the *Flaviviridae* that can infect a wide range of cells usually recognize a ubiquitous cell surface receptor, whereas viruses like HIV that are restricted to a small number of cells recognize a highly specific cell molecule. Cell tropism may also depend upon the intracellular milieu. If key host molecules that are required for virus replication are not present, the infection may be abortive.

In addition to cell tropism, which limits the type of host organism (e.g., animal, bacterium or plant) a virus can infect, many viruses can only infect particular tissues within a susceptible organism. This is known as *tissue tropism*. For example, herpes-viruses generally can replicate in many tissue types (brain, liver, skin, etc.), whereas hepatitis viruses can replicate efficiently only in liver tissue. As is the case for cell tropism, cellular parameters (cell surface molecules and presence or absence of key intracellular enzymes) determine the basis for tissue tropism. Subsequent sections of this chapter will focus on viruses with a tropism for the brain and cerebellum.

## Virus Infections of the Brain and Cerebellum

A variety of infectious agents attack the human central nervous system. One of the best-known viruses, which has a case fatality rate of 100% if untreated, is rabies virus, a member of the *Rhabdoviridae* family. Once the virus reaches the CNS after being injected by the bite of an infected animal, or, in rare cases after organ transplantation from infected donors [53], rabies primarily replicates in dorsal root ganglia, motor neurons, and sensory neurons in the spinal cord [24]. Viral antigens have been detected within the cerebellum shortly after infection [53], but it remains unclear whether the cerebellum plays a major role in disease propagation or pathogenesis.

#### Enteroviruses

Another of the best-known viruses that has long been associated with neurologic manifestations is polio virus. Poliomyelitis has been recognized as a disease for millennia. This virus is a member of the *Picornaviridae* family, Enterovirus sub-family. Enteroviruses are transmitted by the fecal-oral route. If ingested, the virus initially replicates in intestinal tissues. In some cases the virus travels to the CNS. Severe manifestations are relatively rare, occurring in less than 2% of infections, with most infections being asymptomatic or mild. When serious, CNS

involvement and paralysis can occur. There have been reports of cerebellar ataxia associated with poliovirus infection [18]. Cerebral ataxia affects muscle coordination and leads to gait and posture irregularities, lack of fine motor coordination, cognitive and mood problems, increased fatigue, speech difficulties, and visual abnormalities.

Other members of this virus family also are responsible for cerebellar infections and clinical manifestations. Enterovirus 71 is estimated to have caused millions of infections during the past decade [55] and, after *Listeria* (see below), may be the second most common agent responsible for serious brainstem encephalitis (rhombencephalitis). Complications range from self-limiting aseptic meningitis to acute flaccid paralysis that mimics poliomyelitis and overwhelming brainstem encephalitis. Coxsackie virus has also been associated with cerebellar FDG-PET hyperactivity [62].

#### Arboviruses

A large number of different arboviruses (arthropod-borne viruses) are associated with neurological infections that include the cerebellum (reviewed in [71]). Arthropod-borne agents fall into several taxonomic groups, and among viruses, arboviruses exist within at least five families [39]. The principle families are *Alphatogaviruses* (various equine encephalitis viruses including Eastern, Western, Venezuelan, and *Chikungunya virus*) and Flaviviruses (e.g., Dengue, Japanese encephalitis, West Nile, and Zika), which contain ss(+)RNA genomes. Other ss(+) RNA arboviruses that infect humans belong to the *Bunyaviridae* (e.g., Rift valley fever virus and Congo-Crimean hemorrhagic fever virus). In addition, members of the dsRNA *Reoviridae* (e.g., Colorado tick fever virus) and large dsDNA *Asfarviridae* (e.g., African swine fever virus) are arboviruses.

#### Alphatogaviridae

Rubella virus, the agent responsible for German measles, has been associated with cerebellar abnormalities [50]. A large outbreak of Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus (VEEV) in Columbia and Venezuela in 1995 resulted in >300 hospitalizations, and more than half the patients had neurologic complication including cerebellitis [58]. *Chikungunya virus* has also been associated with cerebellar ataxia [42].

#### Flaviviridae

Although dengue virus is rarely associated with CNS involvement, infection with dengue has led to cerebellar manifestations. In one report, a Sri Lankan male presented with thrombocytopenia but subsequently developed ataxia and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)-confirmed cerebellitis; serology suggested a *Dengue virus* and *Epstein-Barr virus* coinfection [43]. In addition, outbreaks of dengue fever in Sri Lanka involving tens of thousands of cases presented with acute cerebellar syndrome [91, 92]. Magnetic resonance imaging of eight encephalitic cases in India showed cerebellar involvement in all eight [36]. West Nile virus infection is also associated with neurological abnormalities in multiple cerebral compartments including the cerebellum [21]. Deer tick virus caused an extensive necrotizing meningoencephalitis that involved numerous brain regions including the cerebellum in a fatal encephalitis case [86]. The newly re-emerging *Zika virus* has been strongly associated with microcephaly, and these brain malformations also include the cerebellum [22, 57, 68, 82, 89].

## Herpesviruses

Several different viruses belong to this family. The best-known may be Herpes simplex virus type 1, which is associated with oral cold sores. These viruses are notable for their capacity to go latent after an acute infection and to then "hide" within the host, being reactivated months to years later. The family is subdivided into three major groups: alphaherpesviruses, which primarily infect a wide range of cells, can establish latency in neurons and have relatively rapid replication kinetics; betaherpesviruses, which replicate more slowly and primarily establish latency in leukocytes; and gammaherpesviruses, which have variable infection kinetics and usually have replication restricted to lymphoid cells and establish latency in cells of the immune system, although other cell types can be infected. Epstein-Barr virus, a gammaherpesvirus, which is associated with infectious mononucleosis, Burkett's lymphoma and nasopharyngeal carcinoma, causes acute postinfectious cerebellar ataxia (APCA) [1, 15, 72]. The alphaherpesvirus Varicella zoster virus, which causes chickenpox/zoster, infects the cerebellum and has been associated with cerebellar ataxia, segmental brainstem myelitis, polyneuritis, and vasculopathy [10, 32, 60, 67, 69, 75].

#### *Myxoviruses*

There are several myxoviruses, belonging to multiple virus families that infect the cerebellum. Myxoviruses are so named because they are primarily respiratory. Two major families are the *Orthomyxoviridae* (e.g., influenza virus) and *Paramyxoviridae* (e.g. measles virus). Influenza viruses of the H1N1 and H3N2 subtypes, the subtypes responsible for the past few pandemics, have also been associated with encephalitis involving the brainstem and cerebellum [23].

Several paramyxoviruses have also been found to infect or affect the cerebellum. These include measles virus, mumps virus, and respiratory syncytial virus. Respiratory syncytial virus was associated with cerebellar hemispheric cortical edema that involved ataxia and hypotonia [85].

# **Prions**

The agents that cause spongiform encephalopathies belong to a unique group, and there is debate as to whether they should be considered viruses. However, they certainly are not bacteria or fungi and so will be discussed here. There are several such agents, responsible for a variety of diseases, including Kuru, iatrogenic Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease, and bovine spongiform encephalopathy-induced variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. Abnormal prion protein deposition has been observed in Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease patients [30], other patients presented with cerebral cortical hyperintensity [40], and a recent quantitative proteomic screen identified substantial dysregulation of s-nitrosylated proteins within the cerebellum of prion-induced Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease patients [12].

# **Other Viral Agents**

In addition to the virus agents mentioned above, a few other viruses have been shown to infect and/or affect the cerebellum. Many cause APCA. These include rotavirus (family *Reoviridae*) [45, 48, 87], JC virus (family *Polyomaviridae*) [20, 31, 84], parvovirus B19 [33, 34, 76, 88], and possibly adenovirus [64, 83]. Mild cerebellar signs were also seen in an Ebola virus-infected patient [14].

# **Bacterial and Fungal Infections of the Cerebellum**

In addition to viruses, there are other infectious agents that affect the cerebellum.

## Bacteria

Several bacteria infect the cerebellum. *Listeria monocytogenes* may be the most common infectious cause of serious brainstem encephalitis (rhombencephalitis), including cerebellar involvement [11, 16, 66, 73]. These infections and cerebellar involvement have potential devastating life-threatening consequences; thus, Pruitt indicates that suspected cases should be treated empirically with ampicillin pending culture confirmation [67].

*Mycoplasma pneumoniae* has also been implicated in cerebellar ataxia [9, 35, 63]. A large-scale analysis of more than 790 patients identified large numbers of

neuropsychiatric manifestations after infection by *Salmonella typhi*, the etiologic cause of typhoid fever, including eight cases of cerebellitis [2]. *S. typhi* infection also leads to T1-weighted MRI hypointense cerebellar regions [61]. Infection and resulting cerebellar complications continue to occur, although antibiotic treatment of a few cases led to complete recovery [38].

*Borrelia burgdorferi*, the causative agents of Lyme disease, have also been associated with cerebellar ataxia and with abnormal MRI lesions [4] and PET images [41] (reviewed in [28]). The bacterium *Tropheryma whipplei*, which causes Whipple's disease, has also been found to cause abnormal cerebellar MRI and ataxia [17, 54, 56].

In addition to the capacity of live infectious agents to cause cerebellar ataxia, it has been recognized that vaccinations against various agents also may cause ataxia. The best-known examples are vaccination with DPT (diphtheria-pertussis-tetanus vaccine) [7, 44, 47, 59]. A recent report also identified cerebellar ataxia after vaccination with meningococcal group C agents [19].

# Fungi

Several fungal species, including *Aspergillus* [13, 26, 27], *Histoplasmosis* [79, 90], *Candida* [80], *Exserohilum rostratum* [8], and *Phialemonium* [5], have also been associated with cerebellar infection [65, 67].

In conclusion, the cerebellum is susceptible to infection by a large number of bacterial, fungal, and viral agents, and these infections can have devastating consequences.

**Acknowledgments** Research in my laboratory has been supported by grants MT-11630 and MOP-106713 from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research.

# References

- Abul-Kasim K, Palm L, Maly P, Sundgren PC. The neuroanatomic localization of Epstein-Barr virus encephalitis may be a predictive factor for its clinical outcome: a case report and review of 100 cases in 28 reports. J Child Neurol. 2009;24:720–6.
- Ali G, Rashid S, Kamli MA, Shah PA, Allaqaband GQ. Spectrum of neuropsychiatric complications in 791 cases of typhoid fever. Trop Med Int Health. 1997;2:314–8.
- Amet T, Ghabril M, Chalasani N, Byrd D, Hu NJ, Grantham A, Liu ZQ, Qin XB, He JJ, Yu QG. CD59 incorporation protects hepatitis C virus against complement-mediated destruction. Hepatology. 2012;55:354–63.
- Arav-Boger R, Crawford T, Steere AC, Halsey NA. Cerebellar ataxia as the presenting manifestation of Lyme disease. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2002;21:353–6.
- Aydin M, Ozcelik U, Cevik H, Cinar O, Evren E, Demirag A. Multiple brain abscesses due to Phialemonium in a renal transplant recipient: first case report in the literature. Exp Clin Transplant. 2015;13:77–80.
- 6. Baltimore D. Expression of animal virus genomes. Bacteriol Rev. 1971;35:235-41.
- Barkovich AJ. Infections of the nervous system. In: Barkovich AJ, editor. Pediatric neuroimaging. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven; 1996. p. 569–617.
- Bell WR, Dalton JB, McCall CM, Karram S, Pearce DT, Memon W, Lee R, Carroll KC, Lyons JL, Gireesh ED, Trivedi JB, Cettomai D, Smith BR, Chang T, Tochen L, Ratchford JN, Harrison DM, Ostrow LW, Stevens RD, Chen L, Zhang SX. Iatrogenic Exserohilum infection of the central nervous system: mycological identification and histopathological findings. Mod Pathol. 2013;26:166–70.
- 9. Berger RP, Wadowksy RM. Rhabdomyolysis associated with infection by Mycoplasma pneumoniae: a case report. Pediatrics. 2000;105:433–6.
- Calabria F, Zappini F, Vattemi G, Tinazzi M. Pearls & Oy-sters: an unusual case of varicellazoster virus cerebellitis and vasculopathy. Neurology. 2014;82:E14–5.
- Campos LG, Trindade RA, Faistauer A, Perez JA, Vedolin LM, Duarte JA. Rhombencephalitis: pictorial essay. Radiol Bras. 2016;49:329–36.
- Chen LN, Shi Q, Zhang BY, Zhang XM, Wang J, Xiao K, Lv Y, Sun J, Yang XD, Chen C, Zhou W, Han J, Dong XP. Proteomic analyses for the global S-nitrosylated proteins in the brain tissues of different human prion diseases. Mol Neurobiol. 2016;53:5079–96.
- 13. Chen S, Pu JL, Yu J, Zhang JM. Multiple aspergillus cerebellar abscesses in a middle-aged female: case report and literature review. Int J Med Sci. 2011;8:635–9.
- 14. Chertow DS, Nath A, Suffredini AF, Danner RL, Reich DS, Bishop RJ, Childs RW, Arai AE, Palmore TN, Lane HC, Fauci AS, Davey RT. Severe meningoencephalitis in a case of Ebola virus disease: a case report. Ann Intern Med. 2016;165:301–4.
- Cho TA, Schmahmann JD, Cunnane ME. Case 30-2013: a 19-year-old man with otalgia, slurred speech, and ataxia. New Engl J Med. 2013;369:1253–61.
- Choudhury N, Khan AB, Tzvetanov I, Garcia-Roca R, Oberholzer J, Benedetti E, Jeon H. Cerebellar abscess caused by *Listeria monocytogenes* in a liver transplant patient. Transpl Infect Dis. 2013;15:E224–8.
- Compain C, Sacre K, Puechal X, Klein I, Vital-Durand D, Houeto JL, De Broucker T, Raoult D, Papo T. Central nervous system involvement in whipple disease clinical study of 18 patients and long-term follow-up. Medicine. 2013;92:324–30.
- Curnen EC, Chamberlin HR. Acute cerebellar ataxia associated with poliovirus infection. Yale J Biol Med. 1961;34:219. &
- Cutroneo PM, Italiano D, Trifiro G, Tortorella G, Russo A, Isola S, Caputi AP, Spina E. Acute cerebellar ataxia following meningococcal group C conjugate vaccination. J Child Neurol. 2014;29:128–30.
- 20. Dang L, Dang X, Koralnik IJ, Todd PK. JC polyomavirus granule cell neuronopathy in a patient treated with rituximab. JAMA Neurol. 2014;71:487–9.
- Davis LE, DeBiasi R, Goade DE, Haaland KY, Harrington JA, Harnar JB, Pergam SA, King MK, DeMasters BK, Tyler KL. West Nile virus neuroinvasive disease. Ann Neurol. 2006;60:286–300.
- 22. de Fatima Vasco Aragao M, van der Linden V, Brainer-Lima AM, Coeli RR, Rocha MA, Sobral da Silva P, Durce Costa Gomes de Carvalho M, van der Linden A, Cesario de Holanda A, Valenca MM. Clinical features and neuroimaging (CT and MRI) findings in presumed Zika virus related congenital infection and microcephaly: retrospective case series study. BMJ. 2016;353:i1901.
- De Santis P, Della Marca G, Di Lella G, Cavallaro F. Sub-acute hydrocephalus in a patient with influenza A (H3N2) virus-related cerebellitis. J Neurol Neurosur Ps. 2012;83:1091–2.
- 24. Dean DJ, Mcclure RC, Evans WM. Pathogenesis of rabies. Bull WHO. 1963;29:803. &
- 25. Ejaz A, Steinmann E, Banki Z, Anggakusuma, Khalid S, Lengauer S, Wilhelm C, Zoller H, Schloegl A, Steinmann J, Grabski E, Kleines M, Pietschmann T, Stoiber H. Specific acquisition of functional CD59 but not CD46 or CD55 by hepatitis C virus. PLoS One. 2012;7:e45770.
- Endo H, Kumabe T, Kon H, Yoshimoto T, Nakasato Y. A case of primary cerebellar glioblastoma in childhood. Neurol Surg Tokyo. 2002a;30:1325–9.

- 27. Endo T, Tominaga T, Konno H, Yoshimoto T. Fatal subarachnoid hemorrhage, with brainstem and cerebellar infarction, caused by Aspergillus infection after cerebral aneurysm surgery: case report. Neurosurgery. 2002b;50:1147–9.
- Erol I, Saygi S, Alehan F. Acute cerebellar ataxia in a pediatric case of Lyme disease and a review of literature. Pediatr Neurol. 2013;48:407–10.
- 29. Feldmann H, Geisbert TW. Ebola haemorrhagic fever. Lancet. 2011;377:849-62.
- 30. Ferrer I, Bianco R, Marti E. Prion protein deposition and abnormal synaptic protein expression in the cerebellum in Creutzeldt-Jakob disease. Brain Pathol. 2000;10:665.
- Gheuens S, Pierone G, Peeters P, Koralnik IJ. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in individuals with minimal or occult immunosuppression. J Neurol Neurosur Ps. 2010;81:247–54.
- Grahn A, Studahl M. Varicella-zoster virus infections of the central nervous system prognosis, diagnostics and treatment. J Inf Infect. 2015;71:281–93.
- Grant JK, Yin NC, Zaytoun AM, Waseem H, Hobbs JA. Persistent adeno-associated virus 2 and parvovirus B19 sequences in post-mortem human cerebellum. Cerebellum. 2009;8:490–8.
- Greco F, Barbagallo ML, Chiodo DC, Guglielmino R, Sorge G. Severe ataxia as a complication of human parvovirus B19 acute encephalitis in a child. J Child Neurol. 2008;23:1078–80.
- 35. Guleria R, Nisar N, Chawla TC, Biswas NR. Mycoplasma pneumoniae and central nervous system complications: a review. J Lab Clin Med. 2005;146:55–63.
- Hegde V, Aziz Z, Kumar S, Bhat M, Prasad C, Gupta AK, Netravathi M, Saini J. Dengue encephalitis with predominant cerebellar involvement: report of eight cases with MR and CT imaging features. Eur Radiol. 2015;25:719–25.
- Imbeault M, Ouellet M, Giguere K, Bertin J, Belanger D, Martin G, Tremblay MJ. Acquisition of host-derived CD40L by HIV-1 in vivo and its functional consequences in the B-cell compartment. J Virol. 2011;85:2189–200.
- 38. Incecik F, Herguner MO, Mert G, Alabaz D, Altunbasak S. Acute cerebellar ataxia associated with enteric fever in a child: a case report. Turk J Pediatr. 2013;55:441–2.
- 39. Iranpour M, Moghadam AR, Yazdi M, Ande SR, Alizadeh J, Wiechec E, Lindsay R, Drebot M, Coombs KM, Ghavami S. Apoptosis, autophagy and unfolded protein response pathways in Arbovirus replication and pathogenesis. Expert Rev Mol Med. 2016;18:e1.
- 40. Iwasaki Y, Yokoi F, Tatsumi S, Mimuro M, Iwai K, Kitamoto T, Yoshida M. An autopsied case of Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease with mutation in the prion protein gene codon 232 and type 1+2 prion protein. Neuropathology. 2013;33:568–75.
- Kalina P, Decker A, Kornel E, Halperin JJ. Lyme disease of the brainstem. Neuroradiology. 2005;47:903–7.
- 42. Kalita J, Kumar P, Misra UK. Stimulus-sensitive myoclonus and cerebellar ataxia following chikungunya meningoencephalitis. Infection. 2013;41:727–9.
- 43. Karunarathne S, Udayakumara Y, Fernando H. Epstein-Barr virus co-infection in a patient with dengue fever presenting with post-infectious cerebellitis: a case report. J Med Case Rep. 2012;6:43.
- 44. Katafuchi Y, Aida K, Shiotsuki Y, Yamashita Y, Horikawa M, Andou H. Acute cerebellar ataxia and facial palsy after DPT immunization. No To Hattatsu. 1989;21:465–9.
- 45. Kato Z, Sasai H, Funato M, Asano T, Kondo N. Acute cerebellitis associated with rotavirus infection. World J Pediatr. 2013;9:87–9.
- 46. King AMQ, Adams MJ, Carstens EB, Lefkowitz EJ. Virus taxonomy. Ninth report of the international committee on taxonomy of viruses. San Diego: Academic; 2012.
- Kubota M, Takahashi Y. Steroid-responsive chronic cerebellitis with positive glutainate receptor delta 2 antibody. J Child Neurol. 2008;23:228–30.
- 48. Kubota T, Suzuki T, Kitase Y, Kidokoro H, Miyajima Y, Ogawa A, Natsume J, Okumura A. Chronological diffusion-weighted imaging changes and mutism in the course of rotavirus-associated acute cerebellitis/cerebellopathy concurrent with encephalitis/encephalopathy. Brain Dev-Jpn. 2011;33:21–7.
- 49. La Scola B, Desnues C, Pagnier I, Robert C, Barrassi L, Fournous G, Merchat M, Suzan-Monti M, Forterre P, Koonin E, Raoult D. The virophage as a unique parasite of the giant mimivirus. Nature. 2008;455:100–U65.

- Lau KK, Lai ST, Lai JY, Yan WW, So TM, Wong TY. Acute encephalitis complicating rubella. Hong Kong Med J. 1998;4:325–8.
- Legendre M, Bartoli J, Shmakova L, Jeudy S, Labadie K, Adrait A, Lescot M, Poirot O, Bertaux L, Bruley C, Coute Y, Rivkina E, Abergel C, Claverie JM. Thirty-thousand-year-old distant relative of giant icosahedral DNA viruses with a pandoravirus morphology. P Natl Acad Sci USA. 2014;111:4274–9.
- 52. Lippe R. Deciphering novel host-herpesvirus interactions by virion proteomics. Front Microbiol. 2012;3:181.
- Mahadevan A, Suja MS, Mani RS, Shankar SK. Perspectives in diagnosis and treatment of rabies viral encephalitis: insights from pathogenesis. Neurotherapeutics. 2016;13:477–92.
- 54. Matthews BR, Jones LK, Saad DA, Aksamit AJ, Josephs KA. Cerebellar ataxia and central nervous system Whipple disease. Arch Neurol. 2005;62:618–20.
- 55. McMinn PC. Enterovirus vaccines for an emerging cause of brain-stem encephalitis. New Engl J Med. 2014;370:792–4.
- Mendel E, Khoo LT, Go JL, Hinton D, Zee CS, Apuzzo MLJ. Intracerebral Whipple's disease diagnosed by stereotactic biopsy: a case report and review of the literature. Neurosurgery. 1999;44:203–9.
- 57. Mlakar J, Korva M, Tul N, Popovic M, Poljsak-Prijatelj M, Mraz J, Kolenc M, Rus KR, Vipotnik TV, Vodusek VF, Vizjak A, Pizem J, Petrovec M, Zupanc TA. Zika virus associated with microcephaly. New Engl J Med. 2016;374:951–8.
- Molina OM, Morales MC, Soto ID, Pena JA, Haack RS, Cardozo DP, Cardozo JJ. Venezuelan equine encephalitis. 1995 outbreak: clinical profile of the cases with neurologic involvement. Rev Neurol. 1999;29:296–8.
- 59. Montenegro MA, Santos SLM, Li LM, Cendes F. Neuroimaging of acute cerebellitis. J Neuroimaging. 2002;12:72–4.
- 60. Moses H, Nagel MA, Gilden DH. Acute cerebellar ataxia in a 41 year old woman. Lancet Neurol. 2006;5:984–8.
- Murthy JM, Kishore LT. MR findings in cerebellar ataxia after enteric fever. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 1997;21:216–7.
- Mustafa M, Levin J, Schoberl F, Rominger A. Postinfectious opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome in a 41-year-old patient visualizing hyperactivation in deep cerebellar nuclei by cerebral [F-18]-FDG- PET. J Neuroimaging. 2015;25:683–5.
- 63. Narita M. Classification of extrapulmonary manifestations due to Mycoplasma pneumoniae infection on the basis of possible pathogenesis. Front Microbiol. 2016;7:23.
- 64. Naselli A, Pala G, Cresta F, Finetti M, Biancheri R, Renna S. Acute post-infectious cerebellar ataxia due to co-infection of human herpesvirus-6 and adenovirus mimicking myositis. Ital J Pediatr. 2014;40:98.
- 65. Pisa D, Alonso R, Rabano A, Rodal I, Carrasco L. Different brain regions are infected with fungi in Alzheimer's disease. Sci Rep-Uk. 2015;5:15015.
- 66. Prieto JM, Pardo J, Lopez J, Lema M, Castillo J, Noya M. Rhombencephalitis caused by *Listeria monocytogenes*. Neurologia. 1992;7:270–3.
- 67. Pruitt AA. Infections of the cerebellum. Neurol Clin. 2014;32:1117–31.
- Ramalho Rocha, Y. R., Cavalcanti Costa, J. R., Almeida Costa, P., Maia, G., Vasconcelos Rde, M., Ramos Tejo, C., Martins Batista, R., Lima Neto, M., Martins de Lima, G. G., Negromonte, F., Borba, M., Bezerra Jeronimo, S. M., Sequerra, E. B., Moreira Neto, M.. Radiological characterization of cerebral phenotype in newborn microcephaly cases from 2015 outbreak in Brazil. PLoS Curr. 2016;8, e854dbf51b8075431a05b39042c00244.
- 69. Ratzka P, Schlachetzki JCM, Bahr M, Nau R. Varicella zoster virus cerebellitis in a 66-yearold patient without herpes zoster. Lancet. 2006;367:182.
- Saifuddin M, Parker CJ, Peeples ME, Gorny MK, Zollapazner S, Ghassemi M, Rooney IA, Atkinson JP, Spear GT. Role of virion-associated glycosylphosphatidylinositol-linked proteins CD55 and CD59 in complement resistance of cell line-derived and primary isolates of HIV-1. J Exp Med. 1995;182:501–9.

- 71. Salimi H, Cain MD, Klein RS. Encephalitic arboviruses: emergence, clinical presentation, and neuropathogenesis. Neurotherapeutics. 2016;13:514–34.
- Schmahmann JD. Plasmapheresis improves outcome in postinfectious cerebellitis induced by Epstein-Barr virus. Neurology. 2004;62:1443.
- Shaffer DN, Drevets DA, Farr RW. *Listeria monocytogenes* rhombencephalitis with cranialnerve palsies: a case report. West Virginia Med J. 1998;94:80–3.
- 74. Shaw ML, Stone KL, Colangelo CM, Gulcicek EE, Palese P. Cellular proteins in influenza virus particles. PLoS Path. 2008;4
- 75. Shilo S, Wiener-Well Y, Korn-Lubetzki I. Varicella Zoster virus cerebellitis without a rash in an immunocompetent 85-year-old patient. Neurologist. 2015;20:44–5.
- Shroff S, Kamiya-Matsuoka C, Woodman K. An unusual cause of cerebellar ataxia in an immunocompromised elderly patient. J Neurol Sci. 2014;340:218–20.
- 77. Sicard A, Yvon M, Timchenko T, Gronenborn B, Michalakis Y, Gutierrez S, Blanc S. Gene copy number is differentially regulated in a multipartite virus. Nat Commun. 2013;4:2248.
- Spurgers KB, Alefantis T, Peyser BD, Ruthel GT, Bergeron AA, Costantino JA, Enterlein S, Kota KP, Boltz RCD, Aman MJ, DelVecchio VG, Bavari S. Identification of essential filovirionassociated host factors by serial proteomic analysis and RNAi screen. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2010;9:2690–703.
- Srinivasan J, Ooi WW. Successful treatment of histoplasmosis brain abscess with voriconazole. Arch Neurol. 2008;65:666–7.
- Starkey J, Moritani T, Kirby P. MRI of CNS fungal infections: review of aspergillosis to histoplasmosis and everything in between. Clin Neuroradiol. 2014;24:217–30.
- Stegen C, Yakova Y, Henaff D, Nadjar J, Duron J, Lippe R. Analysis of virion-incorporated host proteins required for herpes simplex virus type 1 infection through a RNA interference screen. PLoS One. 2013;8:e53276.
- 82. Strafela P, Vizjak A, Vizjak A, Mraz J, Mraz J, Mlakar J, Mlakar J, Pizem J, Pizem J, Tul N, Tul N, Zupanc TA, Ta Z, Popovic M, Popovic M. Zika virus-associated micrencephaly: a thorough description of neuropathologic findings in the fetal central nervous system. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2016;141:73–81.
- Syrbe S, Merkenschlager A, Bernhard MK, Grosche J, Liebert UG, Hirsch W, Hartig W. Opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome after adenovirus infection. Springerplus. 2015;4:636.
- 84. Tan CS, Koralnik IJ. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy and other disorders caused by JC virus: clinical features and pathogenesis. Lancet Neurol. 2010;9:425–37.
- Tang Y, Suddarth B, Du X, Matsumoto JA. Reversible diffusion restriction of the middle cerebellar peduncles and dentate nucleus in acute respiratory syncytial virus cerebellitis: a case report. Emerg Radiol. 2014;21:89–92.
- 86. Tavakoli NP, Wang H, Dupuis M, Hull R, Ebel GD, Gilmore EJ, Faust PL. Brief report: fatal case of deer tick virus encephalitis. New Engl J Med. 2009;360:2099–107.
- Thompson MJ, Gowdie PJ, Kirkwood CD, Doherty RR, Fahey M. Rotavirus cerebellitis: new aspects to an old foe? Pediatr Neurol. 2012;46:48–50.
- Uchida Y, Matsubara K, Morio T, Kawasaki Y, Iwata A, Yura K, Kamimura K, Nigami H, Fukaya T. Acute cerebellitis and concurrent encephalitis associated with parvovirus B19 infection. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2012;31:427.
- van der Linden V, Filho EL, Lins OG, van der Linden A, Aragao Mde F, Brainer-Lima AM, Cruz DD, Rocha MA, Sobral da Silva PF, Carvalho MD, do Amaral FJ, Gomes JA, Ribeiro de Medeiros IC, Ventura CV, Ramos RC. Congenital Zika syndrome with arthrogryposis: retrospective case series study. BMJ. 2016;354:i3899.
- 90. Vos MJ, Debets-Ossenkopp YJ, Claessen FAP, Hazenberg GJ, Heimans JJ. Cerebellar and medullar histoplasmosis. Neurology. 2000;54:1441.
- Weeratunga PN, Caldera HP, Gooneratne IK, Gamage R, Perera WS, Ranasinghe GV, Niraj M. Spontaneously resolving cerebellar syndrome as a sequelae of dengue viral infection: a case series from Sri Lanka. Pract Neurol. 2014;14:176–8.
- 92. Withana M, Rodrigo C, Chang T, Karunanayake P, Rajapakse S. Dengue fever presenting with acute cerebellitis: a case report. BMC Res Notes. 2014;7:125.

# Neuroimmune Mechanisms of Cerebellar Development and Its Developmental Disorders: Bidirectional Link Between the Immune System and Nervous System

#### Nour Eissa, Laëtitia Kermarrec, and Jean-Eric Ghia

Abstract Understanding the cross talk between the immune system and cerebellum development has noticeable implications for understanding and management of neurodevelopmental disorders. Our knowledge about cerebellar developmental maturation and remodeling is improving. Immune cells have different functions in a healthy state, but those functions are compromised during developmental stages in mammals. In this chapter, we highlight the evidence that indicates an important role of the immune system within the cerebellum and brain. We discuss the contribution of different immune responses in the development of the cerebellum and its associated disorders and highlight current understanding of the mechanisms and insights involved in these processes. Immune pathways that have a crucial role in cerebellar development are likely to become therapeutic targets for several neurodevelopmental disorders. Therefore, this information may suggest new therapeutic approaches

N. Eissa

L. Kermarrec Immunology, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

J.-E. Ghia (⊠) Immunology, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

Internal Medicine, Section of Gastroenterology, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

IBD Clinical and Research Centre, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

Children's Hospital Research Institute of Manitoba, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

Department of Immunology, College of Medicine, University of Manitoba, 431 Apotex Centre, 750 McDermot Avenue, Winnipeg, MB R3E 0T5, Canada e-mail: Jean-Eric.Ghia@umanitoba.ca; jeghia@yahoo.fr

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017 H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_13

Immunology, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

Children's Hospital Research Institute of Manitoba, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

to developmental disorders of the cerebellum through suppression or activation of selected immune pathways.

**Keywords** Cerebellum • Brain • Innate immunity • Adaptive immunity • Cytokines • Hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal

# Abbreviations

AICA	Anterior inferior cerebellar artery
ALRs	AIM2-like receptors
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
ANS	Autonomic nervous system
APCs	Antigen-presenting cells
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
CCL	C-C motif chemokine ligand
CNS	Central nervous system
Cop-1	Copolymer 1
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
DAMPs	Damage-associated molecular patterns
DC	Dendritic cells
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
EGL	External granule cell layer
FOXP3	Forkhead box P3
GAD	Glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies
GIT	Gastrointestinal tract
HE	Hashimoto's encephalopathy
HSP	Heat shock proteins
IBS	Irritable bowel syndrome
IFN	Interferon
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IGL	Internal granule cell layer
IL	Interleukin
LGP2	Laboratory of genetics and physiology 2
MDA5	Melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5
MHC	Major histocompatibility
MIP	Macrophage inflammatory protein
MSA	Multiple system atrophy
NLRs	Nod-like receptors
OPCA	Olivopontocerebellar
P2X7R	Purinergic receptor P2X7
PACA	Primary autoimmune cerebellar ataxia
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PICA	Posterior inferior cerebellar artery

PRRs	Pattern recognition receptors
(RAG)-1	Recombination activating gene
Rig1	Retinoic acid-inducible gene-1
RLRs	RIG-like receptors
Rora	Retinoic acid-related orphan receptor alpha
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SCA	Superior cerebellar artery
SCID	Severe combined immunodeficiency
SND	Striatonigral
SOCS3	Suppressor of cytokine signaling 3
TGF	Tumor growth factor
Th	T helper
TLRs	Toll-like receptors
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
Treg	Regulatory T cells
URL	Upper rhombic lip

# Introduction

The cerebellum is an important motor and non-motor structure in the central nervous system (CNS), it includes more neurons than the entire cerebral cortex [1], and it is well-conserved across evolution. Despite its prominent architecture and some clear syndromes related to its malfunction, the exact role of immune regulation during cerebellum development has not been well studied. Thus, many researchers are investigating the role of the immune system within the cerebellum.

Over the past few decades, the functional autonomy of both the immune system and the CNS has been successfully challenged, and innovations in the field of neuroimmunology and psychoneuroimmunology have revealed that the immune system and the CNS are closely related and function together [2, 3]. There is a growing understanding that neurodevelopmental disorders are related to cerebellar deficits, but molecular mechanisms and underlying pathways of cerebellar deficts remain poorly understood [4]. Developmental studies have revealed that the cerebellum evolves in successive waves of progenitor proliferation/migration throughout the embryonic and postnatal phases, which may identify new therapeutic options.

The immune system can interact with the CNS through immune mediators such as primary cytokines, CNS-derived cytokines, neurotransmitters, and neuropeptides secreted by different immune cells [5]. Bidirectional communication between immune responses and the CNS and their effect on cerebellar development has not been well studied, but direct bidirectional projections between the cerebellum and hypothalamus and the cerebellohypothalamic and hypothalamocerebellar fastigial nuclei induces a postsynaptic response or an alteration in unitary activity via cerebellohypothalamic projections in the hypothalamus [9], demonstrating that the cerebellum can indirectly influence immune cell function through cerebellohypothalamic

projections. In this chapter, we will review possible direct or indirect interrelations between the immune system and cerebellum and how the immune system can affect the development of the cerebellum to maintain a homeostatic state or regulate pathological conditions such as cerebellum developmental disorders.

# Anatomy of the Cerebellum and Interconnection with Other Central Centers Implicated in Neuroimmune Regulation

The anatomical features of the cerebellum, described in chapter "The Embryology and Anatomy of the Cerebellum", are relevant to understand how immune and inflammatory responses are generated and how these immune responses could affect cerebellar development. The hypothalamus also exerts specific neuromodulation on the cerebellum, which could impact the immune response. This modulation occurs because the cerebellar cortex receives two well-identified types of afferent fibers: mossy fibers and climbing fibers. There is a third type of afferent, the neuromodulatory fiber that consists of characteristically beaded fibers, which contain amines or neuropeptides [10, 11]. For example, histamine-containing fibers originate from the tuberomammillary nucleus of the hypothalamus and broadly spread into the cerebellum [11]. Moreover, beaded fibers containing angiotensin II result from the paraventricular and supraoptic nuclei of the hypothalamus [12] and impact comprehensively upon the cerebellum.

The relationship between circulating hormones (thyroid hormones, sex hormones) and cerebellar development is well studied (see chapter "Hormonal Regulation of Cerebellar Development and Its Disorders"). These hormones have immunomodulatory effects and can shape different immune responses. Thyroid hormone and its receptor, which is a ligand-regulated transcription factor binding to a specific DNA sequence called thyroid hormone-responsive element, have a particularly vital role in brain development [13]. The receptor recruits coactivators and corepressors in a ligand-dependent manner to regulate the transcription of target genes. It may also interact with other nuclear receptors such as retinoic acid-related orphan receptor alpha (Rora), whose expression is regulated by the thyroid hormone during the first two postnatal weeks. In perinatal hypothyroidism, Purkinje cell dendrites have greatly reduced growth and branching with a reduction of synapses between granule cells and Purkinje neurons, which is associated with delayed migration of granule cells to the internal granule cell layer and deficient synaptic connectivity within the cerebellar cortex [14]. Experimentally, thyroid-deficient rats show a persistence of climbing fiber synaptic sites for a longer time along with an underdevelopment of cerebellar glomeruli [15]. These effects could be attributed to hyperthyroidism, which reduces the pro-inflammatory properties of monocytes and macrophages and promotes phagocytosis, and there may also be elevated levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) during hypothyroidism [16]. A better understanding of the links between such hormones and immune responses could provide new insights toward clarifying the potential effects of several immune responses on the development of the cerebellum.



Fig. 1 Simplified illustration shows the interaction between cerebellohypothalamic projection, neurons, astrocytes, microglia, and peripheral immune responses. In pathological conditions, there is a cerebellohypothalamic interactions via the balance between GABA and glutamate to activate neurons. Neurons deliver damage signals to glial cells and astrocytes to interrupt blood–brain barrier that lead to activate innate and adaptive immune responses and pro-inflammatory cytokine productions and end with neuro-inflammation. Anti-inflammatory cytokines result in deactivation of glial cells and astrocytes and in turn maintain homeostasis

Cerebellar immunomodulation exists, and it may be regulated by the hypothalamus, but anatomically, there is no direct connection between the cerebellum and the immune system. The cerebellum communicates with the immune system through the cerebellohypothalamic projections, which are direct projections from the cerebellum to the hypothalamus, and this pathway may serve as an important mediator in immune system modulation (Fig. 1). Moreover, many neuropeptides can be released from the CNS and can impact the immune system, which in turn affect the cerebellum, especially in the developmental stages. Thus, various immune responses can shape the development and functional consequences of the cerebellum. However, there are few direct or indirect data that demonstrate these mechanisms.

### The Immune System in the Cerebellum

Alterations in immune responses during prenatal or early postnatal development contribute to cerebellar development and disorders. The immune system is designed to reflect surrounding changes and to predict future changes as a defensive mechanism. Communication between the CNS/cerebellum and the immune system is bidirectional, and both systems shape the other's responses through different mechanisms and mediators. As shown in Fig. 1, the CNS can mediate the innate and adaptive immune responses, which leads to the production of cytokines and which can alter cerebellar development and function. Moreover, pattern recognition receptors and innate and adaptive immune responses play a major role in regulation of the immune system.

### **Pattern Recognition Receptors**

The innate immune system senses commensal and potential antigens and detects tissue disruptions by different receptor types, which are called pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) [17]. PRRs recognize pathogens through specific pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs) that are expressed by microbes, and they play a major role in sterile inflammation response to endogenous stimuli, called damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). PRRs are among the first responders to cerebellar disorders [18], and activation of these receptors on microglia, neurons, and astrocytes initiates an innate immune response [19]. Microglia, the brain's main resident immune cells, are important to the inflammatory response and can be activated by distress signals released from neighboring cells [20]. Microglia that enter a pro-inflammatory state are mostly activated by PRRs, and they are fundamental components of host innate immunity. Therefore, activation of PRRs results in inflammatory mediator release that helps to remove antigens or restore tissue homeostasis. However, chronic or continuous activation of these receptors can cause inflammatory disorders that impact cerebellar development and contribute to pathogenesis of its developmental disorders.

Toll-like receptors (TLRs) have been characterized in response to pathogens, but they also play a central role in regulating sterile inflammation [21]. TLR4 is a major route of such amplification that may occur via the purinergic receptor P2X7 (P2X7R) [22]. Interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ) is now counted as a master regulator of neuroinflammation; it leads to a critical contribution to cellular activation and cytokine production [23] and contributes to the pathogenesis of cerebellum disorders, as well as to other acute and chronic diseases of both the peripheral nervous system and CNS [24]. Many DAMPs such as heat shock proteins (HSP60 and HSP70), degradation products of the ECM (hyaluronic acid, fibronectin), and nucleic acids such as mRNA and miRNAs are released passively from necrotic cells after cerebellum injury [25–27]. Mitochondrial DNA and proteins are also considered to be DAMPs, particularly mtDNA and N-formyl peptides [28].

Most cells in the CNS express TLRs, but microglia express the full repertoire of TLRs, which enhance their ability to monitor the CNS and act as the first line of defense [29]. In the cerebellum, microglial activation can be partially explained by aberrant expression of TLRs in the brain regions that are involved in striatonigral

(SND) or olivopontocerebellar (OPCA) [30] and could promote neurodegenerative disorders through amplification of pro-inflammatory cytokines release via alterations in TLRs signaling, which lead to mitochondrial dysfunction that end with excessive reactive oxygen species production [30]. Astrocytes, neurons, and oligo-dendrocytes also express TLRs in both physiological and pathological cerebellum states [31]. Astrocytes express TLR3 under resting and activated conditions [32] and may elevate TLR2 and TLR4 upon activation [33]. Changes in TLR expression demonstrate their critical role in mediating complex and interconnected processes that are implicated in the development of the cerebellum and its developmental disorders.

NLRs are primarily dedicated to sensing and detecting pathogens, but they have been shown to contribute to the inflammatory responses caused by cerebellar disorders [34]. NLRs are known for their ability to form inflammasomes. Inflammasomes are large multiprotein complexes that activate caspase-1, which is essential for maturation of pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and pro-IL-18 [35] and for programmed cell death [36]. Within the CNS, three different NLR inflammasomes have been described: NLRP1 [37], NLRP2 [38], and NLRP3 [39]. NLRP1 has been defined as mediating the innate immune response after brain disorders [40]. Inflammasomes are present in astrocytes [41] and microglia [42], and neuronal inflammasomes seem to contribute to cerebellum disorders [43]. IL-1β and IL-18 have a crucial role in mediating neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration in the CNS [44]. Experimentally, IL-1ß is activated specifically in the cerebellum by the systemic administration of kainate, and it is involved in kainate-induced ataxia in mice. Moreover, IL-18 in the cerebellum is implicated in the recovery phase of kainate-induced ataxia by counteracting the function of IL-1 $\beta$  in the cerebellum [44]. IL-1 $\beta$  also participates in neurological processes and appears to have a role in autism as a mediator of this cerebellar developmental disorder [45]. Homeostatic levels of IL-1β and its antagonist IL-1ra are necessary for proper brain development and function.

Many PRRs that are expressed in the cerebellum can identify pathogenic microbes and are mediated through RLR and ALR [46]. RLRs are cytoplasmic PRRs that detect RNA viruses associated with the production of type I interferons (IFNs) [47]. Two ALRs have been described: IFI16 and AIM2 [48]. In neurons, AIM2 forms an inflammasome that activates pyroptosis, a novel but potentially important mode of cell death [49]. Moreover, scavenger receptors (type A and B receptors) are PRRs that are implicated in the metabolism of cholesterol and lipids and are expressed on microglia, endothelia, and astrocytes [50]. Programmed cell death plays a significant role in the cerebellum development and development, plasticity, and aging. Thus, defects in this mechanism can impact cerebellum development, which could result in developmental disorders. To summarize, PRRs are among the first responders in the cerebellum, and their activation will trigger an innate immune response.

### Innate Immune Responses in the Cerebellum

Immune responses in the cerebellum are a critical component of immune privilege in the CNS, and they are mediated by resident microglia and astrocytes without direct counterparts in the peripheral immune response. Moreover, microglia, dendritic cells (DCs), and astrocytes are also implicated in significant cross talk between CNS-infiltrating T cells, neutrophil complement, and other components of the immune system.

*DCs* play a critical role within the innate system as antigen-presenting cells (APCs) that induce adaptive immunity. However, there is no evidence that DCs with these abilities exist within the healthy cerebellum or CNS parenchyma. Additionally, some cells express DC surface markers (CD11b, CD11c) in the meningeal CNS covering and in the choroid plexus where CSF synthesis takes place [51]. The nonexistence of parenchymal DCs and the fact that no other parenchymal CNS cells correspond to the functional definition of DCs (e.g., APCs) establish the cellular basis of cerebellum immune privilege. Cerebellum immune tissue is privileged because of its robust intrathecal inflammatory reactions that can damage delicate post-mitotic cells such as neurons and oligodendrocytes. The absence of adaptive immune responses might confer a physiological advantage to the cerebellum. Because antigen entrance into the cerebellum suggests that there is a passage from a peripheral site of entry to the draining lymph nodes or spleen, it would likely be unnecessary for the cerebellum to generate a de novo adaptive immune response. However, further studies are required to support this hypothesis.

The main function of the blood–brain barrier (BBB) is to provide an accurate calibrated chemical and ionic environment to optimize neuronal function and to prevent inflammation by excluding plasma proteins and peripherally derived innate and adaptive immune responses [52, 53]. The parenchymal cerebellum environment has antiinflammatory proprieties because of high local levels of inflammation-suppressive cytokines (TGF- $\beta$ , IL-10), and it is supplied with gangliosides, which can be detrimental and lethal to T cells [54, 55]. Moreover, the absence of CNS innate immune cells activating adaptive immunity within the lymphoid organs suggests that resident innate immune cells need to interact directly with the damaged tissue [19].

*Microglia* are the resident macrophages of CNS. They play critical roles during pathophysiological conditions and display different topographical morphologies across the CNS and during phases of their lifespan [56]. Microglia are implicated in brain development, including in growth of neurites, synaptic pruning, spinogenesis, and apoptosis [57, 58] in areas such as the visual cortex, hippocampus, and retinogeniculate system [59]. However, there are few studies dedicated to the role of microglia during postnatal development. In the cerebellum, microglia are dispersed in both gray and white matter across diverse species, and there is a distinct arrangement of microglial processes according to their location in the cerebellar cortex [60]. Recent findings showed a continuous process of microglial maturation and a nonuniform distribution in the cerebellar cortex, demonstrating that microglia are an essential cellular component of the cerebellum [61]. This has been confirmed in vitro, where the microglia can promote apoptosis of Purkinje neurons [62]. However, there is no information about the presence of this mechanism in vivo.

Microglia also regulate synapse formation and plasticity by phagocytosis of unwanted synapses opsonized with complement components [63]. Impaired phagocytosis leads to an increase in the buildup of cellular debris and has detrimental effects on surrounding neurons, which are suspected to play a role in several neuro-degenerative and neurodevelopmental disorders [64].

*Neutrophils* are an important component of innate immunity and are also considered to be a first line of defense against bacteria, as demonstrated by life-threatening conditions that result from neutrophil deficiency [65]. Neutrophils respond to PAMPs and DAMPs through TLRs and NLRs to increase CD15, CD11b, and adhesion molecule expression, which are responsible for neutrophil recruitment [66]. Activated neutrophils release inflammatory mediators, angiogenic factors, lytic enzymes, and antimicrobial peptides [66] and play a major role in Th1 or Th17 recruitment through the production of CXCL9, CXCL10, or CCL20 [67, 68]. Neutrophil–lymphocyte interactions release survival factors that increase the lifespan of the short-lived neutrophils [19].

Chemokines and their receptors (CCL2/MCP-1, CCL5/RANTES, CXCL12/ CXCR4) have an important impact on the development and maintenance of the cerebellum [69], and they are expressed in several parts of the brain including the cerebellum [70]. Moreover, chemokines may influence the cross talk between neuron and glial cell types and can function as a third communication system in the brain [71]. The cerebellum is a CNS structure whose development continues to occur in the postnatal period, leaving it susceptible to malformation events. The external granule cell laver (EGL) is formed during cerebellar development, when cerebellar granule cell progenitors produced in the upper rhombic lip (URL) migrate over the cerebellar primordium to form a secondary proliferative zone, the EGL. Formation of the internal granule cell layer (IGL) occurs during early postnatal development, when granule cell precursors in the outer zone of the EGL proliferate, migrate to the inner zone of the EGL, and exit from the cell cycle, differentiate, and radially migrate via the Purkinje cell layer to their final destination [72]. CXCL12 is a strong chemoattractant for granule cell progenitors in the URL, EGL, and dentate gyrus, also playing a critical role during neurogenesis through promotion of axonal growth and being expressed in embryonic and postnatal meninges that cover the cerebellum [73]. It is also known as a potent chemoattractant for URL cells, inhibiting CXCR4-expressing premature granule cell migration to the EGL [74]. Therefore, the irregular EGL formation could partially be attributed to defects in cell migration from URL to EGL. Focusing on a chemokine-receptor axis, CXCL12/CXCR4 could provide new therapeutic potential for cerebellum developmental disorders.

Astrocytes have various functions in the CNS, which support differentiation and homeostasis of neurons and influence synaptic activity. They are also responsible for the formation of the BBB [75]. The BBB constitutes an elaborate structure formed by specialized capillary endothelial cells, which, together with pericytes and perivascular glial cells, control exchanges between the CNS and the periphery. Intricate interactions between various cellular components in the BBB are crucial in establishing its function and maintaining the delicate homeostasis of the brain microenvironment [76]. Existence of numerous astrocytic end-feet near the BBB demonstrate their role in regulation of BBB permeability, which is increased by

humoral mediators that can be secreted by astrocytes as well as other glial cells, including endothelin-1, glutamate, IL-1B, IL-6, tumor necrosis factor (TNF), macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-2, and nitric oxide [77]. Astrocytes subsequently regulate neuronal differentiation and homeostasis, and evidence has shown that astrocytes interact with the immune system because they express a variety of PRRs, and both recognize danger signals and respond accordingly [78]. Following PRR activation, astrocytes produce cytokines, chemokines, and neurotrophins that target neighboring glial cells and neurons [78]. Therefore, the perception of immune privilege in the CNS can be minimized because astrocytes can reduce inflammation via releasing IL-27, and they also have constructive neuroprotective effects on the healthy brain [79]. Astrocyte activation leads to activation of damage control mechanisms such as induction of a neuroprotective effect and polarization toward Th2 profile. Conversely, IFN- $\gamma$  produced by Th1 cells can suppress astrocytes that aggravate neuroinflammation [80]. Thus, astrocytes may constrain and defer neuroinflammation, but high levels of IFN- $\gamma$  might promote astrocytes to become potent APCs and even promote inflammation [81].

The complement system includes nearly 40 soluble and membrane-bound proteins that play a critical role in host defense against pathogens and initiation of inflammation [82, 83]. The liver is the main source of complement production, but it can be produced by many types of resident cells in the CNS [84]. Complement receptor expression (C3a and C5a) has been shown on glial cells and neurons [85]. The complement system contributes to modulating CNS development and inflammation [86]. Complement components C1q and C3 are expressed on neurons throughout the CNS where they opsonize synapses to highlight them for phagocytosis by microglia [87]. Their expression peaks during crucial stages of neurodevelopment such as synapse formation and activity-dependent refinement [88]. MHC1 expression is also spread across the brain including cerebellar neurons and neuronal synaptic membranes, and MHC1 is thought to be fundamental for synapse formation and plasticity; potentially any defect in MHC1 could, thus, lead to cerebellar developmental disorders such as autism [89]. Systemic complement depletion diminishes perihematomal brain edema and TNF- $\alpha$  release following experimental intracerebral hemorrhage [90]. The core mechanism involving complement components in immune cells recruited into the brain and cerebellum parenchyma through the BBB remains unclear. Some therapeutic approaches using large recombinant molecules may work only when the BBB is compromised, while small molecule drugs, such as known receptor antagonists and low molecular weight heparin, could be potential therapeutics for treating patients with chronic disorders who have a non-compromised BBB. Blocking or preventing complement activation is a successful approach to decrease leukocyte recruitment and endothelial activation during CNS inflammation [78]. Therefore, specificity and balance challenges of various coincident cascades need to be highlighted; approaches that both promote beneficial effects and prevent detrimental activities are attractive goals for better understanding of human neurological disorders.

### Adaptive Immune T and B Cells in the Cerebellum

Adaptive immunity is orchestrated by T-helper (Th) cell subsets, through secretion of lineage-specific cytokines. T cells enter the CNS and cerebellum parenchyma in several autoimmune, infectious, and degenerative neurological diseases. Therefore, T cells can be directly responsible for neuronal damage in many neurological diseases via different mechanisms of neuronal damage that are mediated through different T-cell subsets. For example, lesions of the vestibulocerebellum decrease the secretion of hematopoietic cytokines in the bone marrow and thymus tissue culture and decrease peripheral blood leukocyte concentration, neutrophil myeloperoxidase activity, and antibody response [91]. Conversely, the suppressive influence of vestibulocerebellar lesions on immune function demonstrate that induced lymphocyte proliferation is significantly enhanced on days 8, 16, and 32 following the effective kainic acid lesions in the bilateral cerebellar fastigial nuclei in rats [92]. Subsequently, cerebellar fastigial nuclei contribute to the modulation of lymphocyte function but not to the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis [92].

Although T cells within the CNS and cerebellum have been reported to be pathogenic cells, recent findings have demonstrated important functions for T cells in the healthy CNS [93]. Immunization of rats with copolymer (Cop-1), which mimics the myelin basic protein in the CNS and polarizes lymphocyte activation toward the Th2 profile, protects the injured optic nerve from secondary degeneration [94]. Moreover, regulatory T cells (Treg cells) reduce microglial activation after inflammation develops, and astrocytes promote Treg cell transcription factor expression [95]. Therefore, T cells are key players and might have a beneficial role in the development of CNS adaptive immunity.

The balance between Treg and inflammatory T cells (IFN-y-producing Th1 and IL-17-producing Th17) is critical in neuroinflammatory diseases and contributes to the pathogenesis [96, 97]. Children with cerebellar developmental disorders such as autism displayed impaired immune profiles and function, which is characterized by a systemic deficit of Foxp3+-(Treg) cells and increased expression of some transcription factors (RORyt<sup>+</sup>, T-bet<sup>+</sup>, GATA-3<sup>+</sup>) [98]. This suggests the importance of transcription factor signaling, which results in an immunological imbalance in cerebellar developmental disorders. The balance between Treg cells and other T-cell subsets (Th1, Th2, Th17) seems to be important for cerebellum homeostasis, neurogenesis, and neuroinflammation. The immune system plays a crucial role in the recovery process of cerebellum development and disorders [99]. Researchers working on new therapeutic strategies have a cutting-edge understanding of the pathogenesis of many diseases and disorders, but there is no specific central therapy targeting Treg cells or suppressing Th1 or Th17 cells. It is currently unknown whether Treg cells can be selectively targeted. By better understanding the regulation of harmful effects compared with beneficial homeostasis promoting T-cell responses at the immune and central nervous systems, it is believed that novel potential therapeutic strategies will be identified, which could also avoid side effects of currently available immunosuppressive treatments.

*Humoral immune responses controlled by B lymphocytes* have been implicated in CNS and cerebellar diseases and disorders [99]. Recently, it was reported that the association of maternal autoimmune disorders with cerebellar developmental disorders in offspring may be regulated by the passive transfer to the fetus of maternal immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies that show reactivity to self-proteins in the mother or child [100]. Thus, pregnant women who have immune disorders or autoimmune reactions, even at a clinically undetectable level, may be linked with the production of maternal antibodies that can enter the fetal brain and potentially perturb fetal brain development. Collectively, immune responses are critical in cerebellum development, and balance of these responses is required to avoid cerebellar developmental diseases/disorders.

Purkinje cells are a class of GABAergic neurons located in the cerebellum that could shape adaptive immunity. Immunoglobulin plays a role in many neuro-disorders. Antibodies to cytoplasmic components of cerebellar Purkinje cells have frequently been labeled in serum and CSF [101]. However, the roles of such antibodies in the pathogenesis of neuronal injury are undefined. Intact neurons are thought to be essentially impermeable to IgG, and antibodies to cytoplasmic or nuclear neuronal antigens cannot enter neurons and bind to their intracellular targeted antigens [102]. The cerebellar Purkinje cell is a possible exception. Experimentally, Purkinje cells showed a high endocytic activity for a wide range of substances that originate from the ventricular CSF [103], and they can also incorporate IgG and S100 [101]. Therefore, the aptitude of Purkinje cells and related neurons to engulf antibodies is vital because of the possible role of autoantibodies in disease pathogenesis and because cerebellar injuries and Purkinje cell damage have been demonstrated in animals and human patients receiving IgG-conjugated immunotoxins [101].

# Cerebellum and Immune Response Interactions in Cerebellar Diseases

Cerebellum and cerebellar Purkinje cells seem to be a common immunological target in some neurological disorders. This may be because the cerebellum is one of the largest, oldest, and most conserved structures in the nervous system and/or because Purkinje cells have good and various antigenic targets.

The immune system mediates the pathophysiology of cerebellar diseases via different immune responses. Evidence suggests that the cerebellum is a CNS target of autoimmunity, as shown by the high prevalence of paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration (PCD) within paraneoplastic neurological syndromes [104]. Immunemediated cerebellar ataxia, according to the associated autoantibodies, includes gluten ataxia, paraneoplastic cerebellar degeneration, anti-glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies (GAD) antibody associated with cerebellar ataxia, and Hashimoto's encephalopathy (HE) [105]. Many of these autoantibodies distinguish cerebellarspecific antigens traced in the Purkinje cell soma to dendrites resulting in a Medusahead immunohistochemical staining pattern [106]. There is a large amount of evidence to suggest that the cerebellum can be a primary target for organ-specific autoimmune disease, and thus, the proposed term of primary autoimmune cerebellar ataxia (PACA) suggests that there is no known trigger factor for the development of immune-mediated damage to the cerebellum, but that it is more likely attributed to a hormonal imbalance, which impairs various immune responses such as in hypothyroidism, type 1 diabetes mellitus, and vitiligo. Therefore, humoral mechanisms, cell-mediated immunity, inflammation, and vascular injuries could contribute to the cerebellar discrepancies in immune-mediated cerebellar ataxia.

Some of the pathological damage to CNS is a result of immune-mediated mechanisms and not secondary to vitamin or nutrient deficiencies. Examination of patients with gluten ataxia revealed patchy loss of Purkinje cells in the cerebellar cortex [107]. Moreover, gluten ataxia is characterized by a diffuse infiltrate of T lymphocytes with a smaller number of B lymphocytes and macrophages in the cerebellar white matter and the posterior column of the spinal cord as well as loss of Purkinje cells [107]. Similar findings have been defined in patients with established celiac disease who then developed cerebellar ataxia [108]. Experimentally, antibody crossreactivity between antigenic epitopes on Purkinje cells and gluten peptides has been reported [109]. Serum from patients with gluten ataxia and patients with celiac disease but with no neurological symptoms display cross-reactivity with epitopes on Purkinje cells using both human and rat cerebellum. The reactivity can be abolished after absorption of the antigliadin antibodies using crude gliadin. A study investigated the epitope responsible for cross-reaction between gliadin peptides and cerebellar peptides, by assessing the reactivity to specific peptides from the gliadin and cerebellum in serum from 50 autism patients and 50 healthy controls. Autism patients showed a significant increase in the antibodies against gliadin and the cerebellar peptides [110]. Therefore, this study suggests that a subgroup of patients with autism produce antibodies against Purkinje cells and gliadin peptides, which may be responsible for some of the neurological symptoms of autism. An antibodymediated pathogenesis is also supported experimentally, revealing that intraventricular injection of serum from patients with gluten ataxia can induce ataxia in mice [111]. In conclusion, the brain-gut axis, the enteric nervous system, and the immune system contribute to the immune pathobiology of neurodevelopmental disorders through production of specific antibodies against cerebellum peptides to induce immune responses, which have detrimental effects on cerebellar tissues.

Communication between the gut and the brain, which is regarded as the gutbrain axis, is a well-known bidirectional neurohumoral communication system. Previous research that focused on the gut-brain axis mostly referred to its contribution in functional gastrointestinal syndromes, such as irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) [112]. It was recently reported that gut microbiota can modulate brain development and produce behavioral phenotypes via the gut-brain axis [113]. Thus, the potential effects of the microbiota-gut-brain axis in neurodevelopmental disorders are receiving much attention. The bidirectional communication in the microbiotagut-brain axis acts mainly through both neuroendocrine and neuroimmune mechanisms. Moreover, the metabolites of microbiota can be absorbed and transported by the blood before crossing the BBB to modulate cerebral functions. The gut microbiota also contributes to cerebral developmental disorders by modulating the host immune response through releasing a storm of pro-inflammatory cytokines (including IL-1, IL-6, and IL-18) by intestinal epithelial cells, intestinal DCs, and macrophages [114]. Vagal afferents could be another potential mechanism by which the microbiota–gut–brain axis regulates communication, in which gut microbiota can send signals to the brain through the vagus nerve. Additionally, interruption of the microbiota–gut–brain axis in neurodevelopmental disorders such as autism is a comorbidity of neurodevelopmental deficits and intestinal symptoms. Moreover, autistic behaviors were often associated with gut microbiota dysbiosis [115]. Restoring the balance of the microbiota–gut–brain axis offers promising beneficial therapeutic effects on cerebellar developmental disorders such as autistic deficits.

Therefore, a link between the cerebellum and gastrointestinal tract might exist. Patients with gluten sensitivity and normal bowel mucosa (occasionally signified as potential celiac disease) have evidence of antibodies targeting tissue transglutaminase (TG) in the small bowel mucosa and at extraintestinal sites such as the CNS and/ or cerebellum [116]. IgA deposition on the jejunal tissue transglutaminase has been reported in the jejunal tissue but also in the brain (mostly in cerebellum) of patients with gluten ataxia and in none of the controls [117]. This immune response described for gluten ataxia suggests a neural transglutaminase and results in clinical manifestations primarily in the brain or the peripheral nervous system, with minimal involvement of the gut; the gut may be involved through deposition of autoantibodies against brain transglutaminases (TG6) [107]. Thus, gluten ataxia is immunemediated and belongs to the same spectrum of gluten sensitivity as celiac disease. Transglutaminases may play a critical role in pathogenesis of various signs seen in the context of gluten sensitivity. Thus, antibodies against TG6 may become novel markers for the neurological manifestations of gluten sensitivity. There is also cellmediated immunopathogenesis. Most patients with celiac disease have HLA-DQ2 or HLA-DO8 class II molecules that bind and present peptides derived from exogenous protein antigens to CD4 T cells. Thus, it has been hypothesized that T cells that react with gluten peptides play a major role in the pathophysiology of cerebellar ataxia because celiac disease is caused by an exogenous protein antigen and is linked to HLA-DO2/HLA-DO8 expression.

### Conclusion

Understanding the links between the immune, CNS, enteric, and endocrine systems is fundamental to understand the bidirectional communication between the immune system and cerebellum. An imbalance in the neuroimmune interaction may promote the onset of autoimmune disorders and constitute an important component of pathogenic mechanisms involved in neurodevelopmental and neurodegenerative diseases such as autism and cerebellar ataxia (Fig. 1). The eventual challenge may be to elucidate how these various mechanisms of communication interact with each other.

**Funding** This was supported by grants from the Canadian Foundation for Innovation, Crohn's and Colitis Canada, Research Manitoba, Children's Hospital Research Institute of Manitoba, Canadian Institutes of Health Research to JEG, and University of Manitoba, Research Manitoba and Health Sciences Foundation – Mindel and Tom Olenick Research Award in Immunology to NE.

# References

- 1. Glickstein M, Strata P, Voogd J. Cerebellum: history. Neuroscience. 2009;162(3):549-59.
- Dantzer R. Innate immunity at the forefront of psychoneuroimmunology. Brain Behav Immun. 2004;18(1):1–6.
- 3. Jiang C-L, Lu C-L, Liu X-Y. The molecular basis for bidirectional communication between the immune and neuroendocrine systems. Domest Anim Endocrinol. 1998;15(5):363–9.
- Manto MU, Jissendi P. Cerebellum: links between development, developmental disorders and motor learning. The cerebellum: from development to learning. Front Neuroanat. 2007:6;1. doi:10.3389/fnana.2012.00001.
- 5. Deverman BE, Patterson PH. Cytokines and CNS development. Neuron. 2009;64(1):61-78.
- Zhu J-N, Zhang Y-P, Song Y-N, Wang J-J. Cerebellar interpositus nuclear and gastric vagal afferent inputs reach and converge onto glycemia-sensitive neurons of the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus in rats. Neurosci Res. 2004;48(4):405–17.
- 7. Cavdar S, ŞAN T, Aker R, ŞEHİRLİ Ü, Onat F. Cerebellar connections to the dorsomedial and posterior nuclei of the hypothalamus in the rat. J Anat. 2001;198(1):37–45.
- Cavdar S, Onat F, Aker R, ŞEHİRLİ Ü, ŞAN T, Raci YH. The afferent connections of the posterior hypothalamic nucleus in the rat using horseradish peroxidase. J Anat. 2001;198(4):463–72.
- Wang J, Pu Y, Wang T. Influences of cerebellar interpositus nucleus and fastigial nucleus on neuronal activity of lateral hypothalamic area. Sci China Ser C Life Sci. 1997;40(2):176–83.
- Haines D, Dietrichs E. An HRP study of hypothalamo-cerebellar and cerebello-hypothalamic connections in squirrel monkey (*saimiri sciureus*). J Comp Neurol. 1984;229(4):559–75.
- 11. King JS, Cummings SL, Bishop GA. Peptides in cerebellar circuits. Prog Neurobiol. 1992;39(4):423–42.
- 12. Lind R, Swanson L, Ganten D. Organization of angiotensin II immunoreactive cells and fibers in the rat central nervous system. Neuroendocrinology. 1985;40(1):2–24.
- 13. Koibuchi N. The role of thyroid hormone on cerebellar development. Cerebellum. 2008;7(4):530–3.
- 14. Koibuchi N, Jingu H, Iwasaki T, Chin WW. Current perspectives on the role of thyroid hormone in growth and development of cerebellum. Cerebellum. 2003;2(4):279.
- 15. Hajo F, Patel A, Bala R. Effect of thyroid deficiency on the synaptic organization of the rat cerebellar cortex. Brain Res. 1973;50(2):387–401.
- De Vito P, Incerpi S, Pedersen JZ, Luly P, Davis FB, Davis PJ. Thyroid hormones as modulators of immune activities at the cellular level. Thyroid. 2011;21(8):879–90.
- Janeway CA. The immune system evolved to discriminate infectious nonself from noninfectious self. Immunol Today. 1992;13(1):11–6.
- Kigerl KA, Lai W, Rivest S, Hart RP, Satoskar AR, Popovich PG. Toll-like receptor (TLR)-2 and TLR-4 regulate inflammation, gliosis, and myelin sparing after spinal cord injury. J Neurochem. 2007;102(1):37–50.
- 19. Ransohoff RM, Brown MA. Innate immunity in the central nervous system. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(4):1164–71.
- Colton CA, Wilcock DM. Assessing activation states in microglia. CNS Neurol Disord-Drug Targets (Formerly Curr Drug Targets-CNS Neurol Disord). 2010;9(2):174–91.

- Rock FL, Hardiman G, Timans JC, Kastelein RA, Bazan JF. A family of human receptors structurally related to Drosophila Toll. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1998;95(2):588–93.
- 22. Yao L, Kan EM, Lu J, Hao A, Dheen ST, Kaur C, et al. Toll-like receptor 4 mediates microglial activation and production of inflammatory mediators in neonatal rat brain following hypoxia: role of TLR4 in hypoxic microglia. J Neuroinflammation. 2013;10(1):23.
- Basu A, Krady JK, Levison SW. Interleukin-1: a master regulator of neuroinflammation. J Neurosci Res. 2004;78(2):151–6.
- Dinarello CA, Simon A, Van Der Meer JW. Treating inflammation by blocking interleukin-1 in a broad spectrum of diseases. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2012;11(8):633–52.
- Karikó K, Ni H, Capodici J, Lamphier M, Weissman D. mRNA is an endogenous ligand for Toll-like receptor 3. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(13):12542–50.
- DeMarco RA, Fink MP, Lotze MT. Monocytes promote natural killer cell interferon gamma production in response to the endogenous danger signal HMGB1. Mol Immunol. 2005;42(4):433–44.
- Yu M, Wang H, Ding A, Golenbock DT, Latz E, Czura CJ, et al. HMGB1 signals through toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 and TLR2. Shock. 2006;26(2):174–9.
- Zhang Q, Raoof M, Chen Y, Sumi Y, Sursal T, Junger W, et al. Circulating mitochondrial DAMPs cause inflammatory responses to injury. Nature. 2010;464(7285):104–7.
- Davalos D, Grutzendler J, Yang G, Kim JV, Zuo Y, Jung S, et al. ATP mediates rapid microglial response to local brain injury in vivo. Nat Neurosci. 2005;8(6):752–8.
- 30. Brudek T, Winge K, Agander TK, Pakkenberg B. Screening of Toll-like receptors expression in multiple system atrophy brains. Neurochem Res. 2013;38(6):1252–9.
- Kigerl KA, de Rivero Vaccari JP, Dietrich WD, Popovich PG, Keane RW. Pattern recognition receptors and central nervous system repair. Exp Neurol. 2014;258:5–16.
- 32. Bsibsi M, Ravid R, Gveric D, van Noort JM. Broad expression of Toll-like receptors in the human central nervous system. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2002;61(11):1013–21.
- Okun E, Griffioen KJ, Lathia JD, Tang S-C, Mattson MP, Arumugam TV. Toll-like receptors in neurodegeneration. Brain Res Rev. 2009;59(2):278–92.
- Di Virgilio F. The therapeutic potential of modifying inflammasomes and NOD-like receptors. Pharmacol Rev. 2013;65(3):872–905.
- Martinon F, Burns K, Tschopp J. The Inflammasome: a molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of proIL-β. Mol Cell. 2002;10(2):417–26.
- 36. Fernandes-Alnemri T, Wu J, Yu J, Datta P, Miller B, Jankowski W, et al. The pyroptosome: a supramolecular assembly of ASC dimers mediating inflammatory cell death via caspase-1 activation. Cell Death Differ. 2007;14(9):1590–604.
- 37. Abulafia DP, de Rivero Vaccari JP, Lozano JD, Lotocki G, Keane RW, Dietrich WD. Inhibition of the inflammasome complex reduces the inflammatory response after thromboembolic stroke in mice. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2009;29(3):534–44.
- Minkiewicz J, Rivero Vaccari JP, Keane RW. Human astrocytes express a novel NLRP2 inflammasome. Glia. 2013;61(7):1113–21.
- Shi F, Yang Y, Kouadir M, Fu Y, Yang L, Zhou X, et al. Inhibition of phagocytosis and lysosomal acidification suppresses neurotoxic prion peptide-induced NALP3 inflammasome activation in BV2 microglia. J Neuroimmunol. 2013;260(1):121–5.
- de Rivero Vaccari JP, Lotocki G, Marcillo AE, Dietrich WD, Keane RW. A molecular platform in neurons regulates inflammation after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci. 2008;28(13):3404–14.
- 41. Couturier J, Stancu I-C, Schakman O, Pierrot N, Huaux F, Kienlen-Campard P, et al. Activation of phagocytic activity in astrocytes by reduced expression of the inflammasome component ASC and its implication in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease. J Neuroinflammation. 2016;13(1):1–13.
- 42. Gustin A, Kirchmeyer M, Koncina E, Felten P, Losciuto S, Heurtaux T, et al. NLRP3 inflammasome is expressed and functional in mouse brain microglia but not in astrocytes. PLoS One. 2015;10(6):e0130624.

- Walsh JG, Muruve DA, Power C. Inflammasomes in the CNS. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2014;15(2):84–97.
- 44. Andoh T, Kishi H, Motoki K, Nakanishi K, Kuraishi Y, Muraguchi A. Protective effect of IL-18 on kainate- and IL-1β-induced cerebellar ataxia in mice. J Immunol. 2008;180(4):2322–8.
- 45. Goines PE, Ashwood P. Cytokine dysregulation in autism spectrum disorders (ASD): possible role of the environment. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 2013;36:67–81.
- 46. Savarin C, Bergmann CC. Neuroimmunology of central nervous system viral infections: the cells, molecules and mechanisms involved. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2008;8(4):472–9.
- 47. Szabo A, Bene K, Gogolák P, Réthi B, Lányi Á, Jankovich I, et al. RLR-mediated production of interferon-β by a human dendritic cell subset and its role in virus-specific immunity. J Leukoc Biol. 2012;92(1):159–69.
- 48. Duan X, Ponomareva L, Veeranki S, Panchanathan R, Dickerson E, Choubey D. Differential roles for the interferon-inducible IFI16 and AIM2 innate immune sensors for cytosolic DNA in cellular senescence of human fibroblasts. Mol Cancer Res. 2011;9(5):589–602.
- Adamczak SE. Molecular recognition of DNA by the AIM2 inflammasome induces neuronal pyroptosis: implications in infection and host tissue damage. Open Access Dissertations. 2012; 854.
- Husemann J, Loike JD, Anankov R, Febbraio M, Silverstein SC. Scavenger receptors in neurobiology and neuropathology: their role on microglia and other cells of the nervous system. Glia. 2002;40(2):195–205.
- Edele F, Molenaar R, Gütle D, Dudda JC, Jakob T, Homey B, et al. Cutting edge: instructive role of peripheral tissue cells in the imprinting of T cell homing receptor patterns. J Immunol. 2008;181(6):3745–9.
- 52. Desalvo MK, Mayer N, Mayer F, Bainton RJ. Physiologic and anatomic characterization of the brain surface glia barrier of Drosophila. Glia. 2011;59(9):1322–40.
- Banerjee S, Bhat MA. Neuron-glial interactions in blood-brain barrier formation. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2007;30:235.
- 54. Kwidzinski E, Mutlu L, Kovac A, Bunse J, Goldmann J, Mahlo J, et al. Self-tolerance in the immune privileged CNS: lessons from the entorhinal cortex lesion model. Advances in research on neurodegeneration: Austria, Springer; 2003. p. 29–49.
- 55. Malipiero U, Koedel U, Pfister H-W, Levéen P, Bürki K, Reith W, et al. TGFβ receptor II gene deletion in leucocytes prevents cerebral vasculitis in bacterial meningitis. Brain. 2006;129(9):2404–15.
- Tremblay M-E, Stevens B, Sierra A, Wake H, Bessis A, Nimmerjahn A. The role of microglia in the healthy brain. J Neurosci. 2011;31(45):16064–9.
- 57. Kaur C, Sivakumar V, Zou Z, Ling E-A. Microglia-derived proinflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-1beta induce Purkinje neuronal apoptosis via their receptors in hypoxic neonatal rat brain. Brain Struct Funct. 2014;219(1):151–70.
- Lenz KM, Nugent BM, Haliyur R, McCarthy MM. Microglia are essential to masculinization of brain and behavior. J Neurosci. 2013;33(7):2761–72.
- Schafer DP, Lehrman EK, Kautzman AG, Koyama R, Mardinly AR, Yamasaki R, et al. Microglia sculpt postnatal neural circuits in an activity and complement-dependent manner. Neuron. 2012;74(4):691–705.
- Cuadros MA, Rodriguez-Ruiz J, Calvente R, Almendros A, Marin-Teva JL, Navascues J. Microglia development in the quail cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. 1997;389(3):390–401.
- Perez-Pouchoulen M, VanRyzin JW, McCarthy MM. Morphological and phagocytic profile of microglia in the developing rat cerebellum. ENEURO. 2015;2(4):0036–15. 2015
- 62. Marin-Teva JL, Dusart I, Colin C, Gervais A, Van Rooijen N, Mallat M. Microglia promote the death of developing Purkinje cells. Neuron. 2004;41(4):535–47.
- 63. Streit WJ. Microglia and macrophages in the developing CNS. Neurotoxicology. 2001;22(5):619–24.
- 64. Schwartz M, Kipnis J, Rivest S, Prat A. How do immune cells support and shape the brain in health, disease, and aging? J Neurosci. 2013;33(45):17587–96.

- 65. Nathan C. Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6(3):173-82.
- Mantovani A, Cassatella MA, Costantini C, Jaillon S. Neutrophils in the activation and regulation of innate and adaptive immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(8):519–31.
- Morita K, Miura M, Paolone DR, Engeman TM, Kapoor A, Remick DG, et al. Early chemokine cascades in murine cardiac grafts regulate T cell recruitment and progression of acute allograft rejection. J Immunol. 2001;167(5):2979–84.
- Halloran P, Fairchild R. The puzzling role of CXCR3 and its ligands in organ allograft rejection. Am J Transplant. 2008;8(8):1578–9.
- 69. Klein RS, Rubin JB, Gibson HD, DeHaan EN, Alvarez-Hernandez X, Segal RA, et al. SDF-1α induces chemotaxis and enhances Sonic hedgehog-induced proliferation of cerebellar granule cells. Development. 2001;128(11):1971–81.
- Stumm RK, Rummel J, Junker V, Culmsee C, Pfeiffer M, Krieglstein J, et al. A dual role for the SDF-1/CXCR4 chemokine receptor system in adult brain: isoform-selective regulation of SDF-1 expression modulates CXCR4-dependent neuronal plasticity and cerebral leukocyte recruitment after focal ischemia. J Neurosci. 2002;22(14):5865–78.
- Rostène W, Dansereau MA, Godefroy D, Van Steenwinckel J, Goazigo ARL, Mélik-Parsadaniantz S, et al. Neurochemokines: a menage a trois providing new insights on the functions of chemokines in the central nervous system. J Neurochem. 2011;118(5):680–94.
- 72. Wingate RJ. The rhombic lip and early cerebellar development. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2001;11(1):82–8.
- Zhu Y, Yu T, Zhang X-C, Nagasawa T, Wu JY, Rao Y. Role of the chemokine SDF-1 as the meningeal attractant for embryonic cerebellar neurons. Nat Neurosci. 2002;5(8):719–20.
- 74. Ozawa PMM, Ariza CB, Ishibashi CM, Fujita TC, Banin-Hirata BK, Oda JMM, et al. Role of CXCL12 and CXCR4 in normal cerebellar development and medulloblastoma. Int J Cancer. 2016;138(1):10–3.
- Daré E, Schulte G, Karovic O, Hammarberg C, Fredholm BB. Modulation of glial cell functions by adenosine receptors. Physiol Behav. 2007;92(1):15–20.
- Lécuyer M-A, Kebir H, Prat A. Glial influences on BBB functions and molecular players in immune cell trafficking. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Mol Basis Dis. 2016;1862(3):472–82.
- 77. Abbott NJ. Astrocyte–endothelial interactions and blood–brain barrier permeability. J Anat. 2002;200(5):523–34.
- Wu F, Zou Q, Ding X, Shi D, Zhu X, Hu W, et al. Complement component C3a plays a critical role in endothelial activation and leukocyte recruitment into the brain. J Neuroinflammation. 2016;13(1):1–14.
- 79. Hindinger C, Bergmann CC, Hinton DR, Phares TW, Parra GI, Hussain S, et al. IFN-γ signaling to astrocytes protects from autoimmune mediated neurological disability. PLoS One. 2012;7(7):e42088.
- Jehs T, Faber C, Juel HB, Nissen MH. Astrocytoma cells upregulate expression of proinflammatory cytokines after co-culture with activated peripheral blood mononuclear cells. APMIS. 2011;119(8):551–61.
- Yang J, Tao H, Liu Y, Zhan X, Liu Y, Wang X, et al. Characterization of the interaction between astrocytes and encephalitogenic lymphocytes during the development of experimental autoimmune encephalitomyelitis (EAE) in mice. Clin Exp Immunol. 2012;170(3):254–65.
- Markiewski MM, Lambris JD. The role of complement in inflammatory diseases from behind the scenes into the spotlight. Am J Pathol. 2007;171(3):715–27.
- Brennan FH, Anderson AJ, Taylor SM, Woodruff TM, Ruitenberg MJ. Complement activation in the injured central nervous system: another dual-edged sword? J Neuroinflammation. 2012;9(1):1.
- Veerhuis R, Nielsen HM, Tenner AJ. Complement in the brain. Mol Immunol. 2011;48(14):1592–603.
- Davoust N, Jones J, Stahel PF, Ames RS, Barnum SR. Receptor for the C3a anaphylatoxin is expressed by neurons and glial cells. Glia. 1999;26(3):201–11.

- Arumugam TV, Woodruff TM, Lathia JD, Selvaraj PK, Mattson MP, Taylor SM. Neuroprotection in stroke by complement inhibition and immunoglobulin therapy. Neuroscience. 2009;158(3):1074–89.
- Stevens B, Allen NJ, Vazquez LE, Howell GR, Christopherson KS, Nouri N, et al. The classical complement cascade mediates CNS synapse elimination. Cell. 2007;131(6):1164–78.
- Perry VH, O'connor V. C1q: the perfect complement for a synaptic feast? Nat Rev Neurosci. 2008;9(11):807–11.
- 89. Shatz CJ. MHC class I: an unexpected role in neuronal plasticity. Neuron. 2009;64(1):40-5.
- Hua Y, Xi G, Keep RF, Hoff JT. Complement activation in the brain after experimental intracerebral hemorrhage. J Neurosurg. 2000;92(6):1016–22.
- Ghoshal D, Sinha S, Sinha A, Bhattacharyya P. Immunosuppressive effect of vestibulocerebellar lesion in rats. Neurosci Lett. 1998;257(2):89–92.
- 92. Peng Y-P, Qiu Y-H, Chao B-B, Wang J-J. Effect of lesions of cerebellar fastigial nuclei on lymphocyte functions of rats. Neurosci Res. 2005;51(3):275–84.
- Ellwardt E, Walsh JT, Kipnis J, Zipp F. Understanding the role of T cells in CNS homeostasis. Trends Immunol. 2016;37(2):154–65.
- 94. Kipnis J, Yoles E, Porat Z, Cohen A, Mor F, Sela M, et al. T cell immunity to copolymer 1 confers neuroprotection on the damaged optic nerve: possible therapy for optic neuropathies. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2000;97(13):7446–51.
- Xie L, Choudhury GR, Winters A, Yang SH, Jin K. Cerebral regulatory T cells restrain microglia/macrophage-mediated inflammatory responses via IL-10. Eur J Immunol. 2015;45(1):180–91.
- 96. Luchtman DW, Ellwardt E, Larochelle C, Zipp F. IL-17 and related cytokines involved in the pathology and immunotherapy of multiple sclerosis: current and future developments. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2014;25(4):403–13.
- Liblau RS, Gonzalez-Dunia D, Wiendl H, Zipp F. Neurons as targets for T cells in the nervous system. Trends Neurosci. 2013;36(6):315–24.
- Ahmad SF, Zoheir KM, Ansari MA, Nadeem A, Bakheet SA, AL-Ayadhi LY, et al. Dysregulation of Th1, Th2, Th17, and T regulatory cell-related transcription factor signaling in children with autism. doi:10.1007/s12035-016-9977-0. Mol Neurobiol. 2016:1–11.
- Campbell SJ, Wilcockson DC, Butchart AG, Perry VH, Anthony DC. Altered chemokine expression in the spinal cord and brain contributes to differential interleukin-1beta-induced neutrophil recruitment. J Neurochem. 2002;83:432–41.
- Estes ML, McAllister AK. Immune mediators in the brain and peripheral tissues in autism spectrum disorder. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2015;16(8):469–86.
- 101. Hill KE, Clawson SA, Rose JW, Carlson NG, Greenlee JE. Cerebellar Purkinje cells incorporate immunoglobulins and immunotoxins in vitro: implications for human neurological disease and immunotherapeutics. J Neuroinflammation. 2009;6(1):1–12.
- Dalmau J, Rosenfeld MR. Paraneoplastic syndromes of the CNS. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7(4):327–40.
- 103. Chen S, Su H-S. Selective labeling by propidium iodide injected into the lateral cerebral ventricle of the rat. Brain Res. 1989;483(2):379–83.
- 104. Saini V, Weisz A, Hoffman J. Paraneoplastic Cerebellar Degeneration (PCD) Syndrome in Diffuse Large B-cell Lymphoma (DLBCL): expanding the spectrum of malignancies associated with cerebellar degeneration (P5. 260). Neurology. 2016;86(16 Supplement):P5–260.
- Mitoma H, Hadjivassiliou M, Honnorat J. Guidelines for treatment of immune-mediated cerebellar ataxias. Cerebellum Ataxias. 2015;2:14.
- 106. Jarius S, Wildemann B. 'Medusa head ataxia': the expanding spectrum of Purkinje cell antibodies in autoimmune cerebellar ataxia. Part 1: anti-mGluR1, anti-Homer-3, anti-Sj/ITPR1 and anti-CARP VIII. J Neuroinflammation. 2015;12(1):1.
- 107. Hadjivassiliou M. Chapter 11 immune-mediated acquired ataxias. In: Sankara HS, Alexandra D, editors. Handbook of clinical neurology. Vol. 103. Elsevier; 2012. p. 189–99.
- Cooke W, Smith WT. Neurological disorders associated with adult celiac disease. United States. Brain. 1966;89(4):683–722.

- 109. Wiendl H, Mehling M, Dichgans J, Melms A, Bürk K. The humoral response in the pathogenesis of gluten ataxia. Neurology. 2003;60(8):1397–9.
- Vojdani A, O'Bryan T, Green J, McCandless J, Woeller K, Vojdani E, et al. Immune response to dietary proteins, gliadin and cerebellar peptides in children with autism. Nutr Neurosci. 2004;7(3):151–61.
- 111. Boscolo S, Sarich A, Lorenzon A, Passoni M, Rui V, Stebel M, et al. Gluten ataxia. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2007;1107(1):319–28.
- 112. Sanger GJ, Lee K. Hormones of the gut–brain axis as targets for the treatment of upper gastrointestinal disorders. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2008;7(3):241–54.
- Heijtz RD, Wang S, Anuar F, Qian Y, Björkholm B, Samuelsson A, et al. Normal gut microbiota modulates brain development and behavior. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2011;108(7):3047–52.
- 114. Maynard CL, Elson CO, Hatton RD, Weaver CT. Reciprocal interactions of the intestinal microbiota and immune system. Nature. 2012;489(7415):231–41.
- 115. Li Q, Zhou J-M. The microbiota–gut–brain axis and its potential therapeutic role in autism spectrum disorder. Neuroscience. 2016;324:131–9.
- 116. Korponay-Szabó IR, Halttunen T, Szalai Z, Laurila K, Kiraly R, Kovacs J, et al. In vivo targeting of intestinal and extraintestinal transglutaminase 2 by coeliac autoantibodies. Gut. 2004;53(5):641–8.
- 117. Hadjivassiliou M, Mäki M, Sanders D, Williamson C, Grünewald R, Woodroofe N, et al. Autoantibody targeting of brain and intestinal transglutaminase in gluten ataxia. Neurology. 2006;66(3):373–7.

# **Teratogenic Influences on Cerebellar Development**

### **Albert E. Chudley**

**Abstract** The effects of environmental agents on cerebellar development are profound, and this organ has not been given the attention that is deserving of it, based on its importance in motor, cognitive, and behavioral functions. This chapter will review select agents associated with teratogenic effects on cerebellar structure and function. Mechanisms of teratogenesis and genetic influences will be addressed. The emerging role of effects of environmental agents and effect on the epigenetic mechanisms and gene expression are discussed. Prenatal alcohol exposure and fetal alcohol spectrum disorder will be discussed in greater detail, as this disorder is the most common teratogenic disorder affecting humans. Indeed, many of the phenotypic effects of FASD are the result of cerebellar injury and dysfunction.

**Keywords** Teratogenesis • Brain imaging • Birth defects • Prenatal exposures • Viral infections • Zika virus • Rubella • Anticonvulsants • Valproic acid • Alcohol

• Genetic factors • Epigenetics • Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder

# Introduction

Teratology can be defined as science dealing with causes, mechanisms, and manifestations of developmental deviations of either structural or functional nature [1, 2]. A teratogen is any agent that compromises a healthy intrauterine environment and results in altering normal development during the period of embryonic or fetal development resulting in abnormal structure or function, restriction of growth, or death of the embryo or fetus [3]. Known teratogenic agents include infectious agents (e.g., rubella virus, Zika virus, cytomegalovirus, toxoplasmosis, varicella, etc.), a chemical or drug (most anticonvulsant medications such as phenobarbital, diphenylhydantoin, valproic acid, retinoic acid, warfarin, etc.), heavy metals and

A.E. Chudley, MD (🖂)

Departments of Paediatrics and Child Health and Biochemistry and Medical Genetics, Rady College of Medicine, Rady Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Manitoba, Manitoba, Canada e-mail: abchudley@gmail.com

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_14

environmental poisons (mercury, lead, manganese, and toluene/benzene derivatives), excessive radiation, maternal conditions (drug and alcohol abuse or addiction to illicit drugs, smoking, nutritional deficiencies, metabolic disorders in the mother such as phenylketonuria, diabetes, mental and emotional stress, etc.), invasive medical interventions (such as amniocentesis, chorionic villus sampling, etc.), and changes in the environment (elevated core temperature for an extended period of time such as febrile illness, sauna or hot tub use, etc.) [4–6].

Teratogens in humans have certain characteristics that include evidence of an increase in the frequency of a known abnormal phenotypic effect, such as neurobehavioral changes or structural changes leading to birth defects, a dose response relationship with a threshold effect, critical periods of significant risk, established mechanism of action, biological plausibility of teratogenicity, and genetic and/or epigenetic predisposing risk factors. Identifying and confirming the etiological origins of birth defects can lead to better treatment and prevention and, in the case of infectious diseases, the development of effective vaccines to reduce the risk in the population [2].

The effects of teratogens are variable and dependent on timing of the exposure, the dose of the exposure, the frequency of exposure(s), maternal and fetal genetic factors, and other mitigating or susceptibility factors that modify the effect. The exposure can lead to a variety of outcomes, from apparently normal and unaffected to mild impairment and to severe impairments with multiple malformations, or result in abortion and death.

As with all developing organs, the brain is often the target of teratogenic effects. The resulting impairments from a teratogenic exposure affecting brain development can lead to effects on brain structure (cellular defects, malformations, or disruption) and/or brain function that can manifest as behavioral abnormalities, craniofacial dysmorphology, developmental delays, intellectual impairment, and/or severe physical disability. It is rare for a teratogenic effect to be restricted to a single organ structure or specific region of the brain. However, for the purposes of this chapter, emphasis will be placed on the teratogenic effect on the cerebellum and the clinical consequences.

The cerebellum is relatively small, but it has established functional connections to many other regions of the brain. Prenatal and postnatal injuries due to a variety of toxins result in neurologic deficits, including ataxia, hypotonia, dysarthria, and ocular motility problems. These exposures can present with impairments in movement, motor coordination, sensory function, cognition, affect regulation, or mood. Dysfunction of the cerebellum and its effects on connectivity to other brain regions have been correlated with a number of neurodevelopmental disorders that include autism, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, dyslexia, as well as psychiatric diseases such as schizophrenia and bipolar diseases [7]. Many inherited disorders involving abnormal development and function of the cerebellum including cerebellar hypoplasia have been described [8].

The nature of the injury or exposure would be dependent on the subregions of the cerebellum involved and determined by alterations in the corresponding cerebro-

cerebellar circuitry [9]. Recent studies exploring the role of speech and language have demonstrated an important role of the cerebellum in communication in health and disease. Mariën et al. [10], in a consensus review of this topic, summarized their findings to date "cerebellar involvement in language extends far beyond the pure motor domain to a variety of high-level non-motor linguistic processes at both the expressive and receptive language level. In general the role of the cerebellum in language adds evidence to the view that timing and sequencing processing, senso-rimotor adaptation and cognitive skill automatization act as the overall operational modes of the cognitive cerebellum."

Developmental abnormalities of the cerebellum have been induced by several teratogenic agents, including therapeutic agents such as 13-cis retinoic acid (Accutane<sup>©</sup>) and misoprostol (Cytotec<sup>©</sup>)l. [11–13]. Many early studies, prior to the 1970s, were limited in describing cerebellar abnormalities since techniques to visualize this organ were crude or not yet available for wide clinical use. Evaluation of the brain in the 1960s and 1970s was restricted to investigations such as electroencephalograms (EEG), pneumoencephalograms, ultrasound, and the earlier generation computed tomography (CT) or autopsy findings. The list of disorders with identifiable cerebellar lesions is growing particularly with the advent and ubiquitous use of newer imaging techniques. With the advent of newer imaging modalities, brain imaging has been enhanced. Single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) can provide 3D information, and positron emission tomography (PET) can help assess functional abnormalities in the brain before anatomical changes occur in many diseases of the brain. Using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), structural CNS defects and malformations are more readily and accurately defined, or in the case of functional MRI analysis, brain activation responses to a variety of external stimuli can be visualized. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) can identify disturbances in the neurochemistry of the brain. Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) assesses the integrity of the white matter and maps normal and aberrant white matter tracts and brain circuitry. In this chapter some examples of teratogenic agents with effects on the developing cerebellum will be presented.

# **Intrauterine Infections**

There are scores of infectious agents associated with intrauterine viral and parasitic infections. Most can cause a variety of developmental defects in exposed fetuses. Examples include the classical group of teratogenic pathogens, the socalled "TORCH" (*Toxoplasma gondii*, Others like *Treponema pallidum*, *R*ubella virus, *Cy*tomegalovirus, *Herpes simplex virus*), and other agents including Parvovirus B19, *Varicella zoster* virus, and *plasmodium falciparum* to name a few. In this chapter reviews of Rubella and the Zika virus are presented for illustration purposes, and readers are referred to recent reviews on intrauterine infections for further information [14, 15].

### **Congenital Rubella**

As noted, several infectious agents have been implicated in causing birth defects and brain abnormalities [16]. The first report of a teratogenic agent in humans was made in 1941 by an Australian ophthalmologist Normal Gregg, who described children with cataracts as a result of rubella in the children's mothers during the pregnancy [17]. Congenital rubella is typically associated with other CNS abnormalities, microcephaly, growth retardation, congenital hepatitis, deafness, cataracts, retinopathy, and cardiovascular defects. The mechanisms of teratogenesis have included inhibited cell growth, impaired blood flow, direct effects of the ongoing infection with cytopathic effects, and immunopathological mechanisms [18, 19].

Townsend et al. [20] reported on a case of progressive panencephalitis in a child who was born with congenital rubella. Neuropathologic studies showed findings in the brain which included diffuse destruction of white matter with perivascular inflammatory cells and gliosis, moderate neuronal loss, numerous amorphous vascular deposits in the white matter, and severe generalized cerebellar atrophy. Recently Cluver et al. [21] reported on an infant with confirmed early prenatal rubella infection born with agenesis of the inferior cerebellar vermis. The authors suggest that the cerebellar defect was likely the result of spread of the virus through the vascular system causing vasculitis and endothelial necrosis [22]. There are only rare reports of cerebellar defects in congenital rubella syndrome.

It is likely that most viral and other infectious agents causing intrauterine infections have similar mechanisms of teratogenesis affecting the developing cerebellum [16, 23, 24]. Further investigations could clarify the role of viral infections in overstimulation of excitatory amino acid receptors, excess production of angiogenesis, pro-inflammatory cytokine neurotrophic factors, and apoptoticinducing factors [25].

# **Congenital Zika Infection**

Recently, the *Aedes* species mosquito-borne Zika virus has been confirmed to be causative of congenital microcephaly and other birth defects including arthrogryposis and sensorineural hearing loss [26–32]. The Zika virus belongs to a family of related arthropod-borne (arbovirus) that includes dengue, yellow fever, West Nile encephalitis, and Japanese encephalitis viruses and another virus from a different family, Chikungunya virus [30]. The virus was first recognized in the Zika forest of Uganda from a rhesus monkey with an acute febrile illness in 1947 [33] with human infections first reported in Nigeria in 1954 [34]. Subsequent spread to the Yap Islands of Micronesia, the Pacific Islands, and Polynesia showed that this was not a benign disease in humans [30]. From mid-2015 to 2016, over 30,000 cases were reported in Brazil [29] and subsequently as far north as Florida [35]. Several cases have been imported to European countries and North America including Canada

[36]. In a series of 23 infants from Brazil, de Fatima et al. [27] and Hazin et al. [37] identified common findings in the brain of these children through CT and MRI techniques. The abnormalities included brain calcifications in the junction between cortical and subcortical white matter; malformations of cortical development with simplified gyral patterns, pachygyria, or polymicrogyria in the frontal lobes; enlarged cisterna magna; abnormalities of corpus callosum; ventriculomegaly; delayed myelinization; and hypoplasia of the cerebellum and brainstem [37]. Garcez et al. [38] experimental studies on human brain culture confirm that the Zika virus abrogates neurogenesis during human brain development. Tang et al. [39] showed that there is a downregulation of genes involved in cell-cycle pathways, dysregulation of cell proliferation, and upregulation of genes involved in apoptotic pathways resulting in cell death. Clearly until an effective vaccine is developed [40], better treatment and diagnostic capabilities need to be developed and priority given to vector control. Outcomes of children born with congenital Zika virus infection show major CNS abnormalities and have features of severe delays in development and severe neurological dysfunction [27, 41].

### **Congenital Anticonvulsant Syndrome**

It is estimated that well over a million women of childbearing age in the United States have epilepsy, the vast majority of whom are on drug therapy for management of this common disorder [42]. This is a concern since almost all antiepileptic drugs have potential risks for causing fetal anomalies and later developmental delay. This was first confirmed a reality in the early 1970s and 1980s with reports of children born to epileptic mothers on drugs that included phenobarbital, phenytoin, and carbamazepine presenting with recurrent patterns of birth defects that included major malformations, such as microcephaly, growth retardation, and minor craniofacial and digital/limb anomalies [43-50] (Fig. 1). Holmes et al. [50] showed that the risk of malformations was higher in women taking one anticonvulsants over women delivering babies who were on no anticonvulsants (odds ratio 2.8), and the risk when women were taking two or more anticonvulsants was even higher (odds ratio 4.2). Women with epilepsy who were not on medication in the pregnancy showed no increase in major congenital anomalies than the controls. Morrow et al. [51] studied pregnant women with a diagnosis of epilepsy in UK centers using a prospective, observational, registration, and follow-up approach. They found 4.2% of women delivered infants with major congenital malformations with a history of taking anticonvulsant medication. For polytherapy use, the rate was 6.0%, for monotherapy it was 3.7%, and for women with epilepsy taking no medication, the rate was 3.5%. Valproic acid demonstrated the highest rate of major congenital malformations at 6.2%. This is compared with the expected "background" rate of major congenital malformations as between 1% and 2% in the general population at birth [52, 53]. It has been suggested that some of the difference may be due to genetic factors that increase the frequency of anomalies in some children. This seems to be



Fig. 1 Infant with typical facial features and distal digital hypoplasia with fetal hydantoin syndrome (From Buehler et al. *NEJM*. 1998. With permission)

borne out by studies that show differences in activity of the detoxifying enzyme epoxide hydrolase, with deficiency of the enzyme in infants, presenting with clinical features of hydantoin embryopathy [54, 55]. It has been hypothesized that anticonvulsants increase the production of free radicals resulting in vulnerability to malformations as a potential etiological factor [56].

There are several anticonvulsants in common use today. The list of anticonvulsants is long, and the most commonly used drugs include valproic acid, phenobarbital, phenytoin, carbamazepine, gabapentin, lamotrigine, levetiracetam, topiramate, vigabatrin, and benzodiazepines. A detailed review of the effects of valproic acid on human development including the cerebellum is presented below.

### Valproic Acid

Valproic acid (VPA) is a widely used and effective anticonvulsant medication that is also used in the treatment of mood disorders, schizophrenia, and migraine headaches. Animal and human studies show that VPA is associated with a predictably higher rate of major congenital malformations that is dose dependent [57]. The risk is two to three times that of the expected rates of malformations in the population, and it is associated with a higher risk than are other anticonvulsants.

The risk of adverse outcomes following the use of VPA includes major congenital malformation including spina bifida, atrial septal defects of the heart, craniosynostosis, cleft palate, hypospadias, and polydactyly [53]. In 1984, DiLiberti et al. [58] described a consistent constellation of dysmorphic features that they called fetal valproate syndrome which has been confirmed subsequently in many reports [59, 60]. Although periconceptional use of folic acid is recommended for all women, those using anticonvulsants may benefit by using a higher dose of this vitamin, although evidence suggests that folic acid may not be protective in preventing spina bifida from occurring after exposure to VPA. This then begs the question what is the mechanism of the malformations in VPA and other anticonvulsants [44, 61]. VPA is also associated with neurodevelopmental and cognitive impairments [62] and is a known risk for autism spectrum disorders [63-65]. Christiansen et al. [64] confirmed in their prospective study that maternal use of VPA was associated with a significantly increased risk of autism spectrum disorder even after adjusting for maternal epilepsy. It is of interest and perhaps not coincidental that one of the effects of prenatal exposure to VPA is an increased risk for autism as well as cerebellar anomalies. A subgroup of children with autism and a subgroup of children exposed to VPA both demonstrate structural cerebellar anomalies. The most common model used in environmentally induced ASD models in rodents is the one induced by VPA [66].

Not infrequent and severe consequences of long-term postnatal use of phenytoin and VPA include cerebellar atrophy [67–70]. Although the mechanism of both prenatal and acquired postnatal effects on the cerebellum may be different, genetic studies suggest that the risk of cerebellar complications may be determined by variations in enzyme activities that metabolize drugs. Buehler et al. [54] showed this to be a fact. They studied infants with fetal hydantoin syndrome and confirmed reduced activity of epoxide hydrolase in those exposed and affected compared to both those exposed and unaffected and normal controls. CYP2C9 mutation (\*2 or \*3) reduces phenytoin metabolism by 25–50% and can increase the risk of phenytoin-related side effects. CYP2C9 polymorphism has been associated with a reduction in cerebellar white matter volume in epileptic users of phenytoin [69]. Animal studies confirmed that prenatal exposure to VPA is associated with loss of volume in the vermis and hemispheres. Ingram et al. [64] identified reduced Purkinje cells in the vermis with greater loss in the posterior lobe with parallel in some human autistic populations. As newer and safer drugs become available for the treatment of epilepsy and other seizure disorders in women of childbearing age, the use of drugs such as VPA will likely continue to be reduced. It is important that women on these drugs need to be advised of the risks in pregnancy and screening measures and ongoing surveillance to assess fetal well-being be instituted.

### Prenatal Alcohol Effects and Fetal Alcohol Sepctrum Disorder

Whether prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE) can harm the human embryo and fetus has been a contentious issue over the past century. Following seminal studies by Lemoine et al. [71] in France in 1968 and Jones et al. [72, 73] in the United States in 1973 did the irrefutable evidence of the harmful effects of alcohol in pregnancy become clear, and PAE is considered the most common teratogenic agent in humans. Based on extensive research in animals and humans, PAE has been demonstrated to cause a variety of structural and/or functional deficits in the developing fetus, even after a single binge episode or equivalent use in experimental situations [74–76].

In humans, the first reports were on infants and young children born to mothers who were known alcoholics. These children typically presented with intrauterine growth retardation, microcephaly, characteristic facial dysmorphic features of short palpebral fissure lengths of the eyes, abnormal and short midface with a smooth poorly formed philtrum and a thin vermilion border of the upper lip, risk to various birth defects including cleft palate, cardiac malformations, limb anomalies, and an increase in minor anomalies, with cognitive impairment and behavioral problems (Fig. 2). This presentation was called fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS) [73, 74, 77, 78]. Subsequently less visible signs of the prenatal effects of alcohol were identified in which affected children showed few or little of the facial and growth features but presented with cognitive and behavioral difficulties. The use of other terminologies such as fetal alcohol effects (FAE), partial fetal alcohol syndrome (pFAS), and alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder (ARND) was applied



Fig. 2 The typical facial features of fetal alcohol syndrome in two infants

[79–85]. The term fetal alcohol spectrum disorder has often been used to include the whole spectrum of effects of PAE. Cook et al. [84] recently updated the fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD) diagnostic guidelines in Canada, and the terminology has been changed to include two diagnostic categories, FASD with sentinel facial features (FAS) and FASD without sentinel facial features (previously called partial FAS and ARND).

The diagnosis of FASD requires multidisciplinary team assessments to identify behavioral, cognitive, neurological, and dysmorphic features congruent with FASD [82]. This means that referrals for suspected cases are sent to the multidisciplinary team for a thorough evaluation by other specialists that includes specialist physicians (developmental pediatricians, geneticists, psychologists, speech and language therapists, occupational therapists, education specialists, and social work case workers). Details of the referral process, evaluations and steps in the diagnosis, and management recommendations are described in detail elsewhere [82, 84].

Evaluation of the brain is an important component of diagnosis. This includes an in-depth assessment of brain function using standardized testing of (1) cognition, (2) memory, (3) language, (4) academic achievement, (5) executive function (including impulse control and hyperactivity, adaptive behavior, social behavior, social skills or social communication, attention, affect regulation, motor skills, and neurological assessment of brain size, neuroanatomy, and neurophysiology (including neurologic examination and in some cases imaging)) [84].

There are many other conditions that can mimic FASD with an extensive differential diagnosis [86], and many comorbid conditions are often co-occurring in FASD individuals, some conditions at rates greater than 100 times the general population based on US data [87]. These children need to be identified as early as possible if therapy and interventions are to make a difference in their long-term prognosis, and so screening programs need to be introduced to afford early detection [88]. Many affected children and adults who are not identified or diagnosed until later in life can experience what has been referred to as secondary disabilities [89]. They can be lost in society and can experience apprehension by social service agents and foster care, school failure with early dropout, addiction problems, mental health difficulties, limited employment opportunities, homelessness, and involvement with crime and the justice system with frequent incarceration [89, 90].

The prevalence of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD) is estimated to be between 2.4% and 4.8% in a school-age population in the United States [91] and similar high rates of prevalence in a school-age population in Italy [92]. The highest rates at 18–26% were estimated in an at risk rural and lower socioeconomic community in South Africa [93]. Because of the high prevalence in most populations studied and the high costs to society of the condition, prevention of drinking in pregnancy should be a high priority of governments, social and health care professionals, and the alcohol industry [87, 94–99].

It is relevant that several of the brain domain impairments observed in PAE and FASD individuals exhibit these difficulties, in part, because of teratogenic effects of alcohol on the cerebellum and their respective connections to other regions of the brain. For example, the functions of motor and balance, eye tracking and visual–

spacial perception, cognitive abilities, learning, language, emotional responses, and attention pathways are connected to the cerebellum. Many children with FASD have impairments in these functions. Many research reports and clinical descriptions in the literature to support the above association of cerebellar dysfunction and FASD are presented in the following pages.

# Mechanisms for Alcohol Teratogenesis

Ethanol is toxic to the developing embryo and fetus. Alcohol readily crosses the placenta and the blood–brain barrier. Alcohol can affect normal placental function and cause altered blood flow, ischemia, and hypoxia to the fetus. There is also an interaction between the direct toxic effects and indirect or maternally mediated effects of alcohol [100]. The mechanisms are complex and involve variables in the timing, frequency, and dose of exposure. Alcohol is known to act on or modulate many different target molecules' multiple mechanisms, activated at different stages of embryonic and fetal development or at different dose thresholds of exposure and stages of development, resulting in diverse phenotypes [101–103]. The earlier the exposure of teratogenic factors during organogenesis, the greater the harm that is likely to occur [74, 103–105].

# Molecular Pathways and Genetic Factors

PAE and FASD are perhaps best considered to be a prototypical multifactorial teratogenic disorder whereby both genetic predisposing factors and environmental exposures combine to have a variable phenotype (Fig. 3). It is evident that alcohol alone can be directly toxic to the embryo and fetus, but other factors also can either contribute to the risk (as aggravating factors) or have protective effects to some degree (a mitigating factor). PAE is both dose dependent (acute vs chronic exposure; frequency of exposure) and sensitive to critical periods of developmental stage. Factors shown to be protective include good nutrition prenatally and after



birth [106], consistent and nurturing child care, early diagnosis with earlier interventions, and favorable genetic factors (particularly those involved in alcohol metabolism). According to May and Gossage [107], maternal risk is multidimensional, including factors related to quantity, frequency, and timing of alcohol exposure, maternal age, number of pregnancies, number of times the mother has given birth, the mother's body size, nutrition, socioeconomic status, metabolism, religion, spirituality, depression, other drug use, and social relationships. Some risk factors in the child include poor nutrition; exposure to neglect; physical, emotional, or sexual abuse; repeated changes in caregivers and place of residence; "unfavorable" genetics; and a diagnosis later in childhood [89]. It is well established that the genetic background of the mother and fetus influences the risk of ethanol-induced malformations [108]. The more efficient alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) allele, ADH 1B\*3, affords protection for FASD outcomes [109], while the maternal and fetal ADH1B<sup>\*2</sup> allele reduced the risk for FAS in a South African population (in comparison with ADH1B<sup>\*</sup>1) [108]. For more recent reviews relevant to the importance of polymorphisms in the alcohol metabolizing pathway, the reader is referred to other reviews [110, 111] (Figs. 4 and 5).

A recent population-based prospective children's health and development study from Britain confirmed a genetic risk to some children genetically predisposed to the effects of alcohol exposure in pregnancy [112]. The authors found four ADH genetic variants in alcohol metabolizing genes in 4,167 children which were strongly



Fig. 4 A schematic representation of risk factors contributing to FASD



Oxidative pathways of alcohol metabolism

**Fig. 5** Oxidative pathways of alcohol metabolism. The enzymes alcohol dehydrogenase (*ADH*), cytochrome P450 2E1 (*CYP2E1*), and catalase all contribute to oxidative metabolism of alcohol. *ADH*, present in the fluid of the cell (i.e., cytosol), converts alcohol (i.e., ethanol) to acetaldehyde. This reaction involves an intermediate carrier of electrons, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (*NAD+*), which is reduced by two electrons to form *NADH*. Catalase, located in cell bodies called peroxisomes, requires hydrogen peroxide (*H2O2*) to oxidize alcohol. *CYP2E1*, present predominantly in the cell's microsomes, assumes an important role in metabolizing ethanol to acetaldehyde at elevated ethanol concentrations. Acetaldehyde is metabolized mainly by aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (*ALDH2*) in the mitochondria to form acetate and *NADH* (From Chudley [187])

related to lower IQ at age 8, as was a risk allele score based on these four variants. All the mothers of these children took moderate amounts of alcohol during the pregnancy. The authors suggest that, even among women drinking moderate amounts of alcohol, subtle changes in exposure to alcohol due to an ability to metabolize the substrate may be important and offer some support to the hypothesis that even small amounts of alcohol in utero have an effect on future cognitive outcomes.

Alterations in a number of molecular pathways have been suggested as candidates responsible for the range of FASD phenotypes [101, 113, 114]. These include (1) alterations in the regulation of gene expression (e.g., reduced retinoic acid signaling [115, 116], homeobox gene expression, altered DNA methylation [117]); (2) interference with mitogenic and growth factor responses involved in neural stem cell proliferation, migration, and differentiation [118]; (3) disturbances in molecules that mediate cell–cell interactions (L1, NCAM, loss of trophic support, e.g., [119, 120]); (4) activation of molecular signaling controlling cell survival or death (growth factor deprivation, oxidative stress, apoptotic signaling and caspase-3 activation, suppression of NMDA glutamate and GABAA receptors, withdrawal-induced
glutamatergic excitotoxicity), [121, 122]; (5) and derangements in glial proliferation, differentiation, and functioning [123].

Lombard et al. [124] utilized a computational candidate gene selection method that identified genes that may play a role in alcohol teratogenesis. Using a modification of the methodology called convergent functional genomics which combines data from human and animal studies, this group identified a short list of high-probability candidate genes, with the inclusion of additional lines of evidence in the presence of limited expression studies in an animal model and the absence of FAS linkage studies. From a list of 87 genes, the group prioritized key biological pathways significantly overrepresented among the top-ranked candidate genes. These pathways include the TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathway, MAPK signaling pathway, and the Hedgehog signaling pathway.

The genes in the TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathway may play pivotal roles during embryogenesis and development and have a potential role in the distinct characteristics associated with FAS, i.e., CNS dysfunction, craniofacial abnormalities, and growth retardation. CNS dysfunction is the most severe and permanent consequence of in utero alcohol exposure and the only feature present in all diagnostic categories in FASD. These observations make the TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathway an important consideration, as it is essential in fetal and CNS development. Alcohol inhibits TGF- $\beta$ regulated processes such as cortical cell proliferation and neuronal migration, disrupts axonal (the major extension of a nerve cell) growth, and upregulates cell adhesion molecule expression [125]. TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathway interacts with alcohol, and/or its metabolic breakdown products, and alcohol may have a detrimental effect on the efficiency of this developmentally essential pathway.

The MAPK pathway transmits many signals, leading to growth, differentiation, inflammation, and apoptosis responses [126]. This pathway is very complex and includes many protein components. MAPK pathway components are involved in the regulation of meiosis, mitosis, and postmitotic functions and in cell differentiation. The MAPK signaling pathway can be activated by a variety of stimuli as well as external stress factors, such as alcohol [127]. Using a mouse model of FAS, experimental manipulation of second-messenger pathways (that also impact on the MAPK pathway) completely reversed the action of ethanol on neuronal migration in vitro as well as in vivo [128].

The Hedgehog signaling pathway was also identified to contain several genes within the candidate list. This signaling pathway is a highly conserved and key regulator of embryonic development. Knockout mouse models lacking components of this pathway have been observed to develop malformations in the CNS, musculo-skeletal system, gastrointestinal tract, and lungs [129]. FAS animal models have a similar craniofacial phenotype to mouse models treated with antibodies that block Hedgehog signaling components, specifically the sonic Hedgehog (Shh) molecule [130, 131 132]. Alcohol resulted in a significant decrease in Shh levels in the developing embryo, as well as a decrease in the level of other transcripts involved in Shh signaling. Addition of Shh after alcohol exposure led to fewer apoptotic (dead or dying) cranial neural crest cells and a decrease in craniofacial anomalies [131]. Altered function of genes in the Hedgehog signaling pathway may thus contribute to the brain malformations and dysfunction in FASD.

## **Epigenetics**

Epigenetic mechanism as a cause of the diverse effect of PAE and FASD is emerging as a potentially important mediator of the FASD phenotype [133–136]. Epigenetics refers to modifications of DNA and its packaging that alter the accessibility of DNA to potentially regulate gene expression and cellular function without changes to the underlying genomic sequences [135, 137]. There are several mechanisms in which gene expression can be controlled, and the most studied epigenetic modification in human populations is DNA methylation. DNA methylation generally represses gene expression, but this relationship is less well defined for CpGs located within gene bodies and intergenic regions [138]. Furthermore, DNA methylation is closely associated with several key developmental processes, including genomic imprinting, tissue specification, and differentiation [139]. Prenatal alcohol exposure has been shown in animal studies to alter methylation which is predicted to alter gene expression and thus alter developmental processes [134, 140, 141].

There have been few human studies to test the role of changes in methylation and relationship to FASD. Several studies have demonstrated the effect of PAE on the H19 imprinted gene in both mice and humans [142, 143]. Altered expression of the H19 gene could interfere with normal growth mediated through the Igf2 gene. A smaller human study characterized the DNA methylation profile in buccal epithelial cells (BECs) from a small cohort of human FASD samples, identifying alterations in the epigenome of children with FASD, particularly within the protocadherin gene clusters, which are involved in producing proteins involved in cell adhesion [144]. A genome-wide DNA methylation study in mouse embryos exposed to ethanol also identified significant changes within several imprinted genes including both H19 and SLC22A18 [145]). The SLC22A18 gene is located in an imprinted region and plays a role in tumor suppression with other genes in the region mediating growth. A recent comparatively large study compared a cohort of FASD and alcoholexposed children with controls through genome-wide DNA methylation patterns of BECs which were analyzed (Portales). Results from the study by Portales-Casamar et al. [146] further confirmed these findings, as five down-methylated probes in H19 and six in SLC22A18 were altered in the FASD cohort. With validation, these findings provide initial insight into the molecular mechanisms underlying the effects of PAE on children and present a potential role for DNA methylation in the etiology of FASD. It may also be possible to define a biomarker for alcohol exposure that may aid in the earlier diagnosis, referral, and treatment of this common disorder.

### FASD and the Cerebellum

The earliest autopsy studies described in humans diagnosed with FAS and PAE identified errors in cell migration, agenesis or thinning of the corpus callosum, and anomalies in the cerebellum and brain stem [73, 147–149]. Subsequent imaging

studies with newer technology and resolution were consistent with autopsy findings [150]. These showed overall volume reductions in the cranial, cerebral, and cerebellar vaults in FASD [151–156]. Furthermore, other studies have suggested that this decrease is not uniform but rather that the parietal lobe [153–155, 157], portions of the frontal lobe [154], and specific areas of the cerebellum [156, 158, 159] appear to be especially sensitive to alcohol insult (Fig. 6).

Studies of effects on brain volume using imaging techniques have reported disproportionate size reductions in the cerebellum [153, 156, 160–162]. Cardenas et al. [162] studied PAE individuals using a cerebellar parcellation tool kit with T1-weighted MRI to assess cerebellar size. They concluded that (1) PAE-related microcephaly is strongly related to cerebellar hemispheric volumes and (2) smaller cerebellar measures in FASD are not fully explained by microcephaly and suggest an additional direct effect of prenatal alcohol exposure on the cerebellum.

Experimental studies on animals confirmed that PAE targets certain areas of the brain, particularly the cerebellum and the craniofacial structures [74, 163, 164]. Nathaniel et al. [165, 166] showed that the cerebellum and the area and circumference of the vermal cerebellum were significantly reduced in ethanol-exposed pups compared with the pair-fed controls. Studies in rats showed that synaptic density of the molecular layer of the cerebellar lobule VI was decreased in 28-day-old animals which were exposed prenatally to ethanol [167].

Studies in the mouse cerebellum showed that microglia promote the death and subsequent engulfment of Purkinje cells that express activated caspase-3 when they are undergoing synaptogenesis [168]. Similar results were observed in a developing nematode *C. elegans*, where cells in the advanced caspase (CED-3)-dependent stage of degeneration could recover [169]. Sawant et al. [170] assessed fetal cerebellar

**Fig. 6** A MRI demonstrating a small cerebellum and vermis hypoplasia (*arrow*) in a child with FAS (From Fig. 1 in Autti-Rämö et al. [156].)



Purkinje cell counts in an early-maturing region (lobules I–X) and a late-maturing region (lobules VIc–VII) from midsagittal sections of the cerebellar vermis in sheep. Third trimester-equivalent ethanol exposure caused a significant reduction in the fetal cerebellar Purkinje cell volume density and Purkinje cell number only in the early-maturing region, and as expected, the first trimester-equivalent ethanol exposure resulted in significant reductions in both the early- and late-maturing regions. The authors concluded prenatal ethanol exposure in the first trimester interferes with the genesis of Purkinje cells in an unselective manner, whereas exposure during the third trimester selectively kills postmitotic Purkinje cells in specific vermal regions during a vulnerable period of differentiation and synaptogenesis.

Chronic prenatal alcohol exposure on the immature central nervous system (CNS) profoundly inhibits insulin and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) signaling [171, 172]. They conclude that insulin-stimulated central nervous system neuronal survival mechanisms are significantly impaired by chronic gestational exposure to ethanol and that the abnormalities in insulin signaling mechanisms persist in the early postnatal period, which is critical for brain development. The same research group [173] observed ethanol dose-dependent reductions in cerebellar aspartyl (asparaginyl)-\(\beta\)-hydroxylase (AAH) immunoreactivity and significant impairments in insulin- and IGF-I-stimulated directional motility in granule neurons isolated from ethanol-exposed rat pup cerebella. In addition to reduced motility, the authors observed that chronic in vivo ethanol exposure mainly reduced the percentages of migrant adherent cells, consistent with previous reports indicating that ethanol impairs neuronal cell adhesion mechanisms and neuronal migration [102, 120]. Tong et al. [174] showed that abnormalities in cerebellar function following chronic prenatal ethanol exposure were associated with inhibition of insulin/IGF, canonical Wnt, and Notch pathways. Thomas et al. [175] showed that neonatal ethanol exposure induces cerebellar Purkinje and granule cell loss if exposure occurs before postnatal day (PD) 7 and that cerebellar damage may underlie ethanol-induced motor deficits. Exposure during PD 4/5 produced significantly more severe motor deficits and significantly more severe reductions in cerebellar and brainstem weights than did exposure later in life.

Another mechanism of disrupted development of the cerebellum involves synaptic defects. A recent study that showed reduced N-acetylaspartate NAA levels in children with PAE using MRS suggests impairment in the early developmental formation of dendritic arborizations and synaptic connections [176]. The study showed that additional finding of lower choline points to disrupted choline metabolism of membrane phospholipids with potentially reduced content of dendrites and synapses. The alcohol-related alterations in glutamate plus glutamine that was identified suggested a disruption of the glutamate–glutamine cycling involved in glutamatergic excitatory neurotransmission.

Fan et al. [177] have confirmed abnormalities in eyeblink conditioning and FASD using the MRI and DTI analyses. Using DTI (which is used to assess integrity of the white matter) they demonstrated a lower response (as measured by fractional anisotropy) bilaterally in the superior cerebellar peduncles and higher diffusivity in the left middle peduncle in the alcohol-exposed children compared to

controls, and the findings correlated with poorer EBC performance. This may reflect poorer myelination in these large bundles of myelinated nerve fibers that connect the cerebellum to the brain stem. The authors conclude that FASD deficits in EBC are likely attributed to poorer myelinization in key regions of the cerebellar peduncles.

# Clinical Consequences to Cerebellar Dysfunction in PAE and FASD

Many of the behavioral deficits seen in individuals with FASD, including spatial recognition, motor learning, and fine motor control, are mediated, in part, by the cerebellum [150]. There has been a long-standing recognition and association with cognitive function and cerebellar function [178–181]. Behavioral changes were clinically prominent in patients with lesions involving the posterior lobe of the cerebellum and the vermis, and in some cases they were the most noticeable aspects of the presentation [178]. As noted previously, there is a frequent occurrence of cerebellar defects in autism [182] and also in ADHD children [183]. Berquin et al. [183] showed vermal volume was significantly less in boys with ADHD. This reduction involved mainly the posterior inferior lobe (lobules VIII–X) but not the posterior superior lobe (lobules VI–VII). A cerebello–thalamo–prefrontal circuit dysfunction may subserve the motor control, inhibition, and executive function deficits encountered in ADHD. It is of interest that FASD children frequently present with attention difficulties, and there may be an overrepresentation of autism in PAE and/or FASD children and adults [184].

In a study of children with heavy prenatal alcohol exposure experience, significant deficits in isometric force production were identified that may impede their ability to perform basic motor skills and activities in everyday tasks [185]. In addition, another study results indicated children with FAS experience deficits in response programming and movement time production [186].

## Summary

This chapter summarizes select teratogenic agents to illustrate the importance of the recognition of etiology, mechanisms of teratogenesis, pathogenesis, and clinical impact these agents have on the developing human and particularly cerebellar structural and functional consequences. Where appropriate and relevant, the emerging role and effects of genetic and epigenetic mechanisms are discussed. Emphasis has been given to common conditions and hence the greater attention to PAE and FASD. Because of the nature of teratogens, there is opportunity to prevent the occurrence of phenotypic consequences of these exposures through various prevention strategies.

## References

- Ujházy E, Mach M, Navarová J, Brucknerová I, Dubovický M. Teratology past, present and future. Interdiscip Toxicol. 2012;5(4):163–8.
- 2. Wilson JG. Environment and birth defects. New York: Academic Press; 1973.
- Frías JL, Gilbert-Barness E. Human teratogens: current controversies. Adv Pediatr Infect Dis. 2008;55:171–211.
- 4. Holmes LB. Human teratogens: update 2010. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2011;91(1):1–7.
- 5. Persaud TVN, Chudley AE, Skalko RG. Basic concepts in teratology. New York: Alan R. Liss; 1985.
- 6. Brent RL, Beckman DA. Environmental teratogens. Bull NY Acad Med. 1990;66(2):123-63.
- Shakiba A. The role of the cerebellum in neurobiology of psychiatric disorders. Neurol Clin. 2014;32(4):1105–15.
- Poretti A, Boltshauser E, Doherty D. Cerebellar hypoplasia: differential diagnosis and diagnostic approach. Am J Med Genet C: Semin Med Genet. 2014;166C(2):211–26.
- 9. Stoodley CJ. The cerebellum and neurodevelopmental disorders. Cerebellum. 2016;15(1): 34–7.
- Mariën P, Ackermann H, Adamaszek M, Barwood CH, Beaton A, Desmond J, De Witte E, Fawcett AJ, Hertrich I, Küper M, Leggio M, Marvel C, Molinari M, Murdoch BE, Nicolson RI, Schmahmann JD, Stoodley CJ, Thürling M, Timmann D, Wouters E, Ziegler W. Consensus paper: language and the cerebellum: an ongoing enigma. Cerebellum. 2014;13(3):386–410.
- Holson RR, Gazzara RA, Ferguson SA, Ali SF, Laborde JB, Adams J. Gestational retinoic acid exposure: a sensitive period for effects on neonatal mortality and cerebellar development. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 1997;19(5):335–46.
- 12. Pastuszak AL, Schler L, Speck Martins CE, et al. Use of misoprostol during pregnancy and Moebius' syndrome in infants. N Engl J Med. 1998;338(26):1881–5.
- 13. Merlini L, Fluss J, Dhouib A, Vargas MI, Becker M. Mid-hindbrain malformations due to drugs taken during pregnancy. J Child Neurol. 2014;29(4):538–44.
- Adams Waldorf KM, McAdams RM. Influence of infection during pregnancy on fetal development. Reproduction. 2013;146(5):151–62.
- 15. Neu N, Duchon J, Zachariah P. TORCH infections. Clin Perinatol. 2015;42(1):77-103.
- Barkovich AJ, Raybaud C. Pediatric neuroimaging. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2012.
- Gregg NM. Congenital cataract following German measles in the mother. Trans Ophthalmol Soc Aust. 1941;3:35–45.
- Rosenberg HS, Oppenheimer EH, Esterly JR. Congenital rubella syndrome: the late effects and their relation to early lesions. Perspect Pediatr Pathol. 1981;6:183–202.
- 19. Dudgeon JA. Congenital rubella. J Pediatr. 1975;87:1078-86.
- Townsend JJ, Wolinsky JS, Baringer JR. The neuropathology of progressive rubella panencephalitis of late onset. Brain. 1976;99(1):81–90.
- Cluver C, Meyer R, Odendaal H, Geerts L. Congenital rubella with agenesis of the inferior cerebellar vermis and total anomalous pulmonary venous drainage. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2013;42(2):235–7.
- 22. Webster WS. Teratogen update: congenital rubella. Teratology. 1998;58:13-23.
- Burd I, Balakrishnan B, Kannan S. Models of fetal brain injury, intrauterine inflammation, and preterm birth. Am J Reprod Immunol. 2012 Apr;67(4):287–94.
- Sze G, Lee SH. Infectious disease. In: Lee SH, KCVG R, Zimmerman RA, editors. Cranial MRI and CT. 4th ed. New York: Mc Graw-Hill; 1999.
- Huleihel M, Golan H, Hallak M. Intrauterine infection/inflammation during pregnancy and offspring brain damages: possible mechanisms involved. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2004;2:17.
- Rasmussen SA, Jamieson DJ, Honein MA, Petersen LR. Zika virus and birth defects reviewing the evidence for causality. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(20):1981–7.

- 27. de Fatima Vasco Aragao M, van der Linden V, Brainer-Lima AM, Coeli RR, Rocha MA, Sobral da Silva P, Dur Cecosta Gomes de Carvalho M, van der Linden A, Cesario de Holanda A, Valenca MM. Clinical features and neuroimaging (CT and MRI) findings in presumed Zika virus related congenital infection and microcephaly: retrospective case series study. BMJ. 2016;353:i1901.
- 28. van der Linden V, Filho EL, Lins OG, van der Linden A, Aragão Mde F, Brainer-Lima AM, Cruz DD, Rocha MA, Sobral da Silva PF, Carvalho MD, do Amaral FJ, Gomes JA, Ribeiro de Medeiros IC, Ventura CV, Ramos RC. Congenital Zika syndrome with arthrogryposis: retrospective case series study. BMJ. 2016;354:i3899.
- 29. Faria NR, Azevedo RSS, Kraemer MUG, Souza R, Cunha MS, Hill SC, et al. Zika virus in the Americas: early epidemiological and genetic findings. Science. 2016;352:345–9.
- Araujo AQ, Silva MT, Araujo AP. Zika virus-associated neurological disorders: a review. Brain. 2016;139(Pt 8):2122–30.
- 31. Soares de Oliveira-Szejnfeld P, Levine D, Melo AS, Amorim MM, Batista AG, Chimelli L, et al. Congenital brain abnormalities and Zika Virus: what the radiologist can expect to see prenatally and postnatally. Radiology. 2016;281:203–18. 161584
- Leal MC, Muniz LF, Ferreira TS, et al. Hearing loss in infants with microcephaly and evidence of congenital Zika virus infection Brazil, November 2015–May 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2016;65:917–9.
- Dick GW, Kitchen SF, Haddow AJ. Zika virus. I. Isolations and serological specificity. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 1952;46:509–20.
- Macnamara FN. Zika virus: a report on three cases of human infection during an epidemic of jaundice in Nigeria. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 1954;48:139–45.
- 35. Russell K, Oliver SE, Lewis L, Barfield WD, Cragan J, Meaney-Delman D, et al. Update: interim guidance for the evaluation and Management of Infants with possible congenital Zika virus infection – United States, August 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2016;65(33):870–8.
- 36. Paixão ES, Barreto F, Teixeira Mda G, Costa Mda C, Rodrigues LC. History, epidemiology, and clinical manifestations of Zika: a systematic review. Am J Public Health. 2016;106(4):606–12.
- Hazin AN, Poretti A, Turchi Martelli CM, Huisman TA, Microcephaly Epidemic Research Group. Computed tomographic findings in microcephaly associated with Zika virus. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(22):2193–5.
- 38. Garcez PP, Loiola EC, Madeiro da Costa R, Higa LM, Trindade P, et al. Zika virus impairs growth in human neurospheres and brain organoids. Science. 2016;352(6287):816–8.
- Tang H, Hammack C, Ogden SC, Wen Z, Qian X, Li Y, et al. Zika virus infects human cortical neural progenitors and attenuates their growth. Cell Stem Cell. 2016;18(5):587–90.
- Durbin AP. Vaccine development for Zika virus-timelines and strategies. Semin Reprod Med. 2016 Sep;8
- Barreto ML, Barral-Netto M, Stabeli R, Almeida-Filho N, Vasconcelos PF, Teixeira M, et al. Zika virus and microcephaly in Brazil: a scientific agenda. Lancet. 2016;387:919–21.
- 42. Chang SI, McAuley JW. Pharmacotherapeutic issues for women of childbearing age with epilepsy. Ann Pharmacother. 1998;32(7–8):794–801.
- Speidel BD, Meadow SR. Maternal epilepsy and abnormalities of the fetus and the newborn. Lancet. 1972;2:839–43.
- Hill RM, Verniaud WM, Horning MG, McCulley LB, Morgan NF. Infants exposed in utero t antiepileptic drugs: a prospective study. Am J Dis Child. 1974;127:645–53.
- 45. Hanson JW, Smith DW. The fetal hydantoin syndrome. J Pediatr. 1975;87:285-90.
- 46. Hanson JW, Myrianthopoulos NC, Harvey MA, Smith DW. Risks to the offspring of women treated with hydantoin anticonvulsants, with emphasis on the fetal hydantoin syndrome. J Pediatr. 1976;89(4):662–8.
- 47. Seip M. Growth retardation, dysmorphic facies and minor malformations following massive exposure to phenobarbitone in utero. Acta Paediatr Scand. 1976;65:617–21.

- Jones KL, Lacro RV, Johnson KA, Adams J. Pattern of malformations in the children of women treated with carbamazepine during pregnancy. N Engl J Med. 1989;320:1661–6.
- 49. Lindhout D, Hoppener RJEA, Meinardi H. Teratogenicity of antiepilepticdrug combinations with special emphasis on epoxidation (of carbamazepine). Epilepsia. 1984;25:77–83.
- 50. Holmes LB, Harvey EA, Coull BA, et al. The teratogenicity of anticonvulsant drugs. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(15):1132–8.
- Morrow J, Russell A, Guthrie E, Parsons L, Robertson I, Waddell R, et al. Malformation risks of antiepileptic drugs in pregnancy: a prospective study from the UK epilepsy and pregnancy register. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006;77(2):193–8.
- 52. Dansky LV, Finnell RH. Parental epilepsy, anticonvulsant drugs, and reproductive outcome: epidemiologic and experimental findings spanning three decades; 2: human studies. Reprod Toxicol. 1991;5(4):301–35.
- 53. Jentink J, Loane MA, Dolk H, Barisic I, Garne E, Morris JK, de Jong-van den Berg LT, EUROCAT Antiepileptic Study Working Group. Valproic acid monotherapy in pregnancy and major congenital malformations. N Engl J Med. 2010;362(23):2185–93.
- 54. Buehler BA, Delimont D, van Waes M, Finnell RH. Prenatal prediction of risk of the fetal hydantoin syndrome. N Engl J Med. 1990;322(22):1567–72.
- Strickler SM, Dansky LV, Miller MA, Seni M-H, Andermann E, Spielberg SP. Genetic predisposition to phenytoin-induced birth defects. Lancet. 1985;2:746–9.
- Wells PG, Winn LM. Biochemical toxicology of chemical teratogenesis. Clin Rev Biochem Mol Biol. 1996;31:1–40.
- Hill DS, Wlodarczyk BJ, Palacios AM, Finnell RH. Teratogenic effects of antiepileptic drugs. Expert Rev Neurother. 2010;10(6):943–59.
- DiLiberti JH, Farndon PA, Dennis NR, Curry CJ. The fetal valproate syndrome. Am J Med Genet. 1984;19(3):473–81.
- Ardinger HH, Atkin JF, Blackston RD, Elsas LJ, Clarren SK, Livingstone S, et al. Verification of the fetal valproate syndrome phenotype. Am J Med Genet. 1988;29(1):171–85.
- Winter RM, Donnai D, Burn J, Tucker SM. Fetal valproate syndrome: is there a recognisable phenotype? J Med Genet. 1987;24(11):692–5.
- 61. Morrow JI, Hunt SJ, Russell AJ, et al. Folic acid use and major congenital malformations in offspring of women with epilepsy: a prospective study from the UK epilepsy and pregnancy register. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2009;80(5):506–11.
- Christianson AL, Chesler N, Kromberg JG. Fetal valproate syndrome: clinical and neurodevelopmental features in two sibling pairs. Dev Med Child Neurol. 1994;36(4):361–9.
- Christensen J, Grønborg TK, Sørensen MJ, Schendel D, Parner ET, Pedersen LH, Vestergaard M. Prenatal valproate exposure and risk of autism spectrum disorders and childhood autism. JAMA. 2013;309(16):1696–703.
- 64. Ingram JL, Peckham SM, Tisdale B, Rodier PM. Prenatal exposure of rats to valproic acid reproduces the cerebellar anomalies associated with autism. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 2000;22(3):319–24.
- 65. Kim KC, Kim P, Go HS, Choi CS, Park JH, Kim HJ, et al. Male-specific alteration in excitatory post-synaptic development and social interaction in pre-natal valproic acid exposure model of autism spectrum disorder. J Neurochem. 2013;124(6):832–43.
- 66. Ergaz Z, Weinmstein-Fudim L, Ornoy A. Genetic and non-genetic animal models for autism spectrum disorders (ASD). Reprod Toxicol. 2016;64:116–40.
- Ghosh VB, Kapoor S, Prakash A, Bhatt S. Cerebellar atrophy in a child with valproate toxicity. Indian J Pediatr. 2011;78(8):999–1001.
- 68. Papazian O, Cañizales E, Alfonso I, Archila R, Duchowny M, Aicardi J. Reversible dementia and apparent brain atrophy during valproate therapy. Ann Neurol. 1995;38(4):687–91.
- Twardowschy CA, Werneck LC, Scola RH, Borgio JG, De Paola L, Silvado C. The role of CYP2C9 polymorphisms in phenytoin-related cerebellar atrophy. Seizure. 2013;22(3):194–7.
- Ney GC, Lantos G, Barr WB, Schaul N. Cerebellar atrophy in patients with long-term phenytoin exposure and epilepsy. Arch Neurol. 1994;51(8):767–71. Mar;42(1):77–103

- Lemoine P, Harousseau H, Borteyru JP, Menuet JC. Les enfants de parents alcooliques. Ouest Med. 1968;21:476–82.
- Jones KL, Smith DW, Ulleland CN, Streissguth P. Pattern of malformation in offspring of chronic alcoholic mothers. Lancet. 1973;1(7815):1267–71.
- Jones KL, Smith DW. Recognition of the fetal alcohol syndrome in early infancy. Lancet. 1973;302(7836):999–1001.
- Sulik KK, Johnston MC, Webb MA. Fetal alcohol syndrome: embryogenesis in a mouse model. Science. 1981;214(4523):936–8.
- 75. Valenzuela CF, Morton RA, Diaz MR, Topper L. Does moderate drinking harm the fetal brain? Insights from animal models. Trends Neurosci. 2012;35(5):284–92.
- Sadrian B, Lopez-Guzman M, Wilson DA, Saito M. Distinct neurobehavioral dysfunction based on the timing of developmental binge-like alcohol exposure. Neuroscience. 2014;280:204–19.
- 77. Clarren SK. Recognition of fetal alcohol syndrome. J Am Med Assoc. 1981;245(23):2436-9.
- 78. Clarren SK, Smith DW. The fetal alcohol syndrome. Lamp. 1978;35(10):4-7.
- Stratton K, Howe C. Battaglia. Fetal alcohol syndrome: diagnosis, epidemiology, prevention, and treatment. Institute of Medicine (IOM). Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 1996.
- 80. Aase JM, Jones KL, Clarren SK. Do we need the term "FAE"? Pediatrics. 1995;95(3):428-30.
- Astley SJ, Clarren SK. Diagnosing the full spectrum of fetal alcohol-exposed individuals: introducing the 4-digit diagnostic code. Alcohol Alcohol. 2000;35(4):400–10.
- Chudley AE, Conry J, Cook JL, Loock C, Rosales T, LeBlanc N, Public Health Agency of Canada's National Advisory Committee on Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: Canadian guidelines for diagnosis. CMAJ. 2005;172(5 Suppl):S1–S21.
- Hoyme HE, May PA, Kalberg WO, Kodituwakku P, Gossage JP, Trujillo PM, et al. A practical clinical approach to diagnosis of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: clarification of the 1996 Institute of Medicine criteria. Pediatrics. 2005;115(1):39–47.
- 84. Cook JL, Green CR, Lilley CM, Anderson SM, Baldwin ME, Chudley AE, Canada Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder Research Network, et al. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: a guideline for diagnosis across the lifespan. CMAJ. 2016;188(3):191–7.
- Hoyme HE, Kalberg WO, Elliott AJ, Blankenship J, Buckley D, Marais AS, et al. Updated clinical guidelines for diagnosing fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Pediatrics. 2016;138(2) pii: e20154256. doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-4256. Epub 2016 Jul 27.
- Leibson T, Neuman G, Chudley AE, Koren G. The differential diagnosis of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. J Popul Ther Clin Pharmacol. 2014;21(1):e1–e30.
- Popova S, Lange S, Shield K, Mihic A, Chudley AE, Mukherjee RA, Bekmuradov D, Rehm J. Comorbidity of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2016;387(10022):978–87.
- Goh YI, Chudley AE, Clarren SK, Koren G, Orrbine E, et al. Development of Canadian screening tools for fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Can J Clin Pharmacol. 2008;15(2):e344–66.
- 89. Streissguth A, Barr H, Kogan J, Bookstein F. Primary and secondary disabilities in fetal alcohol syndrome. In: Streissguth AP, Kanter J, editors. The challenge of fetal alcohol syndrome: overcoming secondary disabilities. Seattle: University of Washington Press; 1997.
- Streissguth AP, Bookstein FL, Barr HM, Sampson PD, O'Malley K, Young JK. Risk factors for adverse life outcomes in fetal alcohol syndrome and fetal alcohol effects. J Dev Behav Pediatr. 2004;25(4):228–38.
- 91. May PA, Baete A, Russo J, Elliott AJ, Blankenship J, Kalberg WO, et al. Prevalence and characteristics of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Pediatrics. 2014;134(5):855–66.
- 92. May PA, Fiorentino D, Coriale G, Kalberg WO, Hoyme HE, Aragon AS, et al. Prevalence of children with severe fetal alcohol spectrum disorders in communities near Rome, Italy: new estimated rates are higher than previous estimates. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2011;8(6):2331–51.

- May PA, de Vries MM, Marais AS, Kalberg WO, Adnams CM, Hasken JM, et al. The continuum of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders in four rural communities in South Africa: prevalence and characteristics. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2016;159:207–18.
- 94. Astley SJ, Bailey D, Talbot C, Clarren SK. Fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS) primary prevention through FAS diagnosis: I. Identification of high-risk birth mothers through the diagnosis of their children. Alcohol Alcohol. 2000;35(5):499–508.
- 95. Sulik KK, O'Leary-Moore SK, Riley EP. Better safe than sorry. BJOG. 2012;119(10):1159-61.
- Avery MR, Droste N, Giorgi C, Ferguson A, Martino F, Coomber K, Miller P. Mechanisms of influence: alcohol industry submissions to the inquiry into fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2016;35:665.
- 97. Popova S, Lange S, Burd L, Rehm J. Canadian children and youth in care: the cost of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Child Youth Care Forum. 2014;43:83–96.
- Popova S, Lange S, Burd L, Rehm J. The economic burden of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder in Canada in 2013. Alcohol Alcohol. 2016;51(3):367–75.
- 99. Riley EP, Clarren S, Weinberg J, Johnsson E, editors. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: management and policy perspectives of FASD. New York: Wiley-Blackwell; 2011.
- Randall CL, Ekblad U, Anton RF. Perspectives on the pathophysiology of fetal alcohol syndrome. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1990;14(6):807–12.
- Goodlett CR, Gilliam DM, Nichols JM, West JR. Genetic influences on brain growth restriction induced by development exposure to alcohol. Neurotoxicology. 1989;10(3):321–34.
- Goodlett CR, Horn KH, Zhou FC. Alcohol teratogenesis: mechanisms of damage and strategies for intervention. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2005;230:394–406.
- Sulik KK. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: pathogenesis and mechanisms. Handb Clin Neurol. 2014;125:463–75.
- 104. Parnell SE, O'Leary-Moore SK, Godin EA, Dehart DB, Johnson BW, Allan Johnson G, et al. Magnetic resonance microscopy defines ethanol-induced brain abnormalities in prenatal mice: effects of acute insult on gestational day 8. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2009;33(6):1001–11.
- 105. Parnell SE, Holloway HT, O'Leary-Moore SK, Dehart DB, Paniaqua B, et al. Magnetic resonance microscopy-based analyses of the neuro-anatomical effects of gestational day 9 ethanol exposure in mice. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 2013;39:77–83.
- 106. Young JK, Giesbrecht HE, Eskin MN, Aliani M, Suh M. Nutrition implications for fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Adv Nutr. 2014;5(6):675–92.
- 107. May PA, Gossage JP. Maternal risk factors for fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: not as simple as it might seem. Alcohol Res Health. 2011;34(1):15–26.
- 108. Warren KR, Li TK. Genetic polymorphisms: impact on the risk of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2005;73(4):195–203.
- 109. McCarver DG, Thomasson HR, Martier SS, Sokol RJ, Li T. Alcohol dehydrogenase-2\*3 allele protects against alcohol-related birth defects among African Americans. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1997;283(3):1095–101.
- 110. Chudley AE. Genetic factors contributing to fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. In: Riley EP, Clarren S, Weinberg J, Johnsson E, editors. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: management and policy perspectives of FASD. Weinheim: Wiley; 2011.
- 111. Corkery T, Chudley AE. A review of genetic and epigenetic factors in Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD). XLIII<sup>èmes</sup> Journées Nationales de Néonatologie 2013. 33 Progress en Néonatologie. Jarreau P-H et Moriette G coord. Paris.
- 112. Lewis SJ, Zuccolo L, Davey Smith G, Macleod J, Rodriguez S, Draper ES, et al. Fetal alcohol exposure and IQ at age 8: evidence from a population-based birth-cohort study. PLoS One. 2012;7(11):e49407.
- 113. Guerri C. Mechanisms involved in central nervous system dysfunctions induced by prenatal ethanol exposure. Neurotox Res. 2002;4(4):327–35.
- 114. Guerri C, Bazinet A, Riley EP. Foetal alcohol spectrum disorders and alterations in brain and behaviour. Alcohol Alcohol. 2009;44(2):108–14.

- 115. Kot-Leibovich H, Fainsod A. Ethanol induces embryonic malformations by competing for retinaldehyde dehydrogenase activity during vertebrate gastrulation. Dis Model Mech. 2009;2(5–6):295–305.
- 116. Shabtai Y, Jubran H, Nassar T, Hirschberg J, Fainsod A. Kinetic characterization and regulation of the human retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 2 enzyme during production of retinoic acid. Biochem J. 2016;473(10):1423–31.
- 117. Deltour L, Ang HL, Duester G. Ethanol inhibition of retinoic acid synthesis as a potential mechanism for fetal alcohol syndrome. FASEB J. 1996;10(9):1050–7.
- 118. Miranda RC, Santillano DR, Camarillo C, Dohrman D. Modeling the impact of alcohol on cortical development in a dish: strategies from mapping neural stem cell fate. Methods Mol Biol. 2008;447:151–68.
- 119. Wilkemeyer MF, Menkari CE, Charness ME. Novel antagonists of alcohol inhibition of 11-mediated cell adhesion: multiple mechanisms of action. Mol Pharmacol. 2002;62(5):1053–60.
- Minana R, Climent E, Barettino D, Segui JM, Renau-Piqueras J, Guerri C. Alcohol exposure alters the expression pattern of neural cell adhesion molecules during brain development. J Neurochem. 2000;75:954–64.
- 121. Guerri C, Montoliu C, Renau-Piqueras J. Involvement of free radical mechanism in the toxic effects of alcohol: implications for fetal alcohol syndrome. Adv Exp Med Biol. 1994;366:291–305.
- 122. Miller L, Shapiro AM, Wells PG. Embryonic catalase protects against ethanol-initiated DNA oxidation and teratogenesis in acatalasemic and transgenic human catalase-expressing mice. Toxicol Sci. 2013;134(2):400–11.
- Guerri C, Pascual M, Renau-Piqueras J. Glia and fetal alcohol syndrome. Neurotoxicology. 2001;22(5):593–9.
- 124. Lombard Z, Tiffin N, Hofmann O, Bajic VB, Hide W, Ramsay M. Computational selection and prioritization of candidate genes for fetal alcohol syndrome. BMC Genomics. 2007;8:389.
- 125. Miller MW, Luo J. Effects of ethanol and transforming growth factor beta (TGF beta) on neuronal proliferation and nCAM expression. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2002;26(8):1281–5.
- 126. Krens SF, Spaink HP, Snaar-Jagalska BE. Functions of the MAPK family in vertebratedevelopment. FEBS Lett. 2006;580(21):4984–90.
- 127. Aroor AR, Shukla SD. MAP kinase signaling in diverse effects of ethanol. Life Sci. 2004;74(19):2339–64.
- Kumada T, Jiang Y, Cameron DB, Komuro H. How does alcohol impair neuronal migration? J Neurosci Res. 2007;85(3):465–70.
- 129. Ingham PW, McMahon AP. Hedgehog signaling in animal development: paradigms and principles. Genes Dev. 2001;15(23):3059–87.
- 130. Chen SY, Periasamy A, Yang B, Herman B, Jacobson K, Sulik KK. Differential sensitivity of mouse neural crest cells to ethanol-induced toxicity. Alcohol. 2000;20(1):75–81.
- 131. Ahlgren SC, Bronner-Fraser M. Inhibition of sonic hedgehog signaling in vivo results in craniofacial neural crest cell death. Curr Biol. 1999;9(22):1304–14.
- 132. Ahlgren SC, Thakur V, Bronner-Fraser M. Sonic hedgehog rescues cranial neural crest from cell death induced by ethanol exposure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(16):10476–81.
- 133. Feil R, Fraga MF. Epigenetics and the environment: emerging patterns and implications. Nat Rev Genet. 2012;13:97–109.
- 134. Haycock PC. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: the epigenetic perspective. Biol Reprod. 2009;81:607.
- 135. Kobor MS, Weinberg J. Focus on: epigenetics and fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Alcohol Res Health. 2011;34(1):29–37.
- 136. Liyanage VR, Curtis K, Zachariah RM, Chudley AE, Rastegar M. Overview of the genetic basis and epigenetic mechanisms that contribute to FASD pathobiology. Curr Top Med Chem. 2016;17:808.

- 137. Bird A. Perceptions of epigenetics. Nature. 2007;447:396-8.
- 138. Jones PA. Functions of DNA methylation: islands, start sites, gene bodies and beyond. Nat Rev Genet. 2012;13(7):484–92.
- Smith ZD, Meissner A. DNA methylation: roles in mammalian development. Nat Rev Genet. 2013;14:204–20.
- 140. Garro AJ, McBeth DL, Lima V, Lieber CS. Ethanol consumption inhibits fetal DNA methylation in mice: implications for the fetal alcohol syndrome. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1991;15(3):395–8.
- 141. Kaminen-Ahola N, Ahola A, Maga M, Mallitt KA, Fahey P, Cox TC, Whitelaw E, Chong S. Maternal ethanol consumption alters the epigenotype and the phenotype of offspring in a mouse model. PLoS Genet. 2010;6(1):e1000811.
- 142. Haycock PC, Ramsay M. Exposure of mouse embryos to ethanol during preimplantation development: effect on DNA methylation in the h19 imprinting control region. Biol Reprod. 2009;81:618–27.
- 143. Stouder C, Somm E, Paoloni-Giacobino A. Prenatal exposure to ethanol: a specific effect on the H19 gene in sperm. Reprod Toxicol. 2011;31:507–12.
- Laufer BI, Kapalanga J, Castellani CA, Diehl EJ, Yan L, Singh SM. Associative DNA methylation changes in children with prenatal alcohol exposure. Epigenomics. 2015;7(8):1259–74.
- 145. Liu Y, Balaraman Y, Wang G, Nephew KP, Zhou FC. Alcohol exposure alters DNA methylation profiles in mouse embryos at early neurulation. Epigenetics. 2009;4:500–11.
- 146. Portales-Casamar E, Lussier AA, Jones MJ, MacIsaac JL, Edgar RD, Mah SM, et al. DNA methylation signature of human fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Epigenetics Chromatin. 2016;9:25.
- 147. Clarren SK. Central nervous system malformations in two offspring of alcoholic women. Birth Defects-Orig. 1977;13:151–3.
- 148. Wizniewski K. A clinical neuropathological study of the fetal alcohol syndrome. Neuropediatrics. 1998;14:197–201.
- 149. Pfeiffer J, Majewski F, Fischbach H, Bierich JR, Volk B. Alcohol embryo- and fetopathy. J Neurol Sci. 1979;41:125–37.
- 150. Guerri C. Neuroanatomical and neurophysiological mechanisms involved in central nervous system dysfunctions induced by prenatal alcohol exposure. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1998;22:304–12.
- 151. Mattson SN, Riley EP, Jernigan TL, Ehlers CL, Delis DC, Jones KL, et al. Fetal alcohol syndrome: a case report of neuropsychological, MRI and EEG assessment of two children. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1992;16(5):1001–3.
- 152. Swayze VW 2nd, Johnson VP, Hanson JW, Piven J, Sato Y, Giedd JN, Mosnik D, Andreasen NC. Magnetic resonance imaging of brain anomalies in fetal alcohol syndrome. Pediatrics. 1997;99(2):232–40.
- 153. Archibald SL, Fennema-Notestine C, Gamst A, Riley EP, Mattson SN, Jernigan TL. Brain dysmorphology in individuals with severe prenatal alcohol exposure. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2001;43:148–54.
- 154. Sowell ER, Thompson PM, Mattson SN, et al. Regional brain shape abnormalities persist into adolescence after heavy prenatal alcohol exposure. Cereb Cortex. 2002;12:856–65.
- 155. Sowell ER, Thompson PM, Peterson BS, Mattson SN, Welcome SE, Henkenius AL, et al. Mapping cortical gray matter asymmetry patterns in adolescents with heavy prenatal alcohol exposure. NeuroImage. 2002;17(4):1807–19.
- 156. Autti-Rämö I, Autti T, Korkman M, Kettunen S, Salonen O, Valanne L. MRI findings in children with school problems who had been exposed prenatally to alcohol. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2002;44(2):98–106.
- 157. Sowell ER, Thompson PM, Mattson SN, Tessner KD, Jernigan TL, Riley EP, Toga AW. Voxelbased morphometric analyses of the brain in children and adolescents prenatally exposed to alcohol. Neuroreport. 2001;12(3):515–23.
- 158. Sowell ER, Jernigan TL, Mattson SN, Riley EP, Sobel DF, Jones KL. Abnormal development of the cerebellar vermis in children prenatally exposed to alcohol: size reduction in lobules I–V. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1996;20(1):31–4.

- O'Hare ED, Kan E, Yoshii J, et al. Mapping cerebellar vermal morphology and cognitive correlates in prenatal alcohol exposure. Neuroreport. 2005;16:1285–90.
- 160. Bookstein FL, Streissguth AP, Connor PD, Sampson PD. Damage to the human cerebellum from prenatal alcohol exposure: the anatomy of a simple biometrical explanation. Anat Rec B New Anat. 2006;289(5):195–209.
- 161. Chen X, Coles CD, Lynch ME, Hu X. Understanding specific effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on brain structure in young adults. Hum Brain Mapp. 2012;33:1663–76.
- 162. Cardenas VA, Price M, Infante MA, Moore EM, Mattson SN, Riley EP, Fein G. Automated cerebellar segmentation: validation and application to detect smaller volumes in children prenatally exposed to alcohol. Neuroimage Clin. 2014;4:295–301.
- 163. Sulik KK, Lauder JM, Dehart DB. Brain malformations in prenatal mice following acute maternal ethanol administration. Int J Dev Neurosci. 1984;2(3):203–14.
- Sulik KK. Genesis of alcohol-induced craniofacial dysmorphism. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2005;230(6):366–75.
- 165. Nathaniel EJ, Nathaniel DR, Mohamed S, Nathaniel L, Kowalzik C, Nahnybida L. Prenatal ethanol exposure and cerebellar development in rats. Exp Neurol. 1986;93(3):601–9.
- 166. Nathaniel EJ, Nathaniel DR, Mohamed SA, Nahnybida L, Nathaniel L. Growth patterns of rat body, brain, and cerebellum in fetal alcohol syndrome. Exp Neurol. 1986;93(3):610–20. te
- 167. Lancaster F, Samorajski T. Prenatal ethanol exposure decreases synaptic density in the molecular layer of the cerebellum. Alcohol Alcohol Suppl. 1987;1:477–80.
- 168. Marin-Teva JL, Dusart I, Colin C, Gervais A, van Rooijen N, Mallat M. Microglia promote the death of developing Purkinje cells. Neuron. 2004;41:535–47.
- Reddien PW, Cameron S, Horvitz HR. Phagocytosis promotes programmed cell death in C. elegans. Nature. 2001;412:198–202.
- 170. Sawant OB, Lunde ER, Washburn SE, Chen WJ, Goodlett CR, Cudd TA. Different patterns of regional Purkinje cell loss in the cerebellar vermis as a function of the timing of prenatal ethanol exposure in an ovine model. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 2013;35:7–13.
- 171. de la Monte SM, Wands JR. Chronic gestational exposure to ethanol impairs insulinstimulated survival and mitochondrial function in cerebellar neurons. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2002;59(5):882–93.
- 172. de la Monte SM, Wands JR. Role of central nervous system insulin resistance in fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. J Popul Ther Clin Pharmacol. 2010;17(3):e390–404. Epub 2010 Oct 26
- 173. de la Monte SM, Tong M, Carlson RI, Carter JJ, Longato L, Silbermann E, Wands JR. Ethanol inhibition of aspartyl-asparaginyl-beta-hydroxylase in fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: potential link to the impairments in central nervous system neuronal migration. Alcohol. 2009;43(3):225–40.
- 174. Tong M, Ziplow J, Chen WC, Nguyen QG, Kim C, de la Monte SM. Motor function deficits following chronic prenatal ethanol exposure are linked to impairments in insulin/IGF, notch and Wnt signaling in the cerebellum. J Diabetes Metab. 2013;4(1):238.
- 175. Thomas JD, Wasserman EA, West JR, Goodlett CR. Behavioral deficits induced by bingelike exposure to alcohol in neonatal rats: importance of developmental timing and number of episodes. Dev Psychobiol. 1996;29(5):433–52.
- 176. du Plessis L, Jacobson JL, Jacobson SW, Hess AT, van der Kouwe A, Avison MJ, et al. An in vivo 1H magnetic resonance spectroscopy study of the deep cerebellar nuclei in children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2014;38(5):1330–8.
- 177. Fan J, Meintjes EM, Molteno CD, Spottiswoode BS, Dodge NC, Alhamud AA, Stanton ME, Peterson BS, Jacobson JL, Jacobson SW. White matter integrity of the cerebellar peduncles as a mediator of effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on eyeblink conditioning. Hum Brain Mapp. 2015;36(7):2470–82.
- 178. Schmahmann JD, Sherman JC. The cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome. Brain. 1998;121(Pt 4):561–79.
- 179. Steinlin M. The cerebellum in cognitive processes: supporting studies in children. Cerebellum. 2007;6(3):237–41.

- Bloedel JR, Bracha V. Duality of cerebellar motor and cognitive functions. Int Rev Neurobiol. 1997;41:613–34.
- 181. Van Overwalle F, Mariën P. Functional connectivity between the cerebrum and cerebellum in social cognition: a multi-study analysis. NeuroImage. 2016;124(Pt A):248–55.
- 182. Fatemi SH, Aldinger KA, Ashwood P, Bauman ML, Blaha CD, Blatt GJ, et al. Consensus paper: pathological role of the cerebellum in autism. Cerebellum. 2012;11(3):777–807.
- 183. Berquin PC, Giedd JN, Jacobsen LK, Hamburger SD, Krain AL, Rapoport JL, Castellanos FX. Cerebellum in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: a morphometric MRI study. Neurology. 1998;50(4):1087–93.
- 184. Ornoy A, Weinstein-Fudim L, Ergaz Z. Genetic syndromes, maternal diseases and antenatal factors associated with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). Front Neurosci. 2016;10:316.
- Simmons RW, Nguyen TT, Levy SS, Thomas JD, Mattson SN, Riley EP. Children with heavy prenatal alcohol exposure exhibit deficits when regulating isometric force. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2012;36(2):302–9.
- 186. Simmons RW, Thomas JD, Levy SS, Riley EP. Motor response programming and movement time in children with heavy prenatal alcohol exposure. Alcohol. 2010;44(4):371–8.
- 187. Chudley AE. Genetic factors in fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. In: Riley E, Clarren S, Weinberg J, Jonsson E, editors. Fetal alcohol syndrome disorder. Management and policy perspectives of FASD. New York: Wiley/Blackwell; 2011. p. 109–26.

# **Primary Pediatric Brain Tumors** of the Posterior Fossa: Part I

Kathleen Felton, Amanda Hogg, Lisa Liang, Christopher Aiken, Thomas Klonisch, Frank van Landeghem, Tamra E. Werbowetski-Ogilvie, and David D. Eisenstat

**Abstract** In pediatric neuro-oncology practice, cerebellar tumors are often referred to as infratentorial tumors or tumors of the posterior fossa (a differential diagnosis is provided in Table 1). This anatomic region also contains the pons and medulla, which along with the midbrain comprise the brainstem. In Part I of this comprehensive review, three important pediatric brain tumors usually localized to the cerebellum are discussed (and summarized in Table 2): atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors (ATRTs), pilocytic astrocytomas, and ependymomas. In the compan-

L. Liang, BSc

C. Aiken, BSc • T.E. Werbowetski-Ogilvie, PhD Regenerative Medicine Program, Department of Biochemistry & Medical Genetics, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

Department of Physiology & Pathophysiology, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

T. Klonisch, MD, PhD Department of Human Anatomy & Cell Science, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

F. van Landeghem, MD (Dr. med. Habil.) Section of Neuropathology, Division of Anatomical Pathology, Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathology, University of Alberta Hospital, Edmonton, AB, Canada

D.D. Eisenstat, MD, MA, FRCPC (⊠)
Department of Medical Genetics, University of Alberta,
8-43B Medical Sciences Building, Edmonton, AB, Canada, T6G 2H7

Department of Oncology, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

Division of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, Stollery Children's Hospital, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada e-mail: eisensta@ualberta.ca

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017 H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_15

Kathleen Felton and Amanda Hogg contributed equally to this work.

K. Felton, MD, MSc, FRCPC • A. Hogg, MD, FRCPC Division of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, Stollery Children's Hospital, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

Regenerative Medicine Program, Department of Biochemistry & Medical Genetics, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

ion chapter (Part II), an integrated clinical and molecular overview of medulloblastoma follows. These tumors have been selected, in part, due to their clinical significance as well as recent advances in their molecular genetics and pathological classification. For these entities and others, the histopathologic, cytogenetic, and molecular factors have been integrated into the updated fourth edition of the World Health Organization (WHO) Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System (Louis et al., WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system, Revised 4th edn. IARC, Lyon, 2016a; Louis et al., Acta Neuropathol 131:803–820, 2016b).

**Keywords** Childhood brain tumors • Medulloblastoma • Atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumor • ATRT • Pilocytic astrocytoma • Ependymoma • Posterior fossa • Cerebellum

#### Introduction

Posterior fossa tumors are located in the infratentorial space that is separated from the supratentorial space by a meningeal fold, the cerebellar tentorium. Important neuroanatomical structures located within the infratentorial space are the cerebellum with the fourth ventricle and caudal part of the brainstem that includes the pons and medulla oblongata. The posterior fossa is the site of a variety of rare primary pediatric brain tumors, including tumors from brainstem glioma, meningioma and schwannoma, hemangioblastoma, hemangiopericytoma, choroid plexus papilloma, and epidermoid cyst (Table 1; [77]). The three most common posterior fossa primary pediatric brain tumors are pilocytic astrocytoma (PA), ependymoma, and medulloblastoma (MB), all of which have associations with the cerebellum. While this chapter (Part I) will discuss pilocytic astrocytoma, ependymoma, and atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors (ATRTs), the following chapter (Part II) will focus primarily on MB. All of these tumors share three basic clinical and molecular characteristics (Table 2): (i) Clinical symptoms are caused by posterior fossa compression and occluding hydrocephalus and result in increased intracranial pressure with headaches, progressive nausea, vomiting, lethargy, and drowsiness. Cerebellar tumor location frequently causes ataxia. While these general symptoms do little to differentiate between posterior fossa tumors, children with ependymoma obstructing the foramen of Magendie show distinct torticollis which is rarely observed with other posterior fossa tumors, like MB or PA. (ii) Surgical tumor excision is the initial treatment of choice and, in cases where complete surgical removal is impossible, is combined with targeted radiotherapy, chemotherapy, or both depending on the tumor histology and age of the child. (iii) An emerging common molecular theme is that tumors located at different neuroanatomical locations have distinct cytogenetic/gene expression signatures. This has important implications for the selection of future molecular targets and new therapeutic intervention strategies.

Pilocytic	astrocytoma
Medullob	lastoma
Ependym	oma
Atypical (ATRT)	teratoid/rhabdoid tumor
Brainsten	n glioma
Metastati	c deposits
Hemangi	oblastoma
Teratoma	
Dermoid	cyst
Meningio	oma
Vestibula	r schwannoma
Lymphon	na
Gangliog	lioma
Lhermitte	e-Duclos disease

# **Table 1**Posterior fossamass: differential diagnosis

## Atypical Teratoid/Rhabdoid Tumor (ATRT)

## Epidemiology

Atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors (ATRTs) are highly aggressive embryonal tumors that predominantly affect very young children. Until recently, this tumor type was thought to be universally fatal [99, 34]. These brain tumors have historically been characterized by their aggressive behavior and poor prognosis, with a median survival ranging from 6 to 11 months [13, 51, 69, 92]. ATRTs are the most common malignant CNS tumor affecting children younger than 6 months of age [22]. Approximately 70% of cases arise in children younger than 1 year of age, and 90% occur before 3 years of age [38], with a median age of 18 months [24].

Overall, ATRTs are estimated to comprise 1–3% of pediatric brain tumors [53, 58], but they account for 20% of CNS tumors in children under the age of 3 years [53]. The CBTRUS data from 2008 to 2012 determined the incidence of ATRT to be 0.34 per 100,000 population in children aged 0–4 years and 0.02 per 100,000 population in children aged 5–9 years [68]. Relative survival estimates for embryonal tumors are low but vary significantly by histology. The current 10-year survival rate for ATRT is 26.5% [68].

SEER data between 1973 and 2010 identified 174 cases of ATRT. There was a significantly higher incidence in males (56.3%), Caucasians (59.1%), and children less than 3 years (80.5%). The most common primary sites were the cerebellum (17.8%), the ventricles (16.1%), and the frontal lobe (12.6%) [53]. In the past,

	Medulloblastoma	Ependymoma	ATRT	Pilocytic astrocytoma
Age group	Peak incidence 5–9 years	Mean age 6 years	Peak incidence <3 years, median age at diagnosis 18 months	Peak incidence 5–15 years
Gender	M>F (1.6-1)	M=F	M>F (1.5:1)	M=F
Molecular genetics	WNT, sonic hedgehog (SHH), group 3, and group 4	PF-A: epigenetic aberration PF-B: chromosomal aberration	Mutation or inactivation of INI1/hSNF5/BAF47, 90% of tumors have loss of INI1 nuclear staining, indicative of biallelic inactivation of SMARCB1b	>70% of cerebellar PA have <i>BRAF-</i> <i>KIAA</i> fusion gene, germline mutations in <i>NF1</i> with optic pathway PA
Histopathology	Classic MB, desmoplastic MB, large cell MB, anaplastic MB, and MB with extensive nodularity (MBEN)	WHO grade I–IV, myxopapillary, subependymoma, ependymoma and anaplastic ependymoma	Characterized by rhabdoid cells, small round blue cell tumors	WHO grade I rarely show anaplasia
Management	Maximal safe surgical resection, craniospinal radiation (for those >3 years), and adjuvant chemotherapy	Surgical resection with adjuvant radiotherapy, chemotherapy in young children or patients with residual/recurrent disease	Surgical resection followed by intensive chemotherapy and focal or craniospinal radiation, high-dose chemotherapy with stem cell rescue is also an option	Surgical resection, radiation therapy for progressive disease
Prognosis	10-year survival is 63.3%; 5-year overall survival based on subgroups: WNT (>90%), SHH (~75%), group 3 (40–60%), and group 4 (~75%)	5-year overall survival rate 23–69%	Poor survival, though improving, with median survival of 10–11 months	10-year overall survival rate >90%

 Table 2
 Posterior fossa tumors

ATRT was associated with an extremely poor prognosis, with mean overall survival ranging from 6 to 18 months [69, 96]. SEER data showed a mean overall survival of  $3.2 \pm 0.4$  years, while overall and cancer-specific mortality were 63.2% and 56.3%, respectively. Most ATRT cases were treated with surgery alone (58.0%), followed by a combination of surgery and radiation (34.3%), no treatment (6.5%), and radiation alone (1.2%). However, since 2005, the use of combination therapy has increased significantly (16.1%). The rates of primary surgical resection and radiation therapy remain relatively unchanged. The longest survival has been observed among ATRT patients receiving combination therapy (5.9  $\pm$  0.7 years). Multivariable analysis identified only distant metastases (OR 4.6) as independently associated with increased mortality, whereas combination therapy (OR 0.4) was associated with reduced mortality [53].

ATRTs were first described in the 1987 but were not recognized as a separate tumor entity by the World Health Organization (WHO) until 1993 [48], when they were classified as an embryonal grade IV neoplasm [49]. ATRT is now defined by alterations of either INI1 or, very rarely, BRG1 [30, 44, 106]. These alterations can be evaluated using immunohistochemistry for the corresponding proteins, with loss of nuclear expression correlating with genetic alteration.

Under the revised WHO 2016 Classification, the diagnosis of ATRT requires confirmation of the characteristic molecular defect. If a tumor has histological features of ATRT but does not harbor either of the diagnostic genetic alterations, only a descriptive diagnosis of CNS embryonal tumor with rhabdoid features can be made [57, 59].

#### **Clinical Presentation**

ATRTs arise in infratentorial or supratentorial locations in almost equal proportions and rarely arise in the spine [4, 51, 101]. The clinical presentation of ATRT depends on the age of onset and the location of the tumor. Because ATRT grows rapidly, patients typically have a fairly short history of progressive symptoms, measured in days to weeks.

Children younger than 3 years usually present with non-specific symptoms and signs such as vomiting, lethargy, irritability, weight loss, enlarging head circumference, and failure to thrive. Older patients commonly present with increased intracranial pressure or localizing signs. Cranial nerve palsies, headache, and hemiplegia are common [73, 81, 82]. They may also develop ataxia or regression of developmental milestones.

#### Diagnostic Imaging (Fig. 1)

Among 116 ATRTs in the European Rhabdoid Registry (EU-RHAB), 49% were located within the cerebellum or fourth ventricle, 34% were located in the hemispheres, 4% were located in each of the mesencephalic and pineal regions, 1.7% were found in the spine, and 6% crossed anatomic borders such that origin could not be determined [22].

Imaging features have often been considered non-specific [73, 103]. Parmar et al. [73] demonstrated that lesions are commonly large at presentation, with moderate-to-marked surrounding edema.

In the earlier literature, ATRTs were described as occurring more commonly in the infratentorial region, although this has not been reported in more recent series. Warmuth-Metz et al. [103] described preoperative imaging examinations of 33 patients with ATRT. In their series, supratentorial tumors were more frequent than infratentorial tumors in accordance with some of the largest series evaluating treatment and outcome in ATRT [34, 96]. Supratentorial tumors and those affecting both compartments were significantly larger than those in the infratentorial area. Fifteen percent of their patients showed meningeal dissemination at diagnosis, and this was significantly correlated with a younger age.

Most (52%) of the tumors were surrounded by some edema. Cysts or necrosis was present in 75% of tumors. Cysts in a peripheral position between the solid part of the tumor and the normal brain were seen in 39% patients, with an even distribution between the infra- and supratentorial compartments. This feature seems to be a regular finding in ATRTs [103]. On CT scan, ATRTs are solid or mixed lesions. The solid portion is commonly hyper-dense on non-enhanced CT, a feature attributed to the tumor's high cellularity and high nuclear-to-cytoplasmic ratio [73, 103].



**Fig. 1** Seventeen month male with a 3.5 cm atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumor, localized to the right cerebellar hemisphere with a central solid component and several cystic loculations. (**a**) T1 postgadolinium. (**b**) T2-weighted image

On MRI, signal intensity values on T1- and T2-weighted MR images vary widely [103]. An example is provided in Fig. 1. Parmar et al. [73] found that greater than 50% of these tumors revealed iso-intensity on T1-weighted images and more than 80% were either hypo-intense or heterogeneous on T2-weighted images. Moderate-to-marked enhancement with gadolinium was seen in all tumors. All intra-axial tumors showed extensive vasogenic edema. Hemorrhage was seen in 46% of patients [73, 103], calcification in 36%, necrosis in 46%, and cysts in 18%. These tumors also had a high propensity for subarachnoid dissemination, with 46% showing the presence of leptomeningeal metastasis at the time of presentation [73].

Parmar et al. [73] recommend that contrast-enhanced MR imaging of the brain and spine should be undertaken at the time of presentation and on follow-up because of the high rate of recurrence and leptomeningeal spread. Similar to most malignancies, ATRT cannot be reliably distinguished from other malignant brain tumors based on clinical history or radiographic evaluation. Surgery is necessary to obtain tissue to confirm the diagnosis of ATRT.

## Tumor Pathology (Fig. 2)

Macroscopically, ATRTs are soft, pinkish-red, often well-circumscribed tumors with areas of necrosis and hemorrhages. These tumors arise in the cerebellopontine angle and variably infiltrate cerebellum and brainstem. ATRTs consist of heterogeneous cells with various morphological appearances [81]. Small undifferentiated embryonal cells are the most common tumor cell population, characterized by high nuclear/cytoplasmic ratio. They often contain a vesicular nucleus and a single nucleolus and show less nuclear hyperchromasia than cells of primitive neuroecto-dermal tumors (PNETs). Small groups or scattered rhabdoid cells typically with eccentrically placed nucleus, large eosinophilic nucleolus, abundant eosinophilic



**Fig. 2** (a) Rhabdoid component of an atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumor. (b) Diagnostic loss of nuclear expression of INI1 in tumor cells, in contrast to INI1 expression in endothelial cells (serve as internal positive controls)

cytoplasm, and eosinophilic globular "ball-like" cytoplasmic inclusion are encountered in most ATRTs (Fig. 2a) but may be absent. In only a minority of ATRTs are rhabdoid cells the predominating component. Cells with glial, neuronal, epithelial, or mesenchymal features are observed in most tumors [63]. Occasionally, multinucleated or pleomorphic giant cells are noted. The mitotic and proliferative index is markedly increased, in particular in pediatric ATRTs. Zonal necrosis and hemorrhage are common. Characteristically, a fine fibrovascular network is present within the tumor, but microvascular proliferation may occur.

By immunohistochemistry, expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), epithelial membrane antigen (EMA), smooth muscle alpha-actin (SMA), and vimentin is found most consistently. Often, small groups or scattered tumor cells are immunopositive for synaptophysin, microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP2), neurofilament protein (NFP), desmin, cytokeratins, and HMB-45. ATRTs lack nuclear expression of INI1, the SMARCB1 gene product, in contrast to normal tissue ([45]; Fig. 2b) and most other tumors, in particular PNETs, polymorphous gliomas, or rhabdoid meningiomas. ATRTs with retained INI1 expression but with loss of nuclear expression of BRG1, the SMARCA4 gene product, are rare.

Cribriform neuroepithelial tumor (CRINET) also lacks nuclear INI1 expression but shows no rhabdoid tumor component. This rare tumor is morphologically characterized by cribriform strands and trabeculae of epithelial cells [32]. Molecular findings of CRINETs including the methylation pattern are similar to those seen in the molecular ATRT-TYR subgroup, but the morphological appearance of the CRINET tumor cells and the cribriform architecture are different [39]. Diagnosis of CRINETs is important since these tumors may have a favorable prognosis.

## Molecular Genetics and Biology

In order to specifically target ATRT with novel therapeutics, it is important to clearly understand the driving molecular mechanisms. In ATRT, recent analysis has elucidated recurring mutations in genes for components of the chromatin remodeling complex, SWItch/sucrose nonfermentable (*SWI/SNF*), in patients with ATRT, with *SMARCB1* being most commonly mutated, followed rarely by *SMARCA4* [22, 31, 55]. Both *SMARCB1* and *SMARCA4* are essential components of the *SWI/SNF* complex, which is important for lineage specification, maintenance of stem cell pluripotency, and gene regulation [38, 39, 104]. The SWI/SNF complex has important functions in neural development [108].

ATRTs are associated with mutation or inactivation of the *INI1/hSNF5/BAF47* tumor suppressor locus on chromosome 22q11.23 in almost all cases [79, 100]. ATRT is characterized by the biallelic loss of *SMARCB1* expression [81]. Up to 35% of patients with CNS rhabdoid tumors have germline *SMARCB1* alterations and a rhabdoid tumor predisposition syndrome characterized by the development of multiple rhabdoid tumors [8, 17, 85]. The majority of germline mutations occur de novo, and transmission across generations is rare [3, 23].

Although findings from small patient cohorts suggest molecular heterogeneity may underlie the clinical spectrum seen in ATRT tumors, cumulative genomic analyses, including whole exome sequencing studies, have shown *SMARCB1* loss as the only recurrent genetic event in ATRT [47, 55]. Reconciling clinical heterogeneity with tumor biology has been challenging, because it is a rare disease and there have been few biological and clinical studies [9], especially ones which studied CNS ATRT independently from non-CNS rhabdoid tumors [99].

Despite the absence of recurring genomic alterations beyond *SMARCB1* (and rarely other SWI/SNF complex members such as SMARCA4), biologically distinctive subsets of ATRT have been identified [38, 39, 99]. Torchia et al. [99] identified two molecular subgroups of ATRT with distinct features. Then, Johann et al. [38, 39] identified three distinctive subsets of ATRT, associated with differences in demographics, tumor location, and type of SMARCB1 alterations through the use of DNA methylation arrays and gene expression arrays [38, 39]. Johann et al. [38] termed these subsets ATRT-TYR, ATRT-SHH, and ATRT-MYC.

The recent transcription and methylation profiling studies by Torchia et al. [99] support the existence of at least two different molecular subgroups, groups 1 and 2 [99]. These tumors may be further stratified into average-, high-, and very high-risk groups by integration of tumor molecular subgrouping and clinical prognostic factors. They defined group 1 ATRTs as those most highly enriched for genes involved in the brain or neural development and axonal guidance and demonstrated upregulation of genes involved in the *NOTCH* developmental signaling pathway. The genes *FABP7* and *ASCL1*, markers of primitive neural lineage, were among the most highly upregulated genes [65, 87]. The *HES5/HES6* and *DLL1/DLL3* genes, which are also involved in the *NOTCH* pathway, were also highly enriched in group 1 ATRTs [14]. Torchia et al. [99] found that as a group-specific marker, *ASCL1* showed robust immunostaining and allowed for distinction between *ASCL1-positive* and *ASCL1-negative* tumors. *ASCL1* expression correlated with superior overall survival (OS), but not with progression-free survival (PFS), for all patients treated with chemotherapy [99].

In group 2 ATRTs, neural lineage marker expression was significantly decreased. Instead, these tumors have enrichment of genes involved in mesenchymal differentiation and the bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signaling pathway including *BMP4*, *BAMBI*, *SOST*, *SERPINF1*, *FBN2*, and *MSX1* loci [99]. These tumors were significantly associated with infratentorial location, in contrast to group 1 ATRTs which were mostly supratentorial. In a small cohort of patients who did not receive radiation as part of their primary therapy, *ASCL1*-positive group 1 tumors correlated significantly with higher 5-year PFS and 5-year OS relative to the *ASCL1*-negative group 2 tumors. On univariate analysis, it was noted that *ASCL1* expression and not supratentorial tumor location was a significant prognostic factor for both PFS and OS in non-irradiated children [99].

The ATRT-TYR subset represented approximately one-third of cases and was characterized by elevated expression of melanosomal markers such as *TYR* (the gene encoding tyrosinase), *MITF*, or *DCT*. TYR is highly expressed in almost every case in this subgroup, hence the designation *ATRT-TYR*. Cases in this subset were

primarily infratentorial, with most presenting in children aged 0–1 years and 77% showing chromosome 22q loss, which was only seen in 20% and 12% of ATRT-SHH and ATRT-MYCN tumors, respectively.

The ATRT-SHH subset represented approximately 40% of cases and was characterized by elevated expression of genes in the sonic hedgehog (SHH) pathway such as *GLI2* and *MYCN*. Cases in this subset occurred with near equal frequencies in supratentorial and infratentorial regions. While most presented before age 2 years, approximately one-third of cases presented between 2 and 5 years.

The ATRT-MYC subset represented approximately one-fourth of cases and was characterized by elevated expression of MYC. They tended to occur in the supratentorial region. While most ATRT-MYC cases occurred by age 5 years, this subset represented the most common subset diagnosed at age 6 years and older. Focal deletions of *SMARCB1* were the most common mechanism of SMARCB1 loss for this subset.

Despite few differences between the ATRT subgroups at the genetic level, there were remarkable epigenetic differences. Both *ATRT-TYR* and *ATRT-SHH* revealed genome-wide hypermethylation, particularly in promoter regions. *ATRT-MYCN* showed hypomethylation. These differentially methylated regions have a large impact on the expression of genes located within them, including tumor suppressor genes (which are silenced) and oncogenes (which are activated) in regions where the partially methylated domain is absent. *SMARCB1* expression should be evaluated in all young patients with embryonal tumors to confirm the diagnosis of ATRT rather than medulloblastoma or other CNS PNETs.

## Therapy and Prognosis

Survival rates for patients with ATRT are generally poor but have improved over recent years due to the development of clinical trials specifically designed for ATRT with stringent inclusion and exclusion criteria and a renewed focus on the vulnerability of affected young patients [28]. To date, no standard of therapy for ATRT has been defined. A significant proportion of ATRTs arise in children younger than 3 years. Treatment with conventional postoperative chemotherapy alone results in less than 20% survival [27, 29, 96]. Small cohorts of patients treated with ATRT-specific regimens have achieved survival rates greater than 50% [13, 96]. Improved survival has also been demonstrated for patients with gross total resection [13, 51].

Most recent treatment strategies recommend maximal safe surgical resection followed by intensive chemotherapy with or without intrathecal chemotherapy and focal or craniospinal radiation. However, treatment depends on the location of the tumor, initial staging, and age of the patient at presentation. The management of ATRT with conventional chemotherapy has been consistently associated with very poor outcomes, and most series have supported the benefit of aggressive multimodal therapy [51, 78]. While a multimodal approach that combines maximal safe resection, craniospinal irradiation, and intensive chemotherapy is considered optimal for long-term cure, the young age of many patients and/or involvement of critical structures within the CNS limits this approach [38, 39, 91]. In recent years, treatment approaches in Canada have been more homogeneous and based on the use of high-dose chemotherapy [51]. Treatment factors that predict survival have included the use of multimodality regimens containing radiotherapy, intrathecal chemotherapy, and/or high-dose therapy with stem cell rescue [4, 13, 26, 51, 96]. The series of patients investigated by Lafay-Cousin et al. [51] highlights the encouraging results associated with the use of high-dose chemotherapy and describes a proportion of long-term survivors (50%) who did not receive radiation. Novel therapy that improves outcomes while it decreases toxicity is greatly needed. As ATRT is typically a tumor of infancy, radiation-free approaches are often used in patients to minimize long-term neurodevelopmental sequelae [99]. Current curative therapy for ATRT is perhaps excessively toxic, including the acute toxicity of high-dose chemotherapy [26] and long-term toxicity of radiotherapy in young children. A major focus of current research is on the development of more focal, and potentially less harmful, methods of radiotherapy, such as proton beam radiation.

Data from a small cohort by Torchia et al. [99] suggests that children with localized supratentorial ATRT, with high *ASCL1* expression and complete surgical resection, represented a favorable-risk category with a projected 5-year PFS and OS of 60%, with disease recurrence in only about 33% of patients [99]. This will have to be validated in future trials. Ongoing, prospective studies will more precisely define the outcome of children with ATRT in the current era.

#### **Future Considerations**

The availability of ATRT cell lines and accurate preclinical mouse models have enhanced the discovery of novel therapeutic targets for ATRT. Current targets under consideration are aurora A kinase, cyclin D1, EZH2, and insulin-like growth factor-1. The availability of aurora A kinase inhibitors has facilitated the development of a phase II trial for patients with recurrent ATRT and malignant rhabdoid tumor (NCT02114229). If this trial demonstrates the efficacy of this agent, it will most likely be incorporated into therapy for patients with newly diagnosed ATRT [24]. Results from Torchia et al. [99] suggest that inhibitors of *NOTCH*, *BMP*, and MAPK signaling and angiogenesis would be important novel, subgroup-specific therapeutic agents for ATRT [99].

#### **Pilocytic Astrocytoma**

## Epidemiology

Pilocytic astrocytomas (PAs) are a distinct histologic and biologic subset of gliomas and account for 5% of all gliomas. PAs are typically well-circumscribed WHO grade I tumors that have a slow growth rate. PA is the most common primary brain tumor in 0- to 19-year-olds. Pilocytic astrocytoma accounts for 15% of children and adolescents (0–14 years) and 18% of childhood (0–14 years) primary brain tumors [10].

## **Clinical Presentation**

Pilocytic astrocytomas arise throughout the CNS, although most frequently occur in the cerebellum (42%), followed by the supratentorial compartment (36%), the optic pathway and hypothalamus (9%), the brainstem (9%), and the spinal cord (2%) [10]. A rare variant termed "pilomyxoid astrocytoma" occurs predominantly in children under 1 year of age, in the hypothalamic/chiasmatic region. Pilomyxoid astrocytoma was categorized as WHO grade II in the 2007 WHO Classification due to reports of an increased likelihood of recurrence, but tumor grading for this entity has been omitted in the 2016 update [57, 59].

The presentation of PAs is generally insidious in onset due to the slow growth of the tumor. Identification of early symptoms is dependent on tumor localization and the ability of the patient to communicate neurological change. Cerebellar tumors commonly present with ataxia, cranial nerve defects, and signs of increased intracranial pressure (headache, nausea, and vomiting).

## Diagnostic Imaging (Fig. 3)

Neuroimaging in PA is used to determine the size and the site of origin of the lesion, establishing a primary diagnosis. PA is easily imaged on both CT and MR imaging. On CT images, PAs classically present as a mass with both a solid and cystic component. The solid component usually enhances with contrast, and the cyst wall has variable enhancement. The appearance of a cyst with a mural nodule is almost pathognomonic for PA. On MR imaging, the cystic and solid components are better appreciated. PAs are typically hypo- or iso-intense on T1-weighted sequences and hyperintense on T2-weighted or FLAIR sequences ([2]; Fig. 3).

## Tumor Pathology (Fig. 4)

Pilocytic astrocytomas (PAs), WHO grade I, are macroscopically soft, gray, often mucoid, and well-demarcated tumors. Many cerebellar PAs form cysts within or adjacent to the tumor, with a contrast-enhancing solid mural nodule, similar to hemangioblastomas and gangliogliomas. These cysts contain clear, yellow, or brown protein-rich fluid and are often demarcated by a compressed tumor area with variable fibrous changes.

Histopathologically, PAs characteristically have a biphasic architecture, composed of a loosely textured microcystic and a compact fibrillary component (Fig. 4a). The microcystic component contains astrocytes with short multipolar process, whereas the astrocytes of the fibrillary component have uni- or bipolar hairlike ("piloid") processes. Rosenthal fibers, amorphous sausage-like eosinophilic struc-



**Fig. 3** Four-year-old with a large  $5.4 \times 5.8 \times 5.2$  cm mass, a pilocytic astrocytoma located in the left cerebellum with extension across the vermis into the medial aspect of the right cerebellar hemisphere. (a) T1 post-gadolinium. (b) T2-weighed image



Fig. 4 (a) Pilocytic astrocytomas are characterized by a biphasic tumor architecture, with a solid fibrillary and a loose microcystic component (H&E). (b) Strong expression of the astrocytic marker glial fibrillary acidic protein (*GFAP*) is present in bipolar tumor cells of solid fibrillary areas in contrast to multicystic tumor cells of microcystic areas

tures, are more frequent in the fibrillary component but may be absent. Eosinophilic granular bodies (EGBs), proteinaceous material positive in periodic acid Schiff (PAS) stain, are present in the multicystic component of some PAs. Both structures can be found in other neoplasms and in nonneoplastic lesions. Many PAs are rich in vasculature, most often hyalinized vessels are present, but serpentlike microvascular proliferations with glomeruloid vessels are also frequent. Often, these glomeruloid proliferations are lining the tumor cyst wall. Some classical PAs show zonal, ischemic-like necrosis. Neither the presence of necrosis, of microvascular proliferations, nor of degenerative features such as nuclear hyperchromatism, pleomorphism, and pseudoinclusions indicate a worse prognosis. Rare mitotic figures may be present in classical PAs. Diffuse brisk mitotic activity, usually defined as >4 mitotic

figures per 10 high-power fields, indicates anaplastic change and has prognostic implications [80]. Necrosis is often present but not associated with anaplasia. The prognosis of these *anaplastic pilocytic astrocytomas* is better than in glioblastomas.

Classical PAs are well-circumscribed tumors which typically show only focal infiltration of surrounding brain tissue. In contrast, some PAs mimic diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas by morphology, tumor architecture, and infiltration behavior but have a much better prognosis than diffusely infiltrating astrocytomas. This *diffuse* "*variant*" of pilocytic astrocytomas (dPAs) has a similar prognosis compared to classical PAs [33], and approximately 50% harbor the most common BK fusion variant [35]. Thus, molecular findings and biological behavior suggest that classical PAs and dPAs represent a single tumor entity. Diffuse astrocytomas account for approximately 15% of all cerebellar astrocytic tumors, but most are high-grade astrocytomas. Particularly cerebellar PAs often show infiltration of leptomeninges with focal desmoplasia, a finding that does not predict subarachnoid dissemination or CSF spread and does not affect prognosis.

*Pilomyxoid astrocytoma* (PMA) is typically found in the hypothalamic region but rarely occurs in cerebellar location. PMA is characterized by monomorphous bipolar tumor cells, often in angiocentric arrangement, and myxoid tumor matrix [97]. PMAs are associated with a more aggressive clinical course; thus, these tumors were assigned to WHO grade II in the 2007 CNS tumor classification. However, the tumor grade for PMA has been reconsidered in the subsequent upgrade [57].

PAs characteristically show strong immunoreactivity for glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), S100, and OLIG2. The bipolar tumor cells of compact areas are strongly immunopositive for GFAP, whereas multipolar tumor cells show weaker expression (Fig. 4b). Rosenthal fibers are often GFAP immunopositive in their fibril-rich periphery. Weak expression of synaptophysin may be present in occasional PAs and PMAs.

## Molecular Genetics and Biology

Molecular classification of PAs has been slowly evolving since 2008. Highthroughput genetic sequencing and gene expression profiling have made information regarding the biologic processes necessary for tumor growth and a molecularly based approach to therapy possible. Alterations in the RAS/RAF/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)/extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathway are found in the majority of PAs [40, 93].

The most common genetic alteration found in PAs is the tandem duplication at 7q34, which produces a fusion between two genes, *BRAF* and *KIAA1549*. This "B-K" gene fusion occurs in up to 70% of PAs and is most frequent in cerebellar tumors (72–98%) and less frequent in the other sites such as the optic pathway (43–69%) [6, 7, 36, 40]. The N-terminal end of KIAA1549 replaces the N-terminal end of BRAF, producing a constitutively activated BRAF kinase domain and activa-

tion of the Ras/ERK pathway [7, 21, 42, 89]. The fusion protein can be derived from at least nine different fusion site combinations, with the most common fusion between *KIAA1549* exon 16 and *BRAF* exon 9 [41, 110]. Other gene fusions leading to constitutively active BRAF protein fusion products have also been described in PAs, including FAM131B, RNF130, CLCN6, MKRN1, GNA11, QK1, FZR1, and MACF1 [15, 21, 41, 75, 110].

Activating gene mutations have also been described in a subset of PAs (2-9%). The *BRAF*<sup>V600E</sup> mutation results in constitutively active BRAF protein. This mutation, unlike the *KIAA1549-BRAF* fusion protein, is *not* specific to PAs [7, 43, 84, 89]. The *BRAFinsT* mutation has also been described in PA in up to 3% of tumor samples specifically in the young adult population [18].

Multiple additional genetic alterations have been described in PAs. *KRAS* somatic mutations occur at low frequency (3–5%) [16, 24]. Aberrations affecting *FGFR1*, including point mutations (P.N546K, P.K656E), FGFR1-TACC1 fusions, and internal tandem duplications, have been identified [41, 90, 110]. NTRK family receptor kinase mutations have also been reported at a low rate, due to gene fusions leading to kinase activation [41, 110]. FGFR1 alterations are more frequent in midline structures, whereas BRAF V600 and NTRK family fusions are more frequent in supratentorial tumors [52, 88, 95]. There is unknown significance of reported 41% of PAs having MYB protein upregulation. Genomic alterations of MYB have only been found in diffuse gliomas [93].

PAs, particularly optic pathway tumors, occur in up to 20% of neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) patients. NF1 is an autosomal dominant syndrome due to mutations in the *Nf1* tumor suppressor gene leading to an increase in the active form of Ras and constitutive activation of the Ras/ERK signaling pathway [5, 16, 54, 55, 86]. In general, patients with NF1-associated PAs have a more indolent course and are less likely to require treatment.

Epigenetic analysis revealed a hypomethylation signature specific to PA that included many differentially methylated developmental genes and suggests aberrant expression of developmental regulatory processes as a genetic cause of PA [37, 52]. Both transcriptome and methylome analyses revealed a distinctive pattern for infratentorial versus supratentorial PA [52, 88, 95].

#### Therapy and Prognosis

Overall, PA has an excellent prognosis with 10-year survival over 90% [10]. The treatment is primarily surgical, and prognosis depends on the completeness of the resection. Patients who undergo subtotal resection are often treated with chemo-therapy and/or radiation therapy at tumor progression to improve long-term survival. Chemotherapy following low-grade glioma protocols is the preferred option for younger patients due to the long-term sequelae of radiation in the developing neuroaxis [76]. Infrequently major postoperative sequelae occur, such as postoperative posterior fossa mutism syndrome (<5% of patients) or marked new brainstem

or cerebellar deficits [66]. More commonly, mild fine motor or balance issue occurs but often does not interfere with activities of daily living. Long-term survivors usually have close-to-normal academic achievement, and measures of quality of life are usually normal [1, 111].

#### Future Considerations

Although targeted therapies are unlikely to become the standard of care for newly diagnosed PA, identification of the BRAF V600E mutation suggests a poorer prognosis, and these tumors may respond to BRAF inhibitor therapies, such as with vemurafenib and dabrafenib [11]. Furthermore, since resistance to BRAF inhibitors is often encountered, combination with a MEK inhibitor may be beneficial [20]. Future clinical trials will incorporate molecular genetic tumor profiling, and targeted therapies will be carefully integrated [70].

## Ependymoma

### Epidemiology

Ependymomas are primary tumors in the CNS and account for 10% of childhood brain tumors and about 30% of tumors in children less than 3 years of age [58, 61]. The majority of ependymomas are seen in children less than 7 years old, with 25–51% of cases in children under 3 years of age. A second peak is observed in adults in the third to fifth decades, although the histologic subtypes and neuroanatomic compartments vary considerably between children and adults. Ependymomas originate from the radial glial stem cells and therefore can occur at any site along the ventricular system and in the spinal cord [94]. The anatomical distribution varies according to age, supratentorial compartment and spinal cord being more common sites in older children and adults, with infratentorial locations more frequent in infants and children [58]. Overall, supratentorial tumors account for two-thirds of ependymomas.

## **Clinical Presentation**

The presentation of ependymoma depends on the location of the tumor, and often, due to slow growing nature of the tumor, onset of symptoms and signs can be insidious. Posterior fossa lesions present with symptoms of raised intracranial pressure, such as headache, nausea and vomiting, ataxia, vertigo, and papilledema. Cranial nerve palsies are also common, involving cranial nerves VI–X. When tumors arise in the supratentorial compartment, seizures or focal neurologic deficits may be present. Tumors involving the spinal cord present with deficits due to compression of nerve roots or ascending/descending nerve tracts and are related to the anatomical level of the tumor.

#### **Diagnostic Imaging (Fig. 5)**

Imaging in ependymomas, similar to other CNS tumors, is used to establish a primary diagnosis and determine the size and site of origin of the lesion. Ependymoma can be imaged using both CT and MRI. On CT, the tumors are usually isodense to the brain parenchyma and may have calcifications in up to 50% of cases [12]. On T1-weighted MR imaging, ependymomas are usually hypo-intense or iso-tense to normal gray matter and heterogeneously enhance after contract administration. On T2-weighted images, they are typically isodense or slightly hyperintense to normal gray matter. Foci of signal heterogeneity representing methehemoglobin, hemosiderin, necrosis, calcification, encased native vessels, or tumor vascularity are commonly seen [12] (Fig. 5). It is important to image the entire craniospinal axis, as neuroaxis dissemination can occur in 3-11% of cases [74].



Fig. 5 Fifteen month male with ependymoma with cystic and solid components localized to the fourth ventricle measuring  $3.9 \times 3.4$  cm. (a) T1 post-gadolinium image. (b) T2-weighted image

#### Tumor Pathology (Fig. 6)

Ependymomas are well-circumscribed, soft, occasionally cystic, tan-colored tumors that most often arise from the fourth ventricle in the posterior fossa. Commonly, they extend through the foramina of Luschka and Magendie into the cerebellopon-tine angle and basal cisterns where they often enclose cranial nerves and vessels.

Histopathologically, ependymal tumors are sharply demarcated and present with a wide spectrum of cell morphology but share key features: pseudorosettes are perivascular arrangements of tumor cells which fibrillary cell processes create perivascular anuclear zones (Fig. 6a). True ependymal rosettes are composed of mostly cuboidal tumor cells with a central lumen.

*Classic ependymoma* (WHO grade II) is characterized by small uniform tumor cells with round-to-oval nuclei in variable cell density. In some ependymomas, nod-ules of high tumor cell density are present, often associated with an increased mitotic activity. Pseudorosettes are a typical feature of ependymomas, whereas true ependymal rosettes are seen in ~25%. Hemorrhages and dystrophic calcifications are often observed. Other morphological variants include *papillary*, *clear cell* [83], and *tany-cytic ependymomas* (WHO grade II) which occur less often in the posterior fossa.

*Anaplastic ependymoma* (WHO grade III) is defined by a high cell density, high mitotic activity, microvascular proliferation, and necrosis, but the association between histological grade and clinical outcome is controversial. Age of the patient and anatomical site of the tumor appear to be more reliable prognostic factors in ependymomas.

Immunohistochemically, the vast majority of ependymomas express S100, vimentin, glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), and epithelial membrane antigen (EMA). Expression of GFAP is typically present on the luminal surface of true ependymal rosettes and in the perivascular anuclear zones of pseudorosettes. Many ependymomas show dot- or ringlike cytoplasmic immunopositivity for EMA (Fig. 6b). In contrast to supratentorial ependymomas, expression of L1CAM, which indicates rearrangement of *C11orf95*, is not detectable in posterior fossa ependymomas.



**Fig. 6** (a) Anaplastic ependymoma, WHO grade III, with markedly increased mitotic activity. Five mitotic figures are seen in this high-power field. (b) Cytoplasmic dot- and ringlike immuno-reactivity for epithelial membrane antigen (EMA) in an anaplastic ependymoma

#### Molecular Genetics and Biology

Risk stratification based on histological categorization is difficult in ependymomas, and variability has been seen in outcomes despite similarities in microscopic characteristics. Therefore, molecular analysis has been undertaken to elucidate the pathogenesis of these tumors. In genomic studies, supratentorial ependymomas have been found to have genomic clustering in the region of chromosome 11q12.1-q13.3. This region undergoes gross interchromosomal and intrachromosomal rearrangements, leading to the fusion of the poorly characterized gene *C11orf95* and *RELA*, a downstream target of NF- $\kappa$ B, an important regulator of cell maintenance. This rearrangement has been found in up to 70% of supratentorial ependymomas [72]. A second recurrent gene fusion product, *Cllorf95* and *YAP1*, has also been described predominantly in the younger age group and appears to have a favorable survival outcome, although further studies need to occur to elucidate its role in tumorigenesis [71].

Posterior fossa ependymomas have also been studied in genomic analyses, leading to the transcriptional profiles of posterior fossa (PF) group A (PFA) and group B (PFB) ([105]; Table 3). PFA patients are usually younger, with tumors located laterally and extending to the cerebellopontine angle. Overall PFA tumors are more aggressive in nature and are associated with poor outcomes. These tumors demonstrate relatively stable cytogenetics, although up to 25% of PFA ependymoma has a gain of chromosome 1q, correlating with a poor prognosis [60, 71]. Upregulation of multiple cancer-related signaling pathways has been observed, although they are not specific to ependymomas, including PDGFR, EGFR, VEGF, MAPK, and TGF $\beta$ [102, 105]. Epigenetic modification, specifically hypermethylation, has also been demonstrated in PFA tumors. The genes that are CpG methylated in PFA ependymomas are similar to the genes that are silenced by the polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2) in embryonic stem cells. PRC2 controls all forms of methylation of lysine 27 on histone H3 and is responsible for silencing genes involved in cell differentiation and tumorigenesis [19, 67].

PFB ependymomas often arise in older patients, occur more frequently in the midline, and are less likely to metastasize. PFB tumors demonstrate greater copy number variation with gain of chromosome 9, 15q, and 18 or loss of chromosome 6q and 22q. These cytogenetic abnormalities have been associated with improved

	PF-A	PF-B
Age group	Children	Adults and older adolescents
Gender	M>F	M <f< td=""></f<>
Prognosis	Poor	Good
Molecular genetics	Epigenetic modification, LAMA-2 expression	Chromosomal modification, NELL2 expression
Histopathology	Anaplastic ependymoma, WHO grade II/III	Anaplastic ependymoma, WHO grade II/III

Table 3 Posterior fossa ependymoma summary

prognosis [50, 105]. PFB ependymoma does not demonstrate the epigenetic modifications and hypermethylation profiles when compared to PFA tumors.

An unsupervised gene clustering and multivariate analysis revealed a 10-gene signature that qualified as an independent predictor of recurrence-free survival in infratentorial ependymoma [102]. As a result of these key discoveries, novel therapeutic strategies can now be tested that target PRC2 and alter DNA methylation status in ependymoma [25].

#### Therapy and Prognosis

Overall the prognosis for ependymoma is relatively unsatisfactory with overall survival reported as 50–71%. Local control with surgical resection is clinically important as ependymoma is often locally invasive with low metastatic potential. Leptomeningeal dissemination is seen at diagnosis in only 7-12% of cases, and recurrent disease most frequently occurs at the primary tumor site [64]. Survival of patients with GTR ranges from 66% to 80%, compared to subtotal resection survival of 0-47%. Unfortunately, GTR can only be achieved in approximately 50% of cases due to tumor location and risk of unacceptable neurological injury, often requiring patients to be managed with a tracheostomy and/or gastric feeding tubes [62]. Postoperative involved field radiation therapy is standard of care for patients older than 1 year with non-disseminated ependymoma to lower the risk of local recurrence. Many children in the USA and other countries are being referred to treatment centers that offer proton radiotherapy instead of the more widely available photon-based delivery systems. The role of chemotherapy is less well established and is being investigated in clinical trials. The goal of chemotherapy is to defer radiation therapy in younger patients and as an adjunct for patients with residual disease to improve overall survival [56]. However, chemotherapy has not made a significant impact in this disease [46]. Relapsed ependymoma has an extremely poor prognosis with 5-year overall survival rate reported at 28%, with the median time to recurrence or progression distributed at 18–45 months [98, 109].

#### **Future Considerations**

The impact of chemotherapy as a therapeutic strategy to delay radiotherapy or permit "second look" surgery remains unclear. Although several phase II studies offering EGFR inhibitors and/or other receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors to patients with recurrent, progressive ependymomas have been completed, results have been less than promising. Given the more common presentation of the genomically "bland" PFA tumors in childhood, epigenetically based therapies may hold more promise [46, 107]. **Acknowledgments** KF and AH are subspecialty residents training in the Pediatric Hematology/ Oncology Fellowship Program, Department of Pediatrics, University of Alberta. TWO holds a Canada Research Chair in Neuro-oncology and Human Stem Cells. DDE holds the Muriel & Ada Hole Kids with Cancer Society Chair in Pediatric Oncology, supported by the Kids with Cancer Society (Edmonton, Canada) and the University of Alberta (Edmonton, Canada).

## References

- Ait Khelifa-Gallois N, Laroussinie F, Puget S, Sainte-Rose C, Dellatolas G. Long-term functional outcome of patients with cerebellar pilocytic astrocytoma surgically treated in childhood. Brain Inj. 2015;29(3):366–73.
- Alkonyi B, Nowak J, Gnekow AK, Pietsch T, Warmuth-Metz M. Differential imaging characteristics and dissemination potential of pilomyxoid astrocytomas versus pilocytic astrocytomas. Neuroradiology. 2015;57(6):625–38.
- Ammerlaan AC, Ararou A, Houben MP, et al. Long-term survival and transmission of INI-1 mutation via nonpenetrant males in a family with rhabdoid tumor predisposition syndrome. Br J Cancer. 2008;98(2):474–9.
- Athale U, Duckworth J, Odame I, et al. Childhood atypical teratoid rhabdoid tumor of the central nervous system: a meta-analysis of observational studies. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2009;31:651–63.
- Ballester R, Marchuk D, Boguski M, Saulino A, Letcher R, Wigler M, et al. The NF1 locus encodes a protein functionally related to mammalian GAP and yeast IRA proteins. Cell. 1990;63(4):851–9.
- Bar EE, Lin A, Tihan T, Burger PC, Eberhart CG. Frequent gains at chromosome 7q34 involving BRAF in pilocytic astrocytoma. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2008;67(9):878–87.
- Bergthold G, Bandopadhayay P, Bi WL, Ramkissoon L, Stiles C, Segal RA, et al. Pediatric low-grade gliomas: how modern biology reshapes the clinical field. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014;1845(2):294–307.
- Bourdeaut F, Lequin D, Brugieres L, et al. Frequent *hSNF5/INI1* germline mutations in patients with rhabdoid tumor. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17:31–8.
- Bruggers CS, Bleyl SB, Pysher T, et al. Clinicopathologic comparison of familial versus sporadic atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors (AT/RT) of the central nervous system. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2011;56(7):1026–31.
- Burkhard C, Di Patre PL, Schuler D, Schuler G, Yasargil MG, Yonekawa Y, et al. A population-based study of the incidence and survival rates in patients with pilocytic astrocytoma. J Neurosurg. 2003;98(6):1170–4.
- 11. Chalil A, Ramaswamy V. Low grade gliomas in children. J Child Neurol. 2016;31(4):517–22.
- Chen CJ, Tseng YC, Hsu HL, Jung SM. Imaging predictors of intracranial ependymomas. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2004;28(3):407–13.
- 13. Chi SN, Zimmerman MA, Yao X, et al. Intensive multimodality treatment for children with newly diagnosed CNS atypical teratoid rhabdoid tumor. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:385–9.
- 14. Chillakuri CR, Sheppard D, Lea SM, et al. Notch receptor-ligand binding and activation: insights from molecular studies. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2012;23:421–8.
- 15. Cin H, Meyer C, Herr R, Janzarik WG, Lambert S, Jones DT, et al. Oncogenic FAM131B-BRAF fusion resulting from 7q34 deletion comprises an alternative mechanism of MAPK pathway activation in pilocytic astrocytoma. Acta Neuropathol. 2011;121(6):763–74.
- Collins VP, Jones DT, Giannini C. Pilocytic astrocytoma: pathology, molecular mechanisms and markers. Acta Neuropathol. 2015;129(6):775–88.
- 17. Eaton KW, Tooke LS, Wainwright LM, et al. Spectrum of SMARCB1/INI1 mutations in familial and sporadic rhabdoid tumors. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2011;56(1):7–15.

- Eisenhardt AE, Olbrich H, Roring M, Janzarik W, Anh TN, Cin H, et al. Functional characterization of a BRAF insertion mutant associated with pilocytic astrocytoma. Int J Cancer. 2011;129(9):2297–303.
- Ferrari KJ, Scelfo A, Jammula S, Cuomo A, Barozzi I, Stutzer A, et al. Polycomb-dependent H3K27me1 and H3K27me2 regulate active transcription and enhancer fidelity. Mol Cell. 2014;53(1):49–62.
- 20. Flaherty KT, Infante JR, Daud A, Gonzalez R, Kefford RF, Sosman J, Hamid O, Schuchter L, Cebon J, Ibrahim N, Kudchadkar R, Burris HA 3rd, Falchook G, Algazi A, Lewis K, Long GV, Puzanov I, Lebowitz P, Singh A, Little S, Sun P, Allred A, Ouellet D, Kim KB, Patel K, Weber J. Combined BRAF and MEK inhibition in melanoma with BRAF V600 mutations. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(18):1694–703.
- Forshew T, Tatevossian RG, Lawson AR, Ma J, Neale G, Ogunkolade BW, et al. Activation of the ERK/MAPK pathway: a signature genetic defect in posterior fossa pilocytic astrocytomas. J Pathol. 2009;218(2):172–81.
- Fruhwald MC, Biegel JA, Bourdeaut F, Roberts CWM, Chi SN. Atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors-current concepts, advances in biology, and potential future therapies. Neuro-Oncology. 2016;18(6):764–78.
- 23. Fruhwald MC, Hasselblatt M, Wirth S, et al. Non-linkage of familial rhabdoid tumors to *SMARCB1* implies a second locus for the rhabdoid tumor predisposition syndrome. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2006;47(3):273–8.
- Gajjar A, Bowers DC, Karajannis MA, Leary S, Witt H, Gottardo NG. Pediatric brain tumors: innovative genomic information is transforming the diagnostic and clinical landscape. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(27):2986–98.
- 25. Gajjar A, Pfister SM, Taylor MD, Gilbertson RJ. Molecular insights into pediatric brain tumors have the potential to transform therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20(22):5630–40.
- 26. Gardner SL, Asgharzadeh S, Green A, et al. Intensive induction chemotherapy followed by high dose chemotherapy with autologous hematopoietic progenitor cell rescue in young children newly diagnosed with central nervous system atypical teratoid rhabdoid tumors. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2008;51:235–40.
- 27. Geyer JR, Sposto R, Jennings M, et al. Multi-agent chemotherapy and deferred radiotherapy in infants with malignant brain tumors: a report from the Children's Cancer Group. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:7621–31.
- Ginn KF, Gajjar A. Atypical teratoid rhabdoid tumor: current therapy and future directions. Front Oncol. 2012;2:114.
- 29. Grundy RG, Wilne SH, Robinson KJ, et al. Primary postoperative chemotherapy without radiotherapy for treatment of brain tumors other than ependymoma in children under 3 years: results of the first UKCCSG/SIOP CNS 9204 trial. Eur J Cancer. 2010;46:120–33.
- Hasselblatt M, Gesk S, Oyen F, Rossi S, Viscardi E, Giangaspero F, et al. Nonsense mutation and inactivation of SMARCA4 (BRG1) in an atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumor showing retained SMARCB1 (INI1) expression. Am J Surg Pathol. 2011;35(6):933–5.
- Hasselblatt M, Isken S, Linge A, et al. High resolution genomic analysis suggests the absence of recurrent genomic alterations other than *SMARCB1* aberrations in atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors. Genes Chromosom Cancer. 2013;52(2):185–90.
- 32. Hasselblatt M1, Oyen F, Gesk S, Kordes U, Wrede B, Bergmann M, Schmid H, Frühwald MC, Schneppenheim R, Siebert R, Paulus W. Cribriform neuroepithelial tumor (CRINET): a nonrhabdoid ventricular tumor with INI1 loss and relatively favorable prognosis. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2009;68:1249–55.
- Hayostek CJ, Shaw EG, Scheithauer B, O'Fallon JR, Weiland TL, Schomberg PJ, Kelly PJ, Hu TC. Astrocytomas of the cerebellum. A comparative clinicopathologic study of pilocytic and diffuse astrocytomas. Cancer. 1993;72:856–69.
- 34. Hilden JM, Meerbaum S, Burger P, Finlay J, Janss A, Scheithauer BW, Walter AW, Rorke LB, Biegel JA. Central nervous system atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumor: results of therapy in children enrolled in a registry. J Clin Oncol. 2004 Jul 15;22(14):2877-84. PMID: 15254056.
- 35. Ida CM, Lambert SR, Rodriguez FJ, Voss JS, Mc Cann BE, Seys AR, Halling KC, Collins VP, Giannini C. BRAF alterations are frequent in cerebellar low-grade astrocytomas with diffuse growth pattern. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2012;71(7):631–9.
- 36. Jacob K, Albrecht S, Sollier C, Faury D, Sader E, Montpetit A, et al. Duplication of 7q34 is specific to juvenile pilocytic astrocytomas and a hallmark of cerebellar and optic pathway tumours. Br J Cancer. 2009;101(4):722–33.
- 37. Jeyapalan JN, Doctor GT, Jones TA, Alberman SN, Tep A, Haria CM, et al. DNA methylation analysis of paediatric low-grade astrocytomas identifies a tumour-specific hypomethylation signature in pilocytic astrocytomas. Acta Neuropathol Commun. 2016;4(1):54.
- Johann P, Erkek S, Zapatka M, Kerl K, Buchhalter I, Hovestadt V, et al. Atypical teratoid/ rhabdoid tumors are comprised of three epigenetic subgroups with distinct enhancer landscapes. Cancer Cell. 2016;29(3):379–93.
- 39. Johann PD, Hovestadt V, Thomas C, Jeibmann A, Heß K, Bens S, Oyen F, Hawkins C, Pierson CR, Aldape K, Kim SP, Widing E, Sumerauer D, Hauser P, van Landeghem F, Ryzhova M, Korshunov A, Capper D, Jones DT, Pfister SM, Schneppenheim R, Siebert R, Paulus W, Frühwald MC, Kool M, Hasselblatt M. Cribriform neuroepithelial tumor: molecular characterization of a SMARCB1-deficient nonrhabdoid tumor with favorable long-term outcome. Brain Pathol. 2016. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12413. [Epub ahead of print] PMID: 27380723.
- Jones DT, Gronych J, Lichter P, Witt O, Pfister SM. MAPK pathway activation in pilocytic astrocytoma. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2012;69(11):1799–811.
- Jones DT, Hutter B, Jager N, Korshunov A, Kool M, Warnatz HJ, et al. Recurrent somatic alterations of FGFR1 and NTRK2 in pilocytic astrocytoma. Nat Genet. 2013;45(8):927–32.
- 42. Jones DT, Kocialkowski S, Liu L, Pearson DM, Backlund LM, Ichimura K, et al. Tandem duplication producing a novel oncogenic BRAF fusion gene defines the majority of pilocytic astrocytomas. Cancer Res. 2008;68(21):8673–7.
- 43. Jones DT, Kocialkowski S, Liu L, Pearson DM, Ichimura K, Collins VP. Oncogenic RAF1 rearrangement and a novel BRAF mutation as alternatives to KIAA1549:BRAF fusion in activating the MAPK pathway in pilocytic astrocytoma. Oncogene. 2009;28(20):2119–23.
- 44. Judkins A. Immunohistochemistry of INI1 expression: a new tool for old challenges in CNS and soft tissue pathology. Adv Anat Pathol. 2007;14(5):335–9.
- Judkins AR, Mauger J, Ht A, Rorke LB, Biegel JA. Immunohistochemical analysis of hSNF5/ INI1 in pediatric CNS neoplasms. Am J Surg Pathol. 2004;28:644–50.
- 46. Khatua S, Ramaswamy V, Bouffet E. Current therapy and the evolving molecular landscape of paediatric ependymoma. Eur J Cancer. 2017;70:34–41.
- 47. Kieran MW, Roberts CW, Chi SN, et al. Absence of oncogenic canonical pathway mutations in aggressive pediatric rhabdoid tumors. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2012;59(7):1155–7.
- Kleihues P, Burger PC, Scheithauer BW. The new WHO classification of brain tumors. Brain Pathol. 1993;3:255–68.
- 49. Kleihues P, Cavenee WK, editors. Pathology and genetics of tumours of the nervous system. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC); 2000.
- Korshunov A, Witt H, Hielscher T, Benner A, Remke M, Ryzhova M, et al. Molecular staging of intracranial ependymoma in children and adults. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(19):3182–90.
- Lafay-Cousin L, Hawkins C, Carret AS, Johnston D, Zelcer S, Wilson B, et al. Central nervous system atypical teratoid rhabdoid tumours: the Canadian paediatric brain tumour consortium experience. Eur J Cancer. 2012;48(3):353–9.
- 52. Lambert SR, Witt H, Hovestadt V, Zucknick M, Kool M, Pearson DM, et al. Differential expression and methylation of brain developmental genes define location-specific subsets of pilocytic astrocytoma. Acta Neuropathol. 2013;126(2):291–301.
- Lau CS, Mahendraraj K, Chamberlain RS. Atypical teratoid rhabdoid tumors: a populationbased clinical outcomes study involving 174 patients from the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results database (1973–2010). Cancer Manag Res. 2015;7:301–9.
- 54. Lee DY, Gianino SM, Gutmann DH. Innate neural stem cell heterogeneity determines the patterning of glioma formation in children. Cancer Cell. 2012;22(1):131–8.

- 55. Lee RS, Stewart C, Carter SL, et al. A remarkably simple genome underlies highly malignant pediatric rhabdoid cancers. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(8):2983–8.
- Lin FY, Chintagumpala M. Advances in management of pediatric ependymomas. Curr Oncol Rep. 2015;17(10):47.
- Louis DN, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Cavenee W. WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system. Revised 4th ed. Lyon: IARC; 2016.
- Louis DN, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Cavenee WK, Burger PC, Jouvet A, et al. The 2007 WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system. Acta Neuropathol. 2007;114(2):97–109.
- 59. Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, et al. The 2016 World Health Organization classification of tumors of the central nervous system: a summary. Acta Neuropathol. 2016;131:803–20.
- Mack SC, Witt H, Piro RM, Gu L, Zuyderduyn S, Stutz AM, et al. Epigenomic alterations define lethal CIMP-positive ependymomas of infancy. Nature. 2014;506(7489):445–50.
- McGuire CS, Sainani KL, Fisher PG. Incidence patterns for ependymoma: a surveillance, epidemiology, and end results study. J Neurosurg. 2009;110(4):725–9.
- McLaughlin MP, Marcus RB Jr, Buatti JM, McCollough WM, Mickle JP, Kedar A, et al. Ependymoma: results, prognostic factors and treatment recommendations. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1998;40(4):845–50.
- McLendon RE, Adekunle A, Rajaram V, Kocak M, Blaney SM. Embryonal central nervous system neoplasms arising in infants: a pediatric brain tumor consortium study. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2011;135(8):984–93.
- Merchant TE, Boop FA, Kun LE, Sanford RA. A retrospective study of surgery and reirradiation for recurrent ependymoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2008;71(1):87–97.
- 65. Nelson BR, Hartman BH, Ray CA, et al. Acheate-shute like 1 (Ascl1) is required for normal delta-like (Dll) gene expression and notch signaling during retinal development. Dev Dyn. 2009;238:2163–8.
- Ogiwara H, Bowman RM, Tomita T. Long-term follow-up of pediatric benign cerebellar astrocytomas. Neurosurgery. 2012;70(1):40–7.
- 67. Ohm JE, McGarvey KM, Yu X, Cheng L, Schuebel KE, Cope L, et al. A stem cell-like chromatin pattern may predispose tumor suppressor genes to DNA hypermethylation and heritable silencing. Nat Genet. 2007;39(2):237–42.
- 68. Ostrom QT, Gittleman H, Fulop J, Liu M, Blanda R, Cromer C, et al. CBTRUS statistical report: primary brain and central nervous system tumors diagnosed in the United States in 2008–2012. Neuro-Oncology. 2015;17(4):iv1–iv62.
- Packer RJ, Biegel JA, Blaney S, Finlay J, Geyer JR, Heideman R, et al. Atypical teratoid/ rhabdoid tumor of the central nervous system: report on workshop. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2002;24(5):337–42.
- 70. Packer RJ, Pfister S, Bouffet E, Avery R, Bandopadhayay P, Bornhorst M, Bowers DC, Ellison D, Fangusaro J, Foreman N, Fouladi M, Gajjar A, Haas-Kogan D, Hawkins C, Ho CY, Hwang E, Jabado N, Kilburn LB, Lassaletta A, Ligon KL, Massimino M, Meeteren SV, Mueller S, Nicolaides T, Perilongo G, Tabori U, Vezina G, Warren K, Witt O, Zhu Y, Jones DT, Kieran M. Pediatric low-grade gliomas: implications of the biologic era. Neuro Oncol. 2017;19(6):750–61.
- Pajtler KW, Witt H, Sill M, Jones DT, Hovestadt V, Kratochwil F, et al. Molecular classification of ependymal tumors across all CNS compartments, histopathological grades, and age groups. Cancer Cell. 2015;27(5):728–43.
- Parker M, Mohankumar KM, Punchihewa C, Weinlich R, Dalton JD, Li Y, et al. C11orf95-RELA fusions drive oncogenic NF-kappaB signalling in ependymoma. Nature. 2014;506(7489):451–5.
- 73. Parmar H, Hawkins C, Bouffet E, et al. Imaging findings in primary intracranial atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors. Pediatr Radiol. 2006;36:126.
- 74. Paulino AC, Wen BC, Buatti JM, Hussey DH, Zhen WK, Mayr NA, et al. Intracranial ependymomas: an analysis of prognostic factors and patterns of failure. Am J Clin Oncol. 2002;25(2):117–22.

- Penman CL, Faulkner C, Lowis SP, Kurian KM. Current understanding of BRAF alterations in diagnosis, prognosis, and therapeutic targeting in pediatric low-grade gliomas. Front Oncol. 2015;5:54.
- 76. Perilongo G. Considerations on the role of chemotherapy and modern radiotherapy in the treatment of childhood low grade glioma. J Neuro-Oncol. 2005;75(3):301–7.
- 77. Poretti A, Meoded A, Huisman TAGM. Neuroimaging of pediatric posterior fossa tumors including review of the literature. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2012;35(1):32–47.
- Reddy AT. Atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors of the central nervous system. J Neuro-Oncol. 2005;75(3):309–13.
- 79. Reinhard H, Reinert J, Beier R, et al. Rhabdoid tumors in children: prognostic factors in 70 patients diagnosed in Germany. Oncol Rep. 2008;19:819–23.
- Rodriguez FJ, Scheithauer BW, Burger PC, Jenkins S, Giannini C. Anaplasia in pilocytic astrocytoma predicts aggressive behavior. Am J Surg Pathol. 2010;34:147–60.
- Rorke LB, Packer R, Biegel J. Central nervous system atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors of infancy and childhood. J Neuro-Oncol. 1995;24:21–8.
- Rorke LB, Packer RJ, Biegel JA. Central nervous system atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors of infancy and childhood: definition of an entity. J Neurosurg. 1996;85(1):56–65.
- Rousseau E, Palm T, Scaravilli F, Ruchoux MM, Figarella-Branger D, Salmon I, et al. Trisomy 19 ependymoma, a newly recognized genetico-histological association, including clear cell ependymoma. Mol Cancer. 2007;6:47.
- 84. Schindler G, Capper D, Meyer J, Janzarik W, Omran H, Herold-Mende C, et al. Analysis of BRAF V600E mutation in 1,320 nervous system tumors reveals high mutation frequencies in pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma, ganglioglioma and extra-cerebellar pilocytic astrocytoma. Acta Neuropathol. 2011;121(3):397–405.
- Sevenet N, Sheridan E, Amran D, Schneider P, et al. Constitutional mutations of the *hSNF5/ INII* gene predispose to a variety of cancers. Am J Hum Genet. 1999;65:1342–8.
- 86. Sharif S, Upadhyaya M, Ferner R, Majounie E, Shenton A, Baser M, et al. A molecular analysis of individuals with neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) and optic pathway gliomas (OPGs), and an assessment of genotype-phenotype correlations. J Med Genet. 2011;48(4):256–60.
- 87. Sharifi K, Morihiro Y, Maekawa M, et al. FABP7 expression in normal and stab-injured brain cortex and its role in astrocyte proliferation. Histochem Cell Biol. 2011;136:501–13.
- Sharma MK, Mansur DB, Reifenberger G, Perry A, Leonard JR, Aldape KD, et al. Distinct genetic signatures among pilocytic astrocytomas relate to their brain region origin. Cancer Res. 2007;67(3):890–900.
- 89. Sievert AJ, Jackson EM, Gai X, Hakonarson H, Judkins AR, Resnick AC, et al. Duplication of 7q34 in pediatric low-grade astrocytomas detected by high-density single-nucleotide polymorphism-based genotype arrays results in a novel BRAF fusion gene. Brain Pathol. 2009;19(3):449–58.
- Singh D, Chan JM, Zoppoli P, Niola F, Sullivan R, Castano A, et al. Transforming fusions of FGFR and TACC genes in human glioblastoma. Science. 2012;337(6099):1231–5.
- 91. Squire SE, Chan MD, Marcus KJ. Atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumor: the controversy behind radiation therapy. J Neuro-Oncol. 2007;81(1):97–111.
- Strother D. Atypical teratoid rhabdoid tumors of childhood: diagnosis, treatment and challenges. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2005. 10/01;5(5):907–15.
- Tatevossian RG, Lawson AR, Forshew T, Hindley GF, Ellison DW, Sheer D. MAPK pathway activation and the origins of pediatric low-grade astrocytomas. J Cell Physiol. 2010;222(3):509–14.
- 94. Taylor MD, Poppleton H, Fuller C, Su X, Liu Y, Jensen P, et al. Radial glia cells are candidate stem cells of ependymoma. Cancer Cell. 2005;8(4):323–35.
- 95. Tchoghandjian A, Fernandez C, Colin C, El Ayachi I, Voutsinos-Porche B, Fina F, et al. Pilocytic astrocytoma of the optic pathway: a tumour deriving from radial glia cells with a specific gene signature. Brain. 2009;132(Pt 6):1523–35.
- 96. Tekautz TM, Fuller CE, Blaney S, Fouladi M, Broniscer A, Merchant TE, et al. Atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors (ATRT): improved survival in children 3 years of age and

older with radiation therapy and high-dose alkylator-based chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(7):1491–9.

- 97. Tihan T, Fisher PG, Kepner JL, Godfraind C, McComb RD, Goldthwaite PT, Burger PC. Pediatric astrocytomas with monomorphous pilomyxoid features and a less favorable outcome. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1999;58:1061–8.
- Timmermann B, Kortmann RD, Kuhl J, Meisner C, Slavc I, Pietsch T, et al. Combined postoperative irradiation and chemotherapy for anaplastic ependymomas in childhood: results of the German prospective trials HIT 88/89 and HIT 91. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2000;46(2):287–95.
- Torchia J, Picard D, Lafay-Cousin L, Hawkins CE, Kim S-K, Letourneau L, et al. Molecular subgroups of atypical teratoid rhabdoid tumours in children: an integrated genomic and clinicopathological analysis. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:569–82.
- Versteege I, Sevenet N, Lange J, et al. Truncating mutations of *hSNF5/INI1* in aggressive pediatric cancer. Nature. 1998;394:203–6.
- 101. von Hoff K, Hinkes B, Dannenmann-Stern E, von Bueren AO, Warmuth-Metz M, Soerensen N, et al. Frequency, risk-factors and survival of children with atypical teratoid rhabdoid tumors (AT/RT) of the CNS diagnosed between 1988 and 2004, and registered to the German HIT database. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2011;57(6):978–85.
- 102. Wani K, Armstrong TS, Vera-Bolanos E, Raghunathan A, Ellison D, Gilbertson R, et al. A prognostic gene expression signature in infratentorial ependymoma. Acta Neuropathol. 2012;123(5):727–38.
- 103. Warmuth-Metz M, Bison B, Dannemann-Stern E, Kortmann R, Rutkowski S, Pietsch T. CT and MR imaging in atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors of the central nervous system. Neuroradiology. 2008;50:447–52.
- 104. Wilson BG, Roberts CW. *SWI/SNF* nucleosome remodelers and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11:481–92.
- 105. Witt H, Mack SC, Ryzhova M, Bender S, Sill M, Isserlin R, et al. Delineation of two clinically and molecularly distinct subgroups of posterior fossa ependymoma. Cancer Cell. 2011;20(2):143–57.
- 106. Woehrer A, Slavc I, Waldhoer T, Heinzl H, Zielonke N, Czech T, et al. Incidence of atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors in children. Cancer. 2010;116(24):5725–32.
- 107. Wu J, Armstrong TS, Gilbert MR. Biology and management of ependymomas. Neuro-Oncology. 2016;18(7):902–13.
- Yoo AS, Crabtree GR. ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling in neural development. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2009;19:120–6.
- 109. Zacharoulis S, Ashley S, Moreno L, Gentet JC, Massimino M, Frappaz D. Treatment and outcome of children with relapsed ependymoma: a multi-institutional retrospective analysis. Childs Nerv Syst. 2010;26(7):905–11.
- 110. Zhang J, Wu G, Miller CP, Tatevossian RG, Dalton JD, Tang B, et al. Whole-genome sequencing identifies genetic alterations in pediatric low-grade gliomas. Nat Genet. 2013;45(6):602–12.
- 111. Zuzak TJ, Poretti A, Drexel B, Zehnder D, Boltshauser E, Grotzer MA. Outcome of children with low-grade cerebellar astrocytoma: long-term complications and quality of life. Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(12):1447–55.

# Primary Pediatric Brain Tumors of the Posterior Fossa Part II: A Comprehensive Overview of Medulloblastoma



# Lisa Liang, Christopher Aiken, Kathleen Felton, Amanda Hogg, Frank van Landeghem, T. Klonisch, David D. Eisenstat, and Tamra E. Werbowetski-Ogilvie

**Abstract** Medulloblastoma (MB) is the most common malignant primary brain tumor in children and is currently classified into five distinct molecular subtypes (WNT, SHH-*TP53* wild type, SHH-*TP53* mutant, Group 3, and Group 4), based on

L. Liang

Regenerative Medicine Program, Department of Biochemistry & Medical Genetics, University of Manitoba, 611-745 Bannatyne Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3E 0J9, Canada

C. Aiken • T.E. Werbowetski-Ogilvie (🖂)

Regenerative Medicine Program, Department of Biochemistry & Medical Genetics, University of Manitoba, 611-745 Bannatyne Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3E 0J9, Canada

Department of Physiology & Pathophysiology, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada e-mail: Tamra.Ogilvie@umanitoba.ca

K. Felton • A. Hogg Division of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, Stollery Children's Hospital, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

F. van Landeghem

Section of Neuropathology, Division of Anatomical Pathology, Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathology, University of Alberta Hospital, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

#### T. Klonisch Department of Human Anatomy and Cell Science, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada

D.D. Eisenstat Division of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, Stollery Children's Hospital, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

Department of Medical Genetics, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

Department of Oncology, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017 H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_16

The original version of this chapter was revised. The correction to this chapter is available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_23

genomic alterations, gene expression profiles, responses to treatment, and developmental cell of origin. The standard treatment for MB consists of surgical resection followed by radiation therapy and chemotherapy. However, current treatments do not take into account the extensive heterogeneity between and within MB subtypes. Cancer stem cells also play an important role in treatment failure and recurrence in MB, adding an additional layer of complexity in the form of cellular heterogeneity. This chapter will focus on the clinical presentation of MB, current treatment options, and histological classifications with a more detailed description of the current molecular subtypes, followed by exploration of cellular heterogeneity in the molecular era. Further dissection of tumor heterogeneity and identification of subtype-specific biomarkers will be crucial in the development of novel diagnostic markers and targeted therapies for these highly aggressive pediatric brain tumors.

**Keywords** Posterior fossa tumors • Medulloblastoma • Pediatric • Tumor heterogeneity • Cancer stem cell

*Medulloblastoma* (*MB*) is the most common form of primary malignant pediatric brain cancer in North America [1]. Primary MB tumors typically develop in the cerebellum and fourth ventricle; however, extensive dissemination through the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) often leads to metastasis and tumor recurrence [1]. MB is considered to be a highly heterogeneous disease consisting of a mixture of malignant cells that display distinct genetic, molecular, and cellular characteristics including differences in morphology, gene expression profiles, genetic abnormalities, cellular differentiation, proliferation, response to therapy, and metastatic potential [1]. Extensive heterogeneity exists not only between tumors (intertumoral heterogeneity) but also within tumors (intratumoral heterogeneity). It is now known that tumor heterogeneity plays an important role in treatment failure and recurrence in brain tumors.

# **Clinical Presentation**

MBs typically arise in the cerebellum, with tumor cells filling the fourth ventricle, resulting in obstructive hydrocephalus [2]. Due to the rapid growth of MBs, patients generally have a short duration of symptomatology prior to presentation, ranging from 1 to 3 months [3, 4]. Signs and symptoms can be divided into four categories:

(a) Increased intracranial pressure

Some degree of hydrocephalus and increased intracranial pressure is present in nearly 80% of patients at the time of diagnosis. Initial nonspecific headaches are frequently followed by more severe headaches, especially morning headaches, nausea, and vomiting. Papilledema is often present at diagnosis. In infants and very young children, the clinical presentation may not be classical. Instead, they may present with papilledema, vomiting, irritability, delayed closure of the fontanelles or bulging of the anterior fontanelle with open sutures, and increasing head circumference. Due to dilatation of the third ventricle, very young children are also more likely to have paralysis of upward gaze, a phenomenon known as "sun-setting" eyes [2]. In older patients, especially adolescents and young adults, MBs tend to be located more laterally, involving the lateral cerebellar hemispheres and/or the cerebellopontine angle. With a more lateral presentation, hydrocephalus is slightly less common [2]. Headaches may be nonspecific for 2–5 months before the tumor becomes large enough to cause CSF obstruction and localizing cranial nerve deficits, including unilateral sixth, seventh, and eighth cranial nerve dysfunction; less commonly, hoarseness and swallowing difficulties due to lower cranial nerve dysfunction may be present at the time of diagnosis.

(b) Localizing signs

Midline cerebellar deficits are also common, including truncal and gait ataxia. Head tilt may be present due to cerebellar tonsillar herniation, with some associated neck rigidity [2]. Infrequently, in midline tumors, other cranial nerve deficits, presenting as facial weakness, hoarseness, or swallowing difficulties, may be present.

(c) Non-localizing signs

Subjective diplopia (double vision) occurs in less than 50% of patients and is most commonly due to a non-localizing abducens nerve palsy [2].

(d) Signs of metastatic disease

Although as many as 30% of patients with MB will have disseminated disease at the time of diagnosis, symptoms attributed to leptomeningeal dissemination are relatively infrequent [2]. Occasionally, children who have disseminated disease at diagnosis will complain of neck and back pain relatively early in the course of their illness.

## **Current Treatment and Traditional Therapies**

The standard therapy for MB consists of surgical resection, followed by radiation therapy (RT) and chemotherapy depending on the age of the patient [5]. Risk stratification and treatment regimens over the past 20 years have been determined by the presence of metastasis, extent of resection at diagnoses, and age of the patient [6]. Based on these criteria, patients are stratified into three treatment groups. The first treatment group consists of children greater than 3 years of age with standard risk disease. These patients have total or near-total resection of their tumors and no evidence of dissemination in the CSF [6, 7]. The second treatment group consists of children greater than 3 years of age with high-risk disease, defined as the presence of greater than 1.5 cm<sup>2</sup> of residual tumor after surgery or dissemination/metastasis with large cell/anaplastic histology. Patients with high-risk disease are at an increased risk for tumor recurrence or death compared to the average-risk disease group [6]. Lastly, children younger than 3 years of age constitute a separate treatment

group. Although RT can improve disease control and is typically used for MB patients over 3 years of age, it is not recommended for children under 3 years old. These patients are treated with high-dose chemotherapy to delay or remove the need for RT and allow the nervous system an opportunity to further develop [8].

### **Histological Classification**

Traditionally, MB has been classified based on histological properties. MB appears as a small round blue cell tumor, a characteristic seen upon hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining attributed to the presence of large nuclei and scant cytoplasm in less differentiated cells [9]. MB can be divided into four main histological variants: *classic, large cell/anaplastic (LCA), desmoplastic/nodular, and MB with extensive nodularity* (Fig. 1) [10].

*Classic* histology accounts for about 70% of MBs and is characterized by the presence of small, round, undifferentiated cells with a high nuclear-to-cytoplasmic ratio and hyperchromatic nuclei (Fig. 1a). Approximately 40% of classic MBs exhibit Homer Wright rosettes, circular nuclear arrays with fine tangled cytoplasmic processes [10]. Most classic MBs express, at least focally, neuronal antigens such as synaptophysin, class III beta-tubulin, or microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP2). GFAP expression in the undifferentiated tumor cells is demonstrated in approximately 10% of classic MB. In some classic MB, no expression of neuronal or glial



Fig. 1 (a) Classic medulloblastoma, WHO grade IV, hematoxylin and eosin (H&E). (b) Large cell/anaplastic medulloblastoma, WHO grade IV (H&E). (c) Desmoplastic/nodular medulloblastoma, WHO grade IV, MIB1 proliferation marker (Ki67). (d) Medulloblastoma with extensive nodularity, WHO grade IV (H&E). (e) Medulloblastoma with extensive nodularity, WHO grade IV, reticulin stain. (f) Medulloblastoma with extensive nodularity, WHO grade IV, synaptophysin immunostaining

antigens is observed. A strong relationship is observed between *CTNNB1* (encoding  $\beta$ -catenin) mutations and nuclear accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin, which is indicative of WNT pathway activation, in classic MB [11]. Nuclear accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin is associated with excellent clinical outcomes in these tumors [11, 12].

*Large cell/anaplastic (LCA)* MB is the most malignant histological variant and is characterized by nuclear pleomorphism with large nuclei, prominent nucleoli, and abundant cytoplasm (Fig. 1b) [10, 13]. Most large cell MBs are heterogeneous and contain intermingled areas of anaplastic and/or classic tumor cells. Expression of synaptophysin is detected in nearly all tumors, whereas neurofilament protein or chromogranin may not be found by immunohistochemistry. GFAP expression is rare. Cell-cell wrapping is a typical feature of anaplastic MBs, with the engulfed cell often undergoing cannibalistic cell death.

Anaplastic MBs consist of tumor cells with enlarged pleomorphic nuclei and distinctive nuclear molding [10, 13, 14]. The nuclear-to-cytoplasmic ratio is high. Mitotic, proliferative, and apoptotic indices are high, comparable to those in large cell MBs. Cell-cell wrapping is a typical feature of anaplastic MBs, with the engulfed cell often undergoing cannibalistic cell death (Fig. 1b). The anaplastic tumor component should be the most prominent to diagnose this rare histopathological MB subtype. The combination of large cell and anaplastic components is often seen and accounts for approximately 10% of all MBs.

*Desmoplastic/nodular* MBs consist of nodules of differentiated neurocytic cells surrounded by internodular, reticulin-rich zones (Fig. 1c). The internodular zones contain densely packed, highly proliferative cells [10]. Immunohistochemically, MIB-1 labeling index is higher in internodular zones, reflecting the higher mitotic activity of the typically undifferentiated cells present in these areas [10]. Expression of the neuronal markers synaptophysin or NeuN is variable, whereas GFAP expression can be detected only in some desmoplastic/nodular MBs, preferentially in internodular zones. Rare desmoplastic/nodular MBs show nuclear accumulation of p53, and this may indicate an underlying somatic or germline mutation in *TP53*.

*MB with extensive nodularity* is characterized by an expanded nodular or lobular architecture with elongated reticulin-free, neuropil-rich zones containing uniform neurocytic tumor cells [15] (Fig. 1d). Frequently, no mitotic activity of these cells is detected. The neurocytic cells often exhibit a streaming pattern. The internodular zones may be reduced compared to desmoplastic/nodular MBs but show the same characteristic features of undifferentiated, proliferating tumor cells within a dense reticulin network (Fig. 1e). By immunohistochemistry, neurocytic cells show a strong expression of synaptophysin (Fig. 1f) or NeuN.

#### Emergence of the Medulloblastoma Molecular Subtypes

Despite the existence of histopathological subtyping, treatment regimens for all MB patients are currently based on metastatic stage and age at the time of diagnosis. It was therefore necessary to develop a new risk stratification system that could



**Fig. 2** Medulloblastoma molecular subtypes. There are five molecular subtypes of MB (WNT, SHH-*TP53* wild type, SHH-*TP53* mutant, Group 3, and Group 4) that exhibit difference in demographics, molecular/genetic alterations, prognosis, and cell or origin. WNT and SHH MBs are characterized by dysregulations in WNT and SHH signaling pathways, respectively, whereas less is known about the genetic and molecular drivers of Group 3 and 4 MBs. Due to extensive heterogeneity even within the subtypes, SHH-activated tumors have been recently further divided into SHH-*TP53* wild type and SHH-*TP53* mutant

reliably classify MB tumors while better predicting clinical outcome and enabling more appropriate selection of treatment options. The advancement of genomic sequencing and microarray technologies has led to the complete restructuring of the different types of MB, and this has now been incorporated into the 2016 World Health Organization (WHO) Classification of Central Nervous System Tumors [1].

MB is currently divided into five distinct molecular subtypes based on genomic alterations, gene expression profile, and response to treatment: *WNT, SHH-TP53 wild type, SHH-TP53 mutant, Group 3, and Group 4* [1, 9, 16] (Fig. 2). This novel molecular classification system has been adopted by the WHO [1], can reliably predict patient prognosis, and, in time, has the potential to drive subtype-specific treatment regimens [9, 16]. The molecular subtypes differ in their demographics, gene expression profiles, somatic genetic events, clinical outcomes, and histology (Fig. 2, Table 1) [9]. While the SHH and WNT variants are aptly named for the well-established signaling pathways that drive tumorigenesis, less is known about the genetic and molecular events driving Group 3 and 4 tumor progression. Each MB subtype will now be discussed in detail below. Demographics, genetic/molecular subtype will be described.

Molecular subtype	Histology
WNT-activated	Classic
	LCA (very rare)
SHH-activated TP53 mutant	Classic
	LCA
	Desmoplastic/nodular (very rare)
SHH-activated <i>TP53</i> wild type	Classic
	LCA
	Desmoplastic/nodular
	Extensive nodularity
Group 3	Classic
	LCA
Group 4	Classic
	LCA (rare)

Table 1 Summary of histology within the molecules MB subtypes

Adapted from Louis et al. [67]

# WNT-Activated MB

The WNT subtype is characterized by upregulation of genes associated with the WNT signaling pathway. The prognosis of patients with WNT tumors is quite favorable, with a 5-year survival rate of 90% [9]. The 10% that do not survive in the long term often succumb to complications from therapy or secondary neoplasms caused by RT rather than WNT MB recurrence [17].

# **Demographics**

WNT tumors represent the smallest group of MBs at just 11% of diagnoses. These tumors have a nearly equal distribution between males to females with a slight male to female dominance [9]. WNT tumors have a peak incidence at 10–12 years of age and are not typically seen in infants. Almost all tumors in this subgroup (97%) fall in the classic MB category histologically [18]. WNT tumors are typically located along the midline of the fourth ventricle and infiltrate the brainstem but only infrequently metastasize [19].

# Genetic and Molecular Alterations

The first indication that mutations in the WNT pathway caused a form of MB came from the study of patients with Turcot syndrome, a rare disease that predisposes individuals to high rates of benign adenomatous polyp growths in the gastrointestinal tract and a 92-fold increased risk of developing MB [20, 21]. The WNT

signaling pathway (Fig. 3) plays a critical role in defining the midbrain-hindbrain boundary during brain development [22-24] and is important for regulating self-renewal of neural precursors during neurogenesis [25]. ß-catenin (encoded by *CTNNB1*) is the main signaling molecule in the canonical WNT signaling pathway [26, 27]. In the absence of WNT ligands,  $\beta$ -catenin levels are kept low in the cytoplasm. B-catenin levels are regulated by phosphorylation-targeted destruction of  $\beta$ -catenin by a multi-protein destruction complex [27]. This complex is composed of the proteins Adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) and Axin, which enable the phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -catenin by casein kinase  $1\alpha$  (CK1 $\alpha$ ) and glycogen synthase kinase  $3\beta$  (GSK3 $\beta$ ) [27], leading to its eventual proteosomal destruction and subsequent gene target repression [26, 27]. Low levels of  $\beta$ -catenin in the nucleus also allow transcription factor T-cell-specific factor/lymphoid enhancer-binding factor (TCF/LEF) to be associated with Groucho (a gene repression cofactor) leading to target gene repression [28, 29]. However, in the presence of WNT ligands binding to frizzled (FRD) and its co-receptor LDL-receptor-related protein 5/6 (LRP), the proteosomal degradation of β-catenin is blocked resulting in an accumulation of stable  $\beta$ -catenin in the cytoplasm [30, 31]. In the nucleus,  $\beta$ -catenin displaces Groucho and activates TCF/LEF, which increases the transcription of target genes such as cyclin D1 [32, 33] and the transcription factor myelocytomatosis (MYC) [34, 35].

Somatic mutations of downstream WNT signaling pathway components such as CTNNB1, Axin1, and APC are found in sporadic MB [36-40]. The majority of WNT subtype tumors show stabilizing mutations in CTNNB1 (70–90%) and monosomy 6 (90%) [9, 18, 41–43]. However, a small number of WNT subtype MB tumors lack mutations in CTNNB1 and APC, implying that other mechanisms lead to aberrant WNT signaling and tumorigenesis in these cancers [41–44]. WNT tumors lacking CTNNB1 mutations have been reported to exhibit mutations in the Cadherin-1 (CDH1) gene [41]. This protein is responsible for sequestering  $\beta$ -catenin at the cellular membrane, and alterations in this process may also result in aberrant activation of the WNT signaling pathway in this molecular subtype [45]. In addition to WNT signaling aberrations, approximately 50% of WNT tumors show mutations in the DEAD Box Helicase 3 (DDX3X) gene [41, 43]. DDX3X is a RNA helicase that has been implicated in mRNA splicing and processing, translational control, chromosome segregation, cell cycle regulation, and cancer progression [46, 47]. This is relatively specific to the WNT subtype, as only 10% of SHH and no Group 3 or 4 tumors exhibit mutations in the DDX3X gene [41, 43]. Other mutations such as SMARCA4, CREBBP, TRRAP, and MED13, all regulators of gene expression through chromatin remodeling, have also been discovered in WNT tumors [41, 48– 51]. Aberrant WNT signaling is the dominant molecular driver of the MB subtype; however, in addition to stabilization of CTNNB1, formation of WNT MBs may require disruption of chromatin remodeling at WNT-responsive genes.



Fig. 3 The Wingless (*WNT*) pathway plays a critical role in WNT-activated medulloblastoma tumorigenesis. Canonical ( $\beta$ -catenin dependent) WNT signaling plays a key role in the formation of the midbrain/hindbrain boundary through the control of neural stem cell proliferation and is believed to drive tumor initiation in WNT MB. When no WNT is present,  $\beta$ -catenin levels are kept low through phosphorylation-targeted destruction by the multi-protein destruction complex (*Axin*, *APC*, *GSK3* $\beta$ , and *CK1* $\alpha$ ). Low levels of  $\beta$ -catenin leads to gene target repression. Binding of WNT to the Frizzled (*FZD*) receptor and its co-receptor LDL-receptor-related protein 5/6 (*LRP*) results in elevated intracellular  $\beta$ -catenin through the inhibition of targeted destruction. Stable non-phosphorylated  $\beta$ -catenin is translocated into the nucleus where it displaces Groucho and activates TCF/LEF, enabling transcription of target genes such as cyclin D1 and MYC

#### Cell of Origin and Mouse Models of WNT-Activated MB

Tumors of the WNT subtype have been shown to arise from lower rhombic lip progenitor cells of the dorsal brainstem [52]. An activating mutation in *Ctnnb1* disrupts the normal differentiation and migration of these progenitor cells resulting in abnormal accumulation of cells [52]. Regional expression of 24 WNT MB signature genes was charted using software that generates three-dimensional gene expression maps across the developing mouse brain [52]. WNT MB signature genes were predominately expressed in the lower rhombic lip at embryonic day (E) 11.5 and in the dorsal brainstem at E15.5 [52]. Based on this data, mice were generated that carry Ctnnb1 mutations in the progenitor populations of the hindbrain. Ctnnb1 mutations were selectively expressed in cells that exclusively express the Blbp gene, which includes the ventricular zone progenitors. Ctnnb1 mutations were also expressed only in granule neural precursor cells (GNPCs) using the enhancer of the Atoh/Math1 gene. No persistent cellular masses or tumors were found in the cerebellum or dorsal brainstem of mice harboring the *Ctnnb1* tumors in GNPCs [52], while Blbp-driven Ctnnb1 mutations in mice formed aberrant cell collections in the dorsal brainstem. However, in the Blbp-driven Ctnnb1 mice, only animals that harbored an additional mutation in the TP53 gene formed classic medulloblastoma that were confined to the dorsal brainstem and displayed expression profiles similar to WNT-subtype MB [52]. Together, these studies show that aberrant WNT signaling in the progenitor cells of the dorsal brainstem gives rise to WNT MB, providing the first evidence for the cell of origin for this subtype.

## Treatment

Patients with WNT MB undergo standard current treatment including surgery, chemotherapy, and RT. However, as WNT tumors exhibit a relatively good prognosis, it is recommended that patients with nonmetastatic disease receive reduced chemotherapy and RT [6]. Although there are small-molecule inhibitors of the WNT signaling pathway, crosstalk between signaling pathways necessitates treatment options that can target multiple pathways [53]. For example, the WNT and PI3K/AKT signaling pathways have been shown to exhibit crosstalk; thus small-molecule inhibitors targeting PI3K/AKT have been suggested to inhibit WNT signaling. Baryawno et al. [54] have shown that small-molecule PI3K/AKT inhibitors such as OSU03012 decrease WNT signaling by activating GSK-3  $\beta$  and promoting degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin Recently, the anticancer compound norcan-tharidin (NCTD) has also been shown to impair nuclear translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin signaling and reduces tumor growth in an orthotopic mouse xenograft model of MB [55].

# **SHH-Activated MB**

#### **Demographics**

The SHH subtype is characterized by upregulation of genes associated with the SHH signaling pathway. Similar to WNT tumors, SHH tumors occur in a 1:1 ratio in males/females, with SHH tumors found predominantly in infants and adults and rarely in children aged 3-16 [9, 16]. These tumors make up approximately 28% of all MBs diagnosed and have an intermediate prognosis [9]. SHH MBs frequently arise in a cerebellar hemisphere in adults [52] and in the cerebellar vermis in children [16]. The prognosis of SHH tumors differs significantly between age groups. The 5- and 10-year overall survival (OS) rate in infants is 77%, which drops to 68% and 51% 5- and 10-year OS, respectively, in children and 75% and 34% 5- and 10-year OS, respectively, in adults [18]. This difference in survival between age groups is most likely attributed to the high percent of SHH tumors in infants exhibiting desmoplastic/extensive nodularity which has been shown to be a positive prognostic factor in these young patients [56]. Nearly all desmoplastic/nodular variants are of the SHH subtype; however, 50% of all SHH tumors are not desmoplastic [9], highlighting the importance of finding alternatives to histopathological diagnosis and the need for widespread clinical acceptance of the molecular subtype classification system.

## Genetic and Molecular Alterations

The SHH signaling pathway (Fig. 4) plays an essential role in the control of GNPC proliferation in the external granular layer (EGL), as well as glial differentiation in the cerebellar cortex [57-59], and is believed to drive tumor initiation in the SHH MB subgroup [9]. The membrane-bound receptor Patched (PTCH) plays an inhibitory role that represses SHH signaling when it is unbound [60]. Binding of the SHH ligand to PTCH releases the inhibitory effect PTCH has on Smoothened (SMO), a member of the G protein-coupled receptor family [61]. De-inhibition of SMO results in the activation of the zinc-finger proteins of the glioma-associated oncogene (GLI) transcription factor family including GLI1, GLI2, and GLI3 [60]. GLI proteins can function as either transcription activators or repressors. In the absence of SHH, GLI2 and GLI3 are phosphorylated leading to their proteolytic cleavage to generate their repressor forms [60]. With the activation of SMO, transcriptionally active forms of GLI are formed in combination with inhibition of suppressor of fused (SUFU), a protein responsible for sequestering GLI in the cytoplasm [60, 62]. Inhibition of SUFU allows the activating forms of GLI to translocate to the nucleus where they replace the repressor forms of GLI on target genes leading to transcriptional activation [62].



**Fig. 4** Sonic hedgehog (*SHH*) signaling pathway plays a critical role in SHH-activated medulloblastoma tumorigenesis. The SHH signaling pathway plays an essential role in the control of GNPC proliferation in the EGL and is believed to drive tumor initiation in SHH MB. When SHH is not present, the Patched (*PTCH*) receptor plays an inhibitory role repressing SHH signaling. In the absence of SHH, GLI2 and GLI3 are phosphorylated leading to proteolytic cleavage to generate their repressor forms. Binding of SHH to PTCH releases the inhibitory effect PTCH has on Smoothened (*SMO*). De-inhibition of SMO results in activation of GLI transcription factors. Suppressor of fused (*SUFU*) is found in the cytoplasm and nucleus and plays a role in sequestering GLI proteins when SHH is not bound to PTCH. Binding of SHH to PTCH leads to inhibition of SUFU resulting in translocation of GLI to the nucleus. SHH binding ultimately results in targeted gene activation through a complex signaling pathway

The link between MB and the SHH pathway was made through studies of individuals with Gorlin syndrome. Gorlin syndrome (also known as nevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome) is a disease that results from hereditary mutations in the SHH receptor *PTCH*. Gorlin syndrome is characterized by macrocephaly, skeletal abnormalities, and, in some patients, a high rate of cancer, including basal cell carcinomas and MB [9, 63]. Germline mutations of the SHH inhibitor *SUFU* also predispose individuals to MB. In addition, somatic mutations of *PTCH*, *SMO*, and *SUFU*, as well as amplification of *GLI1* and *GLI2*, have been found in sporadic MB, pointing toward the SHH signaling pathway as the primary driver of tumorigenesis in this MB subtype. Deletion of chromosome 9q, the location of the *PTCH* gene, is also limited to SHH MB and is the most common chromosomal abnormality found in this subtype [16, 64, 65]. Other genomic abnormalities include gain of chromosomes 3q and 9p and loss of 10q, 20p, and 21p [64, 66].

Heterogeneity at the genetic and molecular level has led to recent discovery of additional subtypes within SHH-activated MBs [67]. In a large cohort study, it was shown that mutations in *TP53* are found in 21% of SHH MB tumors, and this was found almost exclusively in patients between 5 and 18, a rare age for this molecular variant. In addition, 72% of patients aged 5 or older who succumbed to their disease had harbored a *TP53* mutation [68]. *TP53* mutation status was shown to be the most important independent risk factor in SHH-variant MB when compared to age, sex, histology, and presence of metastasis at diagnosis [68]. The prognostic value of *TP53* mutation status has since allowed subclassification of these tumors into "SHH-activated *TP53*-wild type" or "SHH-activated *TP53* mutant" subgroups (Fig. 2). *TP53*-wild-type patients have a 5-year OS of 81%, whereas patients with *TP53* mutations exhibit a 41% 5-year OS. This new SHH subtyping has been integrated into the 2016 WHO classification of CNS tumors [1].

#### Cell of Origin and Mouse Models of SHH-Activated MB

During normal development of the cerebellum, SHH signaling plays a crucial role in the proliferation of GNPCs in the EGL. As SHH signaling is decreased, GNPCs begin to differentiate and migrate inward to the internal granule layer (IGL). Aberrant SHH signaling may result in prolonged proliferation of GNPCs in the EGL, the anatomical region where SHH tumors originate. Schüller et al. [69] demonstrated that both early multipotent progenitors (GFAP+ and Olig2+) and late unipotent (Atoh1+/Math1+) progenitor cells of the cerebellum can give rise to SHH MB. However, the acquisition of GNPC identity is crucial for SHH MB tumorigenesis. Similarly, Yang et al. [70] showed that deletion of *Ptch* and overactivation of the SHH pathway can result in MB in both neural stem cells (GFAP+) and GNPCs (Atoh1+/Math1+), but only after commitment to, and expansion of, the neuronal lineage. These studies show that SHH MB can develop from neural stem cells or GNPC progenitor cells of the cerebellum; however, commitment to the GNPC lineage is a necessary step in SHH MB tumorigenesis, providing evidence that GNPCs are the cell of origin for SHH MB [69, 70].

Many transgenic and knockout mouse models have been generated to study SHH MB initiation and progression. Since dysregulation of the SHH signaling pathway is a major contributor to SHH MB tumorigenesis, mouse models are typically generated by genetic manipulations of SHH pathway genes. Deletion of *PTCH1* or *SUFU* as well as activation of *SMO* in mice results in tumors that resemble human SHH MB [71–73].

#### Treatment

Activation of SHH signaling pathway in SHH MBs has been extensively studied. Accordingly, SMO inhibitors such as cyclopamine and vismodegib are being evaluated in clinical trials for MB patients with SHH pathway activation [74]. Cyclopamine is a naturally occurring small-molecule inhibitor that suppresses SHH signaling by binding to SMO [75, 76]. However, the potency of cyclopamine is relatively low; thus synthetic SMO inhibitors such as vismodegib, sonidegib, and saridegib have also been utilized [77-80]. Although SMO inhibitors are initially successful, patients eventually relapse due to drug resistance. This is partially attributed to mutations of downstream targets such as SUFU and activation of GLI in the absence of SMO [74, 81, 82]. Furthermore, patients with TP53 mutations are resistant to vismodegib treatment [83]. Importantly, Morrissy et al. have recently shown that genetic events in a murine model of recurrent SHH MB exhibit poor overlap with the matched primary tumors [84]. Whole genome sequencing in human samples also demonstrated genetic divergence between matched tumors at diagnosis and post-therapy [84]. Thus, targeted therapy against the primary tumor will most likely be ineffective against recurrent disease resulting in failed clinical trials and no significant benefit to the patient.

As SHH tumors also exhibit upregulation of other signaling pathways such as NOTCH and PI3K, crosstalk between these pathways may play a role in treatment resistance. There is conflicting evidence regarding the importance of the NOTCH pathway in SHH-activated MBs. Whereas Hallahan et al. demonstrated that targeting the NOTCH pathway with  $\Upsilon$ -secretase inhibitors decreases proliferation and increases apoptosis in a SHH MB xenograft model [71], Hatton et al. have shown that targeting the NOTCH pathway is not beneficial in SHH MBs [85]. However, several studies have shown that genes associated with PI3K pathway contribute to SHH MB drug resistance [86–88]. In addition, PI3K pathway inhibitors in combination with SHH pathway inhibitors have demonstrated enhanced efficacy and improve survival in MB orthotopic xenograft mouse models [86, 89]. Therefore, a combinatorial treatment approach will be necessary to treat SHH tumors.

#### Group 3 and Group 4 MB

These two "non-SHH/WNT" subtypes share some similar clinical presentations and molecular characteristics and will therefore be discussed together. Of the MB sub-types, the least is known about Groups 3 and 4.

## **Demographics**

Group 3 tumors are found 2:1 in males compared to females and are found predominantly in infants and children, but rarely in adults [9]. Group 3 makes up approximately 27% of MB diagnoses [65]. The majority of Group 3 tumors are classic MB histology, with some desmoplastic and LCA cases [9]. Group 3 patients have the worst prognosis of the four subtypes, with infants having a 5-year OS of 45% and 10-year OS of 39%, while children have a 5- and 10-year OS of 58% and 50%, respectively [65]. Group 3 tumors have a very high rate of metastasis, which is a major contributor to their poor prognosis.

Group 4 makes up the most common subtype of MB (34%) [65]. However, this molecular variant is also the least understood [9]. Similar to Group 3, most Group 4 MBs exhibit classic histology, with some desmoplastic and LCA cases [9]. Gender distribution is approximately 2:1 males to females, with this subtype arising across all age groups, peaking in children [16]. Group 4 tumors have an intermediate prognosis, similar to the SHH subtype [9].

## Genetic and Molecular Alterations

As opposed to the WNT and SHH subgroups, less is known about the molecular drivers of Group 3 and Group 4 variants. Evaluation of genetic abnormalities and gene expression has revealed that Group 3 is the only variant associated with amplification and overexpression of *MYC* but not *MYCN* [9, 43]. While WNT tumors exhibit *MYC* amplifications, they also show amplifications in *MYCN* [16, 43]. Further subgrouping within Group 3 has been proposed based on the presence of *MYC* amplification. Subset Group  $3\alpha$  (15%), those patients with *MYC* amplification, are at a much higher risk of recurrence and death when compared to Group  $3\beta$  patients with no *MYC* amplification.

Isochromosome 17q is the most common cytogenetic change observed in Group 3 and 4 tumors, occurring in 26% of all Group 3 tumors and 66% of Group 4 tumors [16, 43]. Other cytogenetic changes seen in Group 3 and 4 tumors include 17p deletion, gain of chromosome 1q, and loss of chromosomes 5q and 10q. Group 3 tumors are more likely to show gain of chromosome 1q and/or loss of chromosomes 5q and 10q [9]. Disruptions of chromatin genes that are associated with histone methylation

have also been found in MB. These epigenetic disruptions are likely subtype specific and are necessary components of MB tumorigenesis [41, 43, 48–51]. Mutations in genes including *EZH2*, *KDM6A*, *CHD7*, and *ZMYM3* may disrupt chromatin marking of genes such as *OTX2*, *MYC*, and *MYCN* in Group 3 and 4 tumors [41, 43].

To date, no definitive genetic events or transcriptional pathways have been shown to drive tumorigenesis in Group 4. Group 4 tumors have little to no expression of MYC or MYCN except for a few tumors that show *MYCN* amplification [16, 43]. However, the oncogenes and developmental transcription factors *OTX2* and *FOXG1B* are amplified and overexpressed in both Group 3 and 4 tumors [16]. Interestingly, it has recently been shown that *OTX2* regulates MB stem cell function in a subgroup-dependent manner. While *OTX2* plays an inhibitory role when overexpressed in SHH MB, it is oncogenic in Group 3 and 4 MBs by promoting growth and self-renewal or "stemness" while inhibiting differentiation in vitro and increasing tumor growth from MB stem cells in vivo [90]. Further evaluation of the mechanisms regulated by OTX2 in Group 3 and 4 MBs will provide a better understanding of the molecular signatures that contribute to pathogenesis of these highly aggressive subtypes.

It is unclear why Group 3 and 4 tumors have a higher propensity to occur in males compared to females. This may be partially explained by the recurrently mutated genes, *ZMYM3* and *KDM6A*, which are located on the X chromosome [41]. *ZMYM3* and *KDM6A* mutations are found almost exclusively in tumors from males [41, 91]. In addition, 80% of all females with Group 4 tumors show a loss of the X chromosome within this MB subtype [9].

#### Cell of Origin and Mouse Models of Group 3 and 4 MBs

Although less is known about the cell of origin for Group 3 and 4 tumors, two independent groups developed a mouse model that recapitulated Group 3 Myc-subtype tumors [92, 93]. Overexpression of MYC combined with *TP53* mutation resulted in highly aggressive tumors that histologically and molecularly resemble Group 3 tumors, albeit using different cells of origin. While Kawauchi et al. [92] overexpressed MYC in GNPCs, Pei et al. [93] used cerebellar stem cells (Prominin1/CD133+, Lineage-), both of which resulted in similar tumor phenotypes. Expression profiles showed that both Myc-driven tumors exhibit significant similarities to neural stem cells, induced pluripotent stem cells, and embryonic stem cells, suggesting that Group 3 MB may arise from a neural stem cell or a dedifferentiated GNPC [92–94].

There is currently no reliable mouse model of Group 4 MB, making it difficult to pinpoint the cell of origin. However, it has been recently proposed that Group 4 MBs arise from progenitor cells of the upper rhombic lip [95]. Lin et al. have shown that three master regulator transcription factors (LMX1A, EOMES, and LHX2) in Group 4 tumors exhibit overlapping spatiotemporal expression in deep cerebellar nuclei of the nuclear transitory zone [95]. These studies suggest that deep cerebellar

nuclei, or their earlier precursors from the upper rhombic lip, are the putative cell of origin for Group 4 tumors.

#### Treatment

Group 3 MBs are the most aggressive subtype of MBs and exhibit frequent metastasis, resulting in difficulties treating these tumors with standard treatment options. Thus, there is a critical need to identify the pathways contributing to Group 3 MB pathogenesis not only to better understand how these tumors progress but also to develop targeted therapies with less harmful side effects on the developing brains of children. Although little is known about the driver mutations in Group 3 tumors, MYC amplification in these tumors provides a target for Group 3 MB treatment. For example, Morfouace et al. [96] have identified two FDA-approved compounds, pemetrexed and gemcitabine, that preferentially inhibit proliferation of Group 3 tumors that exhibit MYC amplification or overexpression. Moreover, the combination of these two drugs results in an increased survival in a Group 3 mouse xenograft model [96]. The lack of a preclinical model to study Group 4 MBs has hampered the development of targeted therapy for these tumors. However, since OTX2 is amplified or overexpressed in both Group 3 and 4 MBs, this transcription factor and/or its downstream effectors provide potential therapeutic targets for these subtypes. Although there is currently no treatment targeting OTX2 specifically, studies have shown that the use of retinoic acid can reduce OTX2 expression and induces neuronal differentiation [97]. However, tumor cells quickly become resistance to retinoic acid treatment, and different MB cell lines exhibit variable responses [98, 99]. In order to develop novel targeted therapeutics for Group 3 and 4 MBs, a much better understanding of the underlying mechanisms associated with tumor progression and metastasis is required.

#### **Diagnostic Imaging in the Molecular Era**

The typical MB appears as a well-defined, homogeneous tumor localized within the vermis, with marked contrast enhancement on preoperative computed tomography (CT) scanning [100]. On magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), tumors are hypointense on T1 and hyperintense on T2-weighted images and show marked contrast enhancement (Fig. 5). The number of patients with an atypical phenotype is low.

Recently, Perreault et al. [101] demonstrated that tumor location and enhancement patterns were correlated with specific MB subtypes suggesting that MRI may potentially serve as a complement to genomic diagnostic testing for these tumors. Seventy-five percent of WNT tumors occurred uniquely along the cerebellar pontine and the cerebellar pontine angle (CP/CPA); however, these data conflict with previous studies that demonstrated midline occurrence [102] or midline occurrence



Fig. 5 Five year old with multifocal medulloblastoma with a heterogeneous mass in the fourth ventricle and several other enhancing lesions in the posterior fossa. (a) T1 post-gadolinium image. (b) T2-weighted image

concomitant with dorsal brainstem infiltration [52]. The majority (54%) of SHH tumors were located in the cerebellar hemispheres, and this result was consistent with previously reported findings [102]. In contrast, Groups 3 and 4 MBs were primarily midline and occupied the fourth ventricle. Interestingly, tumor margins were not well defined in Group 3 MBs, and in Group 4 tumors, very minimal or no enhancement was observed [101]. This characteristic distinguished Group 4 from Group 3 MBs and may prove useful for differential diagnosis.

The other MRI features including cysts, peritumoral edema, and tumoral necrosis were not characteristic of specific molecular subgroups. Diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) did not significantly differ among the molecular subgroups [101]. Collectively, these results suggested that using MRI to predict MB molecular subgroups might have additional diagnostic value in centers where genetic/molecular testing is limited.

# Cancer Stem Cells and Their Contribution to MB Tumor Heterogeneity

Characterization of the extensive genetic and molecular heterogeneity in MB has led to the current classification system [1]. However, there are additional layers of heterogeneity to consider, including the cancer stem cell hierarchy.

The cancer stem cell (CSC) theory has been employed to explain the cellular and functional heterogeneity found between and within tumor subtypes, including MB. CSCs are a subpopulation of tumor cells that exhibit stem cell-like properties



**Fig. 6** Stem cells and cancer stem cells possess two characteristics, self-renewal and multi-lineage differentiation. Self-renewal is the ability to propagate oneself indefinitely and is a defining stem cell feature. Progenitors cells exhibit limited self-renewal capacity and ultimately differentiate. Self-renewal can occur as an asymmetrical division, whereby one stem cell gives rise to one stem cell and one further differentiated cell. In asymmetrical stem cell division, the stem cell population does not expand and is therefore maintained through subsequent cell divisions. Alternatively, stem cells can undergo symmetrical division, whereby one stem cell gives rise to two stem cells (not shown). This allows for exponential expansion of the stem cell population. *Red* denotes a stem cell; *blue* denotes a further differentiated cell such as a transit-amplifying progenitor cell

including self-renewal capacity and multi-lineage differentiation, and are responsible for tumor initiation and maintenance (Fig. 6) [103]. The differentiation of CSCs provides a mechanism for the generation of phenotypic and functional heterogeneity that cannot be fully attributed to clonal evolution and environmental pressures. Singh et al. [104] first demonstrated that brain tumors contain CSCs, also known as brain tumor-propagating cells (BTPCs). They further identified a cell surface marker CD133 (Prominin1), which selects for a highly self-renewing cell population in both MB and glioblastoma [104]. While CD133 is the most commonly utilized BTPC marker, little is known about its biological function. Read et al. and Ward et al. both identified an additional BTPC marker, CD15/SSEA1 (Stage-specific antigen 1) in a *Ptch* mutant mouse model of SHH MB [105, 106]. While Read et al. [105] demonstrated that Math1+/CD15+ neuronal progenitors are responsible for tumor propagation, Ward et al. [106] suggested that CD15 selects for a stem cell population rather than progenitor cells. More recently, both Ahlfeld et al. and Vanner et al. demonstrated that the stem cell marker Sox2 also plays a role in SHH MB tumor propagation [107, 108]. These authors showed that following treatment with chemotherapy and SHH pathway antagonists, the Sox2+ cell population was enriched resulting in tumor growth and relapse [107]. Although Ward et al. and Read et al. demonstrated that CD15 can be used to isolate BTPCs in *Ptch*-driven mouse models of SHH MB [105, 106], further work by Vanner et al. has shown that in order to reliably isolate the BTPC population, CD15 must be used in combination with Sox2. Recent studies have also identified a role for the transmembrane neuro-trophin receptor, CD271 (p75NTR), in regulating stem/progenitor cells in SHH MB [109]. Liang et al. have shown that CD271 expression is mostly associated with SHH MB, and functional characterization revealed a role for this cell surface marker in SHH MB tumor propagation and maintenance through modulating stem cell properties [109]. Identification and functional characterization of additional cell surface markers that select for BTPC populations will provide further insight into the cellular complexity within these tumors.

## The Future of Medulloblastoma Research

The extensive heterogeneity between and within the MB subtypes is just beginning to be unraveled. With advancement in technologies and identification of novel MB biomarkers, further dissection of the heterogeneity within the current molecular subgroups may lead to discovery of additional subtypes. Yet, current standard treatments still do not take into account the molecular variants. Consideration of the MB subtypes will be imperative to improve diagnosis and allow for selection of the most appropriate treatment regimens. Identification and functional characterization of subtype-specific biomarkers will ultimately lead to the development of novel diagnostic tools and targeted therapies that will improve the quality of life for the increasing number of children who survive these devastating tumors.

#### References

- 1. Louis D, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Cavenee WK. WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system. 4th ed, revised. 2016. WHO Press, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Packer RJ, Cogen P, Vezina G, Rorke LB. Medulloblastoma: clinical and biologic aspects. Neuro-Oncology. 1999;1(3):232–50.
- Coluccia D, Figuereido C, Isik S, Smith C, Rutka JT. Medulloblastoma: tumor biology and relevance to treatment and prognosis paradigm. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2016;16(5):43.
- Park TS, Hoffman HJ, Hendrick EB, Humphreys RP, Becker LE. Medulloblastoma: clinical presentation and management. Experience at the hospital for sick children, Toronto, 1950– 1980. J Neurosurg. 1983;58(4):543–52.
- Packer RJ, Rood BR, MacDonald TJ. Medulloblastoma: present concepts of stratification into risk groups. Pediatr Neurosurg. 2003;39(2):60–7.
- Ramaswamy V, Remke M, Bouffet E, Bailey S, Clifford SC, Doz F, et al. Risk stratification of childhood medulloblastoma in the molecular era: the current consensus. Acta Neuropathol. 2016;131(6):821–31.
- 7. Lannering B, Rutkowski S, Doz F, Pizer B, Gustafsson G, Navajas A, et al. Hyperfractionated versus conventional radiotherapy followed by chemotherapy in standard-risk medullo-

blastoma: results from the randomized multicenter HIT-SIOP PNET 4 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(26):3187–93.

- Lafay-Cousin L, Smith A, Chi SN, Wells E, Madden J, Margol A, et al. Clinical, pathological, and molecular characterization of infant medulloblastomas treated with sequential high-dose chemotherapy. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2016;63(9):1527–34.
- Taylor MD, Northcott PA, Korshunov A, Remke M, Cho YJ, Clifford SC, et al. Molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma: the current consensus. Acta Neuropathol. 2012;123(4):465–72.
- Crawford JR, MacDonald TJ, Packer RJ. Medulloblastoma in childhood: new biological advances. Lancet Neurol. 2007;6(12):1073–85.
- Ellison DW, Onilude OE, Lindsey JC, Lusher ME, Weston CL, Taylor RE, et al. Beta-catenin status predicts a favorable outcome in childhood medulloblastoma: the United Kingdom Children's Cancer Study Group Brain Tumour Committee. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(31):7951–7.
- Ellison DW, Kocak M, Dalton J, Megahed H, Lusher ME, Ryan SL, et al. Definition of disease-risk stratification groups in childhood medulloblastoma using combined clinical, pathologic, and molecular variables. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(11):1400–7.
- Brown HG, Kepner JL, Perlman EJ, Friedman HS, Strother DR, Duffner PK, et al. "Large cell/anaplastic" medulloblastomas: a Pediatric Oncology Group Study. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2000;59(10):857–65.
- Giangaspero F, Rigobello L, Badiali M, Loda M, Andreini L, Basso G, et al. Large-cell medulloblastomas. A distinct variant with highly aggressive behavior. Am J Surg Pathol. 1992;16(7):687–93.
- Giangaspero F, Perilongo G, Fondelli MP, Brisigotti M, Carollo C, Burnelli R, et al. Medulloblastoma with extensive nodularity: a variant with favorable prognosis. J Neurosurg. 1999;91(6):971–7.
- Northcott PA, Korshunov A, Witt H, Hielscher T, Eberhart CG, Mack S, et al. Medulloblastoma comprises four distinct molecular variants. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(11):1408–14.
- Northcott PA, Korshunov A, Pfister SM, Taylor MD. The clinical implications of medulloblastoma subgroups. Nat Rev Neurol. 2012;8(6):340–51.
- Kool M, Korshunov A, Remke M, Jones DT, Schlanstein M, Northcott PA, et al. Molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma: an international meta-analysis of transcriptome, genetic aberrations, and clinical data of WNT, SHH, Group 3, and Group 4 medulloblastomas. Acta Neuropathol. 2012;123(4):473–84.
- 19. Gajjar AJ, Robinson GW. Medulloblastoma-translating discoveries from the bench to the bedside. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2014;11(12):714–22.
- Gorovoy IR, de Alba Campomanes A. A potential life-saving diagnosis—recognizing Turcot syndrome. J Am Assoc Pediatr Opthalmol Strabismus. 2014;18(2):186–8.
- Hamilton SR, Liu B, Parsons RE, Papadopoulos N, Jen J, Powell SM, et al. The molecular basis of Turcot's syndrome. N Engl J Med. 1995;332(13):839–47.
- Thomas KR, Capecchi MR. Targeted disruption of the murine int-1 proto-oncogene resulting in severe abnormalities in midbrain and cerebellar development. Nature. 1990;346(6287):847–50.
- McMahon AP, Joyner AL, Bradley A, McMahon JA. The midbrain-hindbrain phenotype of Wnt-1-/Wnt-1-mice results from stepwise deletion of engrailed-expressing cells by 9.5 days postcoitum. Cell. 1992;69:581–95.
- Ikeya M, Lee SM, Johnson JE, McMahon AP, Takada S. Wnt signalling required for expansion of neural crest and CNS progenitors. Nature. 1997;389(6654):966–70.
- Lie DC, Colamarino SA, Song HJ, Desire L, Mira H, Consiglio A, et al. Wnt signalling regulates adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Nature. 2005;437(7063):1370–5.
- 26. Yu J, Virshup DM. Updating the Wnt pathways. Biosci Rep. 2014;34(5):e00142.
- 27. Niehrs C. The complex world of WNT receptor signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2012;13(12):767–79.
- Cavallo RA, Cox RT, Moline MM, Roose J, Polevoy GA, Clevers H, et al. Drosophila Tcf and Groucho interact to repress Wingless signalling activity. Nature. 1998;395(6702):604–8.

- Roose J, Molenaar M, Peterson J, Hurenkamp J, Brantjes H, Moerer P, et al. The Xenopus Wnt effector XTcf-3 interacts with Groucho-related transcriptional repressors. Nature. 1998;395(6702):608–12.
- Bilić J, Huang Y-L, Davidson G, Zimmermann T, Cruciat C-M, Bienz M, et al. Wnt induces LRP6 signalosomes and promotes dishevelled-dependent LRP6 phosphorylation. Science. 2007;316(5831):1619–22.
- Zeng X, Huang H, Tamai K, Zhang X, Harada Y, Yokota C, et al. Initiation of Wnt signaling: control of Wnt coreceptor Lrp6 phosphorylation/activation via frizzled, dishevelled and axin functions. Development. 2008;135(2):367–75.
- 32. Shtutman M, Zhurinsky J, Simcha I, Albanese C, D'Amico M, Pestell R, et al. The cyclin D1 gene is a target of the beta-catenin/LEF-1 pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96:5522–7.
- Tetsu O, McCormick F. Beta-catenin regulates expression of cyclin D1 in colon carcinoma cells. Nature. 1999;398(6726):422–6.
- 34. He TC, Sparks AB, Rago C, Hermeking H, Zawel L, da Costa LT, et al. Identification of c-MYC as a target of the APC pathway. Science. 1998;281:1509–12.
- 35. Chenn A. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in cerebral cortical development. Organogenesis. 2008;4(2):76–80.
- Baeza N, Masuoka J, Kleihues P, Ohgaki H. AXIN1 mutations but not deletions in cerebellar medulloblastomas. Oncogene. 2003;22(4):632.
- Eberhart CG, Tihan T, Burger PC. Nuclear localization and mutation of β-catenin in medulloblastomas. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2000;59(4):333–7.
- Huang H, Mahler-Araujo BM, Sankila A, Chimelli L, Yonekawa Y, Kleihues P, et al. APC mutations in sporadic medulloblastomas. Am J Pathol. 2000;156(2):433–7.
- Koch A, Waha A, Tonn JC, Sörensen N, Berthold F, Wolter M, et al. Somatic mutations of WNT/wingless signaling pathway components in primitive neuroectodermal tumors. Int J Cancer. 2001;93(3):445–9.
- 40. Zurawel RH, Chiappa SA, Allen C, Raffel C. Sporadic Medulloblastomas contain oncogenic β-catenin mutations. Cancer Res. 1998;58(5):896–9.
- 41. Robinson G, Parker M, Kranenburg TA, Lu C, Chen X, Ding L, et al. Novel mutations target distinct subgroups of medulloblastoma. Nature. 2012;488(7409):43–8.
- Remke M, Hielscher T, Northcott PA, Witt H, Ryzhova M, Wittmann A, et al. Adult medulloblastoma comprises three major molecular variants. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(19):2717–23.
- Jones DT, Jager N, Kool M, Zichner T, Hutter B, Sultan M, et al. Dissecting the genomic complexity underlying medulloblastoma. Nature. 2012;488(7409):100–5.
- 44. Northcott PA, Shih DJH, Peacock J, Garzia L, Sorana Morrissy A, Zichner T, et al. Subgroup-specific structural variation across 1,000 medulloblastoma genomes. Nature. 2012;488(7409):49–56.
- Orsulic S, Huber O, Aberle H, Arnold S, Kemler R. E-cadherin binding prevents betacatenin nuclear localization and beta-catenin/LEF-1-mediated transactivation. J Cell Sci. 1999;112(8):1237–45.
- 46. Choi Y-J, Lee S-G. The DEAD-box RNA helicase DDX3 interacts with DDX5, co-localizes with it in the cytoplasm during the G2/M phase of the cycle, and affects its shuttling during mRNP export. J Cell Biochem. 2012;113(3):985–96.
- 47. Lai M-C, Lee Y-HW, Tarn W-Y. The DEAD-box RNA helicase DDX3 associates with export messenger ribonucleoproteins as well as tip-associated protein and participates in translational control. Mol Biol Cell. 2008;19(9):3847–58.
- Mosimann C, Hausmann G, Basler K. [beta]-Catenin hits chromatin: regulation of Wnt target gene activation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2009;10(4):276–86.
- 49. Hecht A, Vleminckx K, Stemmler MP, van Roy F, Kemler R. The p300/CBP acetyltransferases function as transcriptional coactivators of β-catenin in vertebrates. EMBO J. 2000;19(8):1839–50.
- 50. Barker N, Hurlstone A, Musisi H, Miles A, Bienz M, Clevers H. The chromatin remodelling factor Brg-1 interacts with β-catenin to promote target gene activation. EMBO J. 2001;20(17):4935–43.

- Carrera I, Janody F, Leeds N, Duveau F, Treisman JE. Pygopus activates Wingless target gene transcription through the mediator complex subunits Med12 and Med13. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2008;105(18):6644–9.
- Gibson P, Tong Y, Robinson G, Thompson MC, Currle DS, Eden C, et al. Subtypes of medulloblastoma have distinct developmental origins. Nature. 2010;468(7327):1095–9.
- 53. Takebe N, Miele L, Harris PJ, Jeong W, Bando H, Kahn M, et al. Targeting Notch, Hedgehog, and Wnt pathways in cancer stem cells: clinical update. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2015;12(8):445–64.
- Baryawno N, Sveinbjornsson B, Eksborg S, Chen CS, Kogner P, Johnsen JI. Small-molecule inhibitors of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt signaling inhibit Wnt/beta-catenin pathway cross-talk and suppress medulloblastoma growth. Cancer Res. 2010;70(1):266–76.
- 55. Cimmino F, Scoppettuolo MN, Carotenuto M, De Antonellis P, Dato VD, De Vita G, et al. Norcantharidin impairs medulloblastoma growth by inhibition of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. J Neuro-Oncol. 2012;106(1):59–70.
- Rutkowski S, Bode U, Deinlein F, Ottensmeier H, Warmuth-Metz M, Soerensen N, et al. Treatment of early childhood medulloblastoma by postoperative chemotherapy alone. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(10):978–86.
- Dahmane N, Ruiz-i-Altaba A. Sonic hedgehog regulates the growth and patterning of the cerebellum. Development. 1999;126(14):3089–100.
- Wallace VA. Purkinje-cell-derived Sonic hedgehog regulates granule neuron precursor cell proliferation in the developing mouse cerebellum. Curr Biol. 1999;9(8):445–8.
- 59. Wechsler-Reya RJ, Scott MP. Control of neuronal precursor proliferation in the cerebellum by Sonic Hedgehog. Neuron. 1999;22(1):103–14.
- 60. Briscoe J, Therond PP. The mechanisms of Hedgehog signalling and its roles in development and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2013;14(7):416–29.
- Taipale J, Cooper MK, Maiti T, Beachy PA. Patched acts catalytically to suppress the activity of smoothened. Nature. 2002;418(6900):892–6.
- 62. Svärd J, Henricson KH, Persson-Lek M, Rozell B, Lauth M, Bergström Å, et al. Genetic elimination of suppressor of fused reveals an essential repressor function in the mammalian hedgehog signaling pathway. Dev Cell. 2006;10(2):187–97.
- John AM, Schwartz RA. Basal cell nevus syndrome: an update on genetics and treatment. Br J Dermatol. 2015;174(1):68–76.
- Pugh TJ, Weeraratne SD, Archer TC, Pomeranz Krummel DA, Auclair D, Bochicchio J, et al. Medulloblastoma exome sequencing uncovers subtype-specific somatic mutations. Nature. 2012;488(7409):106–10.
- 65. Kool M, Korshunov A, Remke M, Jones DT, Schlanstein M, Northcott PA, et al. Molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma: an international meta-analysis of transcriptome, genetic aberrations, and clinical data of WNT, SHH, Group 3, and Group 4 medulloblastomas. Acta Neuropathol. 2012;123(4):473–84.
- Northcott PA, Hielscher T, Dubuc A, Mack S, Shih D, Remke M, et al. Pediatric and adult sonic hedgehog medulloblastomas are clinically and molecularly distinct. Acta Neuropathol. 2011;122(2):231–40.
- 67. Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, et al. The 2016 World Health Organization classification of tumors of the central nervous system: a summary. Acta Neuropathol. 2016;131(6):803–20.
- Zhukova N, Ramaswamy V, Remke M, Pfaff E, Shih DJ, Martin DC, et al. Subgroupspecific prognostic implications of TP53 mutation in medulloblastoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013. 174(1):68–76
- Schuller U, Heine VM, Mao J, Kho AT, Dillon AK, Han YG, et al. Acquisition of granule neuron precursor identity is a critical determinant of progenitor cell competence to form Shhinduced medulloblastoma. Cancer Cell. 2008;14(2):123–34.
- Yang ZJ, Ellis T, Markant SL, Read TA, Kessler JD, Bourboulas M, et al. Medulloblastoma can be initiated by deletion of patched in lineage-restricted progenitors or stem cells. Cancer Cell. 2008;14(2):135–45.

- 71. Hallahan AR, Pritchard JI, Hansen S, Benson M, Stoeck J, Hatton BA, et al. The SmoA1 mouse model reveals that notch signaling is critical for the growth and survival of sonic hedgehog-induced medulloblastomas. Cancer Res. 2004;64(21):7794–800.
- Oliver TG, Read TA, Kessler JD, Mehmeti A, Wells JF, Huynh TT, et al. Loss of patched and disruption of granule cell development in a pre-neoplastic stage of medulloblastoma. Development. 2005;132(10):2425–39.
- Hatton BA, Villavicencio EH, Tsuchiya KD, Pritchard JI, Ditzler S, Pullar B, et al. The Smo/ Smo model: hedgehog-induced medulloblastoma with 90% incidence and leptomeningeal spread. Cancer Res. 2008;68(6):1768–76.
- Lin TL, Matsui W. Hedgehog pathway as a drug target: smoothened inhibitors in development. Onco Targets Ther. 2012;5:47–58.
- Taipale J, Chen JK, Cooper MK, Wang B, Mann RK, Milenkovic L, et al. Effects of oncogenic mutations in smoothened and patched can be reversed by cyclopamine. Nature. 2000;406(6799):1005–9.
- Berman DM, Karhadkar SS, Hallahan AR, Pritchard JI, Eberhart CG, Watkins DN, et al. Medulloblastoma growth inhibition by hedgehog pathway blockade. Science. 2002;297(5586):1559–61.
- Robarge KD, Brunton SA, Castanedo GM, Cui Y, Dina MS, Goldsmith R, et al. GDC-0449-a potent inhibitor of the hedgehog pathway. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2009;19(19):5576–81.
- 78. LoRusso PM, Rudin CM, Reddy JC, Tibes R, Weiss GJ, Borad MJ, et al. Phase I trial of hedgehog pathway inhibitor vismodegib (GDC-0449) in patients with refractory, locally advanced or metastatic solid tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(8):2502–11.
- Justilien V, Fields AP. Molecular pathways: novel approaches for improved therapeutic targeting of Hedgehog signaling in cancer stem cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(3):505–13.
- Lee MJ, Hatton BA, Villavicencio EH, Khanna PC, Friedman SD, Ditzler S, et al. Hedgehog pathway inhibitor saridegib (IPI-926) increases lifespan in a mouse medulloblastoma model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(20):7859–64.
- Kool M, Jones DT, Jager N, Northcott PA, Pugh TJ, Hovestadt V, et al. Genome sequencing of SHH medulloblastoma predicts genotype-related response to smoothened inhibition. Cancer Cell. 2014;25(3):393–405.
- Amakye D, Jagani Z, Dorsch M. Unraveling the therapeutic potential of the Hedgehog pathway in cancer. Nat Med. 2013;19(11):1410–22.
- Zhukova N, Ramaswamy V, Remke M, Pfaff E, Shih DJ, Martin DC, et al. Subgroup-specific prognostic implications of TP53 mutation in medulloblastoma. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2013;31(23):2927–35.
- Morrissy AS, Garzia L, Shih DJ, Zuyderduyn S, Huang X, Skowron P, et al. Divergent clonal selection dominates medulloblastoma at recurrence. Nature. 2016;529(7586):351–7.
- Hatton BA, Villavicencio EH, Pritchard J, LeBlanc M, Hansen S, Ulrich M, et al. Notch signaling is not essential in sonic hedgehog-activated medulloblastoma. Oncogene. 2010;29(26):3865–72.
- Dijkgraaf GJ, Alicke B, Weinmann L, Januario T, West K, Modrusan Z, et al. Small molecule inhibition of GDC-0449 refractory smoothened mutants and downstream mechanisms of drug resistance. Cancer Res. 2011;71(2):435–44.
- Buonamici S, Williams J, Morrissey M, Wang A, Guo R, Vattay A, et al. Interfering with resistance to smoothened antagonists by inhibition of the PI3K pathway in medulloblastoma. Sci Transl Med. 2010;2(51):51ra70.
- Metcalfe C, Alicke B, Crow A, Lamoureux M, Dijkgraaf GJ, Peale F, et al. PTEN loss mitigates the response of medulloblastoma to Hedgehog pathway inhibition. Cancer Res. 2013;73(23):7034–42.
- Ehrhardt M, Craveiro RB, Holst MI, Pietsch T, Dilloo D. The PI3K inhibitor GDC-0941 displays promising in vitro and in vivo efficacy for targeted medulloblastoma therapy. Oncotarget. 2015;6(2):802–13.

- Kaur R, Aiken C, Morrison LC, Rao R, Del Bigio MR, Rampalli S, et al. OTX2 exhibits cellcontext-dependent effects on cellular and molecular properties of human embryonic neural precursors and medulloblastoma cells. Dis Model Mech. 2015;8(10):1295–309.
- 91. Spatz A, Borg C, Feunteun J. X-chromosome genetics and human cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004;4(8):617–29.
- Kawauchi D, Robinson G, Uziel T, Gibson P, Rehg J, Gao C, et al. A mouse model of the most aggressive subgroup of human medulloblastoma. Cancer Cell. 2012;21(2):168–80.
- Pei Y, Moore CE, Wang J, Tewari AK, Eroshkin A, Cho YJ, et al. An animal model of MYCdriven medulloblastoma. Cancer Cell. 2012;21(2):155–67.
- 94. Eberhart CG. Three down and one to go: modeling medulloblastoma subgroups. Cancer Cell. 2012;21(2):137–8.
- 95. Lin CY, Erkek S, Tong Y, Yin L, Federation AJ, Zapatka M, et al. Active medulloblastoma enhancers reveal subgroup-specific cellular origins. Nature. 2016;530(7588):57–62.
- 96. Morfouace M, Shelat A, Jacus M, Freeman BB 3rd, Turner D, Robinson S, et al. Pemetrexed and gemcitabine as combination therapy for the treatment of Group3 medulloblastoma. Cancer Cell. 2014;25(4):516–29.
- Bai R, Siu IM, Tyler BM, Staedtke V, Gallia GL, Riggins GJ. Evaluation of retinoic acid therapy for OTX2-positive medulloblastomas. Neuro-Oncology. 2010;12(7):655–63.
- Freemantle SJ, Spinella MJ, Dmitrovsky E. Retinoids in cancer therapy and chemoprevention: promise meets resistance. Oncogene. 2003;22(47):7305–15.
- Fu YS, Wang Q, Ma JX, Yang XH, Wu ML, Zhang KL, et al. CRABP-II methylation: a critical determinant of retinoic acid resistance of medulloblastoma cells. Mol Oncol. 2012;6(1):48–61.
- Poretti A, Meoded A, Huisman TA. Neuroimaging of pediatric posterior fossa tumors including review of the literature. J Magn Reson Imaging: JMRI. 2012;35(1):32–47.
- Perreault S, Ramaswamy V, Achrol AS, Chao K, Liu TT, Shih D, et al. MRI surrogates for molecular subgroups of medulloblastoma. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2014;35(7):1263–9.
- 102. Teo WY, Shen J, Su JM, Yu A, Wang J, Chow WY, et al. Implications of tumor location on subtypes of medulloblastoma. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2013;60(9):1408–10.
- Magee JA, Piskounova E, Morrison SJ. Cancer stem cells: impact, heterogeneity, and uncertainty. Cancer Cell. 2012;21(3):283–96.
- 104. Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, et al. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature. 2004;432(7015):396–401.
- 105. Read TA, Fogarty MP, Markant SL, McLendon RE, Wei Z, Ellison DW, et al. Identification of CD15 as a marker for tumor-propagating cells in a mouse model of medulloblastoma. Cancer Cell. 2009;15(2):135–47.
- 106. Ward RJ, Lee L, Graham K, Satkunendran T, Yoshikawa K, Ling E, et al. Multipotent CD15+ cancer stem cells in patched-1-deficient mouse medulloblastoma. Cancer Res. 2009;69(11):4682–90.
- 107. Vanner RJ, Remke M, Gallo M, Selvadurai HJ, Coutinho F, Lee L, et al. Quiescent sox2(+) cells drive hierarchical growth and relapse in sonic hedgehog subgroup medulloblastoma. Cancer Cell. 2014;26(1):33–47.
- Ahlfeld J, Favaro R, Pagella P, Kretzschmar HA, Nicolis S, Schuller U. Sox2 requirement in sonic hedgehog-associated medulloblastoma. Cancer Res. 2013;73(12):3796–807.
- Liang L, Aiken C, McClelland R, Morrison LC, Tatari N, Remke M, et al. Characterization of novel biomarkers in selecting for subtype specific medulloblastoma phenotypes. Oncotarget. 2015;6:38881–900.

# Can Cerebellar Neurodevelopmental Disorders Affect Behavioral Disorders or Vice Versa?

#### Seyed Soheil Saeedi Saravi and Ahmad Reza Dehpour

Abstract Recent investigations have been focused on understanding the role of the cerebellum in non-motor behaviors and of the cerebellar dysfunction in neurodevelopmental, neurobehavioral, and schizo-affective disorders. Non-motor behaviors, including emotion, cognition, and social behavior, seem to be modified by impairment of the cerebellar structure-function relationship. Clinically, these behavioral defects have been observed in patients with autism spectrum disorders (ASD), attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and schizophrenia. These behavioral outcomes have been demonstrated to be associated with prenatal and/or early postnatal damages of cerebro-cerebellar circuits. Concerning to the essential role of the cerebellum in early neurodevelopment, understanding the association between cerebellar injury and long-term alteration in behavior is highly crucial. This chapter's attempts are to summarize the recent evidence of involvement of the cerebellum in neurodevelopment and behavior and that both these views remain to be revised for declaration of the paradoxical relationship between cerebellar function and behavioral despair, as well as neurodevelopmental disorders including ASD and ADHD

**Keywords** Cerebellum • Neurodevelopment • Behavioral despair • Schizo-affective disorders

Experimental Medicine Research Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

A.R. Dehpour (⊠) Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, P.O. Box: 13145-784, Tehran, Iran

Experimental Medicine Research Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran e-mail: dehpour@yahoo.com; dehpoura@sina.tums.ac.ir

S.S. Saeedi Saravi

Department of Toxicology-Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Guilan University of Medical Sciences, Rasht, Iran

Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, P.O. Box: 13145-784, Tehran, Iran

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017 H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_17

# Introduction

The cerebellum is traditionally considered as the brain region that is involved in the motor and non-motor activities [30, 83]. Regarding to the major role of the cerebellum in the posture and movements, preliminary studies showed that elimination of this area can be resulted in disruption of these activities [40]. These were in line with clinical reports demonstrating that the cerebellum degeneration may impair posture and speech, voluntary movement of extremities, and gait [42]. Several studies have been performed to understand the exact function of the cerebellum [43] and to find the importance of this area in control of motor movements [85] and learning [45]. On the other hand, the evidences have shown that extensive connections of the cerebellum with the other brain regions (e.g., prefrontal and posterior parietal cortex) are associated with non-motor tasks [16, 17]. Lately, imaging techniques have demonstrated an association between function of the cerebellum with cognitive processes such as language [74], attention [2], and affective processes [38]. Therefore, it is believed that alteration of cerebellar structure and function can be concluded to several abnormalities in the emotional, cognitive, and social domains which were observed in patients with such neurodevelopmental disorders as autism spectrum disorders (ASD) and behavioral despair [61, 62, 79]. In accordance to the complex neurobiology of neurodevelopmental disorders and behavioral despair, the role of the cerebellum in the non-motor functions should be well defined [7].

In this chapter, we provide a brief summary of the importance of the cerebellum in pathophysiology of neurodevelopmental and behavioral disorders. Although the cerebellum has been found to be involved in neurodevelopmental disorders, structural and functional differences in different regions of the cerebellum play a role in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), developmental dyslexia, and ASD. This suggests the hypothesis that involvement of different cerebro-cerebellar circuits may result in the differences between the neurodevelopmental disorders as developmental coordination disorder (DCD), which frequently co-occur with the abovementioned neurodevelopmental disorders (e.g., ADHD and dyslexia) hypothesizing a relation to cerebellar dysfunction [10, 109]. This information makes a question in mind how the cerebellar dysfunction affects developmental processes and causes developmental disorders and differences in localization of cerebellar dysfunction may cause different disorders.

The cerebellar growth has been enormously occurred during the first 24–40 weeks of pregnancy, leading to approximately fivefold in volume and over 30-fold in surface area [18, 102]. The cerebellar growth continues throughout the first postnatal year, although the neural differentiation and growth of axonal inputs and outputs occur slower than prenatal stage [18, 102]. The process can interpret this event that premature infants are encountered an increased risk of cerebellar developmental disorder, hemorrhages, and future neurodevelopmental disabilities [18, 102]. As a result, cerebellar injury in childhood may lead to a range of long-term motor, cognitive, and affective disorders with poorer outcomes than cerebellar damage in

adulthood [82, 103]. The findings put the cerebellum at center point of neurological investigations of neurodevelopmental disorders, such as ASD [18, 31]. The confidential evidences emphasized to an obvious association between the cerebral cortex damage at early life result in an elevated risk of affective and attention deficits, internalizing behavioral disorders, and withdrawal from social contact [64, 103]. Consistent with cerebellar tumor and/or resection of the tumor in children, an abnormally increased risk of cognitive and adaptive impairments [9], as well as the vermis injury, has been shown to be related to long-term affective dysregulation [63]. Also, it is demonstrated that the vermis malformations are involved in higher rates of affective and behavioral disorders, including ASD [18, 92]. Congenital cerebellar malformations, as well as a variety of early cerebellar lesions, have a direct relation to ASD. To conclude these findings, some scientists like Schmahmann et al. included ASD among the category of psychiatric disorders associated with cerebellar damage or disease [81]. The studies have demonstrated that cerebellar injury in infancy is one of the major risk factors, which increases approximately 40-fold in developing ASD [64, 103]. The evaluation of different pathological conditions damaging the cerebellum has verified the relationship between the injuries and ASD. For instance, tuber load in the cerebellum in children with tuberous sclerosis is considered as a specific predictor of ASD [18, 104]. The cerebellar damage may cause some complications, including gaze aversion, stereotyped movements, linguistic impairments, as well as complete avoidance of physical contact, ultimately leading to ASD [78]. In line with the basic and experimental findings, the clinical evidences have been suggested that cerebellar injury at early stages via developmental diaschisis can affect the development of cerebral cortical area to which the cerebellum projects [103]. Therefore, not only cerebellar function but also the structure and function of multiple regions of the cerebral cortex can negatively be influenced by cerebellar developmental differences in patients with ASD.

Several investigations of patients with ASD have indicated to an abnormal modification of size and shape of neurons of the deep cerebellar nuclei, as well as decrement of the number of Purkinje cells (PC) [4, 51, 52, 70, 83]. Postmortem studies have confirmed the experimental results showing a reduction in gyrification, and in size of granular and molecular layers of the vermis, along with loss of PC [7, 67, 91]. These findings may adjust the hypothesis that ASD has a prenatal origin of defects, which continue at early postnatal stage [31]. Neuroimaging techniques, such as structural magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), have presented conflicting information that vermal hypoplasia is observed in the majority of individuals with ASD. To confirm these data, studies using functional MRI have further implied that patients with ASD exhibit abnormal function of the cerebellum ([111, [31, 100]). The neuroimaging studies also have shown an alteration in anatomical and functional connectivity of the cerebellum with other regions of the brain, including the thalamus and cerebral cortex [66, 83, 101].

In addition to the neuroimaging studies, pharmacological investigations have demonstrated that the cerebellar glutaminergic and GABAergic systems are considered as a target of dysfunction in ASD patients [11, 83].

Also, major psychiatric disorders, including major depressive and bipolar disorders and schizophrenia, are hypothesized to be contributed by comprehensive alteration in GABAergic signaling system, such as changed expression of cerebellar GABA receptor [83]. This can be associated with reduction in expression of FMRP and alteration in FMRP-mGluR5 signaling and its downstream targets including RAC1, APP, STEP, and homer 1. On the other hand, expression of GABA receptor is influenced by epigenetics or monoallelic expression. As a result, agonism of GABAergic receptors, modulation of mGluR5 activity, and inhibition of glutamateinduced excitotoxicity that may be potential therapeutic strategies, along with the drugs, affect monoamine systems including dopaminergic or serotonergic pathways [32–34]. Actually, GABAergic system can be an important target for novel medication for the psychiatric disorders [36].

Furthermore, the literature resulted from gene and protein expression analyses have demonstrated the downregulation of synaptophisin, SNAP-25 (synaptosome-associated protein), and complexin, as well as upregulation of semaphorin 3A, an axonal chemorepellant [28, 29, 68, 83]. Interestingly, a dysregulation of activity and levels of D-amino acid oxidase (DAO), the enzyme that metabolizes D-serine, a co-agonist of NMDA (N-methyl-D-aspartate) receptor, was also observed [14]. Therefore, the available evidence seem to indicate to disease-specific, including decreased volume of the vermis, and nonspecific pathological factors, including reduction in the number PC and pharmacological changes of the cerebellum in the neurodevelopmental disorders [83].

In addition to ASD, the cerebellum has been suggested to be involved in schizophrenia, demonstrating coordination and postural abnormalities, impaired eyeblink conditioning, and procedural learning deficits [53, 54, 84]. The neurological signs are thought to be related to structural alterations in the cerebellum [7, 106]. Regarding to the extensive connections between the cerebellum and forebrain regions, cognitive dysmetria and poor mental coordination are proposed to be produced by cerebellar abnormalities in schizophrenic patients [5, 6].

# Contribution of the Cerebellum in Neurodevelopment

There are increasing evidences emphasizing the major role of the cerebellum in the development of the brain. The studies of fetal, neonatal, and pediatric individuals support the hypothesis that the developing cerebellum clearly participates in motor, cognitive, and socio-behavioral development and exerts the role that is associated with a regional functional topography of the cerebellum. Consistent with these data, investigational studies have indicated to the relationship between early life and older children with cerebellar injury (e.g., pediatric posterior fossa tumors), and infants with cerebellar malformations and neurodevelopmental disorders, clarifying the importance of cerebellar structure-function relationships in the brain development [87].

The developmental process of the cerebellum possesses a highly regulated pattern, as which more rapidly grows during 20–40 weeks of gestation in comparison with other cerebral structure, demonstrating the importance of the critical period for cerebellar development [15, 65]. Thus, the vulnerability of the cerebellum and its developmental repercussions of injury can disrupt this highly orchestrated, programmed developmental process during the important period. On the other hand, disruption of cerebellar growth significantly affects other regions of the brain, for instance, the developing cerebral cortex [103]. This is related to the richly interconnection of the cerebellum with different areas of the cerebral cortex supporting movement, cognition, and affective regulation [89]. In this regard, the cerebellum seems to play a modulatory role in the cerebro-cerebellar circuits, supporting the behavioral optimization, particularly in procedural learning and skill acquisition [87].

Subsequently, it is believed that early disruption of the cerebellum, due to prenatal cerebellar developmental lesions (i.e., malformations), preterm birth, and cerebellar posterior fossa tumors in early childhood, can lead to neurodevelopmental disorders with long-lasting and wide-ranging alterations in the structure and function of cerebro-cerebellar systems that result in long-term behavioral disorders [87].

# Role of the Cerebellum in Adaptive Behaviors, Autism Spectrum, and Neuropsychiatric Disorders

It is evident that cerebellar tumor removal in children and cerebellar parenchymal injury in very preterm infants resulted in impairment of adaptive behaviors [9] and a variety of affective disorders [63, 64]. For instance, affective dysregulation is associated with cerebellar dysfunction in children [63], while emotional lability is also observed following posterior fossa syndrome [75].

Regarding to specific structure-function relationship, an association between the posterior vermis injury and vermal lesions with behavioral dysregulation, flattened affect, and disinhibited behavior was observed [1, 21, 63]. Some reports have mentioned that most of the children with midline or vermal tumors are encountered to affect dysregulation [1]. These findings were supported by a study by Richter et al. [77] that both positive (e.g., decreased aggression and thoughtful behavior) and negative (e.g., depression, anxiety, and aggression) behavioral symptoms were seen in children with chronic cerebellar lesions. The association between the vermis and behavioral regulation pays our attention to the important role of the posterior vermis and its defects in neurodevelopmental disorders, including ADHD [48] and autism [8].

In addition, Schmahmann implied that more than half of the surviving preterm infants with damage of parenchymal tissue of the cerebellum show psychiatric disorders [81] and functional limitations in socialization skills. Also, distinct socio-behavioral defects of attention, affective, internalizing, and pervasive sub-domains were reported in the children with cerebellar injury [64].

Taken together, the reports have shown that cerebellar injury and lesion at early life in preterm infants are associated with wide-ranging neurodevelopmental disorders [13]. Moreover, a reduction in volume of the posterior vermis is thought to be in line with neurodevelopmental-related behavioral dysregulation, including autism and ADHD. Psychiatric disorders are also reported to be correlated with cerebellar injury during childhood [87].

#### Cerebellum Plays a Role in ASD

Evidences have proposed that dysfunction in specific regions of the cerebellum can result in neurodevelopmental disorders, including ASD, according to the involvement of the cerebellum in the developing brain. Scientists have demonstrated the major role of cerebellar damage in the neuropsychiatric consequences in five main domains: (1) impairment of attention and (2) emotion and (3) disruption of social skill, (4) psychosis, and (5) autism spectrum disorders [81]. In ASD, there are data that strongly support the structural-functional abnormalities in the cerebellum in patients with autism. Although ASD is adjusted to be resulted from cerebellar dysfunction, it is obvious that multiple regions of the brain undergo dysfunction. Thus, the specific contribution of the cerebellum in the pathophysiology of ASD is needed to be clearly understood. The cerebellum has been demonstrated to modulate and automatize the motor movements, in order to optimize performance [46]. Also, it has been observed that the activation patterns in the primary motor cortex are modulated by transcranial magnetic stimulation of the cerebellum [37]. This shows the cerebro-cerebellar relationship and verifies that alteration in cerebellar activity can affect different regions of the cerebral cortex, influencing internal models of behavior, and optimization and prediction of future behavior [47]. Despite these effects, it does not mean that the cerebellar injury leads to complete loss of its function [79]. To this, cerebellar injury may not include paralysis, but classic motor dysfunction, such as poorly calibrated dysmetric movements, can be occurred. The modulatory effect of the cerebellum is not exclusively related to the motor movement but is associated with impairment of cognition and affect [47]. Moreover, there is region-specific motor dysfunction, as the posterior cerebellar injury demonstrates no severely impaired cognition and language but can lead to disrupted modulation and optimization of cognitive performance such as agrammatism or semantic fluency [79, 80]. These findings emphasized the importance of the cerebellum in implicit learning and skill acquisition, which are directly associated with the process of building and optimizing internal models. The cerebellum is believed to be completely associated with initial motor skill learning, while cortico-striatal pathways and primary motor cortex are more involved in the learned motor behaviors, as well as cognition and working memory [23, 37]. A cerebellar role in learning and skill acquisition is compelling in the neurodevelopment and neurodevelopmental disorders. Indeed, impairment of skill acquisition is more correlated to developmental disorders including ASD, dyslexia, and developmental coordination disorder [10, 96]. These differences are assumed to be related to cerebro-cerebellar circuits [86]. Thus, behavioral defects resulting from neurodevelopmental disorders are linked to differences in structure-function relationship of specific regions of the cerebellum [112]. For instance, damage of the posterior cerebellar area may result in communication impairments in patients with ASD, whereas motor defects of speech, stuttering, are found to be relevant to overactivation of the anterior lobe of the cerebellum [90]. Deficits of the mentioned cerebellar circuits were observed to cause long-term disorders by influencing the acquisition of motor, communication, and social skills during early neurodevelopment in patients with ASD.

#### Cerebellum Plays a Role in ADHD

Regarding to the present findings, alteration in structure and function of the cerebellum is believed as the common phenomenon in ADHD [20, 25, 97], but the genetic and environment are thought to be predisposing risk factors of the neurodevelopmental disorder. Genetic investigations have shown that a family-based singlenucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the XKR4-gene (XK-Kell blood group complex subunit-related family, member 4) in the cerebellum is suggested to be related to incidence of ADHD [57, 69]. Despite the unclear function of this gene in the brain, the importance of this gene was understood by finding that it codes for an inferred protein related to the XK-protein, part of the XK-Kell blood group complex [25, 59, 60]. XK-protein is observed to be widespreadly overexpressed in the brain compared to Kell-protein in the Purkinje cells of the cerebellum [113, 114]. As the linkage between XK gene and McLeod syndrome, a syndrome with sex-dependent defects of central nervous, neuromuscular, and hematologic systems in males including impairment of movement and cognition and psychiatric disorders [19], was found, the hypothesized relationship between XKR4-gene and psychiatric phenotypes was potentiated. It is noteworthy that a correlation exists between XKR4gene and substance abuse [95], while a SNP in the XKR4-gene has been contributed to responsiveness to antipsychotic therapy [35, 58].

Environmental and epigenetic factors are found to be linked to the cerebellum and its function in prenatal and postnatal stages. Studies of children with ADHD have demonstrated lower pronounced familial effects on the cerebellum volume compared to other regions of the brain [26]. Moreover, in contrast to some reports suggesting that the cerebellum's heritability may be enhanced into adolescence and adulthood [73, 98], the cerebellum is considered as the least heritable brain structures at birth [39] and in childhood [72]. Prenatal adversity may influence the cerebellar development, which begins at early intrauterine life [65, 93, 94]. These show the importance of prenatal and early postnatal period in development of cerebellum in patients with ADHD have demonstrated to be relevant to impairment of the cognitive phenotypes, such as temporal processing [27]. However, the role of environmental effects on the cerebellar development disorders are remained to be obviously understood.
## Cerebellum Plays a Role in Behavioral Despair and Neuropsychiatric Illnesses

Body of evidences has proposed that there is regionally abnormality in the brain volume in patients with major depressive disorder (MDD). Several meta-analyses have confirmed this hypothesis that a reduction in gray matter volume (GMV) of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), and hippocampus was observed in patients with MDD [12, 22, 24, 55, 108, 110]. The reports have suggested two disorders as the pathophysiological factors of MDD, as below:

- Impairment of structure and function within cortico-limbic circuitry [49]
- Alterations in the functional organization of multiple brain networks implicated in attention regulation, emotional processes, and cognitive control [49]

Although the involvement of the cerebellum in both cognitive and affective processes is now well established, meta-analyses show no significant and obvious contribution of the cerebellum in MDD. The studies indicated that the linkage of the cerebellum with cerebral cortices and paralimbic regions indeed, as corticocerebellar circuits, is key point to clarify the role of the cerebellum in MDD [81, 88]. The limited data on the involvement of the cerebellum in MDD may be related to the few investigations of cerebellar structure in MDD. However, the analytical studies were focused on the vermian volume and lack of gray/white matter parcellation [107]. Moreover, clinical evidences reported an abnormal structure of the cerebellum in depressed patients using whole-brain investigations of altered GMV in depression [22, 56, 71, 99, 107].

To better understand the role of the cerebellum in behavior, fMRI data were analyzed in adolescents and young adults to identify the possible association between emotional and behavioral disorders with brain areas [76]. Interestingly, the results emphasized that the cerebellum, as well as cerebral sensorimotor and limbic areas, had the strongest link to behavioral despair.

In addition to MDD, the investigations demonstrated a significant association between obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) and abnormalities in the cerebellum. There were found significant, obvious abnormalities in the cerebellum, along with in the temporo-parieto-occipital and fronto-striatal areas in patients with OCD compared to healthy controls [44]. Although we have limited data on the role of the cerebellum in pathogenesis of anxiety disorders, accumulation of evidence of the importance and involvement of the cerebellum in a wide variety of psychiatric and neurodevelopmental disorders are needed to be elucidated [3].

Schizophrenia, as known as neurodevelopmental disorder with uncertain etiology, is thought to be associated with the cerebellum, which has been considered as a proposed target of the neurodevelopmental processes. The schizophrenic phenotype consists of a variety of neuronal and behavioral disorders. Also, it includes the impaired cognition, termed as "cognitive dysmetria" that involves the thought form. The literature proposed that this condition may be relevant to the pathological status of the cerebellum [105]. The brain regional analogy has also demonstrated that deficits in the cerebellar cognitive or affective circuits may lead to thought disorder and/or tangentiality. The investigations using longitudinal and cross-sectional structural MRI proposed the implication of cerebellar development in schizophrenic patients with childhood onset and compared the resulted data to healthy controls [3, 50]. The results showed a decrease of the volume of the cerebellum and cerebrum in adolescent patients with schizophrenia. Moreover, Greenstein et al. [41] explored abnormal different trajectories of cerebellar development in patients with childhood-onset schizophrenia.

### Conclusion

Body of evidences has found a critical role of the cerebellum in the development of motor and non-motor (e.g., cognition and behavior) conditions, which was disrupted by cerebellar injury in preterm infants, developmental cerebellar lesions in infants, cerebellar tumor in pediatric patients, and neurodevelopmental defects. As developmental differences occurred in cerebellar malformations and neurodevelopmental disorders, it is thought to be associated with motor, cognitive, and behavioral dysfunction. The cerebellar injury in preterm infants could enhance the rate of cognitive and socio-behavioral dysfunction. Consistent with preterm newborns, cerebellar tumor resulted in similar motor, cognitive, and behavioral defects in pediatric patients. Furthermore, the region-specific lesions may determine the effects of early cerebellar damages on the neurodevelopmental and behavioral disorders. The cerebellar dysfunction at early life can cause distinct, long-term effects on the brain distal areas which are projected by the cerebellum. The developmental diaschisis can influence the structure-function relationship of the regions of cerebral cortex which may be optimized by the cerebellar input. In summary, increasing clinical and neuroimaging evidences in newborns that undergone acquired and developmental cerebellar lesions, along with older children with cerebellar damage, presented novel approach to the role of the cerebellar lesions at early life on cerebral development. On the other hand, determination of the age of cerebellar injury to the developing brain may help us to predict the possible long-term outcomes (Fig. 1).

However, the effects of cerebellar lesions at prenatal and postnatal periods on cerebral development should be clarified. Further studies are needed to better understand the structure-function relationship in the developing cerebellum to improve clinical prognosis, early intervention services, and educational planning. The findings can open a new avenue to explore novel treatment of the cerebella injury-induced neurodevelopmental and behavioral disorders by cerebellar neuromodulation. It is also possible that therapeutic interventions, such as cerebellar neuromodulation, could provide alternate treatment options in these populations. Growing of our knowledge of the association between cerebellar circuits and specific behaviors can facilitate to reach to point of optimization of timing and localization of the therapeutic strategies. These essential findings will guide us to improve the life of millions of children impacted by cerebellar injury and the subsequent developmental disorders.



**Fig. 1** Schematic of the cerebellum and its associated non-motor, neurobehavioral, and behavioral disorders. The cerebellar damages and dysfunction may lead to a variety of non-motor deficits and behavioral outcomes in patients with neurodevelopmental disorders

### References

- 1. Aarsen F, Dongen HV, Paquier P, Mourik MV, Catsman-Berrevoets C. Long term sequelae in children after cerebellar astrocytoma surgery. Neurology. 2004;62:1311–6.
- Allen G, Buxton R, Wong E, Courchesne E. Attentional activation of the cerebellum independent of motor involvement. Science. 1997;275:1940–3.
- 3. Allin MPG. Novel insights from quantitative imaging of the developing cerebellum. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2016;21(5):333–8.
- 4. Amaral DG, Schumann CM, Nordahl CW. Neuroanatomy of autism. Trends Neurosci. 2008;31:137–45.
- Andreasen NC, O'Leary DS, Cizadlo T, Arndt S, Rezai K, Ponto LL, Watkins GL, Hichwa RD. Schizophrenia and cognitive dysmetria: a positron-emission tomography study of dysfunctional prefrontal-thalamic-cerebellar circuitry. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93:9985–90.
- Andreasen NC, Paradiso S, O'Leary DS. Cognitive "dysmetria" as an integrative theory of schizophrenia: a dysfunction in cortical-subcortical-cerebellar circuitry? Schizophr Bull. 1998;24:203–18.

- 7. Andreasen NC, Pierson R. The role of the cerebellum in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry. 2008;64:81–8.
- Becker EB, Stoodley CJ. Autism spectrum disorder and the cerebellum. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2013;113:1–34.
- Beebe DW, Ris MD, Armstrong FD, Fontanesi J, Mulhern R, Holmes E, et al. Cognitive and adaptive outcome in low-grade pediatric cerebellar astrocytomas: evidence of diminished cognitive and adaptive function. National Collaborative Research Studies (CCG9891/ POG9130). J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:5198–204.
- Biotteau M, Chaix Y, Albaret J-M. Procedural learning and automatization process in children with developmental coordination disorder and/or developmental dyslexia. Hum Mov Sci. 2015;43:78–89.
- 11. Blatt GJ. GABAergic cerebellar system in autism: a neuropathological and developmental perspective. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2005;71:167–78.
- Bora E, Fornito A, Pantelis C, Yucel M. Gray matter abnormalities in major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis of voxel based morphometry studies. J Affect Disord. 2012;138:9–18.
- Brossard-Racine M, du Plessis AJ, Limperopoulos C. Developmental cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome in ex-preterm survivors following cerebellar injury. Cerebellum. 2015;14:151–64.
- Burnet PW, Eastwood SL, Bristow GC, Godlewska BR, Sikka P, Walker M, Harrison PJ. D-amino acid oxidase activity and expression are increased in schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry. 2008;13:658–60.
- 15. Clouchoux C, Guizard N, Evans AC, du Plessis AJ, Limperopoulos C. Normative fetal brain growth by quantitative in vivo magnetic resonance imaging. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2012;206:173–8.
- 16. Clower DM, Dum RP, Strick PL. Basal ganglia and cerebellar inputs to 'AIP'. Cereb Cortex. 2005;7:913–20.
- 17. Clower DM, West RA, Lynch JC, Strick PL. The inferior parietal lobule is the target of output from the superior colliculus, hippocampus, and cerebellum. J Neurosci. 2001;21:6283–91.
- D'Mello AM, Stoodley CJ. Cerebro-cerebellar circuits in autism spectrum disorder. Front Neurosci. 2015;9:1–18.
- 19. Danek A, Walker RH. Neuroacanthocytosis. Curr Opin Neurol. 2005;18:386-92.
- 20. de Zeeuw P, van Belle J, van Dijk S, Weusten J, Koeleman B, Janson E, van Engeland H, Durston S. Imaging gene and environmental effects on cerebellum in attention deficit/hyper-activity disorder and typical development. NeuroImage Clin. 2013;2:103–10.
- DeLorey TM, Sahbaie P, Hashemi E, Homanics GE, Clark JD. Gabrb3 gene deficient mice exhibit impaired social and exploratory behaviors, deficits in non-selective attention and hypoplasia of cerebellar vermal lobules: a potential model of autism spectrum disorder. Behav Brain Res. 2008;5:207–20.
- 22. Depping MS, Wolf ND, Vasic N, Sambataro F, Hirjak D, Thomann PA, Wolf RC. Abnormal cerebellar volume in acute and remitted major depression. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psych. 2016;71:97–102.
- Doyon J, Song AW, Karni A, Lalonde F, Adams MM, Ungerleider LG. Experience-dependent changes in cerebellar contributions to motor sequence learning. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99:1017–22.
- 24. Du MY, Wu QZ, Yue Q, Li J, Liao Y, Kuang WH, Huang XQ, Chan RC, Mechelli A, Gong QY. Voxelwise meta-analysis of gray matter reduction in major depressive disorder. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psych. 2012;36(1):11–6.
- Durston S, de Zeeuw P, Staal WG. Imaging genetics in ADHD: a focus on cognitive control. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2009;33:674–89.
- Durston S, Hulshoff Pol HE, Schnack HG, Buitelaar JK, Steenhuis MP, Minderaa RB, Kahn RS, van Engeland H. Magnetic resonance imaging of boys with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and their unaffected siblings. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psych. 2004;43:332–40.
- Durston S, Van Belle J, De Zeeuw P. Differentiating fronto-striatal and frontocerebellar circuits in ADHD. Biol Psychiatry. 2011;69:1178–84.

- Eastwood SL, Cotter D, Harrison PJ. Cerebellar synaptic protein expression in schizophrenia. Neuroscience. 2001;105:219–29.
- Eastwood SL, Law AJ, Everall IP, Harrison PJ. The axonal chemorepellant semaphorin 3A is increased in the cerebellum in schizophrenia and may contribute to its synaptic pathology. Mol Psychiatry. 2003;8:148–55.
- Evarts EV, Thach WT. Motor mechanism of the CNS: cerebrocerebellar interrelations. Annu Rev Physiol. 1969;31:451–98.
- Fatemi SH, Aldinger KA, Ashwood P, Bauman ML, Blaha CD, Blatt GJ, et al. Consensus paper: pathological role of the cerebellum in autism. Cerebellum. 2012;11:777–807.
- Fatemi SH, Folsom TD. GABA receptor subunit distribution and FMRP–mGluR5 signaling abnormalities in the cerebellum of subjects with schizophrenia, mood disorders, and autism. Schizophr Res. 2015;167:42–56.
- 33. Fatemi SH, Folsom TD, Rooney RJ, Thuras PD. mRNA and protein expression for novel GABAA receptors θ and ρ2 are altered in schizophrenia and mood disorders; relevance to FMRP–mGluR5 signaling pathway. Transl Psychiatry. 2013;3:e271.
- Fatemi SH, Kneeland RE, Liesch SB, Folsom TD. Fragile X mental retardation protein levels are decreased in major psychiatric disorders. Schizophr Res. 2010;124(1–3):246–7.
- 35. Fijal BA, Stauffer VL, Kinon BJ, Conley RR, Hoffmann VP, Witte MM, Zhao F, Houston JP. Analysis of gene variants previously associated with iloperidone response in patients with schizophrenia who are treated with risperidone. J Clin Psychol. 2012;73:367–71.
- Fujita E, Tanabe Y, Imhof BA, Momoi MY, Momoi T. A complex of synaptic adhesion molecule CADM1, a molecule related to autism spectrum disorder, with MUPP1 in the cerebellum. J Neurochem. 2012;123:886–94.
- 37. Galea JM, Vazquez A, Pasricha N, de Xivry J-JO, Celnik P. Dissociating the roles of the cerebellum and motor cortex during adaptive learning: the motor cortex retains what the cerebellum learns. Cereb Cortex. 2011;21:1761–70.
- George SM, Wassermann EM, Williams WA, Callahan A, Ketter DA, Basser P, Hallett M, Post RM. Daily repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) improves mood in depression. Neuroreport. 1995;6:1853–6.
- Gilmore JH, Schmitt JE, Knickmeyer RC, Smith JK, Lin W, Styner M, Gerig G, Neale MC. Genetic and environmental contributions to neonatal brain structure: a twin study. Hum Brain Mapp. 2010;31:1174–82.
- Greenough WT, Black JE, Klintsova A, Bates KE, Weiler IJ. Experience and plasticity in brain structure: possible implications of basic research findings for developmental disorders. In: Broman SH, Fletcher JM, editors. The changing nervous system. New York: Oxford University Press; 1999. p. 51–70.
- Greenstein D, Lenroot R, Clausen L, Gogtay N, Rapoport J. Cerebellar development in childhood onset schizophrenia and non-psychotic siblings. Psychiatry Res. 2011;193:131–7.
- 42. Holmes G. A form of familial degeneration of the cerebellum. Brain. 1907;30:466-89.
- 43. Holmes G. The cerebellum of man. Brain. 1939;62:1-31.
- 44. Hu X, Liu Q, Li B, Tang W, Sun H, Li F, Yang Y, Gong Q, Huang X. Multivariate pattern analysis of obsessive-compulsive disorder using structural neuroanatomy. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2016;26(2):246–54.
- 45. Ito M. The cerebellum and neural control. New York: Raven Press; 1984.
- 46. Ito M. Historical review of the significance of the cerebellum and the role of Purkinje cells in motor learning. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2002;978:273–88.
- 47. Ito M. Control of mental activities by internal models in the cerebellum. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2008;9:304–13.
- Ivanov I, Murrough JW, Bansal R, Hao X, Peterson BS. Cerebellar morphology and the effects of stimulant medications in youths with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2014;39:718–26.
- Kaiser RH, Andrews-Hanna JR, Wager TD, Pizzagalli DA. Large-scale network dysfunction in major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis of resting-state functional connectivity. JAMA Psych. 2015;72(6):603–11.

- Keller A, Castellanos FX, Vaituzis AC, Jeffries NO, Giedd JN, Rapoport JL. Progressive loss of cerebellar volume in childhood-onset schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry. 2003;160:128–33.
- 51. Kemper TL, Bauman M. Neuropathology of infantile autism. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1998;57:645–52.
- 52. Kern JK. Purkinje cell vulnerability and autism: a possible etiological connection. Brain Dev. 2003;25:377–82.
- Kinney DK, Yurgelun-Todd DA, Woods BT. Neurologic signs of cerebellar and cortical sensory dysfunction in schizophrenics and their relatives. Schizophr Res. 1999;35:99–104.
- Konarski JZ, McIntyre RS, Grupp LA, Kennedy SH. Is the cerebellum relevant in the circuitry of neuropsychiatric disorder? J Psychiatry Neurosci. 2006;30:178–86.
- 55. Lai CH. Gray matter volume in major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis of voxel-based morphometry studies. Psychiatry Res. 2013;211(1):37–46.
- 56. Lai CH, Wu YT. The gray matter alterations in major depressive disorder and panic disorder: putative differences in the pathogenesis. J Affect Disord. 2015;186:1–6.
- 57. Lantieri F, Glessner JT, Hakonarson H, Elia J, Devoto M. Analysis of GWAS top hits in ADHD suggests association to two polymorphisms located in genes expressed in the cerebellum. Am J Med Gen Part B Neuropsychol Gen. 2010;153B:1127–33.
- Lavedan C, Licamele L, Volpi S, Hamilton J, Heaton C, Mack K, Lannan R, Thompson A, Wolfgang CD, Polymeropoulos MH. Association of the NPAS3 gene and five other loci with response to the antipsychotic iloperidone identified in a whole genome association study. Mol Psychiatry. 2009;14:804–19.
- Lee S, Russo D, Redman C. Functional and structural aspects of the Kell blood group system. Transfus Med Rev. 2000;14:93–103.
- Lee S, Sha Q, Wu X, Calenda G, Peng J. Expression profiles of mouse Kell, XK, and XPLAC mRNA. J Histochem Cytochem. 2007;55:365–74.
- 61. Leiner HC. Solving the mystery of the human cerebellum. Neuropsychol Rev. 2010;20:229–35.
- 62. Leiner HC, Leiner AL, Dow RS. Does the cerebellum contribute to mental skills? Behav Neurosci. 1986;100:443–54.
- Levisohn L, Cronin-Golomb A, Schmahmann JD. Neuropsychological consequences of cerebellar tumour resection in children: cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome in a paediatric population. Brain. 2000;123(5):1041–50.
- 64. Limperopoulos C, Bassan H, Gauvreau K, Robertson RL, Sullivan NR, Benson CB, et al. Does cerebellar injury in premature infants contribute to the high prevalence of long-term cognitive, learning, and behavioral disability in survivors? Pediatrics. 2007;120:584–93.
- Limperopoulos C, Soul JS, Gauvreau K, Huppi PS, Warfield SK, Bassan H, et al. Late gestation cerebellar growth is rapid and impeded by premature birth. Pediatrics. 2005;115:688–95.
- 66. Lungu O, Barakat M, Laventure S, Debas K, Proulx S, Luck D, Stip E. The incidence and nature of cerebellar findings in schizophrenia: a quantitative review of fMRI literature. Schizophr Bull. 2013;39:797–806.
- Martin P, Albers M. Cerebellum and schizophrenia: a selective review. Schizophr Bull. 1995;21:241–50.
- Mukaetova-Ladinska E, Hurt J, Honer WG, Harrington CR, Wischik CM. Loss of synaptic but not cytoskeletal proteins in the cerebellum of chronic schizophrenics. Neurosci Lett. 2002;317:161–5.
- 69. Neale BM, Lasky-Su J, Anney R, Franke B, Zhou K, Maller JB, Vasquez AA, Asherson P, Chen W, Banaschewski T, Buitelaar J, Ebstein R, Gill M, Miranda A, Oades RD, Roeyers H, Rothenberger A, Sergeant J, Steinhausen HC, Sonuga-Barke E, Mulas F, Taylor E, Laird N, Lange C, Daly M, Faraone SV. Genome-wide association scan of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Am J Med Genet B. 2008;147B:1337–44.
- Palmen SJ, van Engeland H, Hof PR, Schmitz C. Neuropathological findings in autism. Brain. 2004;127(12):2572–83.
- Peng J, Liu J, Nie B, Li Y, Shan B, Wang G, Li K. Cerebral and cerebellar gray matter reduction in first-episode patients with major depressive disorder: a voxel based morphometry study. Eur J Radiol. 2011;80(2):395–9.

- 72. Peper JS, Brouwer RM, Boomsma DI, Kahn RS, Hulshoff Pol HE. Genetic influences on human brain structure: a review of brain imaging studies in twins. Hum Brain Mapp. 2007;28:464–73.
- 73. Peper JS, Schnack HG, Brouwer RM, Van Baal GC, Pjetri E, Szekely E, van Leeuwen M, van den Berg SM, Collins DL, Evans AC, Boomsma DI, Kahn RS, Hulshoff Pol HE. Heritability of regional and global brain structure at the onset of puberty: a magnetic resonance imaging study in 9-year-old twin pairs. Hum Brain Mapp. 2009;30:2184–96.
- Petersen SE, Fox PT, Posner MI, Mintun M, Raichle ME. Positron emission tomographic studies of the processing of single words. J Cogn Neurosci. 1989;1:153–70.
- 75. Pollack I. Posterior fossa syndrome. Int Rev Neurobiol. 1997;41:411-32.
- Portugal LC, Rosa MJ, Rao A, Bebko G, Bertocci MA, Hinze AK, et al. Can emotional and behavioral dysregulation in youth be decoded from functional neuroimaging? PLoS One. 2016;11:e0117603.
- Richter S, Schoch B, Kaiser O, Groetschel H, Dimitrova A, Hein-Kropp C, et al. Behavioral and affective changes in children and adolescents with chronic cerebellar lesions. Neurosci Lett. 2005;381:102–7.
- 78. Riva D, Giorgi C. The cerebellum contributes to higher functions during development: evidence from a series of children surgically treated for posterior fossa tumours. Brain. 2000;123(5):1051–61.
- Schmahmann JD. An emerging concept: the cerebellar contribution to higher function. Arch Neurol. 1991;48:1178–87.
- Schmahmann JD, Sherman JC. The cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome. Brain. 1998;121(4):561–79.
- Schmahmann JD, Weilburg JB, Sherman JC. The neuropsychiatry of the cerebellum-insights from the clinic. Cerebellum. 2007;6:254–67.
- Scott RB, Stoodley CJ, Anslow P, Paul C, Stein JF, Sugden EM, et al. Lateralized cognitive deficits in children following cerebellar lesions. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2001;43:685–91.
- Shevelkin AV, Ihenatu C, Pletnikov MV. Pre-clinical models of neurodevelopmental disorders: focus on the cerebellum. Rev Neurosci. 2014;25(2):177–94.
- Snider SR. Cerebellar pathology in schizophrenia cause or consequence? Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 1982;6:47–53.
- Stein JF, Glickstein M. Role of the cerebellum in visual guidance of movement. Physiol Rev. 1992;72:967–1017.
- 86. Stoodley CJ. Distinct regions of the cerebellum show gray matter decreases in autism, ADHD, and developmental dyslexia. Front Syst Neurosci. 2014;8:92.
- Stoodley CJ, Limperopoulos C. Structure-function relationships in the developing cerebellum: evidence from early-life cerebellar injury and neurodevelopmental disorders. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med. 2016;21:356–64. in press
- Stoodley CJ, Schmahmann JD. Functional topography in the human cerebellum: a metaanalysis of neuroimaging studies. NeuroImage. 2009;44(2):489–501.
- Stoodley CJ, Schmahmann JD. Evidence for topographic organization in the cerebellum of motor control versus cognitive and affective processing. Cortex. 2010;46:831–44.
- Stoodley CJ, Schmahmann JD. Functional linguistic topography of the cerebellum. In: Marien P, Manto M, editors. The linguistic cerebellum. Waltham: Academic; 2015. p. 315–35.
- Supprian T, Ulmar G, Bauer M, Schüler M, Püschel K, Retz-Junginger P, Schmitt HP, Heinsen H. Cerebellar vermis area in schizophrenic patients – a postmortem study. Schizophr Res. 2000;16:19–28.
- 92. Tavano A, Grasso R, Gagliardi C, Triulzi F, Bresolin N, Fabbro F, et al. Disorders of cognitive and affective development in cerebellar malformations. Brain. 2007;130:2646–60.
- 93. Ten Donkelaar HJ, Lammens M, Wesseling P, Thijssen HO, Renier WO. Development and developmental disorders of the human cerebellum. J Neurol. 2003;250:1025–36.
- Tiemeier H, Lenroot RK, Greenstein DK, Tran L, Pierson R, Giedd JN. Cerebellum development during childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal morphometric MRI study. NeuroImage. 2010;49:63–70.

- 95. Uhl GR, Drgon T, Johnson C, Fatusin OO, Liu QR, Contoreggi C, Li CY, Buck K, Crabbe J. Higher order addiction molecular genetics: convergent data from genome-wide association in humans and mice. Biochem Pharmacol. 2008;75:98–111.
- Ullman MT, Pullman MY. A compensatory role for declarative memory in neurodevelopmental disorders. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2015;51:205–22.
- Valera EM, Faraone SV, Murray KE, Seidman LJ. Meta-analysis of structural imaging findings in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol Psychiatry. 2007;61:1361–9.
- Van Soelen IL, Brouwer RM, van Baal GC, Schnack HG, Peper JS, Chen L, Kahn RS, Boomsma DI, Pol HE. Heritability of volumetric brain changes and height in children entering puberty. Hum Brain Mapp 2013. 2011;34(3):713–25.
- Vasic N, Walter H, Hose A, Wolf RC. Gray matter reduction associated with psychopathology and cognitive dysfunction in unipolar depression: a voxel-based morphometry study. J Affect Disord. 2008;109(1–2):107–16.
- Verhoeven JS, De Cock P, Lagae L, Sunaert S. Neuroimaging of autism. Neuroradiology. 2010;52:3–14.
- 101. Villanueva R. The cerebellum and neuropsychiatric disorders. Psychiatry Res. 2012;198:527–32.
- 102. Volpe JJ. Cerebellum of the premature infant: rapidly developing, vulnerable, clinically important. J Child Neurol. 2009;24:1085–104.
- 103. Wang SS-H, Kloth AD, Badura A. The cerebellum, sensitive periods, and autism. Neuron. 2014;83:518–32.
- 104. Weber AM, Egelhoff JC, McKellop JM, Franz DN. Autism and the cerebellum: evidence from tuberous sclerosis. J Autism Dev Disord. 2000;30:511–7.
- 105. Wiser AK, Andreasen NC, O'Leary DS, Watkins GL, Boles Ponto LL, Hichwa RD. Dysfunctional cortico-cerebellar circuits cause 'cognitive dysmetria' in schizophrenia. Neuroreport. 1998;9(8):1895–7.
- 106. Yeganeh-Doost P, Gruber O, Falkai P, Schmitt A. The role of the cerebellum in schizophrenia: from cognition to molecular pathways. Clinics (Sao Paulo). 2011;66(Suppl 1):71–7.
- 107. Yucel K, Nazarov A, Taylor VH, Macdonald K, Hall GB, Macqueen GM. Cerebellar vermis volume in major depressive disorder. Brain Struct Funct. 2013;218(4):851–8.
- 108. Zhao YJ, Du MY, Huang XQ, Lui S, Chen ZQ, Liu J, Luo Y, Wang XL, Kemp GJ, Gong QY. Brain grey matter abnormalities in medication-free patients with major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis. Psychol Med. 2014;44(14):2927–37.
- 109. Zwicker JG, Missiuna C, Harris SR, Boyd LA. Brain activation associated with motor skill practice in children with developmental coordination disorder: an fMRI study. Int J Dev Neurosci. 2011;29:145–52.
- Saeedi Saravi SS, Dehpour AR. Potential role of organochlorine pesticides in the pathogenesis of neurodevelopmental, neurodegenerative, and neurobehavioral disorders: a review. Life Sci. 2016;145:255–64.
- 111. Courchesne E. Neuroanatomic imaging in autism. Pediatrics. 1991;87(5 Pt 2):781-90.
- 112. Stoodley CJ. The cerebellum and neurodevelopmental disorders. Cerebellum. 2015;8:92.
- 113. Claperon A, Hattab C, Armand V, Trottier S, Bertrand O, Ouimet T. The Kell and XK proteins of the Kell blood group are not co-expressed in the central nervous system. Brain Res. 2007;1147:12–24.
- 114. Claperon A, Rose C, Gane P, Collec E, Bertrand O, Ouimet T. The kell protein of the common K2 phenotype is a catalytically active metalloprotease while the rare kell K1 antigen is inactive. Identification of novel substrates for the kell protein. J Biol Chem. 2005;280:21272–83.

## Neurodevelopmental Disorders of the Cerebellum: Autism Spectrum Disorder

Mehnosh Toback, Kambiz Zangeneh, Tabrez J. Siddiqui, and Hassan Marzban

**Abstract** Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a neurodevelopmental disorder with an incidence of 1 in 68 children. Cerebellar abnormalities have been observed in many ASD patients. The cerebellum is an elaborate brain region critically important for motor learning and coordination of movement, and increasing lines of evidence indicate that the cerebellum also contributes to emotion and cognition. In this chapter, we will review the genetic and environmental factors that may cause cerebellar deficits in ASD patients. Structural and functional cerebellar abnormalities based on neuroimaging and histopathological studies and current approaches to management will be discussed.

**Keywords** Cerebellum • Neurodevelopmental disorders • Motor skills • Language • Cognition • Autism spectrum disorder

M. Toback

Foothills Hospital, 1403, 29 Street N.W, Calgary, Alberta T2N 2T9, Canada

K. Zangeneh Sina Laboratory Building, Shakaraby Avenue, Arak, Iran

T.J. Siddiqui Department of Physiology and Pathophysiology, Max Rady College of Medicine, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

Neuroscience Research Program, Kleysen Institute for Advanced Medicine, Health Sciences Centre, Winnipeg, MB, Canada

H. Marzban (⊠)

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017 H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_18

Department of Human Anatomy and Cell Science, The Children's Hospital Research Institute of Manitoba (CHRIM), Max Rady College of Medicine, Rady Faculty of Health Science, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB R3E 0J9, Canada e-mail: Hassan.Marzban@umanitoba.ca

### Introduction

Autism is a commonly occurring complex neurodevelopmental disorder. Leo Kanner, a child psychiatrist (1943), first described patients with "a powerful desire for aloneness" and "an obsessive insistence on persistent sameness" as "early infantile autism" [1–4]. A similar behavioral disorder, "Asperger's syndrome," was reported by Hans Asperger [5]. To avoid using different terminologies, these disorders were together named "autism disorders" in 1987. Recently, the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-V) collectively designated all autismlike disorders as "autism spectrum disorder" (ASD) [3].

ASD is characterized by a triad of symptoms: (1) impairment in social interaction, (2) communication difficulties, and (3) restricted, repetitive, and stereotyped patterns of behavior [3, 6–10]. Current methods can diagnose the ASD in children as young as 2 years old, and males are four times more likely to be diagnosed with ASD than females [11]. The prevalence of ASD is estimated at 1 in 68 children in the United States [12] and 1–2% in Asia, Europe, and North America (see chapter "Epidemiology of Cerebellar Disorders"). The etiology of ASD is complicated: in some patients it is unknown, and in some cases, individuals are affected due to gene mutations and/or environmental factors [7]. However, the interplay of genetic, environmental, and epigenetic factors probably underlies the mechanisms of ASD [8, 13].

A subset of ASD patients, about one in five, display increased head circumference and brain volume in early childhood, typically until 5–6 years of age [14, 15]. In these patients, the cortical white matter, the thickness of the corpus callosum, and the volume of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) in the subarachnoid space are increased at the age of 6–9 months [16–18]. The frontal cortex has been reported to be larger, probably due to increased neuronal density in the prefrontal cortex [19]. Other brain regions that are prominently implicated in ASD include the cerebellum; brainstem and limbic system, including the hippocampus; and basal ganglia [20]. These areas are most likely responsible for the symptoms of those patients with abnormalities related to social behavior, executive functions, atypical use of language, and difficulties with speech [21]. Additionally, enlargement of the amygdala and caudate nucleus may cause anxiety and repetitive behavior [22].

Recent advances in molecular genetics and imaging technologies have shown that the cerebellum is one of the most consistently affected brain regions in ASD patients [8, 23, 24]. The cerebellar neurodevelopmental deficits in ASD include abnormalities in the cerebellar cortex, neurodegeneration, and impaired cerebellar circuits. Together, these deficits affect motor, sensory, language, and cognitive functions [25–28].

### **Autism Spectrum Disorder Pathogenesis**

Emerging evidence from genetic association studies and postmortem human brain tissue indicates that ASD is either hereditary or caused probably by de novo mutations in a number of genes. Additionally, certain environmental risk factors have been proposed to be causative in ASD. The set of molecular pathways, neural circuits, and behaviors affected in the different autisms is highly complex, and as a result, it has been difficult to uncover the neurobiological underpinnings of ASD [9, 29]. How the cerebellum contributes to the etiology of ASD has been particularly underappreciated.

The cerebellum develops from early embryogenesis to the first year postnatally in human. This long period of pre- and postnatal cerebellar development makes it susceptible to many risk factors [30–34]. In this section, we briefly review the findings regarding currently identified genetic and environmental risk factors in ASD. Epigenetic susceptibility factors have been discussed in chapter "Epigenetics and Cerebellar Neurodevelopmental Disorders."

#### **Genetic Factors**

Several lines of evidence have revealed that ASD is a neurodevelopmental disorder determined largely by genetic factors [35]. For example, twin studies have higher concordance rates for monozygotic twins than for dizygotic; approximately 80% of monozygotic twins are concordant compared to 10% of dizygotic twins, with a heritability of over 90% [36]. Recently, genome-wide association studies have identified many genes as risk factors for ASD. These genes span several chromosomal loci, and many are highly expressed in, and are involved in, the development of the cerebellum [37, 38]. Sadakata et al. [38] categorized these genes based on their role in development of the nervous system and synapse development and function. Some of these genes, such as CDH9, CDH10, RELN, and PTEN, are involved in developmental process such as neuronal differentiation, migration, and circuit formation. An important category of ASD-associated genes regulates synaptic adhesion and synaptic transmission, including genes encoding for neurexins, neuroligins, leucine-rich repeat transmembrane neuronal proteins (LRRTMs), Shanks, and SynGAP [39-42]. Another category of ASD risk genes encodes for proteins required for transcription and translation such as EN2, TSC1, FMR1, and MECP2 [38, 43].

Chromodomain-helicase-DNA-binding protein 8 (CHD8), previously called Duplin, is one of the genes most strongly associated with ASD [44, 45]. It was the first identified in the screen for novel interactors within the canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway [46]. CHD8 is an ATP-dependent chromatin-remodeling factor [47] and may serve as a "master regulator" for other ASD risk genes during fetal development [44, 48]. Knockdown of CHD8 in human neural stem cells affects the expression of several ASD risk genes [44], and human patients with mutations in CHD8 display ASD symptoms and have macrocephaly and gastrointestinal difficulties [37]. Taken together, these data suggested that CHD8 targets a set of genes during brain development and regulates other ASD risk genes [44]. Some of the ASD risk genes regulate developmental processes in the cerebellum [13]. These include genes encoding for Reelin, ROR $\alpha$ , EN2, BDNF, neuroligins, and neurexins [8, 49].

RELN dysregulation has been observed in a subset of autistic individuals (reviewed by Ishii et al. [36, 49]). Reelin, encoded by the RELN gene (located on chromosome 7 in human and chromosome 5 in mice), is a 388 kDa extracellular matrix glycoprotein which is essential for proper neuronal migration and positioning during embryonic and perinatal development of the brain/cerebellum [8, 36]. Though the precise mechanisms of RELN's role in ASD pathogenesis is uncertain, trinucleotide repeat expansion in the RELN gene has been observed in autistic individuals [8, 49]. Persico et al. (2001) first reported that the polymorphic GGC repeats located in the 50 untranslated region (50 UTR) of the RELN are associated with ASD disorder [50]. The finding was subsequently replicated in three studies [51–53], but there were no confirmed association between the triplet repeats in the 50 UTR of the RELN and autism. The family-based association analyses revealed that many CGG repeats present in RELN alleles may cause ASD particularly in patients with speech difficulties [54].

Reelin mutations in mouse models lead to irregular cortex formation and abnormal layering which may be responsible for behavioral and neurological disorders [55]. Adulthood changes in Reelin protein level caused cognitive impairment and reduced synaptic plasticity [55–58]. Given that the genetic evidence implicates RELN in the etiopathology of ASD, it has been attempted to add biochemical evidence by measuring the Reelin level in brain tissue and blood by using Western blotting. They showed that the levels of Reelin were significantly reduced in patients with ASD [59].

Several lines of evidence indicate that genes encoding retinoic acid receptorrelated orphan receptors (RORs) are also associated with ASD. The ROR $\alpha$ , ROR $\beta$ , and RORy are nuclear receptors that regulate a range of physiological processes during brain development [60–62]. ROR $\alpha$  and ROR $\gamma$  are broadly expressed in the body. whereas ROR $\beta$  expression is more restricted to the central nervous system [62, 63]. RORα protein expression significantly decreases in the brains of ASD patients probably through epigenetic alterations [64]. Devanna and Vernes demonstrated that miR-137, a microRNA implicated in neuropsychiatric disorders, targets a number of genes associated with ASD including ROR $\alpha$  [65]. ROR $\alpha$  is a transcription factor that is critically important for development of the cerebellum [60, 61, 66]. The role of the ROR $\alpha$  in neural development has been demonstrated in mouse strain *staggerer*, which harbors a spontaneous deletion within  $ROR\alpha$  [67]. These mice have small stature and develop ataxia and hypotonia. The major neural deficit was underdevelopment of the cerebellar cortex with a pronounced deficiency in both granule and Purkinje cells [67]. Furthermore, disruption of RORα in staggerer mice shows behavioral phenotypes such as abnormal spatial learning, reduced exploration, limited maze patrolling, and perseverative behavior, which are associated with ASD [61, 62].

Engrailed 2 (EN2), a homeobox transcription factor, has been associated with normal cerebellar development, and mutations or deletions of EN2 result in reduced cerebellum volume and structural abnormalities [68, 69], which are both associated with susceptibility to ASD [70]. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) plays a key role in the development of the nervous system and modulation of neuronal activity, both of which impact complex human behaviors. Several studies have been performed to measure peripheral blood levels of BDNF in an attempt to

find a biomarker for children with ASD. Peripheral blood levels of BDNF are known to be highly correlated with brain BDNF levels [71]. Although there is no consistency in the association between BDNF levels in blood and ASD, a recent review by Xiao-Yan et al. (2016) using meta-analysis indicated that there are increased peripheral blood levels of BDNF in ASD patients [72]. Furthermore, Ca2<sup>+</sup>-dependent activator protein for secretion 2 (CADPS2) contributes to normal cerebellar development by enhancing release of BDNF and neurotrophin-3 (NT-3) [73, 74]. The CADPS family is a secretory-related protein family that regulates secretory granule exocytosis, which in vertebrates consists of two genes, CAPS1/CADPS1 and CAPS2/CADPS2. The expression level of the CAPS2 has been observed to be unusually high in some patients with ASD [38, 75].

Mutations in the methyl CpG-binding protein 2 (MECP2) gene are known to cause Rett syndrome, a disorder characterized by language impairments, motor deficiencies, and stereotypical behavior [76], which is under the umbrella of ASD. Patients with Rett syndrome frequently have cerebellar atrophy that increases with age [13] (see chapter "Epigenetics and Cerebellar Neurodevelopmental Disorders").

Tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC) is a genetic disease that causes benign tumors in the body, including the brain [77]. Mutation in the TSC1 and TSC2 genes causes TSC with a neurodevelopmental disorder that involves higher rates of ASD [77, 78]. TSC produces a protein that negatively regulates the target of the rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway to control molecular and cellular process. Tsai et al. (2012) designed a mutant mouse model in which the gene for Tsc1 is not expressed in Purkinje cells [78]. These mutant mice displayed ASD-like behaviors, such as abnormal social interaction and ultrasonic vocalization, and inflexibility. In addition, recent discovery has shown that the granule cells/Purkinje cells are important for cognitive processing in the cerebellum [79]. These studies are significant because they demonstrated a clear involvement of the cerebellum in non-motor functions as well [78].

#### **Environmental Factors**

It has been suggested that the risk of developing ASD increases with exposure to environmental factors such as teratogenic substances (e.g., thalidomide, valproate, and misoprostol), infection with viruses (e.g., influenza, rubella, and cytomegalovirus) during pregnancy, and advanced age of parents (for reviews, see references [38, 80, 81]).

Some environmental risk factors such as exposure to valproic acid during prenatal development may cause abnormalities in cerebellar development and ASD [82]. In rat, valproic acid exposure reduces the number of Purkinje cells in the cerebellum accompanied by increases in the number of apoptotic cells [83]. Cole et al. (2011) have shown changes in cerebellar gene expression in mice treated with chlorpyrifos [84]. Dermal exposure of young adult mice to chlorpyrifos causes increased glial fibrillary acidic protein expression of the cerebellum [85]. Furthermore, Purkinje cell numbers are reduced in rats prenatally exposed to chlorpyrifos [86]. Other factors

such as organophosphate pesticides and antiepileptic drugs have been shown to affect cerebellar development and potentially cause ASD [87].

Maternal fever is another environmental risk factor that affects the cerebellum and leads to apoptosis. It also interferes with neuronal maturation and may cause heat shock protein activation during cerebellum development in ASD [88–90].

Viral infections can affect cerebellar and neocortical development during preand neonatal and cause neuropathy in ASD [91, 92]. Influenza virus also has the same impact on cerebellum development such as reduced the number of Purkinje cells and interruption in migration of Purkinje and granule cells during perinatal development, which may cause deficits in working memory and behavioral impairments [93–96] (see chapter "Infections of the Cerebellum").

Functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGIDs) are disorders independent of organic or physiological conditions that are the most common causes of GI disorders in children with ASD. FGID symptoms include abdominal pain, constipation, irritable bowel syndrome, and functional dyspepsia [97]. The FGIDs are associated with impaired behaviors and sensory responses, as well as changes in sleep patterns [98]. It is suggested that inadequate brain-gut interactions may be responsible for these symptoms in ASD patients [97]. Changing the gut microbiome to treat the ASD behaviors such as anxiety and depression is a new line of study that hopes to find alternate treatments for ASD patients [99, 100].

The exposure to air pollution, which may cause immune responses, is another likely environmental risk factor for ASD [101]. The immune response results in activation of immune cells and antibody production and increases the leukocyte migration to the brain tissue by increasing diffusion through the blood-brain barrier. It is suggested that maternal immune activation at a critical time points impair cerebellar morphology and a variety of motor and non-motor behaviors [102]. The abnormal level of blood immunological markers in ASD patients is evidence of interactions between genetic/environmental factors with their immune system in these patients is shown [103, 104] (see chapter "Neuroimmune Mechanisms of Cerebellar Development and Its Developmental Disorders: Bidirectional Link Between the Immune System and Nervous System").

#### **Diagnosis of ASD**

Studies on patients with ASD using advance brain imaging, genetic, and behavioral observations improved our knowledge of ASD symptoms. As of yet there are no biomarkers for the diagnosis of ASD, and currently clinical diagnosis of these patients is based on behavioral observations combined with patient history [22, 105]. Three ASD diagnosis criteria – social reciprocity, communication, and restricted/repetitive behavior – have been published by *DSM*-IV. However, it recently has been revised by *DSM*-V and International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Edition (ICD-10), into two domains of diagnosis criteria, (1) deficits in social communication/interaction and (2) restricted and repetitive behaviors, with

evidence of persistent symptoms that cause functional impairment [105]. Murphy et al. (2016) highlighted three key issues, sleep, GI problems, and epilepsy, regarding physical health that may be important in the diagnosis of ASD patient [105]. The mental health issues are present both in adults and children with ASD, which include mood and anxiety disorders, obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and psychotic disorders. These persist from childhood to adulthood in both sexes. Additionally, ASD patients have specific cognitive anomalies, including poor planning, decision-making, timing, and motor skills, which impact their daily activities [105–107].

### The Cerebellum and ASD

Cerebellar malformations have been associated with a range of developmental impairments and behavior disorders including ASD (see review by Bolduc and Limperopoulos [31]). Motor impairment and clumsiness has been noted as an important feature in ASD [108]. It is shown that about 80% of children with ASD have motor coordination deficits, which have a positive correlation with the severity of the ASD and intellectual disabilities [109, 110]. Cerebellar motor dysfunction in ASD includes eye movement abnormalities, fine and gross motor deficits, gait, balance and coordination impairment, postural instability, and motor learning deficits [109, 111]. Motor impairments are among the earliest signs of an autistic phenotype [112]. It has been shown that motor impairments are predictive of the ASD outcome. During early movement activities, individuals, who are later diagnosed with ASD, have poor fine and gross motor skills that are accompanied by delays of language development [109, 113]. Similarly, difficulties in oral and manual motor skills in infancy can label individuals as an ASD patient, and late speech fluency is predictable [114]. In addition, early motor delays are more common in infants at risk for ASD and are related to later communication delays [115]. Therefore, the timing of language acquisition may serve as an indicator for neurodevelopmental and behavior disorders and may be a marker to diagnose people with ASD.

Emotional/behavioral disturbance and communication disorders may be associated with the motor task performance in ASD patients [116]. It has been suggested that the lack of gesture and imitation in ASD patients might be related to motor dysfunction, providing a mechanism by which cerebellar dysfunction could impact the core social communication symptoms of patient with ASD [109, 117].

### **ASD and Cerebellar Structure Abnormalities**

Cerebellar abnormalities are the most consistently reported brain structural changes in ASD, such as decreased cerebellar cortex, which is a key landmark for diagnosis in ASD brains [109, 118]. Cerebellar enlargement has been reported in ASD young children in comparison with the total brain volume and may be associated with the cerebellar white matter [26, 119, 120]. However, the growth rate declines later during development and eventually results in a smaller cerebellar volume by adulthood in ASD patients [120, 121].

By MRI, cerebellar lobules VI and VII are hyperplastic in patients with ASD, and it is suggested that these alterations may be responsible for increased stereotype and repetitive movements [122]. The language impairment in ASD may be associated with a decreased volume of the vermis and anterior lobe and abnormal left lateralization in lobule VIIIA [123, 124]. A study conducted using voxel-based morphometry suggested that structural differences such as increase and decrease in cerebellar gray and white matters are related to specific abnormalities at the different stages of cerebellar development in ASD patients [109, 125].

Neurohistological studies show changes in the anatomy of the cerebellum in patients with ASD, including a decrease in the number of Purkinje cells [126, 127], immature cerebellar development [128–130], morphological changes in the size of the cerebellar nuclei which are small and abnormal, and an increase in the number of Bergmann glia cells [131, 132]. The low density of the Purkinje cells in the cerebellum of ASD patients was observed in the vermis, Crus I–II, lobules IV–VI, and lobule X [133]. The smaller size of Purkinje cells may indicate the occurrence of an atrophic process [134]. Because of the large size, and due to numerous synapses with the parallel and climbing fibers, Purkinje cells have a high metabolic demand. Therefore they have extensive amounts of calcium storage that may cause increases in intracellular calcium, which elevates the risk of excitotoxicity and cell death [135].

It has been reported that the cortical-pontine-cerebellar-thalamic circuit is immature and abnormal both functionally and anatomically in patients with ASD [9]. It is also shown that the cerebellar input and output pathways in relation to neocortical areas are unusual in ASD patients [136, 137]. The corticopontocerebellar pathway carries inputs that originate from the primary sensory and motor cortex, posterior parietal, prefrontal, orbitofrontal, cingulate, temporal, and basal nuclei and projects to the cerebellum [138, 139]. Outputs originate from the cerebellar nuclei and through the thalamus project to the neocortex [140–142]. These circuits are specialized for cognitive and behavioral activities such as executive functions, language, and emotions. Thus, the cerebellum may be responsible for cognitive impairment, sensorimotor behavior, and social disconnection in ASD [13].

Eye gaze abnormalities during social interaction are an early diagnostic indicator in ASD patients. Gaze fixation is naturally used to fix the fovea on an image or object. The oculomotor system maintains fixation, which is supported by the nuclei of the brainstem. Therefore, inputs from the frontal eye fields and superior colliculus actively block the saccades away from the object of interest [143]. The pontine nuclei stimulate Purkinje cells in lobules VI–VII vermis cerebellum, and inhibitory outputs from the oculomotor vermis help to stop undesired eye movements and keep an image on the fovea [144] which could potentially be used as an early marker of ASD patients.

Control of upper limb movement is related to the frontoparietal cortex as well as the cerebellar cortex and its output nuclei [145]. Upper limb and manual motor deficits that are associated with atrophy of the intermediate and lateral cerebellum

involve lobules I–V as well as more lateral areas of lobules V–VI extending into Crus I-II in patients with upper limb ataxia. [146]. These loops are responsible for regulating the amplitude, duration, and timing of movements [147, 148]. Patients with ASD have difficulties coordinating grasping and reaching activities [149]. These difficulties may be caused by central defects in integrating sensory feedback information and motor output as well as deficits in neocortical-posterior cerebellar circuitry. The compromised motor learning in individuals with ASD could be related to disturbances in the anterior cerebellar lobules IV-VI and their connectivity to frontal as well as parietal regions of the cortex. These effects may damage upper limb and manual motor actions that ultimately impact the patient's ability to control motor behavior and learn new skills. Therefore, the development of more complex social motor skills in these patients is disabled. Medial and intermediate cerebellar circuits affected by insufficiency in both sensory feedback and forward control appear to cause motor impairments and difficulties in posture, gait, and walking in ASD patients [150]. The motor deficits start from infancy and extend to adolescence and adulthood [108, 151–153].

Cognitive function deficits such as attention and memory impairment, executive function, and cognitive flexibility deficits are common features in ASD [154]. The cerebellum communicates with Brodmann areas 46 and 9 of the prefrontal cortex, which are involved in cognitive functions, memory, planning, decision-making, and cognitive flexibility [155–157]. The cerebellum to prefrontal cortex pathway could affect cognitive functions directly or perhaps indirectly through the ventral tegmental area, which contains dopaminergic neurons that project and terminate in the prefrontal cortex [158]. Notably, the function of the prefrontal cortex dopaminergic pathway is associated with attention selection, cognitive flexibility, and memory [157]. A maldevelopment of connectivity in connection of the cerebellum to this higher-order circuit may explain the cognitive involvement of the cerebellum in patients with ASD.

#### **Assessment and Treatment**

There is very limited accurate and practical information to assess, diagnose, and manage ASD conditions. Therefore, because the number of ASD patients has rapidly increased during past decade, there is an urgent need to improve knowledge and develop assessment tools and treatment of ASD patients [105].

ASD diagnosis can be difficult because of a large amount of heterogeneity, varying presentation, and variability in symptoms [159]. There are no biomarkers to diagnose ASD; therefore behavioral presentation of the patients is used for diagnosis [160]. The gold standard for clinical diagnosis in these patients is based on current diagnostic classification systems and proceeding very careful assessment practices. These assessments include physical examination, hearing test, observation of children's behavior, and a structured parent interview that covers the patient's full developmental history [160]. Currently, the best practice to diagnose ASD patients is a step-by-step strategy that is recommended by the American Psychological Association [161]. This diagnostic strategy starts with child's parent/ caregiver concern and followed by a formal diagnostic assessment conducted by a pediatrician or/and appropriate referrals. The formal diagnostic assessment includes medical and functional evaluation such as everyday verbal and nonverbal skills and level of ability as well as analyze/assess of behaviors based on developmental aspect [162]. However, because of differences in cognitive function, age, language level, and the source of information, diagnosis of ASD is very difficult [159].

Children who are diagnosed with ASD need to be reevaluated continuously during preschool years to identify their weakness, inabilities, and difficulties [159]. There are also some diagnostic instruments for ASD such as the Autism Diagnostic Observational Schedule – Generic (ADOS-G) [163], which assesses communication, play, and creative use of materials and possibilities for children who may have ASD. The best Screening Tool for ASD in Toddlers and Young Children (STAT) [164] is structured to identify children between 24 and 36 months of age with ASD. One of the measures of early communication in children 8–24 months is the Communication and Symbolic Behavior Scales (CSBS) [165]. Additionally for the parent interview, there is a clinical diagnostic instrument named the Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (ADI-R) that is addressing early development, communication/language, social interactions/interests, and restricted and repetitive behaviors [166]. The Social Communication Questionnaire (SCQ) is an appropriate method to get information from parents [167].

Usually an assessment starts with medical evaluation which will be conducted by physicians and, if the ASD suspected, referring the patient for diagnostic assessment as well as considering the pediatrician as an alternative referral. When diagnosis is confirmed, treatment planning should involve the professional health team [159].

#### Summary

Many genetic and environmental factors may cause ASD. The mechanisms are unknown, but presumably genetic and environmental factors affect normal brain development and, consequently, lead to functional disorders in patients with ASD.

There is mounting evidence that developmental abnormalities in the cerebellum may underlie the pathogenetic mechanisms that are associated with the ASD phenotype. Cerebellar developmental disorders that are associated with ASD pathogenesis show deficits in motor coordination, balance, motor memory, and higher-order dysfunctions including speech and attention regulation.

The major goal of management in ASD patients is early diagnosis for behavioral and medical interventions to enhance the functional ability of these children. The new approach involving brain-gut-microbiome interactions may provide a biomarker associated with GI disorders that could be helpful in the early diagnosis of these patients. Because the number of ASD patients is increasing, studies are needed to develop assessment tools and treatment, increase public awareness, and develop strategy for health care of patients with ASD.

### References

- 1. Millon T. On the history and future study of personality and its disorders. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2012;8:1–19. PubMed PMID: 22035244.
- Tonge BJ, Dissanayake C, Brereton AV. Autism: fifty years on from Kanner. J Paediatr Child Health. 1994;30(2):102–7. PubMed PMID: 8198840.
- Volkmar FR, McPartland JC. From Kanner to DSM-5: autism as an evolving diagnostic concept. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2014;10:193–212. PubMed PMID: 24329180.
- 4. Olmsted D, Blaxill M. Leo Kanner's mention of 1938 in his report on autism refers to his first patient. J Autism Dev Disord. 2016;46(1):340–1. PubMed PMID: 26231203.
- Barahona-Correa JB, Filipe CN. A concise history of Asperger syndrome: the short reign of a troublesome diagnosis. Front Psychol. 2015;6:2024. PubMed PMID: 26834663. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4725185.
- Won H, Mah W, Kim E. Autism spectrum disorder causes, mechanisms, and treatments: focus on neuronal synapses. Front Mol Neurosci. 2013;6:19. PubMed PMID: 23935565. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3733014.
- Hampson DR, Blatt GJ. Autism spectrum disorders and neuropathology of the cerebellum. Front Neurosci. 2015;9:420. PubMed PMID: 26594141. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4635214.
- Fatemi SH, Aldinger KA, Ashwood P, Bauman ML, Blaha CD, Blatt GJ, et al. Consensus paper: pathological role of the cerebellum in autism. Cerebellum. 2012;11(3):777–807. PubMed PMID: 22370873. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3677555.
- Mosconi MW, Wang Z, Schmitt LM, Tsai P, Sweeney JA. The role of cerebellar circuitry alterations in the pathophysiology of autism spectrum disorders. Front Neurosci. 2015;9:296. PubMed PMID: 26388713. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4555040.
- Hagmeyer S, Mangus K, Boeckers TM, Grabrucker AM. Effects of trace metal profiles characteristic for autism on synapses in cultured neurons. Neural Plast. 2015;2015:985083. PubMed PMID: 25802764. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4352758.
- Ismail MM, Keynton RS, Mostapha MM, ElTanboly AH, Casanova MF, Gimel'farb GL, et al. Studying autism spectrum disorder with structural and diffusion magnetic resonance imaging: a survey. Front Hum Neurosci. 2016;10:211. PubMed PMID: 27242476. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4862981.
- 12. Vuong HE, Hsiao EY. Emerging roles for the gut microbiome in autism spectrum disorder. Biol Psychiatry. 2016;81:411–23. PubMed PMID:27773355.
- Rogers TD, McKimm E, Dickson PE, Goldowitz D, Blaha CD, Mittleman G. Is autism a disease of the cerebellum? Integr Clin Pre-Clin Res Front Syst Neurosci. 2013;7:15. PubMed PMID: 23717269. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3650713.
- Wallace GL, Dankner N, Kenworthy L, Giedd JN, Martin A. Age-related temporal and parietal cortical thinning in autism spectrum disorders. Brain J Neurol. 2010;133(Pt 12):3745–54. PubMed PMID: 20926367. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2995883.
- Lainhart JE, Piven J, Wzorek M, Landa R, Santangelo SL, Coon H, et al. Macrocephaly in children and adults with autism. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1997;36(2):282–90. PubMed PMID: 9031582.
- Herbert MR, Ziegler DA, Deutsch CK, O'Brien LM, Kennedy DN, Filipek PA, et al. Brain asymmetries in autism and developmental language disorder: a nested whole-brain analysis. Brain J Neurol. 2005;128(Pt 1):213–26. PubMed PMID: 15563515.
- Schumann CM, Bloss CS, Barnes CC, Wideman GM, Carper RA, Akshoomoff N, et al. Longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study of cortical development through early childhood in autism. J Neurosci: Off J Soc Neurosci. 2010;30(12):4419–27. PubMed PMID: 20335478. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2859218.
- Wolff JJ, Gu H, Gerig G, Elison JT, Styner M, Gouttard S, et al. Differences in white matter fiber tract development present from 6 to 24 months in infants with autism. Am J Psychiatry. 2012;169(6):589–600. PubMed PMID: 22362397. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3377782.

- Courchesne E, Mouton PR, Calhoun ME, Semendeferi K, Ahrens-Barbeau C, Hallet MJ, et al. Neuron number and size in prefrontal cortex of children with autism. JAMA. 2011;306(18):2001–10. PubMed PMID: 22068992.
- Sudarov A. Defining the role of cerebellar Purkinje cells in autism spectrum disorders. Cerebellum. 2013;12(6):950–5. PubMed PMID: 23703312. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3795842.
- Taylor MJ, Doesburg SM, Pang EW. Neuromagnetic vistas into typical and atypical development of frontal lobe functions. Front Hum Neurosci. 2014;8:453. PubMed PMID: 24994980. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4061489.
- Ecker C, Bookheimer SY, Murphy DG. Neuroimaging in autism spectrum disorder: brain structure and function across the lifespan. Lancet Neurol. 2015;14(11):1121–34. PubMed PMID: 25891007.
- D'Mello AM, Stoodley CJ. Cerebro-cerebellar circuits in autism spectrum disorder. Front Neurosci. 2015;9:408. PubMed PMID: 26594140. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4633503.
- Basson MA, Wingate RJ. Congenital hypoplasia of the cerebellum: developmental causes and behavioral consequences. Front Neuroanat. 2013;7:29. PubMed PMID: 24027500. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3759752.
- Palmen SJ, van Engeland H, Hof PR, Schmitz C. Neuropathological findings in autism. Brain J Neurol. 2004;127(Pt 12):2572–83. PubMed PMID: 15329353.
- Amaral DG, Schumann CM, Nordahl CW. Neuroanatomy of autism. Trends Neurosci. 2008;31(3):137–45. PubMed PMID: 18258309.
- Whitney ER, Kemper TL, Bauman ML, Rosene DL, Blatt GJ. Cerebellar Purkinje cells are reduced in a subpopulation of autistic brains: a stereological experiment using calbindin-D28k. Cerebellum. 2008;7(3):406–16. PubMed PMID: 18587625.
- Geschwind DH, Levitt P. Autism spectrum disorders: developmental disconnection syndromes. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2007;17(1):103–11. PubMed PMID: 17275283.
- Dolen G, Sahin M. Editorial: essential pathways and circuits of autism pathogenesis. Front Neurosci. 2016;10:182. PubMed PMID: 27199644. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4844597.
- ten Donkelaar HJ, Lammens M, Wesseling P, Thijssen HO, Renier WO. Development and developmental disorders of the human cerebellum. J Neurol. 2003;250(9):1025–36. PubMed PMID: 14504962.
- Bolduc ME, Limperopoulos C. Neurodevelopmental outcomes in children with cerebellar malformations: a systematic review. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2009;51(4):256–67. PubMed PMID: 19191827.
- Limperopoulos C. Autism spectrum disorders in survivors of extreme prematurity. Clin Perinatol. 2009;36(4):791–805. vi. PubMed PMID: 19944836.
- Wang SS, Kloth AD, Badura A. The cerebellum, sensitive periods, and autism. Neuron. 2014;83(3):518–32. PubMed PMID: 25102558. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4135479.
- Bolduc ME, Du Plessis AJ, Sullivan N, Khwaja OS, Zhang X, Barnes K, et al. Spectrum of neurodevelopmental disabilities in children with cerebellar malformations. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2011;53(5):409–16. PubMed PMID: 21418200.
- Geschwind DH, State MW. Gene hunting in autism spectrum disorder: on the path to precision medicine. Lancet Neurol. 2015;14(11):1109–20. PubMed PMID: 25891009. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4694565.
- Ishii K, Kubo KI, Nakajima K. Reelin and neuropsychiatric disorders. Front Cell Neurosci. 2016;10:229. PubMed PMID: 27803648. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5067484.
- Barnard RA, Pomaville MB, O'Roak BJ. Mutations and modeling of the chromatin remodeler CHD8 define an emerging autism etiology. Front Neurosci. 2015;9:477. PubMed PMID: 26733790. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4681771.
- 38. Sadakata T, Shinoda Y, Sato A, Iguchi H, Ishii C, Matsuo M, et al. Mouse models of mutations and variations in autism spectrum disorder-associated genes: mice expressing Caps2/ Cadps2 copy number and alternative splicing variants. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2013;10(12):6335–53. PubMed PMID: 24287856. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3881117.

- Roppongi RT, Karimi B, Siddiqui TJ. Role of LRRTMs in synapse development and plasticity. Neurosci Res. 2016;116:18–28. PubMed PMID: 27810425.
- Sudhof TC. Neuroligins and neurexins link synaptic function to cognitive disease. Nature. 2008;455(7215):903–11. PubMed PMID: 18923512. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2673233.
- Sala C, Vicidomini C, Bigi I, Mossa A, Verpelli C. Shank synaptic scaffold proteins: keys to understanding the pathogenesis of autism and other synaptic disorders. J Neurochem. 2015;135(5):849–58. PubMed PMID: 26338675.
- Baig DN, Yanagawa T, Tabuchi K. Distortion of the normal function of synaptic cell adhesion molecules by genetic variants as a risk for autism spectrum disorders. Brain Res Bull. 2017;129:82–90. PubMed PMID: 27743928.
- Li X, Zou H, Brown WT. Genes associated with autism spectrum disorder. Brain Res Bull. 2012;88(6):543–52. PubMed PMID: 22688012.
- 44. Cotney J, Muhle RA, Sanders SJ, Liu L, Willsey AJ, Niu W, et al. The autism-associated chromatin modifier CHD8 regulates other autism risk genes during human neurodevelopment. Nat Commun. 2015;6:6404. PubMed PMID: 25752243. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4355952.
- 45. Willsey AJ, Sanders SJ, Li M, Dong S, Tebbenkamp AT, Muhle RA, et al. Coexpression networks implicate human midfetal deep cortical projection neurons in the pathogenesis of autism. Cell. 2013;155(5):997–1007. PubMed PMID: 24267886. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3995413.
- 46. Sakamoto I, Kishida S, Fukui A, Kishida M, Yamamoto H, Hino S, et al. A novel betacatenin-binding protein inhibits beta-catenin-dependent Tcf activation and axis formation. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(42):32871–8. PubMed PMID: 10921920.
- 47. O'Roak BJ, Vives L, Girirajan S, Karakoc E, Krumm N, Coe BP, et al. Sporadic autism exomes reveal a highly interconnected protein network of de novo mutations. Nature. 2012;485(7397):246–50. PubMed PMID: 22495309. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3350576.
- Hormozdiari F, Penn O, Borenstein E, Eichler EE. The discovery of integrated gene networks for autism and related disorders. Genome Res. 2015;25(1):142–54. PubMed PMID: 25378250. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4317170.
- 49. Fatemi SH. The role of Reelin in pathology of autism. Mol Psychiatry. 2002;7(9):919–20. PubMed PMID: 12399938.
- Persico AM, D'Agruma L, Maiorano N, Totaro A, Militerni R, Bravaccio C, et al. Reelin gene alleles and haplotypes as a factor predisposing to autistic disorder. Mol Psychiatry. 2001;6(2):150–9. PubMed PMID: 11317216.
- Zhang H, Liu X, Zhang C, Mundo E, Macciardi F, Grayson DR, et al. Reelin gene alleles and susceptibility to autism spectrum disorders. Mol Psychiatry. 2002;7(9):1012–7. PubMed PMID: 12399956.
- Skaar DA, Shao Y, Haines JL, Stenger JE, Jaworski J, Martin ER, et al. Analysis of the RELN gene as a genetic risk factor for autism. Mol Psychiatry. 2005;10(6):563–71. PubMed PMID: 15558079.
- 53. Dutta S, Guhathakurta S, Sinha S, Chatterjee A, Ahmed S, Ghosh S, et al. Reelin gene polymorphisms in the Indian population: a possible paternal 5'UTR-CGG-repeat-allele effect on autism. Am J Med Genet Part B Neuropsychiatr Genet: Off Publ Int Soc Psychiatr Genet. 2007;144B(1):106–12. PubMed PMID: 16941662.
- 54. Chudley AE. Genetic landmarks through philately autism spectrum disorders: a genetic update. Clin Genet. 2004;65(5):352–7. PubMed PMID: 15099341.
- Fatemi SH, Stary JM, Halt AR, Realmuto GR. Dysregulation of Reelin and Bcl-2 proteins in autistic cerebellum. J Autism Dev Disord. 2001;31(6):529–35. PubMed PMID: 11814262.
- Adams JM, Cory S. The Bcl-2 protein family: arbiters of cell survival. Science. 1998;281(5381):1322–6. PubMed PMID: 9735050.
- 57. de Bergeyck V, Nakajima K, Lambert de Rouvroit C, Naerhuyzen B, Goffinet AM, Miyata T, et al. A truncated Reelin protein is produced but not secreted in the 'Orleans' reeler mutation (Reln[rl-Orl]). Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 1997;50(1–2):85–90. PubMed PMID: 9406921.

- Lacor PN, Grayson DR, Auta J, Sugaya I, Costa E, Guidotti A. Reelin secretion from glutamatergic neurons in culture is independent from neurotransmitter regulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(7):3556–61. PubMed PMID: 10725375. Pubmed Central PMCID: 16278.
- Fatemi SH, Stary JM, Egan EA. Reduced blood levels of reelin as a vulnerability factor in pathophysiology of autistic disorder. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2002;22(2):139–52. PubMed PMID: 12363196.
- Boukhtouche F, Brugg B, Wehrle R, Bois-Joyeux B, Danan JL, Dusart I, et al. Induction of early Purkinje cell dendritic differentiation by thyroid hormone requires RORalpha. Neural Dev. 2010;5:18. PubMed PMID: 20663205. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2918593.
- Hamilton BA, Frankel WN, Kerrebrock AW, Hawkins TL, FitzHugh W, Kusumi K, et al. Disruption of the nuclear hormone receptor RORalpha in staggerer mice. Nature. 1996;379(6567):736–9. PubMed PMID: 8602221.
- 62. Wang Y, Billon C, Walker JK, Burris TP. Therapeutic effect of a synthetic RORalpha/gamma agonist in an animal model of autism. ACS Chem Neurosci. 2016;7(2):143–8. PubMed PMID: 26625251. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4759619.
- 63. Huh JR, Leung MW, Huang P, Ryan DA, Krout MR, Malapaka RR, et al. Digoxin and its derivatives suppress TH17 cell differentiation by antagonizing RORgammat activity. Nature. 2011;472(7344):486–90. PubMed PMID: 21441909. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3172133.
- 64. Nguyen A, Rauch TA, Pfeifer GP, Hu VW. Global methylation profiling of lymphoblastoid cell lines reveals epigenetic contributions to autism spectrum disorders and a novel autism candidate gene, RORA, whose protein product is reduced in autistic brain. FASEB J: Off Publ Fed Am Soc Exp Biol. 2010;24(8):3036–51. PubMed PMID: 20375269. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2909294.
- 65. Devanna P, Vernes SC. A direct molecular link between the autism candidate gene RORa and the schizophrenia candidate MIR137. Sci Rep. 2014;4:3994. PubMed PMID: 24500708. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3915307.
- 66. Boukhtouche F, Doulazmi M, Frederic F, Dusart I, Brugg B, Mariani J. RORalpha, a pivotal nuclear receptor for Purkinje neuron survival and differentiation: from development to ageing. Cerebellum. 2006;5(2):97–104. PubMed PMID: 16818384.
- Gold DA, Gent PM, Hamilton BA. ROR alpha in genetic control of cerebellum development: 50 staggering years. Brain Res. 2007;1140:19–25. PubMed PMID: 16427031.
- Liu A, Losos K, Joyner AL. FGF8 can activate Gbx2 and transform regions of the rostral mouse brain into a hindbrain fate. Development. 1999;126(21):4827–38. PubMed PMID: 10518499.
- 69. Kuemerle B, Gulden F, Cherosky N, Williams E, Herrup K. The mouse Engrailed genes: a window into autism. Behav Brain Res. 2007;176(1):121–32. PubMed PMID: 17055592. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2791532.
- Benayed R, Choi J, Matteson PG, Gharani N, Kamdar S, Brzustowicz LM, et al. Autismassociated haplotype affects the regulation of the homeobox gene, ENGRAILED 2. Biol Psychiatry. 2009;66(10):911–7. PubMed PMID: 19615670. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2783416.
- Fernandes BS, Berk M, Turck CW, Steiner J, Goncalves CA. Decreased peripheral brainderived neurotrophic factor levels are a biomarker of disease activity in major psychiatric disorders: a comparative meta-analysis. Mol Psychiatry. 2014;19(7):750–1. PubMed PMID: 24342989.
- 72. Qin XY, Feng JC, Cao C, Wu HT, Loh YP, Cheng Y. Association of peripheral blood levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor with autism spectrum disorder in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr. 2016;170(11):1079–86. PubMed PMID: 27654278.
- 73. Sato A, Sekine Y, Saruta C, Nishibe H, Morita N, Sato Y, et al. Cerebellar development transcriptome database (CDT-DB): profiling of spatio-temporal gene expression during the postnatal development of mouse cerebellum. Neural Netw: Off J Int Neural Netw Soc. 2008;21(8):1056–69. PubMed PMID: 18603407.

- 74. Sadakata T, Furuichi T. Developmentally regulated Ca2+-dependent activator protein for secretion 2 (CAPS2) is involved in BDNF secretion and is associated with autism susceptibility. Cerebellum. 2009;8(3):312-22. PubMed PMID: 19238500.
- Sadakata T, Washida M, Iwayama Y, Shoji S, Sato Y, Ohkura T, et al. Autistic-like phenotypes in Cadps2-knockout mice and aberrant CADPS2 splicing in autistic patients. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(4):931–43. PubMed PMID: 17380209. Pubmed Central PMCID: 1821065.
- Amir RE, Van den Veyver IB, Wan M, Tran CQ, Francke U, Zoghbi HY. Rett syndrome is caused by mutations in X-linked MECP2, encoding methyl-CpG-binding protein 2. Nat Genet. 1999;23(2):185–8. PubMed PMID: 10508514.
- 77. Ertan G, Arulrajah S, Tekes A, Jordan L, Huisman TA. Cerebellar abnormality in children and young adults with tuberous sclerosis complex: MR and diffusion weighted imaging findings. J Neuroradiol J Neuroradiol. 2010;37(4):231–8. PubMed PMID: 20381146.
- Tsai PT, Hull C, Chu Y, Greene-Colozzi E, Sadowski AR, Leech JM, et al. Autisticlike behaviour and cerebellar dysfunction in Purkinje cell Tsc1 mutant mice. Nature. 2012;488(7413):647–51. PubMed PMID: 22763451. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3615424.
- Wagner MJ, Kim TH, Savall J, Schnitzer MJ, Luo L. Cerebellar granule cells encode the expectation of reward. Nature. 2017;544:96–100. PubMed PMID: 28321129.
- Folstein SE, Rosen-Sheidley B. Genetics of autism: complex aetiology for a heterogeneous disorder. Nat Rev Genet. 2001;2(12):943–55. PubMed PMID: 11733747.
- Grabrucker AM. Environmental factors in autism. Front Psych. 2012;3:118. PubMed PMID: 23346059. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3548163.
- Cheh MA, Millonig JH, Roselli LM, Ming X, Jacobsen E, Kamdar S, et al. En2 knockout mice display neurobehavioral and neurochemical alterations relevant to autism spectrum disorder. Brain Res. 2006;1116(1):166–76. PubMed PMID: 16935268.
- Lee MH, Kim M, Lee BH, Kim JH, Kang KS, Kim HL, et al. Subchronic effects of valproic acid on gene expression profiles for lipid metabolism in mouse liver. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2008;226(3):271–84. PubMed PMID: 17963808.
- Cole TB, Fisher JC, Burbacher TM, Costa LG, Furlong CE. Neurobehavioral assessment of mice following repeated postnatal exposure to chlorpyrifos-oxon. Neurotoxicol Teratol. 2012;34(3):311–22. PubMed PMID: 22425525. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3367041.
- Krishnan K, Mitra NK, Yee LS, Yang HM. A comparison of neurotoxicity in cerebellum produced by dermal application of chlorpyrifos in young and adult mice. J Neural Transm. 2012;119(3):345–52. PubMed PMID: 21922192.
- 86. Abou-Donia MB, Khan WA, Dechkovskaia AM, Goldstein LB, Bullman SL, Abdel-Rahman A. In utero exposure to nicotine and chlorpyrifos alone, and in combination produces persistent sensorimotor deficits and Purkinje neuron loss in the cerebellum of adult offspring rats. Arch Toxicol. 2006;80(9):620–31. PubMed PMID: 16482470.
- Moore SJ, Turnpenny P, Quinn A, Glover S, Lloyd DJ, Montgomery T, et al. A clinical study of 57 children with fetal anticonvulsant syndromes. J Med Genet. 2000;37(7):489–97. PubMed PMID: 10882750. Pubmed Central PMCID: 1734633.
- Khan VR, Brown IR. The effect of hyperthermia on the induction of cell death in brain, testis, and thymus of the adult and developing rat. Cell Stress Chaperones. 2002;7(1):73–90. PubMed PMID: 11892990. Pubmed Central PMCID: 514805.
- Maroni P, Bendinelli P, Tiberio L, Rovetta F, Piccoletti R, Schiaffonati L. In vivo heat-shock response in the brain: signalling pathway and transcription factor activation. Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 2003;119(1):90–9. PubMed PMID: 14597233.
- 90. Dean SL, Wright CL, Hoffman JF, Wang M, Alger BE, McCarthy MM. Prostaglandin E2 stimulates estradiol synthesis in the cerebellum postnatally with associated effects on Purkinje neuron dendritic arbor and electrophysiological properties. Endocrinology. 2012;153(11):5415–27. PubMed PMID: 23054057. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3473195.
- Johnson RT. Effects of viral infection on the developing nervous system. N Engl J Med. 1972;287(12):599–604. PubMed PMID: 4560094.
- 92. Atladottir HO, Thorsen P, Ostergaard L, Schendel DE, Lemcke S, Abdallah M, et al. Maternal infection requiring hospitalization during pregnancy and autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord. 2010;40(12):1423–30. PubMed PMID: 20414802.

- 93. Shi L, Fatemi SH, Sidwell RW, Patterson PH. Maternal influenza infection causes marked behavioral and pharmacological changes in the offspring. J Neurosci: Off J Soc Neurosci. 2003;23(1):297–302. PubMed PMID: 12514227.
- Beraki S, Aronsson F, Karlsson H, Ogren SO, Kristensson K. Influenza A virus infection causes alterations in expression of synaptic regulatory genes combined with changes in cognitive and emotional behaviors in mice. Mol Psychiatry. 2005;10(3):299–308. PubMed PMID: 15241434.
- Asp L, Beraki S, Kristensson K, Ogren SO, Karlsson H. Neonatal infection with neurotropic influenza A virus affects working memory and expression of type III Nrg1 in adult mice. Brain Behav Immun. 2009;23(6):733–41. PubMed PMID: 19362585.
- Shi L, Smith SE, Malkova N, Tse D, Su Y, Patterson PH. Activation of the maternal immune system alters cerebellar development in the offspring. Brain Behav Immun. 2009;23(1):116– 23. PubMed PMID: 18755264. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2614890.
- Luna RA, Savidge TC, Williams KC. The brain-gut-microbiome axis: what role does it play in autism spectrum disorder? Curr Dev Disord Rep. 2016;3(1):75–81. PubMed PMID: 27398286. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4933016.
- Mazurek MO, Vasa RA, Kalb LG, Kanne SM, Rosenberg D, Keefer A, et al. Anxiety, sensory over-responsivity, and gastrointestinal problems in children with autism spectrum disorders. J Abnorm Child Psychol. 2013;41(1):165–76. PubMed PMID: 22850932.
- 99. Messaoudi M, Lalonde R, Violle N, Javelot H, Desor D, Nejdi A, et al. Assessment of psychotropic-like properties of a probiotic formulation (Lactobacillus helveticus R0052 and Bifidobacterium longum R0175) in rats and human subjects. Br J Nutr. 2011;105(5):755–64. PubMed PMID: 20974015.
- 100. Bravo JA, Forsythe P, Chew MV, Escaravage E, Savignac HM, Dinan TG, et al. Ingestion of Lactobacillus strain regulates emotional behavior and central GABA receptor expression in a mouse via the vagus nerve. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(38):16050–5. PubMed PMID: 21876150. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3179073.
- 101. Flores-Pajot MC, Ofner M, Do MT, Lavigne E, Villeneuve PJ. Childhood autism spectrum disorders and exposure to nitrogen dioxide, and particulate matter air pollution: a review and meta-analysis. Environ Res. 2016;151:763–76. PubMed PMID: 27609410.
- 102. Aavani T, Rana SA, Hawkes R, Pittman QJ. Maternal immune activation produces cerebellar hyperplasia and alterations in motor and social behaviors in male and female mice. Cerebellum. 2015;14(5):491–505. PubMed PMID: 25863812.
- 103. Gottfried C, Bambini-Junior V, Francis F, Riesgo R, Savino W. The impact of neuroimmune alterations in autism spectrum disorder. Front Psych. 2015;6:121. PubMed PMID: 26441683. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4563148.
- Verkhratsky A, Rodriguez JJ, Parpura V. Neuroglia in ageing and disease. Cell Tissue Res. 2014;357(2):493–503. PubMed PMID: 24652503.
- 105. Murphy CM, Wilson CE, Robertson DM, Ecker C, Daly EM, Hammond N, et al. Autism spectrum disorder in adults: diagnosis, management, and health services development. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2016;12:1669–86. PubMed PMID: 27462160. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4940003.
- 106. Johnston K, Dittner A, Bramham J, Murphy C, Knight A, Russell A. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder symptoms in adults with autism spectrum disorders. Autism Res: Off J Int Soc Autism Res. 2013;6(4):225–36. PubMed PMID: 23788522.
- 107. Russell AJ, Murphy CM, Wilson E, Gillan N, Brown C, Robertson DM, et al. The mental health of individuals referred for assessment of autism spectrum disorder in adulthood: a clinic report. Autism Int J Res Pract. 2016;20(5):623–7. PubMed PMID: 26471427.
- Fournier KA, Hass CJ, Naik SK, Lodha N, Cauraugh JH. Motor coordination in autism spectrum disorders: a synthesis and meta-analysis. J Autism Dev Disord. 2010;40(10):1227–40. PubMed PMID: 20195737.
- Becker EB, Stoodley CJ. Autism spectrum disorder and the cerebellum. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2013;113:1–34. PubMed PMID: 24290381.
- 110. Hilton CL, Zhang Y, Whilte MR, Klohr CL, Constantino J. Motor impairment in sibling pairs concordant and discordant for autism spectrum disorders. Autism Int J Res Pract. 2012;16(4):430–41. PubMed PMID: 22013131. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4222044.

- 111. Gowen E, Hamilton A. Motor abilities in autism: a review using a computational context. J Autism Dev Disord. 2013;43(2):323–44. PubMed PMID: 22723127.
- 112. Zwaigenbaum L, Bryson S, Garon N. Early identification of autism spectrum disorders. Behav Brain Res. 2013;251:133–46. PubMed PMID: 23588272.
- Landa R, Garrett-Mayer E. Development in infants with autism spectrum disorders: a prospective study. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2006;47(6):629–38. PubMed PMID: 16712640.
- 114. Gernsbacher MA, Sauer EA, Geye HM, Schweigert EK, Hill GH. Infant and toddler oraland manual-motor skills predict later speech fluency in autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2008;49(1):43–50. PubMed PMID: 17979963. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4123528.
- 115. Bhat AN, Galloway JC, Landa RJ. Relation between early motor delay and later communication delay in infants at risk for autism. Infant Behav Dev. 2012;35(4):838–46. PubMed PMID: 22982285. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3538350.
- 116. Papadopoulos N, McGinley J, Tonge B, Bradshaw J, Saunders K, Murphy A, et al. Motor proficiency and emotional/behavioural disturbance in autism and Asperger's disorder: another piece of the neurological puzzle? Autism Int J Res Pract. 2012;16(6):627–40. PubMed PMID: 21949004.
- 117. Jones V, Prior M. Motor imitation abilities and neurological signs in autistic children. J Autism Dev Disord. 1985;15(1):37–46. PubMed PMID: 3980428.
- 118. Ecker C, Rocha-Rego V, Johnston P, Mourao-Miranda J, Marquand A, Daly EM, et al. Investigating the predictive value of whole-brain structural MR scans in autism: a pattern classification approach. NeuroImage. 2010;49(1):44–56. PubMed PMID: 19683584.
- 119. Stanfield AC, McIntosh AM, Spencer MD, Philip R, Gaur S, Lawrie SM. Towards a neuroanatomy of autism: a systematic review and meta-analysis of structural magnetic resonance imaging studies. Eur Psychiatry J Assoc Eur Psychiatr. 2008;23(4):289–99. PubMed PMID: 17765485.
- 120. Courchesne E, Karns CM, Davis HR, Ziccardi R, Carper RA, Tigue ZD, et al. Unusual brain growth patterns in early life in patients with autistic disorder: an MRI study. Neurology. 2001;57(2):245–54. PubMed PMID: 11468308.
- 121. Hallahan B, Daly EM, McAlonan G, Loth E, Toal F, O'Brien F, et al. Brain morphometry volume in autistic spectrum disorder: a magnetic resonance imaging study of adults. Psychol Med. 2009;39(2):337–46. PubMed PMID: 18775096.
- 122. Courchesne E, Campbell K, Solso S. Brain growth across the life span in autism: age-specific changes in anatomical pathology. Brain Res. 2011;1380:138–45. PubMed PMID: 20920490. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4500507.
- 123. Murakami JW, Courchesne E, Press GA, Yeung-Courchesne R, Hesselink JR. Reduced cerebellar hemisphere size and its relationship to vermal hypoplasia in autism. Arch Neurol. 1989;46(6):689–94. PubMed PMID: 2730382.
- 124. Hodge SM, Makris N, Kennedy DN, Caviness VS Jr, Howard J, McGrath L, et al. Cerebellum, language, and cognition in autism and specific language impairment. J Autism Dev Disord. 2010;40(3):300–16. PubMed PMID: 19924522. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3771698.
- 125. Cheung C, Chua SE, Cheung V, Khong PL, Tai KS, Wong TK, et al. White matter fractional anisotrophy differences and correlates of diagnostic symptoms in autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2009;50(9):1102–12. PubMed PMID: 19490309.
- 126. Bauman M, Kemper TL. Histoanatomic observations of the brain in early infantile autism. Neurology. 1985;35(6):866–74. PubMed PMID: 4000488.
- 127. Whitney ER, Kemper TL, Rosene DL, Bauman ML, Blatt GJ. Density of cerebellar basket and stellate cells in autism: evidence for a late developmental loss of Purkinje cells. J Neurosci Res. 2009;87(10):2245–54. PubMed PMID: 19301429. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2760265.
- 128. Courchesne E. Brainstem, cerebellar and limbic neuroanatomical abnormalities in autism. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 1997;7(2):269–78. PubMed PMID: 9142760.
- 129. Nicot A, Lelievre V, Tam J, Waschek JA, DiCicco-Bloom E. Pituitary adenylate cyclaseactivating polypeptide and sonic hedgehog interact to control cerebellar granule precursor cell proliferation. J Neurosci: Off J Soc Neurosci. 2002;22(21):9244–54. PubMed PMID: 12417650.

- DiCicco-Bloom E, Lord C, Zwaigenbaum L, Courchesne E, Dager SR, Schmitz C, et al. The developmental neurobiology of autism spectrum disorder. J Neurosci: Off J Soc Neurosci. 2006;26(26):6897–906. PubMed PMID: 16807320.
- Vargas DL, Nascimbene C, Krishnan C, Zimmerman AW, Pardo CA. Neuroglial activation and neuroinflammation in the brain of patients with autism. Ann Neurol. 2005;57(1):67–81. PubMed PMID: 15546155.
- 132. Bauman ML, Kemper TL. Neuroanatomic observations of the brain in autism: a review and future directions. Int J Dev Neurosci: Off J Int Soc Dev Neurosci. 2005;23(2–3):183–7. PubMed PMID: 15749244.
- 133. Skefos J, Cummings C, Enzer K, Holiday J, Weed K, Levy E, et al. Regional alterations in Purkinje cell density in patients with autism. PLoS One. 2014;9(2):e81255. PubMed PMID: 24586223. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3933333.
- 134. Fatemi SH, Halt AR, Realmuto G, Earle J, Kist DA, Thuras P, et al. Purkinje cell size is reduced in cerebellum of patients with autism. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2002;22(2):171–5. PubMed PMID: 12363198.
- Vajda S, Vakser IA, Sternberg MJ, Janin J. Modeling of protein interactions in genomes. Proteins. 2002;47(4):444–6. PubMed PMID: 12001222.
- 136. Catani M, Jones DK, Daly E, Embiricos N, Deeley Q, Pugliese L, et al. Altered cerebellar feedback projections in Asperger syndrome. NeuroImage. 2008;41(4):1184–91. PubMed PMID: 18495494.
- 137. Shukla DK, Keehn B, Lincoln AJ, Muller RA. White matter compromise of callosal and subcortical fiber tracts in children with autism spectrum disorder: a diffusion tensor imaging study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2010;49(12):1269–78. 78 e1-2. PubMed PMID: 21093776. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3346956.
- 138. Dum RP, Strick PL. An unfolded map of the cerebellar dentate nucleus and its projections to the cerebral cortex. J Neurophysiol. 2003;89(1):634–9. PubMed PMID: 12522208.
- 139. Eccles JC, Sasaki K, Strata P. Interpretation of the potential fields generated in the cerebellar cortex by a mossy fibre volley. Exp Brain Res. 1967;3(1):58–80. PubMed PMID: 6031000.
- 140. Percheron G, Francois C, Talbi B, Yelnik J, Fenelon G. The primate motor thalamus. Brain Res Brain Res Rev. 1996;22(2):93–181. PubMed PMID: 8883918.
- 141. Leiner HC, Leiner AL, Dow RS. The human cerebro-cerebellar system: its computing, cognitive, and language skills. Behav Brain Res. 1991;44(2):113–28. PubMed PMID: 1751002.
- 142. Leiner HC, Leiner AL, Dow RS. Cognitive and language functions of the human cerebellum. Trends Neurosci. 1993;16(11):444–7. PubMed PMID: 7507614.
- 143. Zuber BL, Stark L, Cook G. Microsaccades and the velocity-amplitude relationship for saccadic eye movements. Science. 1965;150(3702):1459–60. PubMed PMID: 5855207.
- 144. Kase M, Miller DC, Noda H. Discharges of Purkinje cells and mossy fibres in the cerebellar vermis of the monkey during saccadic eye movements and fixation. J Physiol. 1980;300:539– 55. PubMed PMID: 6770085. Pubmed Central PMCID: 1279371.
- 145. Grodd W, Hulsmann E, Lotze M, Wildgruber D, Erb M. Sensorimotor mapping of the human cerebellum: fMRI evidence of somatotopic organization. Hum Brain Mapp. 2001;13(2):55– 73. PubMed PMID: 11346886.
- 146. Vaillancourt DE, Mayka MA, Corcos DM. Intermittent visuomotor processing in the human cerebellum, parietal cortex, and premotor cortex. J Neurophysiol. 2006;95(2):922–31. PubMed PMID: 16267114. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2366036.
- 147. Spraker MB, Corcos DM, Kurani AS, Prodoehl J, Swinnen SP, Vaillancourt DE. Specific cerebellar regions are related to force amplitude and rate of force development. NeuroImage. 2012;59(2):1647–56. PubMed PMID: 21963915. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3230677.
- 148. Neely KA, Coombes SA, Planetta PJ, Vaillancourt DE. Segregated and overlapping neural circuits exist for the production of static and dynamic precision grip force. Hum Brain Mapp. 2013;34(3):698–712. PubMed PMID: 22109998. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3292669.
- 149. Brisson J, Warreyn P, Serres J, Foussier S, Adrien-Louis J. Motor anticipation failure in infants with autism: a retrospective analysis of feeding situations. Autism Int J Res Pract. 2012;16(4):420–9. PubMed PMID: 22250193.

- Cheng Y, Chou KH, Chen IY, Fan YT, Decety J, Lin CP. Atypical development of white matter microstructure in adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. NeuroImage. 2010;50(3):873– 82. PubMed PMID: 20074650.
- 151. Provost B, Lopez BR, Heimerl S. A comparison of motor delays in young children: autism spectrum disorder, developmental delay, and developmental concerns. J Autism Dev Disord. 2007;37(2):321–8. PubMed PMID: 16868847.
- 152. Brian J, Bryson SE, Garon N, Roberts W, Smith IM, Szatmari P, et al. Clinical assessment of autism in high-risk 18-month-olds. Autism Int J Res Pract. 2008;12(5):433–56. PubMed PMID: 18805941.
- 153. Van Waelvelde H, Oostra A, Dewitte G, Van Den Broeck C, Jongmans MJ. Stability of motor problems in young children with or at risk of autism spectrum disorders, ADHD, and or developmental coordination disorder. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2010;52(8):e174–8. PubMed PMID: 20132135.
- 154. Solomon M, Ozonoff SJ, Cummings N, Carter CS. Cognitive control in autism spectrum disorders. Int J Dev Neurosci: Off J Int Soc Dev Neurosci. 2008;26(2):239–47. PubMed PMID: 18093787. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2695998.
- 155. Middleton FA, Strick PL. Basal ganglia output and cognition: evidence from anatomical, behavioral, and clinical studies. Brain Cogn. 2000;42(2):183–200. PubMed PMID: 10744919.
- 156. Schmahmann JD. From movement to thought: anatomic substrates of the cerebellar contribution to cognitive processing. Hum Brain Mapp. 1996;4(3):174–98. PubMed PMID: 20408197.
- 157. Robbins TW, Roberts AC. Differential regulation of fronto-executive function by the monoamines and acetylcholine. Cereb Cortex. 2007;17(Suppl 1):i151–60. PubMed PMID: 17725997.
- Fallon JH, Riley JN, Moore RY. Substantia nigra dopamine neurons: separate populations project to neostriatum and allocortex. Neurosci Lett. 1978;7(2–3):157–62. PubMed PMID: 19605105.
- 159. Huerta M, Lord C. Diagnostic evaluation of autism spectrum disorders. Pediatr Clin N Am. 2012;59(1):103–11. xi. PubMed PMID: 22284796. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3269006.
- 160. Taylor LJ, Eapen V, Maybery MT, Midford S, Paynter J, Quarmby L, et al. Diagnostic evaluation for autism spectrum disorder: a survey of health professionals in Australia. BMJ Open. 2016;6(9):e012517. PubMed PMID: 27601502. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5020660.
- 161. Filipek PA, Accardo PJ, Ashwal S, Baranek GT, Cook EH Jr, Dawson G, et al. Practice parameter: screening and diagnosis of autism: report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology and the Child Neurology Society. Neurology. 2000;55(4):468–79. PubMed PMID: 10953176.
- 162. Zwaigenbaum L, Bauman ML, Choueiri R, Kasari C, Carter A, Granpeesheh D, et al. Early intervention for children with autism spectrum disorder under 3 years of age: recommendations for practice and research. Pediatrics. 2015;136(Suppl 1):S60–81. PubMed PMID: 26430170.
- 163. Lord C, Risi S, Lambrecht L, Cook EH Jr, Leventhal BL, DiLavore PC, et al. The autism diagnostic observation schedule-generic: a standard measure of social and communication deficits associated with the spectrum of autism. J Autism Dev Disord. 2000;30(3):205–23. PubMed PMID: 11055457.
- 164. Stone WL, Coonrod EE, Ousley OY. Brief report: screening tool for autism in two-yearolds (STAT): development and preliminary data. J Autism Dev Disord. 2000;30(6):607–12. PubMed PMID: 11261472.
- 165. Wetherby AM, Allen L, Cleary J, Kublin K, Goldstein H. Validity and reliability of the communication and symbolic behavior scales developmental profile with very young children. J Speech Lang Hear Res: JSLHR. 2002;45(6):1202–18. PubMed PMID: 12546488.
- 166. Kim SH, Lord C. Restricted and repetitive behaviors in toddlers and preschoolers with autism spectrum disorders based on the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (ADOS). Autism Res: Off J Int Soc Autism Res. 2010;3(4):162–73. PubMed PMID: 20589716. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3005305.
- 167. Listhaus AD, Freeman WR. Fluorescein angiography in patients with posterior uveitis. Int Ophthalmol Clin. 1990;30(4):297–308. PubMed PMID: 2228479.

# **Clinical Aspects of the Inherited Cerebellar Malformations**

Asghar Marzban, Mohammad Vafaee-shahi, and Kamran Azarkhish

Abstract Inherited cerebellar malformations cause lifelong disability and are not well studied in the newborns because there is a lack of appropriate clinical examination tools. Recently, inherited cerebellar malformations have been investigated using emerging advanced neuroimaging technology such as MRI, which revealed many cerebellar developmental disorders. These malformations cause impairments that involve motor and non-motor functions. Cerebellar hypoplasia, Dandy–Walker syndrome, Joubert syndrome, pontocerebellar hypoplasia, and rhombencephalosynapsis are examples of cerebellar malformations. In this chapter we will focus on cerebellar malformations that have been reported using characteristic symptoms and signs. The current approach for evaluation of the affected patients, differential diagnosis, and management will be discussed.

**Keywords** Cerebellar imaging • Cerebellar disorder • Cerebellar hypoplasia • Dandy–Walker syndrome • Joubert syndrome • Pontocerebellar hypoplasia • Rhombencephalosynapsis

## Introduction

The cerebellum cytostructure is discussed in chapter "The Embryology and Anatomy of the Cerebellum." Cerebellar development begins during an early embryonic stage with a complicated developmental process that continues well into the first year after birth in humans. Recent advances in neonatal intensive care,

A. Marzban (🖂)

Department of Pediatrics, Ayatollah Mousavi Hospital, Zanjan University of Medical Sciences, Zanjan, Iran e-mail: drmarzban@zums.ac.ir

M. Vafaee-shahi Department of Pediatrics, Hazrat – E – Rasool Hospital, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

K. Azarkhish Department of Radiology, Valiasr Hospital, Zanjan University of Medical Sciences, Zanjan, Iran

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017 H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_19 neuroimaging techniques such as positron emission tomography (PET), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and functional MRI (fMRI) have improved our ability to understand the structural and functional anomalies that implicate cerebellar involvement in numerous motor and non-motor functions, ranging from motor/sensory integration and working memory to various higher-order cognitive processes [1-4]. Despite the advanced technology, understanding cerebellar malformations in children requires additional research regarding their prognosis, and they have lifelong consequences. Because of a lack of appropriate treatment, up to 80% of parents choose to terminate pregnancy after a prenatal diagnosis of a cerebellar malformation [1, 5]. The prolonged developmental process in the cerebellum makes it more vulnerable to perturbation caused by genetic factors, environmental insults, or a combination of both that occurs during development. Cerebellar abnormalities range from subtle impairments including cognition to significant structural defects with life-threatening or lifelong disabilities. Before the introduction of MRI, Dandy-Walker variants were a term used to characterize several types of cerebellar malformations.

Cerebellar dysfunction disturbs the regulation of muscle tone, motor control, and coordination of movement, which is called ataxia—a broad term that refers to a disturbance in the smooth performance of the motor activities. The non-motor dysfunction that results from cerebellar manifestations includes cognitive affective syndrome that includes impairment in executive function, spatial cognition, personality changes, and language deficits [6–9]. Cerebellar structural and functional abnormalities have been reported in psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, depression, anxiety disorders, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and autism [10–15].

The specific constellation of symptoms is sometimes useful for localizing the cerebellar lesion, but often there is considerable overlap. Because of a complex developmental process during cerebellum formation, clinical classification of cerebellar neurodevelopmental disorder is difficult; however, a classification has been suggested that is based on embryological and genetic considerations [16].

Cerebellar malformations can either be primary or secondary. In the latter group, the cerebellar defects are secondary to a developmental disorder in structures around the cerebellum such as Chiari malformation or vein of Galen malformation. Chiari malformations (Fig. 1) are posterior cranial fossa defects that range from herniation of the cerebellar tonsils through the foramen magnum to complete agenesis of the cerebellum. Chiari malformations are classified into four types (I–IV), with type IV being the most severe malformations [17]. The interruption of the surrounding mesodermal development causes congenital hypoplasia of the posterior cranial fossa, and therefore part of the cerebellum herniates through the foramen magnum. Other conditions sometimes associated with Chiari-type I malformation include hydrocephalus, bone abnormalities such as craniosynostosis (especially lambdoid craniosynostosis), hyperostosis (craniometaphyseal dysplasia), and X-linked vitamin D-resistant rickets, syringomyelia, spinal curvature, tethered spinal cord, and connective tissue disorders such as Ehlers–Danlos syndrome and Marfan syndrome [18–21]. Because of familial clustering in some cases of Chiari-



**Fig. 1** Chiari malformation type I. (**a**, **b**) Sagittal and coronal T2-weighted brain images. There is slight inferior herniation of cerebellar tonsils through the foramen magnum that is less than 5 mm, and it shows benign tonsillar ectopia that could be a mild variant of Chiari malformation. (**c**, **d**) Axial and sagittal T2-weighted MRI of the brainstem and cervical spinal cord. Note the presence of a large syrinx in association with tonsillar ectopia in Chiari malformation type I

type I malformation, a genetic susceptibility such as gene mutations in chromosomes 9 and 15 has been suggested [22]. In Chiari malformation type II, both cerebellar vermis and tonsil herniation accompany a lumbar or lumbosacral myelomeningocele [23, 24]. The hypoplasia in Chiari-type IV malformation corresponds to primary cerebellar agenesis [25, 26].

Another example is the vein of Galen malformation that results from the presence of one or more arteriovenous fistulas, which constitute up to 30% of intracranial vascular malformations presenting among pediatric patients [27, 28]. The left-to-right cardiac shunt causes a noncyanotic flow condition with resultant heart failure and accompanying macrocephaly. In patients with vein of Galen malformation, the superior cerebellar arteries also discharge into the vein of Galen [29]. It is reasonable to assume that the dilated vein causes direct compression of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) flow, increased intracranial pressure, and caudal displacement of the cerebellar tonsils [30], which leads to cerebellar signs and symptoms. In this chapter, we summarize primary cerebellar malformations and discuss current treatment in these patients. Based on our clinical experience and available knowledge, there is no appropriate treatment and most of the patients will be managed conservatively (see chapter "Clinical Features, Assessment, and Management of Patients with Developmental and Other Cerebellar Disorders"). Treatment depends on the specific symptoms and requires a team of specialists including neonatologists, pediatricians, neurologists, and therapists. It is important to refer families of affected children for genetic counseling. In this chapter, we include selected primary cerebellar malformations such as the cerebellar hypoplasia, Dandy–Walker malformation (DWM), Joubert syndrome (JS), and the related diseases pontocerebellar hypoplasia (PCH), rhombencephalosynapsis (RES), lissencephaly, cerebellar dysplasia, and dysplastic cerebellar gangliocytoma or Lhermitte–Duclos disease (LDD).

### **Cerebellar Hypoplasia**

The cerebellar primordium emerges at approximately 28 days postfertilization in humans (embryonic day 7–8 in the mouse) as a neuroepithelial swelling of the rostral lip of the fourth ventricle, which is part of the alar plate of the metencephalon (rhombomere-1) [31-33]. Therefore, any developmental dysregulation that targets the rhombomere-1 causes failure to specify the anterior hindbrain and results in cerebellar aplasia/hypoplasia because of defects in dorsal patterning mechanisms [34-36]. Cerebellar hypoplasia is a heterogeneous group of disorders that was first reported by Crouzon in 1929.

The causes of the cerebellar hypoplasia are broad and include chromosomal aberrations (such as trisomy 9, 13, and 18), metabolic disorders [37], teratogens (drugs and infections; see chapter "Teratogenic Influences on Cerebellar Development"), or isolated genetic cerebellar hypoplasia (such as reelin receptor, very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) [38], dyskerin pseudouridine synthase 1 (DKC1) [39], oligophrenin 1 (OPHN1) [40], pancreas-specific transcription factor 1a (PTF1A) [41], and carbohydrate-deficient glycoprotein syndrome types I and II (CDG1 and 2) [42, 43]). Similar to most developmental anomalies, cerebellar hypoplasia may be associated with other brain malformations and there may be multi-organ involvement. Patel (2002) suggested a classification in which cerebellar hypoplasia is divided into focal hypoplasia (e.g., isolated vermis or hemisphere hypoplasia) and generalized hypoplasia with and without an enlarged fourth ventricle [44, 45].

Clinically, ataxia and poor motor learning are the most common presentations and are nonprogressive compared with atrophic cerebellar disorders [46]. In infancy, hypotonia and global developmental delay are present earlier, and other signs include ocular motor disorders, dysarthria, intention tremor, and microcephaly. Behavioral abnormalities, intellectual disability, and speech and language disorders can vary from mild to severe impairment [26].

#### Management

It is important to consider that ataxia or other neurological signs in cerebellar hypoplastic patients usually do not worsen over time compared with atrophic cerebellar disorder. There is no standard course of treatment. The principal treatment is supportive including physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy, psychiatric/behavioral medications, and special education.

#### **Dandy–Walker Malformation**

The fundamental structure that is affected in DWM is the cerebellum [47–49]. DWM is a genetic disorder, with the most common and severe type being the Dandy–Walker syndrome malformation [47]. The zinc finger protein of the cerebellum 1 (ZIC1) and zinc finger protein of the cerebellum 4 (ZIC4) genes on 3q24 [50] and FOXCI are candidate genes, and DWM results when they are deleted [51]. It is suggested that Zic1 and Zic4 are required for the full responsiveness of granule cell precursors (GCPs) to sonic hedgehog (SHH), but the role of the Foxc1 is not understood [36].

DWM is characterized by partial or complete agenesis of the vermis, upward rotation of the vermis, and an enlarged posterior cranial fossa [1, 36, 52, 53]. It is also characterized by cystic dilation of the fourth ventricle into the posterior cranial fossa. Enlargement of the posterior cranial fossa causes an abnormally high tentorium above the internal occipital protuberance and transverse occipital sulcus (location of transverse sinus) and also a variable degree of hydrocephalus [1, 54]. During cerebellar development, the right and left cerebellar primordia are fused at the midline. Any misregulation in this developmental process leads to a lack of cerebellar fusion at the midline. The lack of midline fusion causes the extension of membranous area/roof plate anteriorly, resulting in a large fourth ventricle. Cerebrospinal fluid pulsations cause roof plate expansion posteriorly within the posterior fossa, forming a large posterior cyst that represents the fourth ventricle [55].

Clinically, DWM can be defined via the characteristic triad consisting of the following: (1) complete or partial agenesis of the vermis, (2) cystic dilatation of the fourth ventricle, and (3) an enlarged posterior cranial fossa with upward displacement of the transverse sinuses [56, 57]. If hydrocephalous is present, it suggests a common developmental disorder in which multiple brain regions are affected [58].

The signs and symptoms associated with DWM are broad. DWM patients often have hypotonia, delayed motor development, ataxia, lack of coordination, jerky movements of the eyes, and progressive enlargement of the skull. Some patients may have normal cognition, whereas others have mild to severe mental retardation, even when hydrocephalus is effectively treated. The enlarged head circumference, which may bulge at the back of the skull, can increase pressure on the brain stem and nerves and can cause difficulties in controlling face and neck and abnormal



**Fig. 2** Dandy–Walker malformation. (a) Sagittal  $T_2$ -weighted brain image. There is hypoplasia of the inferior vermis. A connection between the cisterna magna and the fourth ventricle is seen. (b) Axial  $T_1$ -weighted brain image. This image shows isolated inferior vermian hypoplasia and cerebellar hemispheres that appear normal. This is referred to as part of the Dandy–Walker variant

breathing patterns. Sagittal and axial MRI (Fig. 2) can distinguish DWM from other cerebellar malformations. In DWM, it is important to consider mega cisterna magna, retro-cerebellar cysts, and Blake's pouch cyst [55, 59]. It should be noted that in addition to the lack of the middle part of the cerebellum, the midline structures in the forebrain such as the corpus callosum may be absent. Systemic malformations associated with DWM may include cardiac anomalies, urogenital anomalies, and other abnormalities may occur collectively in about half of the patients [60–63].

#### Management

If there is hydrocephalous, treatment could include shunting and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) drainage from the lateral ventricles and/or posterior fossa cyst, which is currently considered the surgical treatment of choice [49]. Treatment also consists of physiotherapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy, and specialized education. Although diagnosis of DWS during intrauterine development is difficult, if an ultrasound suggests DWS, then amniocentesis should be performed to aid in the diagnosis [64]. It is important that the families of affected children be referred for genetic counseling.

#### Joubert Syndrome and Related Disorders

JS was first identified by Marie Joubert in Montreal, Canada [65]. JS is a group of autosomal recessive conditions that are characterized by developmental anomalies, which are caused by defects in the structure or function of the primary cilium [66, 67].

JS consists of midbrain-hindbrain malformation, which causes a developmental delay, motor disability, hypotonia, ataxia, abnormal eye movements, and neonatal breathing abnormalities. One of the gold standards for JS diagnosis is the molar tooth sign (MTS) observed on a plain MRI (Fig. 3). When other organs, such as the retina, kidneys, and liver, are involved, it is called JS and related disorders (JSRDs), and these patients also have the MTS [66]. JSRDs are the most common inherited congenital cerebellar malformation.

Ciliopathy is a fundamental mechanism in JSRD. The primary cilia are important in neuronal development and function as cellular antenna that are found in nearly all cell types. The function of cilia in cells includes protein trafficking, photoreception, embryonic axis patterning, and cell cycle regulation. Therefore, dysfunction of this microtubule-based extension of cellular membranes can affect a single tissue or manifest as having multi-organ involvement, which is called ciliopathy [68]. Within the developing cerebellum, primary cilia have been shown to be essential for reception of the cell signaling ligand sonic hedgehog, which in turn is essential for proliferation of cerebellar neurons such as granule cells [69, 70].

The causative gene of many ciliopathies in individuals with JSRD has defined a new class of neurological diseases [68]. To date, over 16 causative genes have been associated with JSRD and all encode proteins in the primary cilium or its apparatus [66]. For example, mutations in genes such as AHII, INPP5E, CC2D2A, and ARL13B cause JS with MTS and retinal blindness [71]. However, mutations in TMEM216 and RPGRIPIL genes lead to MTS and renal involvement. In more severe cases, mutations in the CEP290 gene causes MTS together with retinal and renal involvement, while mutations in TMEM67 are the most common cause of MTS with liver involvement [72].

Clinically, JSRD patients have hypotonia, ataxia, dysregulated breathing rhythms (that result from dysfunction of the respiratory centers in the brainstem or cerebellum



**Fig. 3** Joubert syndrome and related disorders. (**a**) Coronal  $T_2$  FLAIR brain image. The cerebellar vermis is aplastic and superior cerebellar peduncles are elongated. (**b**) Axial  $T_2$  FLAIR brain image. This image shows a deep interpeduncular fossa, elongated superior cerebellar peduncles with cerebellar vermis hypoplasia, which are characteristic of the molar tooth sign in Joubert syndrome

[73]), abnormal eye and tongue movements, and subsequent mental retardation. As mentioned above, the key MRI finding in JSRD is MTS, which is the result of cerebellar vermis hypoplasia, and is accompanied by thick superior cerebellar peduncles with deep interpeduncular fossa. Because ciliopathy interrupts a broad range of developmental process, a defect could be seen in other organs such as kidney, retina, and liver, and there were also facial abnormalities (cleft lip or palate, tongue abnormalities) and polydactyly (extra fingers and toes) [74–76].

In mild JSRD, ataxic movement lessens with age and the ability to walk is delayed to age 4–5 years. Some neonates have died as a result of apnea, and therefore it is important to monitor neonates with JSRD during the first year of life. These patients should be periodically examined for any non-neurological signs and symptoms.

#### Management

The treatment is symptomatic and supportive such as physical therapy, occupational therapy, and speech therapy. Infants with abnormal breathing patterns should be monitored closely for apnea, and this may be required during the first year of life. In this case, caffeine may be helpful to promote respiratory drive. Because of the heterogeneity of these conditions, genetic testing will show specific gene mutations, which can help predict the range of organ involvement such as the retina, kidney, and liver [52].

### Pontocerebellar Hypoplasia Type

PCH is a group of autosomal recessive neurodevelopmental and neurodegenerative disorders with hypoplasia of the cerebellum and ventral pons, followed by atrophy. It is also characterized by variable cerebral involvement such as microcephaly, seizures, and a severe delay in cognitive and motor development, which in many cases is fatal early in life [77–79].

Ten different subtypes have been reported based on clinical and genetic features (i.e., PCH1-10) [80], and they are summarized in Table 1. Mutations in the following genes cause PCH because of molecular malfunctions that are important for normal development of the neurons and nonneuronal cells. Mutations in the VRK1 gene on chromosome 14q32.2 cause PCH IA (or spinal muscular atrophy with pontocerebellar hypoplasia; SMA-PCH), in which there is spinal cord anterior horn cell degeneration [81, 82]. Mutations in the EXOSC3 gene on chromosome 9p13.2 lead to PCH1B [83]. Mutations in three genes, TSEN2, TSEN34, and TSEN54, encoding three of four subunits of the tRNA splicing endonuclease complex have been found to underlie PCH2, PCH4, and PCH5 [77]. PCH2 is characterized by cerebelar hypoplasia in which the hemispheres are more severely affected than the vermis,

#### Table 1 Types of PCH

Gene	Chromosome	PCH types
VRK1	14q32.2	PCH IA
EXOSC3	9p13.2	PCH1B
TSEN34	17q25.1	PCH2A
TSEN2	3p25.2	PCH2B
TSEN34	19q13.42	PCH2C
SEPSECS	4p15.2	PCH2D
VPS53	17p13.3	PCH2E
TSEN15	1q25	PCH2F
PCLO	7q21	PCH3
TSEN54	17q25.1	PCH4
TSEN54	17q25.1	PCH5
RARS2	6q15	PCH6
?	?	PCH7
CHMP1A	16q24	PCH8
AMPD2	1p13	PCH9
CLP1	11p12	PCH10

and in contrast to PCH I, there is no anterior horn cell degeneration in the spinal cord. These patients have other signs and symptoms such as progressive cerebral atrophy, microcephaly, dyskinesia, and seizures [77, 78]. Gene mutations affect PCH1-10, as follows: mutations in TSEN54 on chromosome 17q25.1 cause PCH2A; mutations inTSEN2 on chromosome 3p25.2 cause PCH2B; mutations in TSEN34 on chromosome 19q13.42 cause PCH2C; mutations in SEPSECS on chromosome 4p15.2 cause PCH2D (as known as progressive cerebello-cerebral atrophy; PCCA); mutations in VPS53 on chromosome 17p13.3 cause PCH2E; and mutations in TSEN15 on chromosome 1q25 cause PCH2F [84-86]. PCH3 is caused by a mutation in the PCLO gene on chromosome 7q21 [87], and PCH4 is caused by a mutation in the TSEN54 gene on chromosome 17q25.1 [84]. A mutation in the TSEN54 gene on chromosome 17q25 causes PCH5, and a mutation in the gene encoding mitochondrial arginyl-tRNA synthetase (RARS2) on chromosome 6q15 causes PCH6 [88]. The gene involved in PCH7 is unknown [89, 90]. PCH8 is caused by a mutation in the CHMP1A gene on chromosome 16q24 [91]. A mutation in the AMPD2 gene on chromosome 1p13 causes PCH9 [92] and a mutation in CLP1 on chromosome 11p12 causes PCH10 [93]. Finally, loss of function of SLC25A46 causes lethal congenital pontocerebellar hypoplasia [94].

Clinically, PCH patients have hypotonia and difficulty with coordination of sucking and swallowing and problems handling their oral and respiratory secretions [95]. There are no criteria to distinguish precisely between the different subtypes based on clinical signs and symptoms, and therefore genetic testing is important. The cerebellum and pontine hypoplasia can be revealed by MRI in which the cerebellar hemispheres may be more severely affected than the midline vermis (Fig. 4).


**Fig. 4** Pontocerebellar hypoplasia. (a) Sagittal  $T_2$ -weighted brain images. Sagittal image: the pons is very small but has a relative sparring bulging in its superior part. Vermis hypoplasia predominates at the inferior site. (b) Coronal  $T_2$ -weighted brain images. Cerebellar hemispheric hypoplasia with vermis relatively spared leading to classic dragonfly image

# Management

Treatment is symptomatic and requires the teamwork of health-care professionals. Patients with PCH need a gastrostomy tube and airway control, and they may not survive beyond 1 year of age. There is no known cure for PCH. It is important to refer families of affected children for genetic counseling.

# Rhombencephalosynapsis

RES is a neurodevelopmental malformation that is characterized by midline fusion of the two cerebellar hemispheres, which is caused by failure of the midline structure development in the rhombencephalon. It is suggested that disruption of dorsoventral patterning of the rhombencephalon may cause RES [96]. RES is rare condition with unknown etiology, and the most specific and key MRI finding is agenesis or hypogenesis of the vermis, in which the cerebellar vermis is completely or partially absent with a fused cerebellar hemisphere and midline dentate nucleus [96]. RES may be associated with other cerebellar abnormalities, such as Purkinje cell heterotopias [97]. RES can be seen as an isolated cerebellar disorder or together with other developmental malformations in the nervous system or other organs. Although RES is seen most frequently in isolated form, it is a highly consistent finding in Gomez-Lopez-Hernandez syndrome (GLHS). GLHS is also known as cerebellotrigeminal-dermal dysplasia (a neurocutaneous disorder). Isolated RES malformation should be distinguished from cerebellotrigeminal-dermal dysplasia, which presents with parietal/temporal alopecia (lack of hair), trigeminal anesthesia (loss of sensation in the face), midface hypoplasia with towering skull shape, corneal opacities, mental retardation, and short stature. RES is also associated with midline brain structural defects including absent olfactory bulbs, dysgenesis of the corpus callosum, absent septum pellucidum, and in rare patients, atypical forms of holoprosencephaly [96]. RES has also been reported in vertebral anomalies, anal atresia, cardiovascular anomalies, trachea–esophageal fistula, renal anomalies, limb defects (VACTERL) association, and hydrocephalus [26, 97–100].

Ishak et al. [96] proposed four groups based on the severity of cerebellar vermis defect: (1) mild, in which the nodulus, anterior, and posterior vermis are partially absent; (2) moderate, where there is a lack of posterior vermis with some anterior vermis but the nodulus is present; (3) severe, which is a lack of posterior and anterior vermis with the nodulus partially absent; and (4) complete, where there is a lack of the entire vermis [96]. They also divided RES-affected patients into four clinical categories using the following criteria: (1) RES in patients with GLHS, (2) RES plus at least one of the VACTERL features without scalp alopecia, (3) RES plus a focal or diffuse forebrain midline fusion defect without alopecia, and (4) RES in patients with malformations that do not fit into the categories 1–3 (with abnormal head shape, midface hypoplasia, low-set and/or posteriorly rotated ears, telecanthus, and/ or hypertelorism).

Clinically, signs and symptoms in patients with the isolated form of RES are variable including developmental delay, in which motor learning and skills develop between 3 and 6 years of age, hypotonia, and ataxia [101].

#### Management

Treatment for RES infants is generally supportive and includes physical therapy and occupational therapy. If hydrocephalus is present in patients with RES and it is symptomatic, this can be an indication for surgical intervention with a ventriculos-tomy or ventricular shunt. It is important to refer families of affected children for genetic counseling.

#### Lissencephaly and Cerebellar Dysplasia

Lissencephaly with cerebellar hypoplasia is a neurodevelopmental malformation in which cellular migration is severely impaired. The cerebellum in patients with lissencephaly is underdeveloped with prominent vermis hypoplasia or aplasia [102–105]. Mutations in the gene encoding reelin (RELN), which is mapped on chromosome 7q22, cause lissencephaly with severe abnormalities of the cerebellum, hippocampus, and brainstem. Reelin is a large extracellular matrix-associated protein [106] that is involved in migration of neurons through binding to its receptors (very low density lipoprotein receptor [VLDLR]), the apolipoprotein E receptor 2 (ApoER2; [107–109]), and also  $\alpha \beta\beta$ 1 integrin and protocadherins [110]. In a mouse model of lissencephaly, mutations in RELN and DAB1 prominently cause

neuronal migration defects in the brain with accompanying cerebellar hypoplasia, and there is also abnormal circuitry development [111, 112]. Mutations in reelin show abnormal developmental disorders outside the brain as well such as neuro-muscular connectivity and congenital lymphedema [104]. It is also reported that mutations in  $\alpha$ -dystroglycan may result in lissencephaly and central nervous system developmental malformations [113].

Clinically, the important approach is magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) from the cerebellum, which shows severe vermis and cerebellar hypoplasia and cerebellar peduncle malformation.

#### Management

Treatment of patients who have lissencephaly with cerebellar hypoplasia is supportive care and treatment of symptoms. In case of difficulties with feeding, a gastrostomy tube may be considered. If seizures are present, anti-seizure medications are administered, and in the case of hydrocephalus, shunting is performed. It is important to refer families of affected children for genetic counseling.

# Dysplastic Cerebellar Gangliocytoma or Lhermitte–Duclos Disease

The first case of the LDD was reported by Lhermitte and Duclos in 1920 as a cerebellar ganglion cell tumor or dysplastic cerebellar gangliocytoma [114, 115]. LDD is a rare developmental disorder of the cerebellum and features both malformation and benign neoplasm. Most patients with LDD appear to have mutations in the phosphatase and tensin homologue (PTEN) gene [115-117]. Most frequently, LDD occurs in young adults in the third and fourth decades of life [118, 119]. Because LDD presents in previously healthy children with features of a unilateral cerebellar mass, the main considerations are the posterior fossa tumor and secondary hydrocephalus. LDD is not diagnosed as medulloblastoma in most patients because of differences in the age group, medical history, and unique imaging features. Neuroimaging with MRI is sufficient and important in the diagnostic process. Longstanding unilateral space-occupying skull lesions in the posterior fossa leads to thinning of the skull in the occipital region [120, 121]. Histopathological findings show dysplastic gangliocytoma of the cerebellum in front of a hamartoma lesion with widening of the molecular layer occupied by abnormal ganglion cells, absence of the Purkinje cell layer, and hypertrophy of the granular layer [122].

Clinically, patients with LDD present with headache, nausea, cerebellar signs, hydrocephalus, and increased intracranial pressure. Patients may have symptoms for many years, such as cranial nerve palsies and cerebellar symptoms, because of

the slowly progressive nature of this disease [120]. LDD patients may show mental retardation. LLD is commonly associated with other congenital malformations such as familial hamartoma-neoplasia syndrome and Cowden's disease (CD), an inherited cancer/hamartoma syndrome involving the breast, thyroid gland, and other organs [123].

#### Management

Decompressive surgery for symptomatic patients is the accepted choice of treatment. The risk of performing surgery is the lack of clear tumor margins. Symptomatic and supportive treatments such as physical therapy and occupational therapy should be offered.

#### Summary

In this chapter, we summarized cerebellar malformations and current treatment. Treatment is in response to symptoms and requires a team of specialists, health-care professionals, and genetic counselors. Based on available knowledge and our experience, there is no curative treatment and most of the patients are managed using conservative approaches.

## References

- Bolduc ME, Limperopoulos C. Neurodevelopmental outcomes in children with cerebellar malformations: a systematic review. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2009;51(4):256–67.
- 2. Allen G, et al. Attentional activation of the cerebellum independent of motor involvement. Science. 1997;275(5308):1940–3.
- Middleton FA, Strick PL. Anatomical evidence for cerebellar and basal ganglia involvement in higher cognitive function. Science. 1994;266(5184):458–61.
- 4. Leiner HC, Leiner AL, Dow RS. The human cerebro-cerebellar system: its computing, cognitive, and language skills. Behav Brain Res. 1991;44(2):113–28.
- 5. Hutchinson S, et al. Cerebellar volume of musicians. Cereb Cortex. 2003;13(9):943-9.
- Bhatia MS, Saha R, Gautam P. Cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome: a case report. Prim Care Companion CNS Disord. 2016;18(2). doi:10.4088/PCC.15101851
- 7. Schmahmann JD, Sherman JC. The cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome. Brain. 1998;121(Pt 4):561–79.
- Chang C, Siao SW. Cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome: attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder episode of adolescent with cerebellar atrophy in a psychiatric ward. Kaohsiung J Med Sci. 2016;32(1):52–4.
- 9. Marien P, et al. Developmental coordination disorder: disruption of the cerebello-cerebral network evidenced by SPECT. Cerebellum. 2010;9(3):405–10.

- Marko MK, et al. Behavioural and neural basis of anomalous motor learning in children with autism. Brain. 2015;138(Pt 3):784–97.
- 11. Salman MS, Tsai P. The role of the pediatric cerebellum in motor functions, cognition, and behavior: a clinical perspective. Neuroimaging Clin N Am. 2016;26(3):317–29.
- Mothersill O, Knee-Zaska C, Donohoe G. Emotion and theory of mind in schizophreniainvestigating the role of the cerebellum. Cerebellum. 2016;15(3):357–68.
- 13. Minichino A, et al. The role of cerebellum in unipolar and bipolar depression: a review of the main neurobiological findings. Riv Psichiatr. 2014;49(3):124–31.
- 14. Schutter DJ. A cerebellar framework for predictive coding and homeostatic regulation in depressive disorder. Cerebellum. 2016;15(1):30–3.
- 15. Phillips JR, et al. The cerebellum and psychiatric disorders. Front Public Health. 2015;3:66.
- Barkovich AJ, Millen KJ, Dobyns WB. A developmental and genetic classification for midbrain-hindbrain malformations. Brain. 2009;132(Pt 12):3199–230.
- 17. Abd-El-Barr MM, Strong CI, Groff MW. Chiari malformations: diagnosis, treatments and failures. J Neurosurg Sci. 2014;58(4):215–21.
- 18. Tubbs RS, et al. The pediatric Chiari I malformation: a review. Childs Nerv Syst. 2007;23(11):1239–50.
- Marin-Padilla M, Marin-Padilla TM. Morphogenesis of experimentally induced Arnold-Chiari malformation. J Neurol Sci. 1981;50(1):29–55.
- 20. Wang J, et al. Acquired Chiari malformation and syringomyelia secondary to space-occupying lesions: a systematic review. World Neurosurg. 2016.
- Fisahn C, et al. The Chiari 3.5 malformation: a review of the only reported case. Childs Nerv Syst. 2016;32(12):2317–9.
- 22. Boyles AL, et al. Phenotypic definition of Chiari type I malformation coupled with highdensity SNP genome screen shows significant evidence for linkage to regions on chromosomes 9 and 15. Am J Med Genet A. 2006;140(24):2776–85.
- Victorio MC, Khoury CK. Headache and Chiari I malformation in children and adolescents. Semin Pediatr Neurol. 2016;23(1):35–9.
- 24. Ejarque I, et al. Arnold-Chiari malformation in Noonan syndrome and other syndromes of the RAS/MAPK pathway. Rev Neurol. 2015;60(9):408–12.
- Yu F, et al. A new case of complete primary cerebellar agenesis: clinical and imaging findings in a living patient. Brain. 2015;138(Pt 6):e353.
- Poretti A, Boltshauser E, Doherty D. Cerebellar hypoplasia: differential diagnosis and diagnostic approach. Am J Med Genet C: Semin Med Genet. 2014;166C(2):211–26.
- Wilkins RH. Natural history of intracranial vascular malformations: a review. Neurosurgery. 1985;16(3):421–30.
- Raybaud CA, Strother CM, Hald JK. Aneurysms of the vein of Galen: embryonic considerations and anatomical features relating to the pathogenesis of the malformation. Neuroradiology. 1989;31(2):109–28.
- Rao VR, Mathuriya SN. Pediatric aneurysms and vein of Galen malformations. J Pediatr Neurosci. 2011;6(Suppl 1):S109–17.
- 30. Jones BV, et al. Vein of Galen aneurysmal malformation: diagnosis and treatment of 13 children with extended clinical follow-up. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2002;23(10):1717–24.
- Marzban H, et al. Cellular commitment in the developing cerebellum. Front Cell Neurosci. 2014;8:450.
- Millet S, et al. The caudal limit of Otx2 gene expression as a marker of the midbrain/hindbrain boundary: a study using in situ hybridisation and chick/quail homotopic grafts. Development. 1996;122(12):3785–97.
- Millen KJ, et al. Neurogenetics of the cerebellar system. J Child Neurol. 1999;14(9):574–81; discussion 581–2.
- Eddison M, et al. Segmental identity and cerebellar granule cell induction in rhombomere 1. BMC Biol. 2004;2:14.
- Chizhikov VV, et al. The roof plate regulates cerebellar cell-type specification and proliferation. Development. 2006;133(15):2793–804.

- Basson MA, Wingate RJ. Congenital hypoplasia of the cerebellum: developmental causes and behavioral consequences. Front Neuroanat. 2013;7:29.
- 37. Vermeer S, et al. Cerebellar ataxia and congenital disorder of glycosylation Ia (CDG-Ia) with normal routine CDG screening. J Neurol. 2007;254(10):1356–8.
- Turkmen S, et al. Cerebellar hypoplasia, with quadrupedal locomotion, caused by mutations in the very low-density lipoprotein receptor gene. Eur J Hum Genet. 2008;16(9):1070–4.
- Pearson T, et al. An intronic mutation in DKC1 in an infant with Hoyeraal-Hreidarsson syndrome. Am J Med Genet A. 2008;146A(16):2159–61.
- 40. des Portes V, et al. Specific clinical and brain MRI features in mentally retarded patients with mutations in the Oligophrenin-1 gene. Am J Med Genet A. 2004;124A(4):364–71.
- 41. Sellick GS, et al. Mutations in PTF1A cause pancreatic and cerebellar agenesis. Nat Genet. 2004;36(12):1301–5.
- Jaeken J, Matthijs G. Congenital disorders of glycosylation: a rapidly expanding disease family. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet. 2007;8:261–78.
- 43. Tentler D, et al. Deletion including the oligophrenin-1 gene associated with enlarged cerebral ventricles, cerebellar hypoplasia, seizures and ataxia. Eur J Hum Genet. 1999;7(5):541–8.
- 44. Patel S, Barkovich AJ. Analysis and classification of cerebellar malformations. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2002;23(7):1074–87.
- 45. Massoud M, et al. Prenatal unilateral cerebellar hypoplasia in a series of 26 cases: significance and implications for prenatal diagnosis. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2014;44(4):447–54.
- 46. Wichman A, Frank LM, Kelly TE. Autosomal recessive congenital cerebellar hypoplasia. Clin Genet. 1985;27(4):373–82.
- Osenbach RK, Menezes AH. Diagnosis and management of the Dandy-Walker malformation: 30 years of experience. Pediatr Neurosurg. 1992;18(4):179–89.
- Cueva-Nunez JE, et al. Dandy-Walker variant: case report. Rev Chil Pediatr. 2016;87(5):406–10.
- 49. Klein JL, et al. Clinical and neuroimaging features as diagnostic guides in neonatal neurology diseases with cerebellar involvement. Cerebellum Ataxias. 2016;3:1.
- 50. Grinberg I, et al. Heterozygous deletion of the linked genes ZIC1 and ZIC4 is involved in Dandy-Walker malformation. Nat Genet. 2004;36(10):1053–5.
- Aldinger KA, et al. FOXC1 is required for normal cerebellar development and is a major contributor to chromosome 6p25.3 Dandy-Walker malformation. Nat Genet. 2009;41(9):1037–42.
- 52. Parisi MA, Dobyns WB. Human malformations of the midbrain and hindbrain: review and proposed classification scheme. Mol Genet Metab. 2003;80(1–2):36–53.
- Kim JH, et al. Impulsive behavior and recurrent major depression associated with Dandy-Walker variant. Psychiatry Investig. 2013;10(3):303–5.
- Abdel Razek AA, Castillo M. Magnetic resonance imaging of malformations of midbrainhindbrain. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2016;40(1):14–25.
- 55. Cotes C, et al. Congenital basis of posterior fossa anomalies. Neuroradiol J. 2015;28(3):238–53.
- D'Agostino AN, Kernohan JW, Brown JR. The Dandy-Walker syndrome. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1963;22:450–70.
- Hart MN, Malamud N, Ellis WG. The Dandy-Walker syndrome. A clinicopathological study based on 28 cases. Neurology. 1972;22(8):771–80.
- Spennato P, et al. Hydrocephalus in Dandy-Walker malformation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2011;27(10):1665–81.
- Nelson MD Jr, Maher K, Gilles FH. A different approach to cysts of the posterior fossa. Pediatr Radiol. 2004;34(9):720–32.
- Tonni G, et al. Complete trisomy 9 with unusual phenotypic associations: Dandy-Walker malformation, cleft lip and cleft palate, cardiovascular abnormalities. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol. 2014;53(4):592–7.
- 61. Zaki MS, et al. Dandy-Walker malformation, genitourinary abnormalities, and intellectual disability in two families. Am J Med Genet A. 2015;167A(11):2503–7.
- 62. Klein O, et al. Dandy-Walker malformation: prenatal diagnosis and prognosis. Childs Nerv Syst. 2003;19(7–8):484–9.

- 63. Sasaki-Adams D, et al. The Dandy-Walker variant: a case series of 24 pediatric patients and evaluation of associated anomalies, incidence of hydrocephalus, and developmental outcomes. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2008;2(3):194–9.
- Guibaud L, et al. Prenatal diagnosis of 'isolated' Dandy-Walker malformation: imaging findings and prenatal counselling. Prenat Diagn. 2012;32(2):185–93.
- 65. Joubert M, et al. Familial agenesis of the cerebellar vermis. A syndrome of episodic hyperpnea, abnormal eye movements, ataxia, and retardation. Neurology. 1969;19(9):813–25.
- Valente EM, Dallapiccola B, Bertini E. Joubert syndrome and related disorders. Handb Clin Neurol. 2013;113:1879–88.
- 67. Usta M, et al. Joubert syndrome and related disorders: a rare cause of intrahepatic portal hypertension in childhood. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2015;19(12):2297–300.
- Sattar S, Gleeson JG. The ciliopathies in neuronal development: a clinical approach to investigation of Joubert syndrome and Joubert syndrome-related disorders. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2011;53(9):793–8.
- 69. Chizhikov VV, et al. Cilia proteins control cerebellar morphogenesis by promoting expansion of the granule progenitor pool. J Neurosci. 2007;27(36):9780–9.
- 70. Spassky N, et al. Primary cilia are required for cerebellar development and Shh-dependent expansion of progenitor pool. Dev Biol. 2008;317(1):246–59.
- Bachmann-Gagescu R, et al. The ciliopathy protein CC2D2A associates with NINL and functions in RAB8-MICAL3-regulated vesicle trafficking. PLoS Genet. 2015;11(10):e1005575.
- Brancati F, et al. MKS3/TMEM67 mutations are a major cause of COACH syndrome, a Joubert syndrome related disorder with liver involvement. Hum Mutat. 2009;30(2):E432–42.
- 73. Kamdar BB, et al. Self-reported sleep and breathing disturbances in Joubert syndrome. Pediatr Neurol. 2011;45(6):395–9.
- 74. Brancati F, Dallapiccola B, Valente EM. Joubert syndrome and related disorders. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2010;5:20.
- 75. Nag C, et al. Joubert syndrome: the molar tooth sign of the mid-brain. Ann Med Health Sci Res. 2013;3(2):291–4.
- Lopez Ruiz P, et al. Uncrossed epileptic seizures in Joubert syndrome. BMJ Case Rep. 2015; 2015.
- 77. Bierhals T, et al. Pontocerebellar hypoplasia type 2 and TSEN2: review of the literature and two novel mutations. Eur J Med Genet. 2013;56(6):325–30.
- 78. Sanchez-Albisua I, et al. Natural course of pontocerebellar hypoplasia type 2A. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2014;9:70.
- 79. Millen KJ, Gleeson JG. Cerebellar development and disease. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2008;18(1):12–9.
- Eggens VR, et al. EXOSC3 mutations in pontocerebellar hypoplasia type 1: novel mutations and genotype-phenotype correlations. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2014;9:23.
- 81. Rudnik-Schoneborn S, et al. Extended phenotype of pontocerebellar hypoplasia with infantile spinal muscular atrophy. Am J Med Genet A. 2003;117A(1):10–7.
- Renbaum P, et al. Spinal muscular atrophy with pontocerebellar hypoplasia is caused by a mutation in the VRK1 gene. Am J Hum Genet. 2009;85(2):281–9.
- Wan J, et al. Mutations in the RNA exosome component gene EXOSC3 cause pontocerebellar hypoplasia and spinal motor neuron degeneration. Nat Genet. 2012;44(6):704–8.
- Budde BS, et al. tRNA splicing endonuclease mutations cause pontocerebellar hypoplasia. Nat Genet. 2008;40(9):1113–8.
- Samanta D, Willis E. Intractable epileptic spasms in a patient with pontocerebellar hypoplasia: severe phenotype of type 2 or another subtype? Ann Indian Acad Neurol. 2016;19(3):385–7.
- Feinstein M, et al. VPS53 mutations cause progressive cerebello-cerebral atrophy type 2 (PCCA2). J Med Genet. 2014;51(5):303–8.
- 87. Rajab A, et al. A novel form of pontocerebellar hypoplasia maps to chromosome 7q11-21. Neurology. 2003;60(10):1664–7.

- Edvardson S, et al. Deleterious mutation in the mitochondrial arginyl-transfer RNA synthetase gene is associated with pontocerebellar hypoplasia. Am J Hum Genet. 2007;81(4):857–62.
- Anderson C, et al. Early pontocerebellar hypoplasia with vanishing testes: a new syndrome? Am J Med Genet A. 2011;155A(4):667–72.
- 90. Namavar Y, et al. Classification, diagnosis and potential mechanisms in pontocerebellar hypoplasia. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2011;6:50.
- 91. Mochida GH, et al. CHMP1A encodes an essential regulator of BMI1-INK4A in cerebellar development. Nat Genet. 2012;44(11):1260–4.
- 92. Akizu N, et al. AMPD2 regulates GTP synthesis and is mutated in a potentially treatable neurodegenerative brainstem disorder. Cell. 2013;154(3):505–17.
- Karaca E, et al. Human CLP1 mutations alter tRNA biogenesis, affecting both peripheral and central nervous system function. Cell. 2014;157(3):636–50.
- Wan J, et al. Loss of function of SLC25A46 causes lethal congenital pontocerebellar hypoplasia. Brain. 2016;139:2877–90.
- Christiansen S, Roos LK, Miranda MJ. Pontocerebellar hypoplasia is a rare cause of floppy infant syndrome. Ugeskr Laeger. 2015;177(40):V05150380.
- 96. Ishak GE, et al. Rhombencephalosynapsis: a hindbrain malformation associated with incomplete separation of midbrain and forebrain, hydrocephalus and a broad spectrum of severity. Brain. 2012;135(Pt 5):1370–86.
- Pasquier L, et al. Rhombencephalosynapsis and related anomalies: a neuropathological study of 40 fetal cases. Acta Neuropathol. 2009;117(2):185–200.
- Sukhudyan B, et al. Gomez-Lopez-Hernandez syndrome: reappraisal of the diagnostic criteria. Eur J Pediatr. 2010;169(12):1523–8.
- Gomez MR. Cerebellotrigeminal and focal dermal dysplasia: a newly recognized neurocutaneous syndrome. Brain Dev. 1979;1(4):253–6.
- 100. Lopez-Hernandez A. Craniosynostosis, ataxia, trigeminal anaesthesia and parietal alopecia with pons-vermis fusion anomaly (atresia of the fourth ventricle). Report of two cases. Neuropediatrics. 1982;13(2):99–102.
- Kruer MC, et al. Truncal ataxia, hypotonia, and motor delay with isolated rhombencephalosynapsis. Pediatr Neurol. 2009;41(3):229–31.
- 102. Ross ME, Swanson K, Dobyns WB. Lissencephaly with cerebellar hypoplasia (LCH): a heterogeneous group of cortical malformations. Neuropediatrics. 2001;32(5):256–63.
- 103. al Shahwan SA, Bruyn GW, al Deeb SM. Non-progressive familial congenital cerebellar hypoplasia. J Neurol Sci. 1995;128(1):71–7.
- 104. Hong SE, et al. Autosomal recessive lissencephaly with cerebellar hypoplasia is associated with human RELN mutations. Nat Genet. 2000;26(1):93–6.
- 105. Kroon AA, et al. Lissencephaly with extreme cerebral and cerebellar hypoplasia. A magnetic resonance imaging study. Neuropediatrics. 1996;27(5):273–6.
- 106. D'Arcangelo G, et al. A protein related to extracellular matrix proteins deleted in the mouse mutant reeler. Nature. 1995;374(6524):719–23.
- 107. D'Arcangelo G, et al. Reelin is a ligand for lipoprotein receptors. Neuron. 1999;24(2):471-9.
- 108. Hiesberger T, et al. Direct binding of Reelin to VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2 induces tyrosine phosphorylation of disabled-1 and modulates tau phosphorylation. Neuron. 1999;24(2):481–9.
- 109. Trommsdorff M, et al. Reeler/disabled-like disruption of neuronal migration in knockout mice lacking the VLDL receptor and ApoE receptor 2. Cell. 1999;97(6):689–701.
- Senzaki K, Ogawa M, Yagi T. Proteins of the CNR family are multiple receptors for Reelin. Cell. 1999;99(6):635–47.
- 111. Caviness VS Jr, Rakic P. Mechanisms of cortical development: a view from mutations in mice. Annu Rev Neurosci. 1978;1:297–326.
- 112. Lambert de Rouvroit C, Goffinet AM. The reeler mouse as a model of brain development. Adv Anat Embryol Cell Biol. 1998;150:1–106.

- 113. Yis U. Lissencephaly with brainstem and cerebellar hypoplasia and congenital cataracts. J Child Neurol. 2015;30(5):625–6.
- 114. Klisch J, et al. Lhermitte-Duclos disease: assessment with MR imaging, positron emission tomography, single-photon emission CT, and MR spectroscopy. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2001;22(5):824–30.
- Shinagare AB, Patil NK, Sorte SZ. Case 144: dysplastic cerebellar gangliocytoma (Lhermitte-Duclos disease). Radiology. 2009;251(1):298–303.
- 116. Zhou XP, et al. Germline inactivation of PTEN and dysregulation of the phosphoinositol-3-kinase/Akt pathway cause human Lhermitte-Duclos disease in adults. Am J Hum Genet. 2003;73(5):1191–8.
- 117. Maehama T, Dixon JE. The tumor suppressor, PTEN/MMAC1, dephosphorylates the lipid second messenger, phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate. J Biol Chem. 1998;273(22):13375–8.
- Roessmann U, Wongmongkolrit T. Dysplastic gangliocytoma of cerebellum in a newborn. Case report. J Neurosurg. 1984;60(4):845–7.
- 119. Vieco PT, et al. Dysplastic gangliocytoma (Lhermitte-Duclos disease): CT and MR imaging. Pediatr Radiol. 1992;22(5):366–9.
- 120. Milbouw G, et al. Clinical and radiological aspects of dysplastic gangliocytoma (Lhermitte-Duclos disease): a report of two cases with review of the literature. Neurosurgery. 1988;22(1 Pt 1):124–8.
- Ashley DG, et al. Lhermitte-Duclos disease: CT and MR findings. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 1990;14(6):984–7.
- 122. Nowak DA, Trost HA. Lhermitte-Duclos disease (dysplastic cerebellar gangliocytoma): a malformation, hamartoma or neoplasm? Acta Neurol Scand. 2002;105(3):137–45.
- 123. Padberg GW, et al. Lhermitte-Duclos disease and Cowden disease: a single phakomatosis. Ann Neurol. 1991;29(5):517–23.

# Clinical Features, Assessment, and Management of Patients with Developmental and Other Cerebellar Disorders

#### Michael S. Salman

Abstract The cerebellum is essential for processing, modulating, and controlling movement, behavior, and cognitive functions. Cerebellar disorders cause tremor and incoordination, larger variability, and inaccuracy of movements during eye and limb movements, stance, and speech. Cerebellar dysfunction also results in impaired cognition and behavior. During the clinical assessment, details of the presenting complaints including onset and time course of ataxia, other symptoms, past medical history including developmental milestones, family history, and drug history are elicited. On examination emphasis is placed on examining the motor system especially speech and eye and limb movements. Other aspects include general examination, head size, dysmorphic features, neurocutaneous stigmata, and cognitive function assessment. A thorough exam of the cranial nerves, tone, strength, coordination, reflexes, gait, and sensation should be undertaken. A comprehensive assessment helps to narrow down the diagnostic possibilities and offers clues to specific disorders of the cerebellum. Management is guided by disease etiology.

**Keywords** Cerebellum • Motor coordination • Eye movements • Speech articulation • Cognitive function

Section of Pediatric Neurology, Children's Hospital,

AE 308, 820 Sherbrook Street, Winnipeg, MB R3A 1R9, Canada

M.S. Salman, MBBS, BSc, MSc, PhD (🖂)

Department of Pediatrics and Child Health, Max Rady College of Medicine, Rady Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada e-mail: msalman@hsc.mb.ca

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_20

# Introduction

Ataxia is a relatively common presentation in the pediatric population with an estimated prevalence rate of 26 per 100,000 children in Europe. The annual crude incidence rate of chronic ataxia is 3.2 per 100,000 children and adolescents residing in Manitoba, Canada. Ataxia is caused by numerous diseases [1–5].

This chapter discusses the clinical features in children with cerebellar disorders including motor abnormalities, cognitive, affect, and behavioral dysfunction. The clinical assessment of patients with developmental and other cerebellar disorders is described, and different aspects are discussed in detail.

Many clinical motor features of cerebellar disease and their interpretation have been described succinctly by Dr. Gordon Holmes in his Croonian lectures in 1922 [6]. New roles for the cerebellum in health and disease continue to emerge with evidence implicating Purkinje cell dysfunction in the latter [7]. More recently, few comprehensive reviews and consensus papers on symptoms and signs of cerebellar dysfunction, roles of the cerebellum in motor control, and nonmotor role of the cerebellum in language and other related disorders have been published [8–11].

#### Limbs' Motor Control

Smooth and accurate execution of voluntary movements and adaptation to changing demands of motor tasks rely on an intact cerebellum [12]. The cerebellum can learn and store different combinations needed for precise complex movements through trial and error. Patients with cerebellar lesions can perform simple motor tasks. However, incoordination and impaired initiation of movement appear when compound complex movements are performed especially at a fast pace [13]. Cerebellar dysfunction causes greater impairment in predictive movements than in movements requiring feedback, for example, visual or somatosensory feedback [14]. Patients with cerebellar disorders appear to have proprioceptive deficits during active but not passive limb movements [15]. Furthermore, the ability to adapt to novel changes in movements is impaired. Table 1 shows several clinical motor signs in patients with cerebellar disease.

#### **Ocular Motor Control**

The cerebellum serves an important part for the normal functioning of all types of eye movements including saccades, smooth ocular pursuit, modulation of the vestibulo-ocular reflex, and also for ensuring visual fixation stability. The cerebellum fine-tunes eye movements and reduces their baseline variability to ensure that the two eyes are stable and working together. This is essential for bringing and maintaining objects of interest on or very close to the fovea. This, in turn, leads to

Sign	Comment
Asthenia	Delay in initiating muscle contraction and slow attainment of full force. It can be elicited by asking the patient to grasp the examiner's hand firmly
Adventitiousness (inappropriate accessary movements)	Failure to fix the proximal muscles to preserve the correct posture in relation to the moving part of a limb. This represents exaggerated activation of muscles that should be paused
Dysdiadochokinesia	Slowness and irregularity of the frequency and amplitude of rapid alternating movements. It can be observed during successive pronation and supination of the forearm at the elbow joint. It also manifests with difficulty on repeating the syllables pa-ta-ka
Rebound	Abnormally large displacement of an outstretched arm following a tap on the wrist with overshooting followed by few oscillations around the primary position
Dysmetria	Inaccurate movement trajectory with under- or overshooting a target. It can be observed during finger-nose exam or heel-to-shin exam. It is speed and inertia sensitive
Intention tremor	Oscillation of a limb especially when approaching a target during goal-directed voluntary movements. It can be observed during finger-nose exam or heel-to-shin exam
Kinetic tremor	Oscillation of a limb at the commencement of voluntary movements
Postural tremor	Oscillations observed during postural tasks, e.g., maintaining the heel of one foot over the contralateral knee for a few seconds or maintaining the outstretched arms parallel to the ground. It affects proximal > distal muscles
Palatal tremor	Rhythmic oscillations of the palate
Titubation	Involuntary rhythmic oscillations of a body part, e.g., the head or trunk
Head tilt	Lateral displacement of the head
Truncal ataxia	Swaying of an unsupported sitting or standing trunk
Ataxia of stance	Swaying of the body while standing up
Ataxia of gait	Wide-based gait with staggering and swaying. Tandem gait and running unmask more subtle gait ataxia
Inability to perform the Romberg maneuver with the eyes open	Inability to stand with the legs and feet touching each other while the eyes are open
Dysrhythmokinesia	Abnormal rhythm observed during tapping of a limb
Abnormal handwriting or drawing	A written sentence will appear irregular, large, and tremulous. An Archimedes' spiral will appear tremulous and dysmetric
Hypotonia	Decreased resistance to passive stretch
Pendular reflexes	Excessive oscillations of a limb (like the swing of a pendulum) observed after eliciting a deep tendon jerk

 Table 1
 Cerebellar signs causing abnormal control of stance and voluntary movements

Modified with permission from Salman and Tsai [11], Elsevier, 2016

the best visual acuity whether the person is moving or not [8]. Three cerebellar regions are important for ocular motor control: the flocculus/paraflocculus, the nodulus-ventral uvula, and the dorsal oculomotor vermis/fastigial oculomotor region [8, 16].

Various types of nonphysiological nystagmus (i.e., pathological ocular oscillations), for example, gaze-evoked nystagmus and saccadic intrusions (abnormal fast eye movements that take the fovea off the target), occur following cerebellar damage and result in fixation instability [9, 16]. Saccadic (jerky) smooth ocular pursuit and saccadic dysmetria (hypo- or hypermetria) are other well-recognized ocular motor signs of cerebellar dysfunction [16]. Table 2 shows several ocular motor signs in patients with cerebellar disease.

#### **Speech Control**

The production of speech is a complex process that involves several neural networks located in the cerebrum and cerebellum [10]. The production of speech involves the coordination of a large number of muscles, in particular the tongue and orofacial muscles [17]. The cerebellum plays an important role in speech articulation, prosody (i.e., characteristics of speech style including speed, rhythm, pitch, and emphasis), and planning and processing of speech and language [18].

Cerebellar impairment can cause ataxic dysarthria [10]. Abnormalities in speech motor programming through impaired timing and deficits in speech execution are both implicated in ataxic dysarthria [18]. Table 3 shows key features of speech abnormalities in patients with cerebellar disorders.

#### Nonmotor Impairments in Cerebellar Disorders

A multitude of studies support nonmotor roles for the cerebellum in cognition and behavior control. Cerebellar abnormalities have been identified in patients with cognitive and neuropsychiatric disorders. In addition, developmental delay, learning difficulties, and behavioral problems have been commonly reported in children with developmental cerebellar disorders [11].

#### Language

The cerebellum modulates several aspects of language production and perception [8]. In addition, the cerebellum is involved in reading and writing [10]. Cerebellar impairment results in disturbances in syntax processing, prosody, and grammar [19], with anomia, perseveration, and reduced speech output and speed [20, 21].

Sign	Comment
Gaze-evoked nystagmus	Ocular oscillations observed while trying to hold gaze eccentrically (i.e., off-center), horizontally, and/or vertically. The fast phase of the nystagmus is toward the direction of gaze
Downbeat nystagmus	Ocular oscillations observed with the eyes in central position (i.e., the eyes are located in the primary mid-orbital position). The fast component beats downward. The nystagmus is exacerbated in downgaze and lateral gaze
Upbeat nystagmus	Ocular oscillations observed with the eyes in central position. The fast component beats upward. The nystagmus is exacerbated in up gaze
Rebound nystagmus	Transient ocular oscillations observed with the eyes in central position after returning from a maintained eccentric gaze
Periodic alternating nystagmus	Horizontal ocular oscillations observed with the eyes in central position that change direction gradually after a silent phase. It occurs in a periodical manner, usually every 1–2 min
Opsoclonus	Conjugate, random, involuntary, and multidirectional back-to-back fast eye movements observed during attempted fixation or movement of the eyes
Ocular flutter	Conjugate, random, involuntary, and horizontal back-to-back fast eye movements observed during attempted fixation or movement of the eyes
Ocular bobbing	Fast downward displacement of the eyes followed by slow return back to the central orbital position
Square wave jerks/ macro-saccadic oscillations	Fast, intruding, unwanted, involuntary, and conjugate eye movements, which take the eyes off fixation. They may occur repetitively
Saccadic dysmetria	Inaccurate fast eye movement that either undershoot (hypometria) or overshoot (hypermetria) a visual target
Saccade initiation delay (previously misnamed as ocular motor apraxia)	Increased latency of fast eye movements that can usually be overcome with a head thrust or a blink
Slowing of smooth pursuit velocity (especially initiation)	Jerky (instead of smooth) eye movements that are observed during visual tracking
Impaired response of the vestibulo-ocular reflex	The vestibulo-ocular reflex normally drives the eyes contralateral to the direction of the head movement. Abnormal amplitude and direction of eye movements during the head impulse test may occur in cerebellar disease. The patient is asked to fixate on the examiner's nose, while the head is actively and briskly rotated about 15° to the right and left
Impaired vestibulo- ocular reflex cancellation (VORc)	The ability to fixate objects moving in the same direction of the head requires cancellation of the vestibulo-ocular reflex. Patients with cerebellar disease may not be able to cancel the vestibulo- ocular reflex

 Table 2
 Cerebellar ocular motor signs

(continued)

Sign	Comment
Abnormal optokinetic nystagmus	Fast ocular oscillations (jerk nystagmus) are normally observed while tracking a rotating drum with alternating white and black stripes. The nystagmus generated with such a stimulus may be exaggerated with chronic cerebellar disease or dampened with acute cerebellar lesions
Impaired adaptation of eye movements	Motor learning (adaptation) of the ocular motor system usually occur physiologically or following disease to repair and improve the accuracy or velocity of eye movements. Adaptation may be impaired in cerebellar disease
Skew deviation	Non-paralytic vertical misalignment of the eyes (i.e., one eye is higher than the fellow eye) which changes as a function of horizontal gaze position
Esotropia	Non-paralytic horizontal misalignment of the eyes with inward deviation
Abnormalities in the control of torsion	Abnormal rotational control of the eye around an axis perpendicular to the center of the pupil

Table 2 (continued)

Modified with permission from Salman and Tsai [11], Elsevier, 2016

#### Table 3 Speech abnormalities in cerebellar diseases

Scanning speech (e.g., hesitation, accentuation of some syllables, omission of appropriate pauses, addition of inappropriate pauses)

Explosive speech
Slowness of speech
Syllables or words are not understandable with lack in speech clarity
Slurring of speech
Loss of intonation (abnormal rhythm and emphasis)
Voice tremor

Reproduced with permission from Salman and Tsai [11], Elsevier, 2016

# Cognition

Investigations on the cerebellar contribution to cognition are consistent with a role for the lateral cerebellar hemispheres in supporting cognitive processes [22]. In children, significant cognitive disruption is associated with pediatric cerebellar diseases ranging from cerebellar developmental abnormalities to inflammatory disorders, ischemic injury, oncologic, and postsurgical injury [23–32]. These cognitive deficits are associated with executive dysfunction, impairment in working memory, procedural memory, and processing abilities, in addition to a lower intellectual quotient and visuospatial abilities.

#### **Affect and Behavior**

The cerebellum is thought to modulate behavior. Schmahmann described the cerebellar cognitive-affective syndrome, which manifests with significant behavioral difficulties in patients with cerebellar disorders. The author and his colleagues described behaviors ranging from affective changes to disinhibited behaviors [19]. Other investigations of cerebellar lesions have supported these initial descriptions with many associated behavioral difficulties including alterations in attention, affective disruption, emotional and social blunting, anxious behaviors, and obsessive and compulsive behaviors [19, 27, 33, 34].

# Assessment of Pediatric Patients with Developmental and Other Cerebellar Disorders

#### **History**

The assessment of patients with pediatric cerebellar disorders starts with a detailed clinical history, which can lead to the diagnosis in as many as 80% of patients [35]. Details of the presenting illness and complaints should be elicited including the age and date of onset, mode of the ataxia onset (i.e., acute, subacute, or chronic), location including whether the symptoms are unilateral or bilateral, severity, duration, rate of progression, factors that make the symptoms better or worse, possible triggers, and medications used [3–5, 36]. An inquiry should be specifically made about the presence of vertigo, dizziness, imbalance, oscillopsia, and blurred vision [8]. Systematic inquiry into other symptoms should then be pursued [35], including headache, confusion, developmental regression, seizures, numbness, tingling, and weakness.

Age of the parents at conception, previous miscarriages, mother's health and toxin exposure during pregnancy, antenatal screening and problems during pregnancy, birth history, birth weight, length, and head circumference, early feeding or respiratory difficulties, neonatal course, the number of days spent in hospital after birth, and past medical history are important part of the assessment.

Observing videos of children at different ages can be very valuable [36]. Developmental milestones may give further clues. For example, many patients with nonprogressive ataxia without brain malformations or with developmental cerebellar disorders manifest with motor delay and hypotonia before the ataxia becomes apparent [37–40].

Drug history and possible exposure to toxins or drugs should be obtained [4, 35]. Ethnicity, family history of consanguinity, ataxia, or other symptoms and disorders may all offer useful diagnostic clues [5]. However, it is important to be aware of challenges when obtaining the family history [41]:

- 1. Young parents or grandparents in autosomal dominant disorders (age-dependent penetrance). In such situation, the disease may not have manifested in family members yet.
- 2. Incomplete penetrance. The disease is not apparent in affected family members.
- 3. Early death in carriers from an unrelated cause.
- 4. New (de novo) mutations.
- 5. Lack of awareness of disease in family members especially further than one or two generations (i.e., the disorder is not known in the past or is unrecognized, or if the individual affected has not sought an assessment, or information on deceased relatives is not passed on).
- 6. Hidden or concealed symptoms from family members.
- 7. Family members may be divorced or scattered or had symptoms after they are out of touch.
- 8. Nonpaternity, infertility, adoption, or egg/sperm donation.
- 9. Small family with no affected members.
- 10. Negative prior genetic testing. It is important to inquire about what test was done, when, and how. New advances in techniques may have occurred since the test was done, pathogenicity of variants of unknown significance has been found, a previously unknown abnormality has been reported, or a newly described disease has been published.

#### **Physical Examination**

Careful general and then more focused examination should then be undertaken to look for cerebellar (Tables 1, 2, and 3) and non-cerebellar signs [4, 5, 35, 39, 40], for example, head size; weight; height; dysmorphic features; neurocutaneous stigmata (i.e., skin abnormalities that may be indicative of an underlying brain malformation); other skin lesions, e.g., telangiectasia; respiratory, cardiac, and abdominal examination for enlarged liver and spleen; scoliosis; pes cavus; contractures; and wasting.

Visual acuity, visual fields, pupillary reaction to light and near objects, and funduscopy exam in each eye should be done. A careful assessment of the different classes of eye movements in patients with ataxia can be quite helpful and may offer clues to the diagnosis [42]. A practical and comprehensive guide on the examination and interpretation of eye movements in children is available for the interested reader [43]. Ocular alignment, fixation stability, slow and fast eye movements (including smooth ocular pursuit, convergence, vestibulo-ocular reflex and its cancellation, and saccades) (Table 2) should be ascertained. In addition, facial and tongue movements, bulbar (ability to swallow liquid and solid food safely and without choking), speech (voice quality, clarity, prosody) (Table 3), tone (resistance to passive stretch), strength, coordination of the upper and lower limbs, reflexes, plantar response, various sensation modalities including proprioception, and gait should then be assessed (Table 1) [16].

Language (nonmotor speech, reading, writing)
Executive function and working memory
Autistic behavior (repetitive/restricted, social impairment)
Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
Schizophrenia
Anxiety behavior
Mood disorders

 Table 4
 Cognitive and behavioral abnormalities in cerebellar diseases

Reproduced with permission from Salman and Tsai [11], Elsevier, 2016

In young infants and toddlers, an opportunistic approach is recommended, at least initially, as the child may not be fully cooperative. A lot of information can be gleaned by hearing the child talk and watching the child interact with the parents, other siblings, or the physician during history taking. In addition, watching the child play, use an iPad, or move around the clinic room can be invaluable. It is worth paying attention to the child's affect, behavior, language use, and cognitive abilities. Are there any features suggestive of the cerebellar cognitive-affective syndrome (some of these features are shown in Table 4)?

Extracerebellar features should be looked for to identify red flags [4, 35]. For example, swollen optic disks suggest an expanding mass; decreased visual acuity from optic neuritis suggests acute disseminated encephalomyelitis or multiple sclerosis; altered level of consciousness suggests acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, stroke, or intoxication; facial nerve palsy, hearing loss, tinnitus, nausea, and vomiting may indicate brainstem compression from a tumor; apraxia of gait may be caused by hydrocephalus or Rett syndrome; and head size, if large then hydrocephalus should be excluded, and if small then genetic, viral, or metabolic diseases that affect the cerebrum should be pursued. Pyramidal tract signs (spasticity, hyperreflexia, Babinski's sign, or clonus), seizures, and dyskinesia imply involvement of the cerebrum.

#### Pitfalls in the Assessment of Ataxia

Although disorders of the cerebellum and its input or output tracts can cause incoordination, which we refer to as ataxia, it is important to exclude mimickers of ataxia, i.e., pseudoataxia. Poor coordination may result from many causes including decreased level of consciousness; subtle seizures; postictal state; nonconvulsive status epilepticus; extrapyramidal movement disorder; spasticity; weakness, e.g., from peripheral neuropathy; clumsiness only (i.e., developmental coordination disorder); muscular or skeletal disorders, for example, irritable hip; and psychogenic disorders [35, 44].

#### Formulating a Clinical Impression and a Plan of Investigations

After the history and physical examination are completed, the pattern of abnormalities is summarized. Variations in the clinical phenotype in relation to several disease etiologies in 184 children with chronic ataxia have been recently explored using latent class analysis. Few specific clinical patterns emerged that were highly associated with certain disease etiologies [45]. For example, if a child presents with global developmental delay, hypotonia, and seizures (which may occur before the ataxia becomes manifest), then Angelman syndrome, disorders of neuronal migration, and Joubert syndrome and related disorders should be suspected. A brain MRI with thin cuts will likely show the neuronal migration abnormalities, while genetic testing is needed for the diagnosis of Angelman syndrome where brain MRI is typically normal. In addition Joubert syndrome and related disorders have diagnostic MRI features known as the molar tooth sign. Another example is the child that has no history of seizures and has symptoms onset including ataxia at greater than 10 years of age with otherwise normal development but has slurred or scanning speech. In such a clinical scenario, episodic ataxia and Friedreich ataxia should be considered. If the ataxia is progressive, then Friedreich ataxia should be suspected first, but if the symptoms are intermittent, then episodic ataxia should be considered first. This clinical approach may aid the diagnostic process by making it more efficient. In general, one should ascertain the following:

- What regions/networks are affected by the incoordination? Specifically, head, eye movements, speech, swallowing, arms, and gait involvement should be documented. There is a rough map for localizing cerebellar symptoms and signs. For example, symptoms of damage of the lateral cerebellar hemisphere include hypotonia, asthenia, intention tremor, and dysmetria, while vermal and paravermal lesions are associated with ataxia of gait and stance. Similarly, damage to the dorsal vermis and fastigial nuclei is associated with saccadic dysmetria and impaired saccadic adaptation, while damage to the vestibulocerebellum is associated with impaired smooth ocular pursuit and various types of nystagmus [8, 16, 46].
- 2. What is the mode of ataxia onset? Acute onset is suggestive of toxic, metabolic, vascular, or traumatic etiologies. Subacute onset may indicate infectious, inflammatory, or paraneoplastic etiologies, while chronic ataxia is more likely to be caused by genetic or neurodegenerative disorders [41]. There is however an overlap in the mode of onset among the different etiologies.
- 3. How does the ataxia change over time? Is the ataxia improving thus suggesting a postinfectious etiology, nonprogressive suggesting a cerebellar malformation, recurrent (i.e., episodic or intermittent with resolution between the episodes) suggesting an episodic ataxia or a metabolic disorder, or is the ataxia progressive suggesting a tumor or a neurodegenerative disorder? This information will help focus the investigations on more likely etiologies [3–5, 35, 36, 41].
- 4. Is it pure ataxia? Some diseases only affect the cerebellum, thus narrowing the list of diagnostic possibilities.

- 5. Are there any clues in the family history?
- 6. Are there non-ataxia central nervous system features? For example, spasticity, dyskinesia, seizures, or optic atrophy implies widespread central nervous system involvement beyond posterior fossa structures [41].
- 7. Are other organs affected? For example, heart, liver, and kidney involvement raises suspicion of a metabolic disorder.

Based on the clinical impression, a plan of investigation is carried out [3, 35, 41, 45]. Neuroimaging is usually very helpful, even when it is normal [44]. A brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), with magnetic resonance angiography and spectroscopy if indicated, offers the best spatial resolution of cerebellar and extracerebellar brain structures [44, 47]. A spinal MRI is occasionally helpful. For example, it may reveal spinal cord atrophy in patients with Friedreich ataxia [44]. In selected patients repeating a brain MRI several months or few years after the first brain MRI may offer further diagnostic clues in patients, who remain without a diagnosis despite extensive investigations [44].

Biochemical tests, drugs and toxins screen, and metabolic investigations on blood, urine, or where appropriate cerebrospinal fluid are then performed in a stepwise manner [3, 5, 41]. These include but are not limited to the following: full blood count, ESR, CRP, glucose, electrolytes, calcium, magnesium, phosphorus, albumin, creatinine kinase, liver and thyroid function tests, cholesterol, alpha fetoprotein, immunoglobulins, autoimmune antibodies (including ANA, ANCA, antigliadin antibodies), and metabolic tests (including ammonia, lactate, amino acids, cerulo-plasmin, transferrin isoelectric focussing, uric acid, total and free carnitine, acylcarnitine, very long chain fatty acids, lysosomal enzymes, vitamins E, B1, and B12, phytanic acid, urine organic acids and amino acids, and CSF neurotransmitters).

Many genetic tests are available [36, 47], and are usually also requested in a stepwise manner guided by findings from the clinical assessment and neuroimaging findings. The tests include microarray, karyotype, FISH, calcium channel mutations, and mutations in selected spinocerebellar ataxia genes. Gene panel testing is another option for diseases with similar phenotypes. Whole-exome sequencing is not widely available in routine clinical practice but is proving to be a useful investigation in patients with undiagnosed ataxia.

Nerve conduction studies, electromyogram, electroencephalogram, and skin and muscle biopsies may also be indicated in some patients with ataxia.

#### Management

Management of the patients starts with discussing the findings of the clinical assessment with the patient and their parents. The discussion needs to be done honestly and in a sensitive manner. Every effort should be made to avoid using technical and medical jargons, taking the age of the patient and level of parental education into account. Diagnostic uncertainties and limitations should be disclosed. A plausible list of diagnostic possibilities or details on a specific disorder when a diagnosis is made should then be discussed. Prognosis and availability of antenatal diagnosis for families that are interested in having more children should be mentioned. Referral to a geneticist for further investigations and counseling should be made, if indicated.

Treatment of the underlying disease etiology in acquired ataxias is possible in some disorders, for example, tumors, strokes, avoidance of toxins and certain medications, and inflammatory disorders [3].

General nonspecific management options for the symptomatic treatment of ataxia include physiotherapy, occupational therapy, and referral to other rehabilitation specialists. Continuous intensive motor training is beneficial [48]. Drugs and noninvasive cerebellar stimulation techniques such as transcranial magnetic stimulation or transcranial direct current stimulation are being explored, and preliminary studies show possible therapeutic benefit [48]. Referral to a speech and language pathologist in patients with dysarthria and speech or language delay should be made. Social workers and referral to support organizations such as the National Ataxia Foundation can be invaluable to the patients and their families [41].

There are limited treatment options available for the ataxic patients. Treatments for developmental cerebellar disorders and most hereditary ataxias are generally not available, and specific treatments are only available for a handful of diseases that are usually caused by metabolic dysfunction [3, 5, 48]. For example, vitamin E is given to patients with abetalipoproteinemia or ataxia with vitamin E deficiency, biotin to patients with biotinidase deficiency, coenzyme Q to patients with coenzyme Q deficiency, acetazolamide or 4-aminopyridine to patients with episodic ataxia type 2, nicotinamide for Hartnup disease, dietary modification and thiamine to patients with maple syrup urine disease, dietary modification and sodium benzoate to patients with urea cycle defects, and the ketogenic diet to patients with pyruvate dehydrogenase deficiency.

Other symptoms associated with ataxia should also be addressed and treated, for example, epilepsy, spasticity, sleep disturbance, behavioral difficulties, and anxiety.

Patients with multisystem disease should be referred to other specialists [41]. For example, patients with Friedreich ataxia should be referred to an endocrinologist, as they are at risk of developing glucose intolerance and diabetes, and a cardiologist since a life-threatening cardiomyopathy can occur in this disorder where possible treatments are available including idebenone, vitamin E, and coenzyme Q.

## Conclusions

The cerebellum functions beyond motor coordination (Table 4). Roles for the cerebellum in children are identified in motor functions, cognition, and behavior in both normal development and also in disease. Since a significant part of cerebellar development stretches from the third trimester of pregnancy to the early postnatal years, diverse causes of cerebellar disruption contribute to the pathogenesis of neurodevelopmental disorders. A comprehensive detailed history and physical examination are essential components of the clinical assessment in patients with cerebellar diseases and usually guide clinical investigations. Based on the list of differential diagnosis (i.e., plausible diagnostic possibilities), neuroimaging, usually a brain MRI, and various investigations including genetic testing are usually performed as part of the evaluation of these patients to reach a specific diagnosis. General physical rehabilitation therapy and disease-specific treatments are available. Novel drugs and noninvasive cerebellar stimulation techniques are showing an early therapeutic promise for the symptomatic treatment of some of the cerebellar symptoms.

## References

- 1. Salman MS, Lee EJ, Tjahjadi A, Chodirker BN. The epidemiology of intermittent and chronic ataxia in children in Manitoba, Canada. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2013;55(4):341–7.
- 2. Musselman KE, Stoyanov CT, Marasigan R, Jenkins ME, Konczak J, Morton SM, et al. Prevalence of ataxia in children: a systematic review. Neurology. 2014;82(1):80–9.
- 3. Pandolfo M, Manto M. Cerebellar and afferent ataxias. Continuum (Minneap Minn). 2013;19(5):1312–43.
- 4. Prasad M, Ong MT, Setty G, Whitehouse WP. Fifteen-minute consultation: the child with acute ataxia. Arch Dis Child Educ Pract Ed. 2013;98(6):217–23.
- Bernard G, Shevell M. The wobbly child: an approach to inherited ataxias. Semin Pediatr Neurol. 2008;15(4):194–208.
- Holmes G. The Croonian lectures on the clinical symptoms of cerebellar disease and their interpretation. Lecture III. Lancet. 1922;200:59–65.
- 7. Reeber SL, Otis TS, Sillitoe RV. New roles for the cerebellum in health and disease. Front Syst Neurosci. 2013;7:83.
- 8. Bodranghien F, Bastian A, Casali C, Hallett M, Louis ED, Manto M, et al. Consensus paper: revisiting the symptoms and signs of cerebellar syndrome. Cerebellum. 2016;15(3):369–91.
- Manto M, Bower JM, Conforto AB, Delgado-García JM, da Guarda SN, Gerwig M, et al. Consensus paper: roles of the cerebellum in motor control – the diversity of ideas on cerebellar involvement in movement. Cerebellum. 2012;11(2):457–87.
- Marien P, Ackermann H, Adamaszek M, Barwood CH, Beaton A, Desmond J, et al. Consensus paper: language and the cerebellum: an ongoing enigma. Cerebellum. 2014;13(3):386–410.
- 11. Salman MS, Tsai P. The role of the pediatric cerebellum in motor functions, cognition and behavior: a clinical perspective. Neuroimaging Clin N Am. 2016;26(3):317–29.
- 12. Morton SM, Bastian AJ. Mechanisms of cerebellar gait ataxia. Cerebellum. 2007;6(1):79-86.
- 13. Thach WT. Does the cerebellum initiate movement? Cerebellum. 2014;13(1):139-50.
- Bastian AJ. Learning to predict the future: the cerebellum adapts feedforward movement control. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2006;16(6):645–9.
- 15. Bhanpuri NH, Okamura AM, Bastian AJ. Predictive modeling by the cerebellum improves proprioception. J Neurosci. 2013;33(36):14301–6.
- 16. Kheradmand A, Zee DS. Cerebellum and ocular motor control. Front Neurol. 2011;2:53.
- 17. Urban PP, Marx J, Hunsche S, Gawehn J, Vucurevic G, Wicht S, et al. Cerebellar speech representation: lesion topography in dysarthria as derived from cerebellar ischemia and functional magnetic resonance imaging. Arch Neurol. 2003;60(7):965–72.
- 18. Spencer KA, Slocomb DL. The neural basis of ataxic dysarthria. Cerebellum. 2007;6(1):58–65.
- 19. Schmahmann JD, Sherman JC. Cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome. Int Rev Neurobiol. 1997;41:433–40.

- 20. Marien P, Engelborghs S, Fabbro F, De Deyn PP. The lateralized linguistic cerebellum: a review and a new hypothesis. Brain Lang. 2001;79(3):580–600.
- 21. Murdoch BE, Whelan BM. Language disorders subsequent to left cerebellar lesions: a case for bilateral cerebellar involvement in language? Folia Phoniatr Logop. 2007;59(4):184–9.
- 22. Stoodley CJ, Schmahmann JD. Functional topography in the human cerebellum: a metaanalysis of neuroimaging studies. NeuroImage. 2009;44(2):489–501.
- 23. De Smet HJ, Baillieux H, Wackenier P, De Praeter M, Engelborghs S, Paquier PF, et al. Longterm cognitive deficits following posterior fossa tumor resection: a neuropsychological and functional neuroimaging follow-up study. Neuropsychology. 2009;23(6):694–704.
- McAndrew S, Listernick R, Kuntz N. Cerebellar mutism in acute disseminating encephalomyelitis. Pediatr Neurol. 2014;50(5):511–4.
- Parrish JB, Weinstock-Guttman B, Yeh EA. Cerebellar mutism in pediatric acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. Pediatr Neurol. 2010;42(4):259–66.
- Weier K, Till C, Fonov V, Yeh EA, Arnold DL, Banwell B, et al. Contribution of the cerebellum to cognitive performance in children and adolescents with multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2015;22(5):599–607.
- Bolduc ME, Du Plessis AJ, Sullivan N, Khwaja OS, Zhang X, Barnes K, et al. Spectrum of neurodevelopmental disabilities in children with cerebellar malformations. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2011;53(5):409–16.
- Bolduc ME, Limperopoulos C. Neurodevelopmental outcomes in children with cerebellar malformations: a systematic review. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2009;51(4):256–67.
- Hennes E, Zotter S, Dorninger L, Hartmann H, Häusler M, Huppke P, et al. Long-term outcome of children with acute cerebellitis. Neuropediatrics. 2012;43(5):240–8.
- Hoang DH, Pagnier A, Guichardet K, Dubois-Teklali F, Schiff I, Lyard G, et al. Cognitive disorders in pediatric medulloblastoma: what neuroimaging has to offer. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2014;14(2):136–44.
- Hoche F, Frankenberg E, Rambow J, Theis M, Harding JA, Qirshi M, et al. Cognitive phenotype in ataxia-telangiectasia. Pediatr Neurol. 2014;51(3):297–310.
- Riva D, Cazzaniga F, Esposito S, Bulgheroni S. Executive functions and cerebellar development in children. Appl Neuropsychol Child. 2013;2(2):97–103.
- Catsman-Berrevoets CE, Aarsen FK. The spectrum of neurobehavioural deficits in the posterior fossa syndrome in children after cerebellar tumour surgery. Cortex. 2010;46(7):933–46.
- Tavano A, Grasso R, Gagliardi C, Triulzi F, Bresolin N, Fabbro F, et al. Disorders of cognitive and affective development in cerebellar malformations. Brain. 2007;130(Pt 10):2646–60.
- Poretti A, Benson JE, Huisman TA, Boltshauser E. Acute ataxia in children: approach to clinical presentation and role of additional investigations. Neuropediatrics. 2013;44(3):127–41.
- 36. Fogel BL. Childhood cerebellar ataxia. J Child Neurol. 2012;27(9):1138-45.
- Esscher E, Flodmark O, Hagberg G, Hagberg B. Non-progressive ataxia: origins, brain pathology and impairments in 78 swedish children. Dev Med Child Neurol. 1996;38(4):285–96.
- Steinlin M, Zangger B, Boltshauser E. Non-progressive congenital ataxia with or without cerebellar hypoplasia: a review of 34 subjects. Dev Med Child Neurol. 1998;40(3):148–54.
- Wassmer E, Davies P, Whitehouse WP, Green SH. Clinical spectrum associated with cerebellar hypoplasia. Pediatr Neurol. 2003;28(5):347–51.
- Shevell MI, Majnemer A. Clinical features of developmental disability associated with cerebellar hypoplasia. Pediatr Neurol. 1996;15(3):224–9.
- Fekete R. Ataxia. In: Jankovic J, Greenamyre JT, editors. MedLink neurology. San Diego: MedLink Corporation. Available at www.medlink.com. Last updated: 28th October 2015.
- 42. Salman MS, Chodirker BN. Neuro-ophthalmological findings in children and adolescents with chronic ataxia. Neuro-Ophthalmology. 2015;39(3):125–31.
- Cassidy L, Taylor D, Harris C. Abnormal supranuclear eye movements in the child: a practical guide to examination and interpretation. Surv Ophthalmol. 2000;44(6):479–506.
- Salman MS, Chodirker BN, Bunge M. Neuroimaging findings and repeat neuroimaging value in pediatric chronic ataxia. Can J Neurol Sci. 2016;43(6):824–32.

- 45. Klassen S, Dufault B, Salman MS. Can latent class analysis be used to improve the diagnostic process in pediatric patients with chronic ataxia? Cerebellum. 2017;16(2):348–57.
- Dichgans J. Clinical symptoms of cerebellar dysfunction and their topodiagnostical significance. Hum Neurobiol. 1984;2(4):269–79.
- 47. Doherty D, Millen KJ, Barkovich AJ. Midbrain and hindbrain malformations: advances in clinical diagnosis, imaging, and genetics. Lancet Neurol. 2013;12(4):381–93.
- Ilg W, Bastian AJ, Boesch S, Burciu RG, Celnik P, Claaßen J, et al. Consensus paper: management of degenerative cerebellar disorders. Cerebellum. 2014;13(2):248–68.

# **Epidemiology of Cerebellar Disorders**

S. Shooshtari, B.M. Stoesz, P. Rad, and S. Khoeiniha

**Abstract** This chapter explains briefly the epidemiology of several cerebellar disorders, many of which are considered rare, and various risk factors associated with their development. For many cerebellar disorders, prevalence and incidence rates are unknown, or the values have been underestimated; this is true both at the global and regional levels. Scant epidemiological information can be attributed to lack of healthcare systems in various parts of the world, inaccurate classification of disorders in published studies, broad inclusion criteria, or simply rarity of the particular disorder. Information about the prevalence, incidence, or number of cases is important for planning and provision of services to address the needs of affected individuals. Epidemiological studies are also necessary to identify factors that contribute to the development of the disorder, which can be used to prevent or reduce the risk of developing the conditions at the population level.

**Keywords** Cerebellar disorders • Epidemiology • Incidence • Prevalence • Risk factors

# Introduction

This chapter is focused on epidemiology of cerebellar disorders, and provides information on global and local prevalence and incidence (where available), and risk factors associated with the development of the disorder. *Prevalence* and *incidence* are the two main measures of disease occurrence in populations. Prevalence refers to the proportion of population with the condition of interest at a certain point in time or within a specific period. Incidence refers to the rate at which new events or cases of the condition of interest occur in a population in a defined period. Prevalence estimates provide useful information for planning and provision of services to address the needs of persons living with the conditions of interest. This information

S. Shooshtari (🖂) • B.M. Stoesz • P. Rad • S. Khoeiniha

University of Manitoba, 219 Human Ecology Building, Winnipeg, MB R3T 2N2, Canada e-mail: Shahin.Shooshtari@umanitoba.ca

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_21

can also be used to examine trends in the occurrence of the conditions of interest to determine if the number of cases and rates have increased, decreased, or remained stable over time. Results of incidence studies are of great use for predicting future needs and for investigating causality and identifying factors associated with increased risk of a disorder of interest. Information on factors found to be significantly associated with the risk of the cerebellar disorders could aid in the identification of modifiable risk factors to prevent or reduce the risk of developing the condition at the population level.

#### **Selection of Studies**

A search was performed on the MEDLINE, Embase, and Scopus databases. The following search terms were used: [name of condition], AND "epidem\*" OR "prevalence" OR "incidence" OR statistic\* OR risk\*. For the name of the condition, truncation was used to be more inclusive of alternative terms and spellings (e.g., cerebell\* was used as appropriate for the cerebellum OR cerebellar). The search was restricted to records published in English. In total, 366 references were located. Initial examination of the records revealed that only 29 references to book, chapters, and sections and 337 references to articles were relevant to epidemiology or risk factors.

We selected studies providing estimates of prevalence and/or incidence for a specified population in a defined geographical region. Because we expected few publications for many of the conditions of interest, we defined broad inclusion criteria: (1) the article must mention estimates of prevalence and/or incidence and/or describe cases of the condition, or (2) the article must identify and describe risk factors for the condition, and (3) only articles published in English. Two authors independently reviewed the titles and abstracts of the publications identified by the initial search strategy. Studies that clearly did not meet the inclusion criteria were excluded, and the remaining studies were examined further. Inclusion was based on agreement between two reviewers; in cases of non-consensus, a third (and sometimes fourth) review was obtained for decision. For selected articles, data were extracted using a predefined data extraction form, which included the following parameters: publication type, geographical area, study population, number of patients identified, research design, study period, data source, condition and subtypes, prevalence and incidence estimates for each condition, and risk factors. Study limitations were noted. For conditions in which prevalence and incidence estimates were not available, the number of cases of a condition was reported. The reference lists of the selected papers were examined for additional studies. The quality of the studies was not assessed.

# Results

Many cerebellar disorders are described as rare, very rare, or extremely rare. According to the consortium of European partners [1], "rare" is defined as affecting 1 per 2,000 people. Similarly, the United States Rare Diseases Act of 2002 [2]

defines "rare" as "any disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 people in the United States" or about 1 per 1,500 people. In Japan, a "rare" disorder is one that affects fewer than 50,000 people or 1 per 2,500 people.

#### Autism Spectrum Disorder and the Cerebellum

Autism spectrum disorders (ASD) are neurodevelopmental conditions that are characterized by deficits in social communication and social interaction, restricted and repetitive patterns of behavior, interests, or activities [3]. The comorbidity of ASD and intellectual disability (ID) is relatively low, with approximately 31% of US children with ASD being identified as having intellectual disability (i.e.,  $IQ \leq 70$  [4]). The cerebellum is reported to be one of the key brain regions affected in autism [5].

ASD are responsible for 0.3% of the global burden of disease and more than 7.6 million disability-adjusted life years. The global prevalence of ASD is estimated to be one person in 160 [6]. A large number of epidemiological studies from developed countries have investigated ASD prevalence, and less is known about prevalence of ASD in developing countries. Variable estimates of ASD prevalence are reported, ranging from 0.4 to 22.4 per 1,000, depending on the age, sex, and race/ethnic composition of the population studied, ASD diagnostic criteria used, changes in diagnostic criteria over time, the methods of data collection, and case ascertainment. While earlier European studies reported ASD prevalence estimates of 1 in 2,500 children across all ages in the population [7], more recent estimates of ASD prevalence based on large survey data suggest that 1-2% of all children are affected [8, 9]. For example, a UK school-based survey reported 99 per 10,000 [10]. The most recent estimate of ASD prevalence for children aged 3-17 years in the United States was reported at 2.24% based on data from the 2014 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) [11]. The estimated prevalence was significantly higher than the estimated prevalence of 1.25% based on earlier years of data from the same survey (2011-2013). The observed difference was attributed to the change in wording of the survey questions that allowed parents to better differentiate ASD from other types of developmental disabilities [11]. Other studies from Europe, North America, and Asia also reported prevalence estimates of higher than 2% [4, 12, 13].

The Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring (ADDM) Network is an active surveillance system in the United States, which provides estimates of the ASD prevalence among children aged 8 years living in 11 ADDM sites. According to this source, the overall prevalence of 8-year-olds with ASD in 2010 was 14.7 per 1,000 (1 in 68) [4]. There was variation in the reported prevalence estimates by sex and racial/ethnic background. ASD was four to five times more prevalent in boys (1 in 42 boys) than in girls (1 in 189 girls). Non-Hispanic white children were also 30% more likely than non-Hispanic black children to be identified with ASD. The median age at first ASD diagnosis was 53 months and did not differ by sex or race/ ethnicity [4].

The reported estimates of ASD prevalence in Canada are lower due to the different case ascertainment method used. The National Epidemiologic Database for the Study of Autism in Canada (NEDSAC) has been monitoring the prevalence of ASD in three Canadian provinces including Newfoundland and Labrador, Prince Edward Island, and Southeastern Ontario since 2003. Based on information from this database, the prevalence of ASD was estimated at 1 per 94 children. Based on data collected through 2008 in Newfoundland and Labrador and 2010 in Prince Edward Island and Southeastern Ontario, the estimated average annual percent increases in prevalence among children 2–14 years of age ranged from 9.7 (95% CI: 7.8–11.6) to 14.6% (95% CI: 11.3–18.0) [14]. See Table 1 for a summary of prevalence estimates for ASD.

Epidemiological data over the past few decades suggest an increase in ASD prevalence globally. Several explanations are provided for this apparent increase in ASD prevalence including changes in diagnostic criteria and broadening of the diagnostic spectrum, greater awareness about ASD conditions among parents and clinicians, better diagnostic tools that might have led to a higher rate of diagnosis, and better reporting of cases and surveillance systems. The observed increase in ASD prevalence could also be the result of true increase in incidence. Given the complexity of the issue, however, no conclusions regarding causes of increased prevalence of ASD can be made at this time.

Research suggests that a complex and variable combination of genetic and environmental factors influences early brain development, leading to ASD [15, 16]. For example, a higher concordance between monozygotic and dizygotic twins is consistently shown, suggesting a genetic link for ASD [17]. Other researchers have estimated that approximately10–15% of persons with autism have a specific genetic mutation (see [18]).

Recent epidemiological studies have shown a positive association between increasing parental age at conception and ASD risk in offspring (see [19] for a review); however, a review of US data concluded that parental age is a very small contributor to the observed increases in the prevalence of ASD [20]. Maternal illness and infection during pregnancy, extreme prematurity, very low birth weight, and complications during birth, particularly those involving periods of oxygen deprivation to the baby's brain, are reported as important risk factors for ASD [19, 21]. Mothers exposed to high levels of pesticides and air pollution may also be at higher risk of having a child with ASD (e.g., [22]), although the evidence for this assertion has been described as limited and of moderate strength (see [23]). Interestingly, maternal smoking is also not associated with increased ASD [24]. A significant positive association has been observed between ASD prevalence and socioeconomic status (SES), suggesting increased risk of ASD with increasing SES. This observed association likely reflects diagnostic biases and/or disparities that exist in accessing services for ASD assessment [25]. Findings from a small number of studies suggest that autism risk is reduced among children whose mothers ingested prenatal vitamins and folic acid, fish and fish oil supplements, and/or fatty acids in the months before and after conception (see [26] for a review). The information available on risk factors associated with ASD clearly suggests that there is no single cause of autism.

Table 1         Prevalence of autism spectrum	ctrum disorders							
	Study details				Populatior			
	Publication type/	Country	Study					
Author, date	research design	(region)	period	Data source	Age	Sex	Ν	Prevalence
World Health Organization, 2013	Report	Global	I	1	I	I	I	6.25/1,000
Baron-Cohen et al., 2009	Cross-sectional	UK	1	Special Educational	5-9	M and	11,700	9.9/1,000
				Needs (SEN) register and survey	years	ц		
Zablotsky et al., 2015	Cross-sectional	US	2011-	Population-based	3-17	M and	43,283	22.4/1,000
			2014		years	Ч		
Autism and Developmental	1	SU	2010	ADDM Network	8 years	M and	1	14.7/1,000
<b>Disabilities Monitoring</b>						ц		(overall) 1/42
Network Surveillance Year 2010								(boys) 1/189
Principal Investigators, 2014								(girls)
Ouellette-Kuntz et al., 2014	Retrospective	Three	2008 -	The National	2-14	M and	I	10.6/1,000
	1	Canadian	2010	Epidemiologic	years	Ч		
		provinces		Database for the Study				
				of Autism in Canada				
				(NEDSAC)				
ADDM Autism and Developmental	I Disabilities Monitc	ring						

## Ataxia

The word ataxia is derived from the Greek word "a taxis" meaning "without order." Patients with ataxia suffer from lack or loss of movement coordination resulting in poor coordination of gait or hands and disturbances in speech and oculomotor control [27]. Ataxia can negatively influence a person's ability to walk, sit, and stand [28]. The prevalence of ataxia in children has been estimated to be 26 per 100,000 [27], and the lifetime prevalence rate is reported to be 50 per 100,000 (see [29]), but these estimates vary depending on the type of ataxia or region. The most common types of ataxia are cerebellar, sensory, and vestibular. Cerebellar ataxia can also be divided into hereditary and nonhereditary ataxias.

#### Hereditary Ataxias

Hereditary cerebellar ataxias (HCA) can be inherited in an autosomal recessive, autosomal dominant, X-linked, and mitochondrial manner.

#### **Autosomal Recessive Ataxias**

In their systematic review and meta-analysis of prevalence in 22 studies, reporting on 14,539 patients from 16 countries, published between 1983 and 2013, Ruano, Melo, Silva, and Coutinho [30] reported that the prevalence rates for autosomal recessive hereditary cerebellar ataxia (AR-HCA) ranged from 0.0 to 7.2 per 100,000. Studies from this review are briefly described here. Two hospital-based studies from Cantabria region in Spain and Alsace region in France reported the highest prevalence rates at 7.2 per 100,000 [31] and 5.3 per 100,000 [32]. Prevalence estimates from multisource studies (i.e., cases from community settings, hospitals, and probands' families included in the estimates) tended to be lower (e.g., 2.3-4.8 per 100,000). For example, in a cross-sectional study conducted in southeast Norway between January 2002 and February 2008, Erichsen, Koht, Stray-Pedersen, Abdelnoor, and Tallaksen [33] found that the prevalence of AR-HCA was 2.3 per 100,000; patients were on average 32 years (range, 4–71 years) and were diagnosed at 9 years of age (range, 1–55 years). Gender differences in prevalence have not been observed. Globally, the incidence rate for AR-HCA is 4 per 100,000 (see [34]). See Table 2 for a summary of statistics found in studies examining the epidemiology of ataxia.

AR-HCA can be grouped into four classes based on the age of onset and key phenotypic features: Friedreich ataxia and early-, adolescent-, and adult-onset ataxias [34]. Friedreich ataxia is the most common form of AR-HCA in the world ([30]; see [35]). Some reports indicate that nearly 50% of all AR-HCA cases comprise Friedreich ataxia; therefore, screening all patients suspected of having AR-HCA for Friedreich ataxia prior to other genetic testing has been recommended [34]. In a retrospective cross-sectional study conducted in Iran, Friedreich ataxia and spinocerebellar ataxia (a type of adolescent-onset ataxia) were the most common types of

TT PAINET	vvalutive, illuturite	ע, מווערט וומווור	101 VUN	mie III mitodat e		n Summ	sviville vpraville	) הו מומעומ		
	Study details				Populati	on				
	Publication									
Author,	type/research	Country	Study							Number or % of
date	design	(region)	period	Data source	Age	Sex	Ν	Prevalence	Incidence	cases
Anheim	Retrospective	France	2002-	Hospitals	I	Μ	95	AR =		
et al.,		(Alsace)	2008			and		5.3/100,000		
2010						Ч				
Erichsen	Cross-sectional	Norway	2002-	Population-	0-80	Μ	171	AR =	1	1
et al.,		(Southeast)	2008	based	years	and		2.3/100,000		
2009						ц		AD = 4.2/100,000		
Farghaly	Community-	Egypt	I	Door-to-door	4-72	M	62,583	Acquired ataxia	1	17 cases (7F; 10
et al., 2011	based			survey	years	and F		= 27.16/100,000		M)
Polo	Retrospective	Spain	1974-	Hospitals,	M and	54	AR =	1		
et al., 1991		(Northern)	1986	families	ц		7.2/100.000			
Nafissi	Retrospective	Iran	1993-	Dr. Shariati	6-73	M	135	1	1	15 cases of HCA
et al., 2009	cross-sectional		1999	Hospital, University of Tehran	years	and F				
Salman	Retrospective	Canada	1991-	Children's	0–16	= M	184	Chronic ataxia =	Chronic	9 cases of
et al., 2013		(Manitoba)	2008	hospital	years	ц		2.4/10,000	ataxia = 3.2/100,000	mitochondrial disease
AD autoson	1al dominant, AR a	utosomal rece	ssive, HCA	A hereditary chro	nic ataxis	a			-	

Table 2 Prevalence, incidence, and/or number of cases reported in studies examining the epidemiology of ataxia

Epidemiology of Cerebellar Disorders

429

HCA identified among 135 patients with cerebellar ataxia from March 1993 to March 1999 in Dr. Shariati Hospital, University of Tehran [36]; however, the percentage of cases of the 15 patients with HCA was not reported. Other reports have estimated lower prevalence of Friedreich ataxia at 0.15 per 100,000, but higher rates for early-onset ataxias (i.e., 0.4 per 100.000 for ataxia telangiectasia) [33].

#### **Autosomal Dominant Ataxias**

In their review, Ruana and colleagues [30] found significant variation in the reported prevalence estimates for autosomal dominant HCA (AD-HCA) across 15 studies. Overall, prevalence of AD-HCA was 2.7 per 100,000 (range, 0–5.6 per 100,000). No cases of AD-HCA were found among 16 Italian patients with hereditary ataxia [37], whereas other work conducted in Portugal suggests a prevalence rate of 5.6 per 100,000 population [38]. Prevalence rates in multisource population-based surveys (e.g., [38]) or in the registry studies (e.g., [39]) were higher than genetic center-based studies ranging from 1.6 to 2.5 per 100,000 [40]. In a cross-sectional study conducted in southeast Norway between January 2002 and February 2008, the prevalence rate of AD-HCA was estimated at 4.2 per 100,000, and only 8% of cases had a genetic diagnosis [33]. The mean age of the cases of AD-HCA was 57 years (13–94 years) without any gender difference after adjustment for age [33]. Among patients with AD-HCA, spinocerebellar ataxia type 3 (SCA3)/Machado-Joseph disease may be the most common, followed by SCA2 and SCA6 (see [30]). See Table 2.

#### X-Linked Ataxias and Ataxias Due to Mitochondrial Mutations

Little information is available on the epidemiology of X-linked and mitochondrial HCA. This may be due to the fact that the required genetic testing for the diagnosis of these conditions is not performed. The few studies that describe X-linked ataxias or ataxias linked to mitochondrial mutations have only found few cases. For example, in a retrospective study using multiple sources of data of children examined at a children's hospital in Manitoba, Canada, Salman, Lee, Tjahjadi, and Chodirker [41] reported nine cases of intermittent or chronic ataxias in children linked to mitochondrial disorder. Therefore, further epidemiological studies are required to determine the extent to which X-linked and mitochondrial HCA occur. See Table 2.

#### Acquired Ataxias

Acquired ataxias are a group of nonhereditary ataxias associated with exposure to alcohol or other toxins or infections or can be due to vitamin deficiency or metabolic disorders [42]. Acquired ataxias are typically divided into two main groups: acute (in a period of minutes to hours it occurs) and subacute (onset is from days to weeks).

Our literature search revealed only one original research study describing the epidemiology of acquired ataxia. In a population-based study, Farghaly and colleagues [29] estimated the crude prevalence rate of acquired ataxia to be 27.16 per 100,000 in Al-Kharga district, New Valley, Egypt. Using a door-to-door survey method, 17 cases of acquired ataxia were identified; on average, individuals were 31.8 years of age (range, 4–72 years) and the male to female ratio was 2.1:1 [29]. See Table 2.

Describing the prevalence rates of acquired ataxia by age group is important because risk factors for the condition often differ across age. In a retrospective study conducted at a children's hospital in Pittsburgh, USA, Thakkar and colleagues [43] reported that post-infectious cerebellar ataxia was a common cause of acute cerebellar ataxia (ACA) affecting 59% of patients with ACA. The authors reported no cases of ACA related to varicella infections; however, other research has indicated that varicella and other infections are strongly associated with ACA [44]. Post-infectious cerebellar ataxia accounts for up to 40% of ACA in preschool children (age 1–4 years), which is followed by toxic ingestion (i.e., 30% of ACA cases) [28]. Strokes (ischemic or hemorrhagic) and medications are other potential causes of ACA, particularly in elderly individuals [29]. Subacute ACA can be observed in various situations, including nutritional deficiencies (vitamin B12, vitamin E, folate, copper), autoimmune or inflammatory diseases, and infectious, primary, and metastatic tumors [34].

#### **Cerebellar Tumors**

Primary brain tumors are the most common type of neoplasms of childhood, comprising approximately 20% of all pediatric tumors. Globally, about 30,000–40,000 children develop central nervous system tumors each year (see [45]). In the United States, over 3,000 children under the age of 20 years are diagnosed with a brain or spinal cord tumor annually [46]. The incidence of brain tumors in children is estimated between 2.76 and 4.28 per 100,000 children per year [47]. Although significant progress has been made in the diagnosis and treatment of brain tumors in children, they are still the primary cause of cancer-related deaths in children. Tumor type and location are important prognostic factors. Tumors of the cerebellum are associated with symptoms such as ataxia, horizontal nystagmus, dysmetria, headache, vomiting, and lethargy [47, 48].

#### Medulloblastoma

Medulloblastomas, which typically arise in the cerebellum, are the most common malignant central nervous system tumor in children and the second most common pediatric brain neoplasm. Medulloblastoma accounts for 12–25% of all central nervous system tumors in children [46]. Medulloblastomas present at approximately

5–7 years of age on average and occur more frequently in boys than in girls [49–51]. Moreover, 25% of newly diagnosed cases of medulloblastoma occur in individuals aged 19 years and older [52]. The earlier incidence estimates of medulloblastoma brain tumor were 9.6 per million in children and 0.54 per million in adults [53, 54]. The European annual incidence rate for primitive neuroectodermal tumors (PNET, morphologically similar tumors arising in other areas of the central nervous system) was reported to be 6.5 per million children (age 0–14 years) for the period 1988–1997 [55]. The incidence rates of medulloblastoma and PNET are fairly stable from birth through 3 years of age and decline gradually thereafter. See Table 3 for a summary of statistics.

Several studies from Asia have examined the epidemiology of cerebellar tumors. In a retrospective cohort study, Tabatabaei and colleagues [47] reviewed the medical records for all pediatric cases of posterior fossa tumor that were referred to a neurosurgical clinic in Iran for surgery from 1981 to 2011. The authors extracted demographic data including patient's age, gender, and tumor characteristics along with the location and pathological diagnosis for all the cases and assessed the surgical outcomes according to pathological diagnosis. The study cohort consisted of 84 patients (52 males, 32 females). Medulloblastoma was found in 42.8% of cases, followed by cerebellar astrocytoma (28.6%), ependymoma (14.3%), brain stem glioma (7.2%), and miscellaneous pathologies (e.g., dermoid, and tuberculoma) (7.2%).

Ahmed and colleagues [56] examined the epidemiology of brain tumors during infancy and childhood using 10 years of data (1989–1998) at a tertiary care hospital in Karachi, Pakistan. Of the 81 cases that were identified, 71.6% were males and 28.4% were females (i.e., male to female ratio of 2.5:1). When dividing the cases into three age groups (0-4, 5-9, 10-14 years), the largest number of cases was found in children ages 5-9 years. The mean age for all cases was 8.8 years (95% CI: 7.9; 9.6) with a marginal variation for cases occurring in the cerebrum and cerebellum. Of the 81 cases, 33.3% were supratentorial, and 66.7% were infratentorial tumors, and 70.4% of the infratentorial tumors were medulloblastomas. Consistent with other research [50], Ahmed and colleagues [56] concluded that pediatric brain tumors are more prevalent among males than females and that medulloblastoma is the most common type of brain tumors in children. Similarly, Asirvatham and colleagues [49] found that medulloblastomas were the second most common type of brain cancers (11.4% of cases) among 1,403 tumors that were identified in children (aged 0-18 years) diagnosed between 1990 and 2004 at a tertiary care center in South India. The mean age at diagnosis was 10.9 years, and males were more frequently diagnosed than females (i.e., ratio of 1.7:1).

Chan and colleagues [57] conducted a 9-year retrospective study based on data reported to the Singapore Children's Cancer Registry from 1997 to 2005. A total of 39 children aged 15 years and younger were diagnosed with medulloblastoma or PNET arising in the cerebellum. Follow-up data for these children were collected up to 2006. Medulloblastoma/PNET was the most common type of brain tumor in the sample, accounting for 40.7% of all brain tumors.

						0	6			
	Study details				Population					
	Publication type/research	Country	Study							
Author, date	design	(region)	period	Data source	Age	Sex	Ν	Prevalence	Incidence	Number or % of cases
Ahmed	Cross-sectional	Pakistan	1989–	Hospital	$M_{age} = 8.8$ years;	M = 71.6%;	81	I	1	1
et al., 2007			1998	database	range: 5–9 years	F = 28.4%				
						M/F = 2.5/1				
Asirvatham	Retrospective	India	1990-	Pathology and	$M_{age} = 10.9$ years;	M/F =	1043	I	1	5 most frequent tumors:
et al., 2011	cohort		2004	medical	range: 0-18 years	1.7/1				astrocytoma (47.3%),
				records						medulloblastoma (11.4%), cranionharvngioma (9.7%).
										ependymal tumors $(4.8\%)$ ,
										nerve sheath tumors (4.1%)
Chan et al.,	Retrospective	Singapore	1997–	Singapore	0–15 years	M and F	39	I	I	Medulloblastoma/PNET =
2007	cohort		2002	Children's						40.7% of tumors
				Cancer Registry						
Giordana	Retrospective	Italy	1976-	Hospital	16-69 years	M and F	4.3	1	All ages: 0.5/million/	45 (32M; 13F) cases of
et al., 1999	cohort study		1995	charts and			million		year; males (0.82/	medulloblastoma
				operating					million/year); females	
				room books					(0.28/million/year);	
				from 5					highest incidence for	
				neurosurgical					16-19 years old (2.33/	
				units					million/year)	

Table 3 Prevalence, incidence, and/or number of cases reported in studies examining the epidemiology of cerebellar tumors

(continued)

	Study details				Population					
Author, date	Publication type/research design	Country (region)	Study period	Data source	Age	Sex	N	Prevalence	Incidence	Number or % of cases
Peris-Bonet et al., 2006		Europe	1978– 1997	ACCIS database	0–14 years	M and F	19,531		ASR for CNS tumors (1988–1997) = 29.9 per million; ASR for PNET = 6.5 per million (1988–1997)	1
Roldán et al., 2008	Retrospective cohort study	Canada	1975– 1996	Alberta Cancer Registry	Age of diagnosis: children $M_{age} = 7$ years; adults $M_{age}$ = 29.2 years	M>F	2.8 million		1	49 cases of medulloblastoma/ PNET
Smoll and Drummond, 2012	Retrospective cohort study	USA	1973– 2007	Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) database	Children 1–9 years 10 times more affected by medulloblastoma and 4.6 times more by PNET	M/F = 1.58/1		1	Medulloblastoma = 1.5 per million population, PNET = 0.62 per million population	1,372 cases of medulloblastoma, 530 cases of PNET
Tabatabaei et al., 2012	Retrospective cohort study	Iran	1981– 2011	Patient records	1–14 years	M>F	84	I	Brain tumors = 2.76–4.28/100,000 children per year	Medulloblastoma in 42.8% of cases
Thorne et al., 1994	Retrospective population- based study	England (Southwest and Northern)	1976– 1991	Bristol Registry of Childhood Cancer	0–14 years	M and F	20.0 million child yrs		1976–1984 = 9.6 per million per year; 1985–1991 = 1.7 per million per year	1976–1984 = 16 cases of medulloblastoma 1985–1991 = 2 cases of medulloblastoma

ASR age-standardized incidence rate, CNS central nervous system, PNET primitive neuroectodermal tumor

Table 3 (continued)
Several studies from North America provided estimates of prevalence and/or incidence rates of cerebellar tumors. Using data from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) database, Smoll and Drummond [50] estimated the incidence rates, ratios, and time trends of medulloblastoma and PNET in children and adults in the United States. Between 1973 and 2007, 1,372 people were diagnosed with a medulloblastoma and 530 with a PNET. The overall incidence rate of medulloblastoma and PNET was estimated at 1.5 and 0.62 per million, respectively; children (1-9 years of age) were ten times more likely to be diagnosed with these tumors than adults (i.e., 6.0 vs. 0.6, respectively). Children were also 4.6 times more likely to be afflicted by a PNET than adults. During childhood, boys were 1.58 times more likely than girls to be diagnosed with a medulloblastoma. Those categorized as "black" were 0.61 times more likely than those classified as "white" to be diagnosed with a medulloblastoma, and this was significant in children and adults [50]. Roldan and colleagues [58] examined 21 years of data (1975–1996) from the Alberta Cancer Registry, a population-based cancer registry for the province of Alberta in Canada, which had a population of 2.8 million in 1996. An addition has been made to clarify that 61% of the total sample of 49 cases were males. The mean age at the diagnosis for children was 7 years and for adults was 29.2 years.

Although some genetic disorders (i.e., Gorlin syndrome, Turcot syndrome, Li-Fraumeni syndrome [LFS]) are associated with an increased risk of medulloblastoma, the etiology is unknown for most patients [59]. Because the highest incidence rate is reported during childhood, very early life experiences may be contributing factors in the development of brain tumors [51]. A meta-analysis conducted by Harder and colleagues [60] confirmed that high birth weight was associated with increased risk for medulloblastoma. Infection during pregnancy and deficient social environment may also be significant risk factors for cerebellar tumors. For example, in a case-control study in England, children of mothers with a documented viral infection during pregnancy had an 11-fold increased risk of malignant nervous system tumor compared to children whose mothers did not have such a history during their pregnancy [61]. Lack of social contact in the first year of life is associated with increased risk of developing a central nervous system tumor in childhood, and the effect is greater for medulloblastoma/PNET [62].

The role of diet as a potential risk or protective factor in brain tumors has been investigated in several studies [e.g., 63, 64, and 65]. In rodents, maternal dietary intake of N-nitroso compounds (NOC) and NOC precursors (e.g., sodium nitrite, amines, and amides) during pregnancy is believed to increase the risk of brain tumor in offspring (e.g., [66]). A large international collaborative case-control study on childhood brain tumors reported that foods associated with increased risk of brain tumors were cured meats, eggs/dairy, and oil products; however, yellow-orange vegetables, fresh fish, and grains reduced the risk significantly [64].

Studies based on a very small sample sizes have also reported that exposure to electromagnetic fields is a potential risk factor for childhood brain tumor [67]. However, in the large-scale United Kingdom (UK) Childhood Cancer Study, the authors found that exposure to electromagnetic fields was not linked to childhood brain tumors [68]. A recent large Canadian study examined the contribution of

maternal occupational exposure to extremely low-frequency magnetic fields shortly before and during pregnancy on the incidence of childhood brain tumors. A significantly increased risk was observed for astroglial tumors as well as for all childhood brain tumors, but no association was specifically assessed for medulloblastoma/ PNET [69].

Several epidemiological investigations have examined the association between parental exposure to pesticide and childhood brain tumors, with the majority reporting positive associations. For example, in a recent population-based case-control study, the association between brain cancer in children and parental exposure to pesticides in occupational and residential settings was investigated [70]. The researchers reported very weak association between PNET for any of the pesticide classes or exposure sources considered. However, Rosso and colleagues [71] found an association between household exposure to chemicals and medulloblastoma/ PNET in children registered with Children's Cancer Group (USA and Canada), particularly for pesticides used in lawn care. A European study found an increased risk of PNET with parental exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (OR = 2.0, 95% CI: 1.0, 4.0) and high maternal exposure to solvent (OR = 3.2, 95% CI: 1.0, 10.3) during the 5-year period before birth [72].

### Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders (FASD)

Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders (FASD) are a group of conditions that occurs when alcohol was consumed during pregnancy. FASD are divided into several subgroups: fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS), partial fetal alcohol syndrome (pFAS), alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder (ARND), and alcohol-related birth defects (ARBD) [73]. Alcohol has irreversible effects on the central nervous system, including abnormal functioning of the amygdala, thinning of the corpus callosum, and reduced brain volume with specific reductions in the frontal lobe, striatum and caudate nucleus, thalamus, and cerebellum [73]. Growth deficiency (height and weight), central nervous system and neurological damage (memory problems, hearing loss, poor gait), and facial dysmorphism (a smooth philtrum, small palpebral fissures, and thin vermilion) are common features of patients with FASD [74].

A recent systematic review of FASD prevalence published in 2013 found significant variations in the reported prevalence estimates across the reviewed studies [75]. Ospina and Dennett [75] classified the 54 studies into six categories based on FASD (or subtypes) prevalence for a specific population. The FASD prevalence estimates for communities based on population-level data range from 0.2 to 5 per 1,000 population. Studies of FASD prevalence in school settings also reported variable estimates, ranging between 0.5 and 10.7%. The reported estimates of FASD prevalence among children in care were found to be much higher than the estimates for school settings or communities, ranging between 30.5 and 52%. A limited number of studies from North America examined FASD prevalence in correctional systems, providing estimates between 9.8 and 23.3%. The majority of studies that examined estimates of FASD prevalence in aboriginal populations were conducted in Canada. The pooled estimate of FAS prevalence in aboriginal people based on six studies was 0.2% or 2 FAS cases per 1,000 population. The FASD prevalence in other specialized settings, for example, in special education settings, was found to be much higher. The pooled prevalence estimate of FAS was 4.9% (95% CI: 2.5, 7.3), and the pFAS prevalence was 5.4%. The great variation observed in the reported estimates could be in part due to the differences in the characteristics of the populations studied (e.g., age, sex, race/ethnicity, aboriginal status), diagnostic criteria used, methods of case ascertainment, and years of data used.

Popova and colleagues [76] conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis of FASD comorbidity in 2016. The authors identified 428 comorbid conditions in persons with FASD. The identified comorbid conditions extended over 18 of 22 chapters of the ICD-10. The comorbid conditions with the highest prevalence were those related to peripheral nervous system and special senses, conduct disorder, receptive language disorder, chronic serous otitis media, and expressive language disorder.

#### **Cerebellar Malformations**

# **Cerebellar** Agenesis

Cerebellar agenesis is an extremely rare condition with complete absence of the cerebellum or with only a small portion of the cerebellum (subtotal cerebellar agenesis) [77, 78]. Primary cerebellar agenesis has a high mortality rate and is typically identified during autopsy. Cerebellar agenesis negatively affects motor skill development, but may improve with age, and has been associated with abnormalities of non-motor functions, such as expressive language, affective behavior, neurological abnormalities, and working memory [79].

Our initial search of studies providing estimates of prevalence and/or incidence, or number of cases, resulted in only one article describing one new case of complete primary cerebellar agenesis [79]. Yu and colleagues [79] described the clinical presentation and subsequent imaging tests of a 24-year-old female, who was married with a daughter, and was living in China. Review of the article revealed seven other publications describing eight living cases of cerebellar agenesis, ranging in age from 4 months to 59 years [77, 80–85]. Interestingly, some individuals with total or subtotal cerebellar agenesis were described as being asymptomatic and having typical neurobehavioral, mental, and physical functioning [81]. See Table 4 for a summary of study statistics.

#### **Dandy-Walker Malformation**

Dandy-Walker malformation (DWM) is a complex developmental anomaly involving the fourth ventricle and cerebellum, characterized by an enlargement of the fourth ventricle, vermian agenesis (partial or complete), and posterior fossa cysts

Table 4 Prevalen	ce, incidence, ai	nd/or number	of cases 1	reported in studie:	s examining th	ie epidemi	ology of cerebe	llar malform	ations	
	Study details				Population					
Disorder	Publication									
Author, date	type, research design	Country (region)	Study period	Data source	Age	Sex	Ν	Prevalence	Incidence	Number of cases or families
Cerebellar agenesis										
Sener and Jinkins, 1993	Case report	Texas, USA	I	University of Texas Health Science Center	58 years	ц	I	I	I	1 case
Sener, 1995	Case report	1		1	6 years	1F;1M	1	I	1	2 cases
Tekin et al., 2002	Case report				7 years	Ц	I	I	I	1 case
Timmann et al., 2003	Case report	Germany	I	I	59 years	ц	I			1 case
Van Hoof and Wilmink, 1996	Case report				46 years	M	I	I	1	1 case
Velioglu et al., 1998	Case report	I	I	1	22 years	M	I	I	1	1 case
Yu et al., 2014	Review, Case report	China	I	General Hospital of Jinan Military Command	24 years	ц	1	1	1	1 case
Dandy-Walker mali	formation									
Di Bella and Pizzo, 2010	Original research, retrospective	Italy (Catania)	1999– 2009	I	Pediatric	I	5,000	32/10,000	1	16 cases
Hakami and Majeed-Saidan, 2011	Retrospective analysis of prospectively collected data	Saudi Arabia	2001– 2010	Neonatal Intensive Care Unit in Riyadh Military Hospital, Riyadh	1	I	94,210	2.3/10,000	1	1
Kontopoulos et al., 2008	Retrospective	Florida, USA	1997– 2005	I	I		600 monochorionic twins	I	1/8,000-10,0000 live births	10 cases

1		2 rasas in one	o cases in one family		1		12 cases; family	developmental delay in 2/7 cases	1 case		12 cases		(continued)
1.36/1,000	1/10,000 live births per year; males (1.24/10,000), females(0.78/10,000)		I	1:18,000–1:100,00	1		1		1		1		
	1		I	1	1.7 per 10,000		I		I		I		
I	45,274 live births	6	n	1	94,210		40		1		45		
		ов. 1М	2F; 1M	I	1		4F; 8M		M		22F; 23F		
I	1	10 10 3	12, 10, 5 years	I	I		15 days to 6	ycars	3 years		8.9 years (30 weeks	gestation – 17 years)	
Kids' Inpatient Database	Population of military personnel and their dependants		I	I	Neonatal Intensive Care Unit in Riyadh Military Hospital		NR		I		I		
1997– 2003	1989– 1999		I	I	2001– 2010		1993– 2003	C007	I		2002– 2008		
USA (22–36 states)	Saudi Arabia (Northern)	Iron	гап	I	Saudi Arabia	sia	Oman		Turkey		Turkey		
	Retrospective analysis of prospectively collected data	Case renort	Case report	Review	Retrospective analysis of prospectively collected data	serebellar hypoplas	Case report		Case report	oplasia	Retrospective study of MRI	and CT images	
McClelland et al., 2015	Ohaegbulam and Afifi, 2001	Joubert syndrome	Aknonutan et al., 2013	Brancati et al., 2010	Hakami and Majeed-Saidan, 2011	Lissencephaly and c	Koul et al., 2006		Ozyurek and Kose, 2005	Pontocerebellar hyp	Alkan et al., 2009		

Table 4 (continu	ied)							
	Study details				Population			
Disorder	Publication							
	type, research	Country	Study					
Author, date	design	(region)	period	Data source	Age	Sex	Ν	Prevalence
Grellner et al., 2000	Case report	Germany	I	1	1.5 years	M	1	I
Zafeiriou et al.,	Retrospective	Greece	I	Tertiary hospital	24–28 weeks	7F; 5MF	12	I
6102	cases study				(mean, 23.0 weeks)			
Gómez-López-Her	nández (GLH) syn	drome						
Abdel-Salam	Case report	Egypt	I	I	24 months	Μ	1	I

Number of cases or families

Incidence I

1 case

Zafeiriou et al., 2013	Retrospective cases study	Greece	1	Tertiary hospital	24–28 weeks (mean, 25.8 weeks)	7F; 5MF	12	I	I	12 cases observed in extreme prematurity
Gómez-López-Hen	nández (GLH) sync	drome								
Abdel-Salam et al., 2014	Case report	Egypt	I	1	24 months	W	1	1	1	1
De Mattos et al., 2014	Review, case report	Brazil	I	1	Minutes old	W	1	I	I	1
Erzin et al., 2016	Letter, case report	Turkey	I	1	24 years	M	1	I	I	1
Fernandez-Jaen et al., 2009	Review, case report	Spain	I	1	14 months; 6 years	M	2	I	I	2
Gomy et al., 2008	Review, case report	Brazil	I	1	12 years; 29 years	M	2	I	I	2
Kobayashi et al., 2015	Case report	Japan	1	1	42 weeks gestational age; then at 4 and 39 years	ц	_	I	1	-
Poretti et al., 2008	Case report	Switzerland	1	I	38 weeks gestation to 39 years	2F;2 M	4	1	I	4 cases
Rush et al., 2013	Case report	USA	I	1	4-11 years	3F;1M	4	1	I	4 cases
Saricam et al., 2015	Case report	Turkey	1	I	16 years	Ц	1	I	I	1 case

dosynapsis (RS)    Iurkey    -    -    19 weeks    -	ncik C	Case report	Germany Armenia	1 1	1 1	3.67 and 15.67 years 1.5–20 years	M M	6	1 1	1 1	1 case 6 cases
ass reportIurkeyass reportIndia $4$ yearsM1ase reportBrenospectiveUSA $4$ yearsM1ase reportIurkey10 $3F; 6$ M9ase reportTurkey1 $3years, 4$ 2 Mset reportJapan3 years, 42 Msase reportJapan3 years, 42 Msase reportJapan3 years, 42 Msase reportJapan3 years, 42 Msase reportJapan3 years, 42 Msase reportJapan3 years, 42 Msase reportJapan3 years, 42 Msase reportJapan1999SignalIata200910,000Signal <td></td> <td>tpsis (RS)</td> <td>- E</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		tpsis (RS)	- E			-					
Case reportIndia4 yearsM1Retrospective,USA-1-100 $3F; 6M$ 9case reportTurkey1Iday-18-3,00013 perRetrospectiveTurkey1Iday-18-3,00013 perRetrospectiveTurkey3,90013 percase reportJapan3,90013 percase reportJapan3,90013 percase reportJapan3,90010,000case reportLatin199cose reportLatin2009cose reportLatin199cose reportLatin200910,00032 percose reportCatanial2012100010,00010,000cose reportLatin2012100010,000cose reportRetrospectiveParstan2012cose reportLatin2012 <td< td=""><td><math>\cup</math></td><td>Case report</td><td>Turkey</td><td>1</td><td>I</td><td>19 weeks</td><td>. ;</td><td>1,</td><td>I</td><td>1</td><td>1 fetus</td></td<>	$\cup$	Case report	Turkey	1	I	19 weeks	. ;	1,	I	1	1 fetus
Retrospective, case reportUSA103F; 6 M9case reportTurkey1 day-18-3,00013 per-RetrospectiveTurkey1 day-18-3,00013 per-RetrospectiveJapan3 years, 42 Mcase reportJapan3 years, 42 MconcipialIaly3 years, 42 MCriginalIaly1999NNCriginalIaly2009NNNCriginalIaly2010Infants with3F;47M80CriginalIran (East200522,500OriginalIran (East200522,500OriginalRetrospectiveKorea199122,500RetrospectiveKorea199122,500RetrospectiveKorea1991RetrospectiveKorea1991 </td <td><math>\sim</math></td> <td>Case report</td> <td>India</td> <td>I</td> <td>I</td> <td>4 years</td> <td>W</td> <td>-</td> <td>I</td> <td>I</td> <td>1 case</td>	$\sim$	Case report	India	I	I	4 years	W	-	I	I	1 case
Retrospective review of MRI examinationsTurkey1 day-18 years-3,00013 per 10,000-case reportJapan3 years, 42 Mcase reportJapan3 years, 42 Mcase reportJapan3 years, 42 Mnn-3 years, 42 Mnn1090nCatania)1099NF5,00032 perreveserch, retrospectiveCatania)2009ProspectivePakistan201010,000OriginalIran (East200522,500OriginalIran (East200522,500RetrospectiveKorea19122,500RetrospectiveKorea191RetrospectiveKorea191RetrospectiveKorea191<	C H	ketrospective, ase report	USA	I	I	10 months-10 years	3F; 6 M	6	I	1	6 cases of RS; 3 cases of partial RS
case reportJapan3 years. 42 Mnnyearsyearsyearsyearsiiiinnnnnyearsniiiinnnnnnnniiiinnnnnnnnnniiinn <td< td=""><td>L L O</td><td>ketrospective eview of MRI xaminations</td><td>Turkey</td><td>I</td><td>I</td><td>1 day–18 years</td><td>1</td><td>3,000</td><td>13 per 10,000</td><td>-</td><td>6 cases reported (3 months-8 years, 3F, 3 M)</td></td<>	L L O	ketrospective eview of MRI xaminations	Turkey	I	I	1 day–18 years	1	3,000	13 per 10,000	-	6 cases reported (3 months-8 years, 3F, 3 M)
Original    Italy    1990-    -    Children    M/F    5,000    32 per    -      research, retrospective    Catania)    2009    -    -    Children    10,000    -    -      Prospective    Pakistan    2010-    -    Infants with    33F;47M    80    -    -    -      Original    Iran (East)    2005-    -    -    anomalies    -	C	ase report	Japan	I	I	3 years, 4 years	2 M	1	I	Ι	2 cases
Original research, research (Catania)Iaby $(2000)$ 199- $(2000)$ -Children $(2000)$ $M/F$ $5,000$ $32 \text{ per}$ -research, retrospective(Catania) $2009$ -L $0000$ $10,000$ -ProspectivePakistan $2010$ -Infants with $33F;47M$ $80$ ProspectiveInfants $2010$ monalies $37;47M$ $80$ OriginalIran (East) $2005$ $22;500$ OriginalKorea19122;500RetrospectiveKorea191-12-250RetrospectiveKorea191RetrospectiveKorea2012	_										
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		Driginal esearch, etrospective	Italy (Catania)	1999– 2009	I	Children	M/F	5,000	32 per 10,000	1	12 cases (0.24%)
Original Azarbaijan)Iran (East 20082005- 200822,500Retrospective review of surgical recordsKorea1991- 201212-250	Ч O	Prospective bservational	Pakistan (Lahore)	2010– 2012	1	Infants with anomalies	33F;47M	80	I	Ι	2 cases (3%)
Retrospective      Korea      1991-      12-250      - </td <td><u> </u></td> <td>Driginal</td> <td>Iran (East Azarbaijan)</td> <td>2005– 2008</td> <td>I</td> <td>1</td> <td>1</td> <td>22,500 pregnant women</td> <td>I</td> <td>-</td> <td>41 fetuses</td>	<u> </u>	Driginal	Iran (East Azarbaijan)	2005– 2008	I	1	1	22,500 pregnant women	I	-	41 fetuses
	H L S	ketrospective eview of urgical records	Korea	1991– 2012		12–250 months	I	1	I	I	54 cases

(continued)
<b>Fable 4</b>

	Study details				Population					
Disorder	Publication		-							-
Author, date	type, research design	Country (region)	Study period	Data source	Age	Sex	Ν	Prevalence	Incidence	Number of cases or families
Meadows et al., 2000	Retrospective analysis of MR images	USA (Maryland)	1994– 1997	Imaging report database, Johns Hopkins Hospital	0–70 years of age	I	22,591	7.8 per 10,000	I	0.77% CMI
Sakushima et al., 2012	Survey	Japan	2008– 2009	Nationwide postal survey	38 ± 23.5 years	56.5%F; 42.1%M	708	I	1	CMI: 48.0%; CMII: 8.1%
Schanker et al., 2011	Case report	USA	1	1	20-62 years	5F;1M	1	1	I	CMI: 3 family pairs (2 mother-daughter; 2 father-daughter)
Tectocerebellar dys	raphia								_	
Agrawal et al., 2010	Case report	India	I	Datta Meghe Institute of Medical Sciences	3 months	W	_	I	I	
Anik et al., 2010	Case report	Turkey	I	Kocaeli University	5 months	ц	1	Ι	I	1
Chowdhary et al., 1989	Original research, case report	Saudi Arabia	I	King Faisal University	1 week to 5 months	3F, 1M	4	I	I	4 cases
Friede, 1978	Case report	Switzerland	I	University of Zürich	2 months, 8 years, newborn	1F; 2M	3	I	I	3 cases
Krishnamurthy et al., 2008	Case report	India	I	Maulana Azad Medical College	7 months	M	1	Ι	I	1 case
Poretti et al., 2011	Case report	USA	I	The Johns Hopkins School of Medicine	4 years	Ľ,		1	I	1 case

CMI Chiari type I malformations, CMII Chiari type II malformations

[86–88]. Hydrocephalus is a common finding in DWM cases and can lead to death if not treated quickly [89].

A number of studies conducted in the United States [90, 91], Italy [92], and Saudi Arabia [93] have examined the epidemiology of DWM. All of the studies had retrospective designs, with sample sizes ranging between 129 and 14,599.

Di Bella and Pizzo [92] examined the health records of 5,000 children referred to a pediatric radiology unit at the University Hospital of Catania, Italy, for diagnostic procedures over a 10-year period (January 1999–October 2009). The authors found 16 cases of DWM, ranging in age from 1 month to 9 years (ten males, six females). Thus, based on this study, the prevalence of DWM was estimated at 32 per 10,000 population.

In a retrospective analysis of prospectively collected data on all newborns admitted to the neonatal intensive care unit in Riyadh Military Hospital, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, Hakami and Majeed-saidan [93] reported that 22 infants were identified with Dandy-Walker anomaly (incidence, 2.3 per 10,000). This rate was higher than that estimated in a population of military personnel and their dependents in the Northern region of Saudi Arabia. Ohaegbulam and Afifi [94] identified all infants diagnosed with DWM during an 11-year period (1989–1999) from a cohort of 45,274 live births. The incidence of DWM was 1 per 10,000 live births per year and was higher for males (1.24 per 10,000) than for females (0.78 per 10,000).

In the United States, the incidence of DWM has been estimated at 1.36 per 1,000 in study examining data from the Kids' Inpatient Database containing information from hospitals in 22–36 states covering 1997–2003 [89]. Another US study reported that the incidence of DWS in complicated monochorionic twins was approximately 200 times higher than that expected for the general population [90]. DWS was also more likely to occur in the smaller twin and more likely to be restricted in growth. Other research has shown that DWM is associated with maternal non-Hispanic black ethnicity, a history of infertility treatment, preterm birth, low birthweight, and twin births [95], but these findings have been inconsistent [96]. See Table 4.

# Joubert Syndrome and Related Disorders (JSRD)

Joubert syndrome and related disorders (JSRD), originally described in 1968 as Joubert syndrome, is primarily an autosomal recessive neurologic disorder characterized by absence or hypoplasia of the cerebellar vermis and a malformation in the brain stem resulting in hypotonia, developmental delay, neonatal respiratory dysregulation, abnormal eye movements, ataxia, polydactyly, and intellectual disability [97–99]. Nephronophthisis (NPHP) or cystic renal dysplasia is seen in approximately one-quarter of cases of Joubert syndrome [100]. An important malformation is the "molar tooth sign" (MTS) – a pathognomonic midbrain-hindbrain malformation [101, 102].

Globally, the incidence of Joubert syndrome has been estimated at 1 per 80,000–100,000 live births, although some researchers suggest that this range may underestimate the actual number of cases of the syndrome [101]. For example, Srour and colleagues [103, 104] suggest that within the French-Canadian population, there is a higher prevalence of Joubert syndrome, particularly in the Saint Lawrence region of the province of Quebec, Canada. Akhonidan and colleagues [105] identified and described the same presentations of Joubert syndrome in three family members in Iran. In a Saudi Arabian study, Hakami and Majeed-saidan [93] (see also Dandy-Walker Malformation) found 22 cases of Joubert syndrome (incidence, 1.7 per 10,000 live births). Thus, it appears that ethnicity can be a risk factor for the condition.

# Lissencephaly and Cerebellar Hypoplasia (LCH)

Lissencephaly and cerebellar hypoplasia (LCH) is a rare autosomal recessive disorder in which the cerebellum, cerebrum, and brain stem are affected [106]. Generally, lissencephaly is caused by impairment in neuron migration, which is essential for development of the cerebellar cortex. Consequently, the cerebellar cortex becomes smooth (lack of folia and sulci) [107]. Seizures, hypotony or spasm, and psychomotor retardation are the symptoms of LCH and death typically occurs at an early age. Affected individuals have moderate to severe intellectual disabilities and delayed development. Prevalence of LCH is largely unknown [108]. Koul, Jain, and Chacko [109] examined data from all children in Oman (population 2.3 million) from January 1993 to December 1997 and identified 12 cases of lissencephaly. In another report, researchers in Turkey described a case of Joubert syndrome with lissencephaly [110] but the type of lissencephaly was not reported. Recently, Zika virus infection in pregnant mothers has been suggested as a risk factor for lissencephaly [111].

### Pontocerebellar Hypoplasia (PCH)

Pontocerebellar hypoplasia (PCH) is a group of prenatal onset, autosomal recessive, neurodegenerative disorders that affects brain development [112]. Characteristic features of PCH include atrophy of the brain stem, particularly pons (pontine nuclei), and cerebellum, movement problems, intellectual disability, and communication difficulties (i.e., lack of ability to speak) [113]. Affected individuals die during infancy or childhood [114] before the age of 6 years [115].

The condition appears to affect males and females similarly and has been observed in infants born extremely prematurely [116]. About 100 cases of PCH have been reported in the literature [117]. Alkan, Kizilkilic, and Yildirim [118] conducted a retrospective study of the magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans and

computed tomography images from 45 children (22 girls, 23 boys; 30 weeks–17 years of age) of cerebellar malformation and found 12 cases with cerebellar hypoplasia. Grellner, Rohde, and Wiski [119] describe one case of PCH type 2 - a 1.5-year-old boy who had severe psychomotor delay and dyskinesia and epileptic seizures. The genetics of PCH are largely understood; as such, in a specific community in the Netherlands, genetic carrier screening has taken place to identify high-risk couples for having children with PCH [120]. Between September 2012 and 2013, Mathijssen and colleagues [120] identified 4 of 92 couples were carriers with a 1-in-4 risk of having a child with PCH type 2 in each pregnancy.

### Gómez-López-Hernández Syndrome (GLH)

Gómez-López-Hernández (GLH) syndrome, also known as cerebellotrigeminaldermal dysplasia, is a neurocutaneous disorder characterized by rhombencephalosynapsis (see Rhombencephalosynapsis section below) and trigeminal anesthesia [121]. GLH manifestations may include alopecia (partial or complete hair loss); hypotonia; wide-spaced eyes; ataxia; impaired pain sensation; low-set, posteriorly rotated ears; short stature; developmental delay; and seizures [122]. Although intellectual disability is typically observed, individuals with normal cognitive function have been described in the literature (e.g., [123]).

Only 34 cases of GLH have been reported worldwide. Cases have been described in Armenia [124], Brazil [125], Egypt [126], Germany [127], Japan [121], Spain [122], Switzerland [128], and Turkey [129, 130]. Because many of the cases described have occurred in Brazil, a "founder effect" has been suggested for GLH in Brazil [125]. Several researchers have argued that GLH may not be as rare as has been previously thought; they suggest that it is under-recognized in the pediatric population because clinical presentation varies in severity [121, 123, 128].

Suggested risk factors for GLH include smoking and cannabis use and the use of other drugs (i.e., valproate, ethosuximide) by mothers during pregnancy [131]. No specific mutation or chromosomal abnormality has been identified for GLH; however, the findings reported by de Mattos and colleagues [125], Gomy and colleagues [132], and Saricam and colleagues [130] suggest an autosomal recessive pattern of inheritance. Erzin and colleagues [129] report the only case of GLH with schizophrenia.

# Rhombencephalosynapsis

Rhombencephalosynapsis is a rare midline brain malformation that involves cerebellar vermis absence, fusion (continuity) of the cerebellar hemispheres, and fusion of the dentate nuclei [133]. Rhombencephalosynapsis can occur in isolation or in combination with other anomalies such as Gómez-López-Hernández syndrome (see above), VACTERL features, and holoprosencephaly [133–135]. Patients suffer from truncal ataxia, limb ataxia, head stereotypies, delayed motor development, abnormal eye movements, and other features determined by supratentorial abnormalities [136].

Some authors suggest that there are only about 30–35 cases of rhombencephalosynapsis that have been identified and described in the literature from 1914 to 1995 [135, 137], but there may be over 100 cases [138] reported in the literature worldwide. A number of studies from the United States [133, 139], Japan [135], India [138], and Turkey [137, 140] have been published. The majority of these studies are case reports describing one or two cases; however, Tully and colleagues [133] describe their comprehensive search for patients with RES in a database of more than 6,800 individuals with brain malformations and other developmental brain disorders. The authors found and described 53 cases of RES and the features of GLH, VACTERL, or other malformations that presented in conjunction with RES. Examination of the MRI scans of 3,000 children, Sener [137] estimated the prevalence of rhombencephalosynapsis to be 0.13% (13 per 10,000), a finding that was higher than expected. Clinicians generally recommend that differential diagnosis should be made from DWM and other anomalies [140].

#### Chiari Malformations

Chiari malformations are classified by type (types I–IV) based on the severity of the structural defects in the cerebellum, craniocervical junction, and brain stem [141]. In most cases, the posterior fossa is small resulting in downward displacement of the cerebellum and lower medulla together or the cerebellum alone into the spinal canal [142]. Consequently, cerebrospinal fluid can be blocked, and symptoms such as abnormal eye movements, headache, dizziness, muscle numbness, and problems with balance and coordination can be observed [143, 144]. Chiari type II malformations (CMII) are usually identified at or before birth [145] but may go undetected if symptoms are not apparent. This is often the case for Chiari type I malformations (CMI), which is frequency asymptomatic and may not be recognized until adolescence or adulthood [146]. The average age of a CMI diagnosis has been reported to be  $24.9 \pm 15.8$  years [147].

Information on prevalence of Chiari malformations at the population level is lacking. Although several studies have provided estimates of Chiari malformation prevalence (0.01–3.6% of the population), these studies are based on imaging data collected at a single center or hospital and may not reflect the true prevalence of the condition [148, 149]. Nevertheless, these studies are valuable in describing the epidemiology of Chiari malformations. For example, Meadows and colleagues [150] conducted a retrospective examination of more than 22,000 brain MRI scans and estimated the prevalence of CMI at 7.8 per 10,000. The earlier studies from Western countries reported prevalence estimates of 8.2–8.4 per 100,000 [151, 152]. One study based on 2 years of data for newborns admitted to a hospital in Pakistan reported that 3% of all the cases were diagnosed with Chiari malformation [153].

Lee and colleagues [154] retrospectively reviewed 21 years of medical records for pediatric patients who underwent surgery at an institution in Korea for symptomatic CMI. A total of 54 children were identified with symptomatic CMI. Four patients were between the ages of 3 and 27 months, 9 were 3 and 4 years of age, and 41 were 5 and 17 years of age. More males than females were identified in the younger two age groups, but more females than males were identified in the oldest age group. Sakushima and colleagues [155] conducted a survey of hospitals in Japan between August 2008 and July 2009 and found that among a sample of 708 patients with syringomyelia, 48% were diagnosed with CMI and 8.1% with CMII. The authors also reported that Chiari malformation was more common in children than adults.

A few studies examined incidence of Chiari malformations. In one study, 3 years of ultrasound examinations for 22,500 pregnant women from East Azarbaijan in Iran were reviewed to estimate incidence of these conditions [156]. Of the 22,500 pregnancies, 112 (or 0.5%) of fetuses had central nervous system anomalies and 41 had Chiari malformations. Ghavami and Abedinzadeh [156] concluded that Chiari malformations and hydrocephalus were the two most common central nervous system abnormalities in East Azarbaijan in Iran.

While the exact cause of Chiari malformation is unknown, research suggests that genetic factors are the most likely. For example, Schanker and colleagues [149] described a series of three family pairs with CMI and suggested that along with the previously described underlying culprit genes, estrogen may also be a factor in the development of Chiari malformations. CMI has also been found to coexist with ASD, but CMI is often under-recognized in individuals with ASD because symptoms are attributed to autism [157].

# Tectocerebellar Dysraphia

Tectocerebellar dysraphia is an extremely rare congenital malformation consisting of vermian hypoplasia or aplasia, an occipital encephalocele, and dorsal traction of the brain stem, such that the hypoplastic cerebellar hemispheres are rotated around the brain stem to lie ventrolaterally [158]. Very few cases of tectocerebellar dysraphia have been reported in the scientific literature [159]. Children with tectocerebellar dysraphia generally have very low intellectual functioning, and 40–75% die before their first birthday, largely because of hydrocephalus [160].

Tectocerebellar dysraphia is a condition so rare that prevalence and incidence estimates cannot and have not been made. Thus, we examined eight published case reports; these case reports describe the following cases: one 3-month-old boy in India [161], one 5-month-old girl [162], and two cases (8-year-old boy, 2-month-old boy) but the authors also noted three other cases previously described [163], 7-month-old male in India [158], 4-year-old girl in the United States [164], and four cases (three girls, one boy) in Saudi Arabia [165]. Some authors suggest that variants of tectocerebellar dysraphia (e.g., tectocerebellar dysraphism with an occipital encephalocele) are structural manifestations of Joubert syndrome [164].

### Other

# **Cerebellitis**

Acute cerebellitis is an inflammatory syndrome characterized by cerebellar dysfunction ([166], as cited in [167]). Vomiting, headaches, tremors, nystagmus, dysarthria, and states of consciousness ranging from sleepiness to coma are common symptoms of severe cerebellitis [168, 169]. Patients with acute cerebellitis may also exhibit broad-based gait disturbance, poor coordination of finger-to-nose movements (dysmetry), and irritability [168]. Cerebellitis typically occurs in early childhood either during or after infection or postvaccination or has autoimmune etiologies.

An important causative pathogen for cerebellitis is varicella zoster virus (VZV), an acute, exanthematous, and highly infectious disease, which causes chickenpox (varicella) in childhood, and shingles (herpes zoster) in later life [168, 170]. In a retrospective study using 10 years of data (October 2003–June 2013) from Bambino Gesu Hospital, Rome, Italy, Bozzola and colleagues [168] found that 48 out of 457 (10.5%) children hospitalized with varicella developed acute cerebellitis. All children were unvaccinated for the virus. The highest frequency of cerebellitis occurred in children aged 1–5 years (60.9%), followed by children aged 5–10 years (34.1%), and those 10+years (5%). Girls and boys were affected equally. See Table 5 for a summary of study statistics.

The majority of the literature describes isolated case reports of the most severe but rare cases of cerebellitis (cf [171]), and these cases are typically associated with viruses other than VZV. Specifically, cases of acute cerebellitis have been associated with the Epstein-Barr virus, mycoplasma pneumoniae, rotavirus, human herpesvirus 7, mumps, influenza, and nonspecific viral infections (see [171] for a review). Hackett and colleagues [172] recently reported a case of a 6-year-old girl with an influenza A (H1N1) infection in Ireland presented with acute cerebellitis. In the United States, Hashemi and colleagues [173] described the first reported case of a 9-year-old boy, who presented with hemorrhagic cerebellitis secondary to Plasmodium falciparum infection, after traveling in Tanzania. In their retrospective evaluation of the medical records of 194 patients with Epstein-Barr virus infection who were hospitalized in the Department of Infectious Diseases and Child Neurology at the University of Medical Sciences in Poznan, Poland, between January 2010 and January 2015, Mazur-Melewska and colleagues [174] found two cases of cerebellitis (1.03%). Uchizono, Iwasa, Toyoda, Takahashi, and Komada [175] reported what may be the first case of a 7-year-old girl presenting with cerebellitis following group A streptococcal infection in Japan. Although no genetic causes have been identified for acute cerebellitis, Xu and colleagues [176] reported its occurrence in identical twin boys (aged 15 years) 8 days apart in Shijiazhuang, China; a viral infection, however, could not be ruled out. An important challenge for physicians and epidemiologists is to correctly identify the acute cerebellitis because there is considerable overlap in presentation with acute post-infectious ataxia [28] and opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome [177].

#### Cerebellar Stroke

Cerebellar stroke is characterized by complaints of dizziness, vertigo, and vomiting [178]. Pontine compression and acute hydrocephalus secondary to the obstruction of the fourth ventricle may occur as a result of swelling after the infarction, which may further result in decreased level of consciousness and arousal. Cerebellar injury early in life stunts cerebellar growth and negatively affects neurodevelopment (cf [179]).

As is true of other cerebellar disorders, cerebellar stroke is unusual in children (see [180]). When cerebellar infarction does occur, these cases are described in the research literature (see Table 5). For example, Lin and colleagues [180] reported a case of a 12-year-old boy presenting with vomiting, gait disturbance, and headache; cerebellar stroke was confirmed with magnetic resonance angiography. Interestingly, the boy had no history of neck manipulation, trauma, or other relevant medical history. In their retrospective evaluation of 977 childhood (<16 years of age) cases of malaria in England and Wales reported between January 2004 and December 2008, Garbash and colleagues [181] found that one child developed cerebellar infarction. Estimating incidence and prevalence has been described as difficult because symptoms, such as ataxia, are not seen clearly during a bedside examination [178]. The overall incidence of cerebellar stroke across all ages is estimated to be 1.5% ( $M_{age} = 65$  years) (see [182]). Thakkar and colleagues [43] reported that of the 120 cases of acute ataxia that occurred in children (0-18 years of age) that were seen at Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh between January 2003 and December 2013, cerebellar stroke was identified in two (1.7%) cases. See Table 5.

Risk factors for cerebellar stroke typically include trauma, drugs, and central nervous system infection (see [183]). When trauma has been sustained through sport, stroke may occur in boys 6.6 times more than in girls [183] and may occur with sudden movement [184]. Other risk factors include congenital cervical anomaly and vascular or connective tissue disease. After reviewing pediatric cases of vertebral artery dissection (VAD) described in the literature, Hasan and colleagues [183] reported a high incidence of associated cervical anomalies (i.e., 10/68 cases). Although rare, cerebellar stroke may occur in children and young adults who overdose on tricyclic antidepressants [185]. Thoon and Chan [186] have also reported one case of stroke in the left cerebellum in a 10-year-old girl following influenza vaccination during influenza season. Another important risk factor for cerebellar infarction is prematurity [179, 182]. Khair and colleagues [182] described a case of a 4.5-year-old girl, who was one member of a quadruplet born at 28 weeks gestation, presenting with a number of symptoms indicative of cerebellar stroke. Cerebellar infarction was subsequently confirmed with an MRI. Cerebellar injury is important to identify as it has important implications for long-term cognitive development [179].

Table 5 Preva	alence, incidence, aı	nd/or number of	cases reported	d in studies of in	ivestigating	other cer	ebellar con	ditions		
	Study details				Population					
Disorder	Publication									
Author, date	type, research design	Country/ region	Study period	Data source	Age	Sex	Ν	Prevalence	Incidence	Number of cases or families
Cerebellitis										
Hackett et al., 2013	Case report	Ireland	I	1	6 years	ц	1	I	I	1 case associated with influenza A
Hashemi et al., 2015	Case report	SU	I	I	9 years	X	1	I	1	1 case associated with <i>Plasmodium</i> falciparum infection
Mazur- Melewska et al., 2015	Retrospective evaluation, case report	Poland	2010-2015	University of Medical Sciences	5.1 years	84F; 110M	194 with Epstein- Bar Virus	I	1	2 cases (1.03%)
Uchizono et al., 2013	Case report	Japan	I	I	7 years	ц	1	I	1	1 case associated with group A streptococcal infection
Xu et al., 2008	Case report	China	1	Third Hospital, Hebei Medical University	15 years	2M	1	1	1	2 cases likely associated with a viral infection

Ē 4 the -<u>E</u> -1 fi. 1. ب م ۲, d/o . واد þ ų Tabla

Cerebellar str	oke									
Garbash et al., 2010	Retrospective	UK (England, Wales)	January 2004– December 2008	Pediatric Intensive Care Unit Audit Network (PICANet)	Children (<16 years)	I	977 malaria cases	1	1	1 case of cerebellar stroke
Kawakami et al., 2009	Case report	Japan	I	I	8 years	Μ	1	1	I	1 case associated with trauma during sport
Khair et al., 2014	Review, case report	Qatar	I	I	4.5 years	ц	1	I	1.5%	1 case, premature birth
Lin et al., 2007	Case report	Taiwan	I	1	12 years	М	1	I	I	1 case
Thakkar et al., 2016	Original research, retrospective	USA (Pittsburgh)	January 2003– December 2013	I	0–18 years	I	120	1.7% among cases of ataxia	1	2 cases
Thoon and Chan, 2012	Case report	Chinese- Thai	I	1	10 years	ц	1	1	1	1 case associated with influenza

# Conclusions

For many cerebellar disorders, prevalence and incidence rates are unknown, or the values have been underestimated; this is true both at the global and regional levels. Scant epidemiological information can be partly attributed to lack of comprehensive healthcare systems in various parts of the world (see [27]), making diagnosis at an early age difficult or impossible. Fetal loss may also contribute to inaccurate epidemiologic measure, because prevalence and incidence are typically estimated using living individuals [187]. Underestimates may also be the result of cases of cerebellar disorder not being classified accurately in published studies; as such, they may be excluded from analysis (see [30]). In a similar vein, in an effort to include a greater number of affected individuals in epidemiological studies, groups of patients may be relatively heterogeneous in composition (see [30]). Thus, case studies become a very important means with which to communicate the various signs, symptoms, comorbidities, and complications associated with a certain disorders, particularly for those cerebellar disorders that have been described as extremely rare (e.g., cerebellar agenesis, tectocerebellar dysraphia). Further population-based epidemiological studies are important for determining the impact of cerebellar disorders worldwide and providing information regarding the causes and appropriate treatments for these disorders.

# References

- 1. Commission European. Rare diseases [Internet]. 2016. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/ research/health/index.cfm?pg=area&areaname=rare.
- 2. Civic Impulse. H.R. 4013 107th congress: rare diseases act of 2022 [Internet]. 2016. Available from: https://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/107/hr4013.
- 3. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 5th ed. Arlington: American Psychiatric Publishing; 2013.
- 4. Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network Surveillance Year 2010 Principal Investigators enters for DC and P. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years – autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 Sites, United States, 2010. vol. 63, MMWR. 2014.
- Becker EBE, Stoodley CJ. Autism spectrum disorder and the cerebellum. In: Konopka G, editor. International review of neurobiology. London: Academic Press/Elsevier; 2013. p. 1–34.
- 6. World Health Organization. Autism spectrum disorders & other developmental disorders. Geneva; 2013.
- 7. Gillberg C, Wing L. Autism: not an extremely rare disorder. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1999;99:399–406.
- Lai M-C, Lombardo M V, Baron-Cohen S. Autism. Lancet [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2016 Nov 18];383(9920):896–910. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S0140673613615391.
- Schieve LA, Rice C, Yeargin-Allsopp M, Boyle CA, Kogan MD, Drews C, et al. Parentreported prevalence of autism Spectrum disorders in US-born children: an assessment of changes within birth cohorts from the 2003 to the 2007 National Survey of Children's Health.

Matern Child Health J [Internet]. Springer US; 2012 [cited 2016 Nov 18];16(S1):151–7. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10995-012-1004-0.

- Baron-Cohen S, Scott FJ, Allison C, Williams J, Bolton P, Matthews FE, et al. Prevalence of autism-spectrum conditions: UK school-based population study. Br J Psychiatry. 2009;194:500–9.
- 11. Zablotsky B, Black LI, Maenner MJ, Schieve LA, Blumberg SJ. Estimated prevalence of autism and other developmental disabilities following questionnaire changes in the 2014 National Health Interview Survey. [Internet]. National health statistics reports. 2015. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26632847.
- Kim YS, Leventhal BL, Koh Y-J, Fombonne E, Laska E, Lim E-C, et al. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders in a total population sample. Am J Psychiatry [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2016 Nov 18];168(9):904–12. Available from: http://psychiatryonline.org/doi/abs/10.1176/appi. ajp.2011.10101532.
- Roelfsema MT, Hoekstra RA, Allison C, Wheelwright S, Brayne C, Matthews FE, et al. Are autism Spectrum conditions more prevalent in an information-technology region? A school-based study of three regions in the Netherlands. J Autism Dev Disord [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2016 Nov 18];42(5):734–9. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/ s10803-011-1302-1.
- Ouellette-Kuntz H, Coo H, Lam M, Breitenbach M, Hennessey PE, Jackman PD, et al. The changing prevalence of autism in three regions of Canada. J Autism Dev Disord. 2013;44:120–36.
- Daniels JL. Autism and the environment. Environ Health Perspect [Internet]. National Institute of Environmental Health Science; 2006 [cited 2016 Nov 18];114(7):A396. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16835036.
- Newschaffer CJ, Croen LA, Daniels J, Giarelli E, Grether JK, Levy SE, et al. The epidemiology of autism spectrum disorders. Annu Rev Public Health [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2016 Nov 18];28(1):235–58. Available from: http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/10.1146/annurev. publhealth.28.021406.144007.
- Lichtenstein P, Carlström E, Råstam M, Gillberg C, Anckarsäter H. The genetics of autism spectrum disorders and related neuropsychiatric disorders in childhood. Am J Psychiatry [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2016 Nov 18];167(11):1357–63. Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20686188.
- Abrahams BS, Geschwind DH. Advances in autism genetics: on the threshold of a new neurobiology. Nat Rev Genet [Internet]. NIH Public Access; 2008 [cited 2016 Nov 18];9(5):341–55. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18414403.
- Kolevzon A, Gross R, Reichenberg A, E F, LS P, C G, et al. Prenatal and perinatal risk factors for autism. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med [Internet]. American Medical Association; 2007 [cited 2016 Nov 18];161(4):326. Available from: http://archpedi.jamanetwork.com/article. aspx?doi=10.1001/archpedi.161.4.326.
- Rice CE, Rosanoff M, Dawson G, Durkin MS, Croen LA, Singer A, et al. Evaluating changes in the prevalence of the autism spectrum disorders (ASDs). Public Health Rev [Internet]. NIH Public Access; 2012 [cited 2016 Nov 18];34(2):1–22. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/26236074.
- 21. Joseph RM, Korzeniewski SJ, Allred EN, O'Shea TM, Heeren T, Frazier JA, et al. Extremely low gestational age and very low birth weight for gestational age are risk factors for ASD in a large cohort study of 10-year-old children born at 23–27 weeks gestation. Am J Obstet Gynecol [Internet]. Elsevier Ltd; 2016. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/ retrieve/pii/S0002937816319895.
- Hwang B-F, Lee YL, Jaakkola JJK. Air pollution and the risk of cardiac defects. Medicine (Baltimore) [Internet]. 2015;94(44):1–10. Available from: http://content.wkhealth.com/ linkback/openurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=00005792-201511030-00023.
- 23. Lam J, Sutton P, Kalkbrenner A, Windham G, Halladay A, Koustas E, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of multiple airborne pollutants and autism spectrum disorder. PLoS

One [Internet]. 2016;11(9):e0161851. Available from: http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0161851.

- Rosen BN, Lee BK, Lee NL, Yang Y, Burstyn I. Maternal smoking and autism spectrum disorder: a meta-analysis. J Autism Dev Disord [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2016 Nov 18];45(6):1689– 98. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10803-014-2327-z.
- 25. Durkin MS, Maenner MJ, Meaney FJ, Levy SE, DiGuiseppi C, Nicholas JS, et al. Socioeconomic inequality in the prevalence of autism spectrum disorder: evidence from a U.S. cross-sectional study. Myer L, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. Public Library of Science; 2010 [cited 2016 Nov 18];5(7):e11551. Available from: http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0011551.
- Lyall K, Schmidt RJ, Hertz-Picciotto I. Maternal lifestyle and environmental risk factors for autism spectrum disorders. Int J Epidemiol [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2016 Nov 18];43(2):443– 64. Available from: http://www.ije.oxfordjournals.org/cgi/doi/10.1093/ije/dyt282.
- 27. Musselman KE, Stoyanov CT, Marasigan R, Jenkins ME, Konczak J, Morton SM, et al. Prevalence of ataxia in children: a systematic review. Neurology. 2014;82(1):80–9.
- Sivaswamy L. Approach to acute ataxia in childhood: diagnosis and evaluation. Pediatr Ann [Internet]. 2014;43(4):153–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/24716559.
- Farghaly WMA, El-Tallawy HN, Shehata GA, Rageh TA, Hakeem NA, Abo-Elfetoh NM. Population-based study of acquired cerebellar ataxia in Al-Kharga district, New Valley. Egypt Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2011;7(1):183–7.
- 30. Ruano L, Melo C, Silva MC, Coutinho P. The global epidemiology of hereditary ataxia and spastic paraplegia: a systematic review of prevalence studies. Neuroepidemiology. 2014;42(3):174–83.
- 31. Polo JM, Calleja J, Combarros O, Berciano J. Hereditary ataxias and paraplegias in Cantabria, Spain. An epidemiological and clinical study. Brain [Internet]. 1991 [cited 2016 Sep 29];855–66. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2043954.
- 32. Anheim M, Fleury M, Monga B, Laugel V, Chaigne D, Rodier G, et al. Epidemiological, clinical, paraclinical and molecular study of a cohort of 102 patients affected with autosomal recessive progressive cerebellar ataxia from Alsace, Eastern France: implications for clinical management. Neurogenetics [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2016 Sep 29];11(1):1–12. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19440741.
- Erichsen AK, Koht J, Stray-Pedersen A, Abdelnoor M, Tallaksen CME. Prevalence of hereditary ataxia and spastic paraplegia in southeast Norway: a population-based study. Brain. 2009;132(6):1577–88.
- 34. FogelBL. Childhoodcerebellarataxia. JChildNeurol[Internet]. 2012;27(9):1138–45. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubmed&id=227641 77&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks\npapers3://publication/doi/10.1177/0883073812448231\ nhttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3490706&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abst.
- 35. López-Bastida J, Perestelo-Pérez L, Montón-Alvarez F, Serrano-Aguilar P. Social economic costs and health-related quality of life in patients with degenerative cerebellar ataxia in Spain. Mov Disord [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2016 Sep 30];23(2):212–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17999424.
- 36. Nafissi S, Maghdour A, Sikaroodi H, Hosseini SS. Epidemiology of cerebellar ataxia on the etiological basis: a cross sectional study. Acta Medica Iranica. 2009;47(6):465–468.
- Filla A, De Michele G, Marconi R, Bucci L, Carillo C, Castellano AE, et al. Prevalence of hereditary ataxias and spastic paraplegias in Molise, a region of Italy. J Neurol [Internet]. 1992 [cited 2016 Nov 16];239(6):351–3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/1512613.
- Coutinho P, Ruano L, Loureiro JL, Cruz VT, Barros J, Tuna A, et al. Hereditary ataxia and spastic paraplegia in Portugal: a population-based prevalence study. JAMA Neurol [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2016 Nov 16];70(6):746–55. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/23609960.

- 39. Tsuji S, Onodera O, Goto J, Nishizawa M. Sporadic ataxias in Japan a population-based epidemiological study. The Cerebellum [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2016 Nov 14];7(2):189–97. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s12311-008-0028-x.
- 40. van de Warrenburg BPC, Sinke RJ, Verschuuren-Bemelmans CC, Scheffer H, Brunt ER, Ippel PF, et al. Spinocerebellar ataxias in the Netherlands: prevalence and age at onset variance analysis. Neurol Int. 2002 [cited 2016 Nov 14];58(5):702–8. Available from: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11889231.
- 41. Salman MS, Lee EJ, Tjahjadi A, Chodirker BN. The epidemiology of intermittent and chronic ataxia in children in Manitoba. Canada Dev Med Child Neurol. 2013;55(4):341–7.
- 42. Klockgether T. Ataxias. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2007;13:391-4.
- 43. Thakkar K, Maricich SM, Alper G. Acute ataxia in childhood: 11-year experience at a major Pediatric Neurology Referral Center. J Child Neurol [Internet]. 2016;31(9):1156–60. Available from: http://jcn.sagepub.com/cgi/doi/10.1177/0883073816643407.
- 44. van der Maas NAT, Bondt PEV, de Melker H, Kemmeren JM. Acute cerebellar ataxia in the Netherlands: a study on the association with vaccinations and varicella zoster infection. Vaccine [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2016 Sep 30];27(13):1970–3. Available from: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19186201.
- Bleyer WA. Epidemiologic impact of children with brain tumors. Child's Nerv Syst [Internet]. 1999;15(11–12):758–63. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10603019.
- Tamburro RF Jr, Barfield R, Gajjar A. Pediatric critical care medicine. Clin Pediatr Emerg Med. 2007;8(3):137–8.
- 47. Tabatabaei SM, Seddighi A, Seddighi AS. Posterior fossa tumor in children. Iran J Child Neurol. 2012;6(2):19–24.
- 48. Bonfield CM, Steinbok P. Pediatric cerebellar astrocytoma: a review. Childs Nerv Syst. 2015;31(10):1677–85.
- 49. Asirvatham JR, Deepti AN, Chyne R, Prasad MSN, Chacko AG, Rajshekhar V, et al. Pediatric tumors of the central nervous system: a retrospective study of 1,043 cases from a tertiary care center in South India. Childs Nerv Syst. 2011;27(8):1257–63.
- Smoll NR, Drummond KJ. The incidence of medulloblastomas and primitive neurectodermal tumours in adults and children. J Clin Neurosci [Internet]. Elsevier Ltd; 2012;19(11):1541–4. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jocn.2012.04.009.
- Massimino M, Giangaspero F, Garrè ML, Gandola L, Poggi G, Biassoni V, et al. Childhood medulloblastoma. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2011;79(1):65–83.
- Roberts RO, Lynch CF, Jones MP, Hart MN. Medulloblastoma: a population-based study of 532 cases. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1991;50(2):134–44.
- Giordana MT, Schiffer P, Lanotte M, Girardi P, Chio A. Epidemiology of adult medulloblastoma. Int J cancer [Internet]. 1999 [cited 2016 Sep 30];80(5):689–92. Available from: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10048968.
- 54. Thorne RN, Pearson AD, Nicoll JA, Coakham HB, Oakhill A, Mott MG, et al. Decline in incidence of medulloblastoma in children. Cancer [Internet]. 1994 [cited 2016 Sep 30];74(12):3240–4. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7982188.
- 55. Peris-Bonet R, Martínez-García C, Lacour B, Petrovich S, Giner-Ripoll B, Navajas A, et al. Childhood central nervous system tumours incidence and survival in Europe (1978–1997): report from automated childhood cancer information system project. Eur J Cancer. 2006;42(13):2064–80.
- Ahmed N, Bhurgri Y, Sadiq S, Shakoor KA. Pediatric brain tumours at a tertiary care hospital in Karachi. Asian Pacific J cancer Prev APJCP [Internet]. 2007;8(3):399–404. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18159977.
- 57. Chan MY, Teo WY, Seow WT, Tan AM. Epidemiology, management and treatment outcome of medulloblastoma in Singapore. Ann Acad Med Singap. 2007;36(5):314–8.
- Roldan G, Brasher P, Vecil G, Senger D, Rewcastle B, Cairncross G, et al. Populationbased study of medulloblastoma: outcomes in Alberta from 1975 to 1996. Can J Neurol Sci. 2008;35:210–5.

- Villani A, Malkin D, Tabori U. Syndromes predisposing to pediatric central nervous system tumors: lessons learned and new promises. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep [Internet]. Current Science Inc.; 2012 [cited 2016 Nov 19];12(2):153–64. Available from: http://link.springer. com/10.1007/s11910-011-0244-5.
- 60. Harder T, Plagemann A, Harder A. Birth weight and subsequent risk of childhood primary brain tumors: a meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol. 2008;168(4):366–73.
- Fear NT, Roman E, Ansell P, Bull D. Malignant neoplasms of the brain during childhood: the role of prenatal and neonatal factors (United Kingdom). Cancer Causes Control. 2001;12(5):443–9.
- 62. Harding NJ, Birch JM, Hepworth SJ, McKinney PA. Infectious exposure in the first year of life and risk of central nervous system tumors in children: analysis of day care, social contact, and overcrowding. Cancer Causes Control [Internet]. Springer Netherlands; 2009 [cited 2016 Nov 20];20(2):129–36. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10552-008-9224-8.
- Bunin G, Juijten RR, Buckley JD, Rorke LB, Meadows AT. Relation between maternal diet and subsequent primitive neuroectodermal brain tumors in young children. N Engl J Med. 1993;329(8):536–41.
- 64. Pogoda JM, Preston-martin S, Howe G, Lubin F, Mueller BA, Holly EA, et al. An international case-control study of maternal diet during pregnancy and childhood brain tumor risk: a histology-specific analysis by food group. Ann Epidemiol. 2009;19(3):148–60.
- 65. Baldwin RT, Preston-Martin S. Epidemiology of brain tumors in childhood a review. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2004;199(2):118–31.
- 66. Rice JM, Rehm S, Donovan PJ, Perantoni AO. Comparative transplacental carcinogenesis by directly acting and metabolism-dependent alkylating agents in rodents and nonhuman primates. IARC Sci Publ [Internet]. 1989 [cited 2016 Nov 20];(96):17–34. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2553598.
- Kheifets LI, Sussman SS, Preston-Martin S. Childhood brain tumors and residential electromagnetic fields (EMF). Rev Environ Contam Toxicol [Internet]. 1999 [cited 2016 Nov 20];159:111–29. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9921141.
- 68. UK Childhood Cancer Study Investigators. Exposure to power-frequency magnetic fields and the risk of childhood cancer. Lancet. 1999;354:1925–31.
- 69. Li P, McLaughlin J, Infante-Rivard C. Maternal occupational exposure to extremely low frequency magnetic fields and the risk of brain cancer in the offspring. Cancer Causes Control [Internet]. Springer Netherlands; 2009 [cited 2016 Nov 20];20(6):945–55. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10552-009-9311-5.
- Shim YK, Mlynarek SP, van Wijngaarden E. Parental exposure to pesticides and childhood brain cancer: U.S. Atlantic Coast Childhood Brain Cancer Study. Environ Health Perspect [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2016 Nov 20];117(6):1002–6. Available from: http://ehp.niehs.nih. gov/0800209.
- 71. Rosso AL, Hovinga ME, Rorke-Adams LB, Spector LG, Bunin GR, Children's Oncology Group. A case-control study of childhood brain tumors and fathers' hobbies: a Children's oncology group study. Cancer Causes Control [Internet]. NIH Public Access; 2008 [cited 2016 Nov 20];19(10):1201–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18560982.
- 72. Cordier S, Lefeuvre B, Filippini G, Peris-Bonet R, Farinotti M, Lovicu G, et al. Parental occupation, occupational exposures to solvents and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and risk of childhood brain tumors (Italy, France, Spain). Cancer Causes Control. 1997;8(5):688–97.
- Riley EP, Court A, Diego S, Warren KR. Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: an overview. Neuropsychol Rev. 2011;21(2):73–80.
- Bertrand J, Floyd L, Weber M. Fetal alcohol syndrome. Guidelines for referral and diagnosis. MMWR Recomm Rep [Internet]. 2005;1–14. Available from: www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/fasd/ documents/fas\_guidelines\_accessible.pdf.
- Ospina M, Dennett L. Systematic review on the prevalence of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Institute of Health Economics. 2013.

- Popova S, Lange S, Shield K, Mihic A, Chudley AE, Mukherjee RAS, et al. Comorbidity of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet (London, England). 2016;387(10022):978–87.
- Velioglu, Kuzeyli, Zzmenoglu. Cerebellar agenesis: a case report with clinical and MR imaging findings and a review of the literature. Eur J Neurol [Internet]. 1998 [cited 2016 Sep 9];5(5):503–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10210881.
- Lemon RN, Edgley SA. Life without a cerebellum. Brain [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2016 Sep 9];133(Pt 3):652–4. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20305277.
- 79. Yu F, Jiang Q-J, Sun X-Y., Zhang R-W. A new case of complete primary cerebellar agenesis: clinical and imaging findings in a living patient. Brain [Internet]. 2014;1–5. Available from: http://www.brain.oxfordjournals.org/cgi/doi/10.1093/brain/awu239.
- Sener RN. Cerebellar agenesis versus vanishing cerebellum in Chiari II malformation. Comput Med Imaging Graph. 1995;19:491–4.
- Sener RN, Jinkins J. Subtotal agenesis of the cerebellum in an adult. MRI demonstration Neuroradiology. 1993;35:286–7.
- Yoshida M, Nakamura M. Complete absence of the cerebellum with arthrogryposis multiplex congenital diagnosed by CT scan. Surg Neurol. 1982;17:62–5.
- 83. Van Hoof S, Wilmink J. Cerebellar agenesis. Belge Radiol. 1996;79:282.
- Tekin D, Uysal S, Iyigun O. Primary cerebellar agenesis-Chiari IV malformation. OMU Tip Derg. 2002;19:213–6.
- Timmann D, Dimitrova A, Hein-Kropp C, Wilhelm H, Dorfler A. Cerebellar agenesis: clinical, neuropsychological and MR findings. Neurocase. 2003;9:402–13.
- 86. National Institutes of Health. Dandy-Walker syndrome information page [Internet]. National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS). 2016. Available from: http://www. ninds.nih.gov/disorders/dandywalker/dandywalker.htm.
- Incesu L, Khosla A. Imaging in Dandy-Walker malformation: overview, radiography, computed tomography [Internet]. Medscape. 2015 [cited 2013 Jan 7]. Available from: http:// emedicine.medscape.com/article/408059-overview.
- Richter EO, Pincus DW. Development of syringohydromyelia associated with Dandy-Walker malformation: treatment with cystoperitoneal shunt placement. Case report. J Neurosurg [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2016 Sep 9];104(3 Suppl):206–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16572641.
- McClelland S, Ukwuoma O, Lunos S, Okuyemi K. The natural history of Dandy-Walker syndrome in the United States: a population-based analysis. J Neurosci Rural Pract. 2015;6(1):23.
- Kontopoulos EV, Quintero RA, Salihu HM, Bornick PW, Allen MH. Dandy-Walker syndrome and monochorionic twins: insight into a possible etiological mechanism. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med [Internet]. 2008;21(11):839–42. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/18979394.
- McClelland S 3rd, Ukwuoma OI, Lunos S, Okuyemi KS. Mortality of Dandy-Walker syndrome in the United States: analysis by race, gender, and insurance status. J Neurosci Rural Pr [Internet]. 2015;6(2):182–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/25883477.
- Di Bella D, Pizzo E. Non vascular congenital brain malformations. An MR study of 5000 patients. Neuroradiol J. 2010;23(3):284–91.
- 93. Hakami WS, Majeed-saidan MA. The incidence and spectrum of central nervous system malformations in newborns over a decade (2001–2010) in the central region of Saudi Arabia. Saudi. 2011;32(11):1137–42.
- 94. Ohaegbulam SC, Afifi H. Dandy-Walker syndrome: incidence in a defined population of Tabuk, Saudi Arabia. Neuroepidemiology [Internet]. 2001 [cited 2016 Nov 26];20(2):150–2. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11359085.
- Reeder MR, Botto LD, Keppler-Noreuil KM, Carey JC, Byrne JLB, Feldkamp ML. Risk factors for Dandy-Walker malformation: a population-based assessment. Am J Med Genet Part A. 2015;167(9):2009–16.

- Salihu HM, Kornosky JL, Alio AP, Druschel CM. Racial disparities in mortality among infants with Dandy-Walker syndrome. J Natl Med Assoc [Internet]. Elsevier Masson SAS; 2009;101(5):456–61. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S0027968415309329.
- Joubert M, Eisenring JJ, Andermann F. Familial dysgenesis of the vermis: a syndrome of hyperventilation, abnormal eye movements and retardation. Neurology. 1968;18(3):302–3.
- National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS). Joubert syndrome information page [Internet]. National Institute of Health. 2016 [cited 2016 Nov 26]. Available from: http://www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/joubert/joubert.htm.
- Joubert Syndrome & Related Disorders Foundation. Understanding Joubert syndrome [Internet]. Joubert Syndrome & Related Disorders Foundation. 2016. Available from: http:// jsrdf.org/what-is-js/.
- 100. Tory K, Lacoste T, Burglen L, Morinière V, Boddaert N, Macher M-A, et al. High NPHP1 and NPHP6 mutation rate in patients with Joubert syndrome and nephronophthisis: potential epistatic effect of NPHP6 and AHI1 mutations in patients with NPHP1 mutations. J Am Soc Nephrol [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2016 Sep 9];18(5):1566–75. Available from: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17409309.
- 101. Brancati F, Dallapiccola B, Valente EM. Joubert Syndrome and related disorders. Orphanet J Rare Dis [Internet]. 2010;5:20. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2913941&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract.
- 102. Maria BL, Hoang KB, Tusa RJ, Mancuso AA, Hamed LM, Quisling RG, et al. "Joubert syndrome" revisited: key ocular motor signs with magnetic resonance imaging correlation. J Child Neurol. 1997;12(7):423–30.
- 103. Srour M, Schwartzentruber J, Hamdan FF, Ospina LH, Patry L, Labuda D, et al. Mutations in C5ORF42 cause Joubert syndrome in the French Canadian population. Am J Hum Genet. 2012;90(4):693–700.
- Srour M. Genetic Landscape of Joubert syndrome in French Canadians. Université de Montréal; 2015.
- 105. Akhondian J, Ashrafzadeh F, Beiraghi Toosi M, Moazen N, Mahammadpoor T, Karimi R. Joubert syndrome in three children in a family: a case series. Iran J Child Neurol. 2013;7(1):39–42.
- 106. Hong SE, Shugart YY, Huang DT, Shahwan SA, Grant PE, Hourihane JO, et al. Autosomal recessive lissencephaly with cerebellar hypoplasia is associated with human RELN mutations. Nat Genet [Internet]. 2000;26(1):93–6. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubmed&id=10973257&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks\ npapers3://publication/doi/10.1038/79246.
- 107. Stein RA. Smith's recognizable patterns of human malformation, 6th edition. Arch Dis Child BMJ Group. 2007;92(6):562.
- 108. Pilz DT, Quarrell OW. Syndromes with lissencephaly. J Med Genet. 1996;33(4):319-23.
- Koul R, Jain R, Chacko A. Pattern of childhood epilepsies with neuronal migrational disorders in Oman. J Child Neurol. 2006;21(11):945–9.
- Ozyurek H, Kose G. Joubert syndrome associated with presenting as Addison disease. Indian Pediatr. 2005;494:494–5.
- 111. De Barros Miranda-Filho D, Martelli CMT, De Alencar Ximenes RA, Araújo TVB, Rocha MAW, Ramos RCF, et al. Initial description of the presumed congenital Zika syndrome. Am J Public Health. 2016;106(4):598–600.
- 112. Namavar Y, Barth PG, Poll-The BT, Baas F. Classification, diagnosis and potential mechanisms in pontocerebellar hypoplasia. Orphanet J Rare Dis [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2016 Sep 9];6:50. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21749694.
- Rudnik-Schoeneborn S, Barth PG, Zerres K. Pontocerebellar hypoplasia. Am J Med Genet Part C Semin Med Genet. 2014;166(2):173–83.
- 114. Barth PG, Vrensen GFJM, Uylings HBM, Oorthuys JWE, Stam FC, Berciano J, et al. Inherited syndrome of microcephaly, dyskinesia and pontocerebellar hypoplasia: a systemic atrophy

with early onset. J Neurol Sci [Internet]. Elsevier; 1990 [cited 2016 Sep 10];97(1):25–42. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/0022510X90900966.

- 115. Steinlin M, Klein A, Haas-Lude K, Zafeiriou D, Strozzi S, Müller T, et al. Pontocerebellar hypoplasia type 2: variability in clinical and imaging findings. Eur J Paediatr Neurol [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2016 Sep 10];11(3):146–52. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/17320436.
- 116. Zafeiriou DI, Ververi A, Anastasiou A, Soubasi V, Vargiami E. Pontocerebellar hypoplasia in extreme prematurity: clinical and neuroimaging findings. Pediatr Neurol [Internet]. Elsevier Inc.; 2013;48(1):48–51. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. pediatrneurol.2012.09.003.
- 117. (NORD) NO for RD. Pontocerebellar hypoplasia [Internet]. Rare Disease Information. 2012 [cited 2016 Nov 27]. Available from: http://rarediseases.org/rare-diseases/ pontocerebellar-hypoplasia/
- 118. Alkan O, Kizilkilic O, Yildirim T. Malformations of the midbrain and hindbrain: a retrospective study and review of the literature. Cerebellum. 2009;8(3):355–65.
- Grellner W, Rohde K, Wilske J. Fatal outcome in a case of pontocerebellar hypoplasia type
  Forensic Sci Int [Internet]. 2000 [cited 2016 Sep 10];113:165–72. Available from: www. elsevier.com.
- 120. Mathijssen IB, Henneman L, van Eeten-Nijman JMC, Lakeman P, Ottenheim CPE, Redeker EJW, et al. Targeted carrier screening for four recessive disorders: high detection rate within a founder population. Eur J Med Genet [Internet]. Elsevier Masson SAS; 2015;58(3):123–8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmg.2015.01.004
- 121. Kobayashi Y, Kawashima H, Magara S, Akasaka N, Tohyama J. Gómez-López-Hernández syndrome in a Japanese patient: a case report. Brain Dev [Internet]. 2015;37(3):356–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24856766.
- 122. Fernández-Jaén A, Fernández-Mayoralas DM, Calleja-Pérez B, Muñoz-Jareño N, Moreno N. Gomez-Lopez-Hernandez syndrome: two new cases and review of the literature. Pediatr Neurol. 2009;40(1):58–62.
- 123. Muñoz R M V, Santos AC, Graziadio C, Pina-Neto JM. Cerebello-trigeminal-dermal dysplasia (Gómez-López-Hernández syndrome): description of three new cases and review. Am J Med Genet [Internet]. 1997 [cited 2016 Sep 10];72(1):34–9. Available from: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9295071.
- 124. Sukhudyan B, Jaladyan V, Melikyan G, Schlump JU, Boltshauser E, Poretti A. Gómez-López-Hernández syndrome: reappraisal of the diagnostic criteria. Eur J Pediatr. 2010;169(12):1523–8.
- 125. De Mattos VF, Graziadio C, Machado Rosa RF, Lenhardt R, Alves RPM, Trevisan P, et al. Gomez-Lopez-Hernandez syndrome in a child born to consanguineous parents: new evidence for an autosomal-recessive pattern of inheritance? Pediatr Neurol. 2014;50(6):612–5.
- 126. Abdel-Salam GMH, Abdel-Hadi S, Thomas MM, Eid OM, Ali MM, Afifi HH. Gomez-Lopez-Hernandez syndrome versus rhombencephalosynapsis spectrum: a rare co-occurrence with bipartite parietal bone. Am J Med Genet Part A. 2014;164(2):480–3.
- 127. Schell-Apacik CC, Cohen M, Vojta S, Ertl-Wagner B, Klopocki E, Heinrich U, et al. Gomez-Lopez-Hernandez syndrome (cerebello-trigeminal-dermal dysplasia): description of an additional case and review of the literature. Eur J Pediatr. 2008;167(1):123–6.
- 128. Poretti A, Bartholdi D, Gobara S, Alber FD, Boltshauser E. Gomez-Lopez-Hernandez syndrome: an easily missed diagnosis. Eur J Med Genet. 2008;51(3):197–208.
- 129. Erzin G, Sücüllü Karadağ Y, Sözmen Cılız D, Yirun O, Cingi M, Çiğdem Aydemir M, et al. Gómez-López-Hernández Syndrome: a case with Schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry [Internet]. 2015;2015–7. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S0006322315009555\nhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26774963.
- 130. Saricam MH, Tekin B, Unver O, Ekinci G, Ergun T. Gomez-Lopez-Hernandez syndrome: a rare cause of bilateral nonscarring alopecia. Pediatr Dermatol. 2015;32(6):e251–4.
- 131. Tan TY, McGillivray G, Goergen SK, White SM. Prenatal magnetic resonance imaging in Gomez-Lopez-Hernandez syndrome and review of the literature. Am J Med Genet Part

A [Internet]. Wiley Subscription Services, Inc., A Wiley Company; 2005 [cited 2016 Sep 10];138A(4):369–73. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ajmg.a.30967.

- 132. Gomy I, Heck B, Santos AC, Figueiredo MSL, Martinelli CE, Nogueira MPC, et al. Two new Brazilian patients with Gómez-López-Hernández syndrome: reviewing the expanded phenotype with molecular insights. Am J Med Genet Part A. 2008;146(5):649–57.
- 133. Tully HM, Dempsey JC, Ishak GE, Adam MP, Curry CJR, Sanchez-Lara P, et al. Beyond Gomez-Lopez-Hernandez syndrome: recurring phenotypical themes in rhombencephalosynapsis. Am J Med Genet. 2012;158A(10):2393–406.
- 134. Ishak GE, Dempsey JC, Shaw DWW, Tully H, Adam MP, Sanchez-Lara PA, et al. Rhombencephalosynapsis: a hindbrain malformation associated with incomplete separation of midbrain and forebrain, hydrocephalus and a broad spectrum of severity. Brain. 2012;135(5):1370–86.
- 135. Utsunomiya H, Takano K, Ogasawara T, Hashimoto T, Fukushima T, Okazaki M. Rhombencephalosynapsis: cerebellar embryogenesis. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol [Internet]. 1998 [cited 2016 Sep 9];19(3):547–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/9541316.
- Bosemani T, Orman G, Boltshauser E, Tekes A, Huisman TAGM, Poretti A. Congenital abnormalities of the posterior fossa. Radiographics [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2016 Sep 9];35(1):200–20. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25590398.
- Sener RN. Unusual MRI findings in rhombencephalosynapsis. Comput Med Imaging Graph. 2000;24(4):277–82.
- Passi GR, Bhatnagar S. Rhombencephalosynapsis. Pediatr Neurol [Internet]. 2015;52(6):651–
  Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0887899415000600.
- 139. Weaver J, Manjila S, Bahuleyan B, Bangert BA, Cohen AR. Rhombencephalosynapsis: embryopathology and management strategies of associated neurosurgical conditions with a review of the literature. J Neurosurg Pediatr [Internet]. 2013;11(March):1–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23331215.
- 140. Arisoy R, Erdogdu E, Pekin O, Tugrul S, Aydin H, Yorganci C. A rare case of rhombencephalosynapsis and prenatal diagnosis. J Obstet Gynaecol [Internet]. 2016;3615(May):1–3. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.3109/01443615.2015.1133575\ nhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27012487.
- 141. Speer MC, Enterline DS, Mehltretter L, Hammock P, Joseph J, Dickerson M, et al. Chiari type I malformation with or without syringomyelia: prevalence and genetics. J Genet Couns. 2003;12(4):297–311.
- 142. Sarnat HB. Disorders of segmentation of the neural tube: Chiari malformations. Handb Clin Neurol [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2016 Sep 9];87:89–103. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/18809020.
- 143. Greenberg MS. Neurosurgerylhandbook of neurosurgery [Internet]. New York: Thieme; 2006. p. 103–9. Available from: http://www.thieme.com/books-main/neurosurgery/ product/3582-handbook-of-neurosurgery.
- 144. Abd-El-Barr MM, Strong CI, Groff MW. Chiari malformations: diagnosis, treatments and failures. J Neurosurg Sci [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2016 Sep 9];58(4):215–21. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25418275.
- 145. Caldarelli M, Rea G, Cincu R, Di Rocco C. Chiari type III malformation. Childs Nerv Syst. 2002;18(5):207–10.
- 146. NIINDS Office of Communications and Public Liaison. Chiari malformation information page [Internet]. National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS). 2016 [cited 2016 Sep 9]. Available from: http://www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/chiari/chiari.htm.
- 147. Milhorat T, Chou M, Trinidad E, Kula R, Mandell M, Wolper TC. Chiari I malformation redefined: clinical and radiographic findings for 364 symptomatic patients. Neurosurgery. 1999;44:1005–17.
- Kahn EN, Muraszko KM, Maher CO. Prevalence of Chiari I malformation and syringomyelia. Neurosurg Clin N Am [Internet]. Elsevier Inc; 2015;26(4):501–7. Available from: http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nec.2015.06.006.

- 149. Schanker BD, Walcott BP, Nahed BV, Kahle KT, Li YM, Coumans J-VCE. Familial Chiari malformation: case series. Neurosurg Focus [Internet]. 2011;31(3):E1. Available from: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21882906.
- 150. Meadows J, Kraut M, Guarnieri M, Haroun RI, Carson BS. Asymptomatic Chiari type I malformations identified on magnetic resonance imaging. J Neurosurg [Internet]. 2000;92(6):920–6. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcg i?dbfrom=pubmed&id=10839250&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks\npapers3://publication/ doi/10.3171/jns.2000.92.6.0920.
- Brewis M, Poskanzer D, Rolland C, Miller H. Neurological disease in an English city. Acta Neurol Scand. 1966;42(Suppl 2):1–89.
- 152. Brickell K, Anderson N, Charleston A, Hope J, Bok A, Barber P. Ethnic differences in syringomyelia in New Zealand. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006;77(8):989–91.
- 153. Dughal R, Zarah A, Rashid N, Nazir R, Asif T, Hanif A, et al. Assessment of potential risk factors for congenital anomalies in low risk population at tertiary care hospital. Pakistan J Med Heal Sci [Internet]. 2014;8(1):50–2. Available from: http://pjmhsonline.com/JanMar2014/assessment\_of\_potential\_risk\_fac.htm\nhttp://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=emed12&NEWS=N&AN=2014311994.
- 154. Lee S, Kim SK, Lee JY, Phi JH, Cheon JE, Kim IO, et al. Comparison of clinical and radiological manifestations and surgical outcomes of pediatric Chiari I malformations in different age groups. Childs Nerv Syst. 2015;31:2091–101.
- 155. Sakushima K, Tsuboi S, Yabe I, Hida K, Terae S, Uehara R, et al. Nationwide survey on the epidemiology of syringomyelia in Japan. J Neurol Sci [Internet]. Elsevier B.V.; 2012;313(1–2):147–52. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2011.08.045.
- 156. Ghavami M, Abedinzadeh R. Prevalence of perinatal central nervous system anomalies in east Azarbaijan-Iran. Iran J Radiol. 2011;8(2):79–81.
- Jayarao M, Sohl K, Tanaka T. Chiari malformation I and autism spectrum disorder: an underrecognized coexistence. J Neurosurg Pediatr. 2015;15(January):96–100.
- 158. Krishnamurthy S, Kapoor S, Sharma V, Prakash A. Tectocerebellar dysraphia and occipital encephalocele: an unusual association with abdominal situs inversus and congenital heart disease. Indian J Pediatr [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2016 Sep 9];75(11):1178–80. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18810345.
- 159. Timur H. Prenatal diagnosis of tectocerebellar dysraphia with occipital encephalocele. J Clin Diagnostic Res [Internet]. JCDR Research & Publications Private Limited; 2015 [cited 2016 Sep 9];9(12):QD05. Available from: http://jcdr.net/article\_fulltext.asp?issn=0973-709x&yea r=2015&volume=9&issue=12&page=QD05&issn=0973-709x&id=6987.
- 160. Padget D, Lindenberg L. Inverse morphogenetically related to Dandy-Walker and Arnold-Chiari syndromes: bizarre malformed brain with occipital encephalocele. Johns Hopkins Med J. 1972;131:228–46.
- 161. Agrawal A, Joharapurkar SR, Khan A. Tecto-cerebellar dysraphia manifesting as occipital meningocoele associated with congenital melanocytic nevi and pectus excavatum. Iran J Pediatr. 2010;20:118–22.
- 162. Anik I, Koc K, Anik Y, Yildiz DK, Ceylan S. Tectocerebellar dysraphism with vermian encephalocele. J Child Neurol. 2010;25(11):1411–4.
- 163. Friede RL. Uncommon syndromes of cerebellar vermis aplasia. II: Tecto-cerebellar dysraphia with occipital encephalocele. Dev Med Child Neurol [Internet]. 1978;20(6):764–72. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed &dopt=Citation&list\_uids=729930.
- 164. Poretti A, Singhi S, Huisman TAGM, Meoded A, Jallo G, Ozturk A, et al. Tecto-cerebellar dysraphism with occipital encephalocele: not a distinct disorder, but part of the Joubert syndrome spectrum? Neuropediatrics. 2011;42(4):170–4.
- 165. Chowdhary UM, Edin FRCS, Ibrahim AW, Ammar AS, et al. Tecto-cerebellar dysraphia with occipital encephalocele. Surg Neurol. 1989;31:310–4.
- 166. Batten FE. Ataxia in childhood. Brain. 1905;28:484–505.

- 167. Furniel HM, Santos FH, Berenguer-Pina JJ, Rodrigues FMPM. Does the acute cerebellitis play a role in the neurocognitive profile of a child after its onset? Psicol em Pesqui [Internet]. 2013;7(1):50–62. Available from: http://pepsic.bvsalud.org/scielo. php?script=sci\_arttext&pid=S1982-1247201300010006&lng=pt&nrm=i&tlng=pt.
- 168. Bozzola E, Bozzola M, Tozzi AE, Calcaterra V, Longo D, Krzystofiak A, et al. Acute cerebellitis in varicella: a ten year case series and systematic review of the literature. Ital J Pediatr [Internet]. 2014;40(1):57. Available from: https://ijponline.biomedcentral.com/ articles/10.1186/1824-7288-40-57.
- 169. Furniel HM, Santos FH, Berenguer-Pina JJ, Rodrigues FMPM. Does the acute cerebellitis play a role in the neurocognitive profile of a child after its onset? Psicol em Pesqui. 2013;7(1):50–62.
- 170. Amlie-Lefond C, Jubelt C. Neurologic manifestations of varicella zoster virus infections. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2009;9(6):430–4.
- 171. Desai J, Mitchell WG. Acute cerebellar ataxia, acute cerebellitis, and opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome. J Child Neurol [Internet]. 2012;27(11):1482–8. Available from: http://jcn.sagepub.com/cgi/doi/10.1177/0883073812450318.
- 172. Hackett I, O'Sullivan R, Zaid AA, Rea D, Walsh S. Acute cerebellitis associated with dual influenza A (H1N1) and B infection. Ir Med J. 2013;106(3):87–8.
- 173. Hashemi N, Callon LM, Kumar KS. Malaria retinopathy and cerebellitis in a 9-year-old boy in the United States. J AAPOS. 2015;19(1):87–9.
- 174. Mazur-Melewska K, Breńska I, Jończyk-Potoczna K, Kemnitz P, Pieczonka-Ruszkowska I, Mania A, et al. Neurologic complications caused by Epstein-Barr virus in pediatric patients. J Child Neurol [Internet]. 2015;31(6):700–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/26511720.
- 175. Uchizono H, Iwasa T, Toyoda H, Takahashi Y, Komada Y. Acute cerebellitis following hemolytic streptococcal infection. Pediatr Neurol [Internet]. Elsevier Ltd; 2013;49(6):497–500. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2013.06.003.
- 176. Xu F, Ren SQ, Liu JY. Acute cerebellitis in identical twins. Pediatr Neurol [Internet]. Elsevier Inc.; 2008;39(6):432–4. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. pediatrneurol.2008.08.009.
- 177. Tate ED, Allison TJ, Pranzatelli MR, Verhulst SJ. Neuroepidemiologic trends in 105 US cases of Pediatric Opsoclonus-Myoclonus Syndrome. 2005;22(1):8–19.
- 178. Wijdicks EFM, Sheth KN, Carter BS, Greer DM, Kasner SE, Kimberly WT, et al. Recommendations for the management of cerebral and cerebellar infarction with swelling: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2014;45(4):1222–38.
- 179. Brossard-Racine M, du Plessis AJ, Limperopoulos C. Developmental cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome in ex-preterm survivors following cerebellar injury. Cerebellum. 2015;14(2):151–64.
- Lin JJ, Lin KL, Chou ML, Wong AMC, Wang HS. Cerebellar infarction in the territory of the superior cerebellar artery in children. Pediatr Neurol. 2007;37(6):435–7.
- 181. Garbash M, Whitty CJM, Chiodini P, Riordan FAI, Shingadia D, Ladhani S. Intensive care admissions for children with imported malaria in the United Kingdom. Pediatr Infect Dis J [Internet]. 2010;29(12):1140–2. Available from: http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/ope nurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=00006454-201012000-00016.
- 182. Khair AM, Elseid M, Mohamed K, Al-shami R, Ibrahim K. Cerebellar stroke in children, a case report from Qatar and brief literature review. Clin Med Rev Case Reports. 2014;1(1):1–4.
- 183. Hasan I, Wapnick S, Tenner MS, Couldwell W. Vertebral artery dissection in children: A comprehensive review [Internet]. Pediatric Neurosurgery. 2002. p. 168–77. Available from: https://www-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.uml.idm.oclc.org/pubmed/?term=Vertebral+artery+dissectio n+in+children%3A+A+comprehensive+review.
- 184. Kawakami Y, Koizumi SY, Kuwabara K, Fujimura J, Shirai J, Watanabe M, et al. An 8-yearold boy with vertebral artery dissection with cerebellar ataxia featuring suspected vertebral

artery hypoplasia. Brain Dev [Internet]. Elsevier B.V.; 2009;31(4):326–30. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.braindev.2008.07.004.

- 185. Huisman TAGM, Kubat SH, Eckhardt BP. The "dark cerebellar sign". Neuropediatrics. 2007;38(3):160–3.
- 186. Thoon KC, Chan DWS. Childhood stroke after influenza vaccination. Proc Singapore Healthc [Internet]. 2012;21(4):297–300. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?sub action=viewrecord&from=export&id=L370119608\nhttp://sfx.metabib.ch/sfx\_locater?sid= EMBASE&issn=20101058&id=doi:&atitle=Childhood+stroke+after+influenza+vaccinatio n&stitle=Proc.+Singapore+Healthcare&title=Proceedings.
- 187. Savitz DA, Hertz-Picciotto I, Poole C, Olshan AF. Epidemiologic measures of the course and outcome of pregnancy. Epidemiol Rev. 2002;24(2):91–101.

# **Cerebellar Transplantation: A Potential Model** to Study Repair and Development of Neurons and Circuits in the Cerebellum

#### **Constantino Sotelo**

**Abstract** Neuronal transplantation offers the advantages of a unique experimental situation that allows the in vivo study of cell-to-cell interactions between embryonic and adult neural partners. This approach was developed to study the possibility to replace missing neurons in pathological situations. In our model, the cerebellum with spontaneous mutations, Purkinje cell degeneration, nervous, Lurcher (pcd, nr, Lc) affecting Purkinje cells (PCs), this substitution occurs. Embryonic PCs can trigger in adult Bergmann fibers molecular changes required for migration and ultimate synaptic integration of the former, although this integration is not complete because the full contingent of efferent projections failed to establish. The grafting approach evolved as a suitable tool that, through heterotopic and heterochronic transplants, allowed the investigation of the role of cellular and molecular microenvironment on the acquisition of neuronal phenotypes and on the differential ability to regenerate amputated axons of specific populations of central neurons. Finally, new approaches developed in the twenty-first century, with the advent of stem cells and cell reprogramming, are mentioned and some of the earliest cerebellar trials with these pluripotent cells discussed.

**Keywords** Transplants • Embryonic and adult cell interactions • Neuronal replacement • Axon regeneration • Stem cells • Lineage reprogramming

INSERM UMR S968, Institut de la Vision, Paris, France

Université Pierre et Marie Curie, Sorbonne Universités, Paris, France

UMR 7210, CNRS, Paris, France

C. Sotelo (🖂)

Instituto de Neurociencias de la Universidad Miguel Hernández–Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas, San Juan de Alicante 03550, Spain e-mail: constantino.sotelo@inserm.fr

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_22

#### **Introduction and History**

# The Neuron Doctrine: Plasticity of Adult Circuits, but Absence of Neuronal Regeneration

Until recently, neuroscientists of my generation, whose interest in the nervous system began long ago, have been believing in the dogmatic but erroneous concept that in the central nervous system (CNS) there is no further possibility for neuronal proliferation after the end of the constructive period of brain development. This notion was developed at the end of the nineteenth century and beginning of the twentieth by researchers working on brain development [1–3] or interested in the principles of pathology based upon the regenerative and proliferative potential of body cells [4]. Ramón y Cajal [3] summarized this concept of the adult nervous system best in his famous statement: "In adult brains, nerve pathways are something fixed, ended, immutable. Everything may die, nothing can regenerate," a pessimistic concept that foreshadows the fate of many neurological disorders related to the aging process.

The hope for a peaceful physiological aging became even more elusive at the beginning of the second half of the twentieth century, when Harold Brody [5] morphometrically analyzed human brains from birth to the age of 95 years old. Brody [5] concluded that, based on volume shrinkage, determinations correlated with cell counts; from the age of 21 onward, there was a progressive neuronal loss ranging in magnitude depending on the analyzed cortical areas. Therefore, not only our adult brain was unable to proliferate but, even worse, it started losing neurons early on. John Eccles [6] reflected on this dire situation: "Soon after birth ceases all generation of neurons. Thereafter neuronal death takes over." All these arguments compelled us to assume that age-related loss of neurons and its subsequent decline in brain function were unavoidable. With the arrival of modern and more accurate imaging (MRI) and morphometric methods (modern stereology), it became evident that the results mentioned earlier were due to technical limitations and that neuronal cell death was not as pronounced as supposed. In fact, Herbert Haug et al. [7, 8] were able to show that there was virtually no loss of neurons before age 60, and even then, the progress of neuron death was slow and uneven across the various brain regions. This makes a big difference in respect to neuronal loss between normal aging and neurodegenerative diseases, particularly Alzheimer's disease [9]. Nevertheless, the controversy has not been fully resolved. Thus, it was recently proposed that "some aspects of age-related cognitive decline begin in healthy educated adults when they are in their 20s and 30s" [10] and that although this decline is not necessarily accompanied by neuronal death, dendritic alterations, especially loss of spines by reducing the number of synapses, could be its cause [11].

Finally, the apparent lack of neuronal proliferation did not stop scientists from deeming the adult brain as a changeable organ. In his opera magna, *Texture of the Nervous System of Man and the Vertebrates*, Ramón y Cajal [12] clearly summarized the concept developed by Alexander Bain [13] and known today as "morphological neuronal plasticity." Eugenio Tanzi [14] and Ernesto Lugaro [15],

followers of Ramón y Cajal's neuron doctrine, specifically formulated it naming synapses as the preferred place for plastic changes (see in [16]). These theoretical notions have evolved today so that it could be possible to accept the concept proposed by Tanzi that the nervous system is a "neoteny," because some developmental features are preserved in adulthood (for further details, see the recent history of the morphological plasticity in [17]).

# Changing Bizzozero's Classification: Not All Neurons Are Perennial Cells. The Discovery of the Existence of Adult Neurogenesis and Neural Stem Cells Even in Mammalian Brains

The only drawback, but crucial in the history of "neoteny," has been neuroscientists' resistance to accept the possibility that even a mild neuronal proliferation could occur in adult mammalian brains. The development of the autoradiographic method for labeling cell divisions with tritiated thymidine greatly advanced the search for neuronal division [18], already conceived by Allen [19]. It quickly became clear that adult neurogenesis was possible in cold-blooded vertebrates (fish, amphibians, and reptiles) but inexistent in mammals. It was Joseph Altman [20, 21] who foresaw the possibility of the existence of adult neurogenesis, at least in the granule cells of the hippocampal dentate gyrus. Despite the later ultrastructural analysis corroborating the neuronal nature of the labeled cells [22], the traditional dogma that the generation of new neurons in the brains of grown-up warm-blooded animals did not exist has persisted for almost another decade. Indeed, it was only toward the end of the twentieth century that Brent Reynolds and Samuel Weiss [23] provided irrefutable evidence of adult neurogenesis and of the presence of neural stem cells in adult mouse CNS.

One of the early issues to be solved was to determine whether the existence of neurogenesis in the adult mammalian brain was just a vestige of the phylogenetic evolution or played some important physiological role. Experiments carried out in the two centers where adult neurogenesis is more effective, the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus [24] and the subventricular zone at the origin of the rostral migratory stream (RMS) to the olfactory bulb [25, 26], showed that delayed neurogenesis exerted an important function, closely correlated with a respective increase or decrease in either spatial (dentate gyrus) [27] or olfactory memory (olfactory bulb) [28].

# **Neuronal Transplantation**

# Neuronal Replacement in "Point-to-Point" Cerebellar Circuits

It is first important to remember that in addition to the majority circuits wired in a "point-to-point" manner as the cerebellum, the brain is also formed by a second class of systems we named "global" [29]. The latter are formed by monoaminergic

and peptidergic modulatory systems that can function without morphological synaptic junctions, through paracrine release of neurotransmitter [30] diffusing into the extracellular space to exert its inhibitory or excitatory action on nearby receivers equipped with specific receptors. The conditions that should be fulfilled for successful neuronal replacement in the cerebellum are therefore much more difficult to achieve than in "global systems" where most of the work in neural grafting for therapeutic purposes (Parkinson disease) has been carried out [31]. In cerebellar transplants, the grafted neurons replacing the missing ones have to reach their normal location, complete their synaptic integration with specific host afferents, and provide efferent axons able to appropriately find distant postsynaptic elements of the host, allowing a mirror reconstruction of the normal cerebellar connectivity. In this section, only PCs will be considered. The results obtained with transplantation of molecular layer interneurons have been recently reviewed [32], and those regarding granule cells are discussed in the third part of this chapter ("Cerebellar transplantation of granule cells").

# Positive Results in Favor of the PC Replacement in Mutant Mice with Heredodegenerative Ataxia

#### Morphologic Results

The circuitry of the cerebellar cortex, as reported by Santiago Ramón y Cajal [33], is relatively simple: two main extracerebellar afferent systems, the climbing fibers and the mossy fibers (CFs and MFs), convey their information either directly (CFs) or through the granule cells (MFs) to the Purkinje cells, the pivotal element and sole output neurons of this cortex, which in turn transfer the processed information to the deep cerebellar nuclei (DCN). In addition, these convergent and divergent excitatory inputs reaching each PC are balanced by the inhibitory action of the GABAergic interneurons, mainly the Golgi cells in the granular layer, and the molecular layer interneurons. Given the pivotal role of the PCs, it is obvious that their loss would provoke a severe ataxia that will persist if they are not replaced by new neurons of a similar nature. The cerebellum appears, therefore, as a privileged neural center where to test the reparative ability of grafts of embryonic neurons in "point-topoint" systems. The selected model for heredodegenerative ataxia was the mouse carrying the "Purkinje cell degeneration" (pcd/pcd) mutation [34]. pcd is an autosomal mutation that affects the gene Nna1 [35]. This gene codes a new ATP/GTPbinding protein related to zinc carboxypeptidases. It is an interesting protein involved in regenerative as well as degenerative events, previously identified by its induction in motoneurons during axon regeneration [36]. Afterward, although we will not discuss the results here, we have corroborated the observations in pcd/pcd mice using as host cerebella *nervous* (nr/nr) [37] and *Lurcher* (Lc/+) mutant mice [38] also provoking degeneration of PCs although these mutations took place in completely different genes. Since the results were similar in each mutant, we could conclude that they were independent of the affected genetic locus and the genetic background of the cerebella of the three different mutants used.

In *pcd/pcd* mice, the cerebellum at birth is morphologically normal, and it is only toward P16-P18 that some PCs start degenerating. Three to four weeks later, more than 99 % of this neuronal population has died [34]. Counts of the number of PCs (the only Calbindin-positive cells, CaBP+, of the cerebellum) showed that a maximum of 110 cells survived in an adult (P60) pcd cerebellum and almost all of them in lobule X, that is to say less than one per thousand [39]. This degeneration, followed by apoptotic death (see in [40]), provoked a severe ataxia, which started when the homozygous mice was 25 days old. The ataxia was worsened by the severe transsynaptic atrophy of the PCs' presynaptic partners, particularly the inferior olivary neurons, whose number progressively dropped, and that in 300-day-old mutants almost half of them had disappeared [41]. These retrograde changes were accompanied by a drastic atrophy of the remaining target-deprived CFs, which showed monoplanar atrophic arbors, with sparse varicosities and a few roundshaped boutons radiating in the molecular layer [42, 43]. Moreover, the number of parallel fibers (PFs) was also diminished in aged pcd mutants, a reduction that was correlated with an important retrograde death of granule cells [44]. In 1-year-old *pcd/pcd* cerebella basket cell axons also seemed to severely reduce in number [45], indicating that a large proportion of the neurons monosynaptically connected to the dving PCs was affected by retrograde transsynaptic death. Nevertheless, in the 50to 60-day-old mutants used in our grafting experiments, only a few weeks after the disappearance of the Purkinje cells, the vast majority of the different classes of presynaptic fibers, although slightly atrophic, were still present in the cortical neuropil, a prerequisite for the transplanted neurons' successful synaptic integration.

The severe ataxia of 25-50-day old pcd/pcd mutants helped identify and select them for the grafting experiments. Two types of transplants were used: cell suspensions of E12 embryonic cerebella taken from isogenic embryos and small pieces (less than 1 mm<sup>3</sup>) of E12 cerebellar anlagen, what we called solid grafts. The latter produced a much better yield, and most of the transplantations were done with solid grafts [46]. To search for synaptic integration of grafted PCs in the adult mutant cerebellum, 1-2 months after the grafting, the host cerebella were fixed and immunostained with an anti-CaBP antibody, or embedded in Araldite for ultrastructural study. In addition, some grafted mice were used for electrophysiological studies [47]. Due to the total depletion of PCs in most dorsal lobules where the grafts were placed, the CaBP-stained cells belonged exclusively to grafted PCs. The latter always occupied an ectopic position because their cell bodies never reached the interface between molecular and granular layers (Fig. 1b). The dendritic trees of the grafted PCs, although flattened in the plane perpendicular to the host PFs (Fig. 1b), were atypical and exhibited two or more stem dendrites emerging not only from the apical soma but from lateral and even basal regions as well. Secondary branches, provided with distal spiny branchlets studded with spines, emerged from the stem dendrites (Fig. 1b). The grafted PCs expanded over two and a half folia (Fig. 1a) and received



**Fig. 1** Micrographs of the cerebellum of adult *pcd/pcd* mice immunostained for calbindin 2–3 months after grafting. (**a**) Low magnification of the grafted PCs that have migrated into the host cortex. The *asterisk* marks the graft remnant. (**b**) Sagittal section through the vermal cortex, illustrating the flattened shape of the dendritic tree of grafted PCs. (**c**) Electron micrograph of the medial deep cerebellar nucleus. The immunolabeled axon terminal of a grafted PC is synapsing (*arrows*) on the cell body of a deep cerebellar nuclear neuron. (**d**) Graft remnant in the host white matter and adjacent cortex. The *arrow* points to a thin fascicle of PC axons in their way to the host deep cerebellar nuclei (DCN). (**e**) Immunofluorescence of calbindin-positive thin fascicles of grafted PCs axons within the molecular layer (ML) of the host cerebellum. The *arrow* points to an arrested growth cone at its entrance into the granular layer (GL)

a normal spatially distributed contingent of presynaptic inputs. Thus, PFs synapsed mainly upon PC long-necked spines arising from narrow distal branches (Fig. 2a), while CFs did it over thorns emerging from thicker dendrites (Fig. 2a), as in normal cerebellum. However, the axons of the host basket cells never formed "pinceaux" around the initial segments of the axons of the ectopically located PCs, although both elements could establish synaptic connections (Fig. 2b). This synaptic abnormality was systematically observed for all ectopic PCs studied whatever the mutation or the situation analyzed: weaver and reeler cerebella [48, 49], transgenic mice with plexin B2 knockout [50]. This lead to the conclusion that the abnormality was not caused by the transplantation itself but that the presence of the PC axon initial segment at the interface between granular and molecular layers is a prerequisite for the establishment of "pinceaux" formations. Therefore, from a morphological viewpoint, despite the important synaptic failures reported above, it was concluded that the grafted PCs were synaptically integrated in the cortical circuit of the host cerebellum and that the target-deprived host axons could recuperated their synaptic affinity and normal size when innervating the newly added PCs. Another important failure was the rarity of PC axons able to cross the underlying granule cells, a very important feature to reach the white matter and the deep cerebellar nuclei (see "The difficulties to restore corticonuclear projections argue against the possibility of succeeding complete PC replacement by embryonic cerebellar transplants").

#### Electrophysiological Results

In collaboration with Francis Crepel and Robert Gardette [47], we studied the electrophysiology of the grafted PCs. Using in vitro slices of pcd/pcd-transplanted cerebella, PCs were impaled with intracellular microelectrodes, and their bioelectrical properties, as well as their synaptic interactions, were analyzed by electrical stimulation of the white matter at the base of the folium for the anterograde activation of host CFs and MFs. The study demonstrated first that the grafted PCs had normal bioelectrical properties including sodium and calcium membrane conductances and inward rectification. Moreover, the vast majority of them, 54 out of 55, did not respond to white matter stimulation by antidromic spikes, in accordance with the rarity of PC axons in the granular layer and white matter announced above. Nevertheless, all grafted Purkinje cells responded to electrical white matter stimulation with a typical all-or-none CF (complex spikes) response or complex spike followed by simple spikes. These disynaptic responses (MF – PF activation) were found less frequently because the large amplitude and duration of the CF responses together with their short latency usually masked the eventual consecutive excitatory postsynaptic potentials via MFs and PFs. Finally, inhibitory postsynaptic potentials, like normally connected PCs, were also recorded, corroborating the integration of the grafted neurons in the circuitry of the cerebellar cortex of the host [47].


**Fig. 2** Electron micrographs illustrating the synaptic input of grafted PCs. (**a**) Parallel fibers (PF) synapsing on spines (*arrows*) of a PC dendrite (PCD). A nearby climbing fiber (CF) synapses on two other PC spines (*arrow heads*). (**b**) Initial segment of the axon (AIS) of an ectopically located PC body (PC) among fascicles of parallel fiber (*open arrows*). Both AIS and perikaryon are synaptically contacted by axon terminals of molecular layer interneurons (*arrows*), but "pinceau formation" is missing

#### Parasagittal Compartmentation of Grafted PCs

One of the special features of PCs is their biochemical heterogeneity, underlining the subdivision of the cerebellum in parasagittal modules, that defines its anatomical and functional organization [51]. This biochemical heterogeneity, first detected by the asynchronous expression during early development of markers that in adulthood are present in all PCs [52], maintains the same topography later in development when the selective markers of adult heterogeneity begin to be expressed [53]. This continuity makes PCs the prime organizer of the extracerebellar afferent projections [54]. A PC marker of these modular compartments is the zebrin-1 molecule, which has allowed for the analysis of the possible development of a zonal organization within grafted PCs [55]. The study was carried out in adult rat's grafted cerebellum pretreated with intraparenchymal kainic acid injections to produce necrosis and death of affected PCs. Modular organization was searched for either in the graft remnant itself or within those PCs that migrated to be incorporated into the host cortical circuit. Immunohistochemistry with zebrin-1 antibodies revealed with HRP was used to identify the alternating microzones with zebrin-1-positive and zebrin-1negative PCs, and immunofluorescence of CaBP was used to visualize those zebrin-1-negative PCs, the only ones to be visible due to the quenching of fluorescence by the diaminobenzidine precipitate of their zebrin-1 immunostaining. In both instances, the existence of alternating zebrin+ and zebrin- microzones was detected. In the graft remnant, the alternating clusters contained up to 10 PCs (Fig. 3a), whereas in the host parenchyma invaded by grafted PCs, the bands were formed by only one to three PCs by section plane (Fig. 3b), indicating that PCs might have genomic heterogeneity and could reach their predetermined fate even in an adult environment. These bands did not correlate in distribution nor size with host bands.

In collaboration with Richard Hawkes [56], we investigated, also using transplants, if the micro-zonation of PCs during development was due to intrinsic molecular differences between PC progenitors or was just the result of receiving presynaptic inputs, particularly from the host olivo-cerebellar projection. This might be the case for transplants in adult rat cerebellum after kainic acid injection where, despite the loss of PCs, the CFs although atrophic were maintained [42]. The approach was to isolate the cerebellar anlagen from the specific incoming afferent fibers, before the age of initiation of the synaptogenesis between PCs and CFs or transiently with MFs [57]. To this aim, solid grafts of E12 rat cerebellum were transplanted to either a cavity in the neocortex of adult rats (in cortico) (Fig. 3c, d), or in the anterior chamber of the eye (in oculo). The grafts were able to reach maturity without being exposed to the action of CFs and/or MFs. In both these types of transplants alternating clusters of zebrin-1+ and zebrin-1- PCs developed without the influence of neither CFs nor MFs, pointing to the intrinsic nature of the biochemical heterogeneity of PCs. This result was extremely useful to formulate the hypothesis that the topography of the projections in the cerebellar cortex was regulated by PCs [54], which not only are the pivotal elements in transmitting functional information from the cortex to the DCN but also orchestrate the developmental organization of the cerebellum. It can be concluded that without PCs there is no cerebellum.



**Fig. 3** (**a**, **b**) Two color stain of graft derived from rat suspension of E15 cerebellar anlage into rat cerebella pretreated with intraparenchymal kainic acid injections. Note the extensive integration of PCs into the rat host PC-deficient molecular layer revealing compartmentalization into zebrin-I + and – areas. The anti-zebrin-I was peroxidase stain converted into *green color* with Photoshop CS4, whereas the *red color* shows fluorescent stain for CaBP. (**c**, **d**) Double immunofluorescence of an E13 cerebellar anlage grafted 2 months before into a cavity in adult rat cerebral cortex. Note that while all PC are calbindin positive (rhodamine), only part of them are Zebrin-I positive (fluorescein) revealing alternative clusters of zebrin-I – (black star) and zebrin-I + (white star) PCs

#### The Difficulties to Restore Corticonuclear Projections Argue Against the Possibility of Succeeding Complete PC Replacement by Embryonic Cerebellar Transplants

Finally, the most negative part of the study focused on the fate of grafted PC axons and their efferent projections that cannot establish proper connections with their faraway host targets. As stated above, most of the axons of the grafted PCs remained within the host molecular layer, without reaching the white matter, as if they could not overpass the non-permissive territory offered by the underlying granular layer, a barrier missing during the developmental period during which these axons normally reach the prospective white matter in their way toward the deep cerebellar nuclei (Fig. 1e). The electrophysiological analysis corroborated this morphologic result since only one of the 55 grafted PCs impaled had antidromic potentials after white matter stimulation [47]. Once in a while, a few CaBP+ axons ran within the white matter on their way to the DCN. In most of these cases, PC somata were present in the granule cell layer or even in the white matter. Axons from these ectopic neurons can form thin fascicles that can reach the DCN even after covering relatively long distances (Fig. 1d). The defasciculation of these thin fascicles took place once they arrive to the DCN, where they gave rise to calbindin immunostained dots resembling axon terminals. Their actual nature was corroborated by electron microscopy immunocytochemistry (Fig. 1c). Even more rarely, some of the Purkinje somata located within the host molecular layer, and therefore synaptically integrated, was in continuity with underlying clusters of grafted embryonic bridges. In these situations, their axons can grow through the bridges into the white matter reaching the DCN. These observations provided evidence emphasizing that distance was not the main obstacle for the correct growth of PC axons but that the presence of the non-permissive environment of the host granular layer was. To overcome this obstacle, new grafts were prepared by placing tiny solid pieces of E12 cerebellar primordium in a cannula and implanting them deep in the cerebellar parenchyma of the host to establish a bridge between cortex and DCN that could serve as a permissive passage for axons of grafted PCs that have colonized the host molecular layer, rebuilding this way a new corticonuclear projection [58]. Although technically correct, the obtained yield was very poor, since only a few grafted PCs cortically integrated found their way to the target through the bridge (DCN).

Of course, the problem is solved if the transplantation is performed in utero during embryonic life, as done by Ferdinando Rossi and collaborators [59]. For identification of grafted cells, donor cells were dissected from  $\beta$ -actin-enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) transgenic rats (E14) and transplanted as a single-cell suspension in the fourth ventricle of E16 rat embryos. In this case, although the remaining grafted PCs were less numerous because of the competition with the almost isochronic PCs of the host [59], in adulthood their vast majority occupied an orthotopic position at the molecular/granular layer interface, and their axons reached normally their terminal domains in the DCN. However, if the age of the host is progressively increased (P1, P8) the number of orthotopic PCs decreases, from almost 90 % at E16, to 40 % at P1 and at P8 all surviving grafted PCs remain ectopic. These results emphasize the obstacle provided by the mature granular layer for the growth of PC axons, and the current difficulties to offer cerebellar grafting as a possible way to treat ataxia in mature cerebellum.

#### **Embryonic and Adult Cell Interactions**

Despite the indisputable importance of genetic programs for the developmental project of the cerebellum, it is well known that epigenetic factors consecutive to cell-to-cell interactions are also important. In most normal instances, these interactions occur between isochronic cells. Nevertheless, in reparative process as well as during integration of newborn neurons either generated from adult neural stem cells or transplanted from embryos, adult neural cells should interact with immature ones. The first information we gathered regarding these interactions arose from morphological and electrophysiological studies done on adult cerebella transplanted with cerebellar embryonic cells (E12) and analyzed between 3 and 21 days after grafting (DAG) [60-62]. Three DAG, the transplants were already anchored into the host cerebellum, creating a new and ectopic stream of migratory cells at the surface of the affected folia, between the pial basal lamina and the upper surface of the host molecular layer. By 4-5 DAG, a vast band of large neurons entered in a funneling manner in this stream (Fig. 4a) covering large distances, as already discussed up to 2 and 1/2 folia. In preparations immunostained with anti-CaBP antibodies, subpial bipolar PCs were tangentially oriented (tangential migration) (Fig. 4b), and 2 days later, they changed direction to migrate radially, penetrating within the adult molecular layer of the host cerebellum (Fig. 4c). This period of radial migration along Bergmann radial fibers took place between 5 and 8 DAG. Our ultrastructural examination showed that during tangential migration, thin layers of astrocytes surrounded the migrating PCs, whereas during their radial migration, they were apposed to relatively thick stems of Bergmann glia.

Between 11 and 14 DAG, the synaptogenesis between grafted PCs and adult presynaptic axons of the host was very active. CFs translocated from PC somatic spines, where they started synaptogenesis, to proximal branches spines. Simultaneously, PFs and axons of the molecular layer interneurons had established synaptic contacts, respectively, with dendritic spines of the PC distal branches and the shafts of proximal branches. The obtained electrophysiological results completed the morphological ones and revealed that synaptogenesis between host CFs and grafted PCs followed a similar process to that which occurs during development, when both partners were immature. They also went through a transient period of polyinnervation with an average of three distinct CFs synapsing of each PC by 10 DAG, till at least 14 DAG when they become monoinnervated [61].

In conclusion, the establishment of the newly formed connections mimicked very closely the time course and sequence of events happening in normal development. It looks like the embryonic PCs impose a program defined by their own internal clock that leads to their timely ordered synaptic integration [60]. We were



**Fig. 4** Development of reciprocal graft-host interactions during PC replacement. Events taking place during the fifth to the eighth day after grafting. (**a**) Between the subpial basal lamina (marked by *two arrows*) and the glial limiting membrane (marked by *large dots*), a funneling stream of tangentially migrating PCs invades the host cerebellum from the graft/host interface (*right* of the micrograph). Micrograph taking from a 1  $\mu$ m thick plastic section. (**b**, **c**) Calbindin-labeled PCs, respectively, in tangential (**b**) and radial (**c**) migration. (**d**, **d'**, **e**, **e'**) Sagittal sections of the grafted mutant cerebellum double labeled with anti-calbindin (histofluorescence) (**d'**, **e'**) and anti-nestin (immunoperoxidase) (d, e) antibodies to visualize migrating PCs and their glial axes. Note that the adult Bergmann fibers, in the presence of embryonic PCs, change their nestin expression from the null, which characterizes adult animals, to the positive of radial glia necessary for radial migration of grafted PCs

fascinated by these new cyto-sociological rules imposed by the embryonic neural cells, and we wanted to uncover some of the molecular mechanisms governing these embryonic/adult interactions.

# Molecular Mechanisms Regulating Grafted PC Migration. Interactions Between Adult Host Bergmann Fibers and Embryonic PCs. New Type of Neural Plasticity: "Adaptive Rejuvenation"

PC migration is a glial-guided migration from the ventricular cerebellar neuroepithelium toward the presumptive cerebellar cortex, to form what is called the PC plate (see in [63]). During ontogenesis it might be thought that expression of the necessary cues by the participating cells is coordinated because they are similar in age. This would not be the case, however, when embryonic neurons are grafted into adult brain. This raises the question as whether the grafted embryonic PCs can induce molecular changes in adult host cells, especially in Bergmann glia, to transiently re-express the molecular cues needed for their migration and synaptic integration into the host [60] or if isochronic embryonic astrocytes leave the graft, acquire within the host parenchyma the radial glia phenotype, and provide the substrate for the migration of grafted PCs.

In order to determine whether either comigration of embryonic PCs and astrocytes or "rejuvenation" of host glia by the embryonic PCs was involved in graft integration, we performed the following experiment [64]. Mutant pcd mice were grafted with cerebellar primordia from homozygous embryos of the transgenic line, Krox20/lacZ14, wherein in the cerebellum, the  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity was detected exclusively on Golgi epithelial cells and their Bergmann fibers, allowing its distinction from the host. Presumptive molecular changes in host Bergmann fibers were investigated by immunohistochemistry with rat mAb-401 antibody (gift Susan Hockfield) [65] that identifies nestin [66] an intermediate filament protein expressed transiently by neural progenitor cells and their glial axes for neuronal migration. This antibody is, therefore, temporary and spatially suited to identify radial glia involved in radial migration [65]. Cerebellar sections of pcd mice that received transplants of Krox-20/lacZ14 transgenic embryos were immunostained either 5 DAG during the tangential migration of grafted PCs, or 7 DAG during their radial migration, or after the end of their complete migration (13 DAG). First, no X-gal-positive cells were found outside the solid graft remnant, a compelling evidence against comigration. Finally, in the folia invaded by grafted PCs, and only during the short period of their radial migration, Bergmann fibers subserving this migration expressed nestin (Fig. 4, d, d', e, e'). This close spatiotemporal correlation allowed us to conclude that a new class of plasticity did occur as a process or "rejuvenation" induced by the grafted embryonic PCs on their adult partners. Therefore, after transient expression of molecular cues associated with PC migration, adult Bergmann fibers became able to recapitulate the mechanisms employed in normal ontogenesis, enabling migration and synaptic integration leading to the restoration of the disrupted cortical circuitry [60].

# Neural Grafting and the Balance Between Neuronal Intrinsic Growth Regulatory Mechanisms and Extrinsic Environmental Stimuli for Central Axon Regeneration

As discussed above, spontaneous recovery of function after mammalian CNS injury is very limited, not only because of the scarceness of adult neurogenesis but mainly because central neurons are unable to regenerate their axons, contrary to what happens in non-mammalian species [67–69], and in mammalian peripheral axons [3]. From the beginning, researchers wanted to know if the distinct behavior of the mammalian central and peripheral neurons was intrinsic to themselves or the result of the different molecular and cellular environment they encountered. Francisco Tello [70], who worked in Ramón y Cajal's laboratory, was one of the first to answer correctly this question. Two distant cuts in peripheral nerves produce aneural nerve fragments, with preservation of their cellular sheaths, Schwann cells, and connective tissue accessories. Such isolated fragments of peripheral nerve were grafted deeply in the neocortex. The nearby cut central axons were then able to develop growth cone-like structures at the distal ends of their proximal stumps that grew for long distances penetrating deeply the grafted aneural nerve. For Ramón y Cajal, these observations clearly indicated that by simply providing the suitable environment, a central axon could regenerate as a peripheral one. Therefore, the study of non-permissive molecules preventing central axonal regeneration has become a research topic of the last 30 years. Thus, proteins of the extracellular matrix at the glial scar, such as cytotactin / tenascin and proteoglycans [71], as well as myelin remnants [72], have been the focus of this research.

Furthermore, these studies showed that the regenerative failure was not solely the result of environmental growth inhibitory molecules but also of central neurons' intrinsic properties. Indeed the latter, after the transitional period of development, loses their ability to reset the required specific set of genes associated with axon growth. For these reasons, it is commonly accepted nowadays that the regenerative process's success depends on the interplay between environmental cues and intrinsic properties of the damaged neurons. It is obvious that both these elements should be taken into account when designing therapeutic strategies for promoting central axon regeneration.

Regarding the cerebellum, the main topic of this chapter, it has been possible to reveal an unusual feature of the adult PCs. They are a rare class of neurons that did not respond to axotomy with neither somatic, retrograde, or degenerative changes (chromatolysis), even when the injury was done close to the axon hillock, as can happen in a few of PCs after transection of cerebellar folia separating the anterior from the posterior vermal lobes, nor dendritic changes [73]. The absence of chromatolysis

was most probably responsible for the lack of regeneration observed on these neurons, because degenerative events seemed needed to activate metabolic and reparative genetic programs required for axon growth [74, 75]. Although PCs did not retract the proximal stumps of their severed axons that remained apposed to the wound cavity for long periods of time, they went through progressive changes characterized by hypertrophy of the recurrent collateral system that gave place to "PCs with arciform axons" (Fig. 5b) [73]. Ramón y Cajal [3] described these changes as a compensatory growth process that transformed PCs from projection neurons into interneurons with short axons. Nevertheless, 3 months after the lesion, a thin and short terminal sprouting appeared, growing little by little up until 18 months, the longest survival time analyzed [76]. After 18 months, the sprouts were numerous and arranged into randomly oriented plexuses, partially filling the regions of granular layer abutting the lesion cavity. These terminal sprouts had established heterotypic synaptic contacts with granular cell dendrites at the glomeruli. These changes observed in the injured axons were spatially and temporally correlated with the cellular and molecular changes occurring in the glial scar. Activated macrophages disappeared much earlier than the initiation of sprouting did. Myelin and its associated neurite growth inhibitory molecules began to decrease 3 months after the lesion. More importantly, some of the reactive astrocytes started at this time to expressed PSA-NCAM, the embryonic form of the neural cell adhesion molecule, changing completely the non-permissive nature of the early glial scar into a permissive substratum for neurite outgrowth. Therefore, the belated axon growth attempt occurred under the form of early thickness increase and late terminal sprouting. The latter occur at the same time as changes in the glial scar. This almost exclusive behavior of PCs to axotomy confers to these neurons the epithet of the central neurons with the poorest spontaneous regenerative capacity.

The behavior of inferior olivary neurons, also axotomized at their distal arbors – CFs – after folia transection, was quite different [77]. They did not become hypertrophic but, instead, became thinner, ending in small terminal bulbs also apposed to the wound cavity. No spontaneous regeneration was observed, although these axons were known by their high plasticity [43]. Contrary to PCs, inferior olivary neurons suffered from a severe retrograde reaction that produced their progressive atrophy [42] and, for many of them, ultimate cell death [78]. Sixty days after axotomy, more than 50 % of olivary cells had died [79].

Early gathered information stipulated that during development, young postmitotic neurons had a much higher capacity for regeneration than mature ones. Furthermore, Oscar Sugar and Ralph W. Gerard [80], using immature rats and following Cajal's method of implanting aneural peripheral nerve fragments, provided a clear demonstration that some regeneration could take place. Based on these facts, many investigators proposed to combine the injury of central regions with simultaneous or delayed filling of the injury track with a large array of grafted biological materials (aneural peripheral nerve fragments, embryonic spinal cord tissue, cultured embryonal tissue, tumor cells or others; see references in Puchala and Windle [81]). This combined approach was extremely useful in revealing the heterogeneity of responses induced by axotomy in different neuronal populations and was used extensively in cerebellar lesions.



**Fig. 5** Axotomy and transplantation, a combined approach in adult rat cerebellum to assess the intrinsic capacity of adult neurons to regenerate in permissive environment. After a cut separating anterior for posterior vermal cortices, the lesion site is filled with rat E13 cerebellar anlage. Survival times were up to 60 days. PCs were analyzed in calbindin-stained sections, and to display climbing fibers, iontophoretic injections of biotinylated dextran amine (BDA) were done in the inferior olive 10 days before fixation. (a) Illustrates the narrow band formed by the graft, the entry of the regenerating thin axons, and their peridendritic plexuses around the grafted PC processes. (b) Axotomized PCs, with their normal-looking dendritic trees and perikarya, whereas the axons have adopted the arciform shape reported by Cajal. (c) Retraction bulbs of axotomized PC axons, ending close to the host/graft interface, have failed their regeneration. (d) High magnifications of BDA-filled inferior olivary axons entering the graft and forming small climbing-like terminals outlining the proximal dendrites of the grafted PCs (*arrows*)

In fact, to boost the almost inexistent spontaneous capacity to regenerate of the two cerebellar elements analyzed (PCs and CFs), the combined "lesion and transplant" approach was followed to provide a permissive environment to the cut axons (Fig. 5a) [77]. Several biological materials and survival times were tested with this approach. Segments of aneural peripheral nerve or Schwann cells [82–84], embryonic neocortical tissue [77, 84], and their specific target embryonic cerebellum, first with only 2 months survival [77] and later on up to 12 months to allow for the study of the late sprouting of PC axons [85]. In all cases, the presence of a permissive material allowed CFs to regenerate into the grafts, although with terminal arbors quite different for each type of graft. Only when the graft was embryonic, cerebellum, their specific target domain, the regenerative branches were able to end forming characteristic CFs on the dendritic trees of grafted PCs, as illustrated in Fig. 5a and d of a rat 38 days after axotomy and transplantation. However, at the same survival time after the combined approach, and even in the presence of DCN in the transplant, PC axons neither changed their time of sprouting nor enhanced their capacity to regenerate (Fig. 5c). In conclusion, the use of transplants has been most useful in revealing the differences in the regenerative capacity of two populations of neurons, emphasizing the importance of intrinsic factors in the regenerative process. Grafting has also disclosed that the protracted sprouting of PC axons is not at all equivalent to regenerative capability, corroborating many other studies indicating that the growth in sprouting is regulated by different molecular mechanisms than the growth required for regeneration. Finally, the results also highlighted that cellular changes induced by axotomy in the soma of the injured neuron are the hub for the decision taken of either to start the cell death program or the regeneration program.

# The Transplantation of Stem Cells, A New and Fashionable Approach

# Origins of the Cells: Embryonic and Adult Multipotent Stem Cells and Immortalized Cell Lines

Although recently, the discovery of the existence of neural stem cells in the CNS of adult mammals has changed our vision of a static adult CNS, it did not however alter the grim reality that is the spontaneous fate of nerve injuries. Indeed, neurologists have known for many years that the loss of a specific population of neurons provokes permanent and irreducible neurological deficits, despite a possible slow, and partial recovery of some of the symptoms. The latter is mostly the result of plastic changes due mainly to collateral sprouting of axons spared by the injury [86, 87] and does not seem to result from spontaneous proliferation of quiescent, local neural stem cells. Despite these negative premises, after the discovery of neural stem cells in the adult brain [23], scientists became more optimistic as they foresaw

the possibility to treat and cure patients with neurodegenerative diseases as well as those with traumatic or ischemic lesions of the brain or spinal cord. Thus, numerous publications appeared on the therapeutic power of exogenous naive stem cell transplantation to repair all types of lesions damaging nervous centers (see in [88]). They used not only adult neural stem cells taken from the central regions known by their abundance in such class of cells (the subventricular zone of the anterior pole of the lateral ventricles or the hippocampus) but also many other classes of multipotent cells of very different origins such as bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells [89] and even immortalized multipotent neural cell lines generated via retrovirusmediated v-*myc* transfect [90, 91]. Unfortunately, the results of these experiments were rather disappointing because, often, the progeny of the engrafted stem cells either remained undifferentiated [90, 91] or was restricted to glial lineages [92].

#### Neural Stem Cells from the Postnatal Cerebellum

Concerning the cerebellum, postnatal neural stem cells were found relatively late by Scott Wechsler-Reya's group [93]. These cells had their niches in the cerebellar white matter, and two important features allowed for their identification: (i) the expression of the stem cell marker prominin-1 and (ii) the lack of neuronal and glial cell lineages' markers, even if they could, once transplanted into the cerebellum, differentiate into GABAergic, Pax2-positive interneurons together with astrocytes and oligodendrocytes. These cerebellar stem cells, once isolated from newborn or adult mouse cerebella, could produce clonal neurospheres used for transplantation. It is important to remember that neural stem cells have different potentialities according to the brain region and the age of the donor. Gord Fishell's group [94] has shown, in vivo (transplantation) and in vitro (cell cultures), that the forebrain and cerebellar-derived neurospheres gave their origin to neurons resembling those endogenously found in the brain. In other words, the neural stem cell progenies have regional character and are not totipotent since they have already acquired some differentiation.

# The Reprogramming of Somatic Cells into Induced Stem Cells, or Directly into Precise Neuronal Fates, to Provide an Autologous Source of Transplantable Cells

#### **Historical Introduction**

John Gurdon's early cloning experiments [95], using somatic nuclear transfer taken from somatic differentiated cells (a tadpole intestinal cell), demonstrated that, when transplanted into an enucleated egg, its reprogramming to a pluripotent stage was possible and gave origin to the complete tadpole. This important discovery made it possible to put to rest a seemingly inviolable principle of developmental biology: the widespread concept that cell differentiation takes place in one direction only, from pluripotent undifferentiated cells to highly differentiated ones such as neurons. This principle was progressively replaced by the idea that the differentiation process was reversible, thanks to a new mechanism named reprogramming. Reprogramming considers that fully differentiated cells could dedifferentiate and transform somatic cells into pluripotent stem cells through the inductive action of suitable transcription factors and then ready to be differentiated again, but this time in the desired cell class [96]. Shinya Yamanaka's team publication [96], showing that a treatment with only four transcription factors (Oct3/4, Sox2, Klf4, and c-Myc) was enough for this transformation, paved the way to the new stem cell era. Among the numerous and new opportunities offered by this reprogramming process, an essential one is that it can supply a significant and unexpected source of neural stem cells (the induced pluripotent stem cells or iPSCs) for autologous cell therapy, while avoiding the immunological and ethical problems attached with the use of heterologous embryonic stem cells. Furthermore, human-induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) also allows to build up in vitro models of genetic and acquired cerebellar diseases, providing a superior material to study molecular and cellular pathomechanisms of precise pathways leading to cerebellar degeneration. This, however, as well as the potential of such models for drug screening, is totally out of scope for this chapter.

It soon appeared that it was possible to reduce the number of "Yamanaka factors" from four to three (Sox2, FoxG1, and Brn2 [97]), and even one, as Sox2 in precise conditions was able to induce pluripotent stem cells [98], removing the danger of using the proto-oncogene c-Myc. These derived stem cells were able to be transformed in turn in neural progenitors and neurons. We are living in a time of logarithmic expansion of research on the reprogramming of mature somatic cells into pluripotent iPSCs and from there in unlimited categories of differentiated cells, especially the countless classes of central neurons. Also of great interest is the possibility to reprogram human fibroblast directly into neurons, without passing through the status of multipotent neural stem cells. Indeed, using the combination of three factors (Ascl1, Brn2, and Myt11), the reprogramming occurred with an induced neuron conversion efficiency of 1.8–7.7 %. These neurons had the membrane properties of real neurons and the capability to establish functional synaptic connection [99].

Regarding the cerebellum, the focus of this chapter, Declercq et al. [100] showed that the Zic3 protein – from the Zic family genes mainly expressed in cerebellar granule cells [101] – was able to maintain the pluripotentiality to the reprogrammed mouse embryonic stem cells. This also minimizes the risk of tumorigenicity that may appear by the inductive action of the "Yamanaka cocktail." This replacement (substitution of c-Myc by Zic3) did not decrease but enhanced the reprogramming efficiency two- to threefold. On the opposite, when Zic3 is blocked by shRNA-mediated knockdown of endogenous Zic3 during iPSC generation, the reprogramming efficiency decreases [100].

#### **Cerebellar Transplantation of Granule Cells**

Transplantations of external granular layer's cells have been the starting point in the history of cerebellar grafting [102] and provided the main conditions required for the survival of transplanted cells. Moreover, the granule cell phenotype has also been the most frequently reached after transplantation of whatever class of stem cells in the early postnatal cerebellum [103, 104]. Nevertheless, despite of the existence of excellent murine models of ataxia consecutive to massive death of granule cells, very few studies have been published on the capability of multipotent cells for isotypic neuronal replacement.

An early attempt to replace missing granule cells was carried out by Evan Snyder's group [103], using the vermal anterior lobe of the *meander tail* mutant mouse [105] as a model of agranular cerebellum. The immortalized cell line used for this study (clone C17.2) was generated by retroviral transfection of the protooncogene v-Myc in cultures taken from neonatal mouse cerebellum [106]. Injection of these cells on the surface of control newborn cerebella allowed their engraftment, followed by their differentiation program into granule cells. The dendrites of the latter received synapses from host mossy fibers, corroborating their partial synaptic integration [106]. When grafted to the anterior lobe of newborn *mea/mea* mutant cerebella, they survived not only in the granuloprival anterior lobe but also ectopically in the posterior lobe. In the former position, they migrated inward, under the PC layer where they received synaptic contacts from host mossy fibers, as if the grafted neurons acquired a granule cell phenotype and built up a kind of immature inner granular layer. The parallel fibers, the efferent fibers of the grafted cells, were not considered in this work [103].

Naive stem cells of two different origins (cerebellar-derived multipotent astrocytic stem cells and embryonic stem cell-derived neural precursor [107]) have been used in the *weaver* mutant mouse, another model of agranular cerebellum [47]. Neither of them provided neurons with granule cell phenotype. After these negative results, new trials were carried out with human cells taken from either the hindbrain of 5–7-week-old embryos [108] or obtained by stable reprogramming of cultured human fibroblasts, taken from the scalp tissue of patients with traumatic brain injury [109]. The former cells were first propagated in culture with EGF and FGF2 and then oriented toward upper rhombic lip derivatives by treatment with bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs). When grafted into neonatal rat brain, they generated granule cells that integrated into host cerebellar circuitry. The great advantage of these human multipotent cell lines is their capacity for generation without genetic immortalization. The latter cells, scalp fibroblasts from patients with traumatic brain injury, were directly reprogrammed by the combination of three transcription factors (Ascl1, Sox2, and Oct4), followed by the treatment of three secreted factors (BMP4, Wnt3a, and FGF8b), into human-induced cerebellar granular-like cells (hiGCs) [109]. This protocol is a direct shortcut to convert one adult cell phenotype into a totally different one, without passing through the state of multipotent stem cell. The hiGCs were used to assess their ability to replace missing cells in the cerebellum of Nmyc<sup>TRE/TRE</sup> tTS, a Nmyc conditional knockout mice [110], a mutation characterized by a severe microencephaly, particularly with a profound atrophy of about 65 % of the cerebellar mass affecting mainly to granule cells [110]. The cell transplantation provided some positive results, at least regarding motor behavior. However, the morphological study was incomplete and though some markers for granule cells were positive, synaptic integration of the grafted cells was not examined, and the newly originated granule cells did not seem to be equipped with their distinctive "T"-shaped polarity phenotype [109]. It is important to note a major difference between previous trials in *weaver* and *meander tail* mutants and these later experiments. In fact, while the results with the former were obtained after newborn transplantations, those of the third model of agranular cerebellum were obtained with mice 8 weeks old when transplanted. In any case, the problem is again that the experiments providing real evidence of neuronal replacement with synaptic integration were only those done on newborn animals. Therefore, the mice experiments discussed here cannot validate the future use of cell therapy for presumptive clinical use, since valid experiments need to be done with older mice, after cerebellar histogenesis is finished, because in humans the mean age of onset of dominant ataxias is about 30 and 40 years [111], and the plasticity of immature cerebellar tissue is not at all comparable with those of adult cerebellum. It is therefore evident that cell therapy in ataxias with loss of granule cells still remains out of reach.

#### **Cerebellar Transplantation of Purkinje Cells**

Due to the difficulties in obtaining PCs from naive stem cells, researchers decided to reprogram in cell cultures the cellular and molecular microenvironments characterizing all the known phases that progenitors should pass through to reach their ultimate identity. They did it either by transfecting with viral vectors, the genes coding for transcription factors involved in their differentiation cascade, or by adding these factors to the culture medium. In such a way, Hideyuki Okano's team [112] induced PCs from mouse embryonic stem cells in a coculture system where the stem cells were floating over a serum-free culture of embryoid body-like aggregates treated with BMP4, Fgf8b, and Wnt3a. Later on a much higher production of PCs was obtained as a result of modifications introduced by Keiko Muguruma et al. [113, 114], who reproduced in cell cultures of mouse embryonic stem cells, the molecular microenvironments containing the inductive signals that native PC progenitors successively receive during their differentiation. As in previous experiments, the stem cells were first oriented toward cerebellar fates by the synergistic addition of insulin and Fgf2 to the culture medium, thus increasing the expression of genes, such as Wnt1, Fgf8, and En2, acting at the midbrain-hindbrain boundary, that regulate the polarity and identity for the specification of the cerebellar plate. However, almost 60 % of the En2-positive cells co-expressed Pax2, a marker of cerebellar GABAergic interneurons and only a few attained the PC fate. The orientation toward the Ptf1a expression [115], and its corollary co-expression of Neph3 in stem cell-derived progenitors necessary for their specification into PCs, was achieved in a second step, called dorsal specification, by inhibiting sonic hedgehog (Shh) signal transduction with cyclopamine. This inhibition prevented the expression of Atoh1 and the formation of granule cells [116]. Finally, the third and last step, the differentiation of Neph3+/Ptf1a + cells [117] into Corl2-expressing PCs [118] – the earliest specific marker expressed in these neurons – was obtained after cell sorting and purification of the Neph3+ cells kept a few days in co-culture with mouse cerebellar granular cells. This complex treatment allowed for the differentiation of embryonic mouse stem cells into PC progenitors with a very high yield, since over 80 % of the co-cultured Neph3+ cells expressed Corl2.

The Neph3-derived cells obtained from GAD-GFP embryonic stem cells by Muguruma et al. [113] were injected into the subventricular space of the E15.5 cerebellar plates. One month after transplantation, the surviving grafted cells appeared as normally polarized PCs, located at the interphase of the molecular and granular layers and with complete afferent and efferent synaptic integration. Indeed, their axons crossed the granular layer to enter in the white matter axis, and some of them even reached their terminal domains, and established synaptic connections with deep cerebellar nuclear neurons. Therefore, the PCs derived from embryonic stem cells behaved in the same way as PC progenitors transplanted in embryonic cerebellum. Ensuing their normal migratory pathway, they were able to access their orthotopic location and complete synaptic integration (see above and [59]). However, these apparently successful PC replacements remain of difficult clinical application as already discussed for PCs after E12 cerebellar grafts in adult pcd/pcd mutants (see section "The Difficulties to Restore Corticonuclear Projections Argue Against the Possibility of Succeeding Complete PC Replacement by Embryonic Cerebellar Transplants"), and for granule cells (section "Cerebellar Transplantation of Granule Cells"). Indeed, until it can be shown that PCs - derived from iPSCs - can be implanted after the onset of ataxia symptoms, in young adults, not in fetal mice, and that the grafted cells can reproduce the same developmental behavior as in fetuses, this therapy will remain inapplicable to humans.

#### **Prospective Expectations**

For many researchers interested in the plasticity of the nervous system, it is obvious that the discovery of the in vivo reprogramming process has awakened the dream of manipulating at our willingness the physiological mechanisms of regeneration available to the brain. This approach of genetic activation of the neurogenesis of adult injured brains, particularly by transformation of reactive astrocyte into newly generated neurons able to replace the missing ones, leaves only –as memory or signal of the injury – a small scar, and does so without transplantation of exogenous biological material. Therefore, regarding its regenerative capability, the nervous tissue could be considered from now on as the others body tissues. Although no one knows what the future holds, these current results give us great hope in a brighter future for reparative neurology.

**Note concerning the illustrations:** The micrographs illustrating this chapter have been adapted from personal publications in the topic (see references: [29, 46, 55, 56, 58, 60, 62, 64, 77]).

### References

- 1. His W. Unsere Körperform und das physiologische Problem ihrer Entstehung. Briefe an einen befreundeten Naturforscher. Leipzig: F.C.W. Vogel; 1874.
- 2. His W. Die Entwicklung des menschlichen Gehirns während der ersten Monate. Leipzig: Hirzel; 1904.
- Ramón y Cajal S. Estudios sobre la degeneración y regeneración del sistema nervioso. Tomo I: Degeneración y regeneración de los nervios. Madrid: Imprenta Hijos de Nicolas Moya; 1913.
- Bizzozero G. Accrescimento e rigenerazione nell'organismo. Archivio per le Scienze Mediche. 1894;18:245–87.
- Brody H. Organization of the cerebral cortex. III, a study of aging in the human cerebral cortex. J Comp Neurol. 1955;102:511–56.
- 6. Eccles JC. The plasticity of the mammalian central nervous system with special reference to new growth in response to lesions. Naturwissenschaften. 1976;63:8–15.
- Haug H, Knebel G, Mecke E, Orün C, Sass NL. The aging of cortical cytoarchitectonics in the light of stereological investigations. Prog Clin Biol Res. 1981;59B:193–7.
- 8. Haug H. History of neuromorphometry. J Neurosci Methods. 1986;18:1-17.
- 9. Morrison JH, Hof PR. Life and death of neurons in the aging brain. Science. 1997;278:412-9.
- 10. Salthouse TA. When does age-related cognitive decline begin? Neurobiol Aging. 2009;30:507–14.
- Morrison JH, Baxter MG. The aging cortical synapse: hallmarks and implications for cognitive decline. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2012;13:240–50.
- Ramón y Cajal S. Textura del Sistema Nervioso del Hombre y de los Vertebrados, vol. 2. Madrid: Nicolas Moya; 1904. p. 1150.
- 13. Bain A. Mind and body. The theories of their relation. New York: D Appleton & Comp; 1873.
- 14. Tanzi E. I fatti e le induzioni dell'odierna istologia del sistema nervoso. Rivista Sperimentale di Freniatria e Medicina Legale delle Aliennazioni Mentali. 1893;19:419–72.
- Lugaro E. Modern problems in psychiatry (English translation of the book published in 1906 with the title: I Problemi Odierni della Psichiatria, Milan, Sandron). Manchester: The University Press; 1913.
- Berlucchi G, Buchtel HA. Neuronal plasticity: historical roots and evolution of meaning. Exp Brain Res. 2009;192:307–19.
- Sotelo C, Dusart I. Structural plasticity in adult nervous system: an historic perspective. In: Junnier MP, Kernie SG, editors. Endogenous stem cell-based brain remodeling in mammals. New York: Springer; 2014. p. 5–41.
- Messier B, Leblond CP, Smart IH. Presence of DNA synthesis and mitosis in the brain of young adult mice. Exp Cell Res. 1958;14:224–6.
- Allen E. The cessation of mitosis in the central nervous system of the albino rat (after birth). J Comp Neurol. 1912;22:547–68.
- 20. Altman J. Are new neurons formed in the brains of adult mammals? Science. 1962;135:1127-8.
- Altman J. Autoradiographic investigation of cell proliferation in the brains of rats and cats. Anat Rec. 1963;145:573–91.
- 22. Kaplan MS. Neurogenesis in the 3-month-old rat visual cortex. J Comp Neurol. 1981;195:323–38.
- Reynolds BA, Weiss S. Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science. 1992;255:1707–10.

- 24. van Praag H, Kempermann G, Gage FH. Running increases cell proliferation in the adult mouse dentate gyrus. Nat Neurosci. 1999;2:266–70.
- 25. Doetsch F, Caille I, Lim DA, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Alvarez-Buylla A. Subventricular zone astrocytes are neural stem cells in the adult mammalian brain. Cell. 1999;97:703–16.
- 26. Carleton A, Petreanu LT, Lansford R, Alvarez-Buylla A, Lledo PM. Becoming a new neuron in the adult olfactory bulb. Nat Neurosci. 2003;6:507–18.
- Clelland CD, Choi M, Romberg C, Clemenson GD Jr, Fragniere A, Tyers P, Jessberg S, Saksida LM, Barker RA, Gage FH, Bussey TJ. A functional role for adult hippocampal neurogenesis in spatial pattern separation. Science. 2009;325:210–3.
- Lepousez G, Nissant A, Lledo PM. Adult neurogenesis and the future of the rejuvenating brain circuits. Neuron. 2015;86:387–401.
- 29. Sotelo C, Alvarado-Mallart RM. Growth and differentiation of cerebellar suspensions transplanted into the adult cerebellum of mice with heredodegenerative ataxia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1986;83:1135–9.
- Mobley P, Greengard P. Evidence for widespread effects of noradrenaline on axon terminals in the rat frontal cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1985;82:945–7.
- Björklund A, Dunnett SB, Stenevi U, Lewis ME, Iversen SD. Reinnervation of the denervated striatum by substantia nigra transplants: functional consequences as revealed by pharmacological and sensorimotor testing. Brain Res. 1980;199:307–33.
- Sotelo C. Molecular layer interneurons of the cerebellum: development and morphological aspects. Cerebellum. 2015;14:534–56.
- Ramón y Cajal S. The Croonian lecture: la fine structure des centres nerveux. Proc Roy Soc (Lond). 1894;55:444–68.
- Mullen RJ, Eicher EM, Sidman RL. Purkinje cell degeneration, a new neurological mutation in the mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1976;73:208–12.
- 35. Fernandez-Gonzalez A, La Spada AR, Treadaway J, Higdon JC, Harris BS, Sidman RL, Morgan JI, Zuo J. Purkinje cell degeneration (pcd) phenotypes caused by mutations in the axotomy-induced gene, Nna1. Science. 2002;295:1904–6.
- Harris A, Morgan JI, Pecot M, Soumare A, Osborne A, Soares HD. Regenerating motor neurons express Nna1, a novel ATP/GTP-binding protein related to zinc carbopeptidases. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2000;16:578–96.
- Sotelo C, Alvarado-Mallart RM. Cerebellar grafting as a tool to analyze new aspects of cerebellar development and plasticity. In: Llinás R, Sotelo C, editors. The cerebellum revisited. New York: Springer; 1991. p. 84–115.
- Dumesnil-Bousez N, Sotelo C. Partial reconstruction of the adult Lurcher cerebellar circuitry by neural grafting. Neuroscience. 1993;55:1–21.
- Wassef M, Simons J, Tappaz ML, Sotelo C. Non-Purkinje cell GABAergic innervation of the deep cerebellar nuclei: a quantitative immunocytochemical study in C57BL and in Purkinje cell degeneration mutant mice. Brain Res. 1986;399:125–35.
- 40. Dusart I, Guenet JL, Sotelo C. Purkinje cell death: differences between developmental cell death and neurodegenerative death in mutant mice. Cerebellum. 2006;5:163–73.
- 41. Ghetti B, Norton J, Triarhou LC. Nerve cell atrophy and loss in the inferior olivary complex of "Purkinje cell degeneration" mutant mice. J Comp Neurol. 1987;260:409–22.
- 42. Armengol JA, Sotelo C, Angaut P, Alvarado-Mallart RM. Organization of host afferents to cerebellar grafts implanted into kainate lesioned cerebellum in adult rats. Hodological evidence for the specificity of host-graft interactions. Eur J Neurosci. 1989;1:75–93.
- Rossi F, Strata P. Reciprocal trophic interactions in the adult climbing fibre-Purkinje cell system. Prog Neurobiol. 1995;47:341–69.
- 44. Triarhou LC, Norton J, Alyea C, Ghetti B. A quantitative study of the granule cells in the Purkinje cell degeneration (pcd) mutant. Ann Neurol. 1985;18:146. abstract
- 45. Triarhou LC, Ghetti B. Monoaminergic nerve terminals in the cerebellar cortex of Purkinje cell degeneration mutant mice: fine structural integrity and modification of cellular environs following loss of Purkinje and granule cells. Neuroscience. 1986;18:795–807.

- 46. Sotelo C, Alvarado-Mallart RM. Reconstruction of the defective cerebellar circuit in adult Purkinje cell degeneration mutant mice by Purkinje cell replacement through transplantation of solid embryonic implants. Neuroscience. 1987;20:1–22.
- 47. Gardette R, Alvarado-Mallart RM, Crepel F, Sotelo C. Electrophysiological demonstration of a synaptic integration of transplanted Purkinje cells in the cerebellum of the adult Purkinje cell degeneration mutant mouse. Neuroscience. 1988;24:777–89.
- Sotelo C. Anatomical, physiological and biochemical studies of the cerebellum from mutant mice. II. Morphological study of cerebellar cortical neurons and circuits in the weaver mouse. Brain Res. 1975;94:19–44.
- Mariani J, Crepel F, Mikoshiba K, Changeux JP, Sotelo C. Anatomical, physiological and biochemical studies of the cerebellum from reeler mutant mouse. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London B. Biol Sci. 1977;281:1–28.
- 50. Friedel RH, Kerjan G, Rayburn H, Schüller U, Sotelo C, Tessier-Lavigne M, Chédotal A. Plexin-B2 controls the development of cerebellar granule cells. J Neurosci. 2007;27:3921–32.
- 51. Hawkes R, Gravel C. The modular cerebellum. Prog Neurobiol. 1991;36:309-27.
- Wassef M, Zanetta JP, Brehier A, Sotelo C. Transient biochemical compartmentalization of Purkinje cells during early cerebellar development. Dev Biol. 1985;111:129–37.
- Marzban H, Chung S, Watanabe M, Hawkes R. Phospholipase Cβ4 expression reveals the continuity of cerebellar topography through development. J Comp Neurol. 2007;502:857–71.
- Sotelo C, Wassef M. Cerebellar development: afferent organization and Purkinje cell heterogeneity. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society London B. Biol Sci. 1991;331:307–13.
- Rouse RV, Sotelo C. Grafts of dissociated cerebellar cells containing Purkinje cell precursors organize into zebrin I defined compartment. Exp Brain Res. 1990;82:401–7.
- Wassef M, Sotelo C, Thomasset M, Granholm A-C, Leclerc N, Rafrafi J, Hawkes R. Expression of compartmentation antigen zebrin-I in cerebellar transplants. J Comp Neurol. 1990;294:223–34.
- Mason CA, Gregory E. Postnatal maturation of cerebellar mossy and climbing fibers: transient expression of dual features on single axons. J Neurosci. 1984;4:1715–35.
- Keep M, Alvarado-Mallart RM, Sotelo C. New insight on the factors orienting the axonal outgrowth of grafted Purkinje cells in the *pcd* cerebellum. Dev Neurosci. 1992;14:153–65.
- Carletti B, Williams IM, Leto K, Nakajima K, Magrassi L, Rossi F. Time constraints and positional cues in the developing cerebellum regulate Purkinje cell placement in the cortical architecture. Dev Biol. 2008;317:147–60.
- Sotelo C, Alvarado-Mallart RM. Embryonic and adult neurons interact to allow Purkinje cell replacement in mutant cerebellum. Nature. 1987;227:421–3.
- Gardette R, Crepel F, Alvarado-Mallart RM, Sotelo C. Fate of grafted embryonic Purkinje cells in the cerebellum of the adult "Purkinje cell degeneration" mutant mouse. II. Development of synaptic responses: an in vitro study. J Comp Neurol. 1990. 1990;295:188–96.
- 62. Sotelo C, Alvarado-Mallart RM, Gardette R, Crepel F. Fate of grafted Purkinje cells in the cerebellum of the adult "Purkinje cell degeneration" mutant mouse. I. Development of reciprocal graft-host interactions. J Comp Neurol. 1990. 1990;295:165–87.
- 63. Sotelo C, Rossi F. Purkinje cell migration and differentiation. In: Manto M, Gruol DL, Schmahmann JD, Koibuchi N, Rossi F, editors. Handbook of the cerebellum and cerebellar disorders. New York: Springer Science+Business Media; 2013. p. 147–78.
- Sotelo C, Alvarado-Mallart RM, Frain M, Vernet M. Molecular plasticity of adult Bergmann fibers is associated with radial migration of grafted Purkinje cells. J Neurosci. 1994;14:124–33.
- 65. Hockfield S, McKay RD. Identification of major cell classes in the developing mammalian nervous system. J Neurosci. 1985;5:3310–28.
- Lendahl U, Zimmerman LB, McKay RD. CNS stem cells express a new class of intermediate filament protein. Cell. 1990;60:585–95.
- Caporaso L. Sulla rigenerazione del midollo spinale della coda dei tritoni. Ernst Ziegler's Beiträge. 1887;5:67–98.

- 68. Lorente de Nó R. La regeneración de la médula espinal en las larvas de batracio. Trabajos del Laboratorio de Investigaciones Biológicas de la Universidad de Madrid. 1921;19:147–83.
- 69. Hooker D. Spinal cord regeneration in the young rainbow fish, lebistes reticulatus. J Comp Neurol. 1932;56:277–97.
- Tello F. La influencia de l neurotropismo en la regeneración de los centros nerviosos. Trabajos del Laboratorio de Investigaciones Biológicas de la Universidad de Madrid. 1911;9:123–59.
- McKeon RJ, Schreiber RC, Rudge JS, Silver J. Reduction of neurite outgrowth in a model of glial scarring following CNS injury is correlated with the expression of inhibitory molecules on reactive astrocytes. J Neurosci. 1991;11:3398–411.
- Caroni P, Schwab ME. Two membrane protein fractions from rat central myelin with inhibitory properties for neurite outgrowth and fibroblast spreading. J Cell Biol. 1988;106:1281–8.
- Dusart I, Sotelo C. Lack of Purkinje cell loss in adult rat cerebellum following protracted axotomy: degenerative changes and regenerative attempts of the severed axons. J Comp Neurol. 1994;347:211–32.
- 74. Dusart I, Ghoumari A, Wehrlé R, Morel MP, Bouslama-Oueghlani L, Camand E, Sotelo C. Cell death and axon regeneration of Purkinje cells after axotomy: challenges of classical hypotheses of axon regeneration. Brain Res Rev. 2005;49:300–16.
- Rossi F, Gianola S, Corvetti L. The strange case of Purkinje cell axon regeneration and plasticity. Cerebellum. 2006;5:174–82.
- Dusart I, Morel MP, Wehrlé R, Sotelo C. Late axonal sprouting of injured Purkinje cells and its temporal correlation with permissive changes in the glial scar. J Comp Neurol. 1999;408:399–418.
- Rossi F, Jankovski A, Sotelo C. Differential regenerative response of Purkinje cell and inferior olivary axons confronted with embryonic grafts: environmental cues versus intrinsic neuronal determinants. J Comp Neurol. 1995;359:663–77.
- 78. Wehrlé R, Caroni P, Sotelo C, Dusart I. Role of GAP-43 in mediating the responsiveness of cerebellar and precerebellar neurons to axotomy. Eur J Neurosci. 2001;13:857–70.
- Buffo A, Fronte M, Oestreicher AB, Rossi F. Degenerative phenomena and reactive modifications of the adult rat inferior olivary neurons following axotomy and disconnection from their targets. Neuroscience. 1998;85:587–604.
- 80. Sugar O, Gerard RW. Spinal cord regeneration in the rat. J Neurophysiol. 1940;3:1-19.
- Puchala E, Windle WF. The possibility of structural and functional restitution after spinal cord injury. A review. Exp Neurol. 1977;55:1–42.
- Dusart I, Airaksinen MD, Sotelo C. Purkinje cell survival and axonal regeneration are age dependent: an in vitro study. J Neurosci. 1997;17:3710–26.
- Bravin M, Savio T, Strata P, Rossi F. Olivocerebellar axon regeneration and target reinnervation following dissociated Schwann cell grafts in surgically injured cerebella of adult rats. Eur J Neurosci. 1997;9:2634–49.
- Gianola S, Rossi F. Long-term injured Purkinje cells are competent for terminal arbor growth, but remain unable to sustain stem axon regeneration. Exp Neurol. 2002;176:25–40.
- Morel MP, Dusart I, Sotelo C. Sprouting of adult Purkinje cell axons in lesioned mouse cerebellum: "non-permissive" versus "permissive" environment. J Neurocytol. 2002;31:633–47.
- 86. Bareyre FM, Kerschensteiner M, Raineteau O, Mettenleiter TC, Weinmann O, Schwab ME. The injured spinal cord spontaneously forms a new intraspinal circuit in adult rats. Nat Neurosci. 2004;7:269–77.
- Filli L, Schwab ME. Structural and functional reorganization of propriospinal connections promotes functional recovery after spinal cord injury. Neural Regen Res. 2015;10:509–13.
- 88. Gage FH, Ray I, Fisher LJ. Isolation, characterization, and use of stem cells from the CNS. Annu Rev Neurosci. 1995;18:159–92.
- Bae J-S, Han HS, Youn D-H, Carter JE, Modo M, Schuchman EH, Jin HK. Bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells promote neuronal networks with functional synaptic transmission after transplantation into mice with neurodegeneration. Stem Cells. 2007;25:1307–16.

- Li J, Imitola J, Snyder EY, Sidman RL. Neural stem cells rescue *nervous* Purkinje neurons by restoring molecular homeostasis of tissue plasminogen activator and downstream targets. J Neurosci. 2006;26:7839–48.
- Ahmad I, Hunter RE, Flax JD, Evan Y, Snyder EY, Erickson RP. Neural stem cell implantation extends life in Niemann-Pick C1 mice. J Appl Genet. 2007;48:269–72.
- Cao Q-1Y, Zhang YP, Howard RM, Walters WM, Tsoulfas P, Whittemore SR. Pluripotent stem cells engrafted in the normal or lesioned adult rat spinal cord are restricted to a glial cell lineage. Exp Neurol. 2001;167:48–58.
- Lee A, Kessler JD, Read TA, Kaiser C, Corbeil D, Huttner WB, Johnson JE, Wechsler-Reya RJ. Isolation of neural stem cells from the postnatal cerebellum. Nat Neurosci. 2005;8:723–9.
- 94. Klein C, Butt SJ, Machold RP, Johnson JE, Fishell G. Cerebellum- and forebrain-derived stem cells possess intrinsic regional character. Development. 2005;132:4497–508.
- Gurdon JB. Adult frogs derived from the nuclei of single somatic cells. Dev Biol. 1962;4:256–73.
- 96. Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell. 2006;126:663–76.
- Lujan E, Wernig M. The many roads to Rome: induction of neural precursor cells from fibroblasts. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2012;22:517–22.
- Ring KL, Tong LM, Balestra ME, Javier R, Andrews-Zwilling Y, Li G, Walker D, Zhang WR, Kreitzer AC, Huang Y. Direct reprogramming of mouse and human fibroblasts into multipotent neural stem cells with a single factor. Cell Stem Cell. 2012;11:100–9.
- 99. Vierbuchen T, Ostermeier A, Pang ZP, Kokubu Y, Südhof TC, Wernig M. Direct conversion of fibroblasts to functional neurons be defined factors. Nature. 2010;463:1035–41.
- Declercq J, Sheshadri P, Verfaillie CM, Kumar A. Zic3 enhances the generation of mouse induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells Dev. 2013;22:2017–25.
- 101. Aruga J, Yokota N, Hashimoto M, Furuichi T, Fukuda M, Mikoshiba K. A novel zinc finger protein, zic, is involved in neurogenesis, especially in the cell lineage of cerebellar granule cells. J Neurochem. 1994;63:1880–90.
- Das GD, Altman J. Transplanted precursors of nerve cells: their fate in the cerebellums of young rats. Science. 1971;173:637–8.
- 103. Rosario CM, Yandava BD, Kosaras B, Zurakowski D, Sidman RL, Snyder EY. Differentiation of engrafted multipotent neural progenitors towards replacement of missing granule neurons in meander tail cerebellum may help determine the locus of mutant gene action. Development. 1997;124:4213–24.
- 104. Su H-L, Muguruma K, Matsuo-Takasaki M, Kengaku M, Watanabe K, Sasai Y. Generation of cerebellar neuron precursors from embryonic stem cells. Dev Biol. 2006;290:287–96.
- 105. Ross ME, Fletcher C, Mason CA, Hatten ME, Heintz N. Meander tail reveals a discrete developmental unit in the mouse cerebellum. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1990;87:4189–92.
- 106. Snyder EY, Deitcher DL, Walsh C, Arnold-Aldea S, Hartwieg EA, Cepko CJ. Multipotent neural cell lines can engraft and participate in development of mouse cerebellum. Cell. 1992;68:33–51.
- 107. Chen KA, Lanuto D, Zheng T, Steindler DA. Transplantation of embryonic and adult neural stem cells in the granuloprival cerebellum of the weaver mutant mouse. Stem Cells. 2009;27:1625–34.
- 108. Tailor J, Kittapa R, Leto K, Gates M, Borel M, Paulsen O, Spitzer S, Karadottir RT, Rossi F, Falk A, Smith A. Stem cells expanded from the human embryonic hindbrain stably retain regional specification and high neurogenic potency. J Neurosci. 2013;33:12407–22.
- 109. Zhu T, Tang H, Shen Y, Tang Q, Chen L, Wang Z, Zhou P, Xu F, Zhu J. Transplantation of human induced cerebellar granular-like cells improves motor functions in a novel mouse model of cerebellar ataxia. Am J Transl Res. 2016;8:705–18.
- 110. Sun R, Zhao K, Shen R, Cai L, Yang X, Kuang Y, Mao J, Huang F, Wang Z, Fei J. Inducible and reversible regulation of endogenous gene in mouse. Nucleic Acids Res. 2012;40(21):e166.
- 111. Verbeek DS, van Warrenburg BPC. Genetics of the dominant ataxias. Semin Neurol. 2011;31:461–9.

- 112. Tao O, Shimazaki T, Okada Y, Naka H, Kohda K, Yuzaki M, Mizusawa H, Okano H. Efficient generation of mature cerebellar Purkinje cells from mouse embryonic stem cells. J Neurosci Res. 2010;88:234–47.
- 113. Muguruma K, Nishiyama A, Ono Y, Miyawaki H, Mizuhara E, Hori S, Kakizuka A, Obata K, Yanagawa Y, Hirano T, Sasai Y. Ontogeny-recapitulating generation and tissue integration of ES cell-derived Purkinje cells. Nat Neurosci. 2010;13:1171–80.
- 114. Muguruma K, Sasai Y. In vitro recapitulation of neural development using embryonic stem cells: from neurogenesis to histogenesis. Develop Growth Differ. 2012;54:349–57.
- 115. Hoshino M, Nakamura S, Mori K, Kawauchi T, Terao M, Nishimura YV, Fukuda A, Fuse T, Matsuo N, Sone M, Watanabe M, Bito H, Terashima T, Wright CV, Kawaguchi Y, Nakao K, Nabeshima Y. *Ptf1a*, a HLH transcriptional gene, defines GABAergic neuronal fates in cerebellum. Neuron. 2005;47:201–13.
- 116. Ben-Arie N, Bellen HJ, Armstrong DL, McCall AE, Gordadze PR, Guo Q, Matzuk MM, Zoghbi HY. Math1 is essential for genesis of cerebellar granule neurons. Nature. 1997;390:169–72.
- 117. Mizuhara E, Minaki Y, Nakatani T, Kumai M, Inoue T, Muguruma K, Sasai Y, Ono Y. Purkinje cell originate from cerebellar ventricular zone progenitors positive for Neph3 and E-caherin. Dev Biol. 2010;338:202–14.
- 118. Minaki Y, Nakatani T, Mizuhara E, Inoue T, Ono Y. Identification of a novel transcriptional co-repressor, Corl2, as a cerebellar Purkinje cell–selective marker. Gene Expr Patterns. 2008;8:418–23.

# **Correction to: Primary Pediatric Brain Tumors of the Posterior Fossa Part II: A Comprehensive Overview of Medulloblastoma**



Lisa Liang, Christopher Aiken, Kathleen Felton, Amanda Hogg, Frank van Landeghem, T. Klonisch, David D. Eisenstat, and Tamra E. Werbowetski-Ogilvie

# Correction to: Chapter 16 in: H. Marzban (ed.), Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_16

The original version of this article was inadvertently published with some errors in figure-2. The same has been updated later as below.

- 1. In the Group 3 yellow column, MYCN has been updated as "MYC."
- 2. In the Group 3 yellow column, "de differentiation" has been updated as "de-differentiated."
- 3. In the Group 4 green column, "isochormosome" is incorrectly spelled. This has been corrected as "isochromosome".
- 4. Followed consistency in the word "signaling" throughout figure.
- 5. In the Group 4 green column, the ratio 3:1 has been updated as 2:1.
- 6. Page 339, second paragraph, 3rd last line has been corrected to refer "Figure 2."

The updated online version of this chapter can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_16

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2019

H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2\_23

#### A

Aberrant TH systems, 222-224 Activating transcription factor 4 (ATF4), 166 Acute cerebellar ataxia (ACA), 431 Acute postinfectious cerebellar ataxia (APCA), 247 Adaptive immunity, 262 Adaptive rejuvenation, 478-479 Adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), 334 Adenoviridae, 238 Adolescent-onset ataxia, 428 Adult-onset ataxias, 428 Alberta Cancer Registry, 435 Alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH), 285 Alcohol metabolism, 286 Alcohol-related birth defects (ARBD), 436 Alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder (ARND), 282, 436 Allan-Herndon-Dudley syndrome, 224 Alphatogaviridae, 246 Alzheimer's disease, 466 American Psychological Association, 377-378 Anaplastic ependymoma, 318 Androgen receptor (AR), 225 Angelman syndrome, 188, 416 Anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), 360 Anterior inferior cerebellar artery (AICA), 42 Anticonvulsant syndrome antiepileptic drugs, 279 malformations, 279 pregnant women, 279 valproic acid, 279, 281-282 Apoptosis caspases, 157-158 cell death receptor pathway, 158-159

cellular morphology, 156 cerebellar nuclei neurons, 170 granule cells, 168-169 hepatocytes, 156 intrinsic and extrinsic pathway, 159 lymphocytes, 160 macrophages, 156 mitochondrial pathway, 159-160 purkinje cells, 168 stellate and basket cells, 168 Arboviruses alphatogaviridae, 246 flaviviridae, 246-247 Asperger's syndrome, 370 Astrocytes, 47, 50, 51, 263 Ataxia, 106, 113, 137, 390, 408, 428 acquired, 430-431 epidemiology, 429 types, 428 Ataxia telangiectasia (AT), 186, 212 Ataxin 3, 182 Atoh1, 92, 93, 96 Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), 135, 226, 354 Atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors (ATRTs) ATRT-SHH subset, 310 chromatin remodeling complex, 308 clinical presentation, 305 epidemiology, 303-305 imaging features, 306 infratentorial/ supratentorial locations, 305 literature, 306 management, 310 methylation profiling studies, 309 mitotic and proliferative index, 308

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017 H. Marzban (ed.), *Development of the Cerebellum from Molecular Aspects to Diseases*, Contemporary Clinical Neuroscience, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59749-2

Atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors (ATRTs) (cont.) neural lineage marker expression, 309 solid portion, 306 subgroups, 310 supratentorial tumors, 306 therapy and prognosis, 310-311 treatment approaches, 311 WHO, 305 Autism and developmental disabilitiesm monitoring (ADDM), 425 Autism spectrum disorder (ASD), 135-137, 187.211 air pollution, 374 assessment and treatment, 377-378 BDNF. 373 brain regions, 370 cerebellar abnormalities, 375 CHD8. 371 cognitive function, 377 diagnosis, 377 dizvgotic twins, 371 environmental risk factors, 373 epidemiology, 426 females, 370 FGIDs, 374 genetic and environmental factors, 378, 426 enetic factors, ID, 371-373, 425 molecular genetics and imaging technologies, 370 molecular pathways, 371 neurohistological studies, 376 prevalence, 425, 427 **RELN** dysregulation, 372 risk factors, 426 RORα and RORγ, 372 symptoms, 374 TSC, 373 Autophagy Ambra1 and ULK1 mutant mice, 163 and cerebellum development, 170-171 cytoplasmic components, 160 differentiation and development, 163 lysosomes, 161 microautophagy and CMA, 161 multiple cellular functions, 161 neural stem/progenitor cells, 163 PI3K-Akt-mTOR pathway, 161 Autophagy-related proteins (ATGs), 161 Autoradiographic method, 467 Autoradiographic studies, 4 Autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia with deafness and narcolepsy (ADCA-DN), 201

Autosomal dominant HCA (AD-HCA), 430 Autosomal recessive hereditary cerebellar ataxia (AR-HCA), 428–430 Axon termination patterns, 109

# B

Balaenoptera musculus, 12 Balaenoptera physalus, 12 Baltimore transcription scheme, 241, 242 Base excision repair (BER), 203 Basket cells, 35 Bergmann fibers, 478 Bergmann glial fibers, 58 Birth defects, 276, 278, 279, 282 Bivalent marks, 209, 211 Bizzozero's classification, 467 Blood-brain barrier (BBB), 220, 262 Bone morphogenetic protein (BMP), 133, 485 Borrelia burgdorferi, 249 Brain imaging, 277 Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), 372 Buccal epithelial cells (BECs), 288

#### С

C/EBP homologous protein (CHOP), 166 CA8 mutations, 119 Caenorhabditis elegans, 157 CAR8 protein, 116 Car8wdl mice, 116 Carbonic anhydrase 8 gene (Car8), 116 Caspase recruitment domains (CARD), 158 Caspases, 157 Cell-cell wrapping, 331 Cell tropism, 244-245 Cellular and genetic programs Bergmann glia, 58 bHLH protein, 54 brain regions, 46 GCPs, 54 PCL, 51 PTF1, 53 Ptfla-expressing progenitor, 52 rhombomere, 45 RL, 53 SHH expression, 54 Central axon regeneration, 479-482 Central nervous system (CNS), 219 Ceramide kinase-like (CERKL), 167 Cerebellar agenesis, 437 Cerebellar anlage, 49, 55 Cerebellar ataxia, 246, 249 Cerebellar circuit, 88, 105, 107, 110-113

Cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome, 224 Cerebellar cortex, 37-40 Cerebellar damages and dysfunction, 362 Cerebellar disorders, 97–98, 413–418 affect and behavior, 413 BBB, 222 cognition, 412 corticosteroids, 227-229 cretinism, 222 and gonadal steroids, 224-227 incidence, 423 inclusion criteria, 424 internal granule cell layer, 223 language, 410 MEDLINE, Embase, and Scopus databases, 424 mental retardation and neurologic sequelae, 222 neurotrophins, 224 nonmotor impairments, 410 parameters, 424 pediatric patients age, 413 ataxia, 415 challenges, 413, 414 diagnosis, 416, 417 gene panel testing, 417 genetic tests, 417 latent class analysis, 416 management, 417-418 neuroimaging, 417 physical examination, 414-415 symptoms, 413 perinatal hypothyroidism, 223 prevalence, 423 risk factors, 424 T<sub>3</sub> and T<sub>4</sub> brain development, 222 TR mutation, 224 Cerebellar dysplasia, 399-400 Cerebellar foliation, 56-59 Cerebellar hypoplasia, 392–393 Cerebellar immunomodulation, 259 Cerebellar malformations epidemiology, 438-442 Cerebellar motor dysfunction, 375 Cerebellar neurodevelopmental disorders, 140-143 ADHD, 359 ASD, 356, 358 cerebellar growth, 354 cerebellum, 358 cerebral cortex damage, 355 cerebro-cerebellar circuits, 358-359 developmental process, 357

dvslexia, 358 environmental and epigenetic factors, 359 GABAergic, 356 MDD. 360 motor dysfunction, 358 neurodevelopmental and behavioral disorders, 354 neuroimaging studies, 355 PC, 355 prenatal adversity, 359 SNAP-25, 356 socio-behavioral development, 356 structure-function relationship, 357, 359 Cerebellar non-motor diseases, 119 Cerebellar nuclei (CN), 34, 39 axons, 88 birthdating, 92 cell type, 90 cellular composition, 89 central position, 87 descriptions, 88 development, 92-99 disease, 96 diversity, 96 DOD. 96 dorsal and medial regions, 90 GABAergic cell types, 90 glycinergic projection neurons, 90 inputs, 91 interneurons, 90 nucleogenesis and cell migration, 94-95 outputs, 90-91 PCs, 91 replacement, 95 VZ progenitors, 94 Cerebellar parenchymal injury, 357 Cerebellar peduncles, 40 Cerebellar signs, 409 Cerebellar stroke, 449 Cerebellar tumors epidemiology, 433-434 Cerebellar zonation, 13 Cerebellar-deficient folia, 75 Cerebellitis, 448 Cerebellotrigeminal-dermal dysplasia, 398, 445 Cerebellum bacteria, 248-249 climbing fibers, 6 connections, 18 fiber afferent systems, 21 folial pattern, 25 fungi, 249 granular layer, 10 granule cells, 9

Cerebellum (cont.) histogenesis, 4-10 mammalian, 26 meningeal surface, 5 MRI tractography, 18 NTZ. 10 nuclear projections, 22 olivocerebellar projection, 23 parvalbumin immunoreactivity, 20 Purkinje cell clusters, 13 Purkinje cell zones, 11 purkinje cells, 5 spinocerebellar axons, 21 zebrin-positive and zebrin-negative strips, 18 Cerebellum development. See Apoptosis Cerebellum disorders, 134-135 Cerebellum foliation, 57 CGRP immunoreactive olivocerebellar fibers, 24 Chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA), 161 Chiari malformation, 390, 391, 446-447 Chiari type I malformations (CMI), 446 Chiari type II malformations (CMII), 446 Chikungunya virus, 246 Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP), 208 Chromatin structure, 198 Chromodomain-helicase-DNA-binding protein 8 (CHD8), 371 Ciliopathy, 395 Classic ependymoma, 318 Climbing fibres (CFs), 91, 258 Clonal studies, 54 Cognitive affective syndrome, 390 Cognitive and behavioral abnormalities, 415 Cognitive-affective syndrome, 415 Compaction, 155 Congenital hypothyroidism, 223 Corticopontocerebellar pathway, 376 Corticosteroids, 222 cerebellar granule cells, 228 early postnatal rat cerebellum, 228 environmental stimulations, 228 fetal rat brain development, 228 GR, 227 MD. 228 MR, 227 neurological and psychiatric disorders, 228 neurotrophic factors, 228 premature newborns, 228 Cowden's disease (CD), 401 CpH methylation, 199 Cretinism, 222 Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease, 248

Cumulative fate mapping, 48 Cyclopamine, 340 Cystic renal dysplasia, 443

#### D

Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), 260 Dandy-Walker malformation (DWM), 393-394, 437-443 Death effector domains (DED), 158 Death-inducing signaling complex (DISC), 158 Dengue virus, 247 Dentate and olivary nuclei (DOD), 96 Dentate nucleus, 39 Dentatorubropallidoluvsian atrophy (DRPLA), 185 Developmental coordination disorder (DCD), 354 Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), 277 Diphtheria-pertussis-tetanus vaccine (DPT), 249 DNA methylation, 204 DNA methyltransferase (DNMT), 201 DNA-binding domain (DBD), 220 DNMT3-like protein (DNMT3L), 201 Dorsal anterior hindbrain, 46 Drosophila atonal, 72 Dysplastic cerebellar gangliocytoma, 400-401

#### Е

Early B-cell factor 2 (Ebf2), 72 Early-onset ataxias, 430 Ebolaviruses, 238 Ehlers-Danlos syndrome, 390 Embryology and anatomy AICA, 43 blood supply, 42-43 cerebellar function, 41–42 CN. 39 fissures, 33 flocculonodular lobe, 35 functional divisions, 35-37 GABA, 34 germinal zones, 35 SCA, 43 Embryonic and adult cell interactions, 476-478 Embryonic clusters, 74 Emotional/behavioral disturbance and communication disorders, 375 Endocrine disrupting chemical (EDC), 219, 229-231

Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) ATF4 and CHOP, 166 ATF6, 165 FKB2 gene, 164 **GRPs**, 163 IRE1 pathway, 164 malfolded/misfolded proteins, 164 PERK, 162, 165 UPR, 164 Enteroviruses, 245-246 Environmental enrichment (EE), 134 Ependymomas chemotherapy, 320 childhood brain tumors, 316 clinical presentation, 316-317 imaging, 317 PFA tumors, 319 PFB. 319 radiation therapy, 320 risk stratification, 319 tumor pathology, 318 Epigenetics, 199, 201-205 bivalent marks, 208–210 cellular cleavage, 198 cross talk, 206 DNA methylation, 199 DNA methyl erasers, 203-205 DNA methyl readers and MeCP2, 201-203 DNA methyl writers, 201 environmental factors, 198 FASD, 199, 288 gene expression program, 198 histone modifications, 205-206 Hox/HOX gene clusters, 206 neurodevelopmental cerebellar disorders, 210-213 Episodic ataxia, 186 Epstein-Barr virus, 247 ER stress response (ERSR), 165 Ethanol neurotoxicity, 137-139 European Rhabdoid Registry (EU-RHAB), 306 Evolution and diversification, 95–96 External granular layer (EGL), 2, 7 Extracerebellar afferent systems, 468 Eye movements, 408, 414

#### F

Fas-associated death domain (FADD), 158 Fastigial nucleus, 39 Fetal alcohol effects (FAE), 282 Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD), 199, 210

alcohol teratogenesis, 284 brain function, 283 cerebellar dysfunction, 291 cerebellum, 288-291 comorbid conditions, 437 diagnosis, 283 epigenetics, 288 molecular pathways and genetic factors, 284-287 PAE. 282 prevalence, 283, 436, 437 risk factors, 285 subgroups, 436 Fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS), 282, 436 Fetal hydantoin syndrome, 280 Fetal valproate syndrome, 281 Fissura prima, 25 Flaviviridae, 246, 247 Folial pattern, 25–27 Foliation, 45, 48 Fragile X syndrome, 211 Friedreich's ataxia (FRDA), 185, 428 Functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGIDs), 374

#### G

GABAergic neurons, 94 GABAergic projection neurons, 92, 94 Gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), 34, 212 Gaze fixation, 376 Genetic and epigenetic influences, 220 Genetic inducible fate mapping (GIFM), 49 Germinal center kinase class III (GCKIII), 139 Gethylome/gethylomics, 199 Giant viruses, 238 Gliadin peptides, 267 Glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), 133 Glucocorticoid receptor (GR), 227 Glucose-regulated proteins (GRPs), 163 Glutamatergic neurons, 93 Glutamatergic projection neurons, 91, 93 Glycinergic projection neurons, 90 Golgi cells, 4, 35, 38 Golgi epithelial cells, 10 Golgi studies, 5 Golgi-Cox staining method, 112 Gómez-López-Hernández (GLH) syndrome, 398, 445 Gonadal steroids, 222 aromatase gene, 225 autism. 226 brain masculinization, 225 cerebellar development, 224, 226

Gonadal steroids (cont.) estrogen receptors (ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ ), 225 MRI. 226 neurosteroids, 226 perinatal critical period, 225 testosterone and estradiol (E2), 225 Gordon Holmes syndrome, 184-185 Gorlin syndrome, 339, 435 Granule cell development, 48 Granule cell layer, 38 Granule cell precursor cell behaviors, 54-55 Granule cell precursors (GCPs), 47, 168-169 Granule cell raphes, 15 Granule cells, 37, 110 Gray matter volume (GMV), 360 Gut microbiota, 267-268

#### H

Hamartoma-neoplasia syndrome, 401 Hedgehog signaling pathway, 287 Helix-loop-helix (bHLH), 92 Hemangioblastoma, 180 Hereditary cerebellar ataxias (HCA) AD, 430 AR, 428-430 X-linked and mitochondrial mutations, 430 Hereditary sensory and autonomic neuropathy with dementia and hearing loss type 1E (HSN1E), 201 Herpesviruses, 247 Histone deacetylase (HDAC), 205 Hormonal environment, 229-231 Hormonal/antihormonal activities, 229 Hormonal signaling, 231 Hormone and cerebellar development, 219-222 Hormone response element (HRE), 221 Hox/HOX clusters, 206-207 Human immunodeficiency virus-1 (HIV-1), 240 Human-induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs), 484 Hydrocephalus/Rett syndrome, 415 Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA), 227, 265 Hypothalamus, 257, 258

#### I

Immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies, 266 Immunohistological and molecular techniques, 88 Inferior cerebellar peduncle, 40 Inferior olive (IO), 87, 88, 90, 91, 96 Influenza virus, 374 Inherited cerebellar malformations ataxia, 390 cerebellar neurodevelopmental disorder, 390 cerebellum cytostructure, 389 mesodermal development, 390 neuroimaging techniques, 390 psychiatric disorders, 390 INI1/hSNF5/BAF47 tumor suppressor, 308 Insulin-like growth factor (Igf1) gene, 73 Intellectual disability (ID), 425 Internal granule cell layer (IGL), 263 Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), 267

#### J

Joubert syndrome (JS), 130, 394–396, 416 Joubert syndrome and related disorders (JSRD), 395, 396, 443–444

#### K

K-acetyltransferases (KATs), 205

#### L

#### М

Machado-Joseph disease (MJD), 137, 182, 430 Macroautophagy, 161 Macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-2, 264 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 226 Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS), 277 Major depressive disorder (MDD), 360 Mammalian brains, 467 Mammalian cerebellum, 26 Marfan syndrome, 390 Marinesco–Sjögren syndrome, 172 Maternal deprivation (MD), 228

Maternal fever, 374 McLeod syndrome, 359 Medulloblastoma (MB), 139, 188 brain neoplasm, 431, 432 central nervous system tumor, 431 cerebellar tumors, 432 chemotherapy, 329 childhood brain tumors, 436 classic histology, 330 desmoplastic/nodular MBs, 331 diet, 435 genetic disorders, 435 genomic sequencing and microarray technologies, 332 histopathological subtyping, treatment, 331 increased intracranial pressure, 328 internodular zones, 331 metastatic disease, 329 midline cerebellar, 329 molecular subtypes, 332 neuropil-rich zones, 331 non-localizing signs, 329 radiation therapy, 329 signs and symptoms, 328 statistics, 432 sun-setting eyes, 329 treatment, 328 viral infection, 435 WNT subtype, 333, 334 Methyl CpG-binding protein 2 (MeCP2), 201-203, 373 Methyl-binding domain (MBD), 202 Methyl-binding proteins (MBP), 201 Methylome/methylomics, 199 Microautophagy, 161 Microglia, 262 Mineralocorticoid receptor (MR), 227 Mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT), 159 Mitophagy, 171 Molar tooth sign (MTS), 395, 416, 443 Monocarboxylate transporter 8 (MCT8), 222 Morphological neuronal plasticity, 466 Mossy fibers, 258 Motor circuit abnormalities ataxia, 106 cerebellar nuclei neurons, 108 cerebro-cerebellar connections, 118 cerebrocerebellum, 109 climbing fibers, 107 hemispheres, 106 motor dysfunction, 113 motor performance, 114 P/Q channels, 115

SCA1, 113 SCA6, 115 synaptic plasticity, 106 termination pattern, 117 Motor coordination, 418 Motor skills, 375 Murine foliation pattern, 56 *Mycoplasma pneumoniae*, 248 Myelinization, 20 Myxoviruses, 247–248

#### Ν

National Epidemiologic Database for the Study of Autism in Canada (NEDSAC), 426 Nephronophthisis (NPHP), 443 Neural activity, 111 Neural plate, 34 Neurodevelopmental disorder, 360 Neuroepithelial cells, 5 Neuroimmune mechanisms BBB. 264 cerebellar cortex, 262 cerebellohypothalamic projections, 257 chemokines, 263 CNS parenchyma, 262 complement system, 264 CXCL12/CXCR4, 263 external granule cell layer (EGL), 263 gliadin peptides, 267 gut-brain axis, 267 hormones, 258 IL-16 and IL-18, 261 immune responses, 262 immune system, 257, 259, 266 malfunction, 257 MHC1 expression, 264 microglial activation, 260 NLRs. 261 primary cytokines, 257 PRRs, 260 RLR and ALR, 261 thyroid-deficient, 258 TLR4, 260 TLRs. 261 transglutaminases, 268 Treg, 265 Neuronal regeneration, 466-467 Neuronal transplantation, 468-471, 473 embryonic cerebellar transplants, 475-476 heredodegenerative ataxia electrophysiological results, 471

Neuronal transplantation (cont.) morphologic results, 468-471 parasagittal compartmentation, grafted PCs. 473 micrographs, 470, 472 point-to-point cerebellar circuits, 467-476 Neurotrophic cytokines, 133 Neurotrophic factors, 131 cerebellar development, 133-134 neuronal cells, 130 neurons and glial cells, 130 Neurotrophins (NTs), 130-132 Neutrophils, 263 N-nitroso compounds (NOC), 435 Non-CpG methylation, 199 Noninvasive cerebellar stimulation techniques, 418 Non-motor behaviors, 118 Nonphysiological nystagmus, 410 Nuclear receptor (NR), 221 Nuclear transitory zone (NTZ), 10, 93 Nucleocapsid, 241 Nucleo-olivary neurons, 89 Nucleosome, 200

#### 0

Obersteiner's layer, 7 Obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), 360 Ocular motor control, 408–410 Ocular motor signs, 411–412 Olivocerebellar fibers, 23 Olivo-cortico-nucleo-olivary (OCNO), 91 Opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome, 448

#### Р

p53-independent apoptotic pathway, 169 p75 neurotrophin receptors (p75NTR), 131 Pancreatic eIF-2a kinase (PEK), 165 Papilledema, 328 Papillomaviridae, 238 Parallel fibers (PFs), 469 Partial fetal alcohol syndrome (pFAS), 282, 436 Parvoviridae, 238 Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), 260 Perinatal hypothyroidism, 223 Perinatal period, 77 Periodic acid Schiff (PAS) stain, 313 Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), 140 Phagophore, 161 Phosphatase and tensin homologue (PTEN), 400

Phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), 162 Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)-Aktmammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway, 161 Pilocytic astrocytomas (PAs), 302, 313 chemotherapy, 315 genetic alteration, 314 microcystic component, 312 molecular classification, 314 neuroimaging, 312 optic pathway tumors, 315 tumor pathology, 312-314 WHO, 311 Pilomyxoid astrocytoma (PMA), 314 Pinceaux, 471 Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), 226, 227 Polyglutamine disease, 181-183 Pontocerebellar hypoplasia (PCH), 396-398, 444-445 Pontocerebellum, 42 Positron emission tomography (PET), 277 Posterior fossa ependymoma, 319 Posterior fossa tumors, 304 Posterior inferior cerebellar artery (PICA), 42 Postnatal cerebellar ortex progenitor, 51-53 Posttranslational modifications (PTMs), 205 Poxviridae, 238, 239 Prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE). See Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD) Prenatal exposure, 281 Primitive neuroectodermal tumors (PNET), 307.432 Prions, 248 Progenitor zones, 47 Progressive cerebello-cerebral atrophy (PCCA), 397 Pro-neurotrophins (pro-NTs), 132 Prosody, 410 Proteasome, 186, 187, 189 Proteasome subunits, 190 Protein kinase B, 161 Protein misfolding disorders (PMDs), 167 Protein sequence homology, 221 Proteostasis, 166 Psychiatric disorders, 356 Psychosomatic diseases, 231 Purkinje cell axons, 51 Purkinje cell clusters, 17 Purkinje cell degeneration, 468 Purkinje cell dendrites, 107 Purkinje cell development adult cerebellar topography, 77 AZ/CZa, 75 cellular phenotypes, 67

cerebellar anlagen and Germinal zones, 68-69 cerebellar projection neurons, 69 cluster formation, 73-75 *Ebf2*, 72–73 embryonic cluster topography, 76 fiber systems, 68 GABAergic Progenitors, 70-71 gene expression and cellular domains, 70 genetic networks, 69 germinal neuroepithelia, 69 homozygous mutations, 69 mammalian cerebellum, 67 mechanism, 73 microdomains, 70 Neurog2, 72 progenitors, 71 PTF1A targets, 72 **RELN**, 76 SOX2. 69 transverse zones, 75 VZ, 71 Purkinje cell layer (PCL), 38, 51, 58 Purkinje cell packing density, 109 Purkinje cell zones, 11, 13 Purkinje cells, 5, 6, 34, 51, 52, 68, 112, 223, 266, 355, 359, 373 Purkinje cell-specific antibodies, 17

#### Q

Quantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), 225

#### R

Reelin mutations, 372 Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, 227 Reoviridae, 238 Resistance to TH (RTH), 224 Retrograde tracing, 111 Retrograde transsynaptic tracing, 109 Retroviridae, 238, 239 Rett syndrome (RTT), 211, 212 Rhombencephalosynapsis (RES), 398-399, 445-446 Rhombic lip (RL), 2, 3, 35, 53, 95 Rhombomere, 45 RNA virus replication cycle, 243 Rosenthal fibers, 314 Rostral migratory stream (RMS), 467 Rubella, 278

### S

Salmonella typhi, 249 SCA1, 181 Schizophrenia, 139–140 Secondary fissure, 25 SHH-activated MB activation, 340 anatomical region, 339 demographics, 337 genetic and molecular alterations. 337-339 initiation and progression, 340 Single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), 277 Social Communication Questionnaire (SCO). 378 Socioeconomic status (SES), 426 Solid grafts, 469 Sonic hedgehog (SHH) signaling pathway, 338 Sox2<sup>+</sup> cell population, 345 Speech abnormalities, 412 Speech articulation, 410 Spinal muscular atrophy with pontocerebellar hypoplasia (SMA-PCH), 396 Spinal system, 22 Spinocerebellar ataxia 15 (SCA15), 184 Spinocerebellar ataxia 17 (SCA17), 184 Spinocerebellar ataxia 5 (SCA5), 183 Spinocerebellar ataxia 6 (SCA6), 183 Spinocerebellar ataxia 8 (SCA8), 184 Spinocerebellar ataxia type 1 (SCA1), 113 Spinocerebellar ataxia type 2 (SCA2), 182 Spinocerebellar ataxia type 3 (SCA3), 137, 182-183.430 Spinocerebellar ataxia type 6 (SCA6), 114 Spinocerebellar ataxias (SCAs), 181 Spinocerebellar fibers, 21, 22 Spinocerebellar mossy fibers, 117 Spinocerebellum, 37, 41 Src family kinases (SFKs), 138 Stellate cells, 35 Stem cell transplantation embryonic and adult multipotent, 482-483 granule cells, 485-486 neurons, 484 pluripotent undifferentiated cells, 484 postnatal cerebellum, 483 purkinje cells, 486-487 Zic3 protein, 484 Steroid hormones, 220 Surveillance, epidemiology, and end results (SEER), 435 Synaptogenesis, 223

#### Т

Tectocerebellar dysraphia, 447 Ten-eleven translocation (TET), 203 Teratogenesis, 278, 284 Teratoid/rhabdoid tumor, 307 Teratology abnormal phenotypic effect, 276 brain development, 276 cerebellar abnormalities, 277 cerebro-cerebellar circuitry, 276 chemical/drug medications, 275 intrauterine environment, 275 prenatal and postnatal injuries, 276 Thalamic neurons, 42 Thymine DNA glycosylase (TDG), 203 Thyroid hormone (TH), 220, 258 Tissue tropism, 245 TNF receptor-associated death domain (TRADD), 158 Toll-like receptors (TLRs), 260 Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- $\beta$ ), 133, 169 Tropheryma whipplei, 249 Tropomyosin receptor kinase (Trk), 131 Tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC), 373 Tumor heterogeneity, 344-346 Turcot syndrome, 435

#### U

Ubiquitin ligase, 180, 181, 183-186, 189 Ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS) ataxia, 181 cellular proteins, 180 CHIP, 184 **DRPLA**, 185 FRDA, 185 MJD. 182 PSMB1 gene, 189 SCA1 gene expression, 181 SCA15, 184 Sca17, 184 SCA19 and SCA22, 184 SCA2, 182 SCA3, 182 SCA6, 183 SCA7, 183 SCAs, 181

TRPC3 gene, 181 WWP1, 185 Ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes, 189 Ubiquitin-like conjugation systems, 162 Unc-51-like kinase (ULK), 162 Unfolded protein response (UPR) cerebellum development, 171–172 cerebral pathological events, 166 epithelial cells, 167 neurodegenerative diseases, 167 proteostasis, 166 quality control systems, 166 Upper limb movement, 376

#### V

Valproic acid (VPA), 281, 282 Varicella zoster virus (VZV), 448 Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus (VEEV), 246 Ventricular zone (VZ), 1-5, 10, 35, 46, 69 Ventricular zone lineage, 50-51 Vertebral artery dissection (VAD), 449 Vestibulocerebellum, 35 Vgatflox/flox mouse, 116 Viral agents, 248 Viral infections, 278, 374 Virion, 238, 239 Viruses, 238-241 cell tropism, 244-245 classification, 241-242 living organisms, 237 morphology capsids, 240 genome, 240 genomic nucleic acid type, 239 intracellular parasites, 238 nucleocapsid, 241 Parvoviridae, 238 protein and nucleic acid, 238 replication and transcription, 239 single stranded (ss) and double stranded (ds) nucleic acid, 240 spongiform encephalopathies, 238 structural/nonstructural proteins, 240 tobacco mosaic virus, 240 poliomyelitis and rabies, 237 replication, 242-244 von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) disease, 187 Vstibulocerebellum, 41

#### W

Williams syndrome (WS), 140
WNT MB signature genes, 336
WNT signaling pathway, 334
WNT tumors

demographics, 333
genetic and molecular alterations, 333–334
PI3K/AKT signaling pathways, 336
treatment, 336

# Y

Yellow fever virus, 243

#### Z

Zebrin, 67, 72, 73 ZebrinII zones, 108 ZebrinII-expressing Purkinje cells, 108 Zika virus, 243, 278–279